
 

 

 
THE CHAIR AND ALL MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL 

 
Friday 8 September 2023 
 
Dear Member 

 
COUNCIL - MONDAY 18TH SEPTEMBER, 2023 
 
You are hereby summoned to attend a meeting of the Council of the Borough of 
Middlesbrough to be held on Monday 18th September, 2023 at 6.00 pm in the Council 
Chamber to transact the following business, namely:- 
 
 
1.   Apologies for Absence 

 
  

2.   Declarations of Interest 
 
To receive any declarations of interest. 
 

  

3.   Minutes - Council - 5 July 2023  5 – 12 
 

4.   Announcements/Communications 
 
To receive and consider any communications from the Chair, 
Mayor, Executive Members or Chief Executive (if any). 
 
 

 

  

5.   Section 24 Report - Statutory recommendations from the 
Council's External Auditors, EY 
 

 13 – 54 
 

6.   Reserves Policy 2023/24  55 – 74 
 

7.   Questions from Members of the Public (if any).  75 – 76 
 

8.   Mayor's Statement 
 

  

9.   Update to the Executive Scheme of Delegation 
 
The Mayor has made the following amendment to his 
Executive Scheme of Delegation: 
 
Following the resignation of Councillor Branson, as Executive 
Member for Environment, Councillor Gavigan has been 
appointed to the role. 
 

  

Page 1



 

The amendment is to be noted. 
 
 
 

10.   Executive Member reports  77 – 128 
 

11.   Report of the Overview and Scrutiny Board  129 – 134 
 

12.   Urgent Items 
 
To consider and Deal with any urgent business brought 
before the Council by the Proper Officer (if any). 
 
 

 

  

13.   Members' Question Time  135 – 136 
 

14.   Notice of Motions  137 – 138 
 

15.   Notice of Urgent Motions (if any) 
 

  

16.   Review of Council Constitution  139 – 772 
 

17.   Members' Scheme of Allowances  773 – 790 
 

18.   Localism Act 2011 - General Dispensations  791 – 794 
 

19.   Corporate Governance Improvement Plan Update  795 – 834 
 

20.   Vacancies on Committees and Outside Bodies  835 - 838 
 

 
Director of Legal and Governance Services

Page 2



 

 
PLEASE NOTE THERE IS RESTRICTED 

DISABLED ACCESS TO THE COUNCIL CHAMBER 
 
Inspection of Papers – Documents referred to on this Summons may be downloaded from 
the Council’s Website. 
 
Questions / Motions – Details of questions or notices of motion received and not enclosed 
with the Summons will be circulated prior to the meeting. 
 
Should you have any queries in regard to the items on this agenda please contact Bernie 
Carr, Democratic Services on (Direct Line 01642 729714 or e-mail on: 
bernie_carr@middlesbrough.gov.uk. 
 
Address: Democratic Services, Middlesbrough Council, Town Hall, Middlesbrough TS1 
9FX 
 
Website: www.middlesbrough.gov.uk 
 

Page 3

http://www.middlesbrough.gov.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



Council 05 July 2023 
 

 
 

COUNCIL 
 
A meeting of the Council was held on Wednesday 5 July 2023. 

 
PRESENT:  
 

Councillors J Rostron (Chair), J Walker (Vice-Chair), J Banks, I Blades, D Branson, 
E Clynch, C Cooke - Elected Mayor, J Cooke, C Cooper, D Coupe, D Davison, 
S Dean, J Ewan, T Furness, P Gavigan, TA Grainge, L Hurst, N Hussain, 
D Jackson, D Jones, J Kabuye, L Lewis, T Livingstone, L Mason, D McCabe, 
M McClintock, J McConnell, J McTigue, I Morrish, J Nicholson, J Platt, S Platt, 
A Romaine, J Ryles, M Smiles, M Storey, P Storey, J Thompson, S Tranter, 
Z Uddin, N Walker and G Wilson 

   

OFFICERS: S Bonner, M Brown, B Carr, C Heaphy, R Horniman, S Lightwing, A Perriman, 
J Weston and K Whitmore 

 
APOLOGIES FOR 
ABSENCE: 

Councillors S Hill, B Hubbard, M Nugent and M Saunders 

 
23/14 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 
 There were no declarations of interest received at this point in the meeting.  

 
23/15 MINUTES - COUNCIL - 24 MAY 2023 

 
 The minutes of the Annual Council meeting held on 24 May 2023 were submitted and 

approved as a correct record. 
 

23/16 ANNOUNCEMENTS/COMMUNICATIONS 
 

 The Chair requested that, when voting, members leave their hands up until after their vote had 
been counted. 
 

23/17 QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC (IF ANY). 
 

 There were no valid questions submitted from members of the public, within the required 
timescale for this meeting. 
 

23/18 THE MAYOR'S STATEMENT 
 

 The Mayor referred to the following in his statement: 
 
Long Term Plans and Strategies 
 
The Mayor advised that the Council was currently working on the Local Plan, an Anti-Poverty 
Strategy, a Cumulative Impact Policy, the Strategic Revision, and an Article 4 Direction.  
 
The Mayor advised that in terms of the Local Plan, the statistics in relation to the town’s age of 
the population were concerning. By 2040, it looked as if there would be a large increase in the 
older population and a decrease in the younger work age population.  
 
It was planned to build affordable suitable accommodation within the town centre to 
encourage young people to stay and work in the town.   
 
Community Safety 
 
The Mayor advised that wardens were now returning to the estates and the plan was to build 
up the number of wardens back to 24. In addition to the wardens, there would be a 
Neighbourhood Safety Officer and the Flying Squad. It was important to increase the number 
of wardens to enable them to work across all the estates.  
 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



05 July 2023 

 

Proceeds of Crime 
 
The Mayor stated that it was important that when the Council prosecuted people for offences 
such as selling illegal tobacco, that the Council gained as much benefit as it could from the 
proceeds of crime other than the Council’s legal costs. This would ensure that criminals 
committing crime in Middlesbrough could not benefit from the proceeds. He advised that work 
to achieve this aim, was ongoing. 
 
Ward visits 
 
The Mayor advised that he was working on visiting each ward in the town. He invited 
councillors to join him when he was visiting their ward to raise any issues pertinent to their 
individual wards. Off-road bikes appeared to be an issue in most wards. The Mayor also 
stated that as part of the visits, it was important to ascertain why health inequalities existed in 
certain areas of the town.  
 
Members commented on the Mayor’s statement.  
 
In response to a query from Councillor Smiles with regard to whether the Mayoral 
Development Corporation could be discussed, the Chair clarified that any questions should 
relate to the Mayor’s statement.  
 
In response to queries regarding Street Wardens, the Mayor advised that the Council currently 
employed eight Street Wardens, four per shift and the aim was to build that number back up to 
24. The reduction in the number of Street Wardens had impacted on the town.  
 
The Mayor advised that the Council had received an initial grant towards funding the Street 
Wardens and they had also applied for “‘Hot Spot Policing and Community Safety’ initiative” 
funding from the Police and Crime Commissioners office for one year with the possibility of 
extending it for a further year subject to Home Office funding. 
The Mayor advised that in the previous budget, any income generated by the warden’s 
service such as the income generated from parking fines, had not been allocated back to the 
service. Over £100k had been generated by the service in one year, but this had not been 
recognised through the budget process. The Mayor advised that if the income generation had 
been included, it may have impacted on the previous decision to reduce the number of 
wardens. 
 
Councillor Thompson advised in terms of funding, that the Council had been able to maximise 
funding for the Community Safety Team, which included the Street Wardens and the Fly 
Tipping squad, for another twelve months. The funding was realised from various sources 
which included the Indigenous Growth Fund from the TVCA, a Home Office Grant and the 
existing core budget. The initial funding had been allocated from the Indigenous Growth Fund 
and had been given after the May election.  
 
In terms of claiming income from the Proceeds of Crime, the Mayor advised that the 
organisation that assumed lead for an investigation would usually be responsible for claiming 
and allocating any proceeds of crime.   
 
Councillor Mason commented on the appointment of Chairs and Vice Chairs of committees. 
The Chair clarified that any questions should relate to the Mayor’s statement. Councillor 
Mason was advised that he could raise the issue through the questions on notice process. 
 
Councillor Hurst advised that he would like to meet with the Mayor to discuss reports on 
health inequalities. The Mayor advised that he would like to look at the wards that were most 
affected by health inequalities.  
 
In response to a query from Councillor M Storey with regard to how often the Local Plan 
Working Group would meet and who would be involved, the Mayor advised that it would be a 
small working group that would likely include a representative from any group working on a 
Neighbourhood Plan, local business’s, developers and the Thirteen group. It was hoped that 
the Local Plan would be finalised by the end of the following year.  
 
Councillor Furness advised that timescales in terms of the completion of the Local Plan were 
included in his report.  

Page 6



05 July 2023 

 

 
Councillor Coupe queried whether the Mayor could ensure that the membership of the Local 
Plan Working Group was cross-party. The Mayor advised that he would look at the structure 
of the group. It was important that businesses, developers and Thirteen were consulted.  
 
ORDERED that the statement of the Mayor be noted.  
 

23/19 UPDATE TO EXECUTIVE SCHEME OF DELEGATION 
 

 In accordance with the requirements of the Constitution, the Mayor advised members of the 
following amendment to the Executive Scheme of Delegation: 
 
The Mayor (or whoever he decides to nominate) to exercise the Council’s rights as a 
shareholder in BCCP Limited on behalf of the Teesside Pension Fund. 
 
ORDERED that the amendment to the Executive Scheme of Delegation be noted. 
 

23/20 THE MAYOR AND EXECUTIVE MEMBER REPORTS 
 

 The Chair invited Members to raise items for general discussion arising from the Information 
Booklet of Executive Member reports which detailed activities carried out within the respective 
Executive Member portfolios (Section 1), Executive decisions taken (Section 2) or to be taken 
where known, prior to and following the meeting (Sections 3 and 4). 
 
Question in relation to the report of the Mayor and Executive Member for Adult Social Care 
and Public Health 
 
Councillor Smiles in relation to homelessness. 
 
The Mayor stated that the issue with the PSPO’s was that they would have to be 
administered. The Council currently had a limited number of wardens, and the Council would 
need to consider whether their priority would be tackling bin rummaging.  
 
In terms of homelessness, the Mayor spoke about priorities and how limited resources could 
be used effectively to prevent homelessness and how homelessness impacted more 
generally. 
 
Questions in relation to the report of the Deputy Mayor and Executive Member for Education 
and Culture 
 
Councillor Clynch in relation to child poverty/poverty strategy. 
 
The Executive Member advised that she had contacted LocalMotion and they were currently 
conducting a consultation listening programme to provide a baseline and to put the voices and 
experiences of residents who were facing the worst poverty at the heart of any poverty 
strategy.  
 
The Executive Member advised that she had also linked up with MVDA, You’ve Got This, 
Youth Focus, the Council’s Public Health Team, the North-East Child Poverty Commission, 
the HAF Team and the IPPR and various local authorities to look at best practice. All of the 
information and evidence gathered would be co-ordinated, once the outcome of the 
LocalMotion consultation was received.   
 
Councillor McCabe in relation to Middlesbrough Development Corporation. 
 
The Executive Member advised that Middlesbrough House was the preferred temporary 
accommodation site for the extension to Outwood Riverside. The car park that was located 
there was required for a playground for the children. Middlesbrough Development Corporation 
had advised that they required the car park, and therefore refused to consent to it being used 
as an outdoor play area. As a consequence, the Council was required to find another site for 
the extension to Outwood Riverside.  
 
Councillor Mason in relation to schools in the local area, specifically college and sixth 
form provision. 

Page 7



05 July 2023 

 

 
The Executive Member advised that the question submitted by Councillor Mason was in 
relation to an earlier draft of the report, which was circulated in error. The Executive Member 
clarified that the Council did not have any responsibility for sixth form provision across the 
town. However, the Executive Member advised that if Councillor Mason had any further 
queries, he should email her and she would respond to him via email.  
 
Councillor Smiles in relation to museums. 
 
The Executive Member advised that the Council was looking at installing new power points in 
Centre Square and Albert Park which would enable the Council to host new live, big events. 
This would mean that companies would not have to bring in large generators, which were not 
particularly environment friendly. The Council also had a stage, which could be hired out to 
other local authorities. There was currently a waiting list of other local authorities wanting to 
hire the stage, which would generate income for the Events Team. 
 
Questions in relation to the report of the Executive Member for Community Safety 
 
Councillor Blades in relation to Neighbourhood Action Partnerships. 
 
The Executive Member advised that the Joint Area Action Groups were a Multi-agency 
approach focusing on crime and anti-social behaviour and councillors were invited to attend 
and raise issues in their ward. The meetings were suspended during the Covid pandemic. 
 
As a result of the anti-social behaviour that was taking place in the Newport and Hemlington 
wards, the Locality Neighbourhood Partnership was set up and through this approach there 
had been some successes in the two wards, but there was still further work to be done. 
 
The Council was aware of the situation at Norfolk shops, but there had been a 50% reduction 
in anti-social behaviour/crime at this location. To build on this, there was no plans to re-
establish the Joint Area Action Groups as the focus of these groups was primarily on anti-
social behaviour and crime. A Multi-agency approach was required. As a result, the Executive 
Member advised that she would be introducing four Neighbourhood Action Partnerships 
across Middlesbrough i.e.  
 
• North (based at Newport Hub),  
• East (to be confirmed),  
• South (based at Hemlington Hub)  
• West (to be confirmed).  
 
The Executive Member referred to a map included in her report which outlined the areas 
contained in each Neighbourhood Action Partnership and details of the partners involved. 
 
The Neighbourhood Action Partnerships would be multi-agency hubs based in each area and 
an electronic newsletter and statistics would be produced on a regular basis so that people 
would know what was happening in each location. The Executive Member stated that she 
would like to work with all councillors regarding what they would like to see in the newsletter. 
 
Question in relation to the report of the Executive Member for Environment 
 
Councillor Gavigan in relation to potholes. 
 
The Executive Member advised that over the last year, the Council had repaired 5000 
potholes. The Council had done a good job repairing the potholes, however repairing potholes 
by filling them in would not solve the problem. The only way to repair the potholes properly 
was to resurface the roads but resurfacing roads was expensive. It was estimated that it would 
cost £30 per square metre to resurface a road.  
 
Potholes were an issue for local authorities across the country. Without adequate funding from 
the government, the Council was unable to resurface all the roads affected. When the Council 
received the appropriate funding required to properly repair potholes, it would carry out the 
work.  
 
Question in relation to the report of the Executive Member for Finance and Governance 

Page 8



05 July 2023 

 

 
Councillor M Storey in relation to Executive responsibility’ and ‘Financial and Strategic 
Planning 
 
The Executive Member advised that budget monitoring had been happening over the previous 
years but there had not been any Executive Member involvement. The Executive Member 
stated that the Council was going to be facing some very challenging times ahead and it was 
important that Executive Members and officers worked together, and that Executive Members 
took responsibility for the finances within their portfolio. All Executive Members had indicated 
their willingness to be involved to help improve the financial situation of the Council. 
 
The Executive Member advised that rather than use the term budget monitoring, there was a 
change of emphasis, and the new term was budget challenge. Instead of officers forecasting a 
budget overspend, the challenge from Executive Members and Senior Officers would be to 
query regarding which solutions the officers proposed, to mitigate the overspend.  
 
The Executive Member stated that it was important that Council spending remained within the 
allocated budget. In relation to the budget and performance, the budget should not be 
considered in isolation, it should align to, and fund the priorities of the Mayor and the Council. 
By connecting the performance and the budget, the Council was demonstrating best value for 
the residents of Middlesbrough.  
 
Questions in relation to the report of the Executive Member for Regeneration 
 
Councillor Morrish in relation to Nutrient Neutrality Executive decision. 
 
The Executive Member advised that the map also included land at Coulby Newham in addition 
to the land at Marton West. He advised that there would be an Executive decision to decide 
what the Council would do with the land. He advised that he was open to speaking to all those 
with an interest about the future use of the land. He stated that it was in the Council’s interest 
to have the land designated as green space. 
 
Councillor Hurst in relation to Linthorpe Road Cycle Lanes. 
 
The Executive Member advised that he and the Mayor had discussed the issue of removal of 
the cycle lanes with officers of the Council. The removal of the cycle lanes was currently being 
costed. If the Council removed the cycle lanes completely, the grant funding would be lost and 
any further funding would also be lost. 
 

23/21 URGENT ITEMS 
 

 There were no urgent items submitted within the specified deadlines for this meeting. 
 

23/22 MEMBERS' QUESTION TIME 
 

 There were no Members Questions submitted within the specified deadlines for this meeting. 
 

23/23 NOTICE OF MOTIONS 
 

 There were no Notice of Motions submitted within the specified deadlines for this meeting. 
 

23/24 NOTICE OF URGENT MOTIONS (IF ANY) 
 

 There were no valid Urgent Notice of Motions submitted within the specified deadlines for this 
meeting. 
 

23/25 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE IMPROVEMENT NEXT STEPS 
 

 The Mayor and the Chief Executive submitted a report, the purpose of which was to present 
the work of the Corporate Governance Improvement Board. 
 
The Mayor presented the report. He highlighted that the date in Paragraph 36 of the report 
with regard to the submission of a report to Executive in relation to the resourcing of the 
Improvement Advisory Panel should be July 2023.  

Page 9



05 July 2023 

 

 
In response to a query with regard to the cost to the authority of the Improvement Advisory 
Panel, the Mayor advised that contingency funding would be set aside, and the Council would 
be looking to the Local Government Association to provide extra improvement funding. The 
definitive costs were not currently available, but it was anticipated that the figures would be 
available before the item was due to be considered by the Corporate Affairs and Audit 
Committee. 
 
ORDERED that the progress made to date be noted and the proposed focus of the next 
phase of the Council’s governance improvement journey be endorsed. 
 

23/26 VACANCIES ON COMMITTEES AND OUTSIDE BODIES 
 

 Council received a report which sought nominations for appointment, following resignations 
from Committees and Outside Bodies and vacancies that remained outstanding following the 
Annual meeting. 
 
The report included a list of current vacancies on various committees and and outside bodies 
and nominations were put forward at the meeting by individual members. 
 
ORDERED that the following vacancies allocated in accordance with the wishes of the 
political groups, be approved by Council: 
 
Committee Vacancies 
 
Licensing Committee 
1 vacancy (Labour) 
Councillor Ryles appointed 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------  
Live Well Board 
3 vacancies 
Councillor Uddin and M Storey appointed 
 
1 vacancy 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Works Council 
2 vacancies 
  
No nominations 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------  
 
Outside Bodies Vacancies 
 
Cleveland Fire Authority 
Councillor Hussain has replaced Councillor Thompson (To be noted) 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------  
Durham, Darlington, Teesside, Hambledon, Richmondshire and Whitby STP Joint 
Committee 
3 vacancies 
2 Labour 1 MICA 
 
Councillor Cooper appointed 
2 Labour vacancies 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------  
Hartlepool Power Station Local Liaison Committee 
2 vacancies 
 
Councillor Coupe appointed 
1 vacancy 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Linthorpe Community Centre 
1 vacancy 
 
Councillor Furness appointed 

Page 10



05 July 2023 

 

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------  
 
 
Middlesbrough Oberhausen Town Twinning 
1 vacancy 
Cllr Thompson appointed 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------  
Middlesbrough Voluntary Development Agency 
1 vacancy 
 
Councillor Uddin appointed 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
NEREO  
1 vacancy 
 
Councillor Hurst appointed 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------  
River Tees Port Health Authority 
1 vacancy 
 
No nominations 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Tees Valley Health Joint Scrutiny Committee 
1 vacancy Labour 
 
Councillor J Walker appointed 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

MIDDLESBROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 
Report of: The Chief Executive, Director of Finance and Director of Legal 

and Governance Services 

 

Submitted to: Council 

 

Date: 18 September 2023 

 

Title: Section 24 Report – statutory recommendations from the 
Council’s External Auditors, EY 

 

Report for: Decision 

 

Status: Public 

 

Strategic priority: All 

 

Key decision: Not applicable 

Why: Not applicable 

 

Urgent: Not applicable 

Why: Not applicable 

 

Executive summary  

 
This report sets out the statutory recommendations that have been issued to the 
Council, by its External Auditors Ernst & Young LLP (EY), exercising their powers under 
Section 24, Schedule 7(2) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. 
 
The recommendations and the assessment upon which they are based is set out in the 
External Auditor’s report which is attached at Appendix 1. 
 
The Council’s response and action plan in response to those recommendations is set 
out at Appendix 2. 

 
  

Page 13

Agenda Item 5



 

2 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Purpose 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to set out the statutory recommendations that have been 

issued to the Council, by its External Auditors, exercising their powers under Section 
24, Schedule 7(2) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. 

 
Background and relevant information 
 
2. On 21 August 2023, the External Auditor issued a report to update on the Council’s 

Value for Money arrangements and issued 11 statutory recommendations in relation to 
required improvement in the Council’s governance arrangements. This is the 
culmination of the review of the Council’s progress since the External Auditor initially 
made 7 non-statutory recommendations within their 2020/21 Audit Results Report 
which was considered by Corporate Affairs and Audit Committee in July 2022.    
 

3. At the July 2022 meeting, the Council’s three statutory officers (Chief Executive, 
Director of Legal and Governance Services and Director of Finance) submitted a report 
entitled ‘Commencing a Corporate Governance Improvement Journey’ that set out how 
the Council intended to respond to those concerns.   

 

4. In November 2022, EY issued a progress report, assessing delivery against the non-
statutory recommendations. At that time, EY judged that steps taken at that time were 
in line with expectations and the future actions identified to date appeared to be 
appropriate steps towards addressing both the depth and breadth of cultural and 
governance issues at the Council.  However, they had some concerns about whether 
the actions would create a real positive cultural change within the organisation. 

 

5. Since November 2022, while progress has continued to be made, the Council’s 
External Auditors have assessed that while there are signs of improvement in the pace 
at which the Council is addressing the significant cultural and governance weaknesses, 
the Council has not made the overall progress that it expected to see since November 
2022.   The report reflects the auditor’s view of the entire period from November 2022 
to August 2023. 

 

6. In addition, three further significant weaknesses have been identified, in relation to 
financial sustainability, contracting and procurement and Middlesbrough Development 
Company. 

 

7. It is recommended that Council accepts all of the recommendations and agrees the 
draft response and actions which specifically address the statutory recommendations 
as set out at Appendix 2. 

 
What decision(s) are being recommended?  
 
8. That Council agrees the: 

 
 recommendations made by the Council’s External Auditors, EY  
 proposed response and action plan, attached to this report at Appendix 2. 

 
 

Page 14



 

3 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Rationale for the recommended decision(s) 
 

9. The Council must respond effectively and at pace to the statutory recommendations if it 
is to meet its Best Value duty and return to a stable and financially sustainable 
organisation that meets the needs of the citizens of Middlesbrough. 
 

10.  All Members of the Council and its officers must work in unison to meet this challenge 
through collaboration, constructive challenge and engagement. 

 

11. Failure to deliver against the statutory recommendations could result in the External 
Auditor exercising their further powers with the potential for Public Interest Report 

 

12. This could then lead to a further escalation of intervention by the Department for 
Levelling Up Homes and Communities (DLUHC) who have the ultimate sanction of 
appointing independent Commissioners to run the Council which may include the 
suspension of the democratic processes of the Council which would remove the 
decision-making role of all elected members. 
 

Other potential decision(s) and why these have not been recommended 
 
13. Not applicable.  
 
Impact(s) of the recommended decision(s) 
 
Legal 
 
14. Schedule 7 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 requires the following 

actions:  
 

 The Council must consider the recommendation at a meeting held before the end of 
the period of one month beginning with the day on which it was sent to the Council.  

 At that public meeting the Council must decide: 
- whether the recommendations are to be accepted; and  
- what, if any, action to take in response to these recommendations. 

 
15. Schedule 7 specifies the meeting publication requirements that the Council must 

comply with. 
 

Strategic priorities and risks 
 
16. If the Council fails to respond effectively to the recommendations of its External 

Auditors, EY, this will have a negative impact on the following strategic risks: 
 

 Failure to meet a balanced budget. 

 Risk of an unlawful decision by the Council. 

 Corporate governance is not fit for purpose. 
 

Human Rights, Equality and Data Protection 
 
17. Not applicable. 

Page 15



 

4 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
Financial 
 
18. The development and implementation of the action plans will be delivered through a 

combination of existing staff resources and additional capacity as indicated within the 
action plan. 
 

19. In particular, the development and implementation of a transformation programme to 
return the Council to a position of financial stability and sustainability will require 
substantial investment. The investment will be quantified as an integral part of the 
2024/25 Council Plan, budget setting and MTFP process as individual service 
transformation plans are developed.  

 

20. This investment is anticipated to be funded through the rationalisation of Council assets 
to generate capital receipts from asset sales that will be required to fund the 
transformation. These will be applied through an updated Flexible Use of Capital 
Receipts Policy that will require Council approval. It is also possible that the Council will 
need to seek exceptional financial support from DLUHC in order to support the delivery 
of transformation plans to meet any short-term timing difference between the required 
investment and the realisation of the required level of capital receipts. 

 

21. In order to ensure that appropriate value for money and financial governance is 
achieved within the Council, face to face training will be delivered on the updated 
finance and contract procedure rules.  The aim will be to ensure that anyone who has 
either financial decision making, or support duties has the appropriate knowledge and 
awareness as part of their role.  Compliance with these rules will be mandatory for all 
staff and any exceptions will be reported to Chief Officers. 

 
Actions to be taken to implement the recommended decision(s) 
 

Action Responsible Officer Deadline 

Delivery of the S24 response action plan at Appendix 2.  Chief Executive 30/12/2024 

 
Appendices 
 

1 

Middlesbrough Council - Value for Money Update and Issuance of Recommendations Under 

Section 24 Schedule 7(2) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 – Report of the External 

Auditor 

2 Middlesbrough Council Action Plan – response to statutory recommendations 

 
Background papers 
 

Body Report title Date 

Corporate Affairs and Audit Committee 
Lessons Learnt: Best Value Inspection of 
Liverpool City Council 

5 Aug 2021 

Corporate Affairs and Audit Committee 
Boho X: Draft findings from internal audit 
and proposed management response 

6 Apr 2022 

Page 16



 

5 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Corporate Affairs and Audit Committee Audit Results Report 2020/21 22 Jul 2022 

Corporate Affairs and Audit Committee Statement of Accounts 2020/21 22 Jul 2022 

Corporate Affairs and Audit Committee 
Lessons learned: Best Value and external 
assurance within other councils. 

22 Jul 2022 

Corporate Affairs and Audit Committee 
Commencing a corporate governance 
improvement journey 

22 Jul 2022 

Council 
Corporate Governance Improvement 
Journey: CIPFA findings and next steps 

19 Oct 2022 

Council 
Corporate Governance Improvement Plan 
and progress update 

30 Nov 2022 

Corporate Affairs and Audit Committee 
External Audit:  Value for Money 
Governance Update 

5 Dec 2022 

Council 
Corporate Governance Improvement Plan 
and progress update 

18 Jan 2023 

Corporate Affairs and Audit Committee Statement of Accounts 2020/2021 28 April 2023 

Corporate Affairs and Audit Committee 
Auditor’s Annual Report – Year Ended 31 
March 2021 

29 June 2023 

Council 
Corporate Governance Improvement Next 
Steps 

5 July 2023 

 
Contact:  

 Clive Heaphy, Interim Chief Executive 

 Charlotte Benjamin, Director of Legal and Governance Services (Monitoring Officer) 

 Debbie Middleton, Interim Director of Finance (Section 151 Officer) 
 

 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



Middlesbrough Council

21 August 2023

Value for Money Update and 
Issuance of Recommendations 
Under Section 24 Schedule 7(2) 
of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014P

age 19



2

Private and Confidential 21 August 2023

Full Council
Middlesbrough Council
Civic Centre
Middlesbrough
TS1 9GA

Dear Elected Members (members) of Middlesbrough Council

In our Draft Audit Results Report for our 2020/21 audit presented to the Corporate Affairs and Audit Committee in July 2022 we reported that 
we had observed evidence which led us to conclude that the culture and governance arrangements at the Council had not been operating as 
expected, and that this was undermining the effectiveness of the Council’s governance framework. At the same time, we made recommendations 
to the Council to address our observations and emphasised that the Council needed to address our primary recommendation as an immediate 
action.

In November 2022, we issued our first update on the Council’s response to our recommendations. In it, we noted that the steps taken by the 
Council were in-line with those we expected to see from the Council in responding to our recommendations and the future actions identified at 
that point appeared to be appropriate steps towards addressing both the depth and breadth of cultural and governance issues at the Council. We 
also however noted it was clear that there was significant concern amongst a number of stakeholders over the ability of the Council to deliver on 
these actions.

This report provides:

i. Our assessment that whilst there are signs of an improvement in the pace with which the Council is addressing the significant cultural 
and governance weaknesses which we have previously highlighted, the Council has not made the overall progress we would have 
expected over the period between our previous update in November 2022 and this report; and

ii. Our assessment that three further significant weaknesses in the Council’s arrangements to secure value for money in its use of 
resources have been identified since our previous reporting.

Within this report, we make 11 formal statutory recommendations to the Council under Section 24 Schedule 7(2) of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014:

1. We recommend that the Council ensures the recent progress with development of the next phase of the Corporate Governance 
Improvement Plan is progressed without further delay, and that appropriate prioritisation is given to actions which address the cultural 
and governance issues of the Council within the expanded scope of the revised Corporate Governance Improvement Plan.

2. We recommend that the Council develop contingency and succession governance protocols to ensure that delivery of the Corporate 
Governance Improvement Plan is not further disrupted by any future changes in one or more of the Council’s senior leadership positions.

P
age 20



3

3. We recommend that the Council prioritises the conclusion of its review and updating of the Constitution, drawing upon examples of best 
practice and ensuring that the refreshed Constitution is clear in its language and requirements. Training on the refreshed Constitution 
should be provided to all officers and members to ensure that changes are appropriately understood and implemented.

4. We recommend that the Council builds upon the steps already taken to control its expenditure to identify specific deliverable savings 
over the short term (next 12 months) and protect its limited remaining reserves. Where appropriate, this may need to include the
Council changing how it meets its statutory responsibilities and the extent to which it delivers services which are not required to 
discharge its statutory responsibilities.

5. We recommend that the Council reviews its service delivery models to ensure that they are efficient, represent value for money and 
achieve the outcomes required for the resources invested. Where opportunities to improve service delivery models are identified, the 
Council should develop detailed plans for implementation of service delivery transformation and how the up-front transformation costs 
will be funded.

6. We recommend that the Council review its financial forecasting processes to understand why significant financial pressures, over and 
above those anticipated and reflected in the Council’s annual budget, have emerged within the first half of both the 2022/23 and
2023/24 financial years and ensure future forecasting reflects the lessons learned.

7. We recommend that the Council conclude its review of its Financial and Contract Procedure Rules to ensure that they reflect the needs 
of the Council and the expectations of members and implement the revised rules without delay. This should include being explicit on how 
contract modifications should be assessed and managed, as the Financial and Contract Procedure Rules do not currently address
contract extensions.

8. We recommend that, once the Financial and Contract Procedure Rules are finalised, training is provided to all officers involved in 
contracting, procurement or financial decision making to ensure that the requirements of the Financial and Contract Procedure Rules 
are understood and adhered to.

9. We recommend that the Council complete their review of all ongoing contracts which were initially awarded under an exemption but have 
been subject to subsequent amendment (including extension) to identify whether they are compliant with The Public Contracts 
Regulations 2015. If further non-compliance is identified, the Council should evaluate whether any remedial action is necessary.

10. We recommend that the Council review its oversight arrangements for Middlesbrough Development Company for the period up to the 
demise of the entity, so that it can satisfy itself that Middlesbrough Development Company is delivering value for money with the 
resources provided to it during this period.

11. We recommend that the Council develop an action plan for the demise of Middlesbrough Development Company which sets out how the 
Council will realise the value which has been created through the resources provided to Middlesbrough Development Company by the
Council.

P
age 21



4

The Council must consider these recommendations at a public meeting held before the end of the period of one month beginning with the day on 
which it was sent to the Council. At that public meeting, the Council must decide whether the recommendations are to be accepted and what, if 
any, action to take in response to these recommendations.

A copy of this report has been sent to the Secretary of State for Levelling-Up, Housing and Communities, and to the directors of Middlesbrough 
Development Company.

Yours faithfully 

Stephen Reid

Partner, for and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP

P
age 22



5

Our previous observations

P
age 23



6

Value for MoneyV
F
M

The Council’s responsibilities for value for money

The Council is required to maintain an effective system of internal control that supports the achievement of its policies, aims and objectives while safeguarding and 
securing value for money from the public funds and other resources at its disposal.

As part of the material published with its financial statements, the Council is required to bring together commentary on its governance framework and how this has 
operated during the period in a governance statement. In preparing its governance statement, the Council tailors the content to reflect its own individual circumstances, 
consistent with the requirements set out in the CIPFA code of practice on local authority accounting. This includes a requirement to provide commentary on its 
arrangements for securing value for money from their use of resources.

Arrangements for
Securing value for

money 

Financial
Sustainability

Improving
Economy,

Efficiency &
effectiveness

Governance 

In our Draft Audit Results Report for our 2020/21 audit we reported that we had observed evidence which led 
us to conclude that the culture and governance arrangements at the Council had not been operating as 
expected, and that this was undermining the effectiveness of the Council’s governance framework.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, we identified multiple instances where significant decisions were taken 
by the Council without following the Council’s established policies and procedures and contrary to the 
boundaries of the respective roles and responsibilities of officers and members. These included, but were not 
limited to:

• Significant changes to the design of the Council’s largest capital project, Boho X, occurring outside of the 
Council’s Programme and Project Management Framework.

• Purchase of Covid-19 tests, which were not authorised for use in the United Kingdom, outside of the Council’s 
normal procurement processes.

• Engagement of an external individual to provide mayoral assistance activities which are required by The Local 
Authorities (Elected Mayor and Mayor’s Assistant) (England) Regulations 2002 to be performed by an 
employee of the Authority.

In addition, we reported our observation that there is a pervasive lack of trust within the Council between 
officers and elected members, and between elected members, which is having a significant impact on the 
governance of the Council and was a contributing factor to the respective roles and responsibilities of officers 
and members not being adhered to.

We concluded that these matters constituted a significant weakness in the Council’s arrangements to secure 
value for money, and made recommendations to the Council to address these weaknesses.

Our observations

P
age 24



7

Value for MoneyV
F
M

Our initial assessment of the Council’s response to our recommendation

In November 2022, we provided to the Corporate Affairs and Audit Committee our first assessment of the Council’s response to the primary recommendation made in 
our value for money commentary. We reported that:

The Council has taken positive actions to respond to our recommendation, including the commissioning of external work by CIPFA to assist in identifying the root 
causes of relationship issues at the Council and an action plan to address them, implementation of an Improvement Board with an external chair and strong 
representation from elected members and senior officers, and reporting of these actions through full council.

These steps are in-line with those we expected to see from the Council in responding to our recommendation and the future actions identified to date appear to be 
appropriate steps towards addressing both the depth and breadth of cultural and governance issues at the Council.

It is however clear that there is significant concern amongst a number of stakeholders over the ability of the Council to deliver on these actions, characterised by 
expressions of a lack of confidence in the acceptance by individuals of the significance of the governance issues identified at the Council and the commitment of all 
necessary stakeholders towards meaningful change. It will take all of the Council’s elected members and senior officers working together to address the issues 
faced by the Council, however it remains unclear whether this can be achieved.

In addition, the Improvement Plan prepared by the Council focuses on actions to be completed over the next 90 days. Whilst these are positive first steps, the 
Council will not be able to enact the necessary cultural changes within the Council which are required within this timescale, and concerted effort over a much 
longer period of time will be required.

It is clear that significant barriers to implementation of the Improvement Plan exist, however the actions taken to date have been appropriate and given sufficient 
prominence amongst elected members and senior officers. On this basis, we do not consider that it is either necessary or would be beneficial to escalate our 
recommendation through the exercise of additional auditor reporting powers (inc. a statutory recommendations) at this time. The Council is currently taking 
appropriate steps and should be given time to demonstrate whether those steps can have the necessary impact on the Council’s culture and governance.

We will however continue to monitor the progress of the Council against the Improvement Plan as part of our value for money assessment, where we have 
recognised the Council’s governance as a risk of significant weakness, and report on the Council’s progress through our value for money commentary. Should this 
assessment provide evidence that the Council is not making satisfactory progress against the Improvement Plan or the actions taken are not having the necessary 
effect on the Council’s culture, we will reconsider whether a statutory recommendation or exercise of other auditor reporting powers may be appropriate.

The following pages provide an update on the Council’s response to our recommendation since November 2022.

P
age 25



8

Progress since November 2022

P
age 26



9

Value for MoneyV
F
M

The Council’s response to our recommendation (since November 2022) 

‘Phase two’ of the Corporate Governance Improvement Plan

In November 2022, the Council reported that it had completed the remaining elements of ‘phase one’ of its Corporate Governance Improvement Plan. This included 
establishing four task-and-finish working groups focusing on the following (names in brackets are how groups were commonly referred to within the Council):

• How to engage all Members and officers in the improvement conversation (roles and responsibilities);

• Refreshing the approach to Member and officer training and development (training and development);

• Reviewing and refreshing the Constitution, including ensuring that it is user-friendly (the Constitution); and

• Developing supporting materials to improve how Members and officers communicate with each other (culture and communications)

Each of these task-and-finish groups agreed a series of 30-, 60- and 90- day targets, delivery against which was monitored by the Governance Improvement Board.

In February 2023, the Council reported to the Governance Improvement Board that all of the 30- and 60- day actions had been delivered, along with 6 of the 27 90- day 
actions. It was also reported that ‘phase two’ of the Corporate Governance Improvement Plan had been substantially completed and that outstanding actions would be 
incorporated into ‘phase three’. The Board agreed to seek finalisation of the actions for phase three of the Corporate Governance Improvement Plan ready for approval 
by the Board at the end of March 2023.

‘Phase three’ of the Corporate Governance Improvement Plan

Also in February 2023, 17 of the Council’s members wrote to the Council’s Chief Executive to express a loss of confidence in their leadership of the Council, citing the 
assessment of the Council’s Children’s Services in December 2019 as inadequate, the cultural and governance issues raised in our value for money commentary and a 
deterioration in the Council’s financial position. Further assessment of the Council’s financial position is provided on page 18.

The letter sought the immediate resignation of the Chief Executive, and its signatories included the leaders of several of the Council’s political groups, several committee 
chairs and more than half of the Council’s Executive. On 10 March 2023, the Corporate Affairs and Audit Committee approved the terms of the Chief Executive’s 
departure from the Council and they formally left the Council on 24 March 2023. We note that external legal advice was sought by the Council as to whether the terms of 
the Chief Executive’s departure represented value for money and were proportionate and appropriate prior to being submitted to the Corporate Affairs and Audit 
Committee for approval. External legal advice was also sought on the correct committee, under the Council’s Constitution, to approve such terms.

Also during March 2023, the Council agreed the early termination of the interim appointment of the Section 151 Officer which had been due to conclude in June 2023. 
The Interim Section 151 Officer left the Council on 31 March 2023.

Both the Chief Executive and Section 151 Officer posts were subsequently filled by interim appointments in March 2023 and April 2023, respectively. Between the 
departure of the previous Interim Section 151 Officer and the appointment of the new Interim Section 151 Officer, the Council designated the Head of Financial Planning 
and Support as the Council’s Section 151 Officer.

Further to these changes in the Council’s senior officers, the May 2023 election saw a change in both the Mayoral leadership of the Council and the overall political 
control of the Council. In light of these changes, the Council concluded that a review and reset of the Corporate Governance Improvement Plan would be appropriate 
prior to detailed development of the next phase of the Corporate Governance Improvement Plan. As a result, development of phase three of the Corporate Governance 
Improvement Plan remains ongoing as of August 2023.

P
age 27



10

Value for MoneyV
F
M

The Council’s response to our recommendation (since November 2022) (continued) 

‘Phase three’ of the Corporate Governance Improvement Plan (continued)

In January 2023, the Council was issued with a Best Value notice by the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) in relation to the weaknesses in 
the Council’s arrangements reported in our value for money commentary. As part of the follow-up of this notice by the Department, senior officers meet with 
representatives of the Department on a fortnightly basis to discuss the Council’s progress. As these meetings have developed, the Department’s interest has expanded 
beyond the cultural and governance issues which were the focus of the Best Value notice to also include the Council’s Children’s Services Improvement Plan, the 
Council’s financial position and the high levels of turnover in both officer and member leadership (the latter being a result of the May 2023 election).

In response to the need to provide assurances to the Department over the Council’s progress in these areas, the Council intends to expand the scope of phase three of 
the Corporate Governance Improvement Plan to cover a wider range of issues and reported in July 2023 that phase three would be reshaped around four key themes:

• Financial recovery and resilience

• Cultural transformation

• Social care; and

• Regeneration / Sustainability

The Council also reported that the Governance Improvement Board, which had overseen progress up to February 2023 (no meetings were held after this date) would be 
replaced with an Improvement Advisory Panel. The Improvement Advisory Panel is intended to include external advisors and experts, including an independent chair. 
Since May 2023, the Council has made some progress with the development of phase three of the Corporate Governance Improvement Plan and the implementation of 
the Improvement Advisory Panel and supporting governance structures, however these arrangements are not yet finalised and this remains a work in progress for the 
Council. 

Our assessment

The Council’s initial response to our recommendations, as reported in our November 2022 update, was encouraging and the positive actions being taken by the Council 
continued through to February 2023 with the delivery of the majority of the phase two actions. Since February 2023 however, there has been a loss of momentum in the 
Council’s response to our recommendation due to significant turnover in leadership positions and development of phase three of the Corporate Governance 
Improvement Plan remains ongoing as of August 2023 despite an initial target date of the end of March 2023. 

In addition, we have continued to observe behaviours at the Council over the period between our November 2022 update and this report which are indicative that a lack 
of trust between individuals remains a significant barrier to effective governance. This includes indicators of increasing strain in the relationships between officers, as 
well as between officers and members and between members, and concerns being raised to the Council over the manner of communications originating from the Council 
by other public sector bodies. We are encouraged that both officers and members have reported more positive working relationships in recent months, however it 
remains to be seen if this is a short-term impact of changes in the senior leadership of the Council or the start of a more fundamental change in the Council’s culture.

The Council has described the actions of phases one and two of the Corporate Governance Improvement Plan as providing “a strong foundation to facilitate ongoing, 
positive progress and cultural change” however, in our view, there is a real risk that the loss of momentum with the Corporate Governance Improvement Plan means that
the Council is not able to build upon these foundations to achieve the deep-rooted and permanent cultural change which is required for the Council to function effectively 
and achieve value for money in its use of resources.

P
age 28



11

Value for MoneyV
F
M

The Council’s response to our recommendation (since November 2022) (continued) 

Our Assessment (continued)

In addition to addressing the cultural and governance issues we have previously highlighted, the Council faces a number of other challenges and currently has separate 
improvement plans in place in relation to the delivery of children’s services and financial sustainability. Whilst integrating these improvement plans into phase three of 
the Corporate Governance Improvement Plan may provide benefits in offering a single improvement plan for the Council to focus on, it also risks diluting the focus on the 
cultural change required at the Council which, in our view, is the most significant challenge facing the Council and requires the full attention of officers and members.

Our Conclusion

Whilst there are signs that the pace of change within the Council is now starting to increase again, due to the overall loss of momentum against the Corporate 
Governance Improvement Plan since February 2023 we are unable to conclude that the Council is making satisfactory progress against our recommendation. In addition, 
with significant changes proposed to both the scope and governance oversight of the Corporate Governance Improvement Plan there is an increased risk that competing 
priorities reduce the focus on addressing the cultural and governance issues of the Council.

Accordingly, we consider it necessary to escalate our recommendation into a formal statutory recommendation. Reflecting the progress which the Council has made to 
date, we make the following recommendation:

1. We recommend that the Council ensures the recent progress with development of the next phase of the Corporate Governance Improvement Plan is 
progressed without further delay, and that appropriate prioritisation is given to actions which address the cultural and governance issues of the Council 
within the expanded scope of the revised Corporate Governance Improvement Plan.

We also note that the primary reason for the loss of momentum against the Corporate Governance Improvement Plan has been significant turnover in senior leadership 
positions. Given that a number of the Council’s senior officers, including the Chief Executive and Section 151 Officer, are currently appointed on an interim basis it is 
likely that there may be further turnover in senior positions before the next phase of the Corporate Governance Improvement Plan is concluded. We therefore also make 
the following recommendation:

2. We recommend that the Council develop contingency and succession governance protocols to ensure that delivery of the Corporate Governance 
Improvement Plan is not further disrupted by any future changes in one or more of the Council’s senior leadership positions.

We believe these are significant action points. Therefore, we are raising these matters as statutory recommendations to the Council under Section 24, Schedule 7(2) of 
the Local Accountability and Audit Act 2014.

P
age 29



12

Value for MoneyV
F
M

The Council’s Constitution

The phase two actions of the Corporate Governance Improvement Plan were delivered through four task-and-finish groups, which had oversight of discreet areas of 
focus. One of the task-and-finish groups was focused on the Council’s Constitution, which the Council has recognised no longer reflects the current requirements of the 
Council. In focusing on its Constitution, the Council aims to develop “A refreshed, fit for purpose, accessible and user-friendly Constitution”.

The majority of actions for this task-and-finish group were 90- day actions and remained ongoing at the conclusion of phase two, and have therefore been impacted by 
the loss of momentum and delays in commencement of phase three of the Corporate Governance Improvement Plan where they are to be incorporated.

During the course of our assessment of the Council’s response to our recommendation and our response to the additional significant value for money risks which we 
identified, as set out within the rest of this report, we noted several areas of poor practice within the current Constitution and its implementation within the Council 
including:

• There are multiple references within the Constitution to job titles or grades which are not otherwise used by the Council. We noted differing interpretations within the 
Council as to how these terms map onto the job titles and grades which are in use within the Council, resulting in a lack of clarity as to how the responsibilities and 
approval requirements defined within the Constitution in reference to such job titles and grades should be applied;

• Article 17 of the Constitution specifies that the Financial and Contract Procedure Rules (Standing Orders) are part of the Constitution and that “all financial 
transactions and contract proceedings must be carried out in accordance with the Middlesbrough Borough Council Financial and Contract Procedure Rules”. The 
Financial and Contract Procedure Rules should therefore be a key document for the Council, however it is our assessment that there is a limited understanding of the 
requirements of the Financial and Contract Procedure Rules within the Council. As a result, non-adherence to the requirements of the Financial and Contract 
Procedure Rules is pervasive within the Council and practices which do not meet the requirements of the Financial and Contract Procedure Rules are well established 
and widely adopted. Further details in relation to this observation can be found on pages 13 and 14; and

• Prior to submitting the terms of the Chief Executive’s departure to the Corporate Affairs and Audit Committee for approval, the Council sought legal advice as to the 
correct committee under the Council’s Constitution to make this decision. This advice relied upon Article 16 of the Constitution which states that the Corporate 
Affairs and Audit Committee has delegated powers to “deal with any matter, which is not an Executive function and that has not delegated to any other committee of 
the Council”. In effect, this Article establishes the Corporate Affairs and Audit Committee as the committee of default or last resort for all non-Executive decisions. In 
our view, it is not appropriate for the audit committee-equivalent body to take such decisions as it creates a risk of conflicts of interest for the committee between 
decision making processes and the independent challenge to decisions which such bodies should provide.

The Council has recently concluded a review of its Financial and Contract Procedure Rules with external support from CIPFA, and presented proposed changes to the 
Council’s Corporate Affairs and Audit Committee on 15 August 2023. Officers intend to submit both a revised Constitution and the updated Financial and Contract 
Procedure Rules to members for approval in September 2023, and provide training to members on the revised versions. In our view, the Council needs to ensure that 
these changes to its Constitution and supporting rules are swiftly implemented to ensure a solid governance foundation upon which other elements of the Corporate 
Governance Improvement Plan will build. We therefore make the following recommendation:

3. We recommend that the Council prioritises the conclusion of its review and updating of the Constitution, drawing upon examples of best practice and 
ensuring that the refreshed Constitution is clear in its language and requirements. Training on the refreshed Constitution should be provided to all officers 
and members to ensure that changes are appropriately understood and implemented.

We believe this is a significant aspect of the Corporate Governance Improvement Plan and therefore we are raising this matter as a statutory recommendation to the 
Council under Section 24, Schedule 7(2) of the Local Accountability and Audit Act 2014. 

P
age 30



13

New significant weaknesses in 
arrangements

P
age 31



14

Value for MoneyV
F
M

New significant weakness in arrangements: Financial sustainability

Financial performance in the financial years ending 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2023

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Council reported an overspend of £2.5 million against its budgeted outturn and a further net impact of £0.4 million from the 
direct impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic which the Council reported separately to its main budget. Within the overall overspend of £2.5 million, the Council reported an 
overspend of £7.9 million by its children’s services directorate, equivalent to 19% of the Children’s Services budget, which was offset by underspends in other parts of 
the Council. In October 2021, the Council adopted a Flexible Use of Capital Receipts Strategy under which it released £5 million of capital receipts, against qualifying 
revenue expenditure intended to transform its services, to its General Fund for the year ended 31 March 2022 to offset the overspends against its budget.

The Council increased the budget of its Children’s Services directorate by £6.0 million, 15% of its prior year budget, for the year to 31 March 2023, however by 
September 2022 it was forecasting a full-year overspend against budget of £7.7 million for Children’s Services and £9.4 million for the Council as a whole. The Council 
attributed the anticipated overspend to a combination of pressures relating to additional inflation, an increased pay award, and increased demand, placement and 
agency costs within Children’s Services.

In October 2022, the Council implemented a Financial Recovery Plan which sought to make additional savings of £6.9 million and generate additional revenue of £0.5 
million to mitigate the majority of the anticipated overspend against budget. The Council was able to deliver £4.8 million of the £7.4 million aggregate impact of savings 
and additional revenues under the Financial Recovery Plan, which contributed to the final overspend for the year to 31 March 2023 being reduced to £3.5 million. 
Further flexible use of capital receipts was used to release £0.8 million to the General Fund to partially offset the impact of this overspend on reserves. 

The final overspend within Children’s Services for the year to 31 March 2023 was £10.7 million excluding the impact of flexible use of capital receipts, equivalent to 21% 
of its revised budget including reallocations from other directorates during the year totalling £5.5 million as well as the increase of £4.3 million from the prior year.

Preparation of the Council’s budget for the year ending 31 March 2024

The Council has recognised that the budget baselines for its Children’s Services directorate are not deliverable and has sought to ‘reset’ its budget through a £7.2 million 
increase to its Children’s Services budget for the year to 31 March 2024, applied on top of general increases for inflation and pay growth. In order to afford this 
increase, the Council’s budget for the year to 31 March 2024 also includes £9.4 million of required savings and a requirement for an additional £1.2 million from 
opportunities for additional income generation. This is a significant change and challenge for the Council, which has not had to include savings targets within its budgets 
for a number of years prior to this.

In order to provide assurance to its members over the scale of required savings, the Council requested an independent review by CIPFA of its financial position, budget 
affordability, and financial outlook. This review concluded that “CIPFA expect that the Council will produce a balanced budget for 2023/24”, however it also concluded 
that “It is not possible for CIPFA to have confidence in the delivery against the savings targets identified for Childrens Services”. The review also raised concerns over the 
low levels of reserves held by the Council, noting “The Council needs to be very clear that there is no or very limited scope for central funding of overspends” and “Failure 
to deliver the planned savings will place the Council at the risk of having to issue a Section 114 Notice with expenditure likely to exceed financial resources available to the 
Council”. It is our understanding that circulation of a draft version of the CIPFA report within the Council was a significant factor in the decision by 17 of the Council’s 
members to write to the Council’s Chief Executive to request their resignation, as noted earlier in this report.

Performance to-date during the year ending 31 March 2024

The Council has recognised that it commenced the 2023/24 financial year in a challenging financial position and implemented enhanced scrutiny of its financial outturn 
and forecasts, with additional monthly reporting to its Leadership Management Team (LMT) and additional finance meetings with each directorate head added to the 
existing quarterly reporting.

P
age 32



15

Value for MoneyV
F
M

New significant weakness in arrangements: Financial sustainability (continued)

Through this enhanced scrutiny of its financial position, the Council identified as early as P2 (May 2023) that it is not on track to deliver against its budget for the year 
ended 31 March 2024. As of Q1 (June 2023), the Council is forecasting an overspend against its budget of £11.6m. This represents over 9% of the Council’s annual 
budget. The Council only attributes £2.6m of the anticipated overspend to non-achievement of the savings and additional income generation included within its 2023/24 
budget, with the majority relating to cost pressures not allowed for within the budget. The most significant of these include a national pay award above the Council’s 
expectations, demand and inflationary pressures within both adult’s and children’s social care and rising home-to-school transportation costs. These pressures contain a 
mixture of factors within the Council’s control, such as those related to how it delivers it services, and those beyond its control, such as the national pay award.

The Council’s financial position

The Council commenced the 2023/24 financial year with a General Fund balance of £12m and unrestricted usable reserves of £2.8m. If the Council is unable to reduce 
the overspend it anticipates as at the end of Q1, almost 80% of the Council’s unrestricted reserves will be utilised by 31 March 2024. Whilst the Council is already taking 
steps to control expenditure and reduce the forecast overspend, the effectiveness of these steps is unknown and further financial pressures may also emerge during the 
remainder of the 2023/24 financial year.

The Council has minimal financial headroom available to it to absorb future financial pressures and there is a very real risk that the Council will need to issue a Section 
114 Report within the current financial year. A Section 114 Report arises when the Council’s Section 151 Officer believes that the expenditure of the Council will exceed 
the resources available to it for the current financial year, or that the Council is unable to set a balanced budget for the following financial year, and would require the 
Council to cease all new expenditure other than that supporting functions which are required by statute to be delivered.

Our assessment

The Council is in a strained financial position and faces significant financial challenges, including high levels of demand for its social care services and the impact of 
inflation. Whilst the Council has taken steps to address these challenges, including a ‘reset’ of its children’s services budget and implementation of both financial 
recovery and savings plans, these actions have not been able to stabilise the deterioration in the Council’s financial position. Without more significant intervention, the 
Council is highly likely to deplete its limited remaining reserves over the next 12-18 months and, in effect, run out of resources.

We are therefore unable to conclude that the Council has had proper arrangements in place to manage its financial position and conclude that the absence of such 
arrangements represents a significant weakness in the Council’s arrangements to secure value for money. We therefore make the following recommendations:

4. We recommend that the Council builds upon the steps already taken to control its expenditure to identify specific deliverable savings over the short term 
(next 12 months) and protect its limited remaining reserves. Where appropriate, this may need to include the Council changing how it meets its statutory 
responsibilities and the extent to which it delivers services which are not required to discharge its statutory responsibilities.

5. We recommend that the Council reviews its service delivery models to ensure that they are efficient, represent value for money and achieve the 
outcomes required for the resources invested. Where opportunities to improve service delivery models are identified, the Council should develop detailed 
plans for implementation of service delivery transformation and how the up-front transformation costs will be funded.

6. We recommend that the Council review its financial forecasting processes to understand why significant financial pressures, over and above those 
anticipated and reflected in the Council’s annual budget, have emerged within the first half of both the 2022/23 and 2023/24 financial years and ensure 
future forecasting reflects the lessons learned.

We consider the financial risks to the Council to be sufficiently serious that we also raise these matters as statutory recommendations to the Council under Section 24, 
Schedule 7(2) of the Local Accountability and Audit Act 2014. 

P
age 33



16

Value for MoneyV
F
M

New significant weakness in arrangements: Contracting and procurement

Commissioning of external social work support

On 24 January 2020, the Office for Standards in Education, Children’s Services and Skills (Ofsted) released the results of its inspection of the Council’s children’s social 
care services performed between 25 November 2019 and 6 December 2019. The report concluded that the quality of the Council’s children’s services had deteriorated 
since the previous inspection in 2015 and were now inadequate in each category of assessment. In response to the Ofsted findings, the Council implemented a Children’s 
Services Improvement Plan.

In February 2020, the Council’s Executive approved the commissioning of external social work audit support for children’s services as part of the Children’s Services 
Improvement Plan. The Council awarded this contract as a direct award to the preferred supplier under the permitted exemption within the Financial and Contract 
Procedure Rules for “social care services under the National Health Services and Community Care Act, 1990 or the Children Act, 1989”. The contracted services were 
assessed by the Council’s procurement team as falling within this definition, however this was not confirmed by the Council’s legal team.

In July 2020, the Council directly awarded a second contract to the same supplier to provide an external team of social workers to assist the Council with the ongoing 
Children’s Services Improvement Plan. The documented rationale for direct award of the second contract was a combination of the social care-basis used for the first 
contract and a further permitted exemption under the Financial and Contract Procedure Rules for “for work, supplies and services which are patented or of a proprietary 
or special character and for which it is not possible or desirable to obtain competitive prices”. The Council’s Executive gave retrospective approval for the contract on 14 
July 2020, and in November 2020 approved a further 24 month extension of the contract.

Also in November 2020, the Council awarded a third contract to the supplier for a second external team of social workers for an intended duration of 6 months. The 
Council asserts that this contract was approved through the ‘Gold Command’ process in place during the Covid-19 pandemic, however we have been unable to find 
reference to it in relevant minutes from that period. We have also been unable to establish the basis on which the contract was deemed exempt and directly awarded to 
the supplier. This contract was also subsequently extended, however no formal approval for this extension was documented.

In August 2022, the Council awarded a fourth contract to the supplier for a third external team of social workers. No formal approvals or exemptions were sought prior 
to entering into this contract. Concerns about the awarding of this contract were raised by the Council’s procurement team, with a subsequent investigation by the 
Council confirming that the Council’s policies and procedures had not been followed in the awarding of the contract.

Subsequent to the contract awards and extensions documented above, the Council continued to extend the second, third and fourth contracts until April 2023 (second 
contract) and May 2023 (third and fourth contracts). The Council estimates that total expenditure under these four contracts to May 2023 was £4.3 million. This 
significantly exceeds the thresholds under which direct award of contracts is permitted under both the Council’s Financial and Contract Procedure Rules and The Public 
Contracts Regulations 2015. Whilst this amount relates to the four contracts in aggregate, three of these contracts individually exceed the £663,540* threshold at 
which the Council is required undertake a competitive tendering exercise under The Public Contracts Regulations 2015. It is therefore our view that in addition to failing 
to comply with its own Financial and Contract Procedure Rules, the Council has failed to comply with applicable procurement law in the awarding of these contracts.

Where a contract is awarded under the reduced requirements of The Public Contracts Regulations 2015 (commonly referred to as being under the ‘Light Touch Regime’), 
The Public Contracts Regulations 2015 place restrictions on the subsequent modifications which may be made to the contract whilst remaining within the scope of the  
reduced requirements. Such modifications may include extension of the original contract or a change in the scope of the contract. The Council has been unable to 
demonstrate that it has controls in place to monitor and assess whether modifications to its contracts made after the initial award fall within these criteria, therefore we 
consider there to be an increased risk that the Council may have other contract arrangements which are not in accordance with The Public Contracts Regulations 2015.

* Threshold represents the level effective from January 2022. Lower thresholds applied prior to this date.

P
age 34



17

Value for MoneyV
F
M

New significant weakness in arrangements: Contracting and procurement (continued)

Wider contracting arrangements

The majority of activity in procuring these contracts occurred within the Council’s Children’s Services directorate and was unknown to the Council’s procurement team. 
Accordingly, the Council had not recorded any of these contracts on its contracts register. Since the Council’s procurement team became aware of these contracts, a 
control has been implemented to reconcile larger items of expenditure recorded by the Council to known contracts in order to identify any additional unrecorded 
contract arrangements which may exist. Prior to late 2022 however, the Council had no such control in place and hence is unable to demonstrate that these contracts 
are an isolated occurrence.

A review of those contracts which the Council had recorded on its contract register as awarded between 1 April 2021 and 31 March 2022 found that of a sample of 12 
contracts entered into by multiple directorates, 7 were awarded using some form of exemption. In each case, the application of the exemption had been approved by the 
Service Head and Head of Commissioning and Procurement however there was no further documented approval. Under the Council’s Financial and Contract Procedure 
Rules, all exemptions require approval by the Section 151 Officer. Other than in a limited number of specified circumstances, the Financial and Contract Procedure Rules 
also require that exemptions are approved by the Council’s Monitoring Officer. There is no requirement under the Financial and Contract Procedure Rules for exemptions 
to be approved by the Head of Commissioning and Procurement.

Our assessment

It is evident to us that the Council has a well established informal and undocumented practice when it comes to application of procurement exemptions which is neither 
compliant with the requirements of the Financial and Contract Procedure Rules or as robust. Whilst the procurement of the four social care contracts, or at least aspects 
of them, appear to have also occurred outside of this informal practice, the widespread non-adherence to the Council’s formal policies and procedures is likely to have 
been a contributory factor as to why this occurred. As noted on page 12, the Council is currently updating its Financial and Contract Procedure Rules.

In our view, non-adherence to the Council’s Financial and Contract Procedure Rules is pervasive within the Council and significantly increases the risk that exemptions 
are applied inappropriately and that the Council is not able to demonstrate that it is securing value for money in its procurements. We consider that this is a significant 
weakness in the Council’s arrangements to secure value for money and therefore make the following recommendations:

7. We recommend that the Council conclude its review of its Financial and Contract Procedure Rules to ensure that they reflect the needs of the Council and 
the expectations of members and implement the revised rules without delay. This should include being explicit on how contract modifications should be 
assessed and managed, as the Financial and Contract Procedure Rules do not currently address contract extensions;

8. We recommend that, once the Financial and Contract Procedure Rules are finalised, training is provided to all officers involved in contracting, 
procurement or financial decision making to ensure that the requirements of the Financial and Contract Procedure Rules are understood and adhered to; 
and

9. We recommend that the Council complete their review of all ongoing contracts which were initially awarded under an exemption but have been subject to 
subsequent amendment (including extension) to identify whether they are compliant with The Public Contracts Regulations 2015. If further non-
compliance is identified, the Council should evaluate whether any remedial action is necessary.

In our view, these observations and recommendations are closely linked to the overall culture within the Council and should therefore not be seen as isolated from the 
cultural and governance issues being addressed by the Corporate Governance Improvement Plan. For this reason, we also raise these matters as statutory 
recommendations to the Council under Section 24, Schedule 7(2) of the Local Accountability and Audit Act 2014. 

P
age 35



18

Value for MoneyV
F
M

New significant weakness in arrangements: Middlesbrough Development Company

Role of Middlesbrough Development Company

In February 2019, the Council established MHomes Limited as a subsidiary company with the intention of using it as a housing delivery vehicle. Following a change in 
political administration in the May 2019 election, the subsidiary was rebranded as Middlesbrough Development Company and the Council changed the proposed focus of 
the subsidiary away from housing delivery and towards urban regeneration projects. This corresponded with a change by the Council itself towards a more expansive 
capital programme focusing on redevelopment of Middlesbrough town centre.

Middlesbrough Development Company is currently overseeing two large capital projects on behalf of the Council, the development of Boho Village and the 
redevelopment of the former Tollesby Shops site, along with a number of smaller scale projects to restore empty homes and ‘eyesore sites’. The activities of 
Middlesbrough Development Company are funded through a combination of loan and grant funding provided by the Council.

Governance of Middlesbrough Development Company

In May 2021, 5 of the 7 members of the Council’s Executive resigned citing a number of concerns over the conduct of the Council’s Mayor and the Council requested the 
Council’s internal auditor investigate the concerns raised. We reported on the results of these investigations within our previous value for money commentary, however 
follow-up work by internal audit in relation to the governance of Middlesbrough Development Company was deferred in anticipation of additional good practice guidance 
being published by CIPFA.

In May 2022, CIPFA published ‘Local Authority Owned Companies: A Good Practice Guide’ and the Council requested that internal audit undertake an assessment of the 
governance of Middlesbrough Development Company against this good practice guidance. The Council’s internal auditor undertook this review as an advisory piece of 
work, and did not therefore seek to offer an overall rating on arrangements, however a draft version of their report shared with senior officers in January 2023 raised 
some significant concerns over the Council’s oversight and governance of the subsidiary. The Council’s internal auditor issued the final version of their report at the end 
of July 2023, in addition within their Annual Head of Internal Audit Report for 2022/23 they noted their review found ‘a number of weaknesses’, including in relation to:

• A lack of clarity in respect of roles and responsibilities (including officers and members);

• The composition and training of members of the Board;

• Performance management; and

• Documentation of Board meetings.

As a result of the concerns raised in the draft report the Council’s Executive agreed in January 2023 to recommend to the directors of Middlesbrough Development 
Company that the subsidiary body be wound up. Within the covering report submitted to the Executive to inform this decision, the Council stated:

As the activities of the company have turned from theoretical to actual, and the practicalities of taking and implementing board decisions have become more 
complex, a number of weaknesses have been identified in the board arrangements and the relationship with the Council that would need addressing. Veritau, the 
Council’s internal auditors were asked to provide a view on the overall governance situation, and the improvements that would be required to meet the highest 
standards of good governance. Early conclusions from this work include:

a. the roles and responsibilities within the company are insufficiently defined for a local authority trading company, with potential conflicts of interest 
arising through lack of clarity and lack of separation. The role of the shareholder is particularly unclear; and,

b. some of the operational aspects of the company do not reflect local authority regulations, or frameworks – such as procurement, risk, performance 
management and project management.

P
age 36



19

Value for MoneyV
F
M

New significant weakness in arrangements: Middlesbrough Development Company (continued)

The relationship with the company would also require further work from the Council’s perspective, as there needs to be a suitable governance structure put in 
place within the Council structures to review performance, or provide the necessary oversight and accountability for it to function effectively. Specifically issues 
around Information Governance, Data Protection and other legal requirements are not governed by an appropriate agreement with the Council – which could cause 
unnecessary risks in the future. Additional work is also required to provide improved transparency around Value for Money and alignment of investments with 
Council priorities.

It is clear from the review that revising the arrangements to follow the higher standards of governance set out by Local Partnerships, and CIPFA in their recently 
published Local Authority Owned Companies – A Good Practice Guide, and to minimise any future risk to the Council would require a significant investment of time 
and money to achieve. The board of the company would need to be reshaped, the staffing structure bolstered, and the arrangements the Council employs to 
monitor and support it would need to change.

The key gaps identified in issues such as procurement and risk management would require additional staffing to be brought in to manage processes to the standard 
required by local authorities (and advocated by CIPFA), as would bolstering arrangements around performance management and project management. The 
current staffing/operation of the company is geared towards commercial expertise and would not therefore have the capacity or experience to adopt the policies 
and frameworks to align with the Council’s approach. Recent examples of issues around Information Governance have highlighted this further, where the company 
needs to register with the Information Commissioner’s Office independently from the Council.

Whilst the Council has taken the decision to recommend winding-up the subsidiary, this has not yet occurred and the subsidiary remains responsible for the regeneration 
projects previously assigned to it. Up to the point at which the decision was taken to recommend winding-up the subsidiary, the Council had provided £11.9 million in 
funding to the subsidiary and the estimated lifetime budget of its projects is £13.3 million. 

In July 2023, the Council approved its first Wholly and Partly Owned Council Companies Policy however the principles of this policy have yet to be applied to the 
governance and oversight of Middlesbrough Development Company. The Council does not currently have any other wholly or partly owned subsidiaries.

Our assessment

In our view, the concerns raised by the Council’s internal auditor and the subsequent assessment by the Council that “a significant investment of time and money” would 
be required to meet the standards of governance set out within the CIPFA good practice guidance are indicative that the Council did not have proper arrangements in 
place to oversee the activities of its subsidiary and ensure that Middlesbrough Development Company delivers value for money with the resources provided to it by the 
Council.

Given the material levels of funding provided by the Council to Middlesbrough Development Company, we consider that this is a significant weakness in the Council’s 
arrangements to secure value for money and therefore make the following recommendations:

10. We recommend that the Council review its oversight arrangements for Middlesbrough Development Company for the period up to the demise of the 
entity, so that it can satisfy itself that Middlesbrough Development Company is delivering value for money with the resources provided to it during this 
period; and

11. We recommend that the Council develop an action plan for the demise of Middlesbrough Development Company which sets out how the Council will realise 
the value which has been created through the resources provided to Middlesbrough Development Company by the Council.

As the Council’s intention is to expand the Corporate Governance Improvement Plan to address wider governance concerns within the Council, these actions should be 
incorporated into the next phase of this plan and we also raise these matters as statutory recommendations to the Council under Section 24, Schedule 7(2) of the Local 
Accountability and Audit Act 2014. 

P
age 37



20

Summary of recommendations

P
age 38



21

Value for MoneyV
F
M

Summary of recommendations

Within this report we have highlighted that we are unable to conclude that the Council is making satisfactory progress against our previous value for money 
recommendations. In addition, we have identified further significant weaknesses in the Council’s arrangements to secure value for money in its use of resources where 
action is required from the Council to address the weaknesses which exist in its arrangements.

Based on these observations, we make 11 formal statutory recommendations to the Council under Section 24 Schedule 7(2) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 
2014:

1. We recommend that the Council ensures the recent progress with development of the next phase of the Corporate Governance Improvement Plan is progressed 
without further delay, and that appropriate prioritisation is given to actions which address the cultural and governance issues of the Council within the expanded 
scope of the revised Corporate Governance Improvement Plan.

2. We recommend that the Council develop contingency and succession governance protocols to ensure that delivery of the Corporate Governance Improvement 
Plan is not further disrupted by any future changes in one or more of the Council’s senior leadership positions.

3. We recommend that the Council prioritises the conclusion of its review and updating of the Constitution, drawing upon examples of best practice and ensuring 
that the refreshed Constitution is clear in its language and requirements. Training on the refreshed Constitution should be provided to all officers and members 
to ensure that changes are appropriately understood and implemented.

4. We recommend that the Council builds upon the steps already taken to control its expenditure to identify specific deliverable savings over the short term (next 
12 months) and protect its limited remaining reserves. Where appropriate, this may need to include the Council changing how it meets its statutory 
responsibilities and the extent to which it delivers services which are not required to discharge its statutory responsibilities.

5. We recommend that the Council reviews its service delivery models to ensure that they are efficient, represent value for money and achieve the outcomes 
required for the resources invested. Where opportunities to improve service delivery models are identified, the Council should develop detailed plans for 
implementation of service delivery transformation and how the up-front transformation costs will be funded.

6. We recommend that the Council review its financial forecasting processes to understand why significant financial pressures, over and above those anticipated 
and reflected in the Council’s annual budget, have emerged within the first half of both the 2022/23 and 2023/24 financial years and ensure future forecasting 
reflects the lessons learned.

7. We recommend that the Council conclude its review of its Financial and Contract Procedure Rules to ensure that they reflect the needs of the Council and the 
expectations of members and implement the revised rules without delay. This should include being explicit on how contract modifications should be assessed 
and managed, as the Financial and Contract Procedure Rules do not currently address contract extensions;

P
age 39



22

Value for MoneyV
F
M

Summary of recommendations

8. We recommend that, once the Financial and Contract Procedure Rules are finalised, training is provided to all officers involved in contracting, procurement or 
financial decision making to ensure that the requirements of the Financial and Contract Procedure Rules are understood and adhered to.

9. We recommend that the Council complete their review of all ongoing contracts which were initially awarded under an exemption but have been subject to 
subsequent amendment (including extension) to identify whether they are compliant with The Public Contracts Regulations 2015. If further non-compliance is 
identified, the Council should evaluate whether any remedial action is necessary.

10. We recommend that the Council review its oversight arrangements for Middlesbrough Development Company for the period up to the demise of the entity, so 
that it can satisfy itself that Middlesbrough Development Company is delivering value for money with the resources provided to it during this period.

11. We recommend that the Council develop an action plan for the demise of Middlesbrough Development Company which sets out how the Council will realise the 
value which has been created through the resources provided to Middlesbrough Development Company by the Council.

The Council must consider these recommendations at a public meeting held before the end of the period of one month beginning with the day on which it was sent to the 
Council. At that public meeting, the Council must decide whether the recommendations are to be accepted and what, if any, action to take in response to these 
recommendations.

P
age 40



23

EY | Building a better working world

EY exists to build a better working world, helping to create 
long-term value for clients, people and society and build trust in the capital markets.

Enabled by data and technology, diverse EY teams in over 150 countries provide 
trust through assurance and help clients grow, transform and operate.

Working across assurance, consulting, law, strategy, tax and transactions, EY teams 
ask better questions to find new answers for the complex issues facing our world 
today.

EY refers to the global organization, and may refer to one or more, of the member 
firms of Ernst & Young Global Limited, each of which is a separate legal entity. Ernst & 
Young Global Limited, a UK company limited by guarantee, does not provide services to 
clients. Information about how EY collects and uses personal data and a description of 
the rights individuals have under data protection legislation are available via 
ey.com/privacy. EY member firms do not practice law where prohibited by local laws. 
For more information about our organization, please visit ey.com.

Ernst & Young LLP

The UK firm Ernst & Young LLP is a limited liability partnership 
registered in England and Wales with registered number OC300001 
and is a member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited.

Ernst & Young LLP, 1 More London Place, London, SE1 2AF. 

© 2023 Ernst & Young LLP. Published in the UK.
All Rights Reserved.

UKC-023026 (UK) 04/22. Creative UK.

ED None

Information in this publication is intended to provide only a general outline of the subjects covered. It 
should neither be regarded as comprehensive nor sufficient for making decisions, nor should it be used 
in place of professional advice. Ernst & Young LLP accepts no responsibility for any loss arising from 
any action taken or not taken by anyone using this material. 

ey.com

P
age 41



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

1. We recommend that the Council ensures the recent progress with development of the next phase of the 
Corporate Governance Improvement Plan is progressed without further delay, and that appropriate 
prioritisation is given to actions which address the cultural and governance issues of the Council within the 
expanded scope of the revised Corporate Governance Improvement Plan. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The Council recognises the seriousness of the culture and governance challenges facing it that have been raised by our 
external auditors and the Department of Levelling Up, Housing and Communities.  It is fully committed to ensuring that the 
organisation’s collective effort is fully focussed on addressing these weaknesses at pace, to ensure that we work at pace 
to embed a more positive culture, alongside effective governance arrangements. 
 
This will require the Council to be fully focussed on the issues within the Corporate Governance Improvement Plan and 
committed to its delivery.  This is reflected in the profile of activity that is included in the Plan which is to be presented to 
Council on 18 September 2023. 
 
The proposed scope has been reduced to remove Social Care and Regeneration.  The draft plan also clearly states that 
addressing the cultural and governance issues within the Council is the priority and the most significant challenge it faces. 

Planned action(s) Target date 
Responsible 
officer 

Status 

Proposed plan developed with addressing Cultural and Governance issues the focus 
of the plan.   
 

8/9/2023 
Chief 
Executive 

Complete 

Presentation of Phase 3 of the Corporate Governance Improvement Plan – 
addressing all auditor recommendations at full Council, for approval / implementation.  

18/09/2023 
Chief 
Executive 

Complete 
on 18/9 

Appointment of the Independent Improvement Advisory Board membership. 22/09/2023 
Chief 
Executive 

On target 

First meeting of the board to be held to provide oversight, support and challenge to 
Middlesbrough’s improvement and transformation journey working with established 
and proven sector leaders.  It will particularly focus on the need for the Council to 
ensure it complies with its Best Value Duty under the Local Government Act 1999. 

6/10/2023 
Chief 
Executive 

On target 

  

P
age 43



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

2. We recommend that the Council develop contingency and succession governance protocols to ensure that 
delivery of the Corporate Governance Improvement Plan is not further disrupted by any future changes in one 
or more of the Council’s senior leadership positions. 

 
 
                                               
 
 
 
 
 

A workstream has been developed within the Corporate Governance Improvement Plan, under the cultural transformation 
theme to address this recommendation.  The activity within that workstream includes a plan to reduce the number of posts 
in leadership positions that are occupied by interim staff.   In addition, there is also a commitment to developing a protocol 
that articulates the formal arrangements that will be put in place for key statutory posts to ensure continuity within them 
arising from staff turnover or long periods of absence. 

Planned action(s) Target date 
Responsible 
officer 

Status 

Complete recruitment process for all interim appointments in a Leadership 
Management Team position 

30/03/24 Head of HR 
On target 

Completion of a senior Management Review including review of spans and layers 
within the organisation 

30/09/24 
Chief Executive On target 

Development of a Workforce Plan to reduce the need to use interim appointments 
in senior leadership positions within the Council 30/09/24 

Organisational 
Development 
Manager 

On target 

Develop a protocol that articulates the formal arrangements that will be put in 
place to ensure improved continuity across key statutory posts and protection of 
key governance processes 

30/11/24 
Director of Legal 
and Governance 
Services 

On target 

3. We recommend that the Council prioritises the conclusion of its review and updating of the Constitution, 
drawing upon examples of best practice, and ensuring that the refreshed Constitution is clear in its language 
and requirements. Training on the refreshed Constitution should be provided to all officers and members to 
ensure that changes are appropriately understood and implemented. 

 

The Council has engaged external expertise and capacity for the last 6 months in order to conduct a fundamental review 
of its Constitution.  This has including ongoing engagement with Members and Officers to identify areas of concern and 
reflect feedback from the governance improvement journey to date.   

 
The draft Constitution and supporting Contract and Financial Procedure Rules documents were presented to the 
Constitution and Member Development Committee in August 2023.  Corporate Affairs and Audit Committee have also 
been presented with the draft Contract and Financial Procedure Rules for comment.  The Council has worked at pace to 

 

P
age 44



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

also ensure briefings have been made available for all Members on the key changes, this has culminated in submission of 
the draft Constitution and supporting documents to the Council meeting on 18 September 2023. 
 
Upon adoption of the new Constitution, a planned training programme, covering Corporate Governance disciplines, will be 
rolled out.  This will be a mix or remote, digital and face to face learning.  The aim of the programme, led by the Council’s 
Organisational Development team is to deliver effective training to officers and Members that will improve understanding 
of corporate governance disciplines, provide clarity on expectations around behaviours, outline expected accountabilities 
and responsibilities and set out the organisation’s clear expectation that processes must be adhered to.  Once delivered, it 
will be embedded within business-as-usual training and development for staff as part of the People and Cultural 
Transformation Strategy delivery. That training programme will include an interactive e-learning module that all staff will be 
required to complete, with alternative arrangements in place for those who do not access Council ICT systems on a 
regular basis. 

Planned action(s) Target date 
Responsible 
officer 

Status 

Presentation of an updated / refreshed Constitution at full Council for 
consideration, approval, and implementation. 

18/09/2023 
Director of Legal 
and Governance 
Services 

Complete 
on 18/9 

Following approval of the refreshed Constitution, mandatory e-learning for all staff 
will be delivered that will provide an overview of the Constitution, the Council’s 
values and supporting codes of conduct. 

31/12/2023 
Director of Legal 
and Governance 
Services 

On target 

Completion of delivery of the Corporate Governance training programme to all 
senior managers 

31/3/2024 
Director of Legal 
and Governance 
Services 

On target 

4. We recommend that the Council builds upon the steps already taken to control its expenditure to identify 
specific deliverable savings over the short term (next 12 months) and protect its limited remaining reserves. 
Where appropriate, this may need to include the Council changing how it meets its statutory responsibilities 
and the extent to which it delivers services which are not required to discharge its statutory responsibilities. 

 

Robust budget management, monitoring and forecasting arrangements were introduced early in Quarter One (April – June 
2023) in order to establish a firmer grip upon budgetary control and forecasting, including development of insight into cost 
and income drivers that can be better controlled and influenced through managing operations.  
 

 

P
age 45



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 Chief Officers have committed to Budget Accountability letters which demonstrate their leadership and commitment 
to deliver services in a financially sustainable way. 

 Monthly budget challenge sessions chaired by the s151 Officer for each Directorate in order to focus upon areas of 
overspending and identify opportunities for delivering savings, income and efficiency opportunities. 

 The Chief Executive holds Chief Officers to account for their financial performance through monthly LMT budget 
review meetings. 

 Quarterly budget challenge sessions are chaired by the Executive Member for Finance & Governance for each 
Directorate attended by relevant Chief Officers and Executive Members enabling a collaborative approach and 
ownership of financial management issues by the Mayor and the Executive.   

 Indefinite spending restrictions issued by the s151 Officer with effect from 1 July 2023 including: 

o vacancy control measures applicable to all permanent recruitment, engagement of agency and interim staff  
o increased monitoring of expenditure on travel and other expenses to ensure essential spend 
o establish monitoring and action to drive compliance with contract procedure rules including focus upon off-

contract expenditure and compliant use of purchasing cards 
 Development of improved budget monitoring tools and tracking of expenditure rates for review and challenge by 

Chief Officers. 
 Chief Officers to develop Directorate Financial Recovery Plans to reduce the forecast overspend and deliver 

services within the approved 2023/24 budget.  Actions to include review of service levels and revise operations, 
reduce, stop activities and some service provision, deliver efficiency, increase income generation.   

 

Planned action(s) 
Completion 
date 

Responsible 
officer 

Status 

Monthly budget challenge sessions commenced. 
 

30/05/23 
Director of Finance 
(S151 Officer) 

Complete 

Monthly budget challenge sessions will continue to establish deep-dive reviews of 
high-spending areas, alongside identifying opportunities to reduce expenditure 
and increase income to remain within budget.  
This includes review and challenge of levels of service provision for services that 
deliver both statutory and non-statutory responsibilities. 

31/3/2024 
Director of Finance 
(S151 Officer) 

On target 

P
age 46



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Spending controls will remain, until further notice.  
Management information on supplies and services, travel, and other expenses to 
be routinely provided to Chief Officers to enable monitoring of compliance, 
alongside feedback of any management actions undertaken. 

31/03/2024 
Chief Executive / 
Director of Finance 
(S151 Officer) 

On target 

Weekly LMT Vacancy Control Panel in place to review, challenge and approve 
business cases for essential vacancies in permanent establishment and only 
critical engagement of interim capacity.  
All vacancy applications will need to consider if they can be filled internally before 
going external to the market.  

31/03/2024 
Director of Finance 
(S151 Officer) 

On target 

Review and relaunch of use of Purchasing Cards, for essential users only and 
subject to mandatory training.  

30/09/2023 
Director of Finance 
(S151 Officer) 

On target 

Purchase Card activity to be reported to Chief Officers monthly. 31/10/2024 
Director of Finance 
(S151 Officer) 

On target 

Chief Officers to establish management overview arrangements to ensure 
compliance with contract and financial procedure rules in respect of use of 
Purchase Cards. 

31/10/2024 Chief Officers 
On target 

Review of income from fees and charges including in-year uplift for inflation.  
28/02/2024 

Director of Finance 
(S151 Officer) 

On target 

5. We recommend that the Council reviews its service delivery models to ensure that they are efficient, represent 
value for money and achieves the outcomes required for the resources invested. Where opportunities to 
improve service delivery models re identified, the Council should develop detailed plans for implementation of 
service delivery transformation and how the up-front transformation costs will be funded. 

 

 
It is clear that the Council needs to establish a Transformation Programme in order to redesign its services to operate form 
a significantly lower cost base and to embed a continuous improvement approach over the longer term. Work is underway 
to develop the Transformation Programme as part of the 2024/25 Council Plan and Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) 
development process. Robust programme governance arrangements will be established, and the capacity required to 
deliver will be secured in order to support the delivery of the Council Plan within a framework of more robust governance 
and cultural improvement. 
 

 

P
age 47



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

The primary source of funding to deliver transformation in the context of the Council’s depleted revenue reserves, will be 
through the Flexible Use of Capital Receipts in accordance with Government statutory guidance. This requires the Council 
to generate a pipeline of capital receipts from the sale of surplus assets to fund the investment in transformation.   

Planned action(s) 
Completion 
date 

Responsible 
officer 

Status 

The Council’s strategic planning and budget development process for setting a 
balanced budget for 2024/25 and over the period of the MTFP to 2026/27 is in 
progress and will address opportunities for: 
- Managing service demand 
- Service redesign 
- Service transformation 
- Reducing levels 
- Stopping services service 

28/02/2024 
Chief Executive / 
Director of Finance 
(S151 Officer) 

On target 

The development of a first stage transformation programme that will run from 
2024/25 through to 2026/27 will be the vehicle through which service delivery 
models will be reviewed, in order maintain or improve service outcomes from an 
affordable and sustainable cost base.   

28/02/2024 Chief Executive 

On target 

Establishment of appropriate transformation governance framework and suitable 
capacity and capability to enable delivery of transformation programme  

31/03/2024 Chief Executive 
On target 

Review of the Council’s asset base to identify surplus assets for sale to generate 
capital receipts as the primary source of financing this, as an invest to save 
programme using Flexible Use of Capital Receipts Policy. 

30/11/2023 
Director of 
Regeneration and 
Culture 

On target 

6. We recommend that the Council review its financial forecasting processes to understand why significant 
financial pressures, over and above those anticipated and reflected in the Council’s annual budget, have 
emerged within the first half of both the 2022/2023 and 2023/2024 financial years and ensure future forecasting 
reflects lessons learnt. 

 

In common with many other local authorities, the Council faces significant financial challenges due to persistently high 
inflation, market forces and increased demand for its services in adult social care, children’s social care, home to school 
transport and homelessness in the post Covid-19 period which have been extremely difficult to predict and are driving 
much of the financial pressure currently facing the Council. Nevertheless, there is scope for continuous improvement in the 
methodologies adopted for modelling demand and unit cost of these and other service areas. This will draw upon 

 

P
age 48



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

demographic data, service and market intelligence in order to develop improved forecasting techniques that will support 
future budget setting, monitoring and forecasting. 

Planned action(s) Target date 
Responsible 
officer 

 

Develop and implement more robust demand and cost modelling and forecasting, 
in relation to demand-led, high-spending service areas such as Adults and 
Children’s Social Care, homelessness, home to school transport and waste 
disposal. Models will use key cost and income drivers to enable cost and activity 
modelling and variance analysis.  

31/03/2024 
Director of Finance 
(S151 Officer) / 
Chief Officers 

On target 

Implementation of forecast demand models over the medium to long-term, using a 
combination of demographic data and trends combined with scenario planning and 
sensitivity analysis. 

30/09/2024 

Head of Financial 
Planning and 
Support / Heads of 
Service 

On target 

Implementation of monthly budget monitoring and forecasting to analyse cost and 
volume variances, driving proactive management intervention in services to 
address areas of overspend and income shortfalls.  

30/04/2024 

Head of Financial 
Planning and 
Support / Heads of 
Service 

On target 

Adopt sensitivity analysis and scenario planning during budget development to 
inform level of required contingency and reserves, transferring to business-as-
usual business process. 

28/02/2024 
Head of Financial 
Planning and 
Support 

On target 

7. We recommend that the Council conclude its review of its Financial and Contract Procedure rules to ensure 
that they reflect the needs of the Council and the expectations of members and implement the revised rules 
without delay. This should include being explicit on how contract modifications should be assessed and 
managed, as the Financial and Contract Procedure rules do not currently address contract extensions. 

 

The Council has engaged external expertise to support the fundamental review of the Financial and Contract Procedure 
rules which has been delivered over the summer with the revised rules being presented for consideration at Council on 18 
September 2023.    

 

Planned action(s) Target date 
Responsible 
officer 

Status 

Revised Financial and Contract Procedure rules drafted and presented to Audit 
Committee. 

15/08/2023 
Director of Finance 
(S151 Officer)  

Complete  

P
age 49



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Revised Financial and Contract Procedure rules drafted and presented to 
Constitution Committee. 

16/08/2023 
Director of Finance 
(S151 Officer) 

Complete 

Revised Financial and Contract Procedure Rules approved at full Council. 
18/09/2023 

Director of Finance 
(S151 Officer) / 
Monitoring Officer 

Complete 
on 18/9 

8. We recommend that, once the Financial and Contract Procedure rules are finalised, training is provided to all 
officers who are involved in contracting, procurement or financial decision making to ensure that the Financial 
and Contract Procedure rules are understood and adhered to. 

 

The Council is committed to embedding responsibility and accountability for financial governance, financial management 
and control into the business-as-usual operations of the organisation. Strong and effective financial management 
underpins the success of any organisation. Following Council approval of the rules, training and development sessions will 
be delivered to ensure Chief Officers, Heads of Service and budget holders understand their roles and responsibilities in 
relation to financial and contract governance and that there is clarity provided around expected behaviours and the 
consequences of failure to adhere to policies and procedure rules. Delivery of the training will be monitored through the 
Corporate Governance Improvement Plan and regular updates provided to Members and External Audit on its overall 
delivery. 

 

Planned action(s) Target Date 
Responsible 
officer 

Status 

All Council staff to undertake mandatory e-learning procurement training. 
31/10/2023 

Director of Finance 
(S151 Officer)  

On target 

All budget managers and staff involved in purchase to pay activities, to undertake 
mandatory face-to-face training.   

31/03/2024 
Director of Finance 
(S151 Officer) 

On target 

Chief Officers, Heads of Service, all budget managers, and Finance Directorate, to 
undertake mandatory face to face training on Financial and Contract Procedure 
rules.  

31/12/2023 
Director of Finance 
(S151 Officer) 

On target 

Delivery of training in budget management for Chief Officers, Heads of Service 
and Budget Managers as part of the Corporate Governance Training Programme 

31/03/2024 
Director of Finance 
(S151 Officer) 

On target 

Develop budget management and purchase to pay dashboards to drive 
compliance through improved management information. 31/03/2024 

Director of Finance 
(S151 Officer) / 
Monitoring Officer 

On target 

P
age 50



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Deliver mandatory training in budget management tools for Chief Officers, Heads 
of Service and Budget Managers 31/03/2024 

Director of Finance 
(S151 Officer) / 
Monitoring Officer 

On target 

Develop and deliver improved training and tools for all users of the Council’s 
corporate finance system to facilitate compliance. 

30/06/2024 
Director of Finance 
(S151 Officer) 

On target 

Establish compliance and enforcement protocols to embed the governance 
arrangements into operational practice. 31/03/2024 

Director of Finance 
(S151 Officer) / 
Monitoring Officer 

On target 

9. We recommend that the council complete their review of all ongoing contracts which were initially awarded 
under an exemption but have been subject to subsequent amendment (including extension) to identify 
whether they are compliant with The Public Contracts Regulations 2015. If further non-compliance is identified, 
the Council should evaluate whether any further remedial action is necessary. 

 

Work has already started to review contract exemptions awarded to review compliance with the Public Contract 
Regulations 2015 and to ensure compliance with approved procurement processes going forward. The results of this 
review will be reported to Audit Committee in due course. 

 

 

Planned action(s) 
Completion 
date 

Responsible 
officer 

Status 

Identify all exemptions approved, since 2021. 
06/09/2023 

Head of Strategic 
Commissioning and 
Procurement 

Complete 

Cross-reference exemptions with contract register to determine position, regarding 
each award. 01/11/2023 

Head of Strategic 
Commissioning and 
Procurement 

On target 

Identify any remaining pre-2021 ‘open’ exemptions.  
27/09/2023 

Head of Strategic 
Commissioning and 
Procurement 

On target 

Cross-reference exemptions with contract register and determine position, 
regarding each award. 08/11/2023 

Head of Strategic 
Commissioning and 
Procurement 

On target 

P
age 51



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Submit initial progress report to Audit Committee. 
14/12/2023 

Head of Strategic 
Commissioning and 
Procurement 

On target 

Identify and resolve any outstanding compliance requirements. 
13/02/2024 

Head of Strategic 
Commissioning and 
Procurement 

On target 

Submit final report to Audit Committee. 
14/03/2024 

Head of Strategic 
Commissioning and 
Procurement 

On target 

Establish a bi-annual reporting schedule of approved exemptions and extensions 
to Audit Committee  01/04/2024 

Head of Strategic 
Commissioning and 
Procurement 

On target 

10. We recommend that the council review its oversight arrangements for Middlesbrough Development Company 
for the period up to the demise of the entity, so that it can satisfy itself that Middlesbrough Development 
Company is delivering value for money with the resources provided to it during this period. 

 
Status 

 
A review has been completed of the governance and oversight arrangements for the Middlesbrough Development 
Company.  The review has completed an assessment of the company against the recently adopted Council policy that 
provides a policy framework against which it can assess the governance arrangement of Partly and Wholly Owned 
Council Companies.  All company activities have now ceased as part of delivery of the action plan to close the 
company down. 
 
The outcome of the review was presented to Executive on 6 September 2023. There is a commitment within the 
Executive report to either provide quarterly reports on progress and continued compliance with the action plan and 
governance arrangements of the company, or provide a report to confirm closure, which is expected to be complete 
before the first quarterly report would be due. 
 

 
Complete 

Provision of a closure report or the first quarterly monitoring report if closure of 
the company has not been closed before the first quarter has passed since the 
Executive report. 

31/12/2023 Director of 
Regeneration 

On target 

P
age 52



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

11. We recommend that the Council develop an action plan for the demise of Middlesbrough Development 
Company which sets out how the Council will realise the value which has been created through the resources 
provided to Middlesbrough Development Company by the Council. 

 
Status 

 
The report to Executive on 6 September 2023 also included an action plan which has been in place and developed 
since the Executive decision in January 2023. Completion of the outcome of a full reconciliation of the Company’s 
accounts and assets will be set out within the final report that will be considered by Executive once closure is complete. 
 
 

 
Complete 

Provision of a closure report on the company to Executive 31/12/2023 Director of 
Regeneration 

On 
target 

 

P
age 53



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

MIDDLESBROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 
Report of: Executive Member for Finance and Governance  

Interim Director of Finance (S151 Officer) 

 

Submitted to: Council 

 

Date: 18 September 2023 

 

Title: Reserves Policy 2023/24 

 

Report for: Decision 

 

Status: Public 

 

Strategic priority: All 

 

Key decision: Yes 

Why: Decision(s) will incur expenditure or savings above £150,000 
and have a significant impact in two or more wards 

 

Urgent: No 

Why: Not applicable 

 

Executive summary  

As part of the Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) Refresh 2024/25 to 2026/27 report 
to Executive on 23 August 2023 Executive agreed a proposed Reserves Policy for the 
Council to apply in 2023/24 and recommended it to the Council for approval. This report 
requests Council approval of the Reserves Policy for 2023/24. 

 
That the Council: 
 

 Approves  the Reserves Policy for 2023/24 contained in Appendix 1 
 

Page 55

Agenda Item 6



 

Purpose 
 
1. The purpose of the report is to obtain approval from Full Council of a Reserves Policy for 

2023/24 (Appendix 1) 
 
Background and relevant information 
 
2. The Council is required to maintain adequate financial reserves. Reserves are an integral 

part of sound financial management, they help the Council plan for future spending 
commitments, balance the budget, and manage unpredictable financial pressures. 
 

3. The Council’s General Fund Balance and other usable revenue reserves at 31 March 
2023 are summarised in table 1 below. It should be noted that the General Fund balance 
is the reserve of last resort and stands at 9.5% of the 2023/24 net revenue budget. 
Unrestricted usable earmarked revenue reserves are at a critically low level and it is 
essential that 2023/24 expenditure is contained within the approved budget in order to 
protect these balances. The intention over the period of the  MTFP is to replenish these 
reserves to rebuild the Council’s financial resilience so that it can respond to unforeseen 
financial shocks outside of its control. The updated MTFP includes contributions to the 
Financial Resilience Reserve of £0.500m in 2024/25 and then £0.750m p.a. in 2025/26 
and 2026/27.  
 
Table  1 – Reserves as at 31 March 2023 

 
 

4. An essential element of the Council’s MTFP is the management and maintenance of 
adequate financial reserves and it is therefore recommended that the  Council adopts a 
Reserves Policy within 2023/24, and that this will be further updated and approved as an 
integral part of the MTFP for 2024/25 and future years. As part of The Medium Term 
Financial Plan (MTFP) Refresh 2024/25 to 2026/27 report to Executive on 23 August 
2023 Executive agreed the proposed Reserves Policy for the Council to apply in 2023/24 
and recommended it to Council for approval. This report requests the approval of the 
Reserves Policy contained in Appendix 1 by Council. 

 

Page 56



 

What decision(s) are being recommended?  
 
That the Council: 
 

 Approves the Reserves Policy for 2023/24 contained in Appendix 1.  
 
Rationale for the recommended decision(s) 
 
5. Reserves are an integral part of sound financial management, they help the Council 

plan for future spending commitments, balance the budget, and manage unpredictable 
financial pressures. 
 

6. The adoption of a Reserves Policy is recommended good practice to enable the 
effective management and maintenance of  reserves. 

 

7. The adoption of a Reserves Policy is important in addressing the risk in the current 
year of reserves being exhausted if expenditure is not contained within the approved 
2023/24 budget as detailed in paragraph 3.  

 

8. The Council is required to set a legally balanced budget for 2024/25 and achieve a 
financially sustainable position through a balanced MTFP to 2026/27. Maintaining 
adequate financial reserves is a key part of this. 

 
Other potential decision(s) and why these have not been recommended 
 
9. There are no other potential decisions that have been considered due to the need to 

manage reserves effectively by a Reserves Policy.  
 

Impact(s) of the recommended decision(s) 
 
Legal 
 
10. The Council is required under legislation to set a balanced budget for each year. The 

MTFP and revenue and capital budgets form part of the Council’s policy framework, as 
set out in its constitution. 
 

11. The Council is required to maintain adequate financial reserves. Reserves are an 
integral part of sound financial management, they help the Council plan for future 
spending commitments, balance the budget, and manage unpredictable financial 
pressures. 

  
12. Sections 32 and 43 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 require councils to 

consider the level of reserves when setting a budget requirement. Section 25 of the 
Local Government Act 2003 requires the Chief Financial Officer (Section 151 Officer) to 
report formally to Council on the adequacy of proposed reserves when setting the 
budget and council tax requirement. This is completed at the Council through the 
Robustness Statement. The accounting treatment for reserves is set out in the Code of 
Practice on Local Authority Accounting. 

 

13. CIPFA issued Local Authority Accounting Panel (LAAP) Bulletin No.99, Guidance Note 
on Local Authority Reserves and Balances in July 2014. CIPFA also issued CIPFA 

Page 57

https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/cipfa-bulletins/laap-bulletins/laap-99
https://www.cipfa.org/-/media/files/policy-and-guidance/cipfa-bulletins/cipfa-bulletin-13-local-authority-reserves-and-balances.pdf


 

Bulletin 13 Local Authority Reserves and Balances on 28 March 2023. Compliance with 
the guidance is recommended in CIPFA’s Statement on the Role of the Chief Financial 
Officer in Local Government. In response to the above requirements, this policy sets-out 
the Council’s approach for compliance with the statutory regime and relevant non-
statutory guidance for the Council’s cash backed usable reserves. 

 
Strategic priorities and risks 

14. The S151 Officer is required to provide statutory advice to Council on the robustness 
of the budget estimates and adequacy of reserves. The Reserves Policy is a key part 
in enabling the S151 Officer to fulfil this role. 

Human Rights, Equality and Data Protection 
 
15. There are no implications arising from this report.  

 
Financial 

16. This report sets out for approval by Council a Reserves Policy for the Council for 
2023/24.  
 

17. The budget process for 2024/25 will culminate in the Chief Finance Officer’s 
assessment of the robustness of the proposed budget and adequacy of reserves 
statement contained within the final report presented to Executive and Council in 
February 2024. The Reserves Policy is a key part in enabling the S151 Officer to fulfil 
this role. 

 
Actions to be taken to implement the recommended decision(s) 
 

Action Responsible Officer Deadline 

If approved the Reserves Policy 
for 2023/24 as contained in 
Appendix 1 will be implemented 
 

Interim Director of Finance / Head 
of Financial Planning & Support 

30/9/23 

Further update the Reserves 
Policy as part of the 2024/25 
budget setting process and 
include in the budget report to 
Executive and Council in 
February 2024 

Interim Director of Finance / Head 
of Financial Planning & Support 

28/2/24 

 
 
Appendices 
 

1 Reserves Policy 2023/24   

 
 
Background papers 
 

Executive Medium Term Financial Plan 
(MTFP) Refresh 2024/25 to 
2026/27 

23/8/23 

Page 58

https://www.cipfa.org/-/media/files/policy-and-guidance/cipfa-bulletins/cipfa-bulletin-13-local-authority-reserves-and-balances.pdf


 

 
Contact: Andrew Humble, Head of Financial Planning & Support    
  (deputy S151 Officer) 
Email:  andrew_humble@middlesbrough.gov.uk  
  
 

Page 59

mailto:andrew_humble@middlesbrough.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 1 

Reserves Policy 2023/24  

Middlesbrough Council 

1. Background and Context 

1.1. The Council is required to maintain adequate financial reserves. Reserves are an 
integral part of sound financial management, they help the Council plan for future 
spending commitments, balance the budget and manage unpredictable financial 
pressures. 

1.2.   Sections 32 and 43 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 require councils to 
consider the level of reserves when setting a budget requirement. Section 25 of the 
Local Government Act 2003 requires the Chief Financial Officer (Section 151 
Officer) to report formally to Council on the adequacy of proposed reserves when 
setting the budget and council tax requirement. This is completed at the Council 
through the Robustness Statement. The accounting treatment for reserves is set out 
in the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting. 

1.3. CIPFA issued Local Authority Accounting Panel (LAAP) Bulletin No.99, Guidance 
Note on Local Authority Reserves and Balances in July 2014. CIPFA also issued 
CIPFA Bulletin 13 Local Authority Reserves and Balances on 28 March 2023. 
Compliance with the guidance is recommended in CIPFA’s Statement on the Role of 
the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government. In response to the above 
requirements, this policy sets-out the Council’s approach for compliance with the 
statutory regime and relevant non-statutory guidance for the Council’s cash backed 
usable reserves. 

1.4. All reserves will be categorised as per the Local Authority Accounting Practice 
guidance, into groupings. 

1.5.  Within the Statement of Accounts for General Fund Earmarked Reserves, all individual 
reserves are reported and will include a description of the purpose of the reserve. 

1.6. Earmarked reserves will be reviewed regularly as part of the in-year monitoring and 
accounts closure process and annually as part of the budget setting process, to 
determine whether the original purpose for the creation of the reserve still exists and 
whether or not the reserves should be released in full or in part or require topping up 
based on known/expected calls upon them.  

1.7 Particular attention will be paid in the annual review to those reserves whose 
balances have not moved over a two-year period, other than the General Fund, for 
further detail see Section 4 Management and governance. 

  

Page 61

https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/cipfa-bulletins/laap-bulletins/laap-99
https://www.cipfa.org/-/media/files/policy-and-guidance/cipfa-bulletins/cipfa-bulletin-13-local-authority-reserves-and-balances.pdf


2. Overview 

 
2.1. The Council will maintain a General Fund Balance and a number of sub reserves of 

the General Fund known as ‘earmarked reserves’ which will be held for three main 
purposes: 

 General Fund Balance – a minimum balance which is a contingency to 
cushion the impact of unexpected events or emergencies. This is the fund of 
last resort. 

 Earmarked reserves: 

 -  to support financial sustainability which are used to help cushion the impact 
of uneven cash flows, avoid unnecessary temporary borrowing manage the 
impact of unexpected adverse impacts upon the general fund budget (e.g., a 
financial resilience reserve). 

 - to meet known or predicted requirements or established by statute. The 
purpose of these reserves is to enable sums to be set aside for specific purposes 
or in respect of potential or contingent liabilities where the creation of a provision 
is not required or permitted. 

 Unusable reserves - these arise out of a requirement under legislation and 
proper accounting practice either to accumulate revaluation gains or as 
adjustment accounts to comply with statutory accounting requirements. These 
reserves are not backed by resources and therefore cannot be used for any 
other purpose. Hence, these reserves are not available to fund expenditure. 
These will generally be excluded from any discussion where the council talks 
about its level of reserves. 

2.2. The level of the General Fund Balance is a matter for the Council to determine 
having had regard to the advice of the S151 Officer. A general assumption over 
many years was to allow for a balance of 5% of Net Revenue Expenditure. 
However, due to the increasing financial risks and uncertainties facing local 
authorities over the period since austerity in 2008/09, the minimum average 
balance recommended by S151 Officers has tended to increase. It is dependent 
upon the level of other earmarked reserves held and the assessment of risks 
facing individual authorities. 

 
2.3 The Council’s minimum General Fund Balance for 2023/24 is set at £12.041m 

which represents 9.5% of the 2023/24 Net Revenue Budget of £126.354m and 
reflects the risk assessed minimum balance determined by the S151 Officer in 
February 2023. The S151 Officer recommends that this level is maintained during 
2023/24 and will be reassessed as part of the 2024/25 budget setting process.  

 
The calculation of the level of General Fund Reserve for 2023/24 was set out in 
the budget report to Council in February 2023 and this assessment is outlined in 
Appendix C - Risk Based Assessment of Risk Reserve Balances. 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 62



2.4.  The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) recommend 
that the following factors should be taken into account when considering the level 
of reserves and balances: 

 Assumptions regarding inflation and interest rates. 
 Estimates of the level and timing of capital receipts. 
 The capacity to manage in-year demand led pressures. 

 Ability to activate contingency plans if planned savings cannot be delivered. 
 Risks inherent in any new partnerships. 
 Financial standing of the authority (level of borrowing, debt outstanding etc.) 
  The authority’s record of budget management and ability to manage in year             

budget pressures. 

 Virement and year-end procedures in relation to under and overspends. 

 The general financial climate. 
 The adequacy of insurance arrangements. 
 

2.5. Each local authority must make their own decisions about the level of reserves 
they hold, taking into account all of the issues referred to above. The level of the 
general fund reserve will be a matter of judgement which will take account of the 
specific risks identified through the various corporate processes. It will also take 
account of the extent to which specific risks are supported through earmarked 
reserves. A risk assessment of the General Fund will be made each year and will 
consider the budget assumptions outlined in paragraph 2.3. This assessment is 
outlined in Appendix C - Risk Based Assessment of Risk Reserve Balances. 

2.6.   The level will be expressed as a cash sum over the period of the Medium Term 
Financial Plan (MTFP). The level will also be expressed as a percentage of Net 
Revenue Expenditure (to provide an indication of financial context).  

2.7. On 1 April 2023, the Council held £12.041m in General Fund Reserve. The forecast 
profile as a proportion of the Net Revenue Expenditure over the period of the MTFP 
is summarised below: 

Year Forecast 
Contribution* 

 

 

Forecast 
balance 

Forecast NRE Reserve to NRE  

 £m £m £m % 
2023/24 - 12.041 126.354 9.5 

2024/25 - 12.041 134.448 9.0 
2025/26 - 12.041 140.806 8.6 

2026/27 - 12.041 147.443 8.2 

 
*Contributions are to be determined via the identification of savings 
 
The forecast balance assumes no draw on the Reserve each year 
The forecast NRE assumes a balanced MTFP each year as per the updated MTFP 

2.8.  This will be reviewed annually in February as part of the budget setting process.  

2.9   The Council’s unrestricted usable earmarked revenue reserves at 31 March 2023 
stand at £2.788m which is critically low. These need to be replenished as part of 
the MTFP in order build the Council’s financial resilience.  

 

 

 

  

Page 63



3.     Strategic context 

3.1.  The Council is facing a shortfall in funding compared to its demands and must 
urgently review its priorities and redesign and transform its services over the 
period of the MTFP to deliver savings to achieve a budget that is financially 
sustainable over the medium term.  

3.2. To achieve Financial Sustainability, the Council will need to invest in a range of 
innovative and transformational activities in order to reduce future costs of service 
delivery. The Council’s earmarked revenue reserves are at a critically low level and 
therefore are not sufficient to fund this innovation and transformation.  

3.3 It is therefore proposed that the Council urgently reviews its asset base within 
2023/24 to identify opportunities for rationalisation of land and buildings to dispose 
of assets in order to generate a pipeline of capital receipts. The utilisation of these 
receipts can then be considered for use in funding a Transformation Programme 
under the Flexible Use of Capital Receipts Policy in line with government 
regulations.  

3.4 Over the term of the MTFP, the Council will need to replenish its earmarked 
revenue reserves in order to provide increased resilience and to fund further 
innovation to deliver continuous improvement over the medium term.  Any 
underspend at final outturn will be transferred into the Council’s Financial 
Resilience Reserve unless otherwise recommended by the S151 Officer.  

3.5 The Council earns interest on the investment of its cash balances through its 
Treasury Management operations. This revenue income supports its general 
spending plans. By holding cash balances, the Council effectively internalises some 
of its borrowing, therefore avoiding interest charges on external debt. Balances held 
in reserves therefore help to reduce on-going revenue expenditure. 

 
3.6 Reserves represent finite funds that can only be used once and are therefore 

regarded as one-off funding. The Council will avoid using reserves to meet ongoing 
financial commitments other than as part of a sustainable budget plan. A 
fundamental principle to be adopted in the management of the Council’s finances is 
to end its reliance upon the use of one-off funding to fund service overspends. 
Further, the Council will not plan to use reserves to support the base budget i.e. this 
reserves strategy will prevent reserves being applied merely to balance the budget. 

4. Management and governance 
 
4.1.  New reserves may be created at any time and approved by the Executive upon 

recommendation by the S151 Officer. 
 
4.2. For each of earmarked reserve held there will be a clear protocol setting out: 

 The reason for/purpose of the reserve 

 How and when the reserve can be used 

 A profile over which the reserve is intended to be utilised showing expected 
contributions to and from the reserve, with an end date for its existence. 

 

4.3  The S151 Officer shall approve the draw down of reserves provided that they are for 
the purpose for which the reserve has been established. The use of reserves will be 
reported as part of the quarterly budget monitoring report to the Executive.  Page 64



4.4 The S151 Officer will review the use of reserves in accordance with the planned 
profile periodically through the financial year and as a minimum at accounts closure 
and budget setting. Protocols will be updated as appropriate.  
 

4.5 All protocols will have an end date and at that point any balance will be transferred to 
the general reserve. If there is a genuine reason for slippage, then the protocol will 
be updated and submitted through Financial Planning for agreement by the S151 
Officer or referred to the Executive as appropriate.  

 

4.6 Ongoing recurring costs should not be funded from reserves unless part of a 
smoothing reserve and approved as part of the MTFP. The short-term use of 
reserves may be agreed to provide time to plan for a sustainable funding solution in 
the following financial year. Decisions on the use of reserves may be delayed until 
financial year-end and will be dependent on the overall financial position of the 
Council rather than the position of just one service area or directorate. 

 

4.7 Council will consider a report from the S151 Officer on the adequacy of the level of 
reserves as part of the annual budget-setting process. 

 

4.8 The Council will review and update the Reserves Strategy and Policy annually as 
part of the budget setting process. 

5. General Fund and Useable Reserves 

 

5.1.  The General Fund Balance is the statutory fund into which all the receipts of the 
Council are required to be paid in, and out of which all liabilities of the Council are 
to be met, except to the extent that statutory rules might provide otherwise. The 
General Fund Balance summarises the resources that the Council is statutorily 
empowered to spend on its services or on capital investment (or the deficit of 
resources that the Council is required to recover) at the end of the financial year. 

 
5.2. Earmarked reserves are amounts set aside from the General Fund Balance to 

provide financing for future expenditure plans, see Appendix A. 
 

5.3. Usable Reserves are those reserves that can be applied to fund expenditure or 
reduce local taxation; however, the Council is restricted in the use of these as the 
schools' balances are held by schools and can only be spent by schools. The 
Capital Grants Unapplied Account can only be used to finance the Capital 
Programme and the General Fund is used by the Council to maintain a prudent 
level of reserves. 

  

Page 65



5.4. In summary: 

 

General Fund Earmarked Reserves 

 a minimum balance which is 
a contingency to cushion the 
impact of unexpected events 
or emergencies. This is the 
fund of last resort. 

 

 Monies set aside for future events or 
liabilities or established by statute. To set 
monies aside for specific purposes in 
respect of potential or contingent liabilities 
where the creation of a provision is not 
required or permitted. 

 Funds to support financial sustainability 
which are used to help cushion the impact 
of uneven cash flows, avoid unnecessary 
temporary borrowing manage the impact 
of unexpected adverse impacts upon the 
general fund budget (e.g. a financial 
resilience reserve). 

    
 

6. Unusable Reserves 
 

6.1. Unusable Reserves are those reserves that absorb the timing differences arising 
from different accounting arrangements. Details of all other reserves and balances 
including information regarding purpose, how and when to use and possible release 
to revenue budget is set out in Appendix B. 

 
 
 

  

Page 66



Appendix A – General Fund & Earmarked Reserves 

 The Council holds a number of usable reserves, and these are listed below. 

Reserve Description 

General Fund 
Balance 

This Fund is the statutory fund into which all the receipts of the 
Council are required to paid in, and out of which all liabilities of the 
Council are to be met, except to the extent that statutory rules might 
provide otherwise. 
 
This is a minimum balance which is a contingency to cushion the 
impact of unexpected events or emergencies. This is the fund of last 
resort. 
 
This reserve ultimately smooths the financial impact of unexpected 
events, major incidents or emerging risks, including: 
 

 Inflation and pay awards increases above that budgeted 

 Further demand led pressures (mainly Adults and Childrens Care) 

 Non achievement of required budget savings and cost reductions 

 The general financial climate and the impact the cost-of-living crisis 
or a recession may have on the council including: 
o Rising demand for Services 
o A reduction in income from fees and charges 
o Impact on income from commercial developments 
o Impact on Council Tax and Business Rates income 
o Exposure to rising Inflation and interest rates 
o Ability to generate planned Capital receipts 

 Financial risks arising as a result of new government legislation or new 
burdens 

Capital 
Receipts 
Reserve 

This reserve holds amounts received from the disposal of assets and 
is only available to fund future capital projects. 

Capital Grants  
and 
Contributions 
Unapplied  
Reserves 

These reserves hold amounts from Capital Grants and Contributions that 
have been recognised in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement in line with the accounting code of practice, but for which the 
associated capital expenditure has not yet been incurred. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 67



Earmarked Reserves 
 
Reserve Description 

Public Health The Public Health Grant received by the Council is ring-fenced for 
use on public health services only. This reserve is for any amounts 
of grant not spent in year due to timing differences in service 
delivery. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Insurance Fund The internal Insurance Fund was set up to cover all the Council's 
insurable risks. Only a limited amount of external insurance cover is 
provided for catastrophe or special risk incidents. The nature of the 
risks covered by the insurance reserve include fidelity guarantee, 
personal accident, employers’ liability, fire, motor, marine, 
engineers, public liability and money losses. 

 
Better Care 
Fund 

The Better Care Fund (BCF) has been established by the 
Government to provide funds to local areas to support the 
introduction of a fully integrated health and social care system. It is 
a requirement of the BCF that the Clinical Commissioning Group 
(CCG) and the Council establish a pooled fund for this purpose. 

Section 75 of the National Health Service Act 2006 gives powers to 
local authorities and CCGs to establish and maintain pooled funds 
to support the outcomes of the BCF.  

The Council has entered into a pooled budget arrangement with 
NHS Tees Valley Clinical Commissioning Group for the provision of 
health and social care services to meet the needs of the population 
of Middlesbrough. The services being commissioned or provided by 
the Council or Tees Valley Clinical Commissioning Group (TVCCG) 
depend upon the needs of the service recipient. The Council and 
TVCCG have an ongoing section 75 agreement in place for funding 
these services and this is reviewed annually. The Council is the host 
for this pooled budget and each partner's contribution is set out in 
the Better Care Fund section 75 agreement. 

This reserve is to hold balances from the pooled budget. 

Marton Library 
Section 106 

This reserve is held for the purpose set out in the Section 106 
agreement.  

Housing Rental 
Sinking Fund 

This reserve is for the replacement of major capital expenditure, e.g. 
replacement windows and boilers, for properties owned by the 
Council and rented out. 

Financial 
Resilience 
Reserve 

The purpose of the Reserve is to meet unforeseen financial 
pressures that cannot ultimately be managed within directorate 
budgets. 

Change Fund 

 

The reserve has been set up to pay for the one-off costs associated 
with implementing change within services including the funding of 
invest to save projects, early retirements / voluntary redundancies 
and altering the way services are commissioned. 

Car Parking 
Reserve 

This reserve was created from other reserves to cover potential 
pressures relating to car parking income arising in future years due 
to the on-going impact of Covid.  Page 68



Elections Costs This reserve covers the cost of elections which occur every four 
years, The reserve is built up with a contribution from the elections 
budget each year, and then drawn down in the fourth year when 
local elections take place. 

Revenue 
Grants 
Unapplied 

In situations where there are no grant conditions or that conditions 
have already been met and expenditure has not yet taken place, any 
unspent grants/contributions are transferred to the Revenue Grants 
Unapplied at year-end. These have been recognised as income in 
prior years in the Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Statement. 

Schools 
Balances 

This reserve holds the accumulated balances and the differences 
between the school budget and actual expenditure incurred in the 
year for all the Middlesbrough Council schools. In accordance with 
Government regulations and the Council's scheme of delegation for 
schools, these funds are carried forward and specifically earmarked 
for use by schools in future years. 

  

 

Page 69



 Appendix B – Unusable Reserves 

Unusable Reserves are those reserves held by the Council that cannot be utilised to 
provide services. This includes reserves that hold unrealised gains and losses and 
adjustment accounts which deal with situations where income and expenditure are 
recognised statutorily against the General Fund balance on a different basis from that 
expected by accounting standards as adopted by the Code. Unusable reserves 
cannot be used to fund expenditure e.g., cannot fund revenue spend on services or 
capital spend on projects. 

Reserve Description 

Revaluation  
Reserve 

The Revaluation Reserve contains the accumulated net gains made 
by the Council arising from increases in the value of its Property, Plant 
and Equipment. The reserve only contains revaluation gains 
accumulated since 1 April 2007, the date when the Revaluation 
Reserve was constituted.  Accumulated gains and losses accumulated 
before that date are consolidated into the Capital Adjustment Account. 
Amounts contained within this reserve will only become available to 
provide services (or limit resources in the case of losses) once the 
gains/losses are realised as the assets are disposed of. 

Capital 
Adjustment 
Account 

The Capital Adjustment Account absorbs the timing differences arising 
from the different arrangements for accounting for the consumption of 
non-current assets and for financing the acquisition, construction or 
enhancement of those assets under statutory provisions.  The 
Account is debited with the cost of acquisition, construction and 
enhancement as depreciation, impairment losses and amortisations 
are charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement (with reconciling postings from the Revaluation Reserve to 
convert fair value figures to a historical cost basis). The account is 
credited with amounts set aside by the Council as finance for the costs 
of acquisition, construction, and enhancement.  

 

The Account also contains accumulated gains and losses on 
Investment Property and gains recognised on donated assets as well 
as revaluation gains accumulated on Property, Plant and Equipment 
before 1st April 2007, the date that the Revaluation Reserve was 
created to hold such gains. 

Deferred Capital 
Receipts 

Deferred Capital Receipts are amounts that are to be received in 
instalments over an agreed period of time. They arise from 
mortgages on the sale of Council Houses, or repayment terms from 
other asset sales. These can only be used for financing new capital 
expenditure when the actual receipt is received. When the deferred 
cash settlement eventually takes place, amounts are transferred to 
the Capital Receipts Reserve. 

Financial  
Instrument  
Adjustment  
Account 

This Account is held in accordance with the Code of Practice to write 
down over time the premiums paid on early debt repayment in order 
to spread the burden on Council Tax. This is a technical adjustment 
and has no impact on the overall financial position of the Council. 

Page 70



Pension Reserve This reserve is used to reconcile the payments made for the year to 
various statutory pension schemes and the net change in the 
Council’s recognised liability under IAS19 – Employee Benefits, for 
the same period. 

Collection 
Fund 
Adjustment 
Account 

The Collection Fund Adjustment Account holds the differences 
arising from the recognition of council tax and business rates 
income, in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
as it falls due from council tax payers and business rate payers 
compared with the statutory arrangements for paying across 
amounts to the General Fund from the Collection Fund. 

Accumulating  
Compensated  
Absences  
Adjustment  
Account 

 

The Accumulated Compensated Absences Adjustment Account 
reflects the value of compensated absences (employees time off with 
pay for holidays) earned but not taken in the year. 

Dedicated 
Schools Grant 
Adjustment 
Account 

From November 2020 The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and 
Accounting) Regulations (the 2003 Regulations) established new 
accounting practices in relation to the treatment of local authorities’ 
schools budget deficits such that where a local authority has a deficit 
on its schools budget relating to its accounts for financial years from 
1st April 2020, it must not charge the amount of that deficit to a 
revenue account. The local authority must record any such deficit in 
a separate account established solely for the purpose of recording 
deficits relating to its school’s budget. The CIPFA local authority 
accounting code has determined this as the ‘Dedicated Schools 
Grant Adjustment Account’.  The new accounting practice has the 
effect of separating schools budget deficits from its General Fund 
revenue budget. 

 

 

Page 71



Appendix C - Risk Based Assessment of Risk Reserve Balances 

The calculation of the level of General Fund Reserve for 2023/24 was set out in the 
budget report to Council in February 2023 using established CIPFA criteria on the basis of 
identified risks and this assessment is outlined below. 
 
The main high level factors affecting the assessment of the General Fund Reserve were 
uncertainty around the level of pay awards and inflation, the continued potential for 
increased demand and costs in Children’s and Adults Social Care, non-achievement of 
required budget savings and cost reductions, and the degree of uncertainty in the financial 
and economic climate for local government due to a number of factors.  The table below 
provides further details of this and shows that the calculation of the £12m level is made by 
using the mid-point of the following factors:  
 
 

Page 72



 

Page 73



This page is intentionally left blank



AGENDA ITEM 7 
 

COUNCIL MEETING – 18 SEPTEMBER 2023 
QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 

COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULE NO.40 
 

QUESTION 
NO. 

QUESTION FROM QUESTION  
TO 

QUESTION 

1/2023 
 
 

J Slater 
 

The Mayor  
Residents in Middlesbrough would like to know the reason why they are constantly informed that 
there isn't any money available to pay for their many requests for area care including weeding, 
cutting grass, tree maintenance, monitoring play parks, tidying walkways and roads, replacing broken 
and vandalised play equipment, these are a few of the many requests made. 
 
Everyone agrees that area care is extremely important to all Middlesbrough residents and as such 
further funding should be obtained to enable the recruitment of extra manpower and to ensure vans 
are on the road not in the pound. 
 
Will the Mayor confirm that area care will be given the funding required to ensure it does the job that 
Middlesbrough residents pay for and expect to have? 
 

 

P
age 75

A
genda Item

 7



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

 

Elected Mayor and 

Executive Member Reports 

and additional Executive 

decision information 

 
Council Meeting: 18 September 2023 

 

DEMOCRATIC SERVICES 

Page 77

Agenda Item 10



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

INTRODUCTION 
 
 
 
This document contains the Elected Mayor and Executive Member reports relevant to the 
Council meeting to be held on 18 September 2023.   
 
The booklet, in addition to containing details of Executive Member activities covering the 
period following the last Council meeting (section 1), also details those Executive 
decisions taken since the last booklet was published (section 2) together with those 
decisions planned to be taken from dispatch of this booklet up until the date of the Council 
meeting (section 3) and those decisions planned to be taken following the Council meeting 
(section 4).  
 
The table at section 2 contains details of decisions taken by individual Executive Members, 
the full Executive, Executive Sub-Committees and Joint Archives Committee.  The public 
reports that were considered are also available through the Modern Gov system. 
 
The tables at section 3 and 4 contain details of the decisions to be taken by individual 
Executive Members, the full Executive, Executive Sub-Committees and Joint Archives 
Committee.  Further details on key decisions that are to be taken can also be found on the 
Modern Gov Forward Plan. 
 
The Elected Mayor and Executive Member reports and the additional decision-making 
information will hopefully assist Members when considering any questions they may have 
for Executive Members at Council, which can be asked within accordance of the Council’s 
procedure rules. 
 
Details of those decisions to be taken, as outlined in Section 3 and 4, may sometimes be 
subject to change (e.g., dates of meetings may alter).  Members are therefore advised to 
check with the Democratic Services should they have an interest in specific issues.   
 
 
Charlotte Benjamin 
Director of Legal and Governance Services 
(01642) 729024 
 
 
Contact details 
 
Bernie Carr – Democratic and Registration Manager - (01642) 729714 
 

Page 79



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

THE MAYOR AND EXECUTIVE MEMBER REPORTS AND ADDITIONAL 
INFORMATION  

 
COUNCIL MEETING: 18 SEPTEMBER 2023 

 
CONTENTS 

 
SECTION 1 - Executive Member Reports 
 

 The Mayor and Executive Member for Adult Social Care and Public Health 
Chris Cooke 

 

 Deputy Mayor and Executive Member for Education and Culture 
     Councillor Philippa Storey 

 

 Executive Member for Children’s Services 
Councillor Zafar Uddin 
 

 Executive Member for Community Safety 
 Councillor Janet Thompson 
 

 Executive Member for Environment  
Councillor Peter Gavigan 
 

 Executive Member for Finance and Governance 
Councillor Nicky Walker 
 

 Executive Member for Regeneration   
 Councillor Theo Furness 
 

 
SECTION 2 – Table of Executive decisions taken and that have been through the Call-In 
period, since the last booklet, published on 27 June 2023. 
 
SECTION 3 – Table of Executive decisions planned to be taken from dispatch of this 
booklet up until the date of the Council meeting. 
 
SECTION 4 – Table of Executive decisions planned to be taken following the Council 
meeting. 
 

Page 81



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
 

Mayor Chris Cooke 
 
Email: mayor@middlesbrough.gov.uk 

Mayor’s office 
Fountain Court, 119 Grange Road, Middlesbrough TS1 2RT 
middlesbrough.gov.uk 

 
 

EXECUTIVE MEMBER REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
EXECUTIVE MEMBER: MAYOR CHRIS COOKE 
 
DATE OF MEETING: 18 September 2023  
 
The purpose of this report is to provide an update to members on areas of activity within my 
portfolio including performance against strategic priorities. 
 
 

STRATEGIC PRIORITIES 
 

 
Strategic Priority: We will work to address the causes of vulnerability and inequalities in 
Middlesbrough and safeguard and support those made vulnerable. 
 
Update: Health Panel 
 
The health inequalities vary dramatically across Middlesbrough with the life expectancy of a 
female in North Ormesby at 73.9 years in comparison to 86.6 years in Stainton and Thornton 
(as you can see in the table appended to the report). 
 
In order to begin to tackle the health inequalities in Middlesbrough I have decided to create a panel 
made up of members from health professionals, public health and one member from every ward 
that has more than one “1” rank indicator these wards are set out below. The purpose of the panel 
is to create a better way of working between ward members and public health so we can begin to 
look at causes and factors behind the data but also more efficiently bridge any gaps in 
communication between public health and residents. Once we have established this initial process 
the aim will be to expand the remit until we have covered all wards in Middlesbrough. 
 
Update: Inpatient Detox 
 
The current situation for inpatient drug and alcohol detox is very limited inpatient detox 
availability with our closest option for drug detox being in Liverpool and we fund a limited 
number of places each year on a cost per case basis.  The Tees Public Health teams also fund 
an alcohol detox bed at North Tees Hospital. 
 
The National Drug Strategy (“From Harm to Hope”) acknowledged the under-funding of 
substance misuse services, including a “lack of specialist services, including inpatient 
detoxification and residential rehabilitation”.  The national funding that followed this Strategy 
include an element for inpatient detox, with a requirement to offer at least 2% of people in 
treatment inpatient detox.   
 
 

Page 83



 

 
 
 

Public Health South Tees are leading a programme with seven other north east Councils and 
Home Group to develop a more local inpatient detox option in Brotton in East Cleveland, using 
an existing building that has been refurbished to a high specification by Home Group.   
 
A draft service specification has been developed and is currently being finalised prior to a 
procurement process to secure a provider, with market testing indicating interest in providing the 
service.  The provider should be secured by December 2023 and the service mobilised to 
commence in April 2024. 
 
Once patients have completed their detox they’ll return home to continue rehab if well 
supported, or on to their local residential rehab programme. 
 
Update: Breast Feeding Borough Declaration  
 
Breastfeeding rates at birth across South Tees are lower than the national average particularly 
6- 8 weeks post birth. The benefits of breast feeding are received both by mother and child. The 
benefits to maternal health include protection from ovarian cancers and heart disease with the 
benefits to child to include protection from heart disease, asthma, Sudden Infant Death 
syndrome and diabetes.  
 
A declaration on breastfeeding entails 10 commitments that would seek to normalise a 
breastfeeding culture. A similar campaign was delivered in Blackburn and Darwen which 
resulted in the continuation of breast feeding for months after birth.  
 
Update: Healthy Weight Declaration (HWD) 
 
A HWD will increase the number of people living in Middlesbrough who are a healthy weight and 
improve nutrition and hydration outcomes across the town. Approximately 71% of adults in 
Middlesbrough are overweight or obese, with 1 in every 3 children in reception being overweight. 
The difficulties of maintaining a healthy weight are compounded further by the living crisis where 
essential items have increased in price. Maintaining a healthy weight is challenging for many given all 
the external factors and influences on our lives. We therefore need a multi-faceted approach, to look at 
the whole system of social, economic and environmental factors that impact on weight.  
 
The HWD includes 16 standard commitments that will work in conjunction with an elected member 
champion who will help to progress the HWD. The HWD has been developed to support local 
authorities to demonstrate commitment at a leadership level to develop and implement policies that 
promote healthy weight and improve the health and well-being of the local population.  
 

HIGHLIGHTS 
 

 
The Orchard Day Service- 16/08/23  
 
The Orchard Day Service provides mental health support and 
care for adults. During my visit, I met with the Unit Manager who 
provided a tour of the facilities. Each room provides different 
sensory stimulation based on the needs of the service users. The 
corridors were wide which allowed easy access for those who 
required mobility aids. The Orchard have implemented a 

Page 84



 

 
 
 

centralised alarm system which uses lights in the corridor to signal staff to the appropriate room, in 
an event of an emergency. There is an outdoor area with inclusive playground equipment. The 
service also has a minibus which allows visits outside the centre including a cinema trip on the day 
of my visit, which was positively received by service users.  
 
The Orchard Day Service is in high demand. Families with prospective service users have moved 
house to be in a location that falls within the catchment area. The derelict land adjacent to the 
building was discussed which provides potential scope to expand and mitigate the demand on the 
service.  
 
Teesside Stroke Club- 31/08/23 
 
Teesside Stroke Club is led by Ted Docherty, who 
fundraised £300,000 to provide people who suffered 
with stroke, bespoke motorised machines and walking 
aids to facilitate recovery. Attendees can use the 
machinery provided to increase their physical fitness 
and confidence amongst others in similar positions. 
Ted recalled attendees started the club unable to talk 
and are now in a position where they can converse 
with others. The Club crucially provides a social outlet 
and community for both attendees and their respective carers.  
 
Upon talking to attendees, I became aware of the indiscriminate nature of stroke through meeting 
attendees in their late 20s who were previously in physically active jobs. Moving forward the club 
seeks to increase its diversity amongst attendees. 
 

THE TIME AHEAD   
 

 
Upcoming report for Council:   
 
Draft Statement of Licensing Policy will go to Council in November 
 
Upcoming initiatives:  
 
The Care Quality Commission will commence inspection of Local Authority delivery of Care Act 
2014, Part 1, duties towards the end of this calendar year.   
 
A programme of briefings for all Elected Members is in development and will commence in 
approximately a month.    
 
NAME : Mayor Chris Cooke  
DATE: 18 September 2023

 
 

Page 85



This page is intentionally left blank



Middlesbrough Ward Profile - Key Public Health Indicators

England M'Bro

Rate Rate 20th 1st Rate Rank Rate Rank Rate Rank Rate Rank Rate Rank Rate Rank Rate Rank Rate Rank Rate Rank Rate Rank Rate Rank Rate Rank Rate Rank Rate Rank Rate Rank Rate Rank Rate Rank Rate Rank Rate Rank Rate Rank

Life expectancy at birth (Male) 79.5 75.3 83.0 69.4 81.1 17 78.1 14 72.1 5 72.4 6 69.4 1 76.8 11 74.3 8 80.6 16 76.9 12 75.2 10 70.2 2 80.3 15 83 20 71.6 3 71.7 4 81.7 18 75.1 9 73.2 7 81.9 19 77.9 13

Life expectancy at birth (Female) 83.2 79.8 87.0 73.9 84.3 16 81.6 12 75.6 3 75.3 2 76.4 6 80.7 10 78.2 7 87 20 80.7 10 81.9 13 75.8 4 84.4 17 82.1 14 76 5 73.9 1 84.5 18 79.3 8 79.7 9 86.6 19 84 15

Deaths from all causes, under 75 years, standardised 

mortality ratio
100 150.4 59.7 251.7 92.8 15 136 10 210.6 6 232.2 2 251.7 1 123.2 13 163.7 8 81.4 17 126.1 12 128.5 11 230.3 3 104.7 14 80.7 18 213.7 4 212.4 5 59.7 20 146.6 9 173.5 7 66.7 19 90.5 16

Deaths from causes considered preventable, under 

75 years, standardised mortality ratio
100 168.4 40.5 299.4 72 18 143.6 11 253.7 6 295.5 2 299.4 1 128.4 13 176.7 8 79.2 17 157.3 10 128.5 12 254.2 5 112.8 14 69.4 19 270.6 3 257.8 4 40.5 20 160.6 9 201.9 7 86.7 15 81.5 16

Deaths from all cancer, under 75 years, standardised 

mortality ratio
100 136.5 68.5 214.8 107.7 15 169.2 5 162.3 6 214.8 1 171.6 4 125.4 14 136.2 12 84.8 18 127.9 13 148.7 7 173 2 140 10 96.5 17 148.6 8 172.1 3 81.8 19 140.8 9 137.1 11 68.5 20 98.3 16

Deaths from circulatory disease, under 75 years, 

standardised mortality ratio
100 150.4 34.8 303.8 94.6 15 146.8 9 229.7 4 210.5 5 301.9 2 99 13 178.2 7 65.7 19 117 11 110.9 12 232.6 3 97.3 14 92.6 16 303.8 1 174.1 8 34.8 20 119.4 10 190 6 67.3 18 79.1 17

Deaths from respiratory disease, under 75 years, 

standardised mortality ratio
100 145 41.4 312.3 58.9 19 108.9 13 243.5 3 312.3 1 231.7 5 126.2 12 159 9 69.8 17 162.7 8 132.6 11 241.8 4 41.4 20 75.6 15 226.6 6 265.9 2 81.8 14 175.7 7 153.6 10 65.9 18 71.8 16

Smoking at time of delivery (%) 9.1 14.2 0.0 30.2 2.9 14 16.3 9 21.8 4 28 2 7 12 8.8 10 17.2 8 2.3 15 17.5 7 2.2 16 23.8 3 3.3 13 0 17 17.8 6 30.2 1 0 17 7.9 11 19.8 5 0 17 0 17

Breastfeeding initiation (%) 71.7 57.4 100.0 27.6 77.1 16 57.1 9 29.7 2 27.6 1 72.6 14 60.3 11 46.3 4 51.5 8 51.4 7 77.6 17 48 5 76.7 15 83.3 18 65.3 12 50 6 85 19 66.1 13 35.1 3 100 20 59.3 10

School readiness - reception (%) 65.2 56.5 77.9 40.4 73.1 15 46.6 3 48.8 4 59.1 12 40.4 1 65.2 13 57.5 11 73.9 16 55.1 7 56.7 10 55.2 8 72.2 14 75 19 42.6 2 53.8 6 74.6 18 52.7 5 56.5 9 74.2 17 77.9 20

Year 6 - prevalence of overweight (%) 35.8 41.7 31.3 47.9 41.9 10 46.8 3 47.9 1 43.4 5 42.2 8 40 11 42.4 6 42.3 7 37.1 15 37 16 46.2 4 35.9 17 34.4 19 39.3 12 47.1 2 34.6 18 38.5 13 42.2 8 31.3 20 38.2 14

Emergency hospital admissions for all causes, all 

ages, standardised admission ratio
100 132.1 85.6 183.0 87.3 18 116.4 14 159.7 4 183 1 153.1 6 119.4 12 145.9 8 87.2 19 127.1 9 118.7 13 178.8 2 97.3 16 85.6 20 147.9 7 166.5 3 88.5 17 126.8 10 154.5 5 123.2 11 100.1 15

Emergency hospital admissions for heart disease, all 

ages, standardised admission ratio
100 118.9 60.6 241.8 88.2 15 150.2 5 120 10 143.5 6 171.9 3 90.8 14 136.2 7 77.1 18 72.8 19 132.6 8 154.7 4 100.2 13 60.6 20 241.8 1 202.2 2 85.9 17 88.1 16 125.8 9 113.8 11 104.1 12

Emergency hospital admissions for COPD, all ages, 

standardised admission ratio
100 214.7 58.8 589.2 60.2 19 196.6 9 401.9 3 589.2 1 353.2 5 150.8 12 233 7 58.8 20 158.5 11 127.9 13 386.4 4 60.8 17 66.7 16 437.4 2 201.7 8 60.5 18 190.2 10 306.8 6 110.2 15 117.6 14

Emergency hospital admissions for intentional self 

harm, standardised admission ratio
100 184.1 44.5 384.0 87.2 17 140.2 10 200.6 8 266.6 3 208.7 7 188.1 9 242.1 5 90.8 16 133.7 13 137.2 12 298.8 2 91.1 15 49.6 19 223.4 6 384 1 44.5 20 139.1 11 252.8 4 132.7 14 51.6 18

Incidence of all cancers, standardised incidence ratio 100 112.7 86.7 142.2 93.5 18 129.2 5 142.2 1 141.2 2 131.8 4 103.9 12 106.3 11 86.7 20 103.8 13 107.2 10 133.3 3 98.6 16 103.8 13 115 9 116.6 8 97.4 17 118.4 7 121.8 6 89.4 19 102 15

Hospital admissions for alcohol attributable 

conditions, (Narrow definition)
100 147.2 74.1 247.3 74.1 20 115.2 12 196.7 4 207.1 3 225.4 2 124.8 11 149.7 9 87.6 18 154 8 90.5 16 186.1 6 105.8 14 81.9 19 193.5 5 247.3 1 90.3 17 139.3 10 174.2 7 110.6 13 93.6 15

Percentage of people who reported having a limiting 

long term illness or disability
17.6 20.9 15.8 25.9 17.8 17 19.6 11 23.6 6 24.5 4 18.3 14 21.7 8 23.6 6 25.1 3 21.2 9 15.8 20 25.2 2 18 16 16.2 19 18.7 12 24.4 5 16.4 18 18.6 13 25.9 1 20.2 10 18.2 15

Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) Score 21.7 40.5 6.1 75.6 10.9 18 35.3 9 64.1 3 69.8 2 54.4 7 29 12 50.3 8 12.7 15 31.6 11 20.4 14 56.2 6 11.9 17 8.6 19 60.2 4 75.6 1 6.1 20 31.8 10 56.4 5 25.2 13 12.4 16

Income deprivation, English Indices of Deprivation 12.9 25.1 3.6 45.5 7.2 17 22.5 9 40.9 3 45.5 1 34 5 18.4 12 30.8 8 7.7 15 20.9 10 13.3 13 33.5 6 5.7 18 4.4 19 38.5 4 44.4 2 3.6 20 19.6 11 33.3 7 13.1 14 7.4 16

Child Poverty, Income deprivation affecting children 

index (IDACI)
17.1 32.7 5.2 55.9 9.3 16 30.2 10 52.6 2 55.9 1 35.8 8 18.1 12 38 7 8.9 17 31 9 17.1 13 39 6 6.4 18 5.5 19 46.2 3 45.2 4 5.2 20 26.4 11 43.4 5 14.7 14 10.2 15

Modelled estimates of the proportion of households 

in fuel poverty (%)
13.2 16.8 6.7 27.9 10.5 14 18.4 7 21 5 24 3 27.9 1 7.7 18 16.1 10 10 15 12.9 12 13.1 11 20.5 6 8.5 17 6.7 20 25.6 2 21.9 4 7.3 19 16.5 9 17.6 8 11.4 13 8.7 16

Unemployment (Percentage of the working age 

population claiming out of work benefit)
5 8.3 2.1 23.4 3.8 14 6.7 11 10 5 11.4 3 11 4 4.1 13 9.8 6 3 16 7.1 10 5.3 12 9 8 2.5 18 2.1 20 15.5 2 23.4 1 2.4 19 7.5 9 9.7 7 2.9 17 3.1 15

2021/

* Rank is highest/worst ward out of total 20 Middlesbrough wards
2021/

22

Child Health

Wider 

Determinants

Kader Ladgate

Disease & poor 

health

Life 

Expectancy & 

Mortality

Acklam Ayresome
Berwick Hills 

& Pallister

Brambles & 

Thorntree
Range Trimdon

Indicator

North 

Ormesby
Nunthorpe Park

Park End & 

Beckfield

Stainton & 

Thornton
Linthorpe

Longlands & 

Beechwood
Marton East Marton West NewportCentral

Coulby 

Newham
Hemlington

P
age 87



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
 

Deputy Mayor Philippa Storey 
Executive Member for Education and Culture 
 

Email: philippa_storey@middlesbrough.gov.uk 
Tel: 07590 640900 

Democratic Services 
Middlesbrough Council, Town Hall, Middlesbrough TS1 9FX 
middlesbrough.gov.uk 

 
 

EXECUTIVE MEMBER REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
EXECUTIVE MEMBER: DEPUTY MAYOR AND EDUCATION AND CULTURE - 
COUNCILLOR PHILIPPA STOREY 
 
DATE OF MEETING: 18 September 2023  
 
The purpose of this report is to provide an update to members on areas of activity within my 
portfolio including performance against strategic priorities. 
 
 

STRATEGIC PRIORITIES 
 

 
Strategic Priority: Children and Young People - We will show Middlesbrough’s children that 
they matter and work to make our town safe and welcoming and to improve outcomes for all 
children and young people. 
 
Update: Youth Justice Partnerships 
 

1. The Government recently published the ‘Anti-Social Behaviour Action Plan’. In 
partnership with the other two Cleveland Youth Justice Services, a model of service 
delivery has been developed. Youth Justice Services are aiming to commence delivery in 
September. 

 
2. As part of our response to violent crime involving young people we have developed a 

‘Custody Navigator’ focussing on providing immediate interventions when young people 
present at custody, followed by advocacy to ensure appropriate longer term local support 
is offered and accessed. Four Custody Navigators will seek to identify opportunities to 
develop a trusting relationship whereby the detainee can be referred to appropriate 
support through a tailored service plan that connects them to services such counselling, 
mentoring, or help with conflict resolution, employment, or substance misuse.  Although 
the initial contact is likely to be within the custody setting, Navigators will continue to 
provide ongoing support to individuals beyond release.  This pilot will operate across 
Cleveland until March 2025. 

 
Access to Education 
 

3. Middlesbrough Council are working with DfE to appoint  staff to drive up attendance, the 
attendance teams will be  school based and have very specific remits to support school 
leaders – this is great news and represents an exciting step forward for us. We are 
planning a launch event to be held in September funded by DfE which will show case the 
work that is going on in the Council and in schools to support attendance.  

 
  

Page 89



 

 
 
 

Deputy Mayor Philippa Storey 
Executive Member for Education and Culture 
 

Email: philippa_storey@middlesbrough.gov.uk 
Tel: 07590 640900 

Democratic Services 
Middlesbrough Council, Town Hall, Middlesbrough TS1 9FX 
middlesbrough.gov.uk 

 
 

4. The Virtual School is going from strength to strength; a recent fantastic conference 
brought together key stakeholders from across the area to reflect on our use of language 
with our care experienced young people and launched wave 2 of Proclaim – meaning 10 
schools in Middlesbrough now are part of Proclaim a project working to ensure schools 
better understand the needs of their pupils having the potential to improve school 
attendance and reduce exclusions.  More information on Proclaim can be found here: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Inclusion and Specialist Support 
 

5. We have recently been working with the DfE’s Delivering Better Value Team to consider 
how we can further meet the outcomes of children and young people with SEND (Special 
Education Needs and Disabilities).  We are in the final stages of this work and hope to be 
successful in our £1m grant application to further develop opportunities across the local 
area.  

 
6. Alongside key developments there has also been the publication of the SEND and AP 

Improvement Plan. The main focus of the improvement plan is to ensure greater 
inclusion within mainstream settings for children and young people with SEND.  Within 
the plan partners across Education, Health and Social Care will be held to account 
through the new National Standards and Accountability Framework.  The SEND and 
Inclusion strategic board will be updating the local areas key priorities to reflect the 
improvement plan.  Information will be used from feedback received from parents, carers, 
young people, and key partners at a number of engagement events which have taken 
place over the last few months. These events have included: 

 
• Inclusion Conferences 
• Young Persons Conference 
• Big Ask Survey 
• DBV Engagement Events 
• Drop-in- Clinics 

Page 90



 

 
 
 

Deputy Mayor Philippa Storey 
Executive Member for Education and Culture 
 

Email: philippa_storey@middlesbrough.gov.uk 
Tel: 07590 640900 

Democratic Services 
Middlesbrough Council, Town Hall, Middlesbrough TS1 9FX 
middlesbrough.gov.uk 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
Achievement 
 

7. Our Achievement Service aims to ensure that every child and young person in 
Middlesbrough has equal access to high quality education that increases and improves 
life chances, through achievement of the best possible outcomes at every stage of their 
learning journey and beyond.   

 
8. Advisors across the service work in collaboration the with schools and settings to share 

best practice and understand the needs of the school’s community.  This year 
engagement with the team has seen 100% of secondary school request literacy support, 
over 240 early years practitioners attend LA led network or professional development 
sessions and 96 reviews of practice have been completed.   

 
9. Family Hubs were launched in July 2023 and will improve relationships between families 

and services providing greater connectivity between services so that they can better 
understand family needs and provide much improved access to services due to co-
location. 

 
  

Page 91



 

 
 
 

Deputy Mayor Philippa Storey 
Executive Member for Education and Culture 
 

Email: philippa_storey@middlesbrough.gov.uk 
Tel: 07590 640900 

Democratic Services 
Middlesbrough Council, Town Hall, Middlesbrough TS1 9FX 
middlesbrough.gov.uk 

 
 

10. The Early Years team (formerly the School Readiness team) continue to deliver support for 
families and support families so that all eligible 2 years olds have access to high quality 
learning provision.  97% of our eligible 2-year-olds now attend a setting ranking 
Middlesbrough 1st in the Northeast and 2nd regionally for take up.   

 
11. Our two maintained nurseries and the Cleveland Unit retained their Outstanding and Good 

judgments and in the current academic year. 
 

12. Huge thank you to the whole Education Team and Youth Justice Team. 
 

HIGHLIGHTS 
 

 
Culture 
 

13. Hi Street Fest was an amazing success, building on partnerships with Historic England and 
Orange Pip and local community groups. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 92



 

 
 
 

Deputy Mayor Philippa Storey 
Executive Member for Education and Culture 
 

Email: philippa_storey@middlesbrough.gov.uk 
Tel: 07590 640900 

Democratic Services 
Middlesbrough Council, Town Hall, Middlesbrough TS1 9FX 
middlesbrough.gov.uk 

 
 

14. Middlesbrough Theatre has some amazing productions on in September, such as A Room of 
Ones Own by Virginia Wolf presenting by Dyad Productions. Please have a look online or the 
Theatre Facebook Page to see a full list of what is on.  

 
15. The team at Newham Grange Farm have worked their socks off this summer, with new 

events such as the build a farm friend, competitions, as well as visiting your favourite animals 
and the farm play park. Meetings will be taking place with the Askham Bryan College to see 
how we can increase our offer at the Farm. 

 
16. We are delighted to Celebrate Middlesbrough Art week, courtesy of The Auxiliary. 

Middlesbrough Art Week is back for its 6th edition and takes place across the town from 
Thursday 28th September to Saturday 7th October. Formerly known as the Art Weekender, 
MAW now extends to a full week of free exhibitions, talks, workshops, performances, events 
and exciting public interventions. This years’ MAW programme presents over 120 artists 
made up of regional, national and international artists. 

 
17. Our annual coat appeal has started and I would like to express a big thank you to 

Middlesbrough Town Hall and the Dorman Museum for offering to be drop off points and to 
BBC Radio Tees for their support. The free coat pop up shop will be happening in October. A 
date is just waiting to be finalised.  

 
18. The Dorman Museum continues to go from strength to strength – big thank you to team. This 

summer, as well as the amazing Titanic exhibition which has smashed visitor numbers for 
previous exhibitions, there has also been a Titanic Water colour workshop, a brilliant pre-
historic day Dino Day, Bird Coaster Making workshops (with Pixie Pots) and the Big Science 
– Fizzy Science Workshop. 

 
19. The St Hilda Digital Walk, which starts at My Place (the old Custom House), is a must for 

history enthusiasts. I would like to personally thank Steve Thompson and the volunteers for 
putting it together. 

 
 
Cllr Philippa Storey 
18 September 2023 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
  
 
 

Page 93



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
   
 

 
 

Page 94



 

 
 
 

Councillor Zafar Uddin 
Executive Member for Children’s Services 
 

Email: zafar_uddin@middlesbrough.gov.uk 
Tel: 07891 345201 

Democratic Services 
Middlesbrough Council, Town Hall, Middlesbrough TS1 9FX 
middlesbrough.gov.uk 

 
 

EXECUTIVE MEMBER REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
EXECUTIVE MEMBER: CHILDREN’S SERVICES – COUNCILLOR ZAFAR UDDIN 
 
DATE OF MEETING: 18 September 2023  
 
The purpose of this report is to provide an update to members on areas of activity within my 
portfolio including performance against strategic priorities. 
 

1. First, I would like to provide the members with the information regarding the 
recruitment of Director of Children’s Services (DCS). 

 
2. Following a process led by the Chief Officers’ Appointment Panel, Joe Tynan, 

currently employed as an Assistant Director for Children’s Services at the London 
Borough of Bexley, has been offered and accepted the role as Director of Children’s 
Services at Middlesbrough Council.  At the time of writing a start date has yet to be 
confirmed; until Joe’s arrival, Erik Scollay, the Director of Adult Social Services will 
continue to also fulfil the statutory role of Director of Children’s Services.   

 
3. Dawn Alaszewski has been engaged on a temporary basis as Director of Children’s 

Care. 
 

STRATEGIC PRIORITIES 
 

 
Strategic Priority: We will show Middlesbrough’s children that they matter and work to make 
our town safe and welcoming and to improve outcomes for all children and young people 
 
Update: Early Help & MACH (Multi Agency Children’s Hub) – thresholds and 
responses. 
 

4. Summer is a challenging period for the “front door” of children’s services as although 
there is a holiday-driven reduction in referrals from schools, there is a corresponding 
increase in referrals from the Police and other partners.  Summer last year, and in 
particular August 2022 were the most challenging month of the year, but referral rates 
have been lower during this year’s holiday period.  The rate of work however has still 
required the staff of MACH to be flexible and creative in providing support to children 
and their families.   

 
Update: Our work with Children with Disabilities. 
 

5. Safeguarding & Care Planning/Children with Disabilities Recruitment update: 
Following a period during which we have relied heavily on agency workers within key team 
manager roles, we completed a successful recruitment process that now sees permanent 
appointees in all the team manager roles within this key, safety critical area of the 

Page 95



 

 

directorate. We continue to progress the appointment of permanent Social Workers as 
some agency staff remain within this tier of the structure. 

 
Update: Children Looked After – early permanence and permanence planning – one of 
the best performing in the region. 
 

Children Looked After (CLA) and fostering: 
 

6. Work continues on the priority to recruit new “in-house” foster carers; this month we 
are pleased to report that we have welcomed two new households to the team of 
fantastic “in-house” foster carers living in and around Middlesbrough.  The fostering 
team will be recruiting at a range of events across Middlesbrough between now and 
Christmas including Middlesbrough Pop-Up Pride; at James Cook University Hospital, 
in the centre of town in the run up to Christmas and at a few sporting events. 

 
Residential, Supported Accommodation, Resource and Care Leavers:  

 
7. We held a successful event on the 25th of July 2023 to launch our new Care Leavers’ 

Offer.  The event was attended by members of our Corporate Parenting Board, 
including myself and Mayor Chris Cooke. Care Leavers and other relevant 
professionals.  The Care Leavers’ offer identifies what Care Leavers can expect in 
terms of support as they move towards adulthood. This includes support regarding 
accommodation, access to employment and education and support to health services.  
The support is provided by Local Authority as their Corporate Parent and other partner 
agencies such as health and housing.   Care Leavers have been involved in the 
design of the Care Leaver Offer and it is planned that through the Care Leavers’ 
Forum they will report back to the Corporate Parenting Board about how it is working 
in practice.  The Care Leavers’ Offer will be published on the Council’s website at 
beginning of September 2023.   As part of the Care Leavers’ Offer, a Care Leaver Hub 
is being developed and it is anticipated that the Hub will act as a central and young 
people friendly space for Care Leavers to access services. 

 

HIGHLIGHTS 
 

 
Early Help: 
 

8. KFC Foundation partners with Middlesbrough organisations on food programmes.  
 

9. Middlesbrough Council Early Help Service have worked in partnership with KFC 
Foundation over the summer, to facilitate a roundtable workshop with a range of Council 
services whose work relates to youth provision and communities as well as with local 
youth organisations, with a view to understand how the KFC Youth Foundation can 
continue to collaborate, support, and provide youth work in Middlesbrough through the 
creation of a Youth Hub.  

 
10. The KFC Youth Foundation has now launched Big Boro Big Eats: two programmes that 

will provide food education for young people and food aid for local communities, in 
partnership with local Middlesbrough organisations Linx Youth Project and Youth Focus 
Northeast. 

 
11. The programmes complement existing work already being done by the organisations to 

address the barriers and disadvantages faced by young people in Middlesbrough. In 
Page 96



 

 

collaboration with the KFC Youth Foundation, charity partner Linx has been running 
sessions across its five sites. 

 
12. Between 12:00 and 17:30 Monday to Friday throughout the summer Youth Focus North 

East are facilitating pop-up sessions for the community in key areas. 
 

13. Big Boro Big Eats will lay the foundations for the opening of a permanent KFC Youth 
Foundation Centre in Middlesbrough in 2024, with the Foundation set to open Youth Hubs 
across the country. 

 

THE TIME AHEAD  
 

 
14. I have continued to visit various teams and meet up with front line staff members, team 

managers and senior managers. Recently visited our fostering team and met with several 
members of the team chatting on relevant issues. I am surprisingly pleased to say that, 
throughout my journey, I have met several staff members who I have worked with in the 
past on various setting including local authorities and voluntary sectors. 

 
15. I am also liaising with our Adoption team at the Adoption Tees Valley (ATV) hoping to 

support the team in terms of recruiting Panel members from the BAME back -grounds. I 
am told that we are lacking in recruiting members of the BAME panel members with 
appropriate knowledge and skills to reflect the diversity issues within the equal opportunity 
policies. 

 
16. We are still looking to increase our internal residential provision by purchasing properties 

in the local area, which means we can look at bringing children closer to home and their 
families and friends.  Currently exploring several properties within the Borough as part of 
property project. However, the purchase/renovation of properties have not progressed as 
quickly as had been anticipated in the budget setting/savings plan. 

 
17. Following a meeting and consulting with Ward Councillors, we are still progressing West 

Lodge (1 Bedded) and Pallister Park (2 Bedded). I would like to thank Rob Hamer, our 
Interim Head of Service (HOS) Residential support Accommodation, Resource Care 
Leavers, for his continued dedication and hard work. 

 

• West Lodge completion January 2025 should this happen operational end of March 
2025.  

• Pallister Park completion January 2025 should this happen operational end of 
March 2025. 

 
 
NAME: Cllr Zafar Uddin 
DATE: 18 September 2023  

Page 97



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
 

Councillor Peter Gavigan 
Executive Member for Environment 
 

Email: peter_gavigan@middlesbrough.gov.uk 
Tel: 07521 760697 
 

Middlesbrough Council, PO Box 500, Middlesbrough, TS1 9FT 
middlesbrough.gov.uk 

 
 

EXECUTIVE MEMBER REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
EXECUTIVE MEMBER: ENVIRONMENT – COUNCILLOR PETER GAVIGAN 
 
DATE OF MEETING: 18 September 2023  
 
The purpose of this report is to provide an update to members on areas of activity 
within my portfolio including performance against strategic priorities. 
 
 

STRATEGIC PRIORITIES 
 

 
Strategic Priority: We will work closely with local communities to protect our green 
spaces and make sure that our roads, streets and open spaces are well-designed, 
clean and safe. 
 
Update: Green Strategy 
 

1. We supported Thirteen Group’s week of action in Pallister Park/Berwick Hills 
recently, by engaging with lots of residents giving advice on recycling and 
waste issues. We also attended Easterside Fun Day with our recycling 
roadshow, this event was extremely well attended, with Mayor Cook making a 
guest appearance.  

 
2. We continue to work closely with Cumbria Waste to get involved in the waste 

sampling process for our dry recycling collections. This process gives us a real 
insight into the kind of waste contamination we are facing, during our domestic 
recycling collections operations, and the areas/wards we need to target. 

 
3. We have some fantastic allotments sites which are all at their peak this time of 

year and are looking great. Unfortunately, some of the sites have plots that are 
not in use and very overgrown, our first task is to audit all the sites and attempt 
to get most of these plots back into use as soon as possible. This will reduce 
vermin issues, ASB and provide an income stream for the authority.  

 
4. Most of you will be aware that our Environment Sustainability Manager, Simon 

Blenkinsop, has left the council. Following a lengthy recruitment process, we 
are delighted to announce that Sam Garside has been appointed into this role. 
Sam has a wealth of environmental knowledge, but more importantly has a 
great passion for everything Green & Blue. Sam’s workload is extremely 
diverse & has an impact on all corners of the council and town, as we strive 
toward achieve carbon neutrality. 

 
 

Page 99



 

 

 
 
 
 

5. Work continues as part of the Green Strategy and some current initiatives 
taking place across the organisation include: 

 

• Exploring options for possible installation of solar PV panels on a Centre 
Square building. 

• Developing a Green/Blue Infrastructure checklist for new developments. 

• Delivering recycling roadshows across Middlesbrough and working with 
schools and community groups as part of the Waste and Recycling 
Education Awareness Programme to increase community awareness of 
recycling and associated environmental benefits. 

• Exploring options to maximise the You’ve Got This programme to increase 
physical activity for environmental and health benefits including 
implementation of the community cycling and allotment regeneration 
projects. 

• Working with Middlesbrough Environment City's 'Climate Action 
Middlesbrough' programme to identify actions we can take to support 
carbon reduction across local cultural organisations/venues. 

• Developing a long-term Food Strategy for the town in conjunction with key 
partner organisations. 

• Working with Tees Valley Combined Authority and Teesside University to 
promote opportunities through the UK Shared Prosperity Fund to support 
businesses to decarbonise. 

 
Update: Transport and Infrastructure 
 

6. The Council Road Safety team led a 3 day event, which was held within the 
Cleveland Centre, supported by Eden Mobility, Skinnergate Cycles, Sustrans 
and Middlesbrough Environment City. This was an opportunity for the public to 
engage the team, and the various safety issues discussed including: 

 

• The rules surrounding e-bikes 

• The current e-scooter trial 

• Bikeability/Pedestrian training opportunities which the council promotes 

• School crossing patrol information 

• Active Travel Hub promotion regarding the newly opened hub which is 
managed and operated by Sustrans on behalf of TVCA. 

 
Update: Carriageways 
 

7. The first stages of the 2023-24 programme were awarded following a NEPO 
tender process in May, Phases 2 and 3 have also been procured through 
NEPO with works starting in early July 2023 with 46% of the planned 
carriageway resurfacing programme now complete.  

 
  

Page 100



 

 

Update: Flood Management 
 

8. We continue to develop the Gully Smart Software and have undertaken the 
2nd survey (between 9/5/2023 – 7/6/2023) of 25,000 highway gullies which 
has identified the current silt level and condition of each gully.   

 
9. This information along with other data such as gritting routes, flood risk areas 

etc will be analysed and enable a risk-based approach to be taken in respect 
to gully cleaning and in turn identify a proactive gully cleaning program.  We 
continue to work proactively on flood risk management through joint working 
with the EA and NWL.   Which along with drainage surveys is increasing our 
knowledge of the network and improving the long-term planning and 
maintenance of gullies.  

 
Update: Street Lighting 
 

10. We have started the column replacement programme following conclusion of 
the structural and electrical testing that was carried out last year- 257 columns 
are due to be replaced this financial year and we have so far replaced 94 
defective columns with the remainder to be completed before March 2024. 

 
Update: Installations 
 

11. The Transport and & Infrastructure service also recently completed new / 
upgraded infrastructure installations to ensure that the Town’s infrastructure is 
as up to date as possible, providing best value: 

 
1. Upgraded PUFFIN crossing at Stokesley Road / The Grove – this was 

delivered to upgrade existing crossing to ensure this is safe following 
infrastructure being at end of life. 

2. Keith Road / Holmwood toucan upgrade – existing crossing upgrade to 
ensure this is safe following infrastructure being at end of life. 

3. New Zebra crossing at Homerton Road to serve Pallister Park Primary 
school – the installation was complete following speed surveys and 
Councillor/Officer suggestion to allow safe crossing for children at this 
key location. 

4. New Toucan crossing at Low Lane / Municipal Golf course (NCN65) – 
works now on site, with anticipated completion in September.  NCN65 is 
a major national cycle route.  Previously, there was only a traffic island to 
assist cycles and pedestrians crossing the road.  The island was not 
compliant with new regulations in terms of dimensions to accommodate a 
bicycle, so the new signals will provide a safe crossing opportunity using 
light control, eliminating the need for an island. 

 

HIGHLIGHTS 
 

 
5. I have visited Resolution House to meet key officers and had a tour of the site. 

This was both enjoyable and very informative. 
 

6. I attend weekly Teams meetings with key officers to discuss contemporary issues 
and plan for the future.    

Page 101



 

 

 
7. I have attended a meeting with Middlesbrough Environment City and become 

better acquainted with the tremendous work that they do.      
 

8. I attended a meeting with Tees Wildlife Trust which was very instructive.      
 

9. We once again supported The Middlesbrough 10k run on Sunday 3rd September, 
by ensuring that the during/post cleansing is effective. 

 

THE TIME AHEAD  
 

 
Traffic Signals:  Traffic Signal Junction upgrades 2023/24 

 
10. Borough Road – Abingdon Road: Scheduled for October half term. 

 
Pedestrian Crossing Upgrades: 

 
11. Ormesby Road – Balmoral Road: Programmed for completion November 2023 

Wilson Street – Sainsbury’s: Programmed for completion November 2023. 
 

Highways:   
  

12. Verge works are complete on 5 of the 10 schemes planned for this financial year. 
Footway works have been completed in 11 of the planned schemes.    

 
Bridges and Structures – Transporter Bridge:  

 
13. Transporter Bridge structural assessment ongoing. The Stage 1 analysis is 

already beginning to indicate several areas of overstress that are likely to need 
additional investigation.  We are awaiting a revised scope of works from 
consultants Atkins. 

 
14. A66 Station Viaduct - Column 20B - Contractor Volker Laser have started to 

construct their site compound and works are imminent to replace the column head 
and bearing and repair the beams in the area of the future Stack development.   

 
A66 Column 20B:  

 
15. Works have started on Borough Road Flyover which involves replacement of the 

bridge joints, resurfacing and re-waterproofing the bridge deck. 
 

16. A66 Newport Interchange Bridges which involves repairing the bridge deck 
waterproofing and resurfacing of the whole bridge deck to tie in with other planned 
resurfacing on A66 Eastbound is scheduled to commence on Friday 8th 
September 2023. 

 
17. We are in the process of completing the tender documents for repairs to: - 

 
18. A174 Marton Interchange Overbridge which include replacing the bridge deck 

waterproofing and resurfacing, concrete repairs to the abutments and the 

Page 102



 

 

installation of suicide prevention parapets. We are also arranging further principal 
and general bridge inspections through a tender process via NEPO. 

 
Outstanding Issues 
 
Refuse and Recycling:  
 

19. Some of our collection services have incurred some form of delays over the past 
couple of months. This is because of our Fleet Department struggling to recruit 
qualified mechanics. The greatest impact is on our Green waste collection service, 
whereby we have had to suspend the service for 1 week (Tues 29 Aug to Fri 1 
Sept), to enable ourselves to catchup on the previous weeks collections. Following 
this, normal collections resumed the following week. 

 
20. In early autumn, we are expecting delivery of a number of Refuse Collection 

Vehicles, which will greatly improve vehicle availability & reduce the pressures on 
both the collection service & our Fleet Department. 

 
Area Care: 
 

21. The second application of herbicide to Hard Surfaces is about to commence, 
however three of the four quads are currently in Fleet awaiting repair.  We 
previously updated the Risk Assessment Action Register following an incident 
resulting in a quad operative being overturned in a failed vehicle theft attempt, this 
significant change was to have two or more quads working together (safety in 
numbers).   As the incident has now been deemed an isolated event in which the 
perpetrators were identified and dealt with by the police we have reverted back to 
the old method of quad spraying which is one quad in each area. A personal 
safety toolbox talk along with handout information has been issued to all staff. 

 
22. Grass cutting with the Ride on mowers is continuing, albeit at a slower rate due to 

machinery issues. 
 

23. Preparations are underway for the start of the hedge cutting season after receiving 
the new tractor mounted flail unit.  All relevant staff have received the appropriate 
training. 

 
NAME: Cllr Peter Gavigan 
DATE: 18 September 2023. 

Page 103



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
 

Councillor Nicky Walker 
Executive Member for Finance and Governance 
 

Email: nicky_walker@middlesbrough.gov.uk 

 
 

EXECUTIVE MEMBER REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
EXECUTIVE MEMBER: FINANCE & GOVERNANCE – COUNCILLOR NICKY WALKER 
 
DATE OF MEETING: 18 September 2023  
 
The purpose of this report is to provide an update to members on areas of activity within my 
portfolio including performance against strategic priorities. 
 

STRATEGIC PRIORITIES 
 

 
Strategic Priority: We will ensure that we place communities at the heart of what we do, 
continue to deliver value for money and enhance the reputation of Middlesbrough. 
 
Update: 
 

1. My report for today focuses upon the Council’s governance arrangements and financial 
position which are also addressed in the external auditor’s Value for Money Update and 
Issuance of 11 statutory recommendations which are considered under a separate agenda 
item at the meeting today which address the following issues: 

- Culture and Governance 
- Constitution review, training and compliance 
- The Council’s strained financial position and actions required to restore financial 

sustainability.  
 

Culture and Governance 
 

2. A great deal of effort has gone in to provide support to members in the form of briefings and 
training.  This will enable us to understand the significant challenges that face everyone in 
the Council and contribute to our governance improvement journey.  It has also furnished an 
opportunity for new and longer serving members to meet and work together.  I would like to 
thank officers for all their work in compiling and delivering the programme and all those 
members who have taken the time to attend and contribute to the collaborative nature of 
these sessions. 

 
3. A new Member Development Programme designed to ensure both returning and newly 

elected Members have the appropriate knowledge and skills to enable them to carry out their 

roles effectively, was launched in May with the delivery of the following Induction briefings 

and workshops:  

  
i. Formal Administration into Office - Democratic Services overview,  Member Facilities, 

Support and Allowances, completion of induction packs 

Page 105



 

 
 
 

ii. Welcome and Introduction to the Council - Principles and Values, Council Services 
and Who’s Who, Strategic Plan, Priorities and Finances, Councillors Basic Toolkit 

iii. Information, Data Protection and Decision Making 
iv. Constitution and Conduct 

 
4. In addition to the above lead officers have also delivered several training sessions for 

members appointed to the range of Council Committee roles and on Social Media skills. 

Further induction sessions are planned on Executive Member Responsibilities, Council 

Finances, Directorate Briefings and Culture, Equalities, Diversity, and Inclusion. 

 

5. The wider development programme offers blended learning with a dedicated members page 

to access information and resources, a range of skills-based workshops delivered by internal 

and external experts, access to the Corporate Development Programme, and the opportunity 

to attend LGA training and events. 

 
6. Alongside the new development offer officers have created a new Member Development 

Strategy to ensure that learning and development is appropriately focused, well delivered 

and resources are used effectively to achieve maximum benefit, throughout members time in 

office. This will be shared with the Constitution and Members Development Committee for 

feedback and approval before sharing with full council.   

  
Constitution review, training and compliance  
 

7. A refreshed and updated constitution, which includes revised Financial and Contract 

Procedure Rules are included on the Council agenda today. 

 
8. All members had the opportunity to attend a briefing on the constitution on 07 September 

2023 

 
Financial position and actions required to restore financial sustainability.  
 
Background to setting of the budget for 2023/24 
 

9. It may assist some members when considering what follows later in this report, to further 
understand the circumstances under which the balanced budget was set in February 2023 
and the financial position at that time. This position is referred to by our external auditors in 
their Value For Money Update and Issuance of Recommendations which is to be considered 
under a separate agenda item at the meeting today. 

 
10. Local authorities are required by law to set a balanced budget, and indeed a balanced 

budget was set by Middlesbrough Council on 27 February 2023. 
 

11. However, prior to the setting of that balanced budget, in January 2023 it had been 
considered necessary to commission a review by an independent body CIPFA (Chartered 
Institute for Public Finance and Accountancy) of the Council’s financial position, budget 

Page 106



 

 
 
 

affordability, and financial outlook.  This review concluded that CIPFA expected that the 
Council would produce a balanced budget for 2023/24, but that: 

 
12. “It is not possible for CIPFA to have confidence in the delivery against the savings targets 

identified for Childrens Services” 
 

13. There were also concerns raised about the levels of reserves with the review stating: 
 

14. “The Council needs to be very clear that there is no or very limited scope for central funding 
of overspends” and “Failure to deliver the planned savings will place the Council at the risk of 
having to issue a Section 114 Notice with expenditure likely to exceed financial resources 
available to the Council”. 

 
15. These findings were incorporated by the then Chief Finance Officer (section 151 Officer) in 

her statutory report to Council on the robustness of budget estimates and adequacy of 
reserves of 27 February 2023. As I stated in my report to Council of July 2023, the former 
Chief Finance Officer advised the following: 

 
16. ‘Reserves are adequate insofar as the minimum level of general balance is set at £12m, 

based on risk assessment; there are currently no plans for its use being the fund of last 

resort. However, there is little resilience in earmarked reserves, and these are at a critical 

level. The lack of substantial earmarked reserves means the overall reserves position, whilst 

adequate, is fragile and may require a reliance on cost control or the delivery of additional 

savings in the event of any unplanned costs’. 

 

17. The full report of Chief Finance Officer of February 2023 was circulated to all members, at my 

request, on 22 August 2023 

 
Reserves position  
 

18. It is worth highlighting again that usable earmarked reserves had reduced by 75% from a 
level of £16 million at 31 March 2019, to £4 million at 31 March 2023.  With the use of part of 
these reserves restricted for specific purposes, this left only £2.8 million in unrestricted 
usable earmarked reserves.   

 
19. This result was that usable revenue reserves position was, and remains, critically low, at 

£14.8m. This comprised of the General Fund Reserve of £12 million and the Council’s 

unrestricted usable earmarked reserves of £2.8 million at 31 March 2023. The General Fund 

Reserve is the reserve of last resort to meet unplanned events that are largely outside the 

Council’s control. Reserves should not be relied upon to fund day to day operational 

expenditure in delivering services. They can only be used once and given the forecast 

overspend in the current year, are at risk of being exhausted within this financial year, which 

could lead to the s151 Officer issuing a s114 Notice. This has resulted in robust measures 

being put into place early this year to take measures to address and recover from this fragile 

financial situation. 

  

Page 107



 

 
 
 

Enhanced budget management and control 
 

20. Enhanced budget management and control measures, supported by the Executive, were 

introduced by the current interim Director of Finance (s151 Officer) during Quarter One.  

These included increasing the frequency of budget monitoring from quarterly to monthly with 

Leadership and Management Team (LMT) conducting monthly budget challenge sessions 

chaired by the Interim Chief Executive. 

 
21. Executive involvement in budget challenge has been reintroduced with quarterly budget 

challenge and review sessions for each Directorate chaired by me as Executive Member for 

Finance and Governance, and attended by Executive Members and officers for relevant 

Directorates. 

 
22. There is a requirement for adverse variances to be addressed through the development of 

Financial Recovery Plans by Directors, in consultation with their relevant Executive Member, 
and delivery to be monitored through the budget challenge framework.  

 
23. The first of the quarterly budget challenge sessions took place over seven sessions in w/c 24 

July 2023, and the outcomes were reported in the Revenue and Capital Budget-Forecast 
Outturn position and Quarter One 2023/24 considered by the Executive on 23 August 2023.  
The key points of this report were included in all Member briefing of 22 August. 

 
Quarter One position and Forecast Outturn 
 

24. There were indications of substantial overspends as early as the monthly budget monitoring 

sessions for May 2023. The forecast 2023/24 net revenue budget outturn as at Quarter One 

is £137.917million against an approved budget of £126.354million, gives a forecast 

overspend of £11.563million, unless significant and urgent management actions are taken to 

control spending.  This figure represents 9.2% of the net revenue budget. This is the second 

year running that there has been significant overspends on the annual budget, with £9 million 

projected at Quarter One last year, 2022/23.   

 
25. LMT in consultation with their relevant Executive Members, have been working to develop 

Financial Recovery Plans for each Directorate that is forecasting an overspend at year end 
and initial Financial Recovery Plans totalling £2.5million have been identified and were 
outlined in the report.  This would potentially reduce the overspend to just over £9million, and 
of course further work is continuing with a view to fully mitigate the forecast overspend and 
control within the budget approved by Council in February 2023. 

 
26. Furthermore, the Interim Director of Finance implemented spending restrictions with effect 

from 1 July 2023 until further notice, including restrictions on filling permanent vacancies, the 

use of interim and agency staff, the purchase of goods, works and services, and Chief 

Officers within LMT restricting the number of officers able to authorise expenditure within 

their Directorates.  

  

Page 108



 

 
 
 

 
27. Key areas of pressure identified at Quarter 1 are as follows: 

• Children’s Care - Increased external residential placement numbers / high cost 
placements £3.8m 

• Adult Social Care - Purchased care growth £3m 
• Education & Partnerships – Integrated Transport Unit home to school transport £1.4m 
• Environment & Community Services – increased Waste Disposal costs £0.7m 
• Environment & Community Services – Warden Service £0.4m 
• Adult Social Care / Finance – increased homelessness costs £0.6m 
• Finance – increasing costs of external audit fees £0.2m 
• Cross Council - Anticipated shortfall on 23/24 pay award £1.4m (pay award not 

agreed) 
 

28. While many of these pressures are similar to those being reported by other authorities, the 

critically low levels of reserves in Middlesbrough mean there is little scope to either cover 

overspends from reserves or invest revenue reserves in the transformation of services that is 

required.   

 

29. The actions taken to date have been acknowledged by the External Auditor within its Value 

for Money Update and issuance of statutory s24 recommendations in which it concludes that: 

 

30. ‘The Council is in a strained financial position and faces significant financial challenges, 

including high levels of demand for its social care services and the impact of inflation. Whilst 

the Council has taken steps to address these challenges, including a ‘reset’ of its children’s 

services budget and implementation of both financial recovery and savings plans, these 

actions have not been able to stabilise the deterioration in the Council’s financial position. 

Without more significant intervention, the Council is highly likely to deplete its limited 

remaining reserves over the next 12-18 months and, in effect, run out of resources.’ 

 

31. The Auditor has recommended that: 

 

• the Council builds upon the steps already taken to control its expenditure to identify 
specific deliverable savings over the short term (next 12 months) and protect its limited 
remaining reserves. Where appropriate, this may need to include the Council 
changing how it meets its statutory responsibilities and the extent to which it delivers 
services which are not required to discharge its statutory responsibilities. 

•  the Council reviews its service delivery models to ensure that they are efficient, 
represent value for money and achieve the outcomes required for the resources 
invested. Where opportunities to improve service delivery models are identified, the 
Council should develop detailed plans for implementation of service delivery 
transformation and how the up-front transformation costs will be funded. 

•  the Council review its financial forecasting processes to understand why significant 
financial pressures, over and above those anticipated and reflected in the Council’s 
annual budget, have emerged within the first half of both the 2022/23 and 2023/24 
financial years and ensure future forecasting reflects the lessons learned. 

  

Page 109



 

 
 
 

Medium Term Financial Plan  
 

32. I also presented a report to the Executive on 23 August 2023 on a refresh of the Medium 
Term Financial Plan 2024/25-2026/27.   This report identified an increased budget gap 
between the projected net revenue budget requirement and assumed funding for 2024/25 of 
£14million, rising to £21million in 2025/26 and £24.5million in 2026/27. 

 
33. It was stressed to all Members by the s151 Officer at the briefing of 22 August that the 

current year forecast is unsustainable and must be controlled within budget, to avoid 
exhausting the Council’s reserves and potentially, a Section 114 Notice. Further, it is 
essential to develop new plans for services that enable a legally balanced budget to be set 
for 2024/25.  
 

Risk of Section114 Notice 
 

34. If it appears to the Director of Finance, S151 Officer that total expenditure cannot be 

managed within the approved budget of £126million by 31 March 2024, or that it is not 

possible to set a balanced budget for 2024/25, there is a statutory requirement for the 

Director of Finance to issue a s114 Notice to the Council under the provisions of the Local 

Government Finance Act 1988. Such a report would only be issued where all other options 

had been exhausted and the process around it is governed under legislation.   

35. This would inevitably mean the loss of autonomy and would result in the cessation of all but 
the minimum level of expenditure to meet the statutory minimum level of service and Council 
liabilities and the need to develop and deliver a Council-wide financial recovery plan. 

 
36. As an illustration, in 2018 Northamptonshire County Council became the first council for 20 

years to file a section 114 Notice and the radical repercussions which followed included the 
appointment of independent Commissioners, suspension of democratic decision making in 
the Council, ultimately the abolition of the county council and the seven borough councils and 
them being replaced with two unitary authorities by April 2021.   

 
37. Members may be aware that on 05 September 2023, Birmingham, the largest local authority 

in Europe, became the latest council to issue a section 114 notice.  
 

38. The Department for Levelling Up Housing and Communities (DLUHC) now provide an option 
for local authorities in financial difficulty which is considered to be unmanageable, to apply for 
Exceptional Financial Support. In practice, this presents an intermediate step aimed to avoid 
a s114 scenario and will be considered further if required.  In some cases councils who have 
successfully applied for Exceptional Financial Support have avoided a section 114 Notice, 
whereas in other cases they have not been able to prevent this despite the additional 
support. 

 

Page 110



 

 
 
 

39. This support would not involve the direct provision of additional external funding by 
Government but would potentially allow the use of our own capital resources (borrowing and/ 
or capital receipts) to support the revenue budget during the financial recovery period.   Local 
authorities who have been provided with Exceptional Support have been required to undergo 
an external assurance review to provide a detailed assessment of their financial position and 
management. Further details of councils involved to date can be found using the link below. 
 
Exceptional financial support for local authorities - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

 
40. Preliminary discussions with DLUHC officials have already taken place to advise of the 

emerging financial challenge and the possibility of the need for the Council to request 

Exceptional Financial Support before the end of the current financial year in order to avoid 

the exhaustion of usable revenue reserves or if it should not be possible to set a balanced 

budget for 2024/25.  

 

41. The above outlines an extremely serious position for Middlesbrough Council and it is a 

position that we have never been in before.  As stressed in my last report to Council this 

requires all officers and councillors to work together to address the very challenging position 

that will face us for some time. 

Members briefing on the Financial Position and External Auditor’s Value for Money Update 
and Issuance of Recommendations  
 

42. On August 22 there was an online all member briefing by the Chief Executive and Director of 
Finance on the Council’s financial position, providing the opportunity for all councillors to be 
made aware of the facts and to ask questions.  The briefing also covered the Auditor’s report 
including 11 s24 recommendations that require the Council to take specific action which is 
being considered by Council at this meeting.  Thank you to the members who attended and 
provided some valuable questions and inputs into the session. 

 
Members’ Financial Training 
 

43. There were two excellent Finance Training sessions delivered in August by Cllr Graham 
Chapman, LGA Regional Member Peer.  One for Executive Members and Chairs, and the 
second for all members. 

 
44. For those who were unable to attend either of these sessions, there will be a ‘mop up’ 

session on Friday 20th October at 4.30pm at the Collaboration Zone, Fountain Court.   
 

45. I would encourage anyone councillor who has not already attended this training to do so.  
This is particularly important bearing in mind the financial position we face and the 
challenging decisions that will have to be taken by all councillors as part of the budget setting 
process.   

  

Page 111

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/exceptional-financial-support-for-local-authorities-capitalisation-directions


 

 
 
 

 

THE TIME AHEAD  
 

 
46. Following the member briefing and financial training referred to above, the Director of 

Finance has extended a further invitation to all members who have further questions to 
contact her to arrange further discussions and support at individual member or group level. 

 
47. I am also happy to discuss these matters further with any councillor, please feel free to 

contact me if you wish to do so. 
 
Email address for suggestions on budget savings 
 

48. Following a discussion at Works Council on 15 June 2023, I requested that the means by 
which officers and members can submit suggestions around financial savings be re-
introduced. 

 
49. The email address for suggestions which was circulated to all members at my request on 22 

August 2023 and has also been provided to staff is: 
 

50. financialplanning@middlesbrough.gov.uk 
 

51. I have been assured that all suggestions will be considered.  Thank you to those members 
who have already made contributions. 

 
  

Page 112

mailto:financialplanning@middlesbrough.gov.uk


 

 
 
 

Budget timetable 
 

52. I am also keen, as are officers, that all members are given the opportunity to take part in 
briefings at an early stage within the annual budget setting process.  Discussions are also to 
be held with the Chair of OSB as to how scrutiny can be involved.  A timetable for this is 
being compiled and will be shared with members once it is finalised. 

 
Members’ enquiries system (Onestop) 
 

53. As part of our Corporate Governance Improvement journey, feedback from Members on the 
effectiveness of the Member Enquiries process has been sought. 

  
54. Several briefings have been held with Members to understand how to improve things in the 

short-term, as well as listening to what they want and need from a new system and process, 
going forward when reporting service and information requests. 

 
55. I attended the latest such session on 25 July 2023, the first held since the local elections, 

which aimed to support members, particularly those new to using the system and to seek 
views on how it could be improved. 

 
56. The feedback from Members has in the main, focused on the following areas: 

• Timeliness of responses 
• Appropriateness / effectiveness of responses 
• Premature closure of logged Member Enquiries  

 
57. I will be attending a follow up session with officers on 06 September with service staff on this 

subject and will provide a further update in my next report. 
 
NAME: Cllr Nicky Walker 
DATE: 18 September 2023 

 

Page 113



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
 

Councillor Theo Furness 
Executive Member for Regeneration 
 

Email: theo_furness@middlesbrough.gov.uk 
Tel: 07436 137602  

Democratic Services 
Middlesbrough Council, Town Hall, Middlesbrough TS1 9FX 
middlesbrough.gov.uk 

 
 

EXECUTIVE MEMBER REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
EXECUTIVE MEMBER: REGENERATION – COUNCILLOR THEO FURNESS 
 
DATE OF MEETING: 18 September 2023  
 
The purpose of this report is to provide an update to members on areas of activity 
within my portfolio including performance against strategic priorities. 
 

STRATEGIC PRIORITIES 
 

 
Strategic Priority: We will transform our town centre, improving accessibility, 
revitalising unused assets, developing iconic new spaces and building more town 
centre homes. 
 
Update: Stack  
 

1. Stack Middlesbrough is on track for opening in from October 2023. Critical 
infrastructure works to the A66 and the upgraded provision of power and utilities 
means that the site will soon be ready to host a major food, drink and 
entertainment attraction to the Historic Quarter of Middlesbrough.   

 

 
 

Update: Cleveland Centre  
 

2. Occupancy rates are slightly better than the business case with the only significant 
voids being the former George Unit and the former TopShop/Top Man. The 
Council’s asset review is also considering the case for relocating some Council 
services / frontline delivery into the Cleveland Centre, under the support of 
Middlesbrough’s Levelling Up Partnership proposals, bringing public services 
closer to services users, significantly improving occupancy rates and potentially 

Page 115



 

 

enabling the disposal of some surplus asset disposals. Latest tenant Forbidden 
Planet completed its occupation of Unit 15 in the Cleveland Centre to provide a 
new magnet for collectors and young people. 

 
Update: Captain Cook Square  
 

3. Occupancy has been reduced recently due to the departure of TK Maxx, 
Ladbrokes and the closure of the JD Wetherspoons bar resolution. All other 
vacant units are contractually committed and / or in mid fit out. Interest is secured 
in the TK Maxx unit – subject to contract and funding. We are seeking appropriate 
uses for the Ladbrokes unit and, whilst they have a lease to pay until June 2024, 
we are seeking to market the Revolution Bar. Officers are monitoring the potential 
sale of Wilkos to a new owner (assuming the company does not get fragmented). 
It is understood that this is a well-performing store, so we are hopeful that it would 
be included in any aggregate sale of the business.  
 

Update: Linthorpe Cycle Lane  
 

4. The feasibility of alternative route options are being explored. Depending on the 
scale and scope of removal / repurposing / alternative routing, financial options will 
be prepared for consideration. 

 
Update: Church House  
 

5. Middlesbrough received £14.1m as part of the future High Streets Fund. Part of 
this programme included an allocation for the conversion of prominent dilapidated 
/ eyesore town centre properties. A business case was developed with regards to 
Church House, which was awarded gap funding for the development of 86 
residential units; as part of a C. £12m investment.  

 
6. The funding is subject to a legally binding funding agreement and utilises Future 

High Streets Fund grant, administered by Middlesbrough Council and does not 
include any Council capital in this funding agreement. Funding conditions mean 
that the residential units must be made available for market rent, and units which 
are liable for Council Tax. 

 
Update: Asset Review 
 

7. A review is being undertaken with regards surplus land and property assets. This 
encapsulates all Council assets from land, operational properties and buildings. 
The aim of the appraisal is to ascertain where financial savings and efficiencies 
can be made, in support of the organisational financial position. All Council assets 
included (including vacant land) and due diligence is being considered across the 
entire estate to assess development potential / values etc. Once completed, a 
range of short, medium and long term options will be presented to Executive for 
further consideration.  
 

  

Page 116



 

 

HIGHLIGHTS 
 

 
Hemlington North Site  
 

8. Following a procurement exercise the land sale at the Hemlington North site is 
progressing with NorthStar, as per Executive approval of 23rd August 2023. 
Northstar will progress the development of approx. 35 units of affordable housing 
on this key gateway site. 

 
Boho X  
 

9. Double 11 have now occupied the Boho X building and are now scoping and 
commissioning all of their fit out works. Their fit out works will be conducted 
between now and the new year, with an occupation date anticipated for Feb / 
March 2024. 

 
10. Double 11 recently announced their collaboration with Rockstar Games to bring 

legendary gaming franchise Red Dead Redemption to the Nintendo Switch and 
PlayStation systems; further cementing their role as an international player at the 
peak of the gaming industry. 

 

 
 

 
Levelling Up Partnership 
 

11. Middlesbrough was identified as one of 20 local authority areas to be designated 
as a Levelling Up Partnership, in the Spring Budget of 2023. This status 
recognises Middlesbrough’s levels of deprivation and brings with it a pot of £20m 
to fund capital interventions aimed at improving life chances and attainment, of 
Middlesbrough residents. 

 
12. The programme is predicated on brokering a more intensive relationship between 

national and local Government to deliver bespoke local initiatives to tackle local 
problems, rather than generic national funding programmes. As well as a cash 
injection, Levelling Up Partnerships aim to open doors and discussions in HM 
Govt departments to bring local issues to the highest exposure in Government. 

 
13. Initial discussions have been held with Civil Service colleagues, who are 

undertaking partner / stakeholder consultation to identify local issues and potential 
interventions. A suggested package of policy tools and interventions will be 

Page 117



 

 

presented to Middlesbrough Council, with the aim of prioritising a programme of 
immediate interventions. 

 
Teesside Airport Board Meeting 
 

14. I attended my first Teesside Valley International Airport Board meeting. Plans for 
the Airport are very ambitious and exciting.  

 

THE TIME AHEAD  
 

 
Nutrient Neutrality  
 

15. In late August the Government announced relaxations to Nutrient Neutrality 
restrictions, in an aim to ease the backlog in housing development planning 
permissions. Sites will still be required to consider impacts, albeit the application of 
mitigation measures is understood to be on a discretionary, rather than 
mandatory, basis. Analysis continues on the full implications of the new legislative 
guidance and how this can be best managed to meet both housing need and 
ecological sustainability. 

 
Development Sites for Sale 
 

16. A site earmarked for housing development will enter the market before the end of 
the year. The site at Hemlington South, will build on the success of the popular 
Hemlington North site and has the development potential of approx. 110 units. The 
site will be actively marketed before Christmas 2023 and the bids will be 
considered shortly thereafter.  
 

 
 
 
NAME: Cllr Theo Furness 
DATE: 18 September 2023 

 

Page 118



1 

 
 

EXECUTIVE MEMBER REPORTS AND ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
 

SECTION 2 – DECISIONS TAKEN 
 

 
 

DATE 
 
 

 
 

DECISION 
MAKER 

 

 
 

ISSUE 

 
 

PURPOSE OF REPORT 

 
 

KEY 
DECISION 

19 Jul 2023 
 

Executive Breastfeeding Borough Declaration 
 

To outline summary of a proposed local authority declaration on 
breastfeeding also known as ‘Breastfeeding Boroughs’. 
 

Yes 
 

19 Jul 2023 Executive Healthy Weight Declaration Adoption 
 

This report outlines the purpose and process of signing up to the 
Healthy Weight Declaration in Middlesbrough. 
 

Yes 
 

19 Jul 2023 Executive Risk and Opportunity Management 
Opportunity 

This report sets out the Risk and Opportunity Policy 2023-2026. No 

19 Jul 2023 Executive Governance Improvement: Next steps – 
Resourcing the  

Financial Recovery and Resilience and 
Cultural Transformation  

programmes 

Executive are asked: 

 to note the requirement of additional resources across 
corporate support services to support delivery of the financial 
recovery and resilience programme of work within the 
Corporate Governance Improvement Plan 

 to note the requirement for initial funding to commence 
elements of work within the Cultural Transformation 
programme of work within the Corporate Governance  

            Improvement Plan 

 to approve the funding of up to £491,800 of additional 

Yes  
  

P
age 119



 
 

2 

 
 

DATE 

 
 

DECISION 
MAKER 

 

 
 

ISSUE 

 
 

PURPOSE OF REPORT 

 
 

KEY 
DECISION 

expenditure to secure these additional staff resources, along 
with the necessary procurement activity to be funded from the 
available Corporate Contingency Budget. 

25 July 2023 Executive 
Member for 
Finance and 
Governance 

Wholly and Partly Owned Council 
Companies Policy and  

supporting Minimum Standard 

The purpose of this report is to seek approval of the proposed policy 
that sets out how the Council will develop, operate, and review Wholly 
or Partly Owned Council (WPOCC) companies. 

No 

23 Aug 2023 Executive Corporate Performance Review: Quarter 
One 2023/2024 

 This report advises the Executive of corporate performance at the end 
of Quarter One 2023/2024 and where appropriate seeks approval of 
any changes, where these lie within the authority of the Executive. 

No 

23 Aug 2023 Executive Revenue and Capital Budget – Forecast 
Outturn position at Quarter One 2023/24 

This report: 

 Advises the Executive of the Council’s financial position as at 
Quarter One 2023/24, 

 Advises of the management actions taken and underway in 
order to establish a firmer grip upon the Council’s financial 
position. 

 Seeks endorsement from the Executive of the management 
actions that are planned in the form of Financial Recovery 
Plans in order to control expenditure within the General Fund 
Revenue Budget approved by Council in February 2023. 

 Seeks approval of the Executive in relation to the revisions to 
the Capital Programme. 

Yes 

23 Aug 2023 Executive Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) 
Refresh 2024/25 to 2026/27 

1. The purpose of the report is to set out the financial framework 
and timetable within which Officers will work with the Mayor 
and the Executive to develop the 2024/25 budget and  

             MTFP to 2026/27. 
2. The report also includes the proposed Reserves Policy for 

consideration by the Executive and referral to Council for 
approval (Appendix 1) 

Yes  
 

23 Aug 2023 Executive Final Report of the Culture and 
Communities Scrutiny Panel – Off Road 

For Executive to note the final report of the Culture and Communities 
Scrutiny Panel  

No 

P
age 120



 
 

3 

 
 

DATE 

 
 

DECISION 
MAKER 

 

 
 

ISSUE 

 
 

PURPOSE OF REPORT 

 
 

KEY 
DECISION 

Bikes - Service Response (Appendix 1) and to agree the Service Response and Action Plan 
(Appendix 2). 

23 Aug 2023 Executive Hemlington North - Disposal 
 

This report advises on the proposal to dispose of the Council's freehold 
interest in land situated at Hemlington North. 
 

Yes 
 

23 Aug 2023 Executive Nunthorpe Grange Farm Part A and Part B To seek Executive approval to dispose of the Council’s freehold 
interest in land at Nunthorpe Grange Farm in accordance with the 
Council’s Asset Disposal Process. 

Yes 

6 Sept 2023 Executive Middlesbrough Development Company 
Closure 

The purpose of this report is to set out the process followed to close 
down the Middlesbrough Development Company, including the final 
steps yet to take place with a particular focus on how that process will 
ensure Value for Money is achieved during this period and how 
arrangements align with the Minimum Standards set out in the  
recently adopted Partly and Wholly Owned Council Companies Policy. 

No 

P
age 121



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1 

 
 

SECTION 3 – DECISIONS TO BE TAKEN UP UNTIL THE COUNCIL MEETING 
 

There are no decisions to be taken during this time period 
 

P
age 123



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1 

 
 

SECTION 4 – DECISIONS TO BE TAKEN FOLLOWING THE COUNCIL MEETING 
 

 
 

DATE 
 
 

 
 

PROPOSED 
DECISION 

MAKER 
 

 
 

ISSUE 

 
 

PURPOSE OF REPORT 

 
 

KEY 
DECISION 

4 Oct 2023 
 

Executive Refugee Resettlement 
 

To seek agreement to resettle 5 families per year, being a mixture of 
ARAP/ACRS and UKRS. 
 

Yes 
 

4 Oct 2023 
 

Executive Fees and Charges Review 
 

To present a review of Middlesbrough Council's Fees and Charges 
 

Yes 
 

4 Oct 2023 
 

Executive Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
 

TBC 
 

Yes 
 

4 Oct 2023 
 

Executive Asset Review 
 

A decision is required to determine the future options for a number of 
Council assets, that may include disposal. 
 

Yes 
 

4 Oct 2023 
 

Executive Digiwise Project - Foster Care and 
Supported Lodgings Wifi and Internet Use 

Policy 
 

Adoption of council wide policy and approval of recommendations to be 
agreed for all residential and foster care settings. 
 

No 
 

4 Oct 2023 
 

Executive EXEMPT - Captain Cook Square - 
Business Case 

 

Requirement for update on current position, along with options for 
maximising the commercial options for the strategic viability of a key 
Council asset. 
 

Yes 
 

4 Oct 2023 Executive Approval for Consultation on the Draft  Yes 

P
age 125



 
 

2 

 
 

DATE 

 
 

PROPOSED 
DECISION 

MAKER 
 

 
 

ISSUE 

 
 

PURPOSE OF REPORT 

 
 

KEY 
DECISION 

 Statement of Licensing Policy 2023-2028 
and Cumulative Impact Assessment 

 

 

15 Nov 2023 
 

Executive Newham Hall - Disposal Option Update 
 

To seek Executive approval to enter into a Collaboration Agreement 
with Homes England to develop the Newham Hall housing site. 
 

Yes 
 

15 Nov 2023 
 

Executive EXEMPT - Newham Hall - Disposal Option 
update - Part B 

 

To seek Executive approval to enter into a Collaboration Agreement 
with Homes England to develop the Newham Hall housing site. 
 

Yes 
 

15 Nov 2023 
 

Executive Houses in Multiple Occupation Article 4 
Direction 

 

To agree that an Article 4 Direction be put in place to require smaller 
HMOs, that are currently part of the permitted development regime, to 
be subject to a planning application. 
 

Yes 
 

15 Nov 2023 
 

Executive Draft Local Plan 
 

To seek approval of the Draft Local Plan for the purpose of public 
consultation. 
 

Yes 
 

15 Nov 2023 
 

Executive On Street Residential Electric Vehicle 
Charging Points 

 

To approve the acceptance of funding granted from On-street 
Residential Charge point Scheme (ORCS) for the value of £211,082 to 
provide up to 160 electric vehicle charging points, utilising existing 
lamp columns, in partnership with supplier Ubitricity. 
 

Yes 
 

15 Nov 2023 
 

Executive Corporate Procurement Strategy 23-25 
 

Presentation of the refreshed and updated Middlesbrough Council 
Corporate Procurement Strategy 23-26. 
 

Yes 
 

15 Nov 2023 
 

Executive Green Strategy 
 

To seek approval of Middlesbrough Council's Green Strategy Year 
Three action plan. 
 

Yes 
 

17 Jan 2024 
 

Executive Tees Advanced Manufacturing Park – 
Phase 2 Funding Agreement 

Executive to approval an additional 1.5 million pounds of capital which 
will be repaired through retention through business rates of the 

Yes 
 

P
age 126



 
 

3 

 
 

DATE 

 
 

PROPOSED 
DECISION 

MAKER 
 

 
 

ISSUE 

 
 

PURPOSE OF REPORT 

 
 

KEY 
DECISION 

 enterprize zones site. 
 

13 Feb 2024 
 

Executive Tees Valley Waste Report 
 

To seek approval for MBC to enter with seven other councils a Special 
Purpose Vehicle company in order to manage the Tees Valley energy 
recovery facility that will be responsible for the disposal of 
Middlesbrough municipal waste. 
 

Yes 
 

 
 

 Adult Social Care Reform Update (Date 
TBA) 

 

To update Executive of local progress against central government’s 
Adult Social Care reform agenda and the planned commencement of 
inspections of Adult Social Care by the Care Quality Commission in 
2023 
 

Yes 
 

 

P
age 127



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1 

MIDDLESBROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 
Report of: The Chair of Overview and Scrutiny Board and the Director of 

Legal and Governance Services 

 

Submitted to: Council 

 

Date: 18 September 2023 

 

Title: Scrutiny Progress Report 

 

Report for: Information 

 

Status: Public 

 

Strategic priority: All 

 

Key decision: No 

Why: Not applicable 

 

Urgent: No 

Why: Not applicable 

 

Executive summary  

To update the position in respect of the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Board and scrutiny 

panels.  The current position regarding progress made by the Board and each of the panels is set 

out below. 

 
Purpose 
 
1. To update the position in respect of the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Board and scrutiny 

panels.   

Background and relevant information 
 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY BOARD  

2. The Overview and Scrutiny Board met on 26 July 2023.  

At that meeting the Board considered / received information in respect of the following: 

 Minutes of OSB for 28 March and 18 April 
o Member approved the minutes as a true record. 

Page 129

Agenda Item 11



2 

 Minutes of the Ad Hoc Scrutiny Panel 23 February 2023 
o Member approved the minutes as a true record. Members also agreed that 

OSB would continue the review into homelessness started by the Ad Hoc 
Scrutiny Panel. 

 Executive Member Update – Deputy Mayor and Executive Member for Education 
and Culture 

o Members were updated with the Deputy Mayor’s priorities and work within 
her portfolio area. 

 Executive Forward Work Programme 
o Members noted the Forward Work Programme and agreed they should 

receive a weekly copy of the Programme. 

 Middlesbrough Local Boundary Review 2023 
o Members received information about the Local Boundary Review for 

Middlesbrough 2023 and were informed about its role in that process 
going forward.  

 Scrutiny Chairs Updates. 
o Members were updated about the activity within each Scrutiny Panel. 

Scrutiny Chairs were advised that in their absence, the relevant Vice Chair 
should attend OSB to provide the update.   

 
SCRUTINY PANEL UPDATES 

3. The updated position in respect of the work of each of the Council’s scrutiny panels is shown 

below. 

Adult Social Care and Services Scrutiny Panel 

4. The Adult Social Care and Services Scrutiny Panel had its first meeting of the municipal year on 

13 July 2023.  

 

5. Members received an overview of the service areas from the Director of Adult Social Care and 

Health Integration, including key strategic priorities and challenges for the coming year. The 

members were also introduced to the Heads of service. 

 

6. The Panel also approved a schedule of meeting dates for the remainder of the current Municipal 
Year. 
 

7. The Scrutiny Panel’s next meeting is scheduled to take place on 12 September 2023, when 
Members will be asked to consider and determine suitable topics for inclusion in its Work 
Programme. 

 

Children and Young People’s Scrutiny Panel  

8. The newly constituted Children and Young People’s Scrutiny Panel met for the first time on 19 
July 2023.  R Brown, Director of Education and Partnerships, and K Simmons, Head of Review 
and Development Unit, Quality and Assurance and Principal Social Worker, attended and 
provided a presentation in relation to the Children’s Services Directorate, including priorities and 
challenges for the coming year. 
 

9. The Panel also approved a schedule of meeting dates for the remainder of the current Municipal 
Year. 

 

Page 130



3 

10. The Panel’s next meeting is scheduled for 18 September 2023 when Members will be asked to 
consider and determine suitable topics for inclusion in its Work Programme 
 

Environment Scrutiny Panel 
 
11. The newly constituted Environment Scrutiny Panel met for the first time on 10 July 2023.  G Field, 

Director of Environment and Community Services attended and provided a presentation in 
relation to  the Environment and Community Services Directorate, including priorities and 
challenges for the coming year.     
 

12. The Panel also approved a schedule of meeting dates for the remainder of the current Municipal 
Year. 
 

13. The Panel’s next meeting is scheduled for 12 September 2023 when Members will be asked to 
consider and determine suitable topics for inclusion in its Work Programme.   

 
Health Scrutiny Panel  

14. The Health Scrutiny Panel met on 19 June 2023. At that meeting, the Panel considered the South 
Tees NHS Foundation Trust’s draft Quality Account for 2022/2023. The Trust’s Chief Nurse and 
the Associate Medical Director were in attendance to provide an outline of the priorities for 
improvement and the quality of services at the Trust. Following the meeting, a formal written 
response, detailing the Panel’s comments and feedback was submitted to the Trust. 

 
15. The Health Scrutiny Panel last met on 10 July 2023. At that meeting, the Panel received: 

 information on the reasons Foundations (Acklam Road) had served notice on its contract; 

 details of how patients would be allocated to alternative general practices to ensure they 
could continue to access primary medical services; and  

 information on the new specialist clinical/prescribing service for substance misuse. 
 
16. The Commissioning Lead for Primary Care from the NHS North East and North Cumbria 

Integrated Care Board (ICB), the Programme Manager from Public Health and the Partners of 
the practice were in attendance to present information. 

 
17. At that meeting, the Panel also received an Overview of NHS Health and Public Health and 

information was presented on the NHS North East and North Cumbria Integrated Care Board 
(ICB) and Public Health South Tees, including the main duties and areas within the respective 
remits and an outline of the key priorities, issues and challenges for the year ahead. The Director 
of Place Based Delivery from the ICB and the Director of Public Health were both in attendance 
to present information. 

 
Regeneration Scrutiny Panel  
 
22. The newly constituted Regeneration Scrutiny Panel met for the first time on 19 July 2023.  
 Richard Horniman, Director of Regeneration attended and gave a presentation in relation to 
 the Regeneration Directorate.  The objectives, aims and some of the challenges for the 
 service were discussed. 
 
23.  The Panel approved a schedule of meeting dates for the forthcoming Municipal Year. 
 
24.  At the next meeting, the Panel will discuss and agree topics for inclusion in its Work Programme.  
  The Panel has also asked for an update on the Local Plan. 

 
Tees Valley Health Scrutiny Joint Committee 

24. The Tees Valley Health Scrutiny Joint Committee (TVHSJC) met on 28 July 2023. At that 

meeting, the Committee considered the following items: 

Page 131



4 

 Tees Valley Health Scrutiny Joint Committee - Protocol and Terms of Reference; 

 Tees Valley Breast Care Services; 

 Tees Valley Community Diagnostic Centres; 

 North East Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust - CQC Inspections/ Independent 

Review; 

 Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust - Lived Experience Directors; and 

 Work Programme 2023-2024. 

Tees Valley Combined Authority Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

25. The Tees Valley Combined Authority Overview and Scrutiny Committee met on 2 March 2023.  

 

26. At its meeting on the 2 March 2023 the Committee considered the following:- 

 Martin Waters, Business Growth Manager of TVCA delivered a presentation to the 

committee on supporting local businesses.   

 Councillor Bob Cook from Stockton Council together with Shona Duncan Head of 

Education & Skills at TVCA presented a report with an update on the activity and 

forward plan to date.  The Committee sought clarity on the number of apprentices in 

Tees Valley and were informed that there were around 500 live vacancies at this 

time.  

 The TVCA Monitoring Officer discussed the requirements for the Committee to either 

deal with presentations or reports. 

 It was explained that the time of the next meeting could not be confirmed until after 

the May elections, when new members would have been ratified by TVCA cabinet. 

 Overview & Scrutiny Annual Report 2022-2023 

 UK Shared Prosperity Fund – Business Update 

 EES Update 

SCRUTINY REPORTS SUBMITTED TO EXECUTIVE  

27. Since the last update to Council, the following Final Scrutiny report has been submitted to 

Executive:- 

 

Executive – 24 January 2023 - Final Report of Adult Social Care and Services Scrutiny Panel in 

respect of a review of the role of the Voluntary and Community Sector (VCS) in supporting Adult 

Social Care (with a focus on COVID-19 and Recovery). 

 

What decision(s) are being recommended?  
 

28. That Council note the report. 

 
Rationale for the recommended decision(s) 
 
29. The Constitution requires the Council to be provided with an update with regard to the work of 

the Overview and Scrutiny function.  

 
Other potential decision(s) and why these have not been recommended 
 
30. That an update on the work of the scrutiny function is not provided to full Council. This would 

not comply with the requirements for updates on the scrutiny function, to be reported to full 
Council.   

Page 132



5 

 
Impact(s) of the recommended decision(s) 
 
Legal 
 
31. The Constitution requires regular updates on the scrutiny function, to be submitted to full 

Council. 

 
Strategic priorities and risks 
 
32. The relevant risks this decision would influence are cited below, with an explanation as to why 

they are relevant and how it would affect each risk.  

Risk No Risk Description Impact 

O8-054 

Failure to adhere to Local Code of 

Corporate Governance and deliver 

governance improvements outlined in 

the Annual Governance Statement. 

If updates on the work of the scrutiny 

function were not provided to Council, it 

would not be in accordance with the 

requirements of the Constitution. 

 
Human Rights, Equality and Data Protection 
 
33. The subject of this report is not a policy, strategy, function or service that is new or being 

revised. It is considered that an equality impact assessment is not required. 

 
 
Financial 
 
34. There are no financial implications arising from the recommendations within this report 

 
Actions to be taken to implement the recommended decision(s) 
 

Action Responsible Officer Deadline 

   

 
Appendices 
 

1  

2  

3  

 
Background papers 
 

Body Report title Date 

   

 
Contact: Charlotte Benjamin 
Email: charlotte_benjamin@middlesbrough.gov.uk  
 

Page 133



6 

 

Page 134



18 SEPTEMBER 2023 
 

QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS  
 

COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULE NO. 28 - 33 
 

QUESTION 
NO. 

QUESTION  
FROM 

QUESTION  
TO 

QUESTION 

01/2023 Councillor Hurst The Mayor Will the Mayor/Executive consider looking at joining back of house 
services with neighbouring authorities as a way to streamline 
services and avoid unnecessary duplication and costs across not 
only our council, but also other authorities? 

 

P
age 135

A
genda Item

 13



T
his page is intentionally left blank



COUNCIL MEETING – 18 SEPTEMBER 2023 
NOTICE OF MOTION 

 
COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULE NOS. 53-60 

MOTION 
NO. 

PROPOSER SECONDER MOTION 

160 Councillor M Storey Councillor J Walker FAIRTRADE MOTION 

Middlesbrough achieved Fairtrade Town Status in 2007. The Council reaffirms its 
support for Fairtrade and recognises the role of the Middlesbrough Fairtrade Group 
in promoting Fairtrade in Middlesbrough. 

Middlesbrough Council remains fully committed to using Fairtrade products, 
including tea, coffee and sugar, in meetings, at events and in public Council 
venues. Furthermore, the Council will continue to promote and participate in the 
town’s programmes of Fairtrade events and activities. 

Middlesbrough Council also recognises the role Fairtrade plays in assisting 
producers in developing countries to address the impacts of climate change, for 
example through tree planting and water conservation schemes. 

161 Councillor Furness Councillor Gavigan MOTION AGAINST THE CLOSURE OF MIDDLESBROUGH TRAIN STATION’S 
TICKET OFFICE 

Council notes with dismay the news that the Department for Transport (DfT) and 
the thirteen train companies have announced plans to close almost all staffed ticket 
offices in England, totalling nearly 1000, following changes to the Government’s 
guidance relating to ticket office opening hours and operation.  

Council believes that ticket offices provide a vital service to residents in 
Middlesbrough and support passenger safety, security and accessibility. Having a 
central place in the station for people requiring advice and assistance provides 
certainty and confidence for customers who may struggle to otherwise locate 
station staff and acts as a point of safety for passengers.  

Not all are able to use ticket vending machines or online ticketing platforms. Many 
passengers require human assistance to successfully purchase the most 
appropriate and cheapest tickets, and do not incur penalties from mis-booked 
tickets which is common owing to the complex railway ticketing system. Ticket 

P
age 137

A
genda Item

 14



office staff have a wealth of knowledge which ensures that customers get 
appropriate advice and the cheapest fare for their whole journey. 

Council is particularly concerned the closure of ticket offices will disproportionately 
affect older passengers and those with disabilities who use Middlesbrough train 
station, as well as those with poor IT skills and those whose first language is not 
English. Council also notes the possible implications for employment, believing that 
the closure of ticket offices could lead to a de-staffing of rail stations, thus raising 
unemployment in Middlesbrough.  

Council believes the staffed ticket office at Middlesbrough station positively 
contributes to the appeal of travelling by train in and out of Middlesbrough. 
Therefore, the loss of the ticket office will make train travel in and out of 
Middlesbrough less appealing, which may push people towards travelling by high-
pollution methods such as private road vehicle and negatively hurt our local 
economy if people chose not to travel at all as a result.  

Council therefore resolves to: 

 Requests the Chief Executive writes to the Secretary of State for Transport, 
expressing Middlesbrough Council’s opposition to the closure of the staffed 
rail ticket office at Middlesbrough train station. 

 Requests the Chief Executive writes to Transpennine Express, who manage 
Middlesbrough Station, expressing Middlesbrough Council’s opposition to 
the closure of the staffed ticket office at Middlesbrough train station. 

 

P
age 138



 

1 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

MIDDLESBROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 
Report of: Director of Legal and Governance Services 

 

Submitted to: Council 

 

Date: 18 September 2023 

 

Title: Refresh of the Council’s constitution 

 

Report for: Decision 

 

Status: Public 

 

Strategic priority: All 

 

Key decision: Not applicable 

Why: Not applicable 

 

Urgent: Not applicable 

Why: Not applicable 

 

Executive summary  

The purpose of this report is to provide a summary of the key changes that have been 
made to the draft Constitution which is appended to the report.  The draft Constitution 
has been through a fundamental review to ensure that it will ensure good corporate 
governance is in place.  The focus of the review has been on addressing the concerns 
expressed by internal and external stakeholders and reflecting feedback from Members 
and Officers that has been gathered as part of the Corporate Governance Improvement 
Plan work and feedback from the Constitution and Member Development committee.   
 
The changes were endorsed by the Constitution and Members’ Development 
Committee on 16 August 2023 and following this meeting, the draft Constitution was 
shared with Members and officers through a series of briefings, prior to submission to 
Council and any feedback gathered through the briefing process was taken into 
account. 

Page 139

Agenda Item 16



 

2 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Purpose 
 

1. The purpose of this report is to approve the revised Constitution, which is attached 
to this report at Appendix 1 and the supporting documentation at appendices 2 to 5. 
 
Background and relevant information 
 

2. The draft Constitution reflects the views of Members, as well as those of officers, 
and internal and external stakeholders that have been gathered as part of the 
Corporate Governance Improvement Plan and formal consultation with the 
Constitution and Member Development Committee.   
 

3. Key changes / retained elements which have been deemed as necessary in order to 
provide internal and external stakeholders with assurance that the Constitution is fit 
for purpose are set out in the table below in full: 
 

Content Rationale 

Amendments to the 
structure 

Ensures the constitution is easier to follow, 
removed duplication. 

Simplification of language This will ensure increased understanding of 
processes and expectations. 

Moving statutory references 
to footnotes 

As above.  Ensures that the focus on the 
constitution is ensuring process is explained in 
simple terms to support the public, Officers and 
Members understanding of the document and 
provides a better flow of information. 

Strengthening of statutory 
role profiles 

Ensures clarity and supports steps to ensure 
greater understanding across officers and 
members of roles and responsibilities, which was a 
theme within the Corporate Governance 
Improvement Plan. 

Amendments to Council 
procedure rules 

Addresses historic queries in relation to 
interpretation of process and simplifies process.  
As previously set out for this committee, this 
includes amendment to the motions process, 
provision of clarity around the no confidence 
process, provision of clarity around 
disqualifications, clarity around departures from 
office before the end of a term and clarity to ensure 
members stand when speaking, only if they are 
able to. 

Inclusion of a section on 
Council Companies 

This reflects the recently agreed policy on 
Companies Governance and ensures compliance 
with it is embedded within the Council’s 
Constitution.  The policy was agreed by the 
Executive member for Finance and Governance on 
25 July 2023. 

Expansion of information on 
the governance of the 
Teesside Pension Fund 

Inclusion of information on the functions exercised 
by the Pensions Fund Committee and Officers to 
ensure compliance with pensions regulations. 

Page 140



 

3 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Content Rationale 

Change to the threshold for 
a key decision 

This has not been raised for some years and 
reflects a natural increase in inflation since it was 
last put in and is accompanied by strengthened 
Financial Procedure Rules and Contract Monitoring 
Rules which will strengthen good governance. 

Inclusion of definitions 
where necessary  

Definitions will support understanding of provisions 
in the Constitution and provide clarity. 

Updating the policy 
framework list 

This is a list of decisions reserved for Council.  The 
Change Strategy no longer exists and was 
therefore removed. 

Alignment of content in the 
main body of the 
Constitution and the 
proposed Financial 
Procedure Rules and the 
Contract Management 
Rules. 

Ensures constituency and ensures that both 
documents reflect the expectations of internal and 
external stakeholders that processes around 
finance actions and contract management are 
strengthened. 

Amendments to the call-in 
process 

Provision of clarity around the process and 
removal of the prescriptive list of reasons why a 
decision could be called in. 

Amendments to Standards 
Procedure Rules  

Provision of clarity and simplified process.  
Clarification around the role of the Parish Council 
where a complaint is made against a Parish 
Councillor.  Closer alignment with the LGA model 
code. 

Council Scheme of 
Delegation 

Updates to reflect movement in services, changes 
in job titles, deletion, and creation of new functions 
since it was last reviewed. 

Key committees Inclusion of further information on the functions of 
key committees including Licensing, Planning and 
Standards. 

Creation of a new standing 
Committee for Corporate 
Affairs 

Function removed from Audit Committee’s list of 
functions to provide a separation between decision 
making and auditing of decisions.  The committee 
will be Chaired by the Chair of Council and will only 
meet when it is not possible or plausible for 
Council to meet.  There will be no impact on the 
cost of Member allowances as a result of the Chair 
of the Council also chairing this committee. 

Clarification around the 
roles of Political and 
Mayoral assistants 

Addresses lessons learned from previous 
governance issues. 

Clarification around Access 
to Information Procedure 
rules 

Simplification of rules, reflection of repeal of 
elements of underpinning legislation. 

Officer Code of Conduct Amended to reflect learning from the Corporate 
Governance Improvement Plan, feedback from 
officers and Members and explicit inclusion of a 
statement that the Nolan Principles also apply to 
officers. 

Page 141



 

4 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Content Rationale 

Financial Procedure Rules Improved readability.  Improved guidance on 
budget responsibilities, virements, fees and 
charges, bidding for external funding and asset 
management. 

Contract Procedure Rules Amended to replace reference to standing orders 
to link to Contract Procedure Rules, provision of 
direction on pre-procurement considerations, 
alignment with Financial Procedure Rules, 
provision of stronger controls on the provision of 
exemptions to Contract Procedure Rules, clarity 
around roles and responsibilities. 

 
Next steps 

 

4. Once the draft Constitution has been approved, it will be published on the Council’s 
website.  Mandatory e-learning for all staff will be delivered that will provide an 
overview of the Constitution, the Council’s values and supporting codes of conduct.  
The Council will also deliver a Corporate Governance training programme that will 
provide updated training and development on key corporate governance disciplines 
and constitutional requirements surrounding them. 
 

What decision(s) are being recommended?  
 

5. That Council approves the revised Constitution. 
 

Rationale for the recommended decision(s) 
 

6. The adoption of a refreshed Constitution will ensure that a document is in place 
which: 
 

 reflects the lessons that have been learned in recent years in relation to 
corporate governance; 

 ensures the learning to date from the Corporate Governance Improvement 
journey is reflected within the Council’s key governance document; and 

 will provide assurance to the Council’s Members, officers, internal and 
external stakeholders that a Constitution is in place which is fit for purpose and 
will underpin a robust approach to corporate governance. 

 
Other potential decision(s) and why these have not been recommended 
 

7. The Council could choose not to support a refresh of the Constitution; however it is 
the advice of both the Monitoring Officer and the Section 151 Officer that 
amendments are required in order to provide them with assurance that appropriate 
corporate governance arrangements are in place. In addition, discussions with the 
Department for Levelling up, Housing and Communities and external auditors have 
underlined the importance of a refreshed Constitution. As such, to retain the existing 
unamended Constitution is not recommended as an option. 
 

Impact(s) of the recommended decision(s) 
 

Page 142



 

5 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Legal 
 

8. The adoption of the Constitution by full Council will ensure ongoing compliance with 
the Council’s legal obligations by officers and Members. 
 

 
Strategic priorities and risks 
 

9. Adoption of the refreshed Constitution by Council will positively impact on the 
following risks within the Council’s Strategic Risk Register by strengthening and 
clarifying the governance arrangements of the Council: 

 
 ‘If the Council’s Corporate Governance arrangements are not fit for purpose 

and appropriate action is not taken to rectify this at pace, this could result in 
government formal intervention including removal of powers from officers and 
members and direction of council spend.’ 

 ‘If the Council took a decision that was unlawful then there is a risk of legal 
challenge or regulatory action that could damage its reputation and its 
financial position.’ 

 
 
Human Rights, Equality and Data Protection 
 

10. Not applicable. 
 
Financial 
 

11.  Not applicable directly as a result of the recommendation that the content of this 
report is endorsed, however successful implementation will have a positive impact on 
compliance with corporate governance good practice.   
 

Actions to be taken to implement the recommended decision(s) 
 

Action Responsible 

Officer 

Deadline 

Publish the revised Constitution on the Council website Monitoring 
Officer 

22 September 
2023 

Following approval of the refreshed Constitution, mandatory e-learning 
for all staff will be delivered that will provide an overview of the 
Constitution, the Council’s values and supporting codes of conduct. 

Head of HR 31 December 
2023 

Completion of delivery of the Corporate Governance training programme 
to all senior managers 

Head of HR 31 March 2024 

 
Appendices 
 

1 Draft Middlesbrough Council Constitution 

2 Draft Council Scheme of Delegation  

3 Draft Detailed Officer Scheme of Delegation 

4 Draft Financial Procedure Rules 

Page 143



 

6 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

5 Draft Contract Procedure Rules 

 
Background papers 
 

Body Report title Date 

Constitution and Member 

Development Committee 

Middlesbrough Council Constitution 20 February 2023 

Constitution and Member 

Development Committee 

Middlesbrough Constitution Progress Update 13 April 2023 

Executive member for 

Finance and Governance 

Party and Wholly Owned Council Companies Policy 25 July 2023 

Corporate Affairs and Audit 

Committee 

Review of Financial Regulations 15 August 2023 

Constitution and Member 

Development Committee 

Refresh of the Council’s Constitution  16 August 2023 

 
Contact: Charlotte Benjamin, Director of Legal and Governance Services (Monitoring 
Officer) 
 

Page 144



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

 

MIDDLESBROUGH BOROUGH 
COUNCIL 

 

CONSTITUTION 

 

Made under the Local Government Act 20001 

 

September 2023 

 

                                                
1 Local Government Act 2000, section 9P 

Page 145

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/22/section/9P


 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
Section 1 
 

 
Introduction  6 

 
Section 2 
 

 
Interpreting the Constitution  
 

9 

 
Section 3 
 

 
Citizens and the Council 15 

 
Section 4 
 

 
Full Council  17 

 
 
Council Procedure Rules 
 

19 

 
Section 5 
 

 
Councillors  44 

 
Section 6 
 

 
The Mayor and the Executive 46 

 
 
Executive Procedure Rules 
 

49 

 
Section 7 
 

 
Overview and Scrutiny  59 

 
 
Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules 
 

62 

 
 
Call-in Procedure 
 

67 

 
Section 8 
 

 
Standards  72 

 
 
Standards Hearing Procedure Rules 
 

73 

 
Section 9 
 

 
Responsibility for Functions   81 

 
 
Corporate Affairs Committee 
 

82 

 
 
Audit Committee 
 

83 

 
 
Licensing Committee 
 

86 

 
 
Planning and Development Committee 
 

90 

Page 146



  
 

3 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
Section 10 
 

 
Joint Arrangements  

 
92 

 
 
Joint Health and Wellbeing Board 
 

92 

 
 
Teesside Pension Fund Committee 
 

93 

 
Section 11 
 

 
Officers  94 

 
 
Officer Employment Procedure Rules 
 

97 

 
 
Management Structure 
 

101 

 
Section 12  
 

 
Finance, Contracts and Legal Matters  102 

 
Section 13 
 

 
Decision-Making  103 

 
Section 14 
 

 
Financial and Contract Procedure Rules (Standing 
Orders) 
  

107 

 
Section 15 
 

 
Scheme of Delegations  108 

 
Section 16 
 

 
Access to Information Procedure Rules  109 

 
Section 17 
 

 
Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules 123 

 
Section 18 
 

 
Financial Procedure Rules  126 

 
Section 19 
 

 
Contract Procedure Rules  

Error! 
Bookmark 

not 
defined. 

 
Section 20 
 

 
Council Companies 179 

Section 21 
 
Schemes of Delegation 
 

182 

 
 
Officer Scheme of Delegation 
 

 

Page 147



  
 

4 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
 
Executive Scheme of Delegation 
 

 

Section 22 
 
Members’ Scheme of Allowances 
 

183 

 
Section 23 
 

 
Teesside Pension Fund Committee 191 

Section 24 
 
Codes and Protocols  
 

198 

 
 
Member Code of Conduct  
 

200 

 
 
Officer Code of Conduct 
 

214 

 
 
Protocol for Member / Officer Relations  
 

225 

 
 
Protocol for Members and Officers on Gifts and Hospitality 
 

239 

 
 
Filming of Council Meetings 
 

245 

APPENDIX 1 
 
Code of Corporate Governance 
 

248 

 
APPENDIX 2 
 

 
The Role of Councillors   255 

 
 
Role Profile: Member 
 

256 

 
 
Role Profile: The Mayor 
 

258 

 
 
Role Profile: The Deputy Mayor 
 

260 

 
 
Role Profile: Executive Members 
 

261 

 
 
Role Profile: The Chair of the Council 
 

262 

 
 
Role Profile: Group Leader 
 

263 

 
 
Role Profile: Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Board 
 

264 

Page 148



  
 

5 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
 
Role Profile: Scrutiny Panel Chairs 
 

265 

APPENDIX 2 
 
Monitoring Officer Protocol 
 

267 

APPENDIX 3 
 
Statutory Officer Protocols 
 

277 

 
 
Head of Paid Service 
 

277 

 
 
Chief Finance Officer 
 

279 

 
 
Monitoring Officer 
 

283 

 
 
Joint Statutory and Constitutional Responsibilities 
 

286 

 
 
Complaints Manager 
 

287 

 
 
Nominated Local Authority CHANNEL Chair 
 

289 

 
 
Nominated Local Authority PREVENT Lead 
 

290 

APPENDIX 4 
 
Proper Officer Functions 
 

293 

APPENDIX 5 
 
Councillor Calls for Action Procedure and Guidance 
 

298 

 

Page 149



  
 

6 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

1 INTRODUCTION 

 

This section explains how the Council operates. It summarises the main provisions of 

the Constitution. If you would like to see the detailed provisions in relation to a 

particular Council function, you should refer to the relevant section of the Constitution. 

 

Capitalised words used in this section 1 (and throughout the Constitution) are defined 

in section 2.2.  

 

1.1 What is the Constitution? 

 

1.1.1 The Constitution sets out how the Council operates, how decisions are made, and the 

procedures which are followed to ensure that these are efficient, transparent and 

accountable to local people. Some of these processes are required by law, while 

others are a matter for the Council to determine.  

 

1.1.2 The Constitution contains 24 sections which set out the basic rules governing the 

Council’s business. More detailed procedures and codes of practice are set out in 

separate rules and protocols at the end of this document.  

 

1.2 How does the Council operate?  

 

1.2.1 The Council is composed of a Mayor and 46 Councillors. The Mayor is directly elected 

by the electors of the Borough, normally for four years. The Mayoral election is held 

on the same day that Councillors are elected to represent each of the Wards within 

the Borough.  

 

1.2.2 The Mayor and the Councillors are known as “Members” of the Council. Members 

agree to follow a Code of Conduct to ensure high standards in the way they undertake 

their duties. The Council’s Standards Committee advises Members on the Code of 

Conduct and ensures that they receive training on its requirements. Members are 

required to adhere to the Code of Conduct when fulfilling their duties.  

 

1.2.3 Members decide the Council’s overall policies and set the Budget each year. They 

also appoint various Committees to undertake certain delegated functions.  

 

1.2.4 The Mayor appoints a Deputy Mayor and an Executive, which comprises up to nine 

elected Members.  

 

1.2.5 Council meetings are normally open to the public. 

 

1.3 How are decisions made?  

 

1.3.1 The Executive is responsible for most of the Council’s day-to-day decisions. The 

Mayor is responsible for the Council’s main executive decision-making powers and 

the overall delivery of Council services.  

 

1.3.2 The Executive is held to account by the Council’s scrutiny process. The Executive 

should make decisions in line with the Council’s overall policies and any departure 

from this needs to be approved by the Council.  

 

Page 150



  
 

7 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

1.3.3 So far as possible, major decisions are published in the Executive’s Forward Work 

Programme. Where Council Officers attend an Executive meeting to discuss a major 

decision, the meeting will be open to the public unless confidential matters are being 

discussed.  

 

1.3.4 The Council’s Budget and Policy Framework is set by the Council. The Mayor and 

Executive may make proposals to Council in relation to the Budget and other plans 

and strategies for adoption by Council.  

 

1.4 What happens if the Council doesn’t agree with the Executive’s proposals?  

 

The Council has the option to suggest amendments to any Budget, plan or strategy 

submitted by the Executive. The Executive can then consider the Council’s input 

before re-submitting its proposal. The Executive’s proposal will be accepted unless 

the Council votes for further amendments by a 2/3 majority.  

 

1.5 How are Council decisions scrutinised?  

 

1.5.1 The Council is held to account by the Overview and Scrutiny Board. The Board’s 

reports and recommendations advise the Council and the Executive on matters 

relating to policy, service delivery and the Budget.  

 

1.5.2 The Board can “call-in” a decision made by the Executive before it is implemented. 

The Board can then consider whether the decision is appropriate and make 

recommendations to the Executive.  

 

1.5.3 The Executive may also consult the Board on forthcoming decisions and policy 

development.  

 

1.6 What is the role of Officers?  

 

Officers give advice, implement decisions, and manage the day-to-day delivery of the 

Council’s services. Some Officers have a specific duty to ensure that the Council acts 

within the law and uses its resources wisely. A protocol governs the relationships 

between Officers, Councillors and the Mayor.  

 

1.7 What are the rights of citizens in relation to the Council?  

 

1.7.1 Members of the public may:  

 

(a) vote at local elections if they are eligible and registered;  

 

(b) contact the Mayor or their local Councillor about any matter of concern to them;  

 

(c) obtain a copy of this Constitution;   

 

(d) attend meetings of the Council and its Committees except where, for example, 

personal or confidential matters are being discussed;  

 

(e) petition to request a referendum on the form of Executive the Council should 

adopt;  

Page 151



  
 

8 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

(f) find out, from the Executive’s Forward Work Programme, the Key Decisions 

that are to be discussed by the Executive, or decided by the Executive or 

Officers, and when;  

 

(g) attend meetings of the Executive where Key Decisions are being discussed or 

decided, except where, for example, personal or confidential matters are being 

discussed;  

 

(h) see reports and background papers, and any record of decisions made by the 

Council, its Committees and the Executive, except where they relate to 

personal or confidential information; 

 

(i) complain to the Council about Council services, or any action or inaction which 

concerns them, for the matter to be investigated under the Council’s complaints 

processes;  

 

(j) complain to the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman if they think 

the Council has not followed its procedures properly. They should only do this 

after using the Council’s own complaints processes;  

 

(k) complain to the Council’s Monitoring Officer if they have evidence that a 

Councillor has not followed the Council’s Code of Conduct; and  

 

(l) inspect the Council’s accounts and make their views on those accounts known 

to the Council’s external auditor.  

 

1.7.2 The rights listed above do not include additional rights members of the public might 

have in relation to specific Services, for example, as a parent of a school pupil or as 

a Council tenant.  

 

1.7.3 The Council welcomes participation by its citizens in its work. For further information 

on your rights as a citizen, please contact either Democratic Services at The Town 

Hall, Middlesbrough, TS1 9FX or by email to 

councilquestions@middlesbrough.gov.uk and refer to the Summary of Rights for 

Public Rights of Access to Council Information.  

 

1.7.4 Section 3 of the Constitution sets out citizens’ rights in more detail. 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 152

mailto:councilquestions@middlesbrough.gov.uk


  
 

9 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

2 INTERPRETING THE CONSTITUTION  

 

This section explains what the Constitution is for and how it is to be interpreted. It also 

sets out the rules for how the Constitution is to be monitored and reviewed, how it can 

be amended, how certain parts of it can be suspended, and how it is published.  

 

2.1 What is the purpose of the Constitution?  

 

2.1.1 The Constitution sets out the rules and procedures under which the Council operates. 

 

2.1.2 It helps members of the public and other stakeholders understand how the Council 

makes its decisions. It also acts as a guide for the Mayor, Councillors and Officers in 

performing their roles.  

 

2.2 Meanings of key terms used in the Constitution 

 

Where capitalised terms are used in this Constitution, they will have the meanings set 

out below:  

 

“Annual Meeting” 
 

the annual meeting of the Council that takes place in 
March, April or May (or otherwise within 21 days of the 
retirement of outgoing Councillors following an election) 
and makes decisions in relation to the running of the 
Council for the Municipal Year; 
 

“Borough” 
 

the borough of Middlesbrough;  

“Budget” 
 

the overall annual revenue budget and periodic capital 
budget approved by Full Council. 
 
The Budget includes the allocation of financial resources 
to different Services and projects, proposed contingency 
funds, the Council Tax base, setting the Council Tax and 
decisions relating to the control of the Council’s 
borrowing requirement., the control of its capital 
expenditure and the setting of virement limits.  
 
The Budget is the first year of the MTFS;  
 

“Byelaws” local laws made by the Council under an enabling power 
contained in a public general act or a local act requiring 
something to be done – or not done – in a specified 
area2; 
 

“Chair” the person who is elected as chair of the Council in 
accordance with the Council Procedure Rules;  
 

“Chief Officers” 
 

an Officer who is a member of the Council’s Leadership 
Management Team;  
 

                                                
2 The Byelaws (Alternative Procedure) (England) Regulations 2016 

Page 153

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2016/165/contents/made


  
 

10 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

“Committee” any committee of the Council, including where relevant 
any sub-committee 
 
For the avoidance of doubt, reference to an “Executive 
Committee” shall mean a committee or sub-committee 
(as appropriate) of the Executive; 
 

“Co-Opted Member” 
 

a person who is not a Councillor but who sits on any 
Committee;  
 

“Council” 
 

Middlesbrough Borough Council;  

“Councillor”  
 

a person elected to the Council to represent an area 
(called a Ward) within the Borough.  
 
For the avoidance of doubt, the Mayor is not a 
Councillor;  
 

“Council Procedure 
Rules” 
 

the procedural rules for running the Council as set out in 
section 4;  

“Council Tax” 
 

a tax levied on households by local authorities in Britain, 
based on the estimated value of a property set out in 
value-based bandings; 
 

“Executive”  a group of Members selected by the Mayor to exercise 
Executive Functions; 
 

“Executive Decision” 
 

any decision made by the Executive to exercise or 
refrain from exercising an Executive Function, including 
any decision made by a person or Member Body to 
whom Executive Decision-making powers have been 
delegated;  
 

“Executive Function” 
 

(a) any function of the Council that is not exercisable 
by Full Council or any Member Body of the 
Council, as defined in the Local Government Act 
2000, subsidiary legislation and associated 
guidance; and 
 

(b) contractual matters, the acquisition and disposal 
of land and financial support to organisations and 
individuals.  
 

For the avoidance of doubt, regulatory functions 
(including planning, licensing and building control) are 
not Executive Functions;  
 

“Executive Member” 
 

a Councillor who is appointed as a member of the 
Executive;  
 

“Executive Portfolio” 
 

the particular area for which an Executive Member is 
responsible, as designated by the Mayor from time to 
time; 
 

Page 154



  
 

11 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

“Financial Limits Annex” 
 

as defined in the Financial Regulations;  

“Forward Work 
Programme” 
 

a notice setting out the matters which the Mayor believes 
will be subject to a Key Decision during the period 
covered by that forward work programme (Key 
Decisions are set out in more detail in section 6); 
  

“Full Council” 
 

the body where all Councillors and the Mayor act to 
exercise the functions of the Council; 
 

“Group” 
 

a group of two or more Councillors, usually but not 
necessarily from the same political party, who have 
identified themselves as a group; 
 

“Group Leader” 
 

the leader of any Group within the Council;  

“Head of Paid Service” 
 

the Officer appointed by law to carry out certain 
functions. The Head of Paid Service will usually have 
other duties and a different job title (see section 11.1 for 
further details);  
 

“Head of Service” 
 

the head of a Service area within the Council;  

“Housing Land Transfer” 
 

the approval or adoption of applications to the Secretary 
of State for approval of a programme of disposal of 
property or land in certain circumstances3;  
 

“Joint Arrangements” 
 

an arrangement entered into by the Council with another 
local authority or other public or private sector body; 
  

“Key Decision” 
 

as defined in section 13.10;  

“Leadership 
Management Team” or 
“LMT”  
 

the senior management body for Officers, which 
includes those Officers designated by the Head of Paid 
Service as members of LMT from time to time;  
 

“Local Choice Functions” functions where the Council has the authority to decide 
whether they are Executive Functions or reserved to Full 
Council4;  
 

“Mayor” 
 

the person elected to act as leader of the Council;  

“Member” 
 

a Councillor, or a person chosen by the Council to serve 
on a Member Body (called a “Co-Opted Member”); 
 

“Member Body” any of the following: 
 

 Full Council; 
 

 the Executive; 

                                                
3 Disposal of 500 or more properties to a person under the Leasehold Reform, Housing and Urban 
Development Act 1993 or disposal of land used for residential purposes where approval is required 
under sections 32 or 43 of the Housing Act 1985 
4 The Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000 

Page 155

https://cipfa.sharepoint.com/sites/CIPFASolutions-AdvisoryData/Shared%20Documents/Bespoke%20Consultancy/2022/Middlesbrough%20CC/Constitution/Leasehold%20Reform,%20Housing%20and%20Urban%20Development%20Act%201993
https://cipfa.sharepoint.com/sites/CIPFASolutions-AdvisoryData/Shared%20Documents/Bespoke%20Consultancy/2022/Middlesbrough%20CC/Constitution/Leasehold%20Reform,%20Housing%20and%20Urban%20Development%20Act%201993
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1985/68/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2000/2853/regulation/4/made


  
 

12 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

 Overview and Scrutiny Board; 
 

 Standards Committee; 
 

 Corporate Affairs Committee 
 

 Audit Committee; and 
 

 Any other Committee of the Council.   
 
For the avoidance of doubt, any reference to a 
Committee shall include its sub-committees;  
 

“Monitoring Officer”  the Officer appointed to carry out certain statutory 
reporting functions to the council where it appears to 
them the authority has done, or is about to do, anything 
which would contravene the law or which would 
constitute maladministration5; 
 

“Medium-Term Financial 
Strategy” or “MTFS” 
 

the strategic financial framework, which sets out the 
financial position and financial sustainability of the 
Council over the medium term, and which supports the 
Council’s policy and decision-making;  
 

“Non-Executive 
Functions” 

any function which may only be exercised by Full 
Council (whether decided by the Council or as a matter 
of law) or which is delegated to a Member Body other 
than the Executive;  
 

“Officer” 
 

a member of the Council’s staff;   

“Parish Council” a council representing a local community. The Parish 
Councils in the Borough are Stainton and Thornton, and 
Nunthorpe;  
 

“Policy Framework” 
 

a framework comprising of the plans and strategies 
listed in section 4.3.1; 
 

  
“Chief Finance Officer”  the Officer appointed to carry out certain statutory 

functions in relation to the Council’s financial 
administration6;  
 

“Service” any of the services provided by the Council;  
 

“Ward” 
 

an administrative division of the Borough served by one 
or more Councillors.  
 

References to “working days” in this Constitution include any day that is not a 

Saturday, Sunday, or a bank holiday in the United Kingdom.  

                                                
5 Local Government and Housing Act 1989, section 5 
6 Local Government Act 1972, section 151 

Page 156

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/42/section/5
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1972/70/section/151


  
 

13 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

2.3 Who decides how the Constitution is to be interpreted?    

 

2.3.1 We have tried to make the Constitution as clear and as easy to understand as 

possible. Inevitably, people will have different views about what certain passages 

mean.  

 

2.3.2 The Chair of the Council will decide how this Constitution, and in particular the Council 

Procedure Rules, shall be applied in any Council meeting. The Monitoring Officer (or 

their deputy, as appropriate) will provide the Chair with advice on any relevant legal 

issues.  

 

2.3.3 The Monitoring Officer (or their deputy, as appropriate) will determine any question of 

legal interpretation in relation to the Constitution.   

 

2.4 How and when is the Constitution monitored and reviewed?   

 

2.4.1 It is the Monitoring Officer’s responsibility to monitor and review the Constitution. The 

Monitoring Officer will make recommendations for amendments to the Constitution as 

and when required, and in accordance with the requirements of section 2.5.   

 

2.4.2 In making recommendations to amend the Constitution, the Monitoring Officer may 

consider: 

 

(a) the effectiveness of the Council’s decision-making processes and its operation; 

 

(b) issues raised by the Mayor, Councillors, Officers, the public and other relevant 

stakeholders; 

 

(c) best practice across the public sector, and/or  

 

(d) any other relevant information.  

 

2.5 When can the Constitution be changed and by whom? 

 

Any change to the Constitution must be approved by Full Council after consideration 

of a proposal by the Monitoring Officer, unless: 

 

(a) it is, in the reasonable opinion of the Monitoring Officer, a minor change or is 

required to remove an inconsistency, ambiguity or typographical error; 

 

(b) it is required to put into effect any decision of the Council or its Committees; or  

 

(c) it is required to comply with a legislative provision,  

 

in which case, the change may be made by the Monitoring Officer, who will report the 

change at the next Full Council meeting. The change will take effect on the date 

decided by the Monitoring Officer or, where appropriate, the date set out in the 

relevant legislation. 

 

2.6 When is the approval of the Mayor required to change the Constitution?  

Page 157



  
 

14 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

Any resolution of Full Council to approve a change to any Executive matter within the 

Constitution requires the written consent of the Mayor. This does not apply if the 

change only relates to the operation of the Overview and Scrutiny Board.  

 

2.7 What is the process for changing from a Mayoral form of Executive?  

 

Before changing the Constitution to implement a different form of Member 

governance, the Council must take reasonable steps to consult with local electors and 

other interested persons in the Borough when drawing up proposals and must hold a 

binding referendum. The change will not take effect until the end of the Mayor’s term 

of office.    

 

2.8 When can the Constitution be suspended?   

 

2.8.1 The core provisions of the Constitution may not be suspended. This includes the 

provisions set out in sections 1 to 15 of the Constitution, with the exception of the rules 

relating to Council and Committee procedures contained therein.  

 

2.8.2 Any of the Council Procedure Rules may be suspended by a motion if at least one 

half of all Members is present at a meeting and a vote is passed. Suspension can only 

be for the duration of the meeting. The Chair may use their casting vote to prevent the 

suspension of a Council Rule of Procedure.  

 

2.9 Where is the Constitution published?  

 

2.9.1 The Monitoring Officer will ensure that copies of this Constitution are available on the 

Council’s website and in hard copy on request (for a reasonable fee).  

 

2.9.2 The Monitoring Officer will provide a link to a copy of this Constitution to each newly 

elected Councillor upon receiving that Councillor’s declaration of acceptance of office.  

 

2.9.3 The Monitoring Officer will ensure that the published version of the Constitution is 

updated when any substantive change is made to it.  

 

  

Page 158



  
 

15 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

3 CITIZENS AND THE COUNCIL 

 

This section sets out the rights of citizens in relation to the Council. Citizens’ rights to 

information are explained in more detail in the Access to Information Procedure Rules 

in section 16 of this Constitution.  

 

3.1 Who has a right to vote and sign petitions?   

 

Citizens on the electoral roll for the Borough have the right to vote and sign a petition 

to request a referendum to change the structure of Member governance.  

 

3.2 To what information can citizens have access?  

 

Citizens have the right to:  

 

(a) attend meetings of the Council and its Committees except where confidential 

or exempt information is likely to be disclosed;  

 

(b) attend meetings of the Executive when Key Decisions are being considered 

except where confidential or exempt information is likely to be disclosed;  

 

(c) find out from the Forward Work Programme what Key Decisions are planned 

to be taken by the Executive and when they are planned to be taken;  

 

(d) see reports and background papers (except where they relate to confidential 

or exempt information) and any records of decisions made by the Council, its 

Committees and the Executive;  

 

(e) inspect the Council’s accounts and make their views on them known to the 

external auditor.  

 

3.3 How can citizens participate in Council functions?  

 

Citizens have the right to participate:  

 

(a) in the time allotted for questions from the public at Council meetings as 

specified in the Council Procedure Rules in section 4.  

 

(b) by speaking and asking questions of the Executive and Committees with the 

prior consent of the relevant Committee chair;  

 

(c) by contributing to investigations made by the Overview and Scrutiny Board by 

invitation.  

 

3.4 How can a citizen make a complaint?  

 

Citizens have the right to complain to:  

 

(a) the Council under its Corporate Complaints Policy;  

 

Page 159

https://middlesbrough-council-middlesbrough.opendata.arcgis.com/documents/corporate-complaints-policy-september-2021/explore


  
 

16 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(b) the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman after using the Council’s 

own complaints scheme; and 

 

(c) the Monitoring Officer about a breach of the Members’ Code of Conduct.  

 

3.5 What are citizens’ responsibilities in relation to the Council?  

 

The Council invites citizens to engage positively with the democratic process and to 

participate in municipal life in the ways set out in this Constitution. The Council expects 

citizens to treat the Mayor, Councillors and Officers with respect and to respect its 

policies, processes and rules.  

 

 

  

Page 160

https://www.lgo.org.uk/
https://www.middlesbrough.gov.uk/open-data-foi-and-have-your-say/have-your-say/feedback-and-complaints-about-council-service#:~:text=If%20you%27d%20like%20to%20make%20a%20complaint%2C%20or,Team%20for%20advice%20and%20assistance%20on%2001642%20729814.
https://www.middlesbrough.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Members-code-of-conduct-Sept21.pdf


  
 

17 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

4 FULL COUNCIL 

This section explains how Full Council operates and describes its functions.  

 

4.1 What is Full Council?  

Full Council is a formal meeting of all Councillors and the Mayor. Full Council is 

required by law to take certain important decisions, including setting the Budget and 

Council Tax, and approving several key plans and strategies (which together form the 

Policy Framework). It is responsible for all the functions that are not Executive 

Functions. It carries out some of those functions itself, and others are delegated to 

Committees or named Officers.  

 

4.2 What functions does Full Council have?  

 

The following functions are reserved to Full Council:  

 

(a) save as otherwise set out in section 2, adopting, amending and changing this 

Constitution; 

 

(b) approving or adopting the Policy Framework, the Budget and any application 

to the Secretary of State in respect of any Housing Land Transfer;  

 

(c) subject to the urgency procedure contained in the Access to Information 

Procedure Rules in section 16, making decisions about any matter in the 

discharge of an Executive Function which is covered by the Policy Framework 

or the Budget where the decision maker is minded to make it in a manner which 

would be contrary to the Policy Framework or contrary to/or not wholly in 

accordance with the Budget;  

 

(d) agreeing and/or amending the terms of reference of a Committee, other than 

an Executive Committee;  

 

(e) appointing representatives to outside bodies unless the appointment is an 

Executive Function or has been delegated by the Council;  

 

(f) adopting an allowances scheme under section 22;  

 

(g) changing the name of the Borough, conferring the title of honorary alderman of 

Middlesbrough, or granting Freedom of the Borough;  

 

(h) confirming the appointment of the Head of Paid Service7; 

 

(i) dismissing the Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer, or Chief Finance 

Officer;   

 

(j) making, amending, revoking, re-enacting, or adopting Byelaws and promoting 

or opposing the making of local legislation or personal bills8 (being bills related 

to the personal affairs of an individual);  

                                                
7 The Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) Regulations 2001, Schedule 1, paragraph 4 
8 Local overnment Act 1972, section 239 

Page 161

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2001/3384/schedule/1/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1972/70/section/239


  
 

18 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

(k) all Local Choice Functions9 set out in the Scheme of Delegation in section 21 

which the Council decides should be undertaken by itself rather than the 

Executive; and  

 

(l) all other matters which by law must be reserved to the Council.  

 

4.3 Further information about Council Functions 

 

4.3.1 The Policy Framework 

 

4.3.2 The Policy Framework is made up of the following plans and strategies:  

 

(a) Mayor’s Vision;  

 

(b) Medium Term Financial Plan; 

 

(c) Capital Strategy and Council’s Budget Strategy, which are contained within:  

 

(i) Council Tax Base;  

 

(ii) Revenue Budget; 

 

(iii) Council Tax; and  

 

(iv) Prudential Indicators; 

 

(d) Licensing Authority Policy Statement;  

 

(e) Statement of Principles Gambling; 

 

(f) Local Development Plan / Local Plan;  

 

(g) Local Transport Plan; and 

 

(h) Pay Policy Statement. 

 

4.4 Who chairs Full Council?   

 

4.4.1 A Chair and Vice-Chair are appointed by Full Council each year at the Annual Meeting 

(see section 4.12.2(b)). The Vice-Chair will chair Council meetings in the Chair’s 

absence.  

 

4.4.2 If neither the Chair nor the Vice-Chair is present at the meeting, the Monitoring Officer 

(or their representative) will open the meeting and ask for nominations for the position 

of Chair. The Chair for the duration of the meeting, or until the Chair or Vice-Chair 

joins the meeting, will be elected by a majority vote.  

 

                                                
9 Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000 

Page 162

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2000/2853/contents/made


  
 

19 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

4.5 Who can be the Chair? 

 

4.5.1 The Chair and the Vice-Chair are chosen from among the Councillors.  

 

4.5.2 Neither the Mayor nor an Executive Member may be the Chair or the Vice-Chair.  

 

4.6 What is the Chair’s role?   

 

The Chair’s role includes:  

 

(a) upholding and promoting the purposes of the Constitution, and interpreting the 

Constitution in the absence of the Monitoring Officer or their deputy;  

 

(b) presiding over Council meetings so that its business is carried out efficiently 

and with regard to the rights of Councillors and the Mayor and the interests of 

the community;  

 

(c) ensuring that Council meetings are a forum for the debate of matters of concern 

to the local community and the place at which Councillors can hold the 

Executive to account; 

 

(d) promoting public involvement in the Council’s activities; and 

 

(e) upholding the principles of the Constitution, the Members’ Code of Conduct 

and the Protocol on Member / Officer Relations.   

 

4.7 What is the Chair’s relationship with the Mayor?  

 

4.7.1 The respective roles of the Chair and the Mayor are as set out in this Constitution.  

 

4.7.2 First Citizen: The Mayor is the First Citizen of the town and will promote the town as 

a whole and act as a focal point for the community. They will also take precedence 

with regard to any civic duties, but these may be delegated to the Chair/Vice-Chair of 

the Council10.  

 

4.7.3 Promotion of the Council: Together with the Mayor, the Chair will promote the 

Council and act as a focal point for the community.  

 

COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES 

 

4.8 What are the rules of procedure and debate for Full Council?  

 

The Council Procedure Rules contained in this section 4 will apply to meetings of Full 

Council. 

 

4.9 Who decides how the Council Procedure Rules apply in Council meetings?  

 

                                                
10 Local Government Act 1972, section 3 

Page 163

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1972/70/section/3


  
 

20 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

The Chair of the Council, with advice from the Monitoring Officer, has the final say on 

the application of the Council Procedure Rules set out below. If circumstances arise 

that are not covered by the Council Procedure Rules, the Chair decides what 

happens. If anything arises outside a Council meeting that would require action from 

the Chair, they are authorised to take any action they consider appropriate.  

 

4.10 How do the Council Procedure Rules apply to Committees?  

 

4.10.1 The Council Procedure Rules apply to Committees as set out in section 4.58.  

 

4.10.2 For the avoidance of doubt, the procedure rules relating to Executive meetings are 

set out in section 6.   

 

TYPES OF MEETING AND HOW THEY ARE CONDUCTED 

 

4.11 What types of Council meetings are there?  

 

There are three types of Council meeting: 

 

(a) the Annual Meeting; 

 

(b) ordinary meetings; and 

 

(c) extraordinary meetings. 

 

4.12 How is the Annual Meeting of the Council conducted?  

 

4.12.1 Timing of the Annual Meeting 

 

In a year when there is an ordinary election of Councillors, the Annual Meeting will 

take place within 21 days of the retirement of the outgoing Councillors. In any other 

year, the Annual Meeting will take place in March, April or May.  

 

4.12.2 Business to be conducted at the Annual Meeting  

 

The Annual Meeting will: 

 

(a) elect a person to preside at the meeting if the Chair and Vice Chair are not 

present; 

 

(b) elect the Chair and the Vice Chair of the Council, unless either has been 

elected pro tem; 

 

(c) approve the minutes of the last meeting;  

 

(d) receive any announcements from the Chair, the Mayor and/or the Head of Paid 

Service; 

 

(e) receive any declarations of interests from Councillors; 

 

Page 164



  
 

21 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(f) be informed by the Mayor of the number of Members to be appointed to the 

Executive; 

 

(g) appoint at least one Overview and Scrutiny Committee, a Standards 

Committee and such other Committees as the Council considers appropriate 

to deal with matters which are neither reserved to the Council nor are Executive 

Functions (as set out in the Scheme of Delegations); 

 

(h) at an Annual Meeting after an election, or where there has been a change in 

the composition of the Executive or the person holding the office of Deputy 

Mayor, be informed by the Mayor of the Councillors who will form the Executive, 

including the Deputy Mayor;  

 

(i) receive the Scheme of Delegations;  

 

(j) approve a programme of ordinary meetings of the Council for the year;  

 

(k) consider any business set out in the notice convening the meeting; and  

 

(l) receive the Mayor’s annual address.  

 

4.12.3 Committee and political balance arrangements 

 

At the Annual Meeting, the Council meeting will: 

 

(a) decide which Committees to establish for the Municipal Year; 

 

(b) decide the size and terms of reference for those Committees; 

 

(c) decide the allocation of seats on those Committees to political groups in 

accordance with the political balance rules11; 

 

(d) receive nominations of Councillors to serve on each Committee and/or any 

outside body; 

 

(e) appoint Councillors to Committees and/or any outside bodies (unless such 

appointments have been delegated or are reserved to the Executive); and 

 

(f) appoint Committee chairs and vice chairs in accordance with section 4.12.2(g). 

 

4.13 How are ordinary meetings of the Council conducted?  

 

4.13.1 Ordinary meetings of the Council will take place in accordance with a programme 

decided at the Council’s Annual Meeting.  

                                                
11 Local Government and Housing Act 1989, sections 15-17 
For the avoidance of doubt, the Council uses a formula to determine the political balance of total 
Committee seats so that total seats across all Committees are allocated proportionally to the size of 
each political group. The Mayor is not counted for the purposes of applying the political balance 
formula (although, subject to the provisions of this Constitution) they may sit on a non-Executive 
Committee as an added member).  

Page 165

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/42/part/I/crossheading/political-balance-on-committees-etc


  
 

22 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

4.13.2 The order of business at ordinary meetings will be as follows: 

 

(a) elect a person to preside if the Chair and Vice Chair are not present; 

 

(b) receive any apologies for absence;  

 

(c) receive any declarations of interest from Members; 

 

(d) approve the minutes of the last meeting; 

 

(e) receive any announcements from the Chair, the Mayor, the Executive and/or 

the Head of Paid Service; 

 

(f) receive any report from the Mayor and receive questions and answers on the 

report; 

 

(g) receive any report(s) from the Executive and receive questions and answers 

on the report; 

 

(h) receive any reports from Committees and receive questions and answers on 

those reports; 

 

(i) receive any reports about and receive questions and answers on the business 

of joint arrangements and external organisations; 

 

(j) consider any other business specified in the summons to the meeting, including 

consideration of proposals from the Executive in relation to the Council’s 

Budget and Policy Framework and reports of the Overview and Scrutiny Board; 

 

(k) consider motions; and 

 

(l) deal with questions from Members in accordance with section 4.27; and 

 

(m) receive questions from, and provide answers to, the public in the provisions of 

4.26. 

 

4.14 How are extraordinary meetings of the Council conducted?  

 

4.14.1 Calling extraordinary meetings 

 

Extraordinary meetings may be called:  

 

(a) at the request of the Chair of the Council; 

 

(b) by the Council by resolution; 

 

(c) at the request of the Monitoring Officer; or  

 

Page 166



  
 

23 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(d) by any five Members of the Council (which may include the Mayor) if they have 

signed a requisition presented to the Chair of the Council and the Chair has 

refused to call a meeting or has failed to call a meeting within seven (7) days 

of the presentation of the requisition.  

 

4.14.2 Business 

 

The business to be conducted at an extraordinary meeting shall be restricted to the 

item or items of business contained in the request for the extraordinary meeting and 

there shall be no consideration of previous minutes or reports from Committees etc. 

except that the Chair may at their absolute discretion permit other items of business 

to be conducted for the efficient discharge of the Council’s business. 

 

4.14.3 Conduct of extraordinary meetings 

 

Save as otherwise set out in this section 4.14, the procedure for extraordinary 

meetings will be the same as for an ordinary meeting of the Council.  

 

4.15 What is the timing, location and duration of Council meetings?  

 

4.15.1 Time of meetings 

 

The time and place of meetings will be determined by the Chair and notified in the 

summons. 

 

4.15.2 Duration of meetings 

 

(a) Any meeting of the Council that has lasted for three hours will be adjourned 

immediately. Any remaining business will be considered at a time and date 

fixed by the Chair. If they do not fix a date, the remaining business will be 

considered at the next ordinary meeting. 

 

(b) Notwithstanding (a) above, where a meeting includes the presentation of 

awards or presentations by outside bodies, the permitted duration is extended 

to 3 hours 30 minutes.  

 

4.16 How is notice of a Council meeting given?  

 

4.16.1 The Council will give notice to the public of the time and place of any meeting in 

accordance with the Access to Information Procedure Rules in section 16 of this 

Constitution. At least five (5) working days before a meeting, the Monitoring Officer 

will send a signed summons to every Member of the Council. The summons will give 

the date, time and place of each meeting and specify the business to be transacted 

and will be accompanied by such reports as are available. 

 

4.16.2 The agenda and reports for each meeting will be made available to Members in 

electronic form at least five (5) working days before the meeting, unless a report is 

confidential or contains exempt information, in which case it will only be shared with 

Executive Members or members of the relevant Committee.  

 

4.17 Who chairs Council meetings?  

Page 167



  
 

24 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

The person presiding at the meeting may exercise any power or duty of the Chair.  

 

4.18 What is the quorum for Council meetings?  

 

4.18.1 The quorum of a meeting will be 25% (12) of the whole number of Members (including 

the Mayor) (47). For the avoidance of doubt, the whole number of Members does not 

include vacancies.  

 

4.18.2 If a quorum is not present within five minutes of the start of a Council meeting, the 

meeting will be abandoned. The business of the meeting will be considered at the 

next ordinary meeting of the Council or at an extraordinary meeting convened for that 

purpose.  

 

4.19 How are Council meetings cancelled, postponed or rearranged?  

 

4.19.1 A Council meeting may be cancelled, postponed, or rearranged by the Chair, or the 

Vice Chair in the Chair’s absence.  

 

4.19.2 24 hours’ notice must be given of any cancellation, postponement, or rearrangement 

of a meeting, and a reason must be given.  

 

4.20 Are Members allowed to attend Council meetings remotely?  

 

4.20.1 Members, including the Mayor, and Officers may not attend Council or Committee 

meetings remotely. 

 

4.20.2 A person called to a meeting who is not a Member or an Officer, for example, an 

external expert, may attend a meeting remotely.  

 

QUESTIONS AT A MEETING – GENERAL  

 

4.21 What is the scope of questions that can be asked at a Council meeting?  

 

The Chair, on the advice of the Monitoring Officer, may reject a question if it: 

 

(a) is not about a matter for which the Council has a responsibility or which affects 

the Borough; 

 

(b) is defamatory, frivolous or offensive; 

 

(c) is substantially the same as a question which has been put at a meeting of the 

Council in the past six months; 

 

(d) requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information; or 

 

(e) is otherwise inappropriate to be raised at a Council meeting.   

 

The Chair shall ultimately decide if a question is appropriate to be raised at a Council 

meeting.   

 

Page 168



  
 

25 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

4.22 How much time is allotted for questions at a Council meeting?  

 

4.22.1 The total cumulative time permitted for questions from members of the public and 

Councillors at any Council meeting is 30 minutes. The Chair may, at their discretion, 

extend the total cumulative time permitted for questions to 45 minutes where there is 

a pressing need for debate in a public forum that cannot wait for the next meeting.  

 

4.22.2 Questioners will be allowed two minutes to ask their question, and Councillors will be 

allowed three minutes to respond to any question put to them.   

 

4.22.3 Any questions that cannot be answered within the allotted time will receive a written 

response within 21 working days.   

 

4.23 Can a question be withdrawn?  

 

If a questioner wishes to withdraw a question before the agenda papers for a Council 

meeting have been circulated, they may do so without consent. If the agenda papers 

have been circulated, a question may only be withdrawn with the consent of the 

person to whom it was put.  

 

4.24 When will a question be referred to the Executive or a Committee?  

 

No discussion will take place on any question, but any Member may move that a 

matter raised by a question be referred to the Executive or the appropriate Committee. 

Once seconded, such a motion will be voted on without discussion. 

 

4.25 How are questions recorded?  

 

4.25.1 The Monitoring Officer will maintain a record of questions submitted to the Council 

which is open to public inspection. Rejected questions will include reasons for 

rejection. 

 

4.25.2 Copies of all questions will be circulated to all Councillors and will be made available 

to the public attending the meeting. 

 

QUESTIONS AT A MEETING – MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 

 

4.26 How may members of the public ask questions of the Council?  

 

4.26.1 General 

 

Members of the public may ask questions of the Mayor, Executive Members or the 

Chair of a Committee at ordinary meetings of the Council (with the exception of the 

Annual Meeting and the meeting designated for setting the Budget). 

 

4.26.2 Order of questions 

 

Questions will be asked in the order in which notice of them was received, except that 

the Chair may group together similar questions. 

 

4.26.3 Notice of questions 

Page 169



  
 

26 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

A question may only be asked if notice has been given by delivering it in writing or by 

electronic mail to the Monitoring Officer no later than 5.00pm seven (7) working days 

before the date of the meeting. Each question must give the name and address of the 

questioner and specify to whom the question is to be addressed (if appropriate). 

Questioners will be allowed two minutes to ask their question, and Councillors will be 

allowed three minutes to respond to any question put to them.  

 

4.26.4 Number of questions 

 

At any one meeting no person may submit more than one question and no more than 

one such question may be asked on behalf of an organisation. No person may submit 

more than five questions in any Municipal Year without the Council Chair’s consent.  

 

4.26.5 Asking a question at a Council meeting 

 

The Chair will invite the questioner to put the question to the Councillor named in the 

notice. If a questioner who has submitted a written question is unable to be present, 

they may ask the Chair to put the question on their behalf. The Chair may ask the 

question on the questioner’s behalf, indicate that a written reply will be given or decide, 

in the absence of the questioner, that the question will not be dealt with. 

 

4.26.6 Supplementary questions 

 

Members of the public are not permitted to ask supplementary questions.  

 

4.26.7 Written answers 

 

Any question which cannot be dealt with during the time allotted for questions from 

the public, either because there is insufficient time or because of the non-attendance 

of the Councillor to whom it was to be put, will be dealt with by a written answer. 

 

QUESTIONS AT A MEETING – MEMBERS  

 

4.27 How may Members ask questions at Council meetings?  

 

4.27.1 Questions at Council meetings 

 

Subject to the rest of this section 4.27, a Member of the Council may ask: 

 

(a) the Mayor; 

 

(b) an Executive Member; 

 

(c) the chair of any Committee; 

 

a question at a Council meeting.  

 

4.27.2 Questions on notice  

 

Page 170



  
 

27 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(a) Subject to section4.27.4 , a Member may ask the Chair, the Mayor, an 

Executive Member, or the chair of a Committee a question or make a comment 

on any matter in relation to which the Council has powers or duties or which 

affects Middlesbrough as a whole, and which (in the case of a Committee) falls 

within its terms of reference. 

 

(b) Members must submit to the Monitoring Officer any question they wish to pose 

to a Member or an Executive Member three (3) working days before the date 

of the relevant Council meeting. If the question relates to urgent matters, it will 

be sufficient for the Member to submit the question to the Monitoring Officer 

before the meeting, provided the Member or Executive Member to whom the 

question is to be submitted has agreed.  

 

(c) The notice of questions to be posed at a meeting will be circulated to all 

Councillors after the closure of the notice period set out in this section 4.27.2. 

 

4.27.3 Questions without notice 

 

(a) A Member may ask a question of an Executive Member, or make a comment 

on any report submitting to a Council meeting, provided that they have notified 

the Monitoring Officer of the subject of the question by 5.00pm on the day 

before the meeting.  

 

(b) A Member may only ask a question or make a comment without notice on any 

matter relating to information, Executive reports, or Committee reports 

circulated after 5.00pm on the day before the meeting in relation to the 

following: 

 

(i) any announcements of correspondence from the Chair, the Mayor, 

Executive Members, or the Head of Paid Service; 

 

(ii) any statement of report of the Mayor;  

 

(iii) Executive Functions; 

 

(iv) any reports of the Overview and Scrutiny Board or a Scrutiny Panel; or  

 

(v) reports about, and questions and answers on, the business of Joint 

Arrangements and external organisations,  

 

when that item is being received or under consideration by the Council and 

where time allows.  

 

4.27.4 Order of Questions 

 

Questions of which notice has been given under Rule 4.27.2 or 4.27.3 will be listed 

on the agenda in the order determined by the Chair of the Council, or the chair of the 

relevant Committee. 

 

4.27.5 Content of Questions 

Page 171



  
 

28 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

Questions under Rule 4.27.2 or 4.27.3 must, in the opinion of the Chair, with advice 

from the Monitoring Officer: 

 

(a) contain no expressions of opinion; 

 

(b) relate to matters on which the Council has or may determine a policy; and 

 

(c) not relate to questions of fact. 

 

4.27.6 Response 

 

An answer may take the form of: 

 

(a) A direct oral answer at the meeting; 

 

(b) where the desired information is in a publication of the Council or other 

published work, a reference to that publication; or 

 

(c) where the reply cannot conveniently be given orally, a written answer circulated 

within 10 working days to the questioner. 

 

4.27.7 Supplementary Question 

 

A Member asking a question under section 4.27.2 or 4.27.3 may, at the Chair’s 

discretion, ask one supplementary question without notice of the Member to whom 

the first question was posed. The supplementary question must arise directly out of 

the original question or the reply. 

 

4.27.8 Joint Committees, Joint Authorities, and outside bodies 

 

Councillors may ask questions about the proceedings, and/or the discharge of 

functions, of Joint Committees, Joint Authorities, and outside bodies insofar as they 

affect the Council Any such question must be submitted to the Monitoring Officer at 

least seven (7) working days before the relevant meeting.  

 

MOTIONS  

 

4.28 What are the notice requirements for motions? 

 

4.28.1 Notice of motions 

 

Except for motions which can be moved without notice under section 4.30 and in 

cases of urgency, written notice of a motion, must be delivered to the Monitoring 

Officer at least nine (9) working days before the Council meeting at which it is to be 

considered. Motions received will be open to public inspection. 

 

4.28.2 Urgent motions 

 

(a) A Member may move an urgent motion provided that they provide at least three 

(3) working days’ notice to the Monitoring Officer and the Chair. An urgent 

Page 172



  
 

29 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

motion must be submitted in writing and be accompanied by a written 

explanation of the urgent matter to which it relates.  

 

(b) Whether a motion is urgent is at the sole discretion of the Chair. Urgent matters 

will generally have arisen after the normal deadline for submitting motions, and 

will concern matters which, in the opinion of the Chair, should not be delayed 

until the next ordinary meeting of the Council.  

 

4.28.3 Motion set out in agenda 

 

Motions for which notice has been given will be listed on the agenda in the order they 

are received. The Member submitting the motion may propose that it is moved to a 

later meeting or withdraw it at any point before or during the meeting.  

 

4.29 What is the scope of motions?  

 

4.29.1 Subject matter of motions 

 

Motions must relate to matters for which the Council has a responsibility, or which 

affect the wellbeing of the administrative area of the Council. 

 

4.29.2 Previous motions 

 

(a) A motion or amendment to rescind a motion agreed by the Council within the 

past six months cannot be moved unless the notice of motion is signed by at 

least ¼ of all Members (which may include the Mayor). 

 

(b) A motion or amendment in similar terms to one that has been rejected at a 

meeting of the Council in the past six months cannot be moved unless the 

notice of motion or amendment is signed by at least half (24) of all Members 

(which may include the Mayor). Once the motion or amendment is dealt with, 

no one can propose a similar motion or amendment for six (6) months. 

 

4.30 Which motions can be moved without notice?  

 

4.30.1 The following motions may be moved without notice: 

 

(a) to appoint a Chair of the meeting at which the motion is moved; 

 

(b) in relation to the accuracy of the minutes of a meeting; 

 

(c) to change the order of business in the agenda of a meeting; 

 

(d) to refer something to an appropriate body or individual; 

 

(e) to appoint a Committee or Member arising from an item on the summons for 

the meeting, for example, where a Councillor is nominated to fill a vacancy on 

a Committee; 

 

(f) to receive reports or adopt of recommendations of Committees or Officers and 

any resolutions following from them; 

Page 173



  
 

30 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

(g) to withdraw a motion; 

 

(h) to amend a motion; 

 

(i) to proceed to the next business; 

 

(j) that the question be now put; 

 

(k) to adjourn a debate; 

 

(l) to extend the duration of the meeting beyond three hours;  

 

(m) to adjourn a meeting; 

 

(n) to suspend a particular Council Procedure Rule; 

 

(o) to exclude the public and press from a meeting in accordance with the Access 

to Information Procedure Rules; 

 

(p) to not hear further a Member named under section 4.54.3 or to exclude them 

from the meeting under section 4.54.4; and 

 

(q) to give the consent of the Council where its consent is required by this 

Constitution. 

 

MOTIONS – RULES OF DEBATE 

 

4.31 When may Members make speeches in relation to a motion?  

 

4.31.1 No speeches until motion seconded 

 

If a motion is accepted, the proposer shall read the motion out loud to the meeting. 

No speeches may be made until the motion has been seconded. 

 

4.31.2 Right to require motion in writing 

 

Unless notice of the motion has already been given, the Chair may require it to be 

written down and handed to him before it is discussed. 

 

4.31.3 Seconder’s speech 

 

When seconding a motion or amendment, a Member may reserve their speech until 

later in the debate. 

 

4.31.4 Content and length of speeches 

 

Speeches must be directed to the question under discussion or to a personal 

explanation or point of order. No speech may exceed 5 minutes without the consent 

of the Chair. 

 

Page 174



  
 

31 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

4.31.5 When a Member may speak again 

 

A Member who has spoken on a motion may not speak again whilst it is the subject 

of debate, except: 

 

(a) to speak once on an amendment moved by another Member; 

 

(b) to move a further amendment if the motion has been amended since they last 

spoke; 

 

(c) if their first speech was on an amendment moved by another Member, to speak 

on the main issue (whether or not the amendment on which they spoke was 

carried); 

 

(d) in exercise of a right of reply; 

 

(e) on a point of order;  

 

(f) by way of personal explanation; and  

 

(g) to answer a question directed at them by another Member. 

 

4.32 How are motions amended?  

 

4.32.1 Amendments to motions 

 

(a) Where possible, an amendment to a motion should normally be submitted two 

(2) days before the meeting at which the motion will be debated. However, 

amendments proposed during a meeting may be submitted in writing to the 

Chair for consideration. The Chair may, having consulted the Monitoring 

Officer, adjourn the meeting to consider such an amendment if they consider it 

necessary. For the avoidance of doubt, amendments of a minor or 

typographical nature may be submitted verbally during a meeting. The Chair, 

in consultation with the Monitoring Officer, will determine whether an 

amendment is minor.  

 

(b) An amendment must be relevant to the motion, and will either be: 

 

(i) to refer the matter to an appropriate body or individual for consideration 

or reconsideration; 

 

(ii) to leave out words; 

 

(iii) to leave out words and insert or add others; or 

 

(iv) to insert or add words, 

 

as long as the effect of (ii) to (iv) is not to negate the effect of the motion. 

 

Page 175



  
 

32 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(c) Only one amendment may be moved and discussed at any one time. No further 

amendment may be moved until the amendment under discussion has been 

decided. 

 

(d) If an amendment is not carried, other amendments to the original motion may 

be moved. 

 

(e) If an amendment is carried, the motion as amended takes the place of the 

original motion. This becomes the substantive motion to which any further 

amendments are moved. 

 

(f) After an amendment has been carried, the Chair will read out the amended 

motion before accepting any further amendments, or if there is none, put it to 

the vote. 

 

4.32.2 Motions to amend the Budget 

 

Proposed amendments to the Budget, must be submitted in writing at least three (3) 

working days before the meeting for review by the Chief Finance Officer.  

 

4.32.3 Alteration of motion 

 

(a) A Member may alter a motion of which he has given notice with the consent of 

the meeting. The meeting’s consent will be signified without discussion. 

 

(b) A Member may alter a motion which he has moved without notice with the 

consent of both the meeting and the seconder. The meeting’s consent will be 

signified without discussion. 

 

(c) Only alterations which could be made as an amendment may be made. 

 

4.32.4 Right of Reply 

 

(a) The mover of a motion has a right to reply at the end of the debate on the 

motion, immediately before it is put to the vote. 

 

(b) If an amendment is moved, the mover of the original motion has the right of 

reply at the close of the debate on the amendment but may not otherwise speak 

on it. 

 

(c) The mover of the amendment has no right of reply to the debate on their 

amendment. 

 

4.33 When can a motion be withdrawn?  

 

4.33.1 Withdrawal of motion 

 

(a) If a Member wishes to withdraw a motion before the agenda papers for a 

Council meeting have been circulated, they may do so without consent. If the 

agenda papers have been circulated, a motion may only be withdrawn with the 

consent of the Chair of the Council. 

Page 176



  
 

33 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

(b) A Member may withdraw a motion at a meeting at which it has been moved 

with the consent of both the meeting and the seconder. The meeting’s consent 

will be signified without discussion. No Member may speak on the motion after 

the mover has asked permission to withdraw it unless permission is refused. 

 

4.34 What procedural motions may be moved during a debate?  

 

4.34.1 Motions which may be moved during debate 

 

When a motion is under debate, no other motion may be moved except the following 

procedural motions: 

 

(a) to withdraw a motion; 

 

(b) to amend a motion; 

 

(c) to proceed to the next business; 

 

(d) that the question be now put; 

 

(e) to adjourn a debate; 

 

(f) to adjourn a meeting; 

 

(g) that the time for the meeting be extended beyond three hours; 

 

(h) to exclude the public and press from the meeting in accordance with the Access 

to Information Procedure Rules;  

 

(i) to not hear further a Member named under section 4.54.3 or to exclude them 

from the meeting under section 4.54.4; and  

 

(j) to move directly to a vote on the motion.  

 

4.34.2 Closure motions 

 

(a) A Member who has not previously spoken on a motion may move, without 

comment, the following motions at the end of a speech of another Member; 

 

(i) to proceed to the next business; 

 

(ii) that the question be now put; 

 

(iii) to adjourn a debate; or 

 

(iv) to adjourn a meeting. 

 

Page 177



  
 

34 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(b) If a motion to proceed to the next business is seconded and the Chair thinks 

the item has been sufficiently discussed, they will give the mover of the original 

motion a right of reply and then put the procedural motion to the vote. 

 

(c) If a motion that the question be now put is seconded and the Chair thinks the 

item has been sufficiently discussed, he will put the procedural motion to the 

vote. If it is passed, they will give the mover of the original motion a right of 

reply before putting their motion to the vote. 

 

(d) If a motion to adjourn the debate or to adjourn the meeting is seconded and the 

Chair thinks the item has not been sufficiently discussed and cannot reasonably 

be so discussed on that occasion, they will put the procedural motion to the 

vote without giving the mover of the original motion the right of reply. 

 

4.35 What are points of order and when do they arise? 

 

4.35.1 A point of order is a request from a Member to the Chair to rule on an alleged 

irregularity in the procedure of the meeting. A Member may raise a point of order at 

any time. The Chair will hear them immediately and consult with the Monitoring Officer 

before ruling on the matter.  

 

4.35.2 A point of order may only relate to an alleged breach of these Council Procedure 

Rules or the law. The Member must indicate the rule or law that they consider has 

been broken, and the way in which it has been broken. The ruling of the Chair on the 

matter will be final. 

 

4.36 What is a personal explanation and when is it used?  

 

4.36.1 A Member may make a personal explanation (being a point of clarification relating 

specifically to an individual Member) at any time. A personal explanation may only 

relate to some material part of an earlier speech by the Member which may appear to 

have been misunderstood in the present debate. The ruling of the Chair on the 

admissibility of a personal explanation will be final. 

 

4.37 How are motions voted on?  

 

4.37.1 Majority 

 

Unless this Constitution provides otherwise, any matter will be decided by a simple 

majority of those Members voting and present in the room at the time the question 

was put. 

 

4.37.2 Chair’s casting vote 

 

If there are equal numbers of votes for and against, the Chair will have a second or 

casting vote. There will be no restriction on how the Chair chooses to exercise a 

casting vote. 

 

4.37.3 Method of voting 

 

Page 178



  
 

35 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Unless a ballot or recorded vote is demanded under section 4.37.4, the Chair will take 

the vote by show of hands, or if there is no dissent, by the affirmation of the meeting 

 

4.37.4 Ballots 

 

The vote will take place by ballot if half of the Members present at the meeting demand 

it. The Chair will announce the numerical result of the ballot immediately the result is 

known. 

 

4.37.5 Recorded vote 

 

If 12 of the Members present at the meeting (i.e., the number of Members equal to 

the quorum) demand it, or if the motion relates to the Budget, Council Tax or the 

issuing of the precept12, the names for and against the motion or amendment or 

abstaining from voting will be recorded and entered into the minutes. A demand for a 

recorded vote will override a demand for a ballot. 

 

4.37.6 Right to require individual vote to be recorded 

 

Where any Member requests it immediately after the vote is taken, their vote will be  

recorded in the minutes to show whether they voted for or against the motion or 

abstained from voting. 

 

4.37.7 Voting on the Budget and Council Tax  

 

Any Member who has at least two months’ unpaid Council Tax may not vote on the 

Budget. If a Member who is in such Council Tax arrears is present at a meeting where 

Council Tax or precepts are discussed, they must disclose this to the meeting and not 

vote on question relating to Council Tax or precepts.13  

 

4.37.8 Voting on appointments 

 

If there are more than two people nominated for any position to be filled and there is 

not a clear majority of votes in favour of one person, then the name of the person with 

the least number of votes will be taken off the list and a new vote taken. The process 

will continue until there is a majority of votes for one person.  

 

MOTIONS OF NO CONFIDENCE 

 

4.38 What is a motion of no confidence?  

 

A motion of no confidence is a statement or vote about whether a person who holds 

a position of responsibility within the Council is fit to hold that position. Depending to 

whom the motion of no confidence relates, it may or may not have a practical effect. 

For example, people holding elected positions cannot be removed from those 

positions unless they are disqualified from holding such a post. However, votes of no 

confidence can be used to show the intent of the Council with regard to a particular 

person, and places it within a formal setting.  

                                                
12 The Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2014, section 2 
13 Local Government Finance Act 1992, section 106 

Page 179

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2014/165/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1992/14/section/106


  
 

36 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

4.39 Who can a motion of no confidence be brought against?  

 

A motion of no confidence may be submitted in respect of: 

 

(a) the Mayor;  

 

(b) an Executive Member; 

 

(c) a Councillor;   

 

(d) the Chair of the Council; and 

 

(e) the chair of any Committee.   

 

4.40 How is a motion of no confidence brought in respect of the Mayor, an Executive 

Member or a Councillor?  

 

4.40.1 A motion of no confidence may be brought to the Council in respect of an Executive 

Member in relation to their position on the Executive; however, only the Mayor may 

remove an Executive Member from their position on the Executive. 

  

4.40.2 A motion of no confidence may be brought to the Council in respect of the Mayor; 

however, the Mayor will remain in office until their resignation, disqualification, or the 

appointment of a successor.  

 

4.40.3 A motion of no confidence may be brought to the Council in respect of a Councillor 

(including an Executive Member); however, they will remain in office until their 

resignation, disqualification, or the appointment of a successor.  

 

4.41 How is a motion of no confidence brought in respect of the Chair?  

 

A motion of no confidence may be brought to the Council in respect of the Chair; 

however, the Chair will remain in office until their resignation, disqualification, or the 

appointment of a successor14.  

 

4.42 How often can a person be subject to a vote of no confidence?  

 

Only one motion of no confidence in respect of an individual may be considered in 

any 12-month period.  

 

4.43 What happens if a Member is disqualified?  

 

If a Member (including the Mayor) is disqualified from holding office, they will be 

removed from office (including from any position they hold within the Council or on 

any Committee) with immediate effect.  

 

OTHER MATTERS FOR CONSIDERATION BY THE COUNCIL 

                                                
14 Local Government Act 1972, section 3 

Page 180

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1972/70/section/3


  
 

37 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Recommendations 

 

4.44 Who may make recommendations to Full Council? 

 

Recommendations may be made to Full Council by the Executive, Committees and 

Statutory Officers.  

 

4.45 How are recommendations made to Full Council by the Executive?  

 

The Executive shall make recommendations to Full Council on matters falling with the 

Council’s functions, on matters falling to the Council to determine, and on matters on 

which the Executive is required to consult with, or obtain the approval of, the Council. 

Any such recommendation shall be moved by the Mayor. A seconder is not required.  

 

4.46 How are recommendations made to Full Council by Committees? 

 

The Council shall consider the recommendations of any Committee on matters falling 

within that Committee’s terms of reference. Any such recommendation shall be moved 

by the chair of the Committee. A seconder is not required.   

 

4.47 How are recommendations made to Full Council by Statutory Officers?  

 

The Head of Paid Service, the Monitoring Officer, the Chief Finance Officer, and the 

Director of Children’s Services may make reports and/or recommendations to the 

Council as necessary, or as required in the exercise of their statutory functions.  

Petitions 

 

4.48 When will a petition be considered by the Council?  

 

Any petition to be considered by the Council must have at least 500 signatures and 

should be submitted to the Monitoring Officer at least seven (7) working days before 

the date of the Council meeting at which it is to be considered.  

 

4.49 How are petitions dealt with by the Council? 

 

4.49.1 The Council’s Petition Scheme applies to the consideration of any petition.  

 

4.49.2 A petitioner will be given up to two minutes to present a petition to the Council meeting 

at which it is tabled.  

 

4.49.3 The Mayor or Executive Member who has responsibility for the subject matter of the 

petition may speak, but the presentation of, and response to each petition received, 

is limited to no more than 5 minutes.  

 

4.49.4 The Council cannot take any decisions, or pass any motion, in respect of any petition 

received that relates to Executive Functions. 

 

Reports 

 

4.50 When can the Mayor present a report to the Council? 

Page 181

https://www.middlesbrough.gov.uk/sites/default/files/petitions-scheme-Feb_21v2.pdf


  
 

38 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

4.50.1 The Mayor may present a report, or make a verbal statement, at every ordinary 

meeting of the Council.  

 

4.50.2 The Mayor will be allowed ten minutes to present their report or make their verbal 

statement, unless the Chair permits otherwise.  

 

4.50.3 Members have a right of reply to the Mayor’s report.  

 

4.50.4 The total time allotted in a meeting to the report and any response / questions shall 

not be more than 30 minutes, unless the Chair permits otherwise.  

 

4.51 When can the chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Board report to the Council? 

 

The chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Board may present a report at any meeting of 

the Council, except the Annual Meeting and the meeting at which the Budget is set. 

The chair should set out the findings of the Overview and Scrutiny Board and the 

Scrutiny Panels.  

Executive matters 

 

4.52 When are Executive matters considered by the Council? 

 

4.52.1 Executive Functions are considered by the Council at every ordinary meeting, except 

the Annual Meeting and the meeting at which the Budget is set. This includes reports 

from the Mayor and Executive Members, past decisions made by the Executive 

(including “single member” decisions”), and forthcoming business of the Executive.  

 

4.52.2 In relation to forthcoming business, the Executive will present reports to the Council 

on the following: 

 

(a) decisions that have been taken since the last Council meeting that have been 

through the Call-in period described in section 7;  

 

(b) decisions to be taken up until the date of the Council meeting; and  

 

(c) decisions that are planned to be made after the Council meeting.   

 

4.52.3 The Council may not take any decision in relation to Executive Functions.  

 

MINUTES OF MEETINGS  

 

4.53 How are the minutes of Council meetings recorded?  

 

4.53.1 Signing the minutes 

 

(a) The Chair will sign the minutes of the proceedings at the next suitable meeting. 

The Chair will move that the minutes of the previous meeting be signed as a 

correct record.  

 

(b) The only part of the minutes that can be discussed is their accuracy. 

Page 182



  
 

39 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

4.53.2 No requirement to sign minutes of previous meeting at extraordinary meeting 

 

Where, in relation to any meeting, the next meeting for the purpose of signing the 

minutes is an extraordinary meeting, the next ordinary meeting will be treated as a 

suitable meeting for the purpose of signing those minutes.   

 

4.53.3 Form of minutes 

 

Minutes will contain all motions and amendments in the form and order the Chair put 

them. 

 

4.53.4 Record of attendance 

 

A record of attendance by Members at a Council meeting will be maintained. Any 

apologies received from a Member before the meeting will be noted in the record of 

attendance. 

 

4.53.5 Exclusion of public 

 

Members of the public and press may only be excluded from a Council meeting either 

in accordance with the Access to Information Procedure Rules in section 16 of this 

Constitution or Rule 4.55.2. 

 

CONDUCT AT MEETINGS  

 

4.54 How should Members conduct themselves at Council meetings?  

 

4.54.1 Speaking at meetings 

 

When a Member speaks at a Council meeting, they must stand (if able) and address 

the meeting through the Chair. If more than one Member signifies their intention to 

speak, the Chair will ask one to speak. Other Members must remain silent whilst a 

Member is speaking unless they wish to make a point of order or a point of personal 

explanation. 

 

4.54.2 Chair speaking 

 

When the Chair speaks during a debate, any Member speaking at the time must stop 

and sit down. The meeting must be silent.  

 

4.54.3 Member not to be heard further 

 

If a Member persistently disregards the ruling of the Chair by behaving improperly or 

offensively or deliberately obstructs business, the Chair may move that the Member 

be not heard further. If seconded, the motion will be voted on without discussion. 

 

4.54.4 Member to leave the meeting 

 

Page 183



  
 

40 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

If the Member continues to behave improperly after such a motion is carried, the Chair 

may move that either the Member leaves the meeting or that the meeting is adjourned 

for a specified period. If seconded, the motion will be voted on without discussion. 

 

4.55 What happens if a Council meeting is disturbed?  

 

4.55.1 General Disturbance 

 

If there is a general disturbance making orderly business impossible, the Chair may 

adjourn the meeting for as long as they think necessary. 

 

4.55.2 Disturbance by the public 

 

(a) Removal of member of the public 

 

If a member of the public interrupts proceedings, the Chair will warn the person 

concerned. If they continue to interrupt, the Chair will order their removal from 

the meeting room. A member of the public so removed will not be entitled to 

return to the meeting, and may be subject to restrictions on their attendance at 

future meetings. 

 

(b) Clearance of part of meeting room 

 

If there is a general disturbance in any part of the meeting room open to the 

public, the Chair may call for that part to be cleared. All members of the public 

involved in the general disturbance will not be entitled to return to the meeting, 

and may be subject to restrictions on their attendance at future meetings. 

 

4.56 Is filming and the use of social media permitted during Council meetings?  

 

4.56.1 Unless the press and the public are excluded from the meeting in accordance with the 

Access to Information Procedure Rules at section 16 of this Constitution, filming and 

use of social media is permitted during meetings so long as there is no disturbance to 

the conduct of the meeting. 

 

4.56.2 Mobile devices should be switched to silent during Council meetings.  

 

SUSPENSION OF THE COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES  

 

4.57 When can the Council Procedure Rules be suspended?  

 

All of these Council Procedure Rules may be suspended by motion on notice or 

without notice if at least one half of the whole number of Members are present and 

vote. Suspension can only be for the duration of the meeting.  

 

COMMITTEES 

 

4.58 How do the Council Procedure Rules apply to Committees 

 

4.58.1 The following Council Procedure Rules apply to Committee meetings: 

 

Page 184



  
 

41 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(a) Section 4.15 in relation to the timing, location and duration of meetings;  

 

(b) Section 4.16 in relation to giving notice of a meeting;  

 

(c) Section 4.17 in relation to chairing meetings;  

 

(d) Section 4.20 in relation to remote attendance of meetings;  

 

(e) Section 4.30 in relation to moving motions without notice;  

 

(f) Section 4.31 in relation to making speeches in relation to a motion;  

 

(g) Sections 4.38 to 4.42 (as applicable) in relation to votes of no confidence; 

 

(h) Section 4.43 in relation to disqualification of a Member;  

 

(i) Section 4.54 in relation to Member conduct at meetings, except sections 4.54.1 

(Speaking at meetings) and 4.54.2 (Chair speaking); 

 

(j) Section 4.55 in relation to disturbances to meetings;  

 

(k) Section 4.56 in relation to filming of meetings;  

 

(l) Section 4.57 in relation to suspension of the Council Procedure Rules;  

 

(m) Section 4.58 in relation to the application of the Council Procedure Rules to 

Committees;  

 

(n) Section 4.59 in relation to the appointment of Committee chairs;  

 

(o) Section 4.60 in relation to quorum;  

 

(p) Section 4.61 in relation to cancelling, postponing and rearranging meetings;  

 

(q) Section 4.62 in relation to substitutes; and 

 

(r) Section 4.63 in relation to votes of no confidence in a Committee chair.   

 

For the avoidance of doubt, any reference to the Chair in the sections listed above 

shall apply to the chair of a Committee (unless the context dictates otherwise).   

 

4.58.2 For the avoidance of doubt, the rules of procedure for meetings of the Executive and 

its Committees are set out in section 6.  

 

4.59 How are Committee chairs appointed?  

 

4.59.1 The Council will appoint all Committee chairs and vice chairs at its Annual Meeting. 

 

4.59.2 Where there is a Committee chair vacancy, the relevant vice chair shall act as the 

chair until a replacement is appointed at the next ordinary meeting of the Council.  

 

Page 185



  
 

42 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

4.59.3 A chair or vice chair may resign from their post by written notice to the Monitoring 

Officer. Their resignation will take effect when the Monitoring Officer receives the 

notice.  

 

4.59.4 If the chair and the vice chair of a Committee are absent from a meeting, the 

Committee members will appoint a chair for the meeting. The person presiding at the 

meeting may exercise any power of the chair. If the chair or the vice chair joins the 

meeting part-way through, they will act as chair for the remainder of the meeting.  

 

4.59.5 Chairs and vice chairs of sub-committees shall be appointed by their parent 

Committee.  

 

4.59.6 The Council may at any time remove the chair or vice chair of a Committee.  

 

4.59.7 An Executive Member may not chair any meeting of the Council, the Overview and 

Scrutiny Board, a Scrutiny Panel, the Standards Committee, the Corporate Affairs 

Committee or the Audit Committee.  

 

4.59.8 Where the Council Procedure Rules apply to Committee meetings, references to the 

Chair should instead be read as references to the chair of that Committee. 

 

4.60 What is the quorum for a Committee meeting?  

 

Unless otherwise stated in this Constitution, the quorum for a Committee meeting will 

be the greater of three or 25% of the whole of the membership of that Committee. For 

the avoidance of doubt, the provisions of section 4.5.2 apply equally to Committees. 

 

4.61 How are Committee meetings cancelled, postponed or rearranged?  

 

Cancellation, postponement, or rearrangement of Committee meetings is by the chair 

of the relevant Committee, or the vice chair in their absence. The provisions of section 

4.19 apply to any such cancellation, postponement, or rearrangement.  

 

4.62 Can a substitute attend a Committee meeting instead of a Councillor?  

 

4.62.1 The Monitoring Officer is permitted to appoint a substitute to a Committee if requested 

by a Member. The substitute shall be from the same Group as the Councillor for whom 

they are substituting.  

 

4.62.2 A Member may also, by giving at least 24 hours’ notice to the Monitoring Officer, 

designate a substitute to attend a Committee meeting. The designation shall apply to 

the specific meeting or for such longer period as the Member specifies. A Member 

may designate a different substitute for each Committee on which they sit.  

 

4.62.3 A Member may terminate the designation of a substitute with immediate effect by 

written notice to the Monitoring Officer.  

 

4.62.4 Substitute Members have the same powers and duties as the Committee member for 

whom they are substituting, save that they may not exercise any special powers or 

duties.  

 

Page 186



  
 

43 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

4.62.5 At the start of a meeting where a substitute has been appointed, they shall identify the 

Committee member for whom they are substituting, and that Member will be excluded 

from the meeting.   

 

4.63 How is a motion of no confidence brought in respect of a Committee chair?  

 

4.63.1 Any member of a Committee may submit a motion of no confidence against its chair 

to be added to the agenda of the next meeting of the relevant Committee. The Member 

must submit such a motion at least nine (9) working days before the date of the 

Committee meeting, unless the Monitoring Officer agrees that it may be submitted as 

an urgent item. Failure by the chair of the Committee to admit the motion of confidence 

may be submitted as a notice of motion to Council.  

 

4.63.2 During consideration of the motion of no confidence, the Committee chair shall stand 

down and the Monitoring Officer, or their representative, will chair the meeting.  

 

4.63.3 The motion of no confidence shall be debated in accordance with these Council 

Procedure Rules. If the motion is passed by a vote of at least two thirds of the 

Members present at the meeting, the Committee chair shall stand down immediately. 

The remainder of the meeting will be chaired by the vice chair of the Committee, or 

another Member elected for that purpose in the vice chair’s absence.  

 

4.63.4 Any vote of no confidence in a Committee chair must be approved by Full Council. If 

Full Council gives its approval, the Committee chair shall cease to hold that position. 

The Council shall appoint a new chair for the relevant Committee in accordance with 

these Council Procedure Rules.  

 

4.63.5 A motion of no confidence in a Committee chair may be brought by a Member who is 

not a member of the Committee as a notice of motion to the Council.   

Page 187



  
 

44 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

5 COUNCILLORS  

 

This section explains the role of Councillors. It also sets out who can be a Councillor 

and how they are elected.  

 

5.1 How many Councillors does the Council have?  

 

The Council comprises 46 Councillors.  

 

5.2 Who can stand for election as a Councillor?  

 

Anyone who is a registered voter in the Borough, or who lives or works in the Borough, 

is eligible to stand for election as a Councillor.  

 

5.3 How are Councillors elected?   

 

5.3.1 Councillors are elected by the voters of each Ward in accordance with a scheme 

drawn up by the Local Government Committee and approved by the Secretary of 

State.  

 

5.3.2 Elections for Councillors are held every four years in May. Elections take place on the 

first Thursday in May.  

 

5.4 How long does a Councillor’s term last?  

 

5.4.1 A Councillor’s term of office starts four (4) days after they are elected and ends four 

(4) days after the date of the next election.  

 

5.4.2 If a Councillor ceases to be a Councillor before the end of their term of office, a by-

election may be triggered15.  

 

5.5 What is a Councillor’s role?  

 

5.5.1 Key Roles  

Councillors will:  

 

(a) collectively be the ultimate policy-makers and carry out a number of strategic 

and civic functions for the Council;  

 

(b) contribute to the good governance of the area and actively encourage 

community participation and citizen involvement in decision-making;  

 

(c) effectively represent the interests of their Ward and of individual constituents; 

 

(d) respond to constituents’ enquiries and representations, fairly and impartially;  

 

(e) participate in the governance and management of the Council; and  

 

                                                
15 Local Government Act 1972, Part V 

Page 188

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1972/70/part/V


  
 

45 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(f)  maintain the highest standards of conduct and ethics.  

 

5.5.2 Rights and Duties  

Councillors will:  

 

(a) have access to the documents, information, land and buildings of the Council 

they need to carry out their roles (in accordance with the law), except for any 

documents judged by the Monitoring Officer not to be appropriate to be shared;  

 

(b) keep confidential and exempt information out of the public domain (unless the 

Council has given its consent) and not divulge confidential information to 

anyone other than a Councillor or Officer who needs to know it. 

 

For the purposes of this section 5.5.2, “confidential” and “exempt” information are 

defined in the Access to Information Procedure Rules in section 16 of this Constitution. 

 

5.6 How should Councillors behave?  

 

The Mayor and the Councillors will at all times observe the Members’ Code of Conduct 

and the Protocol on Member / Officer Relations set out in section 24 of this 

Constitution.  

 

5.7 What allowances do Councillors receive?  

 

The Mayor and the Councillors will be entitled to receive allowances in accordance 

with the Members’ Allowances Scheme set out in section 22 of this Constitution.  

 

 

  

Page 189



  
 

46 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

6 THE MAYOR AND THE EXECUTIVE 

 

This section explains the function of the Executive, which includes the Mayor as its 

leader. It also sets out the role of the Deputy Mayor.  

 

6.1 What is the role of the Executive?  

 

The Executive is appointed to carry out all the Council’s functions which are not the 

responsibility of any other part of the Council, whether by law or under this 

Constitution.  

 

6.2 What form does the Executive take?  

 

The Executive consists of the Mayor and at least two (2), but not more than nine (9), 

Councillors who are appointed by the Mayor.  

 

THE MAYOR 

 

6.3 How is the Mayor elected?  

 

6.3.1 The Mayor is elected by the voters who live in the Borough.  

 

6.3.2 Elections for Mayor are held every four years. The Mayor takes office four (4) days 

after they are elected.  

 

6.4 What is the Mayor’s term of office?  

 

6.4.1 The Mayor’s term of office ends four (4) days after the date on which their successor 

is elected, unless they cease to be the Mayor on an earlier date.  

 

6.4.2 If the Mayor ceases to be the Mayor before the end of their term of office, the Deputy 

Mayor shall become the Mayor.  

 

6.5 Who can stand for election as Mayor? 

 

6.5.1 The eligibility criteria for the position of Mayor are the same as those for elected 

Members (see section 5.2).  

 

6.6 What is the Mayor’s role?  

 

The Mayor’s role includes:  

 

(a) acting as the Council’s principal public spokesperson;  

 

(b) providing overall strategic direction to the Council;  

 

(c) appointing the Executive and the Deputy Mayor;  

 

(d) deciding on the scheme of delegation for Executive functions;  

 

(e) chairing meetings of the Executive;  

Page 190



  
 

47 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

(f) representing the Council on external bodies and/or appointing to outside 

bodies;  

 

(g) proposing the Budget and Policy Framework and any amendments to those 

documents;  

 

(h) promoting local strategic partnerships; and  

 

(i) acting as the Council’s representative on the Tees Valley Combined Authority.  

 

6.7 Is the Mayor a Councillor?   

 

6.7.1 The Mayor is not a Councillor, but the same rules apply to the Mayor unless the law 

or context requires otherwise16. In particular, the Mayor:  

 

(a) is subject to the same rules about qualification and disqualification as any other 

Councillor;  

 

(b) may be a member of, attend and speak at any meeting of the Council, its 

Committees and sub-committees, except the Standards Committee and 

Overview and Scrutiny Board. The Mayor may only speak at an Overview and 

Scrutiny Board or Standards Committee meeting when invited to do so and 

may not vote at those meetings; and 

 

(c) is subject to the same rules about casual vacancies as apply to all Councillors.  

 

6.7.2 All relevant provisions of section 5 apply to the Mayor in the same way as to 

Councillors.  

 

6.7.3 The Mayor is the only person entitled to use the title of “Mayor”. 

 

THE DEPUTY MAYOR17 

 

6.8 How is the Deputy Mayor appointed?  

 

6.8.1 At the first Annual Meeting of the Council after their election, the Mayor will appoint a 

member of their Executive to act as Deputy Mayor.  

 

6.8.2 The Deputy Mayor will hold office until the end of the Mayor’s term of office unless 

they are no longer a Member of the Council or the Executive, they resign as Deputy 

Mayor, or they are removed from the position by the Mayor.  

 

6.8.3 If the position of Deputy Mayor is vacant, the Mayor shall appoint another Deputy 

Mayor to fill the position.  

 

6.8.4 The Deputy Mayor is the only person entitled to use the title of “Deputy Mayor”.  

                                                
16 The Local Authorities (Elected Mayor and Mayor’s Assistant) (England) Regulations 2002, 
paragraph 2 
17 Local Government Act 2000, Schedule 1A, paragraph 1 

Page 191

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2002/975/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2002/975/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/22/schedule/1


  
 

48 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

6.9 What is the Deputy Mayor’s role?  

 

6.9.1 The Deputy Mayor will step into the role of Mayor if the Mayor is for any reason unable 

to act, or if the office of Mayor is vacant. The Deputy Mayor will act as Mayor until the 

Mayor is able to act, or the office of Mayor is filled.  

 

6.9.2 If the Deputy Mayor is unable to act as described above, the Executive will act as 

Mayor, or appoint a member of the Executive to do so.  

 

6.9.3 The Deputy Mayor is also the Mayor’s deputy as representative on the Tees Valley 

Combined Authority.  

 

6.10 How is the Deputy Mayor removed from office? 

 

6.10.1 The Mayor may remove the Deputy Mayor from office. The Mayor should report any 

removal of the Deputy Mayor to the Proper Officer at the next meeting of the Council.  

 

THE EXECUTIVE 

 

6.11 Who can be appointed to the Executive?  

 

6.11.1 The Mayor will appoint their Executive from among the Councillors.  

 

6.11.2 No Member may be co-opted to the Executive and Executive Members may not have 

deputies or substitutes.  

 

6.11.3 The Chair and the Vice Chair of the Council may not sit on the Executive.  

 

6.11.4 Executive Members may not sit on the Overview and Scrutiny Board, any Scrutiny 

Panel or on the Audit Committee.  

 

6.12 How are Executive Members appointed?  

 

6.12.1 Subject to section 6.2, the Mayor will decide the size and composition of the 

Executive. Executive Members do not need to belong to a political group and the 

Executive need not reflect the political balance of the Council.  

 

6.12.2 The Mayor will report Executive Member appointments to Full Council and the Proper 

Officer as and when they are made.  

 

6.12.3 Executive Members will hold office until: 

 

(a) their appointment is terminated by the Mayor;  

 

(b) they resign from the Executive; or  

 

(c) they are no longer a Councillor.  

 

6.12.4 Any changes to the Executive should be reported to the Proper Officer and the next 

meeting of Full Council.  

Page 192



  
 

49 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

6.13 What happens if the Executive is unable to act?  

If all the Executive Members are unable to act for any reason, the Council will appoint 

an interim Executive to discharge the Executive Functions. 

 

6.14 Proceedings of the Executive  

 

Proceedings of the Executive will take place in accordance with the Executive 

Procedure Rules set out in this section 6.  

 

6.15 Who is responsible for the discharge of Executive Functions?   

 

6.15.1 The Mayor will maintain a list setting out who is responsible for discharging Executive 

Functions (individual Executive Members, Executive Committees, Officers or Joint 

Arrangements).  

 

EXECUTIVE PROCEDURE RULES 

 

DELEGATION OF EXECUTIVE FUNCTIONS 

 

6.16 How may Executive decisions be delegated by the Mayor? 

 

6.16.1 Executive Functions may be exercised by the Mayor.  

 

6.16.2 The Mayor may also delegate authority to exercise Executive Functions (to the extent 

they determine) to:  

 

(a) the Executive as a whole;  

 

(b) an Executive Committee;  

 

(c) an Executive Member; 

 

(d) an Officer; 

 

(e) a Joint Arrangement; or 

 

(f) another local authority.  

 

6.17 How are Executive delegations communicated to the Council? 

 

6.17.1 At the Annual Meeting of the Council, the Mayor will present the Council with a record 

of the delegations they have made for inclusion in the Scheme of Delegations. The 

record presented to the Council must contain the following information: 

 

(a) the names, addresses and Wards of the people appointed to the Executive by 

the Mayor;  

 

(b) the extent of any authority delegated to each of those Executive Members 

individually, including the limit on that authority;  

 

Page 193



  
 

50 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(c) the terms of reference and constitution of any Executive Committees appointed 

by the Mayor and the names of the Executive Members who have been 

appointed to those Committees;  

 

(d) the nature and extent of any delegation of Executive Functions to any other 

local authority or Joint Arrangement, and the names of any Executive Member 

appointed to a joint committee; and 

 

(e) the nature and extent of any delegation of Executive Functions to Officers, 

including any limit on that delegation, and the title of the Officer to whom the 

delegation is made. 

 

6.17.2 The Scheme of Delegations will be adopted by the Council at its Annual Meeting, in 

accordance with section 4.12.2(i).   

 

6.18 Can the Executive sub-delegate a delegated authority?  

 

6.18.1 The Executive may sub-delegate a delegated authority to an Executive Committee, 

an Officer, any Joint Arrangement, or another local authority, unless the Mayor directs 

otherwise.  

 

6.18.2 An Executive Committee may sub-delegate a delegated authority to an Officer, unless 

the Mayor directs otherwise.  

 

6.18.3 The delegation of an Executive Function does not prevent them from being exercised 

by the person or body who delegated it.  

 

6.19 When can Executive delegations be changed in-year?  

 

6.19.1 The Mayor may amend the delegation of Executive Functions at any time by written 

notice to the Proper Officer setting out the change to be made. The Proper Officer 

shall inform all Councillors of any change within five (5) days and report it at the next 

ordinary meeting of the Council. The change takes effect on the date the Proper 

Officer informs Councillors of the change.  

 

6.19.2 Where the Mayor withdraws or changes a delegation to a Committee, notice of this 

change to the chair of the Committee will be deemed to be notice to that Committee.  

 

CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 

 

6.20 What happens if the Mayor or Executive Member(s) have a conflict of interest? 

 

If the Mayor or an Executive Member has a conflict of interest in relation to an 

Executive matter, this should be dealt with in accordance with the Member Code of 

Conduct in section 24.  

 

MEETINGS OF THE EXECUTIVE  

 

6.21 When and where are Executive meetings held?  

 

Page 194



  
 

51 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

6.21.1 The Executive shall meet at least 10 times a year at times to be determined by the 

Mayor. The Executive will meet at the Council’s main offices or another location 

determined by the Mayor.  

 

6.21.2 Regard will always be had to the principles of decision making set out in section 13 of 

this constitution in determining the status of meetings of the Executive and in relation 

to the frequency, timing and location of meetings. 

 

6.21.3 Meetings of the Executive shall be convened in accordance with this section 6 and 

the Access to Information Procedure Rules in Section 16 of this Constitution. 

 

6.22 What are the notice requirements for meetings of the Executive?  

 

6.22.1 Unless the urgency procedures in sections 6.35 or 6.36 apply, Executive Members 

will be entitled to receive five (5) working days’ notice of an Executive or Executive 

Committee meeting to which they are summoned, unless the meeting is convened at 

shorter notice as a matter of urgency. The notice should set out the reasons for 

holding any part of the meeting in private, details of any representations received 

about why the meeting should be in public and the response to those representations.    

 

6.22.2 The agenda and reports for each meeting will be made available to Members in 

electronic form at least five (5) working days before the meeting.  

 

6.23 What is the quorum for an Executive meeting?  

 

The quorum at any meeting of the Executive, or any Committee of the Executive, is 

three.  

 

6.24 How are Executive meetings conducted?  

 

6.24.1 Chairing Executive meetings 

 

If the Mayor is present at a meeting of the Executive, they will act as the chair. In the 

Mayor’s absence, the Deputy Mayor will preside. In the absence of both, the Executive 

shall elect a chair for the meeting.  

 

6.25 Who may attend Executive meetings?  

 

6.25.1 Attendance by others 

Other Members, Officers and external stakeholders may be invited to private meetings 

of the Executive at the Mayor’s discretion. For Executive Committees, such invitations 

are at the discretion of the chair of the relevant Committee.  

6.25.2 Attendance by members of the public18 

 

(a) Members of the public are entitled to attend Executive meetings unless: 

 

                                                
18 The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) 
Regulations 2012, Part 2 

Page 195

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2089/part/2/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2089/part/2/made


  
 

52 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(i) the presence of the public is likely to result in the Council breaching a 

legal obligation to keep information confidential;   

 

(ii) a lawful power is used to exclude the public in order to maintain orderly 

conduct or prevent misbehaviour at a meeting; or 

 

(iii) the Executive decides to close a meeting to the public in accordance 

with the Access to Information Procedure Rules because exempt 

information would otherwise be likely to be disclosed.  

 

(b) Members of the public may be excluded from a meeting or part of a meeting 

for one of the reasons set out above.  

 

6.26 What business is transacted at Executive meetings?  

 

6.26.1 At each meeting of the Executive, the following business will be conducted: 

 

(a) consideration of the minutes of the last meeting; 

 

(a) declarations of interest, if any; 

 

(b) matters referred to the Executive (whether by the Overview and Scrutiny Board 

or a Scrutiny Panel, or by the Council) for reconsideration by the Executive in 

accordance with the provisions contained in the Overview and Scrutiny 

Procedure Rules set out in section 7 of this Constitution or the Budget and 

Policy Framework Procedure Rules set out in section 17 of this Constitution; 

 

(c) consideration of reports from the Overview and Scrutiny Board or a Scrutiny 

Panel; 

 

(d) reports from Member bodies which are the responsibility of the Executive; and  

 

(e) matters set out in the agenda for the meeting. 

 

PRIVATE MEETINGS OF THE EXECUTIVE 

 

6.27 How are private meetings of the Executive convened?  

 

6.27.1 The Council must give at least 28 days’ notice of its intention to hold a meeting of the 

Executive in private19.  

 

6.27.2 The Council will: 

 

(a) publish a notice of a meeting to be held in private on the public notice board in 

the Town Hall and on the Council’s website;  

 

(b) include in the notice the reasons why the meeting is to be held in private; 

 

                                                
19 Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) 
Regulations 2012 

Page 196

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2089/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2089/contents/made


  
 

53 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(c) if compliance with the notice period set out in section 6.22.1 is impracticable: 

 

(i) the meeting may only be held in private with the permission of the chair 

of the Overview and Scrutiny Board, or if the chair is unavailable or 

unable to act, the Chair of the Council; 

 

(ii) the chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Board (or the Chair of the 

Council, as appropriate) must be provided with a clear explanation for 

why the meeting must be held in private; and  

 

(iii) the notice provisions in (a) and (b) above will apply. 

  

6.28 Who may attend private meetings of the Executive? 

 

6.28.1 Attendance by Executive Members 

 

(a) All Executive Members will be served notice of all private meetings of the 

Executive or its Committees, whether they are members of that Committee or 

not.  

 

(b) All Executive Members are entitled to attend a private meeting of any Executive 

Committee. 

 

6.28.2 Attendance by Members 

 

Members who are not Executive Members will not be entitled to attend private 

meetings of the Executive or its Committees without the prior agreement of the Mayor 

or the chair of the relevant meeting.   

 

6.28.3 Attendance by Officers 

 

(a) The Head of Paid Service, the Chief Finance Officer, the Monitoring Officer, 

and their nominees are entitled to attend any meeting of the Executive and its 

Committees. The Executive may not meet unless the Proper Officer has been 

given reasonable notice that a meeting is to take place.  

 

(b) A private Executive meeting may only take place in the presence of the Proper 

Officer or their nominee with responsibility for recording and publicising the 

decisions made at that meeting. Where a decision is to be made at the meeting, 

the Head of Paid Service, the Chief Finance Officer, the Monitoring Officer, and 

their nominees are entitled to attend a private Executive meeting.  

 

6.29 Who decides if a meeting will be held in public or in private?  

 

The Executive will decide whether meetings relating to matters which are not Key 

Decisions will be held in public or private. 

 

EXECUTIVE REPORTS 

 

6.30 What information should Executive reports contain about consultation with 

stakeholders?  

Page 197



  
 

54 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

All reports to the Executive from any Executive Member on proposals relating to the 

Budget and the Policy Framework must contain details of the nature and extent of 

consultation with stakeholders and the Overview and Scrutiny Board or any Scrutiny 

Panel (as relevant), and the outcome of that consultation. Reports about other matters 

will set out the details and outcome of consultation as appropriate. The level of 

consultation required will be appropriate to the nature of the matter under 

consideration. 

 

6.31 In whose name will Executive reports be issued?  

 

Reports to the Executive will normally appear in the name of the relevant Chief Officer 

and will incorporate advice from appropriate Officers. The originator of a report will 

ensure that draft reports are the subject of consultation with the relevant Executive 

Member, the Chief Executive and any relevant Chief Officer and Heads of Service, 

including in all cases the Chief Finance Officer and the Monitoring Officer. 

 

KEY DECISIONS AND THE FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME 

 

6.32 What are the notice requirements for a Key Decision? 

 

Subject to section 6.35 (general exception) and section 6.36 (special urgency), a Key 

Decision may not be taken unless:  

 

(a) a notice (the “Forward Work Programme”) has been published in connection 

with the matter in question;  

 

(b) the Key Decision has been published 28 days before the decision is taken on 

the Council’s Forward Plan. Where such publication of intention to take a Key 

Decision is impractical, the chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Board must be 

informed. 

 

(c) at least five (5) days have elapsed since the publication of the Forward Plan; 

and  

 

(d) where the decision is to be taken at a meeting of the Executive or its 

Committees, notice of the meeting has been given in accordance with the 

Access to Information Procedure Rules.  

 

6.33 When are Forward Plans published?  

 

The Mayor will prepare “Forward Plans” to cover a period of at least four months, 

beginning with the first day of any month. The Forward Plan is a live document and 

an updated version will be published when any new Forward Plan item is added.  

 

6.34 What does the Forward Work Programme contain? 

 

6.34.1 The “Forward Work Programme” will contain matters which the Mayor believes will be 

the subject of a Key Decision of the Executive, its Committees, an individual Executive 

Member, Officers, or under a Joint Arrangement in the course of the discharge of an 

Executive Function during the period covered by the Forward Work Programme. It will 

Page 198



  
 

55 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

contain the following details, in so far as the information is available or might 

reasonably be obtained:  

 

(a) the matter in respect of which a decision is to be made;  

 

(b) where the decision taker is an individual, their name and title (if any), and where 

the decision taker is a body, its name and details of its membership;  

 

(c) the date on which, or the period within which, the decision will be taken;  

 

(d) the identity of the principal groups whom the decision taker proposes to consult 

before taking the decision;  

 

(e) the means by which any such consultation is proposed to be undertaken;  

 

(f) the steps any person might take who wishes to make representations to the 

Executive or the decision taker about the matter in respect of which the decision 

is to be made, and the date by which those steps must be taken; and  

 

(g) a list of the documents submitted to the decision taker for consideration in 

relation to the matter. 

 

6.34.2 The Forward Work Programme will also contain matters which are non-Key Decisions; 

however, there is no deadline for these decisions to be published on the Forward Plan.  

 

6.34.3 Exempt information need not be included in the Forward Work Programme and 

confidential information should not be included.  

 

6.35 When can a Key Decision that has not been included in the Forward Work 

Programme still be made (the “general exception”) 

 

If a matter which is likely to be a Key Decision has not been included in the Forward 

Work Programme, then subject to section 6.36, the decision may still be taken if: 

 

(a) the decision must be taken by such a date that it is impracticable to defer the 

decision until it has been included in the next Forward Work Programme;  

 

(b) the Monitoring Officer has informed the chair of the Overview and Scrutiny 

Board, or in the absence the chair of the relevant Scrutiny Panel, or if neither 

is available, each member of the Overview and Scrutiny Board or Scrutiny 

Panel (as appropriate) in writing of the matter to which the decision is to be 

made;  

 

(c) the Proper Officer has made copies of that notice available to the public at the 

offices of the Council; and  

 

(d) at least five (5) days have elapsed since the Proper Officer complied with (a) 

and (b) above.  

 

6.36 When does “special urgency” apply in relation to a Key Decision?  

 

Page 199



  
 

56 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

If the urgency with which a decision must be taken means that section 6.35 (general 

exception) cannot be followed, a decision may only be made if the chair of the 

Overview and Scrutiny Board or the chair of the relevant Scrutiny Panel (as 

appropriate) agrees that the decision cannot be reasonably deferred. If there is no 

such chair or if the chair is unable to act, then the agreement of the Chair of the 

Council, or in their absence the Vice Chair will suffice.  

 

EXECUTIVE ARRANGEMENTS  

 

6.37 Which parts of the Constitution are Executive arrangements? 

 

6.37.1 The following sections of this Constitution are the Executive arrangements: 

 

(a) Section 6 – The Mayor and the Executive (including the Executive Procedure 

Rules); 

 

(b) Section 7 – Overview and Scrutiny (including the Overview and Scrutiny 

Procedure Rules); 

 

(c) Section 10 – Joint Arrangements;  

 

(d) Section 13 – Decision-Making;  

 

(e) Section 16 – Access to Information Procedure Rules; and  

 

(f) The Scheme of Delegations.  

 

EXECUTIVE SCHEME OF DELEGATION  

 

6.38 Which decisions are made by the Executive?  

 

6.38.1 The Executive collectively 

 

The Executive will be responsible collectively for determining the following matters in 

respect of any and all functions that fall within the Executive terms of reference:  

 

(a) To take Executive decisions when there are public meetings of the Executive, 

convened in accordance with the relevant legislation.  

 

(b) Key Decisions, not delegated by the Mayor to an Executive Committee, an 

Executive Member, an Officer or a Joint Arrangement.  

 

(c) Strategic and significant decisions arising from Service reviews.  

 

(d) Proposals, which will be submitted to the Council as part of the annual Budget 

and Policy Framework, together with in-year departures from the Budget and 

Policy Framework.  

 

(e) Save for matters reserved for Full Council, new policies and procedures and 

changes to existing policies and procedures likely to have a significant impact 

on Service provision or the organisation of the Council. .  

Page 200



  
 

57 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

(f) Allocation of funding within the budgetary framework, together with proposals 

and overall expenditure levels, for projects with significant corporate 

implications, including those for which it is proposed to let a contract.  

 

(g) Any matters relating to bids for funding, which are financially or strategically 

significant and where they have financial implications for the Council that have 

not been provided for within the Budget and Policy Framework.  

 

(h) Council-wide strategic performance and financial management / monitoring 

together with associated action.  

 

(i) Significant Council-wide matters which are not Key Decisions.  

 

(j) All reports referred to the Executive by the Overview and Scrutiny Board and 

its Scrutiny Panels.  

 

(k) Ownership of risk management and regular review of the strategic risk register.  

 

6.38.2 Individual Members 

 

Executive Portfolio Holders will normally be responsible for the following matters in 

relation to the functions and Service areas within the scope of their Executive Portfolio: 

 

(a) Minor variations to existing policies and procedures.  

 

(b) Oversight of departmental service plans, having regard to the Budget and 

Policy Framework.  

 

(c) Monitoring of Service performance information. 

 

(d) Oversight of Executive Portfolio Service reviews, including, improvement plans, 

external inspection, reviews and non-strategic corporate matters.  

 

(e) Oversight of plans and strategies, which are not part of the Budget and Policy 

Framework.  

 

(f) Decisions which are within the Executive Portfolio Holder’s remit. 

 

(g) Matters relating to bids for funding which do not have major financial or 

strategic significance, or which have either been approved in principle by the 

Executive or as part of the Budget and Policy Framework. 
 

Details of the scope of each Executive Portfolio can be found in the Executive Scheme 

of Delegation. 

 

6.39 Which decisions are made by joint bodies?  

 

The Joint Archives Committee will exercise Executive Functions in accordance with 

the terms of the agreement currently in operation.  

Page 201

https://moderngov.middlesbrough.gov.uk/documents/s17009/Executive%20Scheme%20of%20Delegation.pdf
https://moderngov.middlesbrough.gov.uk/documents/s17009/Executive%20Scheme%20of%20Delegation.pdf


  
 

58 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

6.40 Which Executive decisions are delegated to Officers?  

 

6.40.1 The Chief Executive 

 

(a) Where an emergency or disaster involving destruction of or danger to life or 

property occurs, or there are reasonable grounds for believing such an 

emergency or disaster to be imminent, and the Chief Executive is of the opinion 

that it is likely to affect all or part of the inhabitants of the Borough, they have 

all the Council’s powers to incur expenditure delegated to them by law20.   

 

(b) Before exercising this delegated power, the Chief Executive shall, if possible, 

consult the Mayor or, in their absence, the Executive Member in charge of the 

relevant Portfolio. The Chief Executive shall inform them of their actions as 

soon as practicable.  

 

(c) They shall also, as soon as practicable, endeavour to inform any Councillor 

whose Ward is affected setting out what, in their opinion, needs to be done 

immediately and what has already been done. 

 

(d) Where the delegated powers in section (a) above are exercised, Contract 

Procedure Rules and Financial Regulations are deemed to be waived for that 

purpose. 

 

(e) The Chief Executive shall report to the Council, and any other relevant body, 

any action taken under the powers delegated above as soon as practicable, 

including the extent to which it has been necessary to operate outside the 

Contract Procedure Rules and Financial Regulations. This report will include 

details of actions taken by others under (f) below. 

 

(f) In the absence of the Chief Executive, the lead Officer operating under the 

Council’s emergency management procedures may exercise the delegated 

authority of the Chief Executive under this section 6.40.1. This Officer shall 

report back to the Chief Executive as soon as possible. 

 

(g) The Chief Executive’s use of emergency powers shall only be permitted during 

the period for which the relevant emergency or disaster is continuing, as 

determined by the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Mayor.  

 

6.40.2 Officers 

 

Officers have the power to undertake, without reference to the Council, the Executive, 

or to any Committee, matters of day-to-day management and associated activities. 

Subject to the provisions within the Mayor’s scheme of delegation above, Officers can 

take Executive non-Key Decisions. Unless specifically delegated by the Mayor and 

his Executive, Officers do not have delegated powers to take Key Decisions. 

 

  

                                                
20 Local Government Act 1972, section 138 

Page 202

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1972/70/section/138


  
 

59 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

7 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY21  

 

This section explains the functions of the Overview and Scrutiny Board, which 

provides oversight of the Council’s and the Executive’s decision-making.  

 

7.1 What is Overview and Scrutiny?  

 

7.1.1 The Council is required by law to discharge certain scrutiny functions. These functions 

are an essential component of local democracy. Scrutiny committees should be 

powerful committees that can contribute to the development of Council policies and 

hold the Executive to account for its decisions. Scrutiny committees should also 

review existing policies, consider proposals for new policies, and recommend new 

policies.  

 

7.1.2 Scrutiny should be carried out in a constructive way and should contribute to the 

delivery of efficient and effective services that meet the needs and aspirations of local 

citizens. Scrutiny committees should not shy away from challenging and questioning 

decisions and making constructive criticism.  

 

7.2 What is the role of Overview and Scrutiny?  

 

7.2.1 In order to achieve the objectives set out in this section 7, the Council has appointed 

an Overview and Scrutiny Board, which will be responsible for: 

 

(a) reporting annually to Council on the workings of the scrutiny process; 

 

(b) review and scrutiny of decisions made, or actions taken, in connection with the 

discharge of any of the Council’s functions whether by the Executive or another 

part of the Council;  

  

(c) making reports or recommendations to the Council or the Executive in 

connection with the discharge of any Executive Function;  

 

(d) considering any matter which affects the Borough or its citizens;  

 

(e) exercising the right to call-in for reconsideration decisions made but not yet 

implemented by the Executive and Officers;  

 

(f) assisting in conducting reviews of the Strategic Plan and Performance 

Management Framework process; and 

 

(g) responding to Executive consultation requests. 

 

7.2.2 Resources 

 

The Overview and Scrutiny Board may exercise its powers, utilising the resourcing 

support model the Council has put in place.  

 

                                                
21 Local Government Act 2000 

Page 203

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/22/contents


  
 

60 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

7.3 What are the specific functions of the Overview and Scrutiny Board?   

 

7.3.1 Policy Development and Review 

 

The Overview and Scrutiny Board may:  

 

(a) assist the Council and the Executive in the development of its Budget and 

Policy Framework by in-depth analysis of policy issues;  

 

(b) conduct research, including community and other consultation in the analysis 

of policy issues and possible options;  

 

(c) consider and implement mechanisms to encourage and enhance community 

participation in the development of policy options;  

 

(d) question Executive Members, Committees and appropriate Chief Officers or 

other Officers (after consultation with the relevant Chief Officer) about the detail 

of the facts of an issue or proposal affecting the Borough, including Budget 

proposals; 

 

(e) liaise with other external organisations operating in the area, whether national, 

regional or local, to ensure that the interests of local people are enhanced by 

collaborative working;  

 

(f) consider the impact of policies to assess if they have made a difference.  

 

7.3.2 Scrutiny of Performance and Service Delivery matters 

 

The Overview and Scrutiny Board may:  

 

(a) review and scrutinise decisions made by, and performance of, the Executive, 

Committees and Officers, both in relation to individual decisions and over time;  

 

(b) review and scrutinise the performance of the Council in relation to its policy 

objectives, performance targets and/or particular Services;  

 

(c) question Executive Members, Committees and appropriate Chief Officers or 

other Officers (after consultation with the relevant Chief Officer) about their 

decisions and performance, whether generally in comparison with service 

plans and targets over a period of time, or in relation to particular decisions, 

initiatives or projects;  

 

(d) make recommendations to the Executive and/or the Council arising from the 

outcome of the scrutiny process; 

 

(e) review and scrutinise the performance of other public bodies in the Borough 

that have responsibilities for services to, and the health and well-being of, the 

community, and invite reports from them by requesting them to address the 

Page 204



  
 

61 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Overview and Scrutiny Board and local people about their activities and 

performance; and 

 

(f) in furtherance of any of the above, question and gather evidence from any 

person (with their consent).  

 

7.3.3 Health 

 

In relation to scrutiny of health-related matters, the Overview & Scrutiny Board may:  

 

(a) advise the Council on arrangements for undertaking health scrutiny jointly with 

other authorities, particularly in respect of regional and specialist services, or 

where NHS bodies do not have coterminous boundaries with the Council;  

 

(b) advise the Council on protocols for how any joint health scrutiny arrangements 

might operate;  

 

(c) require an officer of a local NHS body to attend to answer questions about 

matters under review; and  

 

(d) make reports and/or recommendations to local NHS bodies and to the local 

authority. 

 

The Council confers its powers of review and Scrutiny, including the power of referral 

to the Secretary of State for Health to the Health Scrutiny Panel22. 

 

7.3.4 Finance 

 

The role of the Overview and Scrutiny Board in respect of developing the Budget is 

set out in section 7.3.1.  

 

7.3.5 Annual report 

 

The Overview and Scrutiny Board must report annually to Full Council on their 

workings with recommendations for their future work programme and amended 

working methods, if appropriate.  

 

7.4 How are the proceedings of the Overview and Scrutiny Board managed?  

 

Overview and Scrutiny Board and Scrutiny Panels will conduct their proceedings in 

accordance with the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules set out in this section 7.  

 

7.5 What are Scrutiny Panels?  

 

7.5.1 In order to assist with discharging its scrutiny function, the Overview and Scrutiny 

Board also has sub-committees, called Scrutiny Panels. These are responsible for 

scrutiny of specific topics. The Overview and Scrutiny Board can also appoint ad hoc 

                                                
22 The Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 
2013, section 21 

Page 205

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/218/regulation/21/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/218/regulation/21/made


  
 

62 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Scrutiny Panels to scrutinise a particular piece of work, for example, in relation to the 

review and development of the Policy Framework. 

 

7.5.2 The functions outlined in section 7.3 shall apply equally to Scrutiny Panels, as 

appropriate.  

 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PROCEDURE RULES  

These Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules set out the rules of procedure and debate 

that apply to the Overview and Scrutiny Board and Scrutiny Panels.   

 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY ARRANGEMENTS 

 

7.6 What are the arrangements for the Overview and Scrutiny Board and Scrutiny 

Panels? 

 

7.6.1 The Council will have an Overview and Scrutiny Board and Scrutiny Panels as set out 

in this section 7 and will appoint to them as it considers appropriate from time to time.  

 

7.6.2 The Overview and Scrutiny Board may, in addition to the standing Scrutiny Panels 

appointed by the Council at its Annual Meeting, appoint sub-committees on an ad hoc 

basis. The Council or the Overview and Scrutiny Board may also appoint additional 

Scrutiny Panels to undertake specific time-limited reviews. These Scrutiny Panels 

would be appointed for a fixed period on the expiry of which they shall cease to exist. 

 

7.6.3 Where the relevant chair considers it appropriate, church and parent governor 

representatives will be appointed to the Overview and Scrutiny Board, and to the 

Scrutiny Panel whose remit includes responsibility for the scrutiny of education. They 

may also be invited to attend any other Scrutiny Panel considering education and 

related matters if the chair deems it necessary or appropriate. Such representatives, 

when appointed, will have the right to participate in any meeting that considers 

education and related matters and shall be entitled to vote on any question:  

 

(a) which relates to any education functions which are the responsibility of the 

Executive; and  

 

(b) which falls to be considered at the meeting. 

 

7.7 What are the terms of reference for the Overview and Scrutiny Board?  

 

7.7.1 The terms of reference for the Overview and Scrutiny Board shall include:  

 

(a) the performance of all overview and scrutiny functions on behalf of the Council; 

  

(b) the appointment of such sub-committees as it considers appropriate to fulfil 

specific overview and scrutiny functions which, for the purpose of the scrutiny 

of health, might include Joint Arrangements as detailed in section 10; 

 

(c) approving an annual overview and scrutiny work programme, including the 

programme of any Scrutiny Panel appointed so as to ensure that the Overview 

Page 206



  
 

63 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

and Scrutiny Board's and Scrutiny Panels’ time is effectively and efficiently 

utilised;  

 

(d) where matters fall within the remit of more than one Scrutiny Panel, determining 

which of those Scrutiny Panels will assume responsibility for any particular 

issue, or if it so decides, to undertake the scrutiny itself;  

 

(e) ensuring that referrals from the Overview and Scrutiny Board or a Scrutiny 

Panel to the Executive, either by way of report or for reconsideration, are 

managed efficiently and do not exceed the limits set out in this Constitution;  

 

(f) at the request of the Executive, making decisions about the priority of referrals 

if reports to the Executive exceed the limits in this Constitution, or if the volume 

of such reports creates difficulty for the management of Executive business, or 

jeopardises the efficient running of Council business. 

 

7.7.2 Where a matter overlaps between more than one Scrutiny Panel, the Overview and 

Scrutiny Board will decide which Scrutiny Panel will consider the matter.  

 

7.8 Who can be a member of the Overview and Scrutiny Board or a Scrutiny Panel? 

 

7.8.1 Executive Members may not be members of the Overview and Scrutiny Board or of a 

Scrutiny Panel.  

 

7.8.2 No Member may be involved in scrutinising a decision in which they have been directly 

involved.  

 

MEETINGS  

 

7.9 When are Overview and Scrutiny Board meetings held?  

 

The Overview and Scrutiny Board and Scrutiny Panels will meet at regular intervals 

to be determined by the relevant chair. Extraordinary meetings may be called as and 

when considered appropriate by: 

 

(a) the chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Board or the relevant Scrutiny Panel; 

 

(b) any five (5) Members (including voting Co-Opted Members, where they have 

been appointed) of the Overview and Scrutiny Board or the relevant Scrutiny 

Panel; or  

 

(c) the Proper Officer.  

 

7.10 What is the quorum for the Overview and Scrutiny Board and Scrutiny Panel 

meetings? 

 

The quorum for Overview and Scrutiny Board and Scrutiny Panel meetings is the 

greater of three (3) and one quarter of the whole membership (including, in respect of 

education matters, Co-Opted Members).  

 

MATTERS TO BE CONSIDERED BY OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY  

Page 207



  
 

64 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

7.11 How is the Overview and Scrutiny Board work programme set?  

 

The Overview and Scrutiny Board is responsible for setting its own work programme, 

and that of the Scrutiny Panels. In setting the work programme, the Overview and 

Scrutiny Board shall take into account the wishes of members of all political parties 

represented in its membership.   

 

7.12 How are items added to the Overview and Scrutiny Board and Scrutiny Panel 

meeting agendas?  

 

Any member of the Overview and Scrutiny Board or a Scrutiny Panel shall be entitled 

to submit relevant items to the Proper Officer for inclusion on the agenda for the next 

available meeting.  

 

7.13 What is the role of Overview and Scrutiny in policy review and development?  

 

7.13.1 The role of the Overview and Scrutiny Board in relation to the development of the 

Council’s Budget and Policy Framework is set out in detail in the Budget and Policy 

Framework Procedure Rules in section 17.  

 

7.13.2 In relation to the development of the Council’s approach to other matters not forming 

part of its Budget and Policy Framework, the Overview and Scrutiny Board may make 

proposals to the Executive for developments in so far as they relate to matters within 

their terms of reference. 

 

7.13.3 The Overview and Scrutiny Board and Scrutiny Panels may hold inquiries and 

investigate the available options for future direction in policy development and may 

appoint advisers and assessors to assist them in this process. They may go on site 

visits, conduct public surveys, hold public meetings, commission research and do all 

other things that they reasonably consider necessary to inform their deliberations. 

They may ask witnesses to attend to address them on any matter under consideration 

and may pay to any advisers, assessors and witnesses a reasonable fee and 

expenses for doing so. 

 

7.14 What is the process for consideration of Overview and Scrutiny reports to the 

Executive?  

 

7.14.1 All formal reports from the Overview and Scrutiny Board will be submitted to the 

Proper Officer and added to the agenda for the next meeting of the Executive (if the 

proposals are consistent with the existing Budget and Policy Framework), or to the 

Council as appropriate (e.g. if the recommendation would require a departure from or 

a change to the agreed Budget and Policy Framework). 

 

7.14.2 The Council or the Executive shall consider the report of the Overview and Scrutiny 

Board at their next available meeting – usually within eight weeks of it being added to 

the agenda. If it is not considered by the Executive within that time, the Proper Officer 

will call a meeting of the Council to consider the report and make recommendations 

to the Executive.  

 

INFORMATION AVAILABLE TO OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY  

Page 208



  
 

65 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

7.15 To what documents do members of the Overview and Scrutiny Board and 

Scrutiny Panels have access?  

 

7.15.1 In addition to their rights as Councillors, members of the Overview and Scrutiny Board 

and Scrutiny Panels have additional right to documents, and to notice of meetings as 

set out in the Access to Information Procedure Rules in section 16 of this Constitution.  

 

7.15.2 Nothing in this paragraph prevents more detailed liaison between the Executive and 

the Overview and Scrutiny Board and Scrutiny Panels, as appropriate, depending on 

the particular matter under consideration. 

 

7.16 When and how can Members and Officers be called to give account?  

 

7.16.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Board and Scrutiny Panels may scrutinise and review 

decisions made or actions taken in connection with the discharge of any Council 

function. As well as reviewing documentation, in fulfilling the Overview and Scrutiny 

role, they may require the Mayor, any Executive Member, the Head of Paid Service, 

any Chief Officer, and/or, after consultation with the relevant Chief Officer, another 

Senior Officer, to attend in relation to matters within their remit, and it is the duty of 

those persons to attend if so required. 

 

7.16.2 For the purposes of section 7.16.1, “Senior Officer” includes any Chief Officer, their 

deputy and other appropriate Officer holding a senior position. Where there are 

concerns about the appropriateness of the Officer who should attend, the relevant 

Chief Officer shall discuss this with the chair or the vice chair of the Overview and 

Scrutiny Board or the relevant Scrutiny Panel with a view to achieving consensus. In 

the absence of consensus, the Head of Paid Service shall determine who is the most 

appropriate Officer.  

 

7.16.3 Where any Member or Officer is required to attend any Overview and Scrutiny Board 

or Scrutiny Panel meeting under this provision, the chair of that meeting will inform 

the Proper Officer. The Proper Officer shall inform the Member or Officer in writing, 

giving at least five (5) working days’ notice of the meeting at which they are required 

to attend. Any notice will state the nature of the item on which they are required to 

attend to give account and whether any papers are required to be produced for the 

meeting.  

 

 

7.16.4 Where the account to be given to the Overview and Scrutiny Board or a Scrutiny Panel 

will require the production of a report, the Member or Officer concerned will be given 

sufficient notice to allow for preparation of that documentation. 

 

7.16.5 Where, in exceptional circumstances, the Member or Officer is unable to attend on 

the required date, the Overview and Scrutiny Board or Scrutiny Panel shall, in 

consultation with the Member or Officer, arrange an alternative date for attendance. 

 

7.17 When may others attend Overview and Scrutiny meetings?  

 

7.17.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Board or a Scrutiny Panel may invite people other than 

those people referred to in paragraph 7.16 above to address it, discuss issues of local 

Page 209



  
 

66 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

concern and/or answer questions. It may for example wish to hear from residents, 

stakeholders and members and officers in other parts of the public sector and shall 

invite such people to attend. 

 

7.17.2 The Overview and Scrutiny Board or a Scrutiny Panel can request an officer or 

representative of an outside body to attend to answer questions about any scrutiny 

matter that is under review23.  

 

7.17.3 Any Scrutiny Panel set up to review and scrutinise health services may require 

information to be provided by certain NHS bodies about the planning, provision and 

operation of health services that is reasonably needed to carry out health scrutiny 

and/or require employees including non-executive directors of certain NHS bodies to 

attend before them to answer questions. 

 

PARTY WHIP  

 

7.18 What happens if a member of the Overview and Scrutiny Board or a Scrutiny 

Panel is subject to a party whip? 

 

When considering any matter in respect of which a member of the Overview and 

Scrutiny Board, or a Scrutiny Panel, is subject to a party whip, the member must 

declare the existence of the whip, and the nature of it before the commencement of 

the deliberations on the matter. The declaration and the detail of the whipping 

arrangements shall be recorded in the minutes of the meeting. 

 

HEALTH SCRUTINY 

 

7.19 What are the arrangements for scrutiny of health matters?  

 

Any Scrutiny Panel established to review and scrutinise health services shall operate 

within the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules set out in this section 7, and the 

following additional rules shall apply:  

 

(a) In carrying out a review or scrutiny, the Scrutiny Panel shall:  

 

(i) have regard to regulations and guidance on health scrutiny matters that 

have been issued by the Secretary of State;  

 

(ii) invite interested parties to comment on matters under review; and 

 

(iii) take account of any relevant information available, including any 

relevant information provided by a patients' forum  

 

(b) Reports or recommendations from the Scrutiny Panel shall include:  

 

(i) an explanation of the matters reviewed or scrutinised; 

 

(ii) a summary of the evidence considered;  

                                                
23 Health and Social Care Act 2001 and Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 

Page 210

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2001/15/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2007/28/contents


  
 

67 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

(iii) a list of the participants involved in the review;  

 

(iv) any recommendations on the matter reviewed or scrutinised.  

 

(c) When the panel is responding to a consultation from a local NHS body about 

proposals for substantial developments or variations in services, it shall do so 

by the date specified by the NHS body. 

 

CALL-IN PROCEDURE 

 

7.20 What is Call-in?  

 

7.20.1 Legislation24 provides that Executive decisions which have been made but not yet 

implemented may be “called in” for consideration by a local authority’s scrutiny 

function. This includes decisions made by the Executive (collective or individual) and 

Key Decisions which have been delegated to Chief Officers.  

 

7.20.2 The Overview and Scrutiny Board has responsibility for Call-in. 

 

7.21 Which decisions can be Called-in? 

 

The following decisions may be Called-in:  

 

(a) a decision taken collectively by the Mayor and the Executive; 

 

(b) a decision taken by the Mayor or an individual Executive Member; and 

 

(c) a Key Decision taken by an Officer under delegated powers.  

 

7.22 Which decisions cannot be Called-in? 

 

7.22.1 The following decisions may not be Called-in: 

 

(a) a decision to which section 7.21 does not apply; 

 

(b) a decision that has been Called-in previously;  

 

(c) a decision relates to a policy or Budget matter which requires the approval of 

Full Council; and 

 

(d) a decision that has been implemented following a recommendation from the 

Overview and Scrutiny Board and/or a Scrutiny Panel.  

 

7.23 When can Call-in be triggered?  

 

7.23.1 Decisions in relation to Executive Functions must be published within two (2) working 

days of the decision being made. All Members will be sent an electronic notice of all 

                                                
24 Local Government Act 2000, section 9F and Localism Act 2011, Schedule 2 

Page 211

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/22/section/9F
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/schedule/2/enacted


  
 

68 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

such decisions. A record of these decisions will also be published on the Council’s 

website. 

 

7.23.2 The notice of the decision will specify the date on which the decision was made and 

will specify that the decision will come into force (and may be implemented) on the 

fifth working day after the publication of the decision.  

 

7.23.3 During that five (5) working day period, any five (5) Members (including voting Co-

opted Members in respect of education matters) may request that the Monitoring 

Officer Calls-In the decision for scrutiny by the Overview and Scrutiny Board. 

 

7.23.4 Decisions may be implemented from the sixth working day following their publication 

unless a valid Call-in has been received by the Monitoring Officer. 

 

7.23.5 Call-in should only be used in exceptional circumstances when Members believe that 

it is a proportionate step to benefit the delivery of Services under the Budget and 

Policy Framework or will improve the decision-making process.  

 

7.24 What is the process for Calling-In a decision? 

 

7.24.1 Scrutiny Call-in Request 

 

A duly completed “Scrutiny Call-in Request Form” must be submitted to Democratic 

Services by 4.00pm on the fifth working day after publication of the relevant decision. 

The notice must contain the signatures of the five (5) non-Executive Members Calling-

In the decision along with the reasons for the Call-in. Members who have a prejudicial 

interest in the decision may not sign a Call-in Form. 

 

7.24.2 Validity of Call-in 

 

The Monitoring Officer will, in consultation with the chair of the Overview and Scrutiny 

Board, determine the validity of the Call-in as soon as possible following receipt of the 

Scrutiny Call-in Request Form. The Monitoring Officer may reject a Call-in if, in their 

opinion, it does not meet the requirements for Call-in or is vexatious, frivolous, or 

otherwise inappropriate.   

 

7.24.3 Meeting to consider Call-in 

 

(a) Democratic Services will notify the decision-maker and all Members that the 

decision has been Called-in and will call a meeting of the Overview and 

Scrutiny Board on such date as they may determine, where possible in 

consultation with the chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Board, and in any 

event no sooner than 10 working days from the date of the Scrutiny Call-in 

Request Form.  

 

(b) The signatories to the Scrutiny Call-in Request Form will normally be expected 

to attend the Overview and Scrutiny Board meeting to explain the reasons for 

the Call-in. 

 

7.25 Does Call-in apply to urgent decisions?  

 

Page 212



  
 

69 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

7.25.1 Urgent decisions may proceed despite a Call-in if the decision-maker has the 

agreement of: 

 

(a) the chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Board; 

 

(b) in the absence of the chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Board, the Chair of 

the Council; or 

 

(c) in the absence of the Chair, the Vice Chair of the Council. 

 

7.25.2 In exceptional circumstances there may be urgent decisions that must be 

implemented immediately upon the decision being taken and a Call-in is therefore not 

possible. These must be identified by the Mayor, the Executive, or the relevant 

decision-maker at the time the decision is taken and the reasons behind their urgency 

should be explained and reported in the record of decision. 

 

7.25.3 Decisions taken as a matter of urgency must be reported quarterly to the Council by 

the chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Board, together with the reasons for their 

urgency. 

 

7.26 When can Members and Officers be called to account in relation to Call-in? 

 

7.26.1 A Member or Officer may only be called to account in relation to Call-in with the 

permission of the chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Board. Permission must be 

requested at least five (5) working days before the date of the relevant meeting. In 

exceptional circumstances, the chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Board may permit 

a shorter notice period of three (3) days. The person calling a Member or Officer to 

account must explain the relevance of the witness to the Call-in.  

 

7.26.2 The Overview and Scrutiny Board may also call Members and Officers to give 

account.  

 

7.26.3 Members called to attend a meeting relating to Call-in should consider their duty to 

declare an interest and make such a declaration if appropriate.  

 

7.26.4 Members and Officers called to account in relation to Call-in may only provide factual 

information.  

 

7.26.5 Sections 7.26 and 7.27 apply to Members and Officers called to attend meetings 

relating to Call-in.  

 

7.27 What happens at a Call-in meeting?  

 

7.27.1 Scrutiny of a Called-in decision 

 

(a) At a meeting to consider the Call-in of a decision, the Overview and Scrutiny 

Board will exercise its powers to scrutinise the decision that has been Called-

in.  

 

(b) Every effort will be made to deal with the Call-in in a single meeting. However, 

in exceptional circumstances, the meeting may be adjourned so that additional 

Page 213



  
 

70 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

information can be obtained and/or (with the consent of the chair of the meeting 

or the relevant Executive Member) additional Members or Officers can be 

called to account.  

 

(c) If the meeting is adjourned as set out in section 7.27.1 above, the Called-in 

decision will be held in abeyance until the meeting is reconvened. If the 

reconvened meeting is not held on the date set at the time of the adjournment, 

the decision will take immediate effect on that date.  

 

7.27.2 Referral back to the decision-maker 

 

(a) The Overview and Scrutiny Board may refer a decision back to the decision-

maker with recommendations. The decision-maker will have 10 working days 

from the date the decision is referred back to decide whether to amend the 

decision.   

 

(b) If the Overview and Scrutiny Board’s recommendations are not accepted in full, 

the decision-maker should inform the Overview and Scrutiny Board and give 

reasons for rejecting its recommendations.  

 

(c) Whatever is determined by the decision-maker on reconsideration, the 

subsequent decision will not be open to further Call-in.  

 

(d) If the decision-maker decides to withdraw the decision and place it back on the 

Forward Plan for consideration at a later date, the decision may then be subject 

to Call-in.  

 

7.27.3 No case to answer  

 

If the Overview and Scrutiny Board decides at a meeting to consider the Call-in of a 

decision that the decision should not be referred back to the decision-maker for 

reconsideration, the Monitoring Officer will advise the Mayor, the Chief Executive and 

(if appropriate) the delegated decision taker, that the decision may be implemented. 

 

7.27.4 Confirmation of original decision 

 

If the decision-maker confirms the original decision, the decision may be implemented 

immediately and may not be subject to a further Call-in. The decision-maker should 

demonstrate that appropriate consideration has been given to the Overview and 

Scrutiny Board’s recommendations.  

 

7.28 How are decisions that are contrary to the Budget and Policy Framework Called-

in?  

 

7.28.1 Where the Overview and Scrutiny Board or a Scrutiny Panel is of the opinion that an 

Executive decision is, or if made would be, contrary to the Policy Framework, or 

contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the Budget, then it shall seek advice from 

the Monitoring Officer and/or the Chief Finance Officer.  

 

Page 214



  
 

71 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

7.28.2 In respect of functions which are the responsibility of the Executive, the Monitoring 

Officer’s and/or Chief Finance Officer’s report(s) shall be presented to the Executive 

with a copy to every member of the Council. Regardless of whether the decision is 

delegated or not, the Executive must meet to decide what action to take in respect of 

the Monitoring Officer’s report and to prepare a report: 

 

(a) if the Monitoring Officer and/or the Chief Finance Officer decide that the 

decision is contrary to the Policy Framework, or contrary or not wholly in 

accordance with the Budget, to the Council; or  

 

(b) if the Monitoring Officer and/or Chief Finance Officer decide that the decision 

is not so contrary, to the Overview and Scrutiny Board.  

 

7.28.3 If the decision has yet to be made, or has been made but not yet implemented, and 

the advice from the Monitoring Officer and/or the Chief Finance Officer is that the 

decision is or would be contrary to the Policy Framework, or contrary to or not wholly 

in accordance with the Budget, the Overview and Scrutiny Board or Scrutiny Panel 

may refer the matter to Council. 

 

7.28.4 In such cases, no further action will be taken in respect of the decision or its 

implementation until the Council has met and considered the matter. The Council shall 

meet within 10 days of the request by the Overview and Scrutiny Board. At the 

meeting it will receive a report of the decision or proposals and the advice of the 

Monitoring Officer and/or the Chief Finance Officer. The Council may either:  

 

(a) endorse a decision or proposal of the Executive decision taker as falling within 

the existing Budget and Policy Framework. In this case, no further action is 

required, save that the decision of the Council be minuted and circulated to all 

Councillors in the normal way; or  

 

(b) amend the Council’s Financial Procedure Rules or any relevant policy to reflect 

the decision or proposal of the body or individual responsible for that Executive 

Function and agree to the decision with immediate effect. In this case, no 

further action is required save that the decision of the Council be minuted and 

circulated to all Councillors in the normal way; or 

 

(c) where the Council accepts that the decision or proposal is contrary to the Policy 

Framework, or contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the Budget, and 

does not amend the existing Policy Framework to accommodate it, require the 

Executive to reconsider the matter in accordance with the advice of the 

Monitoring Officer and/or the Chief Finance Officer.  

  

Page 215



  
 

72 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

8 STANDARDS  

 

This section explains the functions of the Standards Committee and how Councillors 

are held to account through the Members’ Code of Conduct.  

 

8.1 What is Standards?  

 

The Council has adopted a Members’ Code of Conduct to which all Councillors are 

required to adhere. The Standards Committee is responsible for deciding on alleged 

breaches of the Members’ Code of Conduct and any applicable sanctions, as well as 

advising on standards issues more generally.   

 

8.2 Who sits on the Standards Committee?  

 

8.2.1 There are nine (9) Councillors on the Standards Committee. The makeup of the 

Standards Committee must be politically balanced (i.e. a proportional number of 

members representing each political group in the Council). The Mayor may not be a 

member of the Standards Committee.  

 

8.2.2 Where the Standards Committee is considering a complaint against a member of a 

Parish Council, and/or an agenda item concerns or may affect a Parish Council, a 

member of each Parish Council will be entitled to sit on the Standards Committee.  

 

8.2.3 The chair of the Standards Committee is elected each year at the Annual Meeting of 

Full Council. The Standards Committee chair may not be an Executive Member.  

 

8.2.4 If the position of chair of the Standards Committee is vacant, a new chair will be 

elected at the next Council meeting.  

 

8.3 What is the role of the Standards Committee?  

 

8.3.1 The Standards Committee is responsible for ensuring individual oversight of key 

issues that relate to ethics in Local Government.  

 

8.3.2 The Standards Committee is also responsible for:  

 

(a) promoting and maintaining high standards of conduct by Members and the 

Member; 

 

(b) assisting Members and the Mayor to observe the Members’ Code of Conduct; 

 

(c) advising the Council on the adoption or revision of the Members’ Code of 

Conduct; 

 

(d) monitoring the operation of, and compliance with, the Members’ Code of 

Conduct; 

 

(e) advising Members and the Mayor on matters relating to the Members’ Code of 

Conduct; 

 

Page 216



  
 

73 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(f) arranging to train Members and the Mayor on matters relating to the Members’ 

Code of Conduct;  

 

(g) considering reports relating to the conduct of Members which may be referred 

to it by the Council or Chief Officers, including issues relating to Members' 

interests and the maintenance and management of any relevant registers of 

interests;  

 

(h) receiving information from the Monitoring Officer on live complaints and the 

likely timelines for their investigation to be completed; 

 

(i) considering relevant reports referred by the Monitoring Officer and the Chief 

Finance Officer and making recommendations thereon to the Council as 

necessary;   

 

(j) granting dispensations to Members, Co-opted members and Parish Councillors 

and the Mayor from the requirements relating to declarations of interest. The 

Monitoring Officer may grant a dispensation where the matter is urgent and 

report it to the next available Standards Committee; 

 

(k) determining, after due investigation, allegations of breaches of the Members’ 

Code of Conduct and the imposing of any relevant sanctions;   

 

(l) receiving references from the Corporate Affairs Committee regarding issues of 

attendance by Members at training on the Code of Conduct; and  

 

(m) discharging the above functions in relation to Parish Councils. 

 

8.4 When does the Standards Committee meet? 

 

8.4.1 The Standards Committee meets every three months to monitor and carry out 

assurance in relation to the handling of, complaints. For the avoidance of doubt, the 

provisions of section 4 as they relate to Committees shall apply to Standards 

Committee meetings.  

 

8.4.2 The Standards Committee will also meet to conduct hearings, as set out in the 

Standards Hearings Procedure Rules below.  

 

STANDARDS HEARING PROCEDURE RULES 

In these Standards Hearing Procedure Rules, capitalised terms not otherwise defined in this 

Constitution shall have the meanings set out below: 

 

“Complainant” 
 

the person making a complaint about a Subject Member 
to the Standards Committee;  
 

“Communications Plan” 
 

the plan setting out the way in which a Member must 
communicate with Members and Officers;  
 

Page 217



  
 

74 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

“Independent Person” 
 

the independent person appointed by the Council to 
provide their views on any Standards complaint25;  
 

“Investigating Officer” 
 

the person responsible for investigating a complaint and 
producing a report;  
 

“Subject Member” 
 

a Member who is the subject of a complaint to the 
Standards Committee.  
 

 

8.5 What are the rules of procedure for Standards Committee hearings?  

 

These procedure rules shall apply to the Standards Committee when considering the 

Investigating Officer’s report under these arrangements.  

 

8.6 What is the composition of the Standards Committee?  

 

The Standards Committee comprises nine (9) Members and, if required, two (2) 

Parish Councillors.  

 

8.7 What is the purpose of a Standards Committee hearing 

 

8.7.1 The purpose of the hearing is for the Standards Committee to consider, on the 

evidence provided, whether the Subject Member has breached the Members’ Code 

of Conduct. The conduct of others, for example Officers, is dealt with through another 

process. 

 

8.7.2 The Independent Person will be invited to attend and participate in the Standards 

Committee meeting but will not have voting rights. 

 

8.8 How and when are Standards Committee hearings convened?  

 

8.8.1 The legal requirements for publishing agendas, minutes and calling meetings, will 

apply to the Standards Committee. The hearing will be held in public no earlier than 

14 working days and no later than 28 working days after the Monitoring Officer has 

copied the Investigating Officer’s final report to the Complainant and the Subject 

Member. Members of the public and press will be excluded from meetings of the 

Standards Committee where it is likely that confidential or exempt information will be 

disclosed26.  

 

8.8.2 The Monitoring Officer, in consultation with the chair of the Standards Committee, will 

convene a meeting of the Standards Committee.  

 

8.8.3 If the Subject Member is unavailable for the proposed date of the meeting, the 

Monitoring Officer, in consultation with the chair of the Standards Committee, will 

determine whether the meeting can be arranged outside of the prescribed timescale. 

If a meeting cannot be arranged within the prescribed timescale, the Subject Member 

may be requested to provide a reasonable explanation to the chair of the Standards 

Committee, along with any appropriate evidence of their unavailability.  

                                                
25 Localism Act 2011, section 28 
26 Local Government Act 1972, Schedule 12A 

Page 218

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/section/28/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1972/70/schedule/12A


  
 

75 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

8.8.4 Where the Subject Member fails to attend the Standards Committee meeting and 

where the Standards Committee is not satisfied with their explanation for their 

absence from the hearing, the Standards Committee may, having regard to any 

written representations submitted by the Subject Member, and/or the Investigating 

Officer’s report resolve to proceed with the hearing in the Subject Member’s absence 

and make a determination. Alternatively, if the Standards Committee is satisfied with 

the Subject Member’s reasons for not attending the hearing, it may adjourn the 

hearing to another date. The Standards Committee may resolve, in exceptional 

circumstances, that it will proceed with the hearing on the basis that it is in the public 

interest to hear the allegations expeditiously. Standards Committee hearings shall 

only be adjourned once, if the Subject Member fails to attend a second scheduled 

meeting without exceptional circumstances, the meeting shall proceed in the Subject 

Member’s absence.  

 

8.9 How are matters decided at a Standards Committee hearing?  

 

All matters/issues before the Standards Committee will be decided by a simple 

majority of votes cast, with the Chair having a second or casting vote. 

 

8.10 Who may accompany/represent a Subject Member at a Standards Committee 

hearing?   

 

The Subject Member may choose to be accompanied by and/or represented at a 

Standards Committee meeting by a fellow Councillor, friend or colleague. The Subject 

Member will not be entitled to be represented by a solicitor or other legal 

representative, or by any Officer.  

 

8.11 What is the order of business for a Standards Committee hearing?   

 

8.11.1 Subject to section 8.11.2 below, the order of business of a Standards Committee 

hearing will be as follows:  

 

(a) apologies for absence;  

 

(b) declarations of interests;  

 

(c) approval of minutes of the previous meeting;  

 

(d) if the Subject Member is absent, consideration of whether to adjourn or to 

proceed with the hearing (refer to section 8.8.4 above);  

 

(e) introduction by the chair, of members of the Standards Committee, the 

Independent Person, Monitoring Officer or Deputy, Investigating Officer, 

Democratic Services Officer, the Committee’s legal adviser, the Subject 

Member and their representative;  

 

(f) receipt of representations from the Monitoring Officer and/or Subject Member 

as to whether any part of the hearing should be held in private and/or whether 

any documents (or parts thereof) should be withheld from the public / press;  

 

Page 219



  
 

76 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(g) determination of whether the public / press are to be excluded from any part of 

the meeting and/or whether any documents (or parts thereof) should be 

withheld from the public / press. When the public / press are excluded from any 

part of the meeting, filming, photography and/or audio recordings of the 

meeting will be prohibited in accordance with the Protocol on Filming Council 

Meetings section 24 of this Constitution; and 

 

(h) consideration of the report of the Investigating Officer and determination of the 

matter.  

 

8.11.2 The chair may exercise their discretion and amend the order of business, where they 

consider that it is expedient to do so in order to secure the effective and fair 

consideration of any matter.  

 

8.11.3 The Standards Committee may adjourn the hearing at any time.  

 

8.11.4 Witnesses  

 

(a) The process of the hearing is inquisitorial, and not adversarial. Witnesses 

should not be made to feel uncomfortable or that their integrity is being 

questioned. The purpose of the hearing is to establish the facts.  

 

(b) All questions to witnesses should be made through the chair.  

 

8.11.5 Presentation of the complaint  

 

(a) The Investigating Officer will present their report to the hearing, including any 

documentary evidence or other material, and call their witnesses. No new 

points will be permitted.  

 

(b) The Subject Member or their representative may question the Investigating 

Officer, and any witnesses called by the Investigating Officer.  

 

(c) The Standards Committee may question the Investigating Officer, the 

Independent Person, and any witnesses called by the Investigating Officer, 

upon the contents of the Investigating Officer’s report. 

 

8.11.6 Presentation of the Subject Member’s response  

 

(a) The Subject Member, or their representative, will present their response to the 

Investigating Officer’s report and call their witnesses.  

 

(b) The Investigating Officer may question the Subject Member and any witnesses 

called by the Subject Member.  

 

(c) The Standards Committee may question the Subject Member, the Independent 

Person, the Advisory Officer, and any witnesses called by the Subject Member.  

 

8.11.7 Summing up  

 

(a) The Investigating Officer will sum up their report.  

Page 220



  
 

77 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

(b) The Subject Member or their representative will sum up their response to the 

Investigating Officer’s report.  

 

8.11.8 Deliberations and decisions of the Standards Committee  

 

(a) Having heard the representations / views of all parties, the Standards 

Committee will adjourn the hearing and deliberate in private (assisted on 

matters of law by a legal adviser) to consider whether, on the facts found, the 

Subject Member has failed to comply with the Members’ Code of Conduct, and 

if so, what sanctions should be applied.  

 

(b) Before reaching a decision, the Standards Committee will consider the views 

expressed by the Independent Person, including any views on sanctions to be 

applied and/or recommendations to the Council, a Parish Council, or the 

Monitoring Officer.  

 

(c) Where the complaint has a number of aspects, the Standards Committee may 

reach a finding, apply a sanction and/or make a recommendation on each 

aspect separately.  

 

(d) The Standards Committee will make its decision on the balance of probability, 

based on the evidence before it during the hearing.  

 

(e) The Standards Committee may at any time come out of private session and 

reconvene the hearing in public to seek additional evidence from the 

Investigating Officer, the Subject Member or the witnesses. If further 

information to assist the Committee cannot be presented, then the Committee 

may adjourn the hearing and issue directions as to the additional evidence 

required and from whom.  

 

(f) If evidence presented to the Standards Committee highlights other potential 

breaches of the Council’s or Parish Council’s Members’ Code of Conduct, then 

the chair will outline the Standards Committee’s concerns and recommend that 

the matter be referred to the Monitoring Officer as a new complaint.  

 

(g) Having deliberated on its decision and/or recommendations and the application 

of any sanctions, the Standards Committee will reconvene the hearing in public 

and the chair will announce:  

 

(i) the Standards Committee decision as to whether or not the Subject 

Member has failed to comply with the relevant Members’ Code of 

Conduct, detailing the breaches, and the principal reasons for the 

decision;  

 

(ii) the sanctions (if any) to be applied;  

 

(iii) the recommendations (if any) to be made to the Council or Parish 

Council (as appropriate) and/or Monitoring Officer; and  

 

Page 221



  
 

78 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(iv) that there is no right of appeal against the Standards Committee 

decision and/or recommendations.  

 

8.12 What are the possible sanctions the Standards Committee can determine?   

 

8.12.1 Subject to section 8.12.4 below, where the Standards Committee determines that the 

Subject Member has failed to comply with the relevant Members’ Code of Conduct, 

any one or more of the sanctions below, or any further sanctions deemed appropriate 

by the Standards Committee, may be applied / recommended, within the powers of 

the Committee (this list is not exhaustive):  

 

(a) a recommendation to the Council or Parish Council (as appropriate) that the 

Subject Member be issued with a formal censure (i.e., the issue of an 

unfavourable opinion or judgement or reprimand) by motion;  

 

(b) the issue of an instruction that the Subject Member is removed from specified 

Committee(s) of the Council;  

 

(c) a recommendation to the Mayor that the Subject Member be removed from the 

Executive or removed from particular Executive Portfolio responsibilities;  

 

(d) an instruction to the Monitoring Officer, or the Parish Council (as appropriate), 

to arrange training for the Subject Member;  

 

(e) a recommendation to the Council, or Parish Council (as appropriate), that the 

Subject Member is removed from all outside appointments to which they have 

been appointed or nominated by the Council, Executive or Parish Council;  

 

(f) an instruction to the Monitoring Officer, or Parish Council (as appropriate), to 

withdraw facilities provided to the Subject Member by the Council, or Parish 

Council, such as a computer, website and/or email and internet access;  

 

(g) an instruction to the Monitoring Officer or Parish Council (as appropriate), to 

implement a Communications Plan for the Subject Member;  

 

(h) an instruction to the Monitoring Officer, or Parish Council (as appropriate), to 

exclude the Subject Member from the Council or Parish Council’s offices or 

other premises, except for meeting rooms as necessary for Council or Parish 

Council Committee meetings;  

 

(i) an instruction to the Monitoring Officer, or Parish Council (as appropriate), to 

apply the informal resolution process;  

 

(j) an instruction to the Monitoring Officer, or Parish Council (as appropriate), to 

issue a press release or other form of publicity; or  

 

(k) an instruction to the Monitoring Officer, or Parish Council (as appropriate), to 

restrict the Subject Member’s access to confidential or exempt information.  

 

8.12.2 The Standards Committee has no power to suspend or disqualify the Subject Member 

or to withdraw basic or special responsibility allowances.  

Page 222



  
 

79 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

8.12.3 The Standards Committee may specify that any sanction takes effect immediately or 

takes effect at a later date and/or that the sanction be time limited. If the sanctions are 

not complied with within the timescale directed by the Standards Committee, the 

Monitoring Officer will report the fact to the chair of the Standards Committee, wherein 

further sanctions may be considered by the Standards Committee.  

 

8.12.4 When deciding whether to apply one or more sanctions referred to in section 8.12.1 

above, the Standards Committee will ensure that the application of any sanction is 

reasonable and proportionate to the Subject Member’s behaviour. In determining 

reasonableness, the Standards Committee will consider the following questions along 

with any other relevant circumstances or other factors specific to the local 

environment:  

 

(a) What was the Subject Member’s intention, and did they know that they were 

failing to follow the Council’s or Parish Council’s Members’ Code of Conduct?  

 

(b) Did the Subject Member receive advice from Officers before the incident and 

was that advice acted on in good faith?  

 

(c) Has there been a breach of trust?  

 

(d) Has there been financial impropriety, for example, improper expense claims or 

procedural irregularities?  

 

(e) What was the result / impact of failing to follow the Council’s or Parish Council’s 

Members’ Code of Conduct?  

 

(f) Was there an impact on others?  

 

(g) How serious was the incident?  

 

(h) Does the Subject Member accept that they were at fault?  

 

(i) Did the Subject Member apologise to the relevant persons?  

 

(j) Has the Subject Member previously been reprimanded or warned for similar 

misconduct?  

 

(k) Has the Subject Member previously breached the Council’s or Parish Council’s 

Members’ Code of Conduct?  

 

(l) Is there likely to be a repetition of the incident?  

 

8.13 How and when are Standards Committee decisions and recommendations 

published? 

 

8.13.1 Within five (5) working days of the Standard Committee’s announcement of its 

decision and recommendations, the Monitoring Officer will publish the name of the 

Subject Member and a summary of the Standards Committee’s decision and 

Page 223



  
 

80 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

recommendations, and the reasons for the decision and recommendations, on the 

Council’s website.  

 

8.13.2 Within five (5) working days of the announcement of the Standards Committee’s 

decision, the Monitoring Officer will provide a full written decision and the reasons for 

the decision, including any recommendations, to:  

 

(a) the Subject Member;  

 

(b) the Complainant; and  

 

(c) the clerk to the Parish Council (if appropriate).   

Page 224



  
 

81 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

9 RESPONSIBILITY FOR FUNCTIONS 

 

This section explains the remit of certain Council Committees which have delegated 

responsibility for specific functions, including the Corporate Affairs Committee, Audit 

Committee, the Licensing Committee and the Planning and Development Committee.  

 

9.1 What are the Council’s Standing Committees? 

 

9.1.1 The Council has the following standing Committees, which are responsible for 

exercising specific functions: 

 

(a) Standards Committee;  

 

(b) Corporate Affairs Committee 

 

(c) Audit Committee; 

 

(d) Licensing Committee; and 

 

(e) Planning and Development Committee.  

 

9.1.2 The Procedure Rules for the Standards Committee, including the Procedure Rules 

relating to Standards hearings, are set out in section 8. The Procedure Rules for the 

other Committees are set out in section 9. For the avoidance of doubt, the Council 

Procedure Rules in section 4 apply to all Committees unless otherwise stated in this 

Constitution.  

  

Page 225



  
 

82 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

CORPORATE AFFAIRS COMMITTEE 

This section explains the function of the Corporate Affairs Committee. 

 

9.2 What functions does the Corporate Affairs Committee have?  

 

9.2.1 General 

 

(a) Deal with any matter which is not an Executive Function and that has not been 

delegated to any other Committee.  

 

(b) Consider any items of urgency that would require the approval of the Council, 

as determined by the Head of Paid Service in consultation with the Chair and 

the leader of the Majority Group.  

 

9.3 What is the membership of the Corporate Affairs Committee? 

 

There are 7 Councillors who sit on the Committee. Membership of the Committee is 

politically balanced. 

 

9.4 How is the chair of the Corporate Affairs Committee appointed?   

 

The chair of the Committee is appointed at the Annual Meeting in accordance with 

section 4.12.2(g).  

 

9.5 What is the quorum for Corporate Affairs Committee meetings?  

The quorum for Corporate Affairs Committee meetings is the greater of three (3) and 

one quarter of its whole membership.  

 

  

Page 226



  
 

83 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

AUDIT COMMITTEE 

This section explains the function of the Audit Committee, which fulfils the Council’s statutory 

audit function.  

 

9.6 What functions does the Audit Committee have?  

 

The Audit Committee has delegated powers to:  

 

9.6.1 General 

 

Consider whether appropriate accounting policies have been followed in the Council’s 

annual statement of accounts and whether there are any concerns arising from the 

financial statements or from the audit that need to be brought to the attention of the 

Executive. 

 

9.6.2 Financial 

 

Receive reports on the Council’s treasury and investment management policies, 

practices and activities, including an annual strategy and plan in advance of the year, 

a mid-year review and an annual report after its close in the form prescribed in the 

Council’s treasury management practices and the investment management practices. 

 

9.6.3 External Audit Functions  

 

(a) Advise on the appointment of the Council's external auditor.  

 

(b) Discuss with the external auditor the nature and scope of audit coverage, 

including value for money (VFM). 

 

(c) Review external audit reports and annual audit letters, together with the 

management response, and make recommendations to the Executive. 

 

(d) Examine any other concerns of the external auditors.  

 

9.6.4 Internal Audit Functions  

 

The Council’s internal audit function is delivered by Veritau (Tees Valley). For the 

purposes of this section 9, “Audit Manager” refers to the person within the company 

with designated responsibility for overseeing internal audit of the Council.  

 

(a) Monitor the progress and performance of internal audit.  

 

(b) Review the internal audit annual plan. 

 

(c) Consider significant findings of internal audit reviews and investigations, 

together with management responses, and monitor implementation of agreed 

recommendations. 

 

Page 227



  
 

84 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(d) Advise the Executive on the internal audit function, resourcing and standing 

within the Council. 

 

(e) Ensure co-ordination between internal and external auditors. 

 

(f) Consider the Audit Manager's annual report and comment annually on the 

adequacy and effectiveness of internal audit control systems within the Council. 

 

9.6.5 Risk Management Functions and Business Continuity Functions  

 

(a) Support and monitor the implementation and ongoing processes for identifying 

and managing key risks for the Council. 

 

(b) Ensure that effective and proper processes and procedures are in place to 

ensure business continuity of the Council. 

 

9.6.6 Internal Control Functions  

 

(a) Review the Annual Governance Statement, a statutory document, which 

explains the processes and procedures in place to enable the Council to carry 

out its functions effectively. 

 

(b) Monitor the Council's compliance with its own published standards and controls 

and recommend any necessary changes to the Financial Procedure Rules in 

section 18 and the Contract Procedure Rules in section Error! Reference 

source not found.. 

 

9.6.7 Corporate Governance  

 

(a) Keep under review the Council's arrangements for corporate governance and 

propose any necessary actions to ensure compliance with best practice.   

 

(b) Keep under review corporate policies such as the Whistleblowing Policy and 

Anti-fraud Strategy . 

 

(c) Ensure that effective systems are in place to underpin the Council’s processes 

and ensure the highest standards in respect of audit and corporate governance 

matters. 

 

(d) Maintain an overview of complaints handling and Ombudsman investigations. 

 

(e) To exercise the Council’s functions in relation to the control of pollution or the 

management of air quality pursuant to the Pollution Prevention and Control Act 

199927, Part IV of the Environment Act 199528, Part I of the Environmental 

Protection Act 199029, and the Clean Air Act 199330, including the determination 

                                                
27 Pollution Prevention and Control Act 1999 
28 Environment Act 1995, Part IV 
29 Environmental Protection Act 1990, Part I 
30 Clean Air Act 1993 

Page 228

https://moderngov.middlesbrough.gov.uk/documents/s1602/Appendix%201.pdf
https://moderngov.middlesbrough.gov.uk/Data/Corporate%20Affairs%20and%20Audit%20Committee/202009241530/Agenda/att1018763.pdf
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1999/24/2000-03-21
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1995/25/part/IV
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/43/part/I
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1993/11/contents


  
 

85 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

of applications for variation of authorisations under sections 1031 and 1132 of 

the Environmental Protection Act 1990, and permits under the Regulation 17 

of the Pollution Prevention and Control Regulations 200033, involving a 

substantial change.  

 

9.6.8 Reporting  

 

Report to the Executive or to the Council, as appropriate, with findings and 

recommendations. 

 

9.7 What is the membership of the Audit Committee? 

 

There are 7 Councillors who sit on the Committee. Membership of the Committee is 

politically balanced. 

 

9.8 How is the chair of the Audit Committee appointed?   

 

The chair of the Committee is appointed at the Annual Meeting in accordance with 

section 4.12.2(g).  

 

9.9 What is the quorum for Audit Committee meetings?  

 

The quorum for Audit Committee meetings is the greater of three (3) and one quarter 

of its whole membership.  

  

                                                
31 Environmental Protection Act 1990, section 10 
32 Environmental Protection Act 1990, section 11 
33 Pollution Prevention and Control Regulations 2000, Regulation 17 

Page 229

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/43/section/10
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/43/section/11
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2000/1973/regulation/17/made


  
 

86 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

LICENSING COMMITTEE 

This section sets out the powers and functions of the Council’s Licensing Committee, and its 

Sub-Committees, which is responsible for the Council’s licensing functions. 

9.10 What are the terms of reference of the Licensing Committee? 

 

The Licensing Committee has delegated powers to exercise the functions of the 

Council in relation to all licensing functions except where those functions are 

delegated to an Officer. 

 

9.11 What is the Membership of the Licensing Committee 

 

There are 14 Councillors who sit on the Licensing Committee. Membership of the 

Licensing Committee is politically balanced. 

 

9.12 How is the chair of the Licensing Committee Appointed 

 

The chair of the Licensing Committee is appointed at the Annual Meeting in 

accordance with section 4.12.2(g).  

 

9.13 What is the quorum for Licensing Committee Meetings 

 

The quorum for a Committee meeting will be the greater of four (4) or one quarter of 

the whole of the membership of that Committee. 

 

9.14 What are the main powers and duties of the Licensing Committee? 

 

9.14.1 The Licensing Committee’s main powers and duties include but are not limited to the 

following which it may delegate to its Licensing Sub Committees, in accordance with 

their terms of reference and legislation, or to Officers.  The functions of the Licensing 

Authority through the Licensing Committee or officers are set out in part B of the 

Scheme of Delegations.  

 

9.14.2 The Licensing Committee is responsible for the Council’s licensing functions 

delegated to it under section 101 of the Local Government Act 1972.   

 

9.14.3 The Licensing Committee is the Statutory Committee created under sections 6 and 7 

of the Licensing Act 2003 for functions in relation to the regulation of the supply or 

sale of alcohol, regulated entertainment and the provision of late-night refreshment. 

 

9.14.4 The Licensing Committee is the Statutory Committee created under section 154 of 

the Gambling Act 2005 for functions in relation to the regulation of premises and 

permits used for gambling. 

 

9.14.5 The Licensing Committee has been delegated the functions under the Scrap Metal 

Dealers Act 2013 in relation to licensing of site licences for scrap metal and collectors’ 

licences for mobile collectors of scrap metal.  

 

9.14.6 The main licensing functions under the Licensing Act 2005, Gambling Act 2005 and 

Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013 were delegated to its Licensing Sub Committees under 

those Acts by the Licensing Committee. 

Page 230



  
 

87 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

9.14.7 The Licensing Committee has power to exercise the licensing functions in respect of 

the regulation of the private hire and hackney carriage (or “taxi”) trade under the Town 

Police Clauses Acts 1847 and 1889 and Part II of the Local Government 

(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, including: 

 

(a) The power to licence hackney carriage and private hire vehicle proprietors, 

operators and drivers including reviews of licensees if there are grounds for 

concern which the relevant Chief Officer considers appropriate for the 

Licensing Committee to consider. 

 

(b) To be consulted on the Licensing Authority’s private hire and hackney carriage 

Policy. 

 

(c) Any associated functions under that Act. 

 

9.14.8 The Licensing Committee has power to licence, sex shops, sex cinemas, sex 

establishments and sexual entertainment venues including reviews and to carry out 

associated functions under Part II and Schedule 3 of the Local Government 

Miscellaneous Provisions Act 1982. 

 

9.14.9 The Licensing Committee has the power to determine whether to designate areas for 

street trading as either consent, licensed or prohibited streets and associated 

functions under Part III and Schedule 4 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous 

Provisions) Act 1976. 

 

9.14.10 The Licensing Committee has the power to determine applications for village greens 

or common land and associated functions under the Commons Act 2006 and the 

Commons Registration Act 1965 

 

9.14.11 The functions carried out by the Licensing Committee include: 

 

(a) Imposing any condition, limitation or restriction, or determining any other terms, 

on an approval, consent, licence, permission or registration granted in the 

exercise of its functions. 

 

(b) Determining whether to take enforcement action in respect of any breach of 

any approval, consent, licence, permission or registration granted or breach of 

any condition, limitation or term to which any such approval, consent, licence, 

permission or registration is subject to the exercise of its functions. 

 

(c) Revoking any approval, consent, licence, permission or registration granted in 

the exercise of its functions. 

 

(d) Amending, modifying or varying any approval, consent, licence, permission or 

registration granted in the exercise of its functions or any condition, limitation 

restriction or term to which it is subject. 

 

9.15 What are the Sub-Committees of the Licensing Committee? 

 

Page 231



  
 

88 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

The Licensing Committee has the following Sub-Committees: 

 

(a) Licensing Sub Committee A; 

 

(b) Licensing Sub Committee B; 

 

(c) Licensing Sub Committee C; 

 

(d) Casino Licensing Sub Committee; and 

 

(e) Licensing Sub Committee General 

 

9.16 What are the Terms of Reference of the Sub-Committees 

 

9.16.1 Licensing Sub-Committees A, B and C have delegated powers to exercise the 

Council’s Licensing functions to hear and decide upon applications requests and 

referrals under the Licensing Act 2003 and Gambling Act 2005 except so far as such 

functions have been delegated to Officers.   

 

9.16.2 The Casino Licensing Sub-Committee has powers to determine stages 1 and 2 of any 

“large casino competition” should a competition be launched in accordance with the 

relevant requirements of the Gambling Act 2005, the Council’s Statement of 

Principles, any relevant Regulations, Code of Practice and Guidance.  

 

9.16.3 The Licensing Sub-Committee General has delegated powers to exercise the 

Council’s Licensing functions to hear and decide upon applications, renewals 

variations and revocations of licences under the Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013. 

 

9.17 What is the Membership of the Licensing Sub-Committees 

 

9.17.1 The Licensing Sub-Committees A, B, C and General consist of a Chair and two 

members or the Licensing Committee, who have received training, on a pro rata basis.  

Only a member of the Licensing Committee may substitute a member appointed to a 

Sub Committee, provided they have received training. 

 

9.17.2 The Casino Licensing Sub-Committee Membership will be members of the Licensing 

Committee and appointed by the Licensing Committee or Council, should the Council 

decide to launch a competition for a large casino in Middlesbrough. 

 

9.18 How are the chairs appointed to the Licensing Sub-Committees 

 

9.18.1 The chair of the Licensing Sub-Committee A, Licensing Sub Committee General and 

the Casino Licensing Sub Committee is the Chair of the Licensing Committee 

appointed at the Annual General Meeting. 

 

9.18.2 The chairs of Licensing Sub-Committees B and C are appointed by the Licensing 

Committee.   

 

9.19 What is the quorum for Licensing Sub Committee Meetings 

 

Page 232



  
 

89 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

For a Licensing Sub-Committee meeting or hearing to be held there must be three 

members of the Licensing Committee, being a chair and two members.  The Casino 

Licensing Sub Committee must consist of all the number of members allocated to that 

Sub Committee for a meeting or hearing to be convened. 

 

9.20 What are the main powers and duties of the Licensing Sub Committees 

 

9.20.1 Under the Licensing Act 2003, Licensing Sub Committees A, B and C, the main 

powers and duties include but are not limited to the following: 

 

9.20.2 The regulation of the sale or supply of alcohol, regulated entertainment and late-night 

refreshment.  Determining applications for Personal Licences, Premises Licences, 

Club Premises Certificates, Provisional Statements, Variations, changes to a 

Designated Premises Supervisor, Transfers, Temporary Event Notices and Interim 

Authorities if representations have been received and in the case of Personal 

Licences where there are unspent convictions.  To determine reviews of licences, 

certificates or other permissions under the Act. 

 

9.20.3 Under the Gambling Act 2005, Licensing Sub Committees A, B and C, the main 

powers and duties include but are not limited the regulation of premises used for 

gambling. Determining applications for Premises Licences, Permits, Transfers, 

Provisional Statements and Temporary Use Notices where representations have 

been received, and to determine reviews of licences or permissions. 

 

9.20.4 Under the Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013, Licensing Sub Committee General, the main 

powers and duties include but are not limited to making determinations whether a 

person applying for a licence is suitable, where there are causes for concern, for either 

a Site Licence for a licence to operate areas as a scrap metal dealer or a Collector’s 

Licence to operate as a mobile collector. 

 

9.20.5 Under the Gambling Act 2005, the Casino Licensing Sub Committee will have the 

power to determine the applications for a large casino should the Council decide to 

launch a competition under the Act. 

 

9.20.6 Licensing Sub Committees meetings and hearings are subject to the rules set down 

by respective relevant Acts, the Gambling Act (proceedings of Licensing Committees 

and Sub Committees) (Premises Licences and Provisional Statements) (England and 

Wales) Regulations 2007 the Licensing Act (Hearings) Regulations 2005 together with 

any associated guidance, policy and codes of practice. 

  

Page 233



  
 

90 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE 

This section sets out the powers and functions of the Council’s Planning and Development 

Committee, which is responsible for the Council’s planning and development functions.  

9.21 What are the Planning and Development Committee’s terms of reference? 

 

The Planning and Development Committee has delegated powers to exercise the 

powers of the Council to deal with all planning and development functions, except 

where those functions are delegated to an Officer. 

 

9.22 What is the membership of the Planning and Development Committee? 

 

There are 10 Councillors who sit on the Planning and Development Committee. 

Membership of the Planning and Development Committee is politically balanced. 

 

9.23 How is the chair of the Planning and Development Committee appointed? 

 

The chair of the Committee is appointed at the Annual Meeting in accordance with 

section 4.12.2(g).  

 

9.24 What is the quorum for a Planning and Development Committee meeting?  

The quorum for Corporate Affairs Committee meetings is the greater of three (3) and 

one quarter of its whole membership.  

 

9.25 What are the powers and duties of the Planning and Development Committee? 

 

9.25.1 The Planning and Development Committee has the following powers: 

 

(a) Power to require information as to interests in land. 

 

(b) Duty to give notice etc. of applications for planning permission. 

 

(c) Power to determine applications for planning permission. 

 

(d) Power to decline to determine applications for planning permission. 

 

(e) Power to grant planning permission for development already carried out. 

 

(f) Power to grant or refuse planning permission for development without 

complying with conditions to which previous planning permission is subject. 

 

(g) Power to determine application for planning permission made by a local 

authority, alone or jointly with another person. 

 

(h) To determine the making of Tree Preservation Orders and to determine 

applications for consent to take action in relation to trees within Tree 

Preservation Orders.  

 

(i) To consider and adopt supplementary planning guidance relating to 

Development Control matters and to develop Local Planning Guidance.  

Page 234



  
 

91 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

(j) Conservation Area Boundary Reviews and Designation and Conservation Area 

Character Assessments.  

 

(k) Power to issue a certificate for existing proposed lawful use or development. 

 

(l) Duties relating to applications for listed building consent and conservation area 

consent. 

 

(m) Power to apply for an injunction in relation to a listed building. 

 

(n) Power to grant consent for the display of advertisements. 

 

(o) Power to determine applications for listed building consent and related powers. 

 

(p) Power to determine applications for conservation area consent. 

 

(q) Power to issue enforcement notices in relation to demolition of unlisted 

buildings in a conservation area. 

 

9.25.2 The Planning and Development Committee’s functions include: 

 

(a) Imposing any condition, limitation or restriction, or determining any other terms, 

on an approval, consent, licence, permission or registration granted in the 

exercise of its functions. 

 

(b) Determining whether to take enforcement action in respect of any breach of 

any approval, consent, licence, permission or registration granted or breach of 

any condition, limitation or term to which any such approval, consent, licence, 

permission or registration is subject to the exercise of its functions. 

 

(c) Revoking any approval, consent, licence, permission or registration granted in 

the exercise of its functions. 

 

(d) Amending, modifying or varying any approval, consent, licence, permission or 

registration granted in the exercise of its functions or any condition, limitation 

restriction or term to which it is subject.  

 

(e) Determining whether a charge should be made, and the amount of any such 

charge, for any approval, consent, licence, permission or registration where 

there is a power to charge and the amount of the charge is not otherwise 

prescribed. 

  

Page 235



  
 

92 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

10 JOINT ARRANGEMENTS 

 

This section explains when and how the Council may enter into Joint Arrangements. 

It also gives details of Joint Arrangements that the Council has entered into with other 

local authorities.  

 

10.1 What are Joint Arrangements? 

 

There are circumstances where the Council or the Executive is entitled to carry out 

certain functions jointly with another local authority. Joint Arrangements apply to how 

the Council works with other local authorities.  

 

10.2 When will the Council enter Joint Arrangements? 

 

In order to promote the economic, social or environmental well-being of the Borough, 

the Executive may:  

 

(a) enter into arrangements or agreements with any person or body; 

 

(b) co-operate with, or facilitate or co-ordinate the activities of, any person or body; 

and  

 

(c) exercise on behalf of that person or body any functions of that person or body.  

 

10.3 How do Joint Arrangements operate?   

 

10.3.1 The Council may establish Joint Arrangements with one or more local authorities 

and/or their executives to exercise functions which are not Executive Functions in any 

of the participating authorities, or to advise the Council.  

 

10.3.2 The Executive may establish Joint Arrangements with one or more bodies to exercise 

Executive Functions. Joint committees may be set up to exercise these functions.  

Only Executive Members can sit on these committees, and they do not need to be 

politically balanced.  

 

10.3.3 If a joint committee is concerned with functions that affect only a part of the Borough 

which is smaller than two-fifths of the total by area or population, the Executive may 

appoint Councillors who are not Executive Members to the joint committee. Any such 

Councillor should be the Member for a Ward contained in the Borough covered by the 

joint committee.   

 

10.3.4 Details of any Joint Arrangements including any delegations to joint committees will 

be recorded in the Scheme of Delegations.  

 

10.3.5 The Access to Information Procedure Rules in section 16 of this Constitution apply to 

any Joint Arrangement.  

 

10.4 What Joint Arrangements does the Council have in place?  

 

JOINT HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD  

Page 236



  
 

93 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

The Council has established a Single Health and Wellbeing Board with Redcar and 

Cleveland Borough Council. The Board’s aims are to:  

 

(b) provide strategic direction for health and wellbeing related initiatives. 

 

(c) ensure that the councils have strategic influence over commissioning decisions 

across health, public health and social care;  

 

(d) strengthen democratic legitimacy by involving democratically elected 

representatives and patient representatives in commissioning decisions 

alongside commissioners across health and social care; 

 

(e) provide a forum for challenge, discussion, and the involvement of local people 

in health and social care decision-making; 

 

(f) ensure the Joint Strategic Needs (and assets) Assessment (JSNA) is 

undertaken and develop a joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy to address 

needs and improve health and wellbeing outcomes. This will include supporting 

the development of joint commissioning and integrating services across health 

and care where this makes sense; and 

 

(g) create a more effective and responsive local health and care system. Other 

services that impact on health and wellbeing such as housing and education 

provision will also be addressed.  

 

(h) liaise with the Integrated Care Board.  

 

TEESSIDE PENSION FUND COMMITTEE 

 

See section 23 for the role and functions of the Teesside Pension Fund Committee.  

 

10.5 How is delegation to and from other local authorities managed?  

 

10.5.1 The Council may delegate Non-Executive Functions to another local authority or, 

where those functions are the responsibility of the executive of another local authority, 

to that executive. 

 

10.5.2 The Executive may delegate Executive Functions to another local authority or the 

executive of another local authority in certain circumstances.  

 

10.5.3 The decision to accept a delegation from another local authority is made by Full 

Council. 

 

  

Page 237



  
 

94 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

11 OFFICERS 

 

This section sets out the role of Officers, and their management and employment 

arrangements. It also explains the roles of the three statutory officers: the Head of 

Paid Service (who is the Chief Executive at Middlesbrough), the Monitoring Officer 

and the Chief Finance Officer.  

 

11.1 What is the management structure for Officers?   

 

11.1.1 General 

 

The Council may engage such staff (referred to as Officers) as it considers necessary 

to carry out the functions of the Council.  

 

11.1.2 Statutory Officers 

 

(a) Certain posts are required by law.  

 

(b) The Council will designate the following posts as shown:  

 

Council post 
 

Designation Role 

Chief Executive  
 

Head of Paid Service Responsible for 
management functions 
 

Director of Legal and 
Governance Services  
  

Monitoring Officer  Responsible for the 
lawfulness and fairness of 
Council decision-making 
 

Director of Finance  Chief Finance Officer 
 

The Council’s 
‘Responsible Finance 
Officer’ 
 

 

11.1.3 Restrictions on posts 

 

(a) The Monitoring Officer may not be the Head of Paid Service or the Chief 

Finance Officer34.   

 

(b) The Chief Finance Officer may not be the Monitoring Officer35.  

 

11.1.4 Structure 

 

The Head of Paid Service will determine and publicise a description of the overall 

structure of the Council showing the management structure and deployment of 

Officers.  

 

11.2 What does the Head of Paid Service do?  

                                                
34 Local Government and Housing Act, section 5 
35 Local Government and Housing Act, section 5 

Page 238

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/42/section/5
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/42/section/5


  
 

95 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

The Head of Paid Service may report to Council on the way the discharge of the 

Council’s functions is co-ordinated, the number and grade of Officers required for the 

discharge of those functions and the organisation of Officers. 

 

11.3 What does the Monitoring Officer do?   

 

11.3.1 Reviewing and maintaining the Constitution  

 

The Monitoring Officer will review and maintain the Council’s Constitution as set out 

in section 2.  

 

11.3.2 Ensuring lawfulness and fairness of decision-making 

 

(a) If the Monitoring Officer considers that a proposal, decision or omission of the 

Council or the Executive would give rise to unlawfulness or maladministration, 

they will report this to Full Council or the Executive (as appropriate, depending 

on the nature of the function to which it relates). Before making a report, the 

Monitoring Officer will consult with the Head of Paid Service and the Chief 

Finance Officer.  

 

(b) The proposal or decision will not be implemented until the report has been 

considered.  

 

11.3.3 Supporting the Standards Committee  

 

The Monitoring Officer will contribute to the promotion and maintenance of high 

standards of conduct by supporting the Standards Committee.  

 

11.3.4 Conducting investigations 

 

The Monitoring Officer will conduct or secure investigations, or arrange for 

investigations to be conducted, into complaints made under the Members’ Code of 

Conduct and make reports and/or recommendations in respect of them to the 

Standards Committee.  

 

11.3.5 Proper Officer for access to information  

 

The Monitoring Officer will ensure that Executive decisions, together with the reasons 

for those decisions and relevant Officer reports and background papers, are made 

publicly available as soon as possible.  

 

11.3.6 Advising whether Executive decisions are within the Budget and Policy Framework  

 

The Monitoring Officer will, in conjunction with the Chief Finance Officer, advise 

whether decisions of the Executive are in accordance with the Budget and Policy 

Framework. 

 

11.3.7 Providing advice 

 

Page 239



  
 

96 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

The Monitoring Officer will advise Councillors and the Mayor on the scope of their 

powers and authority to take decisions, maladministration, financial impropriety, 

probity and Budget and Policy Framework issues.  

 

11.3.8 Other responsibilities   

 

The Monitoring Officer is also responsible for corporate Complaints, Ombudsman 

cases and whistleblowing. The Monitoring Officer may delegate these responsibilities 

to other Officers.  

 

11.4 What does the Chief Finance Officer do?  

 

The Chief Finance Officer is the Council’s most senior financial Officer and fulfils the 

statutory role of Chief Finance Officer.   

 

11.4.1 Ensuring lawfulness and financial prudence of decision making  

 

(a) If the Chief Finance Officer considers that a proposal, decision or course of 

action of the Council will involve incurring unlawful expenditure or is unlawful 

and is likely to cause a loss or deficiency, or if the Council is about to enter an 

item of account unlawfully, they will report this to Full Council or the Executive 

(as appropriate, depending on the nature of the function to which it relates). 

Before making a report, the Chief Finance Officer will consult with the Head of 

Paid Service and the Monitoring Officer.  

 

(b) The proposal or decision will not be implemented until the report has been 

considered.  

 

11.4.2 Administration of financial affairs 

 

The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for the administration of the Council’s 

financial affairs.  

 

11.4.3 Contributing to corporate management 

 

The Chief Finance Officer will contribute to the corporate management of the Council, 

in particular through the provision of professional financial advice.  

 

11.4.4 Providing advice 

 

The Chief Finance Officer will advise Councillors and the Mayor on the scope of their 

powers and authority to take decisions, maladministration, financial impropriety, 

probity and Budget and Policy Framework and the Mayor, and will support and advise 

Councillors and Officers in their respective roles.  

 

11.4.5 Give financial information 

 

The Chief Finance Officer will provide appropriate financial information to the media, 

members of the public and the community.  

 

Page 240



  
 

97 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

11.5 How are the Head of Paid Service, the Monitoring Officer and the Chief Finance 

Officer supported in their role?  

 

The Council will provide the resources and Officers it deems sufficient to support the 

Head of Paid Service, the Monitoring Officer and the Chief Finance Officer in 

performing their duties.  

 

11.6 How should Officers behave?  

 

Officers will comply with the Officers’ Code of Conduct and the Protocol on Member / 

Officer Relations set out in section 24 of this Constitution.  

 

OFFICER EMPLOYMENT PROCEDURE RULES 

 

11.7 What are the employment arrangements for Officers?  

 

The recruitment, selection and dismissal of Officers will comply with the Officer 

Employment Rules set out in section 11 of this Constitution. 

 

11.8 Who can be appointed as an Officer?  

 

11.8.1 Declarations 

 

(a) Any candidate for appointment as an Officer, must state in writing whether they 

are the husband, wife, parent, grandparent, partner, child, stepchild, adopted 

child, grandchild, sibling, uncle, aunt, nephew, niece or close personal friend of 

the Mayor, a Councillor, an Officer, or of the partner of such persons. 

 

(b) No candidate so related to the Mayor, a Councillor or an Officer will be 

appointed without the authority of the relevant Chief Officer or an Officer 

nominated by them. 

 

11.8.2 Seeking support for an appointment 

 

(a) The Council will disqualify any applicant who directly or indirectly seeks the 

support of the Mayor, any Councillor or any Officer or the Head of Governors 

of any educational establishment for any appointment with the Council. The 

content of this paragraph will be included in any recruitment information. 

 

(b) No Councillor, nor the Mayor, will seek support for any person for any 

appointment with the Council or give a reference for any person for any 

appointment with the Council. 

 

11.9 How are Chief Officers recruited?  

 

11.9.1 Where the Council proposes to appoint a Head of Paid Service, a Chief Officer, 

Monitoring Officer, Chief Finance Officer or other statutory or non-statutory Chief 

Officer36 and it is not proposed that the appointment be made exclusively from among 

their existing officers, the Council will: 

                                                
36 Local Government Act 1989, section 2(6) and (7) 

Page 241

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/42/section/2


  
 

98 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

(a) draw up a statement specifying: 

 

(i) the duties of the Officer concerned; and 

 

(ii) any qualifications or qualities to be sought in the person to be 

appointed; 

 

(b) make arrangements for the post to be advertised in such a way as is likely to 

bring it to the attention of persons who are qualified to apply for it; 

 

(c) make arrangements for a copy of the statement mentioned in (a) above to be 

brought to the attention of potential applicants. 

 

OFFICER APPOINTMENTS 

 

11.10 How are Chief Officers appointed? 

 

11.10.1 A “Chief Officer Appointments Committee” of seven Members nominated annually by 

the Council, which shall include the Mayor, the Deputy Mayor and the relevant 

Executive Portfolio holder, shall appoint the Head of Paid Service. The appointment 

shall be approved by Full Council following the recommendation of the Chief Officer 

Appointments Committee.  

 

11.10.2 Full Council may approve the appointment of the Head of Paid Service provided that 

no well-founded objection has been received from an Executive Member within three 

(3) days of notification of the Chief Officer Appointments Committee’s 

recommendation.  

 

11.10.3 The Chief Officer Appointments Committee will appoint Chief Officers, including the 

Monitoring Officer and the Chief Finance Officer, unless such appointment is on an 

interim basis (six months or less). 

 

11.10.4 Interim appointments of Chief Officers are to be made by the Head of Paid Service. 

 

11.10.5 An offer of employment can be made in respect of a Chief Officer post save where an 

Executive Member provides a well-founded objection to the appointment within the 

timeframe set out in section 11.10.2 above.  

 

11.11 How are other Officers appointed? 

 

11.11.1 Officers who are not Chief Officers will be appointed by the relevant line manager in 

accordance with the Council’s Recruitment and Selection Procedure. Members are 

not involved in the recruitment of Officers who are not Chief Officers.  

POLITICAL ASSISTANTS  

 

11.12 What is a Political Assistant and how are they appointed?  

 

11.12.1 A Political Assistant is a person who is appointed to assist members of a political 

group within the Council in discharging their functions.  

Page 242



  
 

99 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

11.12.2 A Political Assistant may be appointed by any Group which qualifies for one37 and to 

which such a post has been allocated by the Council.  

 

11.12.3 Each Group which qualifies for a Political Assistant may only appoint one. The Council 

will only allocate a maximum of three posts of Political Assistant and these shall be 

allocated to the three largest Groups who qualify.  

 

11.12.4 Political Assistants will be appointed by the Head of Paid Service in consultation with 

the relevant Group Leader or their nominee. The Group Leader or their nominee shall 

be entitled to attend any interview for the relevant Political Assistant.  

 

11.13 Can the Mayor appoint an assistant?  

 

The Mayor may appoint an assistant to assist them in the discharge of their functions. 

Any such assistant will be appointed as an employee of the Council38.   

 

11.14 What happens when the Council is responsible for appointing someone but not 

for employing them?  

 

Where the Council is responsible for appointing someone but not for employing them, 

the appointment will be the responsibility of the relevant Chief Officer in line with 

relevant guidance and/or the Council’s Recruitment and Selection Procedure.  

DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURES  

 

11.15 What are the Council’s disciplinary procedures for Officers?  

 

11.15.1 Statutory Officers 

 

Disciplinary action in respect of Statutory Officers shall be conducted in accordance 

with the in the relevant statutory procedure39.  

 

11.15.2 Other Chief Officers 

 

Disciplinary action in respect of Chief Officers who are not Statutory Officers shall be 

conducted in accordance with Part Four of the Conditions of Service of the Joint 

Negotiating Committee of Chief Officers of Local Authorities.  

 

11.15.3 Other Officers 

 

(a) Involvement of Councillors and the Mayor 

 

Councillors and the Mayor will not be involved in any disciplinary action relating 

to Officers who are not Chief Officers except: 

 

(i) Where their involvement is necessary for any investigation or inquiry 

into alleged misconduct; or  

                                                
37 Local Government and Housing Act 1989, section 9 
38 The Local Authorities (Elected Mayor and Mayor’s Assistant) (England) Regulations 2002, section 3 
39 The Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) Regulations 2001, Schedule 3 

Page 243

https://www.emcouncils.gov.uk/write/JNC%20for%20Chief%20Officers%20handbook.pdf
https://www.emcouncils.gov.uk/write/JNC%20for%20Chief%20Officers%20handbook.pdf
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/42/section/9
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2002/975/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2001/3384/schedule/3/made


  
 

100 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

(ii) As a member of the Council’s Staff Appeals Committee (the body with 

delegated powers to hear relevant staff appeals against grievances, 

dismissal etc.) for the purpose of hearing appeals.  

 

  

Page 244



  
 

101 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE 

 

 

  

Page 245



  
 

102 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

12 FINANCE, CONTRACTS AND LEGAL MATTERS 

 

This section sets out how the Council’s finances are managed, how it enters into 

contracts, and who is responsible for legal matters relating to the Council. It also 

explains how the Council’s Common Seal is used.  

 

12.1 How are the Council’s finances managed?   

 

The Council’s financial affairs are managed as set out in the Financial Procedure 

Rules in section 18 of this Constitution.  

 

12.2 How are contracts entered into by the Council?  

 

Every contract made by the Council will comply with the Contract Procedure Rules in 

section Error! Reference source not found. of this Constitution.   

 

12.3 Who is responsible for legal proceedings in which the Council is involved?   

 

The Monitoring Officer is authorised to institute, defend or participate in any legal 

proceedings in any case where such action is necessary to give effect to decisions of 

the Council or in any case where the Monitoring Officer considers that such action is 

necessary to protect the Council’s interests.  

 

12.4 How are Council documents authenticated?   

 

Where any document is necessary to any legal procedure or proceedings on behalf 

of the Council, it will be signed by the Monitoring Officer or other person authorised 

by them, unless any enactment otherwise authorises or requires, or the Council has 

given requisite authority to some other person.  

 

12.5 How does the Council execute documents?   

 

12.5.1 The Council may execute documents under seal, or by signing the relevant document. 

Whether the Council is required to execute a document under seal will depend on the 

nature of the document.  

 

12.5.2 The Monitoring Officer is responsible for the Council’s common seal and will keep it 

in a safe place.   

 

12.5.3 If the Council has decided on a matter, that decision (or a part of it) will be authority 

to execute any related document.   

 

12.5.4 The Monitoring Officer will decide when the common seal should be affixed to a 

document. The Monitoring Officer, or another person authorised by them, will attest 

affixing of the common seal.   

 

  

Page 246



  
 

103 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

13 DECISION-MAKING  

 

The purpose of this section is to set out who is responsible for making the various 

decisions of the Council. It also explains the principles under which decision-making 

powers are delegated to different people. Full detail of who can make decisions in 

relation to a specific function is set out in the Scheme of Delegation.  

 

13.1 Who are the Council’s decision makers?  

 

13.1.1 Under this Constitution, there are a number of different decision makers:  

 

(a) Full Council; 

 

(b) a Committee or its sub-committee(s); 

 

(c) the Mayor; 

 

(d) the Executive;  

 

(e) a Committee of the Executive;  

 

(f) an individual Executive Member;  

 

(g) a Joint Committee; and 

 

(h) an Officer.   

 

13.1.2 The Council will maintain a Scheme of Delegation setting out who within the Council 

is responsible for different decisions.  

 

13.2 On which principles is Council decision-making based?   

 

13.2.1 The principles underpinning Council decision-making are:  

 

(a) proportionality (i.e., the action must be proportionate to the desired outcome); 

  

(b) due consultation and the taking of professional advice from Officers;  

 

(c) respect for human rights; 

 

(d) a presumption in favour of openness;  

 

(e) clarity of aims and desired outcomes;  

 

(f) the giving of reasons for a decision (including options considered).  

 

13.3 How are delegations of Council functions recorded? 

 

Page 247



  
 

104 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

The Council will maintain the tables in Part 1 of the Scheme of Delegations setting out 

the responsibilities for the Council’s function which are not Executive Functions40.  

 

13.4 Which decisions are made by Full Council? 

 

13.4.1 The Council is the decision-making body for all Non-Executive Functions, and any 

functions reserved to Full Council by law. It may delegate many of those functions to 

a Committee or an Officer. The functions of Full Council are set out in section 4.   

 

13.4.2 The Council Procedure Rules in section 4 of this Constitution set out how Full Council 

makes decisions.  

 

13.5 Which decisions are made by the Executive?  

 

13.5.1 The Executive makes decisions in relation to all Executive Functions. The functions 

of the Executive are set out in section 6.  

 

13.5.2 The Executive Procedure Rules in section 6 of this Constitution set out how the 

Executive makes decisions.  

 

13.6 Which decisions are made by the Overview and Scrutiny Board? 

 

13.6.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Board makes decisions in relation to its functions. The 

functions of the Overview and Scrutiny Board are set out in section 7.  

 

13.6.2 The Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules in section 7 of this Constitution set out 

how the Overview and Scrutiny Board makes decisions. 

 

13.7 Which decisions are made by other Committees? 

 

13.7.1 Other Committees make decisions in relation to the functions that have been 

delegated to them. The functions of the Standards Committee are set out in section 8 

and the functions of the Corporate Affairs Committee, and the Audit Committee, the 

Licensing Committee and the Planning and Development Committee are set out in 

section 9. The functions of any other Committee will be as described in its terms of 

reference.  

 

13.7.2 The Council Procedure Rules in section 4 of this Constitution set out how Committees 

make decisions (unless provided otherwise in this Constitution). 

 

13.8 How does a Council body make a decision when acting as a tribunal? 

 

The Council, a Councillor or an Officer acting as a tribunal or in a quasi-judicial manner 

or determining / considering (other than for the purposes of giving advice) the civil 

rights and obligations or the criminal responsibility of any person will follow a proper 

procedure which accords with the requirements of natural justice and the right to a fair 

trial as contained in Article 6 of the European Convention on Human Rights.  

 

13.9 Which decisions are made by Officers?  

                                                
40 Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000 

Page 248

https://www.echr.coe.int/Documents/Convention_ENG.pdf
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2000/2853/contents/made


  
 

105 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

13.9.1 Decisions may be delegated to Officers by Full Council, the Executive, a Committee 

or a Joint Committee, either under a general authorisation, or a specific express 

authorisation under the Scheme of Delegation. Any decision made under a delegated 

authority should be recorded in writing if it is a significant organisational / operational 

decision taken in relation to Council / Executive functions, which is not a Key Decision 

or a routine organisational / operational decision.  

 

13.9.2 For the avoidance of doubt, it is not necessary for Officers to record in writing routine 

organisational / operational decisions taken in relation to Council / Executive functions 

which are neither Key Decisions nor significant decisions and:  

 

(a) are within an approved Budget;  

 

(b) do not conflict with the Budget and Policy Framework or other approved 

policies; and  

 

(c) do not raise new issues of policy,  

 

unless otherwise required by law.  

 

13.10 What is a “Key Decision”41? 

 

13.10.1 A Key Decision is a decision that: 

 

(a) will incur expenditure or savings in excess of the financial threshold set out in 

the Financial Limits Annex or more; or  

 

(b) will have a significant impact on two or more Wards.  

 

Key Decisions must be made in accordance with the Executive Procedure Rules set 

out in section 6 of this Constitution.  

 

13.10.2 The Council will, unless it is impracticable to do so, treat as if it were a Key Decision 

any decision which is likely to have a significant impact on communities in one Ward 

or electoral division. Where a decision is only likely to have a significant impact on a 

very small number of people in one Ward or electoral division, the decision-maker will 

ensure that those people are nevertheless informed of the forthcoming decision in 

sufficient time for them to exercise their rights to see the relevant papers and input 

into the decision-making process. The Council will also have regard to the existence 

of significant communities of interest that cannot be defined spatially in determining 

whether a decision is a Key Decision pursuant to this section 13.10.2.  

 

13.10.3 The following will also be Key Decisions: 

 

(a) a proposal by the Executive to amend the Policy Framework;  

 

                                                
41 The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) 
Regulations 2012, paragraph 8 

Page 249

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2089/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2089/made


  
 

106 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(b) a decision by the Executive to amend the Policy Framework where the Council 

has granted it power to do so; and 

 

(c) the Executive’s response to a report of the Overview and Scrutiny Board or a 

Scrutiny Panel when the decision is to implement an action and the Key 

Decision thresholds are met.  

 

13.10.4 A decision will not be a Key Decision if it relates to: 

 

(a) a bid for funding in excess of the Key Decision threshold specified in the 

Financial Limits Annex where a further report will be submitted to the Executive 

for approval if the bid is successful; 

 

(b) inevitable expenditure for the day-to-day delivery of Services (for example, 

supplies, salaries and wages), as determined by the Head of Paid Service;  

 

(c) a transaction which is carried out as part of the efficient administration of the 

Council’s finances within the Council’s agreed policies (for example, Treasury 

management); 

 

(d) an invitation to tender or the signing of a contract to: 

 

(i) fulfil the policy intention of a Key Decision;  

 

(ii) implement a policy under the Budget and Policy Framework;  

 

(iii) implement a capital project named in the approved capital programme; 

or  

 

(iv) provide for the continuation of an approved policy or Service; 

 

(e) a proposal that is included in Budget in sufficient detail for it to be understood 

by interested parties; and 

 

(f) care packages, service responses and expenditure for care and 

accommodation which relate to individual service users, and which are exempt. 

 

13.11 How are Key Decisions published?   

 

A Key Decision must be published on the Council’s Forward Plan 28 days before the 

decision is taken. Where the publication of the intention to take a Key Decision is 

impractical, the Chair of Overview and Scrutiny Board must be informed. 

  

Page 250



  
 

107 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

14 FINANCIAL AND CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES (STANDING ORDERS) 

 

14.1 What are the Standing Orders? 

 

14.1.1 The Chief Finance Officer shall prepare and maintain a document containing the rules 

(Standing Orders) to be followed in respect of financial and contract procedures, which 

shall be referred to as the Financial and Contract Procedure Rules (Standing Orders). 

They are divided into the Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations) and the 

Contract Procedure Rules.  

 

14.1.2 The Financial Procedure Rules are set out in section 18 and the Contract Procedure 

Rules are set out in section Error! Reference source not found. and shall be 

considered part of this Constitution and are hereby deemed incorporated into this 

Constitution.  

 

14.1.3 All financial transactions and contract proceedings of the Council must be carried out 

in accordance with the Financial and Contract Procedure Rules. 

 

 

  

Page 251



  
 

108 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

15 SCHEME OF DELEGATIONS 

 

15.1 What is the Scheme of Delegations?  

 

15.1.1 The Monitoring Officer, on behalf of the Council, shall prepare and maintain a register 

of delegations from the Council and the Mayor to Committees, Executive Members, 

and Officers, which shall be referred to as the Scheme of Delegations.  

 

15.1.2 The Scheme of Delegations shall be considered part of this Constitution and is hereby 

deemed incorporated into this Constitution. 

 

15.1.3 The exercise of all powers not contained in the Scheme of Delegations must be 

subject to an explicit authority from the Council, the Mayor or the Executive, as 

appropriate. 

 

 

Page 252



  
 

109 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

16 ACCESS TO INFORMATION PROCEDURE RULES 

 

These rules set out how and when members of the public may attend Council 

meetings, and public rights of access to information relating to the Council. They also 

cover Member rights of access to information relating to Executive decisions.  

 

16.1 What is the scope of these Procedure Rules?  

 

16.1.1 These rules apply to all meetings of the Council, the Executive, the Overview and 

Scrutiny Board Overview and Scrutiny Panels, the Standards Committee, and 

regulatory Committees.   

 

16.1.2 These rules do not apply to the Licensing Committee42.   

 

16.2 How do these Rules relate to other public access rights?   

 

These rules do not affect any more specific rights to information contained elsewhere 

in this Constitution or the law.  

 

16.3 Where can I find more information about how to access information relating to 

the Council? 

 

16.3.1 Citizens can find more information about how to access the information to which they 

are entitled in the Council’s Public Information and Information Requests Policy.  

 

16.3.2 Members can find more information about how to access the information to which they 

are entitled in the Access to Information Procedures.  

ATTENDING COUNCIL MEETINGS  

 

16.4 When may members of the public attend Council meetings?   

 

Members of the public may attend all Council meetings, subject only to the exceptions 

in these rules.  

 

16.5 How much notice with the Council give before a meeting?  

 

16.5.1 Unless a meeting is convened at short notice, the Council will give at least five (5) 

working days’ notice of any meeting by posting details of the meeting on the public 

notice board inside the main reception of the Town Hall, and on its website. 

 

16.5.2 Where it is necessary to hold a meeting, or part of a meeting in private and exclude 

the press and public in order to consider exempt or confidential information, (whether 

during the whole or part of the proceedings at the meeting) the reasons will be 

specified in the resolution to exclude the press and public. The reasons will depend 

on the nature of the business to be transacted.  

ACCESS TO MEETING DOCUMENTS  

 

                                                
42 Licensing Act2003, section 9 

Page 253

https://middlesbrough-council-middlesbrough.opendata.arcgis.com/documents/Middlesbrough::public-information-and-information-requests-policy-2022-2025/explore
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/part/2/crossheading/licensing-committees


  
 

110 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

16.6 What access will the public have to meeting agendas and reports before the 

meeting?   

 

16.6.1 The Council will make copies of the agendas of meetings that are open to the public 

available for inspection at the main reception of the Town Hall and on its website at 

least five (5) working days before the meeting. If an item is added to the agenda later, 

the revised agenda will be open to inspection from the time the item was added to the 

agenda. 

 

16.6.2 The Council will make copies of the reports available on its website and upon request 

to Democratic Services. Where reports are prepared after the agenda has been sent 

out, the Council shall make each such report available to the public as soon as the 

report is completed and sent to Councillors. 

 

16.7 When will the Council provide copies of documents?   

 

16.7.1 The Council will make available for the use of members of the public present at 

meetings, a reasonable number of copies of the agenda and of those reports which 

are open to the public.  

 

16.7.2 The Council will supply copies of the following to any person on request: 

 

(a) any agenda and reports which are open to public inspection;  

 

(b) any further statements or particulars necessary to indicate the nature of the 

items in the agenda; and  

 

(c) if the Proper Officer thinks fit, copies of any other documents supplied to 

Members and the Mayor in connection with an item.  

A charge will apply for copying and postage.  

 

16.7.3 Copies will also be made available on the Council’s website. which can be 

downloaded free of charge.  

 

16.7.4 Copies of documents supplied to members of the public, in respect of which the 

Council is the copyright holder, may be reproduced in any publicly available medium.  

 

16.8 How can minutes of meetings be accessed?   

 

The Council will publish on its website and make available hard copies of the following 

documents for six (6) years after the date of a meeting: 

 

(a) the minutes of the meeting or, in the case of meetings of the Executive, records 

of decisions taken including the reasons for those decisions, excluding any part 

of the minutes, or record of decisions, when the meeting was not open to the 

public or which disclose exempt or confidential information; 

 

(b) a summary of any proceedings not open to the public where the minutes open 

to inspection would not provide a reasonably fair and coherent record; 

 

Page 254



  
 

111 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(c) the agenda for the meeting; and 

 

(d) reports relating to items when the meeting was open to the public. 

 

16.9 How are background papers provided to the public? 

 

16.9.1 List of background papers  

 

(a) The Officer preparing the report will set out in every report a list of those 

documents (called background papers) relating to the subject matter of the 

report which in their opinion:  

 

(i) disclose any facts or matters on which the report or an important part 

of the report is based; and  

 

(ii) which have been relied on to a material extent in preparing the report. 

 

(b) This does not include any published works or those which disclose exempt or 

confidential information (as defined in section 16.12) and/or in respect of 

reports to the Executive, the advice of a political adviser, or any draft report or 

document.  

 

16.9.2 Public inspection of background papers 

 

The Council will make available, on request, for public inspection for four (4) years 

after the date of a formal Committee meeting one (1) copy of each of the documents 

on the list of background papers.  

SUMMARY OF PUBLIC ACCESS RIGHTS 

 

16.10 Where are the public’s rights summarised?   

 

These Access to Information Procedure Rules are a written summary of the public’s 

rights to attend meetings and to inspect and copy documents. A copy of these rules 

will be kept at the Council’s principal offices and will be made available for public 

inspection.   

EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC FROM MEETINGS  

 

16.11 When can members of the public be excluded from Council meetings?   

 

16.11.1 Confidential information: requirement to exclude public  

 

The public must be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely in view of the nature 

of the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings that confidential 

information would be disclosed.  

 

16.11.2 Meaning of confidential information  

 

Confidential information means information given to the Council by a Government 

Department on terms which forbid its public disclosure or information the disclosure 

of which to the public is prohibited by or under another Act or by Court Order. 

Page 255



  
 

112 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

  

16.11.3 Exempt information: discretion to exclude public  

 

(a) The public may be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely in view of the 

nature of the business to be transacted that exempt information would be 

disclosed.  

 

(b) Where the meeting will determine any person’s civil rights or obligations, or 

adversely affect their possessions, Article 6 of the Human Rights Act 199843 

establishes a presumption that the meeting will be held in public unless a 

private hearing is necessary for one of the reasons specified in Article 6.  

 

16.12 What is “exempt information”?  

 

16.12.1 Exempt information means information falling within any of the categories set out in 

the following table, subject to the qualifications and interpretations in Parts 2 and 3 of 

Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 197244. 

 

16.12.2 Information falling within any of paragraphs 1-7 in the table below is not exempt 

information if it relates to a proposed development for which the local planning 

authority may grant itself planning permission under regulation 3 of the Town and 

Country Planning General Regulations 199245.  

 

Category 
 

Condition  

1. Information relating to any individual.  
 

Public interest test applies (see below) 
 

2. Information which is likely to reveal 
the identity of an individual.  
 

Public interest test applies (see below) 
 

3. Information relating to the financial or 
business affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding that 
information).  
 

Information is not exempt if it is required 
to be registered under: 
 

 The Companies Act 1985; 

 The Friendly Societies Act 1974; 

 The Friendly Societies Act 1992; 

 The Industrial and Provident 
Societies Acts 1965 to 1978; 

 The Building Societies Act 1986; 
or 

 The Charities Act 1993 
 
Public interest test applies (see below) 
 

4. Information relating to any 
consultations or negotiations, or 
contemplated consultations or 
negotiations, in connection with any 

Public interest test applies (see below) 
 

                                                
43 Human Rights Act 1998 (legislation.gov.uk) 
44 Local Government Act 1972 (legislation.gov.uk) 
45 The Town and Country Planning General Regulations 1992 (legislation.gov.uk) 

Page 256

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/42/section/6
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1972/70/schedule/12A
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1992/1492/made


  
 

113 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

labour relations matter arising between 
the authority or a Minister of the Crown 
and employees of, or officer-holders 
under the authority. 
 

5. Information in respect of which a 
claim to legal professional privilege 
could be maintained in legal 
proceedings.  
 

 

6. Information which reveals that the 
authority proposes –  
 
(a) to give under any enactment a notice 
under or by virtue of which requirements 
are imposed on a person; or  
 
(b) to make an order or direction under 
any enactment.  
 

Public interest test applies (see below) 
 

7. Information relating to any action 
taken or to be taken in connection with 
the prevention, investigation or 
prosecution of crime.  
 

Public interest test applies (see below)  
 

8. In relation to a meeting of a 
Standards Committee which is 
convened to consider a matter referred 
under the provisions of section 70(4) or 
(5) or 71(2) of the Local Government 
Act 2000):  
 
7A Information which is subject to any 
obligations of confidentiality. 
 
7B Information which relates in any way 
to matters concerning national security. 
 
7C The deliberations of a Standards 
Committee established under the 
provisions of Part 3 of the Local 
Government Act 2000 in reaching any 
finding on a matter referred to it. 
 

Public Interest test applies (see below) 

  

16.13 What is the “public interest test”?  

 

16.13.1 Information which: 

 

(a) falls within any of paragraphs 1-5 and 7 to 8 of section 16.12 above; and 

 

(b) is not prevented from being exempt by virtue of the “qualifications” above, 

 

Page 257



  
 

114 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

is exempt information if and so long, as in all the circumstances of the case, the public 

interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 

information. 

 

16.13.2 The starting point is that there is a general public interest in release and the public 

authority has to decide whether in any particular case it would serve the interest of 

the public better to either disclose or withhold the information. 

 

16.13.3 There is no legal definition of what the public interest is, but the following have been 

identified as some of the relevant considerations: 

 

(a) There is a distinction between public interest and what merely interests the 

public. 

 

(b) Does it further the understanding of and participation in the public debate of 

issues of the day? 

 

(c) Does it promote accessibility and transparency by public authorities for 

decisions taken by them or in the spending of public money? 

 

(d) Does it allow individuals and companies to understand decisions made by 

public authorities affecting their lives? 

 

(e) Does it bring to light information affecting public health and public safety? 

 

16.14 What does “exempt information” mean in the context of Health Scrutiny?  

 

The following will be exempt information for the purposes of Health Scrutiny:  

 

Category Condition 
 

1. Information relating to a particular 
employee, former employee or applicant 
to become an employee of, or a 
particular office-holder, former 
officeholder or applicant to become an 
officeholder under, a relevant body.  
 

Information is not exempt unless it 
relates to an individual of that 
description in the capacity indicated by 
the description.  
 

2. Information relating to any particular 
occupier or former occupier of, or 
applicant for, accommodation provided 
by or at the expense of a relevant body.  
 

Information is not exempt unless it 
relates to an individual of that 
description in the capacity indicated by 
the description. applicant for, 
accommodation provided by or at the 
expense of a relevant body.  
 

3. Information relating to any particular 
applicant for, or recipient or former 
recipient of, any service provided by a 
relevant body.  
 

Information is not exempt unless it 
relates to an individual of that 
description in the capacity indicated by 
the description.  
 

4. Information relating to any particular 
applicant for, or recipient or former 

Information is not exempt unless it 
relates to an individual of that 

Page 258



  
 

115 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

recipient of, any financial assistance 
provided by a relevant body.  
 

description in the capacity indicated by 
the description.  
 

5. The amount of any expenditure 
proposed to be incurred by a relevant 
body under any particular contract for 
the acquisition of property or the supply 
of goods and services.  
 

Information is exempt if and so long as 
disclosure to the public of the amount 
there referred to would be likely to give 
an advantage to a person entering into, 
or seeking to enter into, a contract with 
a relevant body in respect of the 
property, goods or services, whether the 
advantage would arise as against that 
body or as against other such persons.  
 

6. Any terms proposed or to be 
proposed by or to a relevant body in the 
course of negotiations for a contract for 
the acquisition or disposal of property or 
the supply of goods or services.  
 

Information is exempt if and so long as 
disclosure to the public of the terms 
would prejudice a relevant body in those 
or any other negotiations concerning the 
property or goods or services.  
 

7. The identity of a relevant body (as 
well as of any other person, by virtue of 
paragraph 6 above) as the person 
offering any particular tender for a 
contract for the supply of goods or 
services 
 

 

8. Information relating to any 
consultations or negotiations, or 
contemplated consultations or 
negotiations, in connection with any 
labour relations matter arising between 
a relevant body or a Minister of the 
Crown and employees of, or office-
holders under, a relevant body.  
 

Information is exempt if and so long as 
disclosure to the public of the 
information would prejudice a relevant 
body in those or any other consultations 
or negotiations in connection with a 
labour relations matter arising as 
mentioned in that paragraph.  
 

9. Any instructions to counsel and any 
opinion of counsel (whether or not in 
connection with any proceedings) and 
any advice received, information 
obtained or action to be taken in 
connection with:  
 
(a) any legal proceedings by or against 
a relevant body, or  
 
(b) the determination of any matter 
affecting a relevant body, (whether, in 
either case, proceedings have been 
commenced or are in contemplation).  
 

 

10. Information relating to a particular 
person who is or was formerly included 
in, or is an applicant for inclusion in, a 
list of persons undertaking to provide 

Information is not exempt unless it 
relates to an individual of that 
description in the capacity indicated by 
the description. of persons undertaking 

Page 259



  
 

116 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

services under Part 2 of the 1977 Act 
prepared by a Health Authority.  
 

to provide services under Part 2 of the 
1977 Act prepared by a Health 
Authority.  
 

11. Information relating to a particular 
person who is or was providing 
services, or has made a request to a 
Health Authority to become a person 
providing services, under arrangements 
under section 28C of the 1977 Act.  
 

Information is not exempt unless it 
relates to an individual of that 
description in the capacity indicated by 
the description.  
 

12. Information relating to a particular 
person who is or was formerly 
performing personal medical services or 
personal dental services in accordance 
with arrangements under section 28C of 
the 1977 Act.  
 

Information is not exempt unless it 
relates to an individual of that 
description in the capacity indicated by 
the description.  
 

13. Information relating to any particular 
employee, former employee, or 
applicant to become an employee, of a 
person referred to in paragraph 10, 11 
or 12.  
 

Information is not exempt unless it 
relates to an individual of that 
description in the capacity indicated by 
the description.  
 

14. Information relating to the physical 
or mental health of a particular 
individual.  
 

 

 

16.15 When are members of the public not permitted to have access to reports?  

 

If the Monitoring Officer thinks fit, the Council may exclude access by the public to 

reports which, in their opinion, relate to items during which, in accordance with section 

16.11, the meeting is likely not to be open to the public. Such reports will be marked 

“Not for Publication”, together with the category of information likely to be disclosed 

and if applicable, why it is in the public interest it is considered that the information 

should not be disclosed. 

RECORDING OF DECISIONS 

 

16.16 How are Executive decisions recorded?  

 

16.16.1 Recording decisions 

 

(a) A written record will be made of every Executive Decision made by the 

Executive and its Committees.  

 

(b) This decision record will include a statement, for each decision, of:  

 

(i) the name of the decision-making body;  

 

(ii) the decision made;  

 

Page 260



  
 

117 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(iii) the date the decision was made; 

 

(iv) the reasons for that decision;  

 

(v) any personal interest declared;  

 

(vi) any dispensation that was granted in respect of a declared conflict of 

interest; and  

 

(vii) details of any alternative options considered.  

 

16.16.2 Preparing the record of decisions 

 

(a) The Monitoring Officer, or their representative, shall attend any meeting of the 

Executive, an Executive Committee or a Joint Arrangement where all its 

Members are members of a local authority executive, and shall, as soon as 

reasonably practicable after the meeting, produce a decision record. 

 

(b) Where an individual Executive Member has made a decision: 

 

(i) that Executive Member shall, as soon as reasonably practicable, 

instruct the Head of Democratic Services to produce a decision record; 

and 

 

(ii) the decision shall not be implemented until that decision record has 

been produced and the Call-in period has expired (see section 7.26) 

and subject to (c) below. 

 

(c) Where the date by which a decision made by an individual Executive Member 

must be implemented makes compliance with section (b) above impracticable, 

the decision may be implemented in accordance with section 7.25.1.  

 

16.17 How are decisions of individual Executive Members recorded?  

 

16.17.1 An individual Executive Member may not make a Key Decision unless it has been 

included in the Notice of Forthcoming Executive Decisions or the procedure set out in 

section 6.35 (general exception) or section 6.36 (special urgency) has been complied 

with.   

 

16.17.2 An Executive Member may only take an Executive Decision where they are authorised 

to do so in the Scheme of Delegations approved by the Mayor.  

 

16.17.3 Reports intended to be taken into account 

 

Where an individual Executive Member receives a report which they intend to take 

into account in making any Key Decision, then they will not make the decision until at 

least five (5) days after receipt of that report.  

 

16.17.4 Availability of copies of reports to the public  

 

Page 261



  
 

118 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Subject to any restrictions concerning confidential / exempt information in these 

Rules, a copy of any record produced in accordance with section 16.16 and any report 

considered by the Executive Member which is relevant to the decision concerned must 

be made available for public inspection at the Council’s offices and published on the 

Council’s website as soon as reasonably practicable after the decision has been 

made.  

 

16.17.5  Record of individual decisions 

 

The decision recording rules in section 16.16 will apply.  

 

16.18 How are decisions made by Officers recorded?   

 

16.18.1 Where an Officer intends to take a Key Decision, the decision-making process for Key 

Decisions must be followed. The item should be placed on the Executive Forward 

Plan 28 days before the decision is taken. The decision should be published within 48 

hours of the decision being taken.  

 

16.18.2 Availability of copies of decisions to the public 

 

16.18.3 Subject to any restrictions concerning confidential / exempt information in these 

Rules, as soon as reasonably practicable, but within 28 days, after a significant 

operational decision taken by an Officer in relation to a Council function, the officer 

will produce a written record of the decision and arrange for its publication on the 

Council’s website together with the report (if any) in relation to the decision made. The 

record will include:  

 

16.18.4 Record of Officer decisions 

 

The decision recording rules in section 16.16 will apply.  

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY ACCESS TO INFORMATION 

 

16.19 What access does the Overview and Scrutiny Board have to Executive 

documents?   

 

16.19.1 Right to copies  

 

Subject to section 16.19.2 below, the Overview and Scrutiny Board and the Scrutiny 

Panels will be entitled to copies of any document which is in the possession or control 

of the Executive or its Committees and which contains material relating to:  

 

(a) any business transacted at a public or private meeting of the Executive or its 

Committees;  

 

(b) any decision taken by an individual Executive Member; and 

 

(c) any Executive decision that has been made by an Officer under their delegated 

powers.  

The documents must be provided as soon as practicable but no later than 10 days 

after a request is received.   

Page 262



  
 

119 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

16.19.2 Limit on rights  

 

(a) The Overview and Scrutiny Board, or any Scrutiny Panel, will not be entitled to:  

 

(i) any document that is in draft form;  

 

(ii) any part of a document that contains exempt or confidential 

information, unless that information is relevant to an action or decision 

they are reviewing or scrutinising or intend to scrutinise;  

 

(iii) the advice of a political or mayoral assistant; or 

 

(iv) documents subject to legal privilege or which, in the view of the 

Monitoring Officer, should remain confidential.  

 

(b) Where the Monitoring Officer determines that Overview and Scrutiny boards 

are not entitled to a copy of the document that has been requested for the 

reasons set out above, the Executive must provide the Overview and Scrutiny 

Board, or the relevant Scrutiny Panel, with a written statement setting out the 

reasons for that decision.  

 

16.20 When can the Overview and Scrutiny Board request reports?  

 

16.20.1 If the Overview and Scrutiny Board or a Scrutiny Panel believes that a Key Decision 

has been taken which was not: 

 

(a) included in the Forward Work Programme; or  

 

(b) the subject of the general exception procedure set out in section 6.35; or  

 

(c) the subject of an agreement with the chair of the Overview and Scrutiny 

Board/panel, or the Chair or Vice Chair of the Council under section 6.36 in the 

case of special urgency, 

the Overview and Scrutiny Board or the Scrutiny Panel (as appropriate) may require 

the Executive to submit a report to the Council within such reasonable time as the it 

specifies.  

 

16.20.2 The power to request a report is also delegated to the Proper Officer, who will require 

such a report on behalf of the Overview and Scrutiny Board or a Scrutiny Panel (as 

appropriate) when so requested by the relevant chair or any five (5) members of the 

relevant body. In respect of education matters this includes voting Co-opted Members.  

 

16.20.3 Alternatively the requirement may be raised by resolution passed at a meeting of the 

Overview and Scrutiny Board or the Scrutiny Panel (as appropriate). 

 

16.20.4 Mayor’s report to the Council in respect such a decision 

 

(a) The Mayor may prepare a report for submission to the next available meeting 

of the Council in respect of a decision which is subject to section 16.20.1 above. 

Page 263



  
 

120 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

However, if the next meeting of the Council is within seven (7) working days of 

receipt of the written notice, or the resolution of the Overview and Scrutiny 

Board or the Scrutiny Panel (as appropriate), the Mayor’s report may be 

submitted to the meeting after that.  

 

(b) The report to Council will set out particulars of the decision, the individual or 

body making the decision and if the Mayor is of the opinion that it was not a 

Key Decision the reasons for that opinion.  

 

16.20.5 Quarterly reports on special urgency decisions  

 

The Mayor will submit quarterly reports to the Council on the Executive decisions 

taken in the circumstances set out in section 6.36 (special urgency) in the preceding 

three months. The report will include the number of decisions so taken and a summary 

of the matters in respect of which those decisions were taken. The report will also 

contain details of urgent decisions taken in accordance with the Overview and 

Scrutiny Procedure Rules in section 7. 

 

ADDITIONAL RIGHTS OF ACCESS FOR MEMBERS 

 

16.21 What additional access rights do Members have to Council information? 

 

16.21.1 Documents relating to Council and Committee business  

 

(a) Subject to (b) below, all Members of the Council are entitled to inspect any 

document which is in the possession or under the control of the Council and 

which contains material relating to any item of business to be dealt with at a 

meeting of the Council or a Committee.  

 

(b) (a) above does not require any document to be open to inspection if it appears 

to the Proper Officer that it discloses exempt information, unless that 

information falls within one of the following categories:  

 

(i) Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular 

person, including the Council, except to the extent that the information 

relates to any terms proposed or to be proposed by or to the Council 

in the course of negotiations for a contract; and/or 

 

(ii) Information which reveals that the Council proposes: 

 

 to give under any enactment a notice or by virtue of which 

requirements are imposed on a person; or 

  

 to make an order or direction under any enactment Documents 

relating to executive business  

 

16.21.2 Documents relating to business to be transacted at public meetings of the Executive 

 

(a) Subject to section 16.21.4 below, any Member of the Council is entitled to 

inspect any document which is in the possession or under the control of the 

Page 264



  
 

121 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Executive and which contains material relating to any business to be transacted 

at a public meeting of the Executive unless: 

 

(i) subject to section 16.12, the Proper Officer considers that the 

document discloses exempt information; 

 

(ii) it contains the advice of a political or mayoral adviser; 

 

(iii) it is a draft report or draft background paper; or   

 

(iv) it is not a report or a background paper as defined in these rules.  

 

(b) Such documents must be available for inspection for at least five (5) days 

before the meeting concerned except that:  

 

(i) where the meeting is convened at shorter notice such a document must 

be available for inspection when the meeting is convened; and  

 

(ii) where an item is added to the agenda at shorter notice, any document 

required to be available in relation to that item must be available when 

that item is added to the agenda.  

 

16.21.3 Further rights to information relating to Executive Decisions  

 

Subject to section 16.21.4 below, all Members of the Council are entitled to inspect 

any document which is in the possession or under the control of the Executive and 

contains material relating to: 

 

(a) any business transacted at a private meeting; 

 

(b) any decision made by an individual Member in accordance with the Council’s 

Executive arrangements; or 

 

(c) any decision made by an Officer in accordance with the Council’s Executive 

arrangements when the meeting concludes or, where an Executive decision 

has been made by an individual Member or an Officer, immediately after the 

decision has been made, and in any event within 24 hours of the conclusion of 

the meeting, or the decision being made, as the case may be, unless the Proper 

Officer considers (subject to section 16.21.5 below) that the document 

discloses exempt information.  

 

16.21.4 Rights to inspect certain exempt information  

 

Sections 16.21.2 and 16.21.3 do not prohibit Members from inspecting documents 

containing the following categories of exempt information: 

 

(a) Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person, 

including the Council, except to the extent that the information relates to any 

terms proposed or to be proposed by or to the Council in the course of 

negotiations for a contract; and  

 

Page 265



  
 

122 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(b) Information which reveals that the Council proposes: 

 

(i) to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which 

requirements are imposed on a person; or  

 

(ii) to make an order or direction under any enactment  

 

16.21.5 Advice of a political or mayoral assistant  

 

Nothing in sections 16.21.2 to 16.21.4 above requires any document or a part of any 

document to be available for inspection if it contains the advice of a mayoral / political 

assistant.  

 

16.21.6 Material relating to Key Decisions 

 

All Members will be entitled to inspect background papers (except those available only 

in draft form) in the possession or under the control of the Executive or its Committees 

which relates to any Key Decision, unless section 16.21.1 or 16.21.2 above applies.  

 

16.21.7 Nature of rights  

 

These rights of a Member are additional to any other right they may have.  

 

 

  

Page 266



  
 

123 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

17 BUDGET AND POLICY FRAMEWORK PROCEDURE RULES 

 

This section sets out the process for setting the Council’s Budget and Policy 

Framework and how this impacts decision-making.  

 

17.1 What is the Budget and Policy Framework?  

 

The Council will be responsible for adopting a Budget and a Policy Framework. Once 

a Budget or a Policy Framework is in place, the Executive will be responsible for 

implementing it.  

 

17.2 What is the process for developing the Budget and the Policy Framework?  

 

17.2.1 The process by which the Budget and the Policy Framework shall be developed is as 

follows:  

 

Proposals from the Executive 

 

(a) Before a plan / strategy / budget is prepared, the Executive will publish initial 

proposals for the Budget and the Policy Framework, having first canvassed the 

views of local stakeholders, as appropriate and in a manner suitable to the 

matter under consideration. Any representations made to the Executive may 

be considered in formulating the initial proposals and shall be reflected in any 

report dealing with them.  

 

(b) The Overview and Scrutiny Board and any relevant Scrutiny Panel may 

participate in the consultation and have their response considered.  

 

(c) The timeline for the proposals and the consultation will be published in the 

Forward Work Programme.  

First meeting of Full Council – consideration of the proposal 

(d) Once a Budget and Policy Framework proposal has been formulated, Full 

Council will consider the proposal and may by simple majority: 

 

(i) adopt the proposal or approve submission to the relevant Secretary of 

State (where that is required); or 

 

(ii) object to the proposal and instruct the Executive to reconsider in the 

light of those objections.  

 

(e) If the Council accepts the recommendation of the Executive without 

amendment, the Council may make a decision, which has immediate effect.  

 

(f) The decision shall be published and a copy shall be given to the Executive. 

Reconsideration by the Executive 

(g) If the Executive is instructed to reconsider the proposal, the Council will allow 

at least five (5) working days for the Executive to either submit a revised 

Page 267



  
 

124 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

proposal or to respond to the objections in relation to the original proposal, 

giving reasons for the response.  

 

(h) In the event that (j)(i) below applies, the Executive must give particular 

consideration to whether a revised proposal is required. 

Second meeting of Full Council – consideration of a revised proposal 

(i) Where the Council has objected to the proposal in accordance with (d)(ii) 

above, Full Council will, within ten working days of receipt by the Chief 

Executive of the Executive’s response, consider that response and may either: 

 

(i) approve the revised proposal by a simple majority of those voting; or  

 

(ii) approve the original proposal by a simple majority of those voting; or 

 

(iii) make amendments to the revised, or the original, proposal by a two 

thirds majority of those voting. 

Minimum decisions to be made in relation to the proposal 

(j) If neither the original, nor the revised proposal is agreed (whether in its existing 

or amended form), the Chief Finance Officer will advise the Council of the 

minimum decisions and resolutions the Council must make at that meeting as 

required to comply with statutory requirements, and;  

 

(i) if the Chief Finance Officer does not identify a decision on the proposal 

as required to be made at that meeting, the proposal fails and the 

process at (d) above must be recommenced; or 

 

(ii) if the Chief Finance Officer does identify a decision on the proposal as 

required to be made at that meeting, there will be no time limit on the 

length of the meeting and the Council shall continue to meet until it has 

reached a final decision on the matter.  

 

(k) The decision shall then be made public and may be implemented immediately. 

Virement and in-year changes 

(l) In approving the Budget and Policy Framework, the Council will also specify 

the extent of virement within the Budget and the degree of in-year changes to 

the Policy Framework which may be undertaken by the Mayor, in accordance 

with section 17.5 of these Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules. Any 

other changes to the Budget and the Policy Framework are reserved to the 

Council. 

 

17.3 In what circumstances can decisions be made outside the Budget and the 

Policy Framework? 

 

17.3.1 Subject to the provisions of the Financial Regulations, and subject to section 17.4 

below, the Executive, Executive Committees, individual members of the Executive 

and any Officers or Joint Arrangements discharging Executive Functions may only 

make decisions in line with the Budget and Policy Framework.  

Page 268



  
 

125 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

17.3.2 If the Executive, Executive Committee, an Executive Member, or any Officers or Joint 

Arrangements discharging Executive Functions want to make a decision outside the 

Budget and the Policy Framework, they shall take advice from the Monitoring Officer 

and/or the Chief Finance Officer as to whether the decision they want to make is 

contrary to the Policy Framework, or contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the 

Budget. If the advice of either of those Statutory Officers is that the decision would not 

be in line with the existing Budget and/or Policy Framework, the decision must be 

referred to the Council for decision, unless the provisions of section 17.4 apply.  

 

17.4 When can urgent decisions be made outside the Budget or the Policy 

Framework? 

 

17.4.1 The Executive, an Executive Committee, an Executive Member, or Officers or Joint 

Arrangements discharging Executive Functions may take a decision which is contrary 

to the Policy Framework or contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the Budget if 

the decision is a matter of urgency.  

 

17.4.2 The decision may only be taken if in the opinion of the Chair, on in their absence the 

Vice Chair:   

 

(a) if it is not practical to convene a meeting of Full Council; and  

 

(b) if the Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Board or relevant Scrutiny Panel 

agrees that the decision is a matter of urgency.  

 

17.4.3 The reasons why it is not practical to convene a meeting of Full Council and the 

consent of the chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Board to the decision being taken 

as a matter of urgency must be noted on the record of the decision. In the absence of 

the chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Board, the consent of the Chair, and in the 

absence of both the Vice-Chair, will be sufficient. 

 

17.4.4 Following any decision made under this urgency procedure, the decision taker will 

provide a full report to the next available Council meeting explaining the decision, the 

reasons for it and why the decision was treated as a matter of urgency.  

 

17.5 What is virement and what are the rules on its use?  

 

17.5.1 Virement is the process by which the Council may transfer items from one budget 

head to another.  

 

17.5.2 The Council has established rules for virement which are set out in the Financial 

Procedure Rules in section 18 of this Constitution.  

 

17.5.3 Steps taken by the Executive, a Committee of the Executive, an Executive Member, 

or Officers or a Joint Arrangement discharging Executive Functions to implement 

Council policy shall not exceed those budgets allocated to each budget head. 

However, such bodies or individuals shall be entitled to vire across budget heads 

within the limits set out in the Financial Procedure Rules.  

  

Page 269



  
 

126 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

18 FINANCIAL PROCEDURE RULES 

 

  

Page 270



  
 

127 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

19 CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES 

 

This section sets out the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules, which govern how the 
Council purchases goods and services.  
 
Capitalised terms used in this section are as defined in section 2.2 of the Constitution 
and, where applicable, in the Financial Procedure Rules in section 18. 
  

19.1 What are the Contract Procedure Rules?  

 

19.1.1 The Contract Procedure Rules outline the process to be followed to promote good 

purchasing practices within the Council, ensure public accountability, secure value for 

money, and deter corruption. Following the Contract Procedure Rules is the best 

defence against allegations that a purchase has been made incorrectly or fraudulently 

and the best way to demonstrate cost-effectiveness.  

 

19.1.2 A Responsible Officer must comply with these Contract Procedure Rules when 

making any purchase. These Contract Procedure Rules lay down the minimum 

requirements applicable to a purchase and Responsible Officers should note that a 

more thorough procurement procedure may be appropriate for a particular purchase. 

Strategic Commissioning & Procurement will provide advice on when this is the case.   

 

19.1.3 These Contract Procedure Rules form an essential part of the Council’s Constitution, 

and where these Contract Procedure Rules apply, compliance is mandatory. All 

Responsible Officers should ensure that they are familiar with these Contract 

Procedure Rules. Non-compliance with these Contract Procedure Rules is a 

disciplinary matter.  

 

19.1.4 Where reference is made in these Contract Procedure Rules to the Procurement 

Regulations46, those regulations should be referenced and complied with. The 

Procurement Regulations are not explicitly written into the Constitution. Responsible 

Officers should seek further guidance from Strategic Commissioning & Procurement 

and/or Legal Services if they are unsure about the application of the Procurement 

Regulations.  

 

19.1.5 These Contract Procedure Rules apply to all purchases (i.e., all spend) made by 

the Council, whether a formal contract is entered into or not.  

 

19.2 How are the Contract Procedure Rules organised?  

 

The Contract Procedure Rules are organised into the following sections: 

 

A – Introduction  
 
Purpose of Contract Procedure Rules 
 

 

Breach of Contract Procedure Rules 
 

 

Emergency Situations 
 

 

                                                
46 The Public Contracts Regulations 2015 

Page 271

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/102/contents


  
 

128 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Amendment and Further Information  
 

 

B – Defined Terms  
 
C – Roles and Responsibilities 
 
Officer Responsibilities 
 

 

Responsibilities of Specific Members and Officers  
 

 

D – Application of Contract Procedure Rules  
 
Relevant Contracts 
 

 

Exemptions 
 

 

E – Procurement Thresholds 
 
F – Preparing for Procurement  
 
Procurement Pipeline 
 

 

Pe-procurement Process 
 

 

Make or Buy 
 

 

Market Research and Consultation 
 

 

Equality Impact Assessments 
 

 

Choice of Procurement Route 
 

 

G – Procurement Process 
 
Approved Lists 
 

 

Selective Tendering 
 

 

Open Tendering 
 

 

Frameworks 
 

 

Direct Award 
 

 

Route to Market  
 

 

Light Touch Regime  
 

 

Standards and Award Criteria 
 

 

H – Mechanisms for Formal Tendering 
 
Open Procedure  
 

 

Page 272



  
 

129 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Restrictive Procedure  
 

 

Competitive Procedure with Negotiation 
 

 

Competitive Dialogue 
 

 

Innovation Partnership 
 

 

I – Tenders and Quotations 
 
Invitations to Tender 
 

 

Invitations to Quote 
 

 

Submission of Tenders and Quotations (Electronic Tendering) 
 

 

Clarification of Tenders and Quotations 
 

 

Evaluation of Tenders 
 

 

Contract Award 
 

 

Contract Records 
 

 

Withdrawal of Tender 
 

 

Nominated Sub-contractors 
 

 

J – Contract and Other Formalities  
 
Contract Documents 
 

 

Execution of Contracts 
 

 

Liquidated Damages 
 

 

Bonds 
 

 

Parent Company Guarantees  
 

 

Prevention of Corruption 
 

 

Declaration of Interests  
 

 

K – The Life of the Contract 
 
Contract Management  
 

 

Contract Extensions and Variations 
 

 

Termination of Contracts  
 

 

L – Other Types of Contracts  
 

Page 273



  
 

130 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Commissioning a Consultant 
 

 

Procurement of Agency Staff 
 

 

Concession Contracts  
 

 

ANNEX 1 – Roles and Responsibilities of Officers and Members 
 
ANNEX 2 – Letting of School Based Contracts 
 

 

 

  

Page 274



  
 

131 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

A – INTRODUCTION  

PURPOSE OF CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES 

19.3 What is the purpose of these Contract Procedure Rules?  

 

19.3.1 The Council is required to set out Contract Procedure Rules that govern how they 

procure contracts for the supply of goods and services and for the execution of works, 

which provide for a mechanism by which the Council will ensure that contracts are 

tendered competitively, and that the Procurement Regulations, and other applicable 

legislation, is complied with.  

 

19.3.2 The intention of these Contract Procedure Rules is to ensure that the Council: 

 

(a) obtains Value for Money and Best Value; 

 

(b) avoids and prevents corruption or the suspicion of it; 

 

(c) is fair and equitable in the treatment of all suppliers; 

 

(d) is transparent in how it conducts its procurement activities in accordance with 

the Procurement Regulations; 

 

(e) seeks to reduce disadvantage, advance equality and promote community 

cohesion as defined in the Equality Act 2010; 

 

(f) makes every effort to promote local businesses, including small and medium-

sized enterprises (SME);  

 

(g) promotes Social Value47; and  

 

(h) supports the Council’s corporate and service aims and policies (to the extent 

compatible with the above).   

 

19.3.3 Where a person who is not an Officer is required to make purchasing decisions or 

manage contracts on behalf of the Council (for example, agency staff), the contract 

engaging that person should include a condition that these Contract Procedure Rules 

apply to that person as if they were an Officer.  

 

19.3.4 Unless specific grant terms require otherwise, these Contract Procedure Rules apply 

to any procurement made using funds received from external sources. Where grant 

conditions prescribe a particular procurement route, that route will be followed 

(provided that it is compliant with the Procurement Regulations and other applicable 

legislation).  

 

19.3.5 Any breach or non-compliance with these Contract Procedure Rules should be dealt 

with in accordance with section 19.4.  

 

BREACH OF CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES 

                                                
47 Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 

Page 275

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/3


  
 

132 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

19.4 What are the consequences of breaching these Contract Procedure Rules?  

 

19.4.1 Breach of these Contract Procedure Rules is very serious and will constitute a 

disciplinary matter. Save where a valid waiver or exemption has been applied, any 

failure to comply with these Contract Procedure Rules will be treated as a breach.  

 

19.4.2 It will be the responsibility of all Officers to address non-compliance swiftly and in the 

most appropriate way according to the circumstances. 

 

19.4.3 Any breach of, or non-compliance with, these Contract Procedure Rules must, on 

discovery, be reported immediately to the Internal Audit Manager acting on behalf of 

the Chief Finance Officer. The Internal Audit Manager shall, after taking legal advice 

and consulting Strategic Commissioning & Procurement, decide whether each 

reported breach or noncompliance presents a significant risk of harm to the Council’s 

interests and, if satisfied that such risk exists, shall undertake any necessary 

investigation and report the findings to the Chief Finance Officer. 

 

19.4.4 Officers may also raise concerns relating to breach or suspected breach of, and non-

compliance with, these Contract Procedure Rules anonymously in line with the 

Council’s Whistleblowing Policy and Procedure. 

 

19.4.5 Officers should remain alert to fraud throughout the procurement life cycle and any 

concerns of fraud or corruption must be reported at the earliest opportunity to the 

Head of Strategic Commissioning & Procurement by emailing 

procurement@middlesbrough.gov.uk. They will decide whether the matter should be 

escalated to the Internal Audit Manager, acting on behalf of the Chief Finance Officer.  

 

19.4.6 Officers must follow the Officer Code of Conduct in respect of any procurement 

activity. Failure to comply with the Officer Code of Conduct or these Contract 

Procedure Rules may constitute a disciplinary matter that may be pursued, as 

appropriate, in accordance with the Council’s disciplinary policy.  

 

19.5 What is the role of Councillors in procurement activities?  

 

19.5.1 Councillors are not permitted to take part in the procurement process, and they must 

ensure that their actions do not compromise or impact on due process in relation to 

any Council procurement. 

 

19.5.2 Concerns related to Councillor intervention in procurement activities may be subject 

to Standards Committee investigation.  

 

19.6 How are breaches of these Contract Procedure Rules reported?  

 

Reports on the number of confirmed breaches of these Contract Procedure Rules are 

to be sent by the Heard of Strategic Commissioning & Procurement to the Chief 

Finance Officer on a quarterly basis. 

 

EMERGENCY SITUATIONS 

19.7 How do these Contract Procedure Rules apply in emergency situations? 

 

Page 276

https://moderngov.middlesbrough.gov.uk/documents/s1602/Appendix%201.pdf
mailto:procurement@middlesbrough.gov.uk


  
 

133 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

19.7.1 Where the Chief Executive exercises their power under section 6.40.1 of the 

Constitution in an emergency, and a contract cannot be awarded under a competitive 

process pursuant to these Contract Procedure Rules, and the emergency has not 

arisen due to an act or omission of the Council, the emergency process set out in 

this section 19.7 may be applied.  

 

19.7.2 This section 19.7 also applies where, in the opinion of the Chief Executive, there is an 

immediate and extreme risk which could not have reasonably been foreseen, 

including (but not limited to): 

 

(a) a major disaster involving immediate risks to persons or property; and/or 

 

(b) an event or occurrence which is creating serious disruption to Council services; 

and/or 

 

(c) an event or occurrence resulting in significant financial loss to the Council.  

 

19.7.3 In an emergency, the Contract Procedure Rules will be temporarily disapplied for a 

proportionate period of time (to be determined by the Chief Executive in consultation 

with the Mayor) so that the Council may respond to the immediate risk. Once the 

immediate risk has been mitigated, these Contract Procedure Rules will apply to any 

follow-up actions.  

 

19.7.4 A report must be prepared for the Chief Finance Officer setting out the justification for 

the action taken. If they consider it necessary, the Chief Finance Officer may require 

that report to be submitted to the next meeting of the Executive for approval. 

 

AMENDMENT AND MORE INFORMATION 

19.8 How are these Contract Procedure Rules amended to reflect changes in 

legislation?  

 

The Chief Finance Officer shall have the power to make technical amendments from 

time to time to make these Contract Procedure Rules consistent with legal 

requirements, changes in Council structures and personnel, and best practice, after 

consultation with the Head of Paid Service, the Monitoring Officer, and the Chair of 

the Council.  

 

19.9 Where can I find more information and guidance about the Council’s 

procurement procedures?  

 

In addition to these Contract Procedure Rules, the Council has in place further 

information and guidance about its procurement procedures.  

 

  

Page 277



  
 

134 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

B - DEFINED TERMS 

Where captialised terms are used in this section, they will have the meanings set out below. 

For the avoidance of doubt, terms defined in section 2.2 of this Constitution also apply to this 

section.  

“Above Threshold 
Procurement” 
 

a procurement that is above the relevant Procurement Threshold;  

“Award Criteria” 
 

the criteria by which the successful Quotation or Tender is to be 
selected (see section 19.49); 
 

“Award Procedure” 
 

the procedure for awarding a contract; 
 

“Best Value” the duty placed on the Council to obtain a competitive price for 
goods, services and works of appropriate quality, in line with 
statutory duties48; 
 

“Bidder” 
 

any person who asks or is invited to submit a Quotation or 
Tender; 
 

“Bond” 
 

an insurance policy. If the Contractor does not do what is has  
promised under contract with the Council, the Council can claim 
from the insurer the sum of money specified in the Bond (often  
10% of the contract value). A Bond is intended to protect the  
Council against a level of cost arising from the Contractor’s 
failure; 
 

“Competitive Dialogue” 
 

a procurement process that allows the Council to enter into a 
dialogue with Bidders until a solution is found to the Council’s 
requirement49;  
 

“Competitive Procedure 
With Negotiation” 
 

a procurement process that allows the Council to negotiate with 
Bidders after an Invitation to Tender is issued, which also allows 
the Council to reserve the right not to negotiate where a Bidder 
meets its requirement50;  
 

“Concession Contract” as defined in section 19.93; 
 

“Contracting Decision” 
 

any of the following decisions:  
 

 composition of Approved Lists;  
 

 withdrawal of Invitation to Tender;  
 

 whom to invite to submit a Quotation or Tender;  
 

 Shortlisting;  
 

 Contract Award; or 
 

                                                
48 Local Government Act 1999 
49 The Public Contracts Regulations 2015, Regulation 30 
50 The Public Contracts Regulations 2015, Regulation 29 

Page 278

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1999/27/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/102/part/2/chapter/2/crossheading/procedures
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/102/part/2/chapter/2/crossheading/procedures


  
 

135 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 any decision to terminate a contract; 
 

“Contractor” a successful Bidder with whom the Council has or intends to enter 
into a contract;  
 

“E-tendering Portal” the Council’s electronic tendering system used for publishing 
Invitations to Tender and Invitations to Quote and for submission 
of bids by suppliers; 
 

“Exemptions Annex” 
 

the Annex held by Strategic Commissioning & Procurement 
which sets out the application of exemptions to these Contract 
Procedure Rules; 
 

“Framework”  
 

an agreement under which a long-term relationship is established 
between local authorities (or other public sector bodies) and 
approved suppliers; 
 

“Government 
Procurement 
Agreement” 
 

the successor agreement to the General Agreement on Trade 
and Tariffs. The main signatories other than those in the 
European Economic Area are: USA, Canada, Japan, Israel, 
South Korea, Switzerland, Norway, Aruba, Hong Kong, China, 
Liechtenstein and Singapore; 
 

“In-house Preferred 
Test” 
 

the Council’s internal measure for determining if the Council’s 
requirement would be best delivered by an internal mechanism, 
e.g., internal Service area or Council owned company, rather 
than through a competitive process; 
 

“Innovation 
Partnership” 
 

a procurement process that allows the Council to procure 
research and development and a product or service in a single 
procurement51; 
  

“Invitation to Quote” 
 

invitation to submit a Quotation in the form required by these 
Contract Procedure Rules; 
 

“Invitation to Tender” 
 

invitation to submit a Tender in the form required by these 
Contract Procedure Rules; 
 

“Low Value Contracts 
Threshold” 
 

the threshold specified in Regulation 109(2)(c)(ii) of the 
Procurement Regulations52 

“M.E.A.T.” award criteria that considers more than just price; which could 
include price, service, quality of goods, running costs, technical 
merit, previous experience, delivery date, cost effectiveness, 
quality, relevant environmental considerations, aesthetic and 
functional characteristics (including security and control 
features), safety, after-sales service, technical assistance and 
any other relevant matters; 
 

“Sub-contractor” 
 

a person engaged by a Contractor to discharge any part of a 
contract with the Council; 
 

                                                
51 The Public Contracts Regulations 2015, Regulation 31 
52 The Public Contracts Regulations 2015, Regulation 109 

Page 279

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/102/part/2/chapter/2/crossheading/procedures
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/102/regulation/109


  
 

136 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

“NEPRO Solution”  
 

a managed service solution that provides a cost-effective and 
compliant route for the procurement of professional services by 
the public sector; 
 

“Non-Commercial 
Considerations” 
 

1. The terms and conditions of employment of a Bidder’s 
workers or the composition of, arrangements for the 
promotion, transfer or training of, or other opportunities 
afforded to, their workforce;  
 

2. Whether the terms on which Bidders contract with their 
Sub-contractors constitute, in the case of contracts with 
individuals, contracts for the provision by them as self 
employed persons of their services only;  
 

3. Any involvement of the business activities or interests of 
Bidders with irrelevant fields of Government policy;  
 

4. The conduct of Bidders or their workers in industrial 
disputes between them or any involvement of the 
business activities of Bidders in industrial disputes 
between other persons;  
 

5. The country or territory of origin of supplies to, or the 
location in any country or territory of the business 
activities or interests of, Bidders; 
 

6. Any political, industrial or sectarian affiliations or interests 
of Bidders or their directors, partners or employees  
 

7. Financial support or lack of financial support by Bidders 
for any institution to or from which the Council gives or 
withholds support;  
 

8. Use or non-use by Bidders of technical or professional 
services provided by the authority under the Building Act 
1984 or the Building (Scotland) Act 1959; 
 

“Responsible Officer” 
 

the Officer designated by the relevant Head of Service to deal 
with a particular contract and/or spend; 
 

“Open Procedure” 
 

a procurement process where any Bidder may submit a Tender 
and there is no pre-qualification process53; 
 

“Parent Company 
Guarantee” 
 

a contract which binds the parent company of a subsidiary 
company as follows: If the subsidiary company fails to do what it 
has promised under a contract with the Council, it can require the 
parent company to do so instead; 
 

“Procurement 
Regulations” 
 

The Public Contracts Regulations 201554 as supplemented and 
amended from time to time;  

                                                
53 The Public Contracts Regulations 2015, Regulation 27 
54 The Public Contracts Regulations 2015, Regulation 5 

Page 280

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/102/part/2/chapter/2/crossheading/procedures
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/102/regulation/5


  
 

137 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

“Procurement 
Threshold” 
 

the thresholds set out in the Procurement Thresholds Annex;   
 

“Prospective Bidder” 
 

any persons who asks or is invited to submit a Quotation or 
Tender; 
 

“Quotation” 
 

an indication by any person of a price for the execution of work  
or the supply of goods, materials or services (without the formal  
issue of an Invitation to Tender); 
 

“Quotation System” 
 

the E-tendering Portal quotation system; 

“Relevant Contract” 
 

contracts to which these Contract Procedure Rules apply (see 
section 19.12); 
 

“Restricted Procedure” 
 

a procurement process where any Bidder that meets the pre-
qualification criteria may submit a Tender55;  
 

“Shortlisting” 
 

where Bidders are selected:  
 

 to submit a Quotation or Tender; or 
  

 to proceed to final evaluation; 
 

“Social Value” 
 

the duty on the Council to consider economic, social and 
environmental well-being when commissioning a public service56;  
 

“Standing List” 
 

a list of approved suppliers able to perform contracts to supply 
goods or services of particular types; 
 

“Tender” 
 

a written offer made by any person (following an invitation from 
the Council) which can be accepted by the Council to form a 
binding contract; 
 

“Total Value” The whole of the value or estimated value (in money or equivalent 
value) for a single purchase or disposal, whether or not it 
comprises several lots or stages, to be paid or received by the 
Council or a Service within the Council. The Total Value shall be 
calculated as follows: 
 

 where the contract is for a fixed period, by taking the total 
price to be paid or which might be paid during the whole 
of the period;  
 

 where the purchase involves recurrent transactions for 
the same type of item, by aggregating the value of those 
transactions in the coming 12 months;  
 

 for feasibility studies: the value of the scheme or contracts 
which may be awarded as a result;  
 

                                                
5555 The Public Contracts Regulations 2015, Regulation 28 
56 Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 

Page 281

https://cipfa.sharepoint.com/sites/CIPFASolutions-AdvisoryData/Shared%20Documents/Bespoke%20Consultancy/2022/Middlesbrough%20CC/Financial%20Regulations/CPRs/any%20economic%20operator%20may%20submit%20a%20request%20to%20participate%20in%20response%20to%20a%20call%20for%20competition%20by%20providing%20the%20information%20for%20qualitative%20selection%20that%20is%20requested%20by%20the%20contracting%20authority
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/3


  
 

138 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 for Sub-contractors: the Total Value shall be the value of 
that part of the main contract to be fulfilled by the Sub-
contractor; 
 

The Total Value she be calculated as inclusive of VAT.  
 

“Value for Money” the optimal use of resources to achieve the intended outcomes 
based on economy, efficiency and effectiveness.  
 
.  

  

Page 282



  
 

139 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

C – ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES  

This section sets out the specific roles and responsibilities of Officers and Members in relation 

to procurement.  

OFFICER RESPONSIBILITIES  

19.10 What are the responsibilities of Officers in relation to purchasing?  

 

19.10.1 Officers must ensure that: 

 

(a) they comply with: 

 

(i) these Contract Procedure Rules; 

 

(ii) the Financial Procedure Rules; 

 

(iii) the Officer Code of Conduct; and  

 

(iv) all applicable legal requirements in force from time to time. 

 

(b) any purchasing activity they undertake supports the Council’s strategic aims 

and objectives;  

 

(c) appropriate records of procurement activities are kept as required by section 

19.70.   

 

(d) advice is sought from Strategic Commissioning & Procurement;  

 

(e) appropriate supplier due diligence is completed; 

 

(f) proper Tender processes are followed in accordance with procedures set out 

in Invitations to Tender;  

 

(g) they have declared any relevant conflict of interest in relation to a purchase; 

 

(h) the correct authorisation and approvals are obtained in accordance with the 

Scheme of Delegations and the Council’s formal decision-making processes; 

and 

 

(i) where appropriate, any agent, consultant or contractual partner acting on 

behalf of the Council complies with the above.  

 

(j) Chief Officers must ensure that their staff comply with section 19.10.  

 

(k) Chief Officers must ensure that their staff complete the Council’s Corporate 

Contract Register for all contracts entered into by their Service Area. Heads of 

Service must ensure that their staff notify Strategic Commissioning & 

Procurement of all contracts progressed by their Service to enable Strategic 

Commissioning & Procurement to enter the relevant information on the 

Council’s contracts register.   

 

Page 283



  
 

140 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

RESPONSIBILITIES OF SPECIFIC MEMBERS AND OFFICERS  

 

19.11 What are the specific responsibilities of Officers and Members?  
 

The specific responsibilities of Officers and Members in relation to these Contract 

Procedure Rules are set out in Annex 1 to this section 19.  

  

Page 284



  
 

141 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

D – APPLICATION OF CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES 

RELEVANT CONTRACTS 

19.12 To which Council contracts do these Contract Procedure Rules apply?  
 

19.12.1 These Contract Procedure Rules apply to every Relevant Contract entered into 
by or on behalf of the Council (e.g., by agency staff, agents or consultants), which 
includes contracts for: 

 

(a) the purchase of all goods or materials; 

 

(b) the purchase of services, including professional services, interim and agency 

staff; 

 

(c) the purchase/order of works; and 

 

(d) contract management of third party spend. 

 

19.12.2 Where a contract or sub-contract covers works and the supply of goods, services 
and/or material, it will be treated as a works contract if more than 50% of its total value 
relates to works.  

 

19.13 When do these Contract Procedure Rules not apply?  
 

19.13.1 These Contract Procedure Rules do not apply to the following: 
 

(a) procurement activity carried out by Council maintained school under their own 

delegated budget and/or a school’s own formal procurement and contractual 

rules;  

 

(b) legal charges, awards and disbursements (including all associated costs and 

fees) in connection with any and all legal proceedings government by Civil 

Procedure rules;  

 

(c) contract offers of employment which make an individual an employee of the 

Council;  

 

(d) settlement of insurance claim compensation;  

 

(e) treasury transactions as outlined in the Council’s Treasury Management 

Strategy;  

 

(f) non-contractual funding arrangements (including grant agreements under 

which the Council makes a grant to a third party, provided that the terms of the 

funding arrangements do not constitute a contract, and a direct award can be 

made following approved Council grant processes). For the avoidance of 

doubt, where the Council is using grant monies itself or passing them onto a 

third party, these Contract Procedure Rules will apply (along with any 

applicable grant conditions);  

 

Page 285



  
 

142 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(g) specific licensing requirements (for example, a television licence or public 

entertainment licence) or subscriptions to national organisations (for example, 

the Local Government Association);  

 

(h) contracts for the execution of either works (or provision of goods, services or 

material) where the Council has no discretion whether the works are required 

or who must deliver them (for example, works to be provide by a statutory 

undertaker); 

 

(i) services with a national remit where there are requirements to comply with 

purchasing arrangements set out by a funding body;  

 

(j) appointment of external auditors outside the Council’s control;  

 

(k) appointment of barristers or legal firms where, in the opinion of the Monitoring 

Officer, urgent advice is required to protect the interests of the Council; 

 

(l) disposal goods and/or materials deemed surplus to the Council’s needs. 

 

19.13.2 The above list is not exhaustive. If an Officer is unsure whether these Contract 
Procedure Rules apply in any specific circumstances, they should seek advice from 
Strategic Commissioning & Procurement.  
 

19.13.3 Officers should seek advice from Strategic Commissioning & Procurement on the 
application of these Contract Procedure Rules to any proposed direct award of a 
contract to a Council-owned Company.  

 

EXEMPTIONS 

19.14 When may the provisions of these Contract Procedure Rules be waived?  
 

19.14.1 Chief Officers may request authorisation from the Chief Finance Officer to waive, 
suspend of change any provision of these Contract Procedure Rules in accordance 
with this section 19.14. Where an exemption applies, section 19.44 will not apply, and 
the Council will be permitted to negotiate directly with one or more suppliers. 
 

19.14.2 Full details of how exemptions apply are contained in the Exemptions Annex.  
 

19.15 What is the process for requesting an exemption?  

 

19.15.1 The relevant Chief Officer must complete a Request for Exemption from Procurement 
Procedures Form, which must be signed by the relevant Head of Service, the Chief 
Finance Officer and the Monitoring Officer, and then submitted to the Head of 
Strategic Commissioning and Procurement.   
 

19.15.2 Before completing a Request for Exemption from Procurement Procedures Form, 
Chief Officers / Heads of Service should agree with Strategic Commissioning & 
Procurement the basis on which they are applying for an exemption.  
 

19.15.3 The Chief Finance Officer and the Head of Strategic Commissioning & Procurement 
reserve the right to refuse any application for an exemption. Where an exemption 
relies on an exception in the Procurement Regulations, it will be rejected unless 
evidence is provided to demonstrate that the exception applies.  

Page 286



  
 

143 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

19.16 How are exemptions recorded?  
 

The Head of Strategic Commissioning & Procurement will maintain a register of all 

approved exemptions and will monitor and report the use of exemptions for 

management control purposes.  

 

19.17 When may an exemption not be used?  
 

19.17.1 An exemption may not be used for Above Threshold Procurements.  
 

19.17.2 Any attempt to seek retrospective approval of an exemption will be rejected and 
will be treated as a potential breach of these Contract Procedure Rules.  

 

19.17.3 Exemptions should not be used to circumvent these Contract Procedure Rules.  

 

19.18 What action must be taken in respect of an approved exemption?  

 

If an exemption is approved, Chief Officers must: 

 

(a) ensure that a formal contract is entered into; 

 

(b) undertake appropriate due diligence on the relevant supplier and proportionate 

contract management during the life of the contract;  

 

(c) ensure that appropriate approval to award the contract has been given in 

accordance with the Scheme of Delegations;  

 

(d) ensure that the value of the contract does not exceed the financial threshold 

for an Above Threshold Procurement and that no contract extension is sought.    

 

  

Page 287



  
 

144 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

E – PROCUREMENT THRESHOLDS  

This section sets out how Procurement Thresholds apply in relation to the Council’s 

procurement activities.  

19.19 What are Procurement Thresholds?  
 

19.19.1 The Procurement Regulations set out certain legislative financial thresholds, above 
which specific procurement rules apply.  

 

19.19.2 Procurement Thresholds are calculated based on the estimated Total Value of a 
contract over the contract term.  
 

19.19.3 The Procurement Thresholds in force from time to time are set out in the Procurement 
Thresholds Annex.  

 

19.20 How are estimated contract values calculated?   
 

19.20.1 Estimated contract values should be calculated on the basis of the whole life value (or 
estimated whole life value) for any purchase, including any anticipated contract 
extension. This value should be calculated as follows:  

 

(a) Fixed term contract – the total price to be paid, or which could be paid, during 

the fixed term period.  

 

(b) Contract for recurring transactions of the same type – aggregated total value 

of those transactions over the expected life of the contract.  

 

(c) Contracts for an uncertain duration – monthly payment multiplied by 48.  

 

19.20.2 Any estimated contract value must be a genuine pre-estimate that factors in all 
associated costs (for example, any repair and maintenance required).  
 

19.20.3 Similar contracts with the same supplier should be aggregated across the Council. 
There must be no artificial disaggregation to avoid meeting a Procurement Threshold.  
 

19.20.4 Where a contract is being awarded as lots under a Framework, the Total Value of the 
contract is the Framework value and not the value of the individual lot. Contracts 
must not be sub-divided into smaller lots so as to avoid the requirements of 
these Contract Procedure Rules.  

  

Page 288



  
 

145 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

F – PREPARING FOR PROCUREMENT 

PROCUREMENT PIPELINE 

19.21 What is the procurement pipeline? 
 

19.21.1 The Council requires all upcoming procurements that meet Key Decision thresholds 
to be recorded in a procurement pipeline, which forms part of the Forward Plan. At 
the start of each financial year, the procurement pipeline is presented to the Executive 
for approval.  

 

19.21.2 Chief Officers and Responsible Officers should be mindful of the need to plan their 
procurements in advance and take reasonable steps to ensure that their required 
procurement activities are included in the Forward Plan.  

 

19.22 When can a procurement not in the Forward Plan be added?  
 

19.22.1 If a procurement has not been approved by the Executive for inclusion in the Forward 
Plan, it will require separate in-year approval from the Executive to proceed.  
 

19.22.2 Responsible Officers should factor the timeframe for gaining such approval into their 
procurement planning.  

 

PRE-PROCUREMENT STAGE   

19.23 What steps must be taken before the Council makes a purchase?  
 
Before beginning a purchase, the Responsible Officer must:  

 

(a) in a manner commensurate with the complexity and value of the purchase a 

Procurement Request Form should be completed, which includes the following 

considerations:  

 

(i) ensure there is a service specification that clearly articulates the 

outcomes to be achieved;  

 

(ii) take into account the requirements from any review;  

 

(iii) appraise the need for the expenditure and its priority;  

 

(iv) ensure there are no existing contract arrangements already in place 

that cover the requirement; 

 

(v) define the objectives of the purchase;  

 

(vi) assess the risks associated with the purchase and how to manage 

them;  

 

(vii) consider what procurement method is most likely to achieve the 

purchasing objectives, including external or internal sourcing or 

accessing an existing contract, collaboration with other purchasers, 

partnering and long term relationships;  

 

Page 289



  
 

146 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(viii) consider any data protection implications to the proposed purchase; 

 

(ix) adhere to the provisions of the Social Values Act 2012 for eligible 

contracts and/or any associated charters; and  

 

(x) consult users as appropriate about the proposed procurement method, 

contract standards, and performance and user satisfaction monitoring; 

and  

 

(b) confirm that:  

 

(i) there is Member or delegated approval for the expenditure (and the 

Responsible Officer must ensure that a copy of that approval is 

retained on file);  

 

(ii) there is Executive approval for significant new proposals as required 

by the Financial Procedure Rules; and  

 

(iii) prior information notices, if required, have been sent57.  

MAKE OR BUY 

19.24 What is “make or buy”? 
 

19.24.1 A “make or buy” decision relates to a choice of whether to manufacture or produce 
something in-house, or to procure it from an external third party.  
 

19.24.2 Before undertaking a new procurement, the following should be explored, and used 
as first choice where fit for purpose, available for use and able to demonstrate Best 
Value, in relation to the procurement:  

 

(a) Use of internal Council Service(s) or establishment of such Service(s) where 

they don’t currently exist. 

 

(b) Use of an existing compliant Council Framework. 

 

(c) Award of a contract to a Council-owned Company with Teckal status, 

establishing or implementing a public contract with another public sector entity 

or using another public sector body’s Framework or contract. 

 

19.24.3 Responsible Officers should only instigate a procurement process (Invitation to 
Tender or Invitation to Quote) if the following conditions are met: 

 

(a) The “make or buy” process outlined above should have been followed to ensure 

that the In-house Preferred Test does not apply. 

 

(b) It can be demonstrated that Best Value can be achieved through a competitive 

procurement process. 

 

                                                
57 The Public Contracts Regulations 2015, Regulation 48  

Page 290

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/102/regulation/48


  
 

147 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(c) Sufficient time has been allowed to ensure required outcomes are achieved via 

a competitive procurement. 

 
For the avoidance of doubt, where sufficient time has not been allowed due to the 
actions or omissions of Officers, this will not be a valid reason for disapplication of 
these Contract Procedure Rules.  

 

MARKET RESEARCH AND CONSULTATION  

19.25 When should the Council carry out pre-market research?  
 

19.25.1 Preliminary market research is permitted where relevant and proportionate. Market 
research is encouraged in order to inform the procurement process and potential 
suppliers. Where market research or consultation takes place, this should be in 
accordance with the Procurement Regulations.  
 

19.25.2 Responsible Officers should seek advice from Strategic Commissioning & 
Procurement if they are unsure about whether to carry out market research and/or 
how this should be done.  

 

19.26 What pre-Tender market research and consultation is permitted?  

 

Responsible Officers:  
 

(a) may consult potential suppliers prior to the issue of an Invitation to Tender in 

general terms about the nature, level and standard of the supply, contract 

packaging and other relevant matters, provided that this does not prejudice any 

potential Bidder; and 

 

(b) must not seek or accept technical advice on the preparation of an Invitation to 

Tender or Invitation to Quote from anyone who may have a commercial interest 

in it, if this may prejudice the equal treatment of all potential Bidders or distort 

competition.   

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

19.27 What is an Equality Impact Assessment? 
 
An “Equality Impact Assessment” is a tool that helps the Council to consider equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration in its strategies, policies, services and functions. 
An Equality Impact Assessment involves assessing the likely (or actual) effects of 
policies on people in respect of protected equality characteristics including age, 
disability, race and sexual orientation. 
 

19.28 When must an Equality Impact Assessment be carried out? 
 

19.28.1 An Equality Impact Assessment should be carried out before commencing any 
procurement activity, where appropriate.  
 

19.28.2 Responsible Officers must complete an Equality Impact Assessment form setting out 
the impact of the procurement on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration. Further 
guidance on Equality Impact Assessments can be obtained from Strategic 
Commissioning & Procurement.  

 

Page 291



  
 

148 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

CHOICE OF PROCUREMENT ROUTE 

19.29 What procurement routes are available to the Council? 
 
Depending on the nature and value of a contract, the Council has the following options 
for procuring works, goods, services and materials: 

 

(a) Direct award – a contract is awarded directly to a supplier without a competition 

stage.  

 

(b) Approved List – suppliers on a list previously compiled by the Council are 

invited to bid for contracts within a specific category, value or amount. 

 

(c) Quotations – only suppliers invited by the Council may bid for the contract.  

 

(d) Open tendering (Above Threshold Procurements) – a contract opportunity is 

published, and all interested suppliers are invited to bid.  

 

(e) Framework – a contract is awarded to a supplier who has pre-qualified to 

provide services under a framework agreement.  

 

  

Page 292



  
 

149 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

G – PROCUREMENT PROCESS 

This section sets out the procurement routes open to the Council and how they are used. The 

Procurement Thresholds Annex sets out the applicable thresholds at which each procedure 

may be used.  

DIRECT AWARD 

19.30 What is a direct award?  
 
Direct award allows the Council to award a contract to a contractor without a 
competition, or to make a material change to an existing contract without carrying out 
a new procurement.  

 

19.31 How is direct award used?    
 

19.31.1 Direct award can be used for all types of contracts and is particularly relevant for minor 
projects and the procurement of professional services.  
 

19.31.2 The following criteria apply to direct awards:  
 

(a) all the terms governing the provision of the works, services and supplies 

concerned must be set out in the Framework; and 

 

(b) the objective conditions for determining which of the suppliers on the 

Framework shall perform them must be set out in the procurement documents. 

APPROVED LISTS  

19.32 What is an Approved List? 
 
An Approved List is a list of approved suppliers that has been compiled by the Council 
for specified categories of work, or for the supply of specified categories of goods, 
materials or services within specific contract values or amounts.  

  

19.33 When can an Approved List be used?  
 

19.33.1 Approved Lists should be used where recurrent transactions of a similar type are likely 
but where such transactions need to be priced individually and cannot easily be 
aggregated and priced in a single tendering exercise.  
 

19.33.2 An Approve List may not be used where the value of the contract exceeds the relevant 
Procurement Threshold.  

 

19.34 How are Approved Lists compiled?  

 

19.34.1 When compiling Approved Lists, the Council shall:  
 

(a) follow the procedure stipulated in this section 219.34;  

 

(b) include in the Approved List the names and addresses of all suppliers whose 

requests to be included have been approved by the relevant Head of Service 

in consultation with the Strategic Commissioning & Procurement Team;  

 

Page 293



  
 

150 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(c) not enter suppliers on an Approved List until there has been an adequate 

investigation into both their financial and technical ability to perform the 

contract, unless such matters will be investigated each time Tenders are invited 

from that Approved List;  

 

(d) not preclude suppliers from inclusion on an Approved List other than for good 

reasons; 

 

(e) indicate whether a supplier whose name is included in an Approved List is 

approved for contracts of all, or only some of, the specified categories, values 

or amounts;  

 

(f) ensure that the relevant Head of Service is responsible for their Approved 

List(s) and will co-ordinate all enquiries in respect of those Approved List(s).  

 

19.34.2 Opportunities to join an Approved List must be advertised, and suppliers should be 
invited to apply for inclusion on the relevant Approved List. The advertisement must 
be placed to secure widest publicity amongst relevant suppliers and not less than four 
(4) weeks before the Approved List is first compiled.  

 

19.35 What are the review requirements for Approved Lists?  
 

19.35.1 Approved Lists and their Shortlisting criteria must be reviewed at least annually and 
readvertised at least every three (3) years. Review means:  

 

(a) the reassessment of the financial, technical ability and performance of those 

suppliers on the Approved List unless such matters will be investigated each 

time Bidders are invited from that list; and 

 

(b) the deletion of those suppliers no longer qualified, with a written record kept 

justifying the deletion.  

 

19.35.2 Suppliers may be entered on an Approved List between the initial advertisement and 
any readvertisement provided that the requirements of section 19.34.1 are met. 
 

19.35.3 When an Approved List is re-advertised, a copy of the advertisement must be sent to 
each supplier on the Approved List, inviting them to confirm that they wish to remain 
on the Approved List at least four (4) weeks before the advertisement is published. If 
they wish to remain on the Approved List, they will be reviewed as described in section 
19.35.1 above.  
 

19.35.4 All Approved Lists must be open to public inspection.  
 

19.36 How are Approved Lists used?  
 
Where an Invitation to Tender for a contract is limited to suppliers whose names 
appear on an Approved List maintained, the Invitation to Tender for that contract shall 
be sent to at least four (4) suppliers on the Approved List. Each supplier invited to 
Tender must be approved for a contract for the category, value or amount selected. If 
there are insufficient suitably qualified suppliers to meet the competition requirement, 
all suitably qualified suppliers must be invited.  

 

Page 294



  
 

151 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

QUOTATIONS 

19.37 What is the Quotation process? 
 
The Council will issue Invitations to Quote for procurements within the relevant 
Procurement Thresholds set out in the Procurement Thresholds Annex.  

 

19.38 How are Quotations used?  
 
The process for issuing and evaluating a Quotation is set out in sections 19.57 to 
19.63.   

 

OPEN TENDERING  

19.39 What is open tendering? 
 
Open tendering applies in accordance with the requirements of the Procurement 
Regulations.  

 

19.40 How is open tendering used?  
 
All open Tender opportunities will be advertised via Contracts Finder and the advert 
shall:  

 

(a) Set out the nature and purpose of the contract; 

 

(b) indicate how tender documents may be obtained;  

 

(c) invite tenders;  

 

(d) state the closing date and time by which valid tenders must be returned via the 

E-tendering Portal; and  

 

(e) evaluate the Tender and award the contract in compliance with the 

Procurement Regulations.  

FRAMEWORKS 

19.41 How are Frameworks established?  
 

19.41.1 The Council may establish its own Frameworks, which may be single-supplier or multi-
supplier.  

 

19.41.2 Any Framework must be established in accordance with the Procurement 
Regulations.  
 

19.41.3 When setting up a framework, consideration should be given to whether the contract 
can be sub-divided into lots. The reasoning should be recorded by Strategic 
Commissioning & Procurement where a contract is not sub-divided in this way.  

 

19.42 How are frameworks used?  
 

1.1.1 The Council may call off from its own Frameworks, or from those established by other 

public bodies and Crown Commercial Service.  

Page 295



  
 

152 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

19.42.1 The Council may call off from a Framework directly or hold a call off competition 
among suppliers on the Framework.   
 

19.42.2 Where a Framework has been validly approved and established by the Council. Chief 
Officer’s may (in accordance with the Scheme of Delegations and the Procurement 
Thresholds Annex) issue orders under that Framework, provided that they comply 
with the scope of the Framework and any conditions applicable to the Framework.  
 

19.42.3 The Framework will set out the terms of any call off competition, and the terms on 
which a successful supplier will be engaged.  
 

19.42.4 Frameworks should be monitored by Strategic Commissioning & Procurement to 
ensure that the total spend under any Framework does not exceed the total permitted.  
 

19.42.5 Contracts to be concluded by a call off from a Framework established by another 
public body shall be carried out in accordance with the rules for the operation of that 
Framework. Responsible Officers should ensure that the Council is eligible to 
participate in the Framework, taking advice from Strategic Commissioning & 
Procurement as necessary.   

 

ROUTE TO MARKET  

19.43 What are the pre-requisites for a procurement process to start?  

 

19.43.1 A procurement process should not be commenced unless:  
 

(a) a genuine and timely pre-estimate of the Contract value has been completed 

in accordance with section 19.20;  

 

(b) in the case of a contract for the execution of any works, a business case has 

been prepared, or Executive approval has been given;  

 

(c) there is an approved budget, or relevant approval by the relevant Chief Officer;  

 

(d) a strategy report (where applicable) has been approved;   

 

(e) a contract manager has been identified for the contract; and  

 

(f) a Procurement Request Form has been completed.  

 

19.43.2 Consideration of the appropriate route to market shall include options for the Council 
to undertake its own procurement process or consider awarding contracts in line with 
the conditions of a compliant Framework available to the Council to use. Before 
considering the route to market, Responsible Officers should ensure that “make or 
buy” has been considered, as appropriate, in accordance with section 19.24.  
 

19.43.3 Responsible Officers shall, in conjunction with Strategic Commissioning & 
Procurement, consider the procurement procedures available to the Council with due 
regard to the Procurement Regulations. For an Above Threshold Procurement, the 
requirements set out in the Procurement Regulations must be followed strictly when 
selecting a route to market.  
 

Page 296



  
 

153 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

19.43.4 For audit and transparency purposes, proportional details and records on justification 
of the chosen route to market should be kept by Strategic Commissioning & 
Procurement. 

 

19.44 What are the competition requirements for purchases made by the Council?  
 

19.44.1 The competition requirements for any contract are determined by the Procurement 
Thresholds set out in the Procurement Thresholds Annex. The procurement route for 
any contract will be as described in the Procurement Thresholds Annex.  
 

19.44.2 All Relevant Contracts must be subject to competition, unless an exemption applies 
in accordance with the Exemptions Annex or in an emergency situation, as described 
in section 19.7.  

 

19.44.3 An Officer must not enter into separate contracts, nor select a method of 
calculating the Total Value of a contract in order to minimise the application of 
these Contract Procedure Rules.  

 

19.44.4 Where services are currently purchased internally, i.e., from within the Council, for 
internal provision, the requirement to obtain other Quotations or Tenders does not 
apply. However, Services may choose to seek alternative Quotations / Tenders for 
the purpose of market testing.  
 

19.44.5 The sale of goods and materials to staff must be approached with caution and the 
tendering procedures set out in these Contract Procedure Rules must be used. Advice 
should be sought from Strategic Commissioning & Procurement to ensure that any 
such sale is compliant with these Contract Procedure Rules and relevant legislation.  

 

19.45 What are the requirements for services provided by the Council to external 
purchasers?  
 
Any provision of services by the Council to external purchasers must comply with the 
Local Authority (Goods and Services) Act 197058. Advice should be sought from 
Strategic Commissioning & Procurement on any such provision of services.  

 

19.46 What are the requirements for Partnership Arrangements entered into by the 
Council?  
 
Partnership Arrangements must comply with these Contract Procedure Rules and 
applicable legislation. If in doubt, Officers must seek the formal written advice of the 
Chief Finance Officer and Strategic Commissioning & Procurement before entering 
into any Partnership Arrangement.  

 

LIGHT TOUCH REGIME 

19.47 What is the Light Touch Regime?  
 
The Procurement Regulations allow the Council to apply the Light Touch Regime, 
which gives greater flexibility in the procedure the Council must use, to procure certain 
services59.  

 

                                                
58 Local Authority (Goods and Services) Act 1970 
59 Public Contracts Regulations, Schedule 3 

Page 297

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1970/39/section/1/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/102/schedule/3


  
 

154 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

19.48 When does the Light Touch Regime apply?  
 

19.48.1 The Light Touch Regime only applies to Above Threshold Procurements.  
 

19.48.2 Although the use of the flexibility permitted by the Light Touch Regime is encouraged, 
the principles in relation to public procurement, as outlined in these Contract 
Procedure Rules, still apply. Application of the Light Touch Regime does not negate 
requirements to comply with these Contract Procedure Rules and follow the Council’s 
formal decision-making process.  

 

STANDARDS AND AWARD CRITERIA  

19.49 What standards and award criteria apply to the award of contracts by the 
Council?  

 

19.49.1 A Responsible Officer must ascertain which standards (UK and/or international) apply 
to the subject matter of the contract they are seeking to procure. The Responsible 
Officer must include in the award criteria for a purchase those standards that are 
necessary to properly describe the required quality of the subject matter of the 
contract, and with which the supplier will be expected to comply.  
 

19.49.2 The Responsible Officer must define the Award Criteria for a purchase so as to ensure 
that M.E.A.T. is secured.  
 

19.49.3 Award Criteria must not include:  
 

(a) Non-Commercial Considerations60;  
 

(b) matters which are contrary to the terms of the UK-EU Trade and Co-operation 
Agreement or the Government Procurement Agreement; or  
 

(c) matters which are anti-competitive within the meaning of the Local Government 
Act 1988.  

  

                                                
60 Local Government Act 1988, section 17 

Page 298

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1988/9/section/17


  
 

155 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

H – MECHANISMS FOR FORMAL TENDERS 

The Procurement Regulations set out five options for the procurement of Above Threshold 

Procurements. This section sets out, in brief, the requirements of each route. When choosing 

a procurement route, Responsible Officers should always discuss this with Strategic 

Commissioning & Procurement and Legal Services to ensure that an appropriate and 

compliant option is used.  

OPEN PROCEDURE 

19.50 What is the Open Procedure and when is it used?  
 

19.50.1 The Open Procedure61 allows any interested Bidder to submit a response to a contract 
notice issued by the Council.  

 

19.50.2 This procedure is suitable for simple procurements where the requirement is 
straightforward, for example, the purchase of goods where the requirement can be 
clearly defined, and the Council is seeking the lowest price for those goods.  
 

19.50.3 There is no pre-qualification stage for Bidders, and Responsible Officers should be 
aware that this could lead to a large number of responses being received.   

 

RESTRICTED PROCEDURE 

19.51 What is the Restricted Procedure and when is it used?  
 

19.51.1 The Restricted Procedure62 allows the Council to set pre-qualification criteria which 
must be met by Bidders before they can submit a response.  
 

19.51.2 The Council may wish to use the Restricted Procedure to ensure that only Bidders of 
a particular financial standing and/or with specific technical or professional capability 
are able to respond.  
 

19.51.3 The Restricted Procedure requires that the Council has a fully defined requirement so 
that Bidders can submit a fully priced Tender without the need for subsequent 
negotiation.  

 

COMPETITIVE PROCEDURE WITH NEGOTIATION 

19.52 What is the Competitive Procedure with Negotiation and when is it used?  
 

19.52.1 The Competitive Procedure with Negotiation63 allows the Council to negotiate with 
Bidders after they have submitted a Tender. This procedure includes a pre-
qualification stage to ensure that appropriate Bidders respond.  

 

19.52.2 This procedure may be used where it is not possible for the Council to fully define its 
requirement. The following conditions apply to the use of the Competitive Procedure 
with Negotiation64: 
 

                                                
61 Public Contracts Regulations 2015, Regulation 27 
62 Public Contracts Regulations 2015, Regulation 28 
63 Public Contracts Regulations 2015, Regulation 29 
64 Public Contracts Regulations 2015, Regulation 26(4) 

Page 299

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/102/regulation/27
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/102/regulation/28
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/102/regulation/29
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/102/regulation/26


  
 

156 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(a) the Council’s needs cannot be met without adaptation of readily available 
solutions; or 
 

(b) the Council’s requirement includes design or innovative solutions; or 
 

(c) the contract cannot be awarded without prior negotiation because of specific 
circumstances related to the nature, the complexity, or the legal and financial 
make-up of the requirement, or because of risks attaching to them; or 
 

(d) the technical specifications cannot be established with sufficient precision by 
the Council with reference to a standard, common technical specification or 
technical reference; or 
 

(e) an Open or Restrictive Procedure procurement has been run but only irregular 
or unacceptable Tenders have been submitted. 

 

19.52.3 The Invitation to Tender should out the requirement in sufficient detail so that Bidders 
are clear about the subject matter of the contract, the minimum requirements, and the 
Award Criteria.  
 

19.52.4 The use of this procedure should be justified, and the Responsible Officer should 
ensure that the reasons for its use are recorded.  
 

19.52.5 Under the Competitive Procedure with Negotiation, the Council does not have to 
negotiate with Bidders. If an appropriate Tender is received, the Council may award 
the contract on the basis of that Tender.  

 

COMPETITIVE DIALOGUE 

19.53 What is a Competitive Dialogue and when is it used?  
 

19.53.1 A Competitive Dialogue65 is similar to the Competitive Procedure with Negotiation. It 
includes a pre-qualification stage and allows the Council to negotiate with Bidders. 
The requirements set out in section 19.52.2 to 19.52.4 above will also apply to a 
Competitive Dialogue.  
 

19.53.2 A Competitive Dialogue allows more flexibility around negotiation with Bidders and 
negotiation can take place without submission of initial Tenders. The Council can use 
dialogue with suppliers to define the best way of meeting its requirement. 

 

INNOVATION PARTNERSHIP 

19.54 What is an Innovation Partnership and when is it used?  
 

19.54.1 An Innovation Partnership66 allows the Council to procure the research and 
development and product / service aspects of a contract in a single procurement. This 
procedure can be used where there is no appropriate solution already available on 
the market.  

 

                                                
65 Public Contracts Regulations 2015, Regulation 30 
66 Public Contracts Regulations 2015, Regulation 31 

Page 300

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/102/regulation/30
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/102/regulation/31


  
 

157 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

19.54.2 An Innovation Partnership has a pre-qualification stage to ensure that appropriate 
Bidders respond. It requires the Council to set out the need for innovation and the 
Award Criteria for the contract in the Invitation to Tender.  

 

  

Page 301



  
 

158 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

I – TENDERS AND QUOTATIONS 

INVITATIONS TO TENDER  

The Council is required, in certain circumstances, to issue an Invitation to Tender to potential 

Bidders for a contract. The Council may also wish to issue an Invitations to Tender in other 

circumstances. This section sets out the requirements for an Invitation to Tender and the 

process the Council must follow when inviting Tenders.  

19.55 When will the Council use an Invitation to Tender?  
 
Invitations to Tender are used when the Council wishes, or is required, to invite 
Tenders from suppliers. The Procurement Thresholds Annex sets out when Tenders 
must be invited for contracts at specified values.  

 

19.56 What information should an Invitation to Tender contain?  
 

19.56.1 An Invitation to Tender should state that a Tender will not be considered unless it is 
received by the date and time stipulated. Tenders delivered after the deadline will not 
be considered.  

 

19.56.2 All Invitations to Tender must include the following:  
 

(a) a specification that describes the Council’s requirements in sufficient detail to 
enable the submission of competitive offers; 

 

(b) a requirement for Bidders to declare that the Tender content, price or any other 
figure or particulars concerning the Tender have not been disclosed by the 
Bidder to any other party (except where such disclosure is made in confidence 
for a necessary purpose);  
 

(c) a requirement for Bidders to complete fully and sign all Tender documents 
including a form of Tender and certificates relating to canvassing and non-
collusion;  
 

(d) a notification that Tenders are to be prepared at the Bidders expense;  
 

(e) a description of the Award Procedure and, unless defined in a prior 
advertisement, a definition of the Award Criteria;  
 

(f) details of how Bidders should submit their Tender;  
 

(g) a stipulation that any Tenders submitted by fax or e-mail are not allowed; and  
 

(h) the method by which arithmetical errors discovered in the submitted Tenders 
are to be dealt with. In particular, whether the overall price prevails over the 
rates in the Tender or vice versa. 

 

19.56.3 All Invitations to Tender must specify the goods, services or works that are required, 
together with the terms and conditions of contract that will apply (see section 19.76) 
 

19.56.4 The Invitation to Tender must state that the Council is not bound to accept any Tender 
and can stop the Tender process at any time.  
 

Page 302



  
 

159 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

19.56.5 All Bidders invited to Tender must be issued with the same information at the same 
time and subject to the same conditions. Any supplementary information must be 
given on the same basis.  

 

INVITATIONS TO QUOTE  

For lower value contracts where an Invitation to Tender is not required, the Council will issue 

an Invitation to Quote to potential Bidders for a contract. An Invitation to Quote is a simpler 

process than an Invitation to Tender. This section sets out the requirements for an Invitation 

to Quote and the process the Council must follow when inviting Quotations.  

19.57 When will the Council use an Invitation to Quote?  
 
Invitations to Quote are used when the Council wishes, or is required, to invite Quotes 
from suppliers. The Procurement Thresholds Annex sets out when Quotes must be 
invited for contracts at specified values.  

 

19.58 What information should an invitation to Quote contain?  
 

19.58.1 An Invitation to Quote should state that a Quote will be considered unless it is received 
by the date and time stipulated. Quotes delivered after the deadline will not be 
considered. A minimum of two (2) weeks must be given for the return of Quotations 
except in exceptional circumstances to be agreed with Corporate Procurement.  

 

19.58.2 All Invitations to Quote must include the following:  
 

(a) a specification that describes the Council’s requirements in sufficient detail to 
enable the submission of competitive offers;  

 

(b) a requirement for Bidders to declare that the Quotation content, price or any 
other figure or particulars concerning the Quotation have not been disclosed 
by the Bidder to any other party (except where such disclosure is made in 
confidence for a necessary purpose);  
 

(c) a requirement for Bidders to complete fully and sign all Quotation documents 
including a form of Quotation and certificates relating to canvassing and non-
collusion;  
 

(d) a notification that Quotations are to be prepared at the Bidders expense;  
 

(e) a description of the Award Procedure and, unless defined in a prior 
advertisement, a definition of the Award Criteria; and  
 

(f) details of how Bidders should submit their Quotation;  
 

(g) a stipulation that any Quotation submitted by fax or e-mail will be rejected 
unless it has been specifically requested by the Council (see section 19.61.2 
below).  

 

19.58.3 All Invitations to Quote must specify the goods, services or works that are required, 
together with the terms and conditions of contract that will apply (see section 19.76).  
 

19.58.4 The Invitation to Quote must state that the Council is not bound to accept any 
Quotation and can stop the Quotation process at any time.  

Page 303



  
 

160 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

SUBMISSION OF TENDERS AND QUOTATIONS (ELECTRONIC TENDERING)  

19.59 How should Tenders be submitted?  
 

19.59.1 All Tenders must be submitted using the Council’s electronic tendering system, i.e., 
the E-tendering Portal.  
 

19.59.2 Tenders submitted by electronic means shall ensure that:  
 

(a) evidence that the transmission was successfully completed is obtained and 
recorded through the system; and 
 

(b) Tenders are not opened until the deadline for submission has passed.  
 

19.59.3 Tenders received by fax or e-mail will be rejected.  
 

19.60 What are the time periods allowed for submission of a Tender?  
 

19.60.1 The time periods applicable to submission of Tenders will be as set out in the 
Procurement Regulations.  

 

19.61 How should Quotations be submitted?  
 

19.61.1 Where Invitations to Quote are published on the E-tendering Portal, the provisions of 
section 19.59.2 shall apply.  
 

19.61.2 Where the E-tendering Portal is not used for an Invitation to Quote: 
 

(a) Bidders are permitted to submit their Quotation via email to the email address 
provided in the Invitation to Quote;  

 

(b) an audit trail shall be put in place in order to uphold the principles set out in 
these Contract Procedure Rules; and  
 

(c) a record shall be made of the Quotations received, including names and 
addresses of Bidders and the date and time of opening.  

 

CLARIFICATION OF TENDERS AND QUOTATIONS 

19.62 When may Bidders and the Council seek clarification in relation to a Tender?  
 

19.62.1 The Council is permitted to provide clarification to an Invitation to Tender to potential 
and actual Bidders. Clarification questions should be submitted through the E-
tendering Portal.   
 

19.62.2 The Council may seek clarification from a Bidder in relation to a Tender in writing or 
in a meeting.   

 

19.63 When may the Council seek clarification in relation to a Quotation? 
 
The Council may seek clarification from a Bidder in relation to a Quotation in writing. 

 

EVALUATION OF TENDERS 

Page 304



  
 

161 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

19.64 How are Tenders evaluated and awarded?  
 

Tenders must be evaluated and awarded in accordance with the Award Criteria.  
 

19.65 What happens if there are arithmetical errors in a Tender?  

 

19.65.1 The arithmetic in compliant Tenders must be checked. If arithmetical errors are found 
they should be notified to the Bidder, who should be requested to confirm the correct 
arithmetic, or withdraw their Tender.  
 

19.65.2 Alternatively, if the Bidder has provided contract rates in their Tender and these are 
stated to prevail over the overall contract price, the Council may request that the 
Bidder submits an amended Tender with a contract price based on the rates in the 
Tender.  

 

19.66 How are Tenders based solely on price evaluated?  
 

19.66.1 If the Award Criteria for a Tender are solely based on contract price, the Council may 
only select the lowest price (if payment is to be made by the Council) or the highest 
price (if payment is to be made to the Council), unless otherwise approved by:   

 
(a) the Executive, after considering a report from the appropriate Head of Service; 

or  
 

(b) a duly authorised Officer, following consultation with the appropriate Executive 
Member.  

 

A record of the reason for accepting a different Tender must be made, as appropriate.  

 

19.67 With whom may information be shared in relation to Tenders?  
 

19.67.1 Save as otherwise set out in this section 19.67:  
 

(a) confidentiality of Tenders and the identity of Bidders must be preserved at all 
times; and 

 

(b) information about one Bidder’s response must not be given to another Bidder.  
 

19.67.2 The Responsible Officer should debrief in writing all those Bidders who submitted a 
Tender about the reasons why they were unsuccessful and the characteristics and 
relative advantages of the successful Bidder. This debrief should normally include:  

 

(a) how the Award Criteria were applied; and  
 

(b) the prices or range of prices submitted, in either case not correlated to Bidders’ 
names.  

 

19.67.3 The same information may be given to those who responded in any pre-Tender 
selection process. No other information should be given without taking the advice of 
the Chief Finance Officer and the Head of Strategic Commissioning & Procurement.  

 

CONTRACT AWARD 

Page 305



  
 

162 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

19.68 What are the formalities for publishing information about a Contract Award? 
 

19.68.1 Where a contract with a value above the Low Value Contracts Threshold (as defined 
in the Procurement Thresholds Annex) is awarded, the following information shall be 
published on Contracts Finder:  

 

(a) name of contractor;  
 

(b) date on which the contract is entered into; 
 

(c) value of the contract; and 
 

(d) whether the Contractor is a SME or voluntary and community vector enterprise 
(VCSE). 

 
19.68.2 For all contracts subject to the Procurement Regulations, Contract Award Notices 

shall take into account any requirements and conditions around standstill period67, 
and an individual contract report is to be completed68. 

 

19.69 When and how should Bidders be notified of a Contracting Decision? 
 
Prospective Bidders must be notified in writing at the same time, and as soon as 
possible, of any Contracting Decision. If a Bidder requests, in writing, the reasons for 
a Contracting Decision, the Responsible Officer must give the reasons in writing as 
soon as possible.  

 

CONTRACT RECORDS 

19.70 What records must be kept in relation to contracts?  
 

19.70.1 Where the Total Value of a contract is below the Procurement Threshold (as set out 
in the Procurement Threshold Annex) for supplies of goods, materials, consultants or 
services the Responsible Officer must ensure that the following documents are kept:  
 

19.70.2 Invitations to Quote and any Quotations received;  
 

(a) a written record of:  
 

(b) any exemption and reasons for it; and 
 

(c) if the lowest price is not accepted, the reasons for this; and 
 

(d) written records of any communication with the successful Contractor.  
 

19.70.3 Where the Total Value of a contract is above the Procurement Threshold (as set out 
in the Procurement Threshold Annex) the Responsible Officer must record and retain 
records of:  

 

(a) any pre-Tender market research undertaken;  
 

(b) the method for obtaining bids;  

                                                
67 Public Contracts Regulations 2015, Regulation 87 
68 Public Contracts Regulations 2015, Regulation 84 

Page 306

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/102/regulation/87
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/102/regulation/84


  
 

163 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
(c) any Contracting Decision and the reason for it;  
 
(d) any exemption that has been applied, together with the reasons for it;  

 
(e) the Award Criteria;  

 

19.70.4 Tender documents sent to and received from Bidders;  
 

(a) the contract documents;  
 

(b) clarification questions submitted and answers provided to Bidders 
 

(c) any post-Tender negotiation (to include minutes of meetings);  
 

(d) written records of any communication with Bidders during the Tender process; 
 

(e) written records of any communication with the successful Contractor 
throughout the life of the contract; and  
 

(f) post-contract evaluation and monitoring.  
 

19.70.5 Written records required by this section 19.70 must be kept for six (6) years (twelve 
years if the contract is under seal) after the final settlement of the contract. However, 
documents which relate to unsuccessful Bidders may be electronically scanned or 
stored by some other suitable method after twelve months from award of contract, 
provided there is no dispute about the award.  

 

19.71 What are the Freedom of Information requirements in relation to contracts?  
 
The Freedom of Information Act 2000 gives a general right of public access to all 
types of ‘recorded’ information held by public authorities, sets out exemptions from 
that general right, and places a number of obligations on public authorities with regard 
to the disclosures of information. The Council will, as a general rule, allow public 
access to recorded information where possible and the Contractor shall agree to the 
Council making any disclosures in accordance with the Act.  

 

WITHDRAWAL OF TENDER 

19.72 What happens if a successful Bidder withdraws their Tender?  
 

If a Bidder withdraws their Tender after being awarded the contract, the Council will 
not (unless the Executive resolves otherwise) accept future Tenders from that Bidder 
for a period of two (2) years from the date of withdrawal.  

 

NOMINATED SUB-CONTRACTORS  

19.73 What is the process for the Council to nominate a Sub-contractor?  
 

19.73.1 The following provisions shall have effect where the Council proposes to enter into a 
contract for the execution of work with a person (the “Main Contractor”) and also 
proposes to nominate to the Main Contractor one or more Sub-contractors for the 

Page 307



  
 

164 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

execution of work or the supply of goods, materials or services within the contract with 
the Main Contractor.  
 

19.73.2 The Council will issue an Invitation to Tender to potential Sub-contractors in 
accordance with the relevant provisions of this section I, and:  

 

(a) the terms of the Invitation to Tender shall include a requirement that the 
successful Bidder will enter into a contract with the Main Contractor, under 
which the Main Contractor will be indemnified by the Sub-contractor in respect 
of its obligations to the Council which relate to the delivery / discharge of the 
work or goods, materials or services to be provided by the Sub-contractor; and  
 

(b) the relevant Head of Service (or their authorised representative) shall nominate 
to the Main Contractor the most appropriate Bidder as Sub-contractor. 
Provided that, where the successful Tender is other than the lowest price 
received by the Council, the circumstances shall be reported appropriately.  

 

19.73.3 Tenders received under this section 19.73 must comply with the relevant provisions 
of this section I.  

 

  

Page 308



  
 

165 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

J – CONTRACT AND OTHER FORMALITIES   

This section sets out the contract requirements for purchases made by the Council, including 

provisions that must be included in certain contracts, signing formalities, and the role of Legal 

Services.  

CONTRACT DOCUMENTS  

19.74 What is the role of Legal Services in relation to contracts?  
 
All contracts should be sent to Legal Services for preparation and registration. Legal 
Services will be responsible for ensuring that contracts are appropriately executed by 
the Council.  

 

19.75 When must a contract be entered into?  
 

19.75.1 With the exception of minor cash transactions made in accordance with the Financial 
Procedure Rules, every contract for the execution of work or the supply of goods, 
materials or services shall be created only by:  

 
(a) the issue of an official order raised via the Council’s financial system; or  

 
(b) where an Invitation to Tender has been issued, the completion of a formal 

written contract.  
 

19.75.2 Section 19.75.1(b) above does not apply if the relevant Head of Service or their 
authorised representative) certifies that, owing to the nature of the proposed contract, 
the interests of the Council will be adequately protected by the issue of an official 
order form as in section 19.75.1(a) above.  
 

19.75.3 All contracts must be concluded formally in writing before the supply, service or 
construction work begins, except in exceptional circumstances (as agreed in writing 
by the Chief Finance Officer) the Chief Finance Officer.  

 

19.76 What are the requirements for contracts entered into by or on behalf of the 
Council? 

 

19.76.1 Every Relevant Contract over the Low Value Procurement Threshold purchases, for 
works, supplies of goods, materials, consultants or services must also as a minimum 
state clearly:  

 
(a) that the Contractor may not assign or sub-contract without the prior written 

consent of the Council; 
 

(b) any insurance(s) the Contractor is required to have;  
 

(c) any health and safety requirements the Contractor is required to follow; 
 

(d) any relevant ombudsman requirements;  
 

(e) the requirements for ensuring compliance with data protection legislation;  
 

(f) that charter standards are to be met, if relevant;  
 

Page 309



  
 

166 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(g) the Council’s requirements in respect of Freedom of Information and Human 
Rights;  
 

(h) if relevant, that agents used to let contracts must comply with these Contract 
Procedure Rules;  
 

(i) a right of access for the Council to relevant documentation and records of the 
Contractor for monitoring and audit purposes; and  
 

(j) whistleblowing arrangements.  
 

19.76.2 All contracts must include the following paragraph:  
 

“The Contractor recognises that the Council is under a duty to act in a manner 

which is compatible with the Convention rights as defined by Section 1(1) of the 

Human Rights Act 1998 (‘Convention Rights’). This duty includes a positive 

obligation on the Council to ensure that contractors providing services on the 

Council’s behalf act in a way which is compatible with the Convention Rights. 

The Contractor therefore agrees to provide the Services and comply with its 

other obligations under this contract in a manner which is compatible with the 

Convention Rights.”  

 

19.76.3 Where payment in advance is required under a contract, the formal written approval 
of the Head of Strategic Commissioning & Procurement, following due diligence of the 
organisation, is required. In the event of industry standards leading to a common 
accepted practice of advance payments (e.g., software licences) this would only need 
to be sought once. 

 

19.77 When must the advice of Legal Services be sought in relation to a contract? 
 
Notwithstanding that all contracts should be sent to Legal Services for review, the 
formal advice of Legal Services must be sought for a Contract that includes one or 
more of the following features:  

 
(a) the Total Value of the procurement is above the Key Decision threshold set out 

in the Financial Limits Annex;  
 

(b) it involves financial lease arrangements;  
 

(c) it is proposed to use a contractor’s own terms; or 
 

(d) it is particularly complex or high risk.  
 

EXECUTION OF CONTRACTS 

19.78 What are the execution formalities for Council contracts?  
 

19.78.1 All Contracts shall be executed by an Officer with authority to do so under the 
Council’s Scheme of Delegations.  

 

19.78.2 The use of electronic signatures is permitted provided a process has been established 
and approved by Legal Services.  
 

Page 310



  
 

167 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

19.78.3 The Officer responsible for securing the signature of the Contractor must ensure that 
the person signing for the Contractor has authority to bind it. If the Officer is uncertain, 
this must be referred to Legal Services. 
 

19.78.4 Where contracts are completed by each side adding their formal seal, the fixing of the 
Council’s seal must be witnessed by an Officer on behalf of the Monitoring Officer. 
Every Council sealing will be consecutively numbered, recorded and signed by the 
person witnessing the seal.  
 

19.78.5 The Council’s seal must not be affixed without the authority of the Council, the 
Executive or a Chief Officer / Head of Service acting under delegated powers.  

 

19.79 When must a contract be sealed?  

 

19.79.1 A contract must be sealed where;  
 

(a) the Council wishes to enforce the contract for more than six years after it ends;  
 

(b) the price paid or received under the contract is a nominal price and does not 
reflect the value of the goods or services;  
 

(c) there is any doubt about the authority of the person signing for the Contractor; 
or 
 

(d) the Total Value of the contract is expected to exceed the Procurement 
Threshold for works, goods, services or materials, consultancy, or a 
Concession Contract as set out in the Procurement Thresholds Annex.  

 
19.79.2 Notwithstanding the above, there is no requirement for a contract to be sealed if the 

Monitoring Officer has determined that this is not required.  
 

LIQUIDATED DAMAGES 

19.80 When should a liquidated damages provision be included in a contract?  
 
Every formal written contract, which exceeds the Low Value Contract Threshold set 
out in the Procurement Thresholds Annex and is for the execution of works shall 
provide for liquidated damages to be paid by the Contractor in case the terms of the 
contract are not duly performed.  

 

BONDS 

19.81 When is a Bond required?  
 
The Responsible Officer must consult the Chief Finance Officer about whether a Bond 
is needed where:  

 
(a) the Total Value of a contract exceeds the threshold set out in the Financial 

Limits Annex ; or  
 

(b) it is proposed to make stage payments or other payments in advance of 
receiving the whole of the subject matter of the contract.  

 

Page 311



  
 

168 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

PARENT COMPANY GUARANTEES 

19.82 When is a parent company guarantee required?  

 

The Responsible Officer must consult the Chief Finance Officer about whether a 
parent company guarantee is required where a Bidder is a subsidiary of a parent 
company and:  

 

(a) the Total Value of the contract exceeds the threshold set out in the Financial 
Limits Annex;  
 

(b) the Contract Award is based on evaluation of the parent company; or  
 

(c) there is concern about the financial stability of the Bidder. 
 
PREVENTION OF CORRUPTION 

19.83 What measures must be taken to prevent corruption?   
 

19.83.1 High standards of conduct are obligatory for all Officers. A Responsible Officer must 
comply with the Officer Code of Conduct and must not invite or accept any gift or 
reward in respect of the award or performance of any contract. It will be for the 
Responsible Officer to prove that anything received from a Bidder or Contractor was 
not received corruptly. Corrupt behaviour will lead to dismissal and is a crime under 
statutes referred to in section 19.83.2.  
 

19.83.2 The following clause must be included in every written contract entered into by the 
Council:  

 

“The Council may terminate this contract and recover all its loss if the 

Contractor, its employees or anyone acting on the Contractor’s behalf do any of 

the following things:  

 

(a) offer, give or agree to give anyone any inducement or reward in respect 
of this or any other Council contract (even if the Contractor does not 
know what has been done); or 
 

(b) commit an offence under the Prevention of Corruption Acts 1889 to 1916 
or Section 117(2) of the Local Government Act 1972; or  
 

(c) commit any fraud in connection with this or any other Council Contract 
whether alone or in conjunction with Members, Contractors or 
employees.”  

 

Any clause limiting the Contractor’s liability shall not apply to this clause. 

 

19.84 How is suspected corruption investigated? 
 
Any suspected irregularity shall be referred to the Internal Audit Manager who shall 
notify the Chief Finance Officer and Monitoring Officer where necessary. Any 
examination of Contractors’ or Bidders’ books and records undertaken because of any 
such suspected irregularity shall be conducted by the Internal Audit Manager. If, in 
the investigation of any irregularity, the Chief Finance Officer considers that 
disciplinary procedures may need to be invoked, the appropriate Head of Service, 

Page 312



  
 

169 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Head of Legal & Democratic Services and Head of HR Client Services shall also be 
notified.  

 

DECLARATION OF INTERESTS  

19.85 When must Members and Officers declare in interest in relation to a contract?  
 

19.85.1 If it comes to the knowledge of a Member or an Officer that a contract in which he or 
she has a pecuniary interest has been, or is proposed to be, entered into by the 
Council, they shall immediately give written notice to the Monitoring Officer.  
 

19.85.2 Such written notice is required irrespective of whether the pecuniary interest is direct 
or indirect. An indirect pecuniary interest arises in respect of a contract to which the 
member or employee is not directly a party.  
 

19.85.3 A shareholding in a body not exceeding a total nominal value of £1,000 or 1% of the 
nominal value of issued share capital (whichever is the less) is not a pecuniary interest 
for the purposes of this section 19.85.  
 

19.85.4 The Monitoring Officer shall maintain a record of all declarations of interests notified 
by Members and Officers.  
 

19.85.5 The Monitoring Officer shall ensure that the attention of all Members is drawn to the 
national code of local government conduct.  
 

19.85.6 For the avoidance of doubt, the Member Code of Conduct, the Officer Code of 
Conduct and relevant provisions in the Constitution relating to declarations of interests 
shall apply to Members and Officers, as applicable.  

 

 

  

Page 313



  
 

170 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

K – THE LIFE OF THE CONTRACT 

CONTRACT MANAGEMENT 

19.86 What are the Council’s contract management requirements?  
 

19.86.1 Proportionate contract management, taking into account the risks to the Council in 
relation to a contract, must be an integral part of considerations when planning a 
procurement. Responsible Officers should ensure that there is a dedicated contract 
manager who is suitably qualified and experienced, and who will have detailed 
knowledge of the contract, and that appropriate contract management systems that 
are aligned to contract and corporate objectives, Value for Money / Best Value and 
performance improvement are in place.  
 

19.86.2 Payments should be made in accordance with relevant contract terms and the 
Procurement Regulations and in a timely manner to avoid the payment of any interest 
charges.  
 

19.86.3 The Council has a Contract Monitoring Framework, which sets out how contracts 
should be monitored during their life. Responsible Officers must comply with the 
Contract Monitoring Framework in respect of contracts for which they are responsible.  
 

19.86.4 Strategic Commissioning & Procurement will ensure that:  
 

(a) there is compliance with the specification, pricing and contract terms for any 
procurement; 

 

(b) contract performance and key performance indicators (where applied) are 
monitored and enforced on a regular basis with any reduction in performance 
addressed; 
 

(c) regular budget monitoring and cost reconciliation of payments takes place to 
ensure that the contract sum is not exceeded; and 
 

(d) contract risk assessments are conducted at regular intervals.  
 

19.87 What happens if a Contractor fails to comply with the contract?  

 

19.87.1 If a Contractor fails to comply with any of the provisions of a contract, the contract 
manager must try to secure compliance in accordance with the terms of the contract. 
Proper records must be kept regarding contract failings and any corrective measures 
put forward.  
 

19.87.2 If this is not successful, the matter should be referred promptly to Strategic 
Commissioning & Procurement and their advice should be sought as to what action 
should be taken to protect the Council’s interests.  

 

19.88 How are disputes with Contractors managed?  
 
Where practicable, all Contracts should contain a dispute resolution procedure. If 
there is a contract dispute, the contract manager must follow the dispute resolution 
provisions contained in the contract and seek legal advice from Legal Services where 
necessary. Advice should also be sought from the Chief Finance Officer regarding the 
financial implications of any dispute. 

 

Page 314



  
 

171 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

CONTRACT EXTENSIONS AND VARIATIONS 

19.89 When and how may contracts be extended and/or varied? 

 

19.89.1 Contracts may only be extended or varied where: 
 

(a) the contract permits the extension or variation;  
 

(b) the extension or variation complies with the Procurement Regulations and any 
other applicable legislation;  
 

(c) the extension or variation is approved by Chief Finance Officer and the 
Monitoring Officer.   

 

19.89.2 Guidance should be sought from Strategic Commissioning & Procurement, with 
confirmation sought from Legal Services (where required) in relation to any proposed 
extension or variation of a contract to ensure that it is compliant. Crown Commercial 
Service also provides guidance on this69. 
 

19.89.3 Any extension or variation of an Above Threshold Procurement must be made in 
accordance with the Procurement Regulations.  
 

19.89.4 Any approval of an extension or variation to a contract must be notified to Strategic 
Commissioning & Procurement to be recorded in the Contracts Register .  
 

19.89.5 Any contract extension entered into that is not envisaged by the original contract for 
the relevant procurement will be considered a breach of these Contract Procedure 
Rules and section 19.4 will apply. Where such an extension is deemed to be required, 
advice should be sought from Strategic Commissioning & Procurement on how to 
procure the required services in a compliant way.  

 

TERMINATION OF CONTRACTS 

19.90 What termination provisions should contracts include? 
 

19.90.1 Every contract entered into should include appropriate provisions for its termination. 
Responsible Officers should seek advice from Legal Services on the termination 
clause(s) that should be included in a particular contract.  
 

19.90.2 Termination provisions should include: 
 

(a) the circumstances in which the Council and the Contractor may terminate the 
contract;  
 

(b) any notice requirements for termination; and  
 

(c) the consequences of termination, including (where appropriate), the exit 
provisions that will apply.  

 

19.90.3 In any event, every contract in respect of an Above Threshold Procurement should 
include a provision that allows the Council to terminate the contract if: 

 

                                                
69 Guidance on Amendments to Contracts During their Term 

Page 315

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/560262/Guidance_on_Amendments_to_Contracts_-_Oct_16.pdf


  
 

172 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(a) the contract is subject to a modification that would have required a new 
procurement under the Procurement Regulations; or  
 

(b) at the time of the Contract Award, the Contractor should have been excluded 
from the procurement for one of the reasons set out in the Procurement 
Regulations70. 

 

19.90.4 Legal Services will provide advice to Responsible Officers on the appropriate wording 
to be included in relevant contracts.  

  

                                                
70 Public Contracts Regulations, Regulation 73 

Page 316

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/102/regulation/73


  
 

173 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

L – OTHER TYPES OF PROCUREMENT  

COMMISSIONING A CONSULTANT  

19.91 What is the process for commissioning a Consultant?  
 

19.91.1 The engagement of consultant architects, engineers and surveyors or other 
professional consultants shall be subject to the process outlined in the Commissioning 
a Consultant Policy.  

 

19.91.2 In summary, the following process shall apply: 
 

(a) a business case must be produced evidencing: 
 

(i) the need for the consultant; 
 

(ii) the outcome to be achieved; 
 

(iii) how the work will be managed; and  
 

(iv) the mechanism for funding the work; and 
 

(b) the engagement will, in the first instance, be undertaken through the NEPRO 
Solution.  

 

PROCUREMENT OF AGENCY STAFF 

19.92 How are agency staff procured?  
 

19.92.1 Approval to appoint short-term agency staff must be obtained through a Vacancy 
Control Form.  
 

19.92.2 Once approval has been obtained, confirmation of the approval and a job description 
must be sent to agencyprocurement@middlesbrough.gov.uk.  

 

19.92.3 The vacancy will, in the first instance be posted to agencies through the Neutral 
Vendor Framework. Only in circumstances where recruitment is unsuccessful via the 
Neural Vendor Network will an alternative procurement solution be undertaken.  
 

19.92.4 Candidates will be identified and interviewed. The recruiting manager will appoint and 
manage the successful agency staff member and be the Responsible Officer for 
timesheet approval and recording.  
 

19.92.5 Senior or specialist roles will be sought from the Local Government Resourcing 
Partnership or other associated frameworks. In these circumstances, the Responsible 
Officer should seek the advice of Strategic Commissioning & Procurement on the 
procurement of such agency staff after a Vacancy Control Form has been approved.  
 

19.92.6 In all cases, agency positions will be considered to be inside IR35, unless specifically 
determined otherwise by HR and/or Legal Services.  

 

CONCESSION CONTRACTS 

19.93 What is a Concession Contract?  

Page 317

mailto:agencyprocurement@middlesbrough.gov.uk


  
 

174 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

19.93.1 A “Concession Contract” is one under which the Council provides an opportunity to a 
supplier to exploit the delivery of works, goods or services and the supplier receives 
benefit or payment for those directly from a third party rather than the Council paying 
for them directly.  
 

19.93.2 A Concession Contract must involve the transfer of an operating risk to the supplier, 
the risk transferred must involve real exposure to the market, and the services must 
be for the benefit of the Council or its residents. 
 

19.93.3 The advice of Legal Services and Strategic Commissioning & Procurement should be 
sought to confirm whether a contract is a Concession Contract.  

 

19.94 How is the value of a Concession Contract determined?  
 
The value of a Concession Contract is the estimated total turnover that the supplier 
can generate in consideration for the works, goods or services over the duration of 
the contract, net of VAT, as estimated by the Council. 

 

19.95 What are the rules that apply to procurement of Concession Contracts?  
 
There are specific requirements for the procurement of Concession Contracts that are 
Above Threshold Procurements71. Advice should be sought from Strategic 
Commissioning & Procurement in relation to any such Concession Contract.  

  

                                                
71 Concession Contracts Regulations 2016, Regulation 9 

Page 318

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2016/273/regulation/9


  
 

175 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

ANNEX 1 – ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF OFFICERS AND MEMBERS  

Role 
 

Responsibility  

Chief Officer  
 

 Ensuring own compliance with these Contract 
Procedure Rules and applicable legislation and 
guidance.  

 Ensuring compliance of staff for which responsible for 
compliance with these Contract Procedure Rules and 
applicable legislation and guidance. 

 Approval of commercial business case, route to market 
strategy and contract management arrangements in 
accordance with these Contract Procedure Rules.  

 Ensuring that Contract Award decisions are made in 
accordance with the Council’s Constitution and the 
Scheme of Delegations.  

 Engaging in a timely manner with Strategic 
Commissioning & Procurement to develop a 
procurement pipeline, maintain the contracts register 
and identify a named contract manager for each 
contract awarded.  
 

Head of Service 
(Strategic 
Commissioning & 
Procurement) 
 

 Ownership of these Contract Procedure Rules. 

 Ensuring that the governance and assurance 
framework for commercial considerations is complied 
with robustly and effectively across the Council.  
 

Responsible Officers   Ensuring that projects involving procurement are 
managed effectively to ensure compliance with these 
Contract Procedure Rules.  

 Ensuring there is a genuine and legitimate business 
requirement for the spend and an approved budget.  

 Ensuring that appropriate governance is exercised 
over decisions to approve expenditure.  

 Drafting a fit for purpose specification that includes 
appropriate contract management arrangements. 

 Supporting the definition of an appropriate route to 
market for each contract and ensuring that it is 
followed and that any deviation from the approved 
approach is justified.  

 Making a genuine estimate of total contract value over 
the contract term before commencing any 
procurement activity.  

 Conducting procurement activities and contract 
modifications and extensions for contracts under the 
financial threshold set out in the Procurement 
Thresholds Annex.  

 Engaging with Strategic Commissioning & 
Procurement for any Above Threshold Procurement.  

 Seeking guidance from Strategic Commissioning & 
Procurement on the application of these Contract 
Procedure Rules and applicable legislation to 
contracts.  

Page 319



  
 

176 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 Where appropriate, applying exemptions to these 
Contract Procedure Rules.  

 

Executive Members  Making strategic decisions in line with the Constitution, 
including the Budget and Policy Framework within 
which procurement plans are developed and 
implemented.  

 Complying with these Contract Procedure Rules to the 
extent that they have specific procedural 
responsibilities.  

 Ensuring compliance with the Member Code of 
Conduct, including in relation any interest they may 
have.  

 Ensuring that they are not involved in the 
commissioning and/or procurement processes that 
operate in the Officer domain.  

 

Strategic 
Commissioning & 
Procurement 

 Overall strategic ownership of procurement and 
commercial activity on behalf of the Council.  

 Engaging proactively with Service Areas to determine 
the procurement pipeline and how this is facilitated in 
a proportional and timely manner.  

 Supporting Service Areas in assessing the commercial 
considerations of planned procurements at the design 
stage, including drafting of the route to market strategy 
and contract management arrangements.  

 Working with Service Areas to develop proportional 
and informed category strategies.  

 Exploring options for using pre-existing public sector 
compliant contractual arrangements where this 
represents Best Value, including available 
Frameworks 

 Exploring opportunities for collaboration with other 
public sector bodies where appropriate.  

 Ensuring compliance with all applicable procurement 
processes, including under the Procurement 
Regulations.  

 Seeking to develop strategic opportunities for synergy 
between contracts to enable the Council to meet its 
Best Value duty.  

 

  

Page 320



  
 

177 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

ANNEX 2 – LETTING OF SCHOOL BASED CONTRACTS  

This section outlines the Department for Education & Skills (DfES) regulations ensuring 

compliance with the requirements of the Fair Funding Scheme when letting contracts. The 

Fair Funding Scheme has been drawn up in consultation with schools and is approved by the 

Secretary of State. The Scheme sets out the financial relationship of schools under delegation 

with the Council and the areas it covers are required by regulations made under the School 

Standards and Framework Act 1988.  

1. What are the considerations for letting school-based contracts?  

1.1 Section 2.9 of the Fair Funding Scheme requires that Governing Bodies maintain a register 

of business interests of governors and Head teachers. This does not preclude participation 

in discussions about the relative merits of Quotations and Tenders but does mean those 

with a declared interest cannot vote on the final decision on the award of a contract. Those 

with declared interests must not be given any information about the Quotations or Tenders 

of other Contractors until after the deadline for submission of all Quotations and Tenders 

has passed.  

 

1.2 Governing Bodies are acting as agents of Middlesbrough Council when they enter into 

contracts using funds delegated by the Authority. This means that Governing Bodies enter 

into contracts on behalf of Middlesbrough Council. Schools must adhere to the terms and 

conditions within the contract. Section 6.2.3 of the Fair Funding Scheme enables the 

Authority to charge any costs to a school’s delegated budget awarded against it by a court 

for breach of contract by a school where they have failed to heed LEA advice.  

 

1.3 The status of Governing Bodies of aided and foundation schools gives them additional 

responsibilities. Governing Bodies of these schools are not acting as agents of the LEA 

and are not bound by the Financial Scheme when exercising their additional powers or 

discharging additional responsibilities.  

 

1.4 The provision of services and facilities by the LEA are covered by Section 8 of the Fair 

Funding Scheme. Although not a legally binding contract the terms and conditions of the 

Service Level Agreement set out the respective responsibilities of schools and the LEA. 

The Executive Director of Children Families & Learning will act as arbiter should a dispute 

arise.  

 

1.5 Section 1.5 of the Fair Funding Scheme suggests the appropriate delegation to Head 

teachers. This includes delegation to enter into contracts. Governing Bodies are free to 

determine their own levels of delegation to Head teachers. In exercising delegated powers 

Head teachers must abide by the contracting processes referred to in this document.  

 

1.6 Section 2.10 of the Fair Funding Scheme does not restrict schools to selecting Contractors 

from Approved Lists. However, where schools choose Contractors who are not on 

Middlesbrough Council’s approved list they must satisfy themselves as to the health and 

safety competence and insurance cover of the Contractor. Schools should also have 

regard to Child Protection legislation and satisfy themselves that Contractors have made 

adequate arrangements to monitor the activities of employees where they will have access 

to children during the course of their work. It is essential that schools record their reasons 

for assessing and selecting a Contractor when they let a contract. This is not only 

considered good practice but also provides essential evidence to safeguard schools and 

the LEA from litigation claims.  

Page 321



  
 

178 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

1.7 Schools are advised that selecting Contractors from Middlesbrough Council’s approved 

list is the preferred method of obtaining quotes and Tenders. Details of Contractors on the 

approved list are available, including the type and value of work for which each Contractor 

is approved and their status for tax deduction under the Construction Industry Taxation 

Scheme (CITS) (see section 7.2 of the Finance Scheme and Annex 5 of the Fair Funding 

Scheme).  

 

1.8 Schools are required to seek at least three written Quotations for any contract for goods, 

materials, services & consultants valued between £16,000 and £53,099. For works at least 

three written Quotations are required for any contract valued between £16,000 and 

£106,099.  

 

1.9 Schools are required to seek Tenders for any goods, materials, services or consultants 

valued over £53,100 and works valued over £106,100.  

 

1.10 In all cases where Quotations or Tenders are sought schools should accept the bid 

that is most economically advantageous Tender. The reasons for accepting a Quotation 

or Tender must always be recorded in the minutes of Governing Body meetings where 

Head teachers have used delegated powers referred to above.  

 

1.11 All Tenders should be accepted by the full Governing Body (subject to the withdrawal 

from the decision-making process by those with business interests (see above) and 

delegation to the Head teacher by the Governing Body (see above)). In exceptional 

circumstances where the lowest Tender is not accepted the Governing Body must record 

its decision in the minutes of the meeting.  

Governing Bodies (or Head teachers with delegated powers) must ensure that Bidders have 

adequate public liability insurance cover of at least £5m for the work or goods and services 

covered by the contract before Contractors are appointed. 

 

 

 

  

Page 322



  
 

179 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

20 COUNCIL COMPANIES 

 

The Council has various statutory powers to enable it to set up a company which may take 
various forms, including either by partly or wholly owning that company.  
 
The Council must effectively manage the relationship between the Council and the company 
to ensure the company has the freedom to manage its activities and ensuring that its 
arrangements provide the Council with assurance that the company is required to achieve the 
Council’s ambitions, the arrangement is providing value for money from activities and there 
are appropriate corporate governance arrangements in place. The Council has in place a 
policy which sets out how any company will be governed. 
 
20.1 Principles of Governance of Partly and Wholly Owned Council Companies 

 

20.1.1 Any decisions or recommendations in relation to the creation, review or cessation of 

a partly or wholly owned Council Company shall be formed with clear reference to the 

principles outlined within the Partly and Wholly Owned Council Companies policy.  

 

20.1.2 The Council’s governance arrangements will seek to ensure that any companies 

established that it either partly or wholly owns: 

 

(a) Are only established following completion of the business case process as set 

out in the Council’s Project and Programme Management Framework which 

identifies that there is a compelling business case that meets the standards set 

out in the supporting Minimum Standard 

 

(b) Have appropriate controls and freedoms, with sufficient control for the Council, 

to ensure that its investment is protected, appropriate returns on investment 

can be obtained and that the activities of the entity are aligned with the values 

and strategic objectives of the Council 

 

(c) Have clear understanding of roles and responsibilities between the Council and 

any wholly or partly owned council companies.  Roles involved in the oversight 

and operation of the company are occupied by those with the skills and 

experience to deliver them 

 

(d) Have in place arrangements that ensure regular assurance is provided and that 

the entity continues to be relevant and required. 

 

20.1.3 All formal wholly or partly owned council company agreements and structures 

proposals (incorporated partnerships or other) will only be established where a robust 

business case, as required by the Partly and Wholly Owned Council Companies 

Policy, has been completed, along with due diligence to ensure the  financial, legal, 

taxation and operational implications of the proposed company are understood and 

the assumptions for its creation are robust.  The decision to establish a partly or wholly 

owned Council company will be taken by the Executive, unless it relates to a matter 

reserved to another body within the Council.   

 

20.2 Access to Information 

 

Page 323



  
 

180 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

20.2.1 Reserved matters which require Shareholder/ Owner consent must be defined in the 

Articles of Association or Shareholder Agreement for each Company. The process for 

approving and recording decisions relating to reserved matter will be defined within 

the Shareholder Agreement. Such decisions are Executive Decisions and are also 

captures by the Council’s Access to information Procedure Rules. 

 

20.2.2 The following documents must be in place prior to a member decision on the principle 

of establishing a company: 

 

(a) A business case  

 

(b) A business plan 

 

(c) Proposed articles of association  

 

(d) A shareholder/member or governance agreement that covers issues such as 

expected standards in relation to corporate governance, including the expected 

risk appetite of the company and how it will be managed 

 

(e) Commissioner clarity – where a local authority company is contracted to 

provide services to the local authority (the shareholder) it is advisable to 

establish a client/contractor split  

 

(f) Agreements providing for the council’s provision of services and (if relevant) 

provision or transfer of assets and liabilities to the company  

 

(g) Policy on secondments and / or employment by the Company 

 

(h) Additional agreements as required, including data protection, records 

management and information-sharing protocols  

 

(i) Policy on conflicts of interest  

 

(j) Documents concerning funding flows – loans and advance payments  

 

(k) Authority internal policy documents that may apply to the company, such as 

Standing Orders and financial and contract regulations 

 

(l) A clear exit strategy 

 

(m) Documentation setting out any reserved matters that can only be done in 

agreement with the shareholders. 

 

20.3 Council scrutiny 

 

20.3.1 The LMT lead should ensure the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Board (OSB) is 

able to exercise its power in relation to scrutiny of the operation of local authority 

companies as part of its work programme. 

 

Page 324



  
 

181 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

20.3.2 The Council’s Annual Governance statement, considered by Corporate Affairs and 

Audit Committee, should include reference to how the Council monitors and evaluates 

the effectiveness of the governance arrangements set out in this minimum standard. 

 

20.4 Keeping a record 

 

Minutes must be taken for all board meetings that provide a complete record of those 

present, declarations of interest, discussion, decision, and the rationale for it.  They 

must be kept for 10 years. 

 

20.5 Council performance monitoring of the Company 

 

Quarterly reports on the performance of the Company, finance reporting, delivery of 

the company against its objectives as set by the Council, and its risk management 

arrangements should be considered by the appointing Council body, usually 

Executive, on a quarterly basis.  This report should set out progress against an annual 

business plan that clearly articulates planned activity to achieve the aims of the 

company, address any internal or external audit recommendations. 

  

Page 325



  
 

182 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

21 SCHEMES OF DELEGATION 

 

OFFICER SCHEME OF DELEGATION 

 

21.1 What is the Officer Scheme of Delegation? 

 

21.1.1 The Officer Scheme of Delegation sets out the powers and authorisations that have 

been delegated by the Council to individual Officers and Directorates / teams within 

the Council.  

 

21.1.2 The Officer Scheme of Delegation can be found here.  

 

EXECUTIVE SCHEME OF DELEGATION 

 

21.2 What is the Executive Scheme of Delegation?  

 

21.2.1 The Executive Scheme of Delegation sets out the Executive Functions that have been 

delegated to individual Executive Members in relation to their Portfolio.  

 

21.2.2 The Executive Scheme of Delegation can be found here.   

Page 326



  
 

183 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

22 MEMBERS’ SCHEME OF ALLOWANCES72  

 

The Members’ Scheme of Allowance sets out what the Council pays to Councillors 

and Co-Opted Members by way of basic and special responsibilities allowances, 

pensions, carers’ allowances, and travelling and subsistence allowances.   

 

MEMBERS SCHEMES OF ALLOWANCE 2022/23  

(As agreed at the Council AGM on 25 May 2022)  

 

Middlesbrough Borough Council, in exercise of the powers conferred by the Local 

Authorities (Members’ Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003 hereby makes the 

following Scheme:  

 
This Scheme may be cited as the Middlesbrough Borough Council Members’ Scheme 

of Allowances’, and shall have effect for the year commencing on 1st April 2022 and 

subsequent years, unless amended by the Council.  

 
In this Scheme: “Year” means the 12 months ending with 31st March.  

 

22.1 Basic Allowance  

 

22.1.1 All Elected members including the Mayor of Middlesbrough Council receive a basic 

allowance to recognise the time devoted to carry out their work as Members. It is also 

intended to cover incidental costs such as use of members’ homes, attendance at 

meetings with officers, community meetings, and ward activities.  

 

22.1.2 The Local Authorities (Members' Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003 provide for 

the payment of a basic allowance in respect of each year to each member of an 

authority, and the amount of such an allowance shall be the same for each such 

member. Subject to paragraphs, 10 and 11 the allowance will be paid to each elected 

Councillor for the year 1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023.  

 

22.1.3 For 2022/23 the basic allowance of £7,608 will be paid in equal monthly instalments.  

 

22.1.4 The Basic Allowance will not be increased in line with staff pay rises.  

 

22.2 Special Responsibility Allowances  

 

22.2.1 Special Responsibility Allowances (SRAs) are paid in addition to the basic allowance 

to members who hold positions with significant responsibilities over and above the 

general duties of a councillor and are also paid in equal monthly instalments.  

 

22.2.2 For each year a special responsibility allowance shall also be paid to those Members 

who hold the special responsibilities in relation to the Authority that are specified in 

Schedule 1, PROVIDED THAT no Member shall be entitled to receive more than one 

Special Responsibility Allowance. SRA allowances will remain static and shall not be 

increased in line with any subsequent annual staff pay award.  

 

                                                
72 The Local Authorities (Members' Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003 

Page 327

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2003/1021/regulation/10/made


  
 

184 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

22.2.3 Special Responsibility Allowances were originally arrived at by an agreed multiple  of 

the basic allowance. This process has been suspended from 1 April 2019 and will be 

further reviewed in 2023.  

 

22.2.4 Subject to paragraphs 10 & 11.1 the amount of each such allowances shall be the 

amount specified against that special responsibility in Schedule1.  

 

22.2.5 A special responsibility allowance relating to the duties of a Political Group Leader 

shall be payable to the leader of the overall majority group and to the leaders of the 

two largest minority Groups, where each of the minority Groups comprise at least 10% 

of the total number of Members of the Council.  

 

22.2.6 Where there is no over-all majority group, the two largest political group leaders will 

receive a minority special responsibility allowance. Where only one of the two largest 

minority Groups comprise at least 10% of the total number of Members of the Council, 

a special responsibility allowance relating to the duties of Political Group Leader shall 

be payable to the leader of the next largest minority Group.  

 

22.3 Travelling and Subsistence Allowance – Councillors  

 

22.3.1 A Councillor shall be entitled to receive appropriate travel and subsistence allowances 

where he/she necessarily incurs expenditure on travel or subsistence in order to 

perform an approved duty.  

 

22.3.2 The amount of the allowance payable to a Member in respect of subsistence shall be 

the same as that approved by the Authority in respect of officers of the Council who 

are paid officer rates.  

 

22.3.3 The subsistence allowance payable shall be increased or decreased to the same 

extent as determined by the Authority in respect of officers.  

 

22.3.4 The allowance payable to a Member in respect of travel mileage shall be paid at the 

Inland Revenue rate (45p per mile).  

 

22.3.5 For the purposes of this paragraph, approved duties shall include all those duties, 

which are specified in Part I of Schedule 2 to this Scheme.  

 
22.4 Travelling and Subsistence – Co-opted Members  

 

A Co-opted Member shall be entitled to receive appropriate travel and subsistence 

allowances as specified in Part II of Schedule 2 to this Scheme.  

 

22.5 Dependent Carers Allowance  

 

22.5.1 A Councillor or Co-opted Member shall be entitled to receive a dependent carers 

allowance to provide for children or adult care, where he/she has necessarily incurred 

that expenditure in respect of a dependent who is looked after by a registered provider 

whilst the Councillor or Co-opted Member is carrying out an approved duty.  

 

22.5.2 The dependent carers allowance referred to in paragraph 7.2 above shall be paid per 

hour and be in line with the national living wage and limited to 7 hours per week.  

Page 328



  
 

185 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

22.5.3 The allowance will not be payable to a member of the claimant’s own household.  

 

22.5.4 For the purposes of this paragraph, an approved duty is any duty listed in Part I of 

Schedule 2 to this Scheme.  

 

22.6 Telephone / Broadband Allowance  

 

A member is entitled to a communications allowance of a £15 contribution towards 

their telephone connections and a £10 contribution towards broadband connections. 

One claim per household, subject to annual proof of service.  

 

22.7 Pensions  

 

No councillor shall be entitled to pensions in accordance with this scheme.  

 

22.8 Renunciation  

 

A Member may by giving notice in writing to the Director of Legal and Governance 

elect to forego all or part of their entitlement to an allowance under this Scheme. 

Where such a declaration is made, it remains in force until a further notice in writing 

is given to the Director of Legal and Governance to withdraw it.  

 

22.9 Part-year Entitlements  

 

22.9.1 The provision of this paragraph shall have effect to regulate the entitlements of a 

Councillor to basic and special responsibility where, in the course of a year, this 

Scheme is amended or that Councillor becomes, or ceases to be, a Councillor, or 

accepts or relinquishes a special responsibility in respect of which a special 

responsibility allowance is payable.  

 

22.9.2 If an amendment to this Scheme changes the amount to which a Councillor is entitled 

by way of a basic allowances or a special responsibility allowance, then in relation to 

each of the periods:  

 

(a) beginning with the year and ending with the day before that on which the first 

amendment in that year takes effect, or  

 

(b) beginning with the day on which an amendment takes effect and ending with 

the day that on which the next amendment takes effect, or (if none) with the 

year.  

The entitlement to such an allowance shall be to the payment of such part of the 

amount of the allowance under this Scheme as it has effect during the relevant 

period as bears to the whole the same proportion as the number of the days in the 

period bears to the number of days in the year.  

 

22.9.3 Where the term of office of a Councillor begins or ends otherwise than at the beginning 

or end of a year, the entitlement of that Councillor to a basic allowance shall be to the 

payment to such part of the basic allowance as bears to the whole the same proportion 

Page 329



  
 

186 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

as the number of days during which his/her term of office subsists bears to the number 

of days in that year.  

 

22.9.4 Where this Scheme is amended as mentioned in sub-paragraph 11.2, and the term of 

office of a Councillor does not subsist throughout the period mentioned in 

subparagraph 11.2a, the entitlement of any such Councillor to a basic allowance shall 

be to the payment of such part of the basic allowance referable to each such period 

(ascertained in accordance with that sub-paragraph) as bears to the whole the same 

proportion as the number of days during which his term of office as a Councillor 

subsists bears to the number of days in that period.  

 

22.9.5 Where a Councillor has during part of, but not throughout, a year such special 

responsibilities as entitle him or her to a special responsibility allowance, that 

Councillor’s entitlement shall be to payment of such part of that allowance as bears to 

the whole the same proportion as the number of days during which he has such 

special responsibilities bears to the number of days in that year.  

 

22.9.6 Where a remunerated person has been absent due to exceptional circumstances, and 

another Member acts as Chair for more than 50% of the meetings in any Municipal 

Year or the Chair is absent for more than two consecutive months, then the person 

who has acted as Chair shall be remunerated in place of the appointed Chair (on a 

pro rata basis).  

 

22.9.7 Where payment of any allowance has already been made to the initially appointed 

person, the authority may require that such part of the allowances paid to the 

appointed person for any such period to be repaid to the authority (determined by the 

Monitoring Officer).  

 

22.9.8 Where this Scheme is amended as mentioned in sub-paragraph 11.2 and a Councillor 

has during part, but does not have throughout the whole, of any period mentioned in 

sub-paragraph 11.2a of that paragraph any such responsibilities as entitle him or her 

to a special responsibility allowance, that Councillor’s entitlement shall be to payment 

of such part of the allowance referable to each such period (ascertained in accordance 

with that sub-paragraph) as bears to the whole the same proportion as the number of 

days in that period during which he or she has such special responsibilities bears to 

the number of days in that period.  

 

22.9.9 Where a scheme of allowances is amended, the Council can choose to apply any 

amendment retrospectively to the beginning of the financial year in which the 

amendment is made.  

 

22.10 Claims and Payments  

 

22.10.1 Payments of allowances shall be made as follows:  

 

(a) Basic Allowances: Automatically Paid Monthly  

 

(b) Special Responsibility Allowances: Automatically Paid Monthly 

 

(c) Travel and Subsistence Allowance: Monthly (Claim)  

 

Page 330



  
 

187 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(d) Dependent Carers Allowance: Monthly (Claim)  

 

(e) Co-optees Allowance: Monthly (Claim)  

 

22.10.2 All payments shall be made direct to a Bank or Building Society.  

 

22.10.3 A claim for expenses/subsistence under this scheme shall be made within two months 

of the date of the meeting in respect of which the claim is made.  

 

22.10.4 Claims for travel and subsistence (other than mileage for approved duties) shall only 

be approved where receipts of expenditure have been provided and have been 

incurred in relation to an approved duty or with the approval of the Head of Democratic 

Services.  

 

22.10.5 For each claim, Members shall submit an electronic claim acknowledging that they 

are entitled to claim the expenses and where appropriate that they hold the 

appropriate valid driving documentation.  

 

22.10.6 Members should submit their claims by the 7th day of the month. 

 

22.10.7 The Director of Legal & Governance Services shall have authority to agree a different 

frequency of payment with an individual Member on request.  

 

 

  

Page 331



  
 

188 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

SCHEDULE 1  

 

BASIC 2022/23 - £7608 x 47 Members (including Mayor)  

These allowances are not subject to the inflationary increase in line with staff pay awards.  

 

SPECIAL RESPONSIBILTY ALLOWANCES (SRAs)  

The following roles are specified as those designated as receiving a special responsibility 

allowances, and the amounts of those allowances. These allowances are not subject to the 

inflationary increase in line with staff pay awards.  

 

OFFICE No of 
Positions 

ALLOWANCE Total 

Mayor 
 

1 £55,952 £55,952 

Deputy Mayor and Executive Member 
 

1 £19,518 £19,518 

Executive Members 
 

8 £11,190 £89,520 

Chair of Overview and Scrutiny Board 
 

1 £11,190 £11,190 

Chair of Licensing Committee 
 

1 £8,393 £8,393 

Chair of Planning and Development Committee 
 

1 £8,393 £8,393 

Chair of the Council 
 

1 £5,595 £5,595 

Chair of Corporate Affairs Committee 
 

1 £TBD TBD 

Chair of Audit Committee 
 

1 TBD TBD 

Chair of Scrutiny Panels 
 

6 £5,595 £33,570 

Chair of Standards Committee 
 

1 £2,798 £2,798 

Chair of Staff Appeals Committee 
 

1 £2,798 £2,798 

Chair of Teesside Pension Fund Committee 
 

1 £2,798 £2,798 

Political Group Leaders:  
 

   

Majority Group (currently not claimed) 
 

1 £8,393 £8,393 

Largest Minority Groups – maximum x 2 
providing they have 10% of Council membership 
 

2 £2,798 £2,798 

Total cost of SRA  
 

25  £260,109 

 

 

Banding Scheme Index – The Council’s “Mulitplier” System of calculating Special 

Responsibility Allowances has been suspended for a period of 4 years (2022-23, or until it is 

next reviewed).  

 

Page 332



  
 

189 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

SCHEDULE 2  

 

TRAVEL & SUBSISTENCE ALLOWANCES  

 

Part 1 Duties that may qualify for Travelling & Subsistence Allowances  

 

(a) the attendance at a meeting of the Authority or of any Committee or Sub 

Committee of the Authority, or of any other body to which a member has been 

appointed to by the authority, or of any Committee or Sub Committee of such 

a body;  

 

(b) the attendance at any other meeting, the holding of which is authorised by the 

Authority, or a Committee or Sub Committee of the Authority, or a Joint 

Committee of the Authority and one or more Local Authority within the meaning 

of Section 270(1) of the Local Government Act 1972, or a Sub Committee of 

such a Joint Committee provided that:  

 

(i) where the Authority is divided into two or more political groups it is a 

meeting to which Members of at least two such groups have been 

invited, or  

 

(ii) if the Authority is not so divided, it is a meeting to which at least two 

Members of the Authority have been invited;  

 

(c) the attendance at a meeting of any association of Authorities of which the 

Authority is a Member providing no other attendance / mileage allowance is 

paid;  

 

(d) the attendance at a meeting of the Executive or a meeting of any of its 

Committees, where the Authority is operating executive arrangements;  

 

(e) the performance of any duty in connection with the discharge of any function of 

the Authority conferred by or under any enactment and empowering or 

requiring the Authority to inspect or authorise the inspection of premises;  

 

(f) the carrying out of any other duty approved by the Authority, or any duty of a 

class so approved, for the purposes of, or in connection with, the discharge of 

the functions of the Authority or of any of its Committees or Sub Committees. 

For the purpose of this section approved duties shall include the following:  

 

(i) travel in connection with Scrutiny site visits or investigations  

 

(ii) authorised attendance at Seminars or Conferences  

 

(g) In cases of urgency, the Monitoring Officer is authorised to approve duties.  

 

Travelling allowances may not be claimed for political group meetings;  

 

 

 

Page 333



  
 

190 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Part 2 - Subsistence  

 

1. Subsistence allowances for meals and accommodation can be reimbursed to 

Middlesbrough Members’ for duties undertaken outside the unitary authority. This 

allowance reflects the scheme in place for officers of Middlesbrough Council.  

 

2. Members are entitled to claim subsistence if their duties mean that they are away from 

the authority for at least 5 hours, preventing them from following their normal meal 

arrangements AND they have to incur expenditure which is in addition to their normal 

outlay.  

 

3. Any claims for subsistence costs must be for the actual amount paid (up to the 

maximum amount claimable) and supporting receipts of this cost must be kept by the 

Member. The reimbursement of costs associated with alcohol will not be paid under 

any circumstances.  

 

Part 3. Telephone / Broadband Allowance  

 

1. A member is entitled to an annual communications allowance of a £15 contribution 

towards their telephone connections and a £10 contribution towards broadband 

connections. One claim per household, subject to annual proof of service.  

 

Part 4. Co-opted Members Travelling & Subsistence Allowances  

 

(a) Co-opted Members of the following Council bodies shall be entitled to receive 

a combined travel & subsistence allowance as specified in paragraph (b) 

following production of a signed declaration that expenses had been incurred:  

 

(i) Scrutiny Committees (including Overview & Scrutiny Board, Scrutiny 

Panels and Scrutiny Working Groups);  

(ii) Standards Committee (including Sub Committees and Panels)  

(iii) The Independent Panel on Members’ Remuneration,  

(iv) Teesside Pension Fund Committee  

(v) School Appeal Panels  

 

(b) The amount of the combined Travel & Subsistence Allowance shall be £10 per 

meeting. 

 

  

 

 

 

 

  

Page 334



  
 

191 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

23 TEESSIDE PENSION FUND COMMITTEE 

 

23.1 What is the role and delegated functions of the Teesside Pension Scheme?  

 

23.1.1 The Pension Fund Committee's principal aim is to carry out the functions of 

Middlesbrough Council as the Scheme Manager and Administering Authority for the 

Teesside Pension Fund in accordance with Local Government Pension Scheme and 

any other relevant legislation. 

 

23.1.2 In its role as the administering authority, Middlesbrough Council owes fiduciary duties 

to the employers and members of the Teesside Pension Fund and must not 

compromise this with its own particular interests. Consequently this fiduciary duty is a 

responsibility of the Pension Fund Committee and its members must not compromise 

this with their own individual interests. 

 

23.1.3 The Pension Fund Committee will have the following specific roles and functions, 

taking account of advice from the Chief Finance Officer and the Fund's professional 

advisers: 

 

(a) Ensuring the Teesside Pension Fund is managed and pension payments are 

made in compliance with the extant Local Government Pension Scheme 

Regulations, Her Majesty’s Revenue & Customs requirements for UK 

registered pension schemes and all other relevant statutory provisions. 

 

(b) Ensuring robust risk management arrangements are in place. 

 

(c) Ensuring the Council operates with due regard and in the spirit of all relevant 

statutory and non-statutory best practice guidance in relation to its 

management of the Teesside Pension Fund. 

 

(d) Determining the Pension Fund’s aims and objectives, strategies, statutory 

compliance statements, policies and procedures for the overall management 

of the Fund, including in relation to the following areas: 

 

(i) Governance – approving the Fund's Governance Policy and 

Compliance Statement for the Fund within the framework as 

determined by Middlesbrough Council and making recommendations 

to Middlesbrough Council about any changes to that framework. 

 

(ii) Funding Strategy – approving the Fund's Funding Strategy Statement 

including ongoing monitoring and management of the liabilities, 

ensuring appropriate funding plans are in place for all employers in the 

Fund, overseeing the triennial valuation and interim valuations, and 

working with the actuary in determining the appropriate level of 

employer contributions for each employer. 

 

(iii) Investment strategy - approving the Fund's Investment Strategy 

Statement and Compliance Statement including setting investment 

targets and ensuring these are aligned with the Fund's specific liability 

profile and risk appetite. 

 

Page 335



  
 

192 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(iv) Administration Strategy – approving the Fund's Administration 

Strategy determining how the Council will the administer the Fund 

including collecting payments due, calculating and paying benefits, 

gathering information from and providing information to scheme 

members and employers. 

 

(v) Communications Strategy – approving the Fund's Communication 

Strategy, determining the methods of communications with the various 

stakeholders including scheme members and employers. 

 

(vi) Discretions – determining how the various administering authority 

discretions are operated for the Fund. 

 

(e) Monitoring the implementation of these policies and strategies on an ongoing 

basis. 

 

(f) In relation to the Border to Coast Pensions Partnership Limited (‘Border to 

Coast’); the Asset Pooling Collaboration arrangements: 

 

(i) Monitoring of the performance of Border to Coast and recommending 

actions to the Joint Committee, The Mayor or his Nominee (in his role 

as the nominated person to exercise Shareholder rights and 

responsibilities), Officers Groups or Border to Coast, as appropriate. 

 

(ii) Undertake the role of Authority in relation to the Inter Authority 

Agreement, including but not limited to: 

 

 Requesting variations to the Inter Authority Agreement 

 

 Withdrawing from the Inter Authority Agreement 

 

 Appointing Middlesbrough Council officers to the Officer 

Operations Group. 

 

(g) Considering the Fund's financial statements and the Fund’s annual report. 

 

(h) Selection, appointment, dismissal and monitoring of the Fund’s advisers, 

including actuary, benefits consultants, investment consultants, global 

custodian, fund managers, lawyers, pension funds administrator, independent 

professional advisers and AVC provider. 

 

(i) Liaison with internal and external audit, including providing recommendations 

in relation to areas to be covered in audit plans, considering audit reports and 

ensuring appropriate changes are made following receipt of audit findings 

 

(j) Making decisions relating to employers joining and leaving the Fund. This 

includes which employers are entitled to join the Fund, any requirements 

relating to their entry, ongoing monitoring and the basis for leaving the Fund. 

 

(k) Agreeing the terms and payment of bulk transfers into and out of the Fund. 

 

Page 336



  
 

193 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(l) Agreeing Pension Fund business plans and monitoring progress against them. 

 

(m) Agreeing the Fund's Knowledge and Skills Policy for all Pension Fund 

Committee members and for all officers of the Fund, including determining the 

Fund’s knowledge and skills framework, identifying training requirements, 

developing training plans and monitoring compliance with the policy. 

 

(n) Agreeing the Administering Authority responses to consultations on LGPS 

matters and other matters where they may impact on the Fund or its 

stakeholders. 

 

(o) Receiving ongoing reports from the Chief Finance Officer, the Head of 

Investments and Treasury Management and other relevant officers in relation 

to delegated functions. 

No matters relating to Middlesbrough Council’s responsibilities as an employer participating 

within the Teesside Pension Fund are delegated to the Pension Fund Committee. 

23.2 What is the composition of the Committee?  

 

23.2.1 Membership 

The Teesside Pension Fund Committee will be composed of 15 members. Its 

membership will include: 

(a) Nine Councillors of Middlesbrough Council, determined by the Council. 

 

(b) One Councillor from each of Hartlepool Borough Council, Stockton Borough 

Council and Redcar & Cleveland Borough Council. 

 

(c) One representative of the other Scheme Employers in the Teesside Pension 

Fund appointed in accordance with procedures agreed by the Chief Finance 

Officer and Monitoring Officer. 

 

(d) Two representatives of the scheme members of the Teesside Pension Fund, 

appointed in accordance with procedures agreed by the Chief Finance Officer 

and Monitoring Officer. 

Named substitutes are permitted providing they satisfy the knowledge and skills 

policy of the pension fund. 

23.2.2 Term of office 

 

(a) The representative members (for other scheme employers and scheme 

members) are appointed for a period of no more than six years and may be 

reappointed for further terms. 

 

(b) Councillors of the participating Councils will have a term of office to the next 

ordinary local government election following their appointment. They may be 

reappointed for further terms. 

 

23.2.3 Quorum 

 

Page 337



  
 

194 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

A meeting of the Pension Fund Committee shall only be quorate when: 

 

(i) At least eight members are present, and 

 

(ii) At least five of the members present are Councillors of Middlesbrough 

Council. 

 

23.2.4 Voting 

Voting Rights are held by all members including the scheme member representatives 

as long as they are not employees of Middlesbrough Council 

23.2.5 Chairing the Committee. 

 

(a) Only a Councillor of Middlesbrough Council may be the Chair. 

 

(b) The Chair will be elected annually by members of Middlesbrough Council. 

 

(c) The Vice Chair will be elected annually by members Middlesbrough Council. 

 

23.2.6 Procedure Rules 

 

(a) The Council’s Rules of Procedure, Codes and Protocols will apply to this 

Committee in the same way as they apply to other Committees unless different 

provision is made in this article. 

 

(b) Members of the Teesside Pension Board shall be permitted to attend Pension 

Fund Committee meetings, including exempt items. 

 

23.2.7 Knowledge and Skills Requirements 

Members of the Committee will be obliged to adhere to the Fund’s Knowledge and 

Skills Policy, including attendance at training events.  

23.2.8 Location 

The Pension Fund Committee may occasionally meet outside of Middlesbrough 

Council area. 

23.3 When may Committee functions be delegated to officers? 

 

23.3.1 The Committee may delegate a limited range of its functions to one or more officers 

of the Authority. 

 

23.3.2 The Pension Fund Committee will be responsible for outlining expectations in relation 

to reporting progress of delegated functions back to the Pension Fund Committee. 

 

OFFICERS’ DELEGATIONS 

Chief Finance Officer and Head of Investments and Treasury Management 
 

Page 338



  
 

195 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

The day to day management and administration of Teesside Pension Fund matters 

including ensuring arrangements for investments of assets and administration of 
contributions and benefits, excluding matters delegated to the Teesside Pension Fund 

Committee. 
 

 

OTHER DELEGATIONS RELATING TO BORDER TO COAST 

At its meeting on the 15th February 2017, Middlesbrough Council approved its participation, 

acting as the Administering Authority for the Teesside Pension Fund, in the Border to Coast 

Pensions Partnership Pooling Arrangement as the Council's approach to pooling investments 

in accordance with the Local Government Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of 

Funds) Regulations 2016 and the Guidance on Preparing and Maintaining an Investment 

Strategy. The following are responsibilities delegated relating to this participation (in addition 

to those mentioned in part (f) of the Teesside Pension Fund Committee responsibilities above). 

The Mayor (or whomever he decides to nominate) 
 

The nominated person to exercise the Council’s rights as a shareholder in Border to 
Coast and be its representative at shareholder meetings, on behalf of the Teesside 
Pension Fund. The responsibilities are as set out in the Shareholders Agreement, 
Articles, Inter Authority Agreement and any other agreements entered into and include, 
but are not limited to the following : 
 

a) to serve a written notice on the Board of the Company to cease to be a Shareholder 
in the Company 

b) to vote on matters, including the reserved matters in Schedule 1 of the 
Shareholder Agreement as replicated below: 

 

 

Reserved matters 
 

PART A – Matters for approval by all of the Shareholders (unanimous consent 
required) 
 

1. subject to Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) rules, extend the activities of the 
Company outside the scope of the Business or close down any operation of the 
Business; 

2. subject to FCA rules, give any guarantee or indemnity outside the ordinary course 
of the Business to secure the liabilities of any person or assume the obligations of 
any person (other than a wholly owned subsidiary) (e.g. guaranteeing a lease that 
does not relate to the Business of the Company); 

3. subject to FCA rules, enter into or vary any contracts or arrangements with any of 
the Shareholders or directors (other than service agreements and letters of 
appointment as directors) or any person with whom any shareholder or director is 
connected (whether as director, consultant, shareholder or otherwise) (e.g. any 
contract which could give preferential rights to a specific shareholder); 

4. enter into any agreement not in the ordinary course of the Business and/or which is 
not on an arm's length basis; 

5. enter into or vary any agreement for the provision of consultancy, management or 
other services by any person which will, or is likely to result in, the Company being 
managed otherwise than by its directors; 

6. change the name of the Company; 

Page 339



  
 

196 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

7. pass a resolution or present a petition to wind up the Company or apply for an 
administration order or any order having similar effect in a different jurisdiction in 
relation to the Company unless in any case the Company is at the relevant time 
unable to pay its debts within the meaning of section 123 Insolvency Act 1986; 

8. reduce or cancel any share capital of the Company, purchase its own shares, hold 
any shares in treasury, allot or agree to allot, whether actually or contingently, any 
of the share capital of the Company or any security of the Company convertible into 
share capital, grant any options or other rights to subscribe for or to convert any 
security into shares of the Company or alter the classification of any part of the share 
capital of the Company (in each case other than as expressly permitted by this 
Agreement and/or the Articles where no prior consent shall be required including, 
without limitation, pursuant to either clause 4 (Finance & Regulatory Capital) and/or 
clause 15 (Consequences of Breach) and/or Article 26 of the Articles (Issue of 
Shares and Pre-Emption Rights)); 

9. other than as expressly permitted by this Agreement and/or the Articles, redeem or 
buy any existing Shares or otherwise reorganise the share capital of the Company; 

10. admit any person as a member of the Company or an investor in Border to Coast; 
11. enter into any partnership, joint venture or profit sharing arrangement with any 

person (excluding entering into any investment or investment vehicle); 
12. alter any of the provisions of the Articles or any of the rights attaching to the Shares; 
13. amalgamate or merge with any other company or business undertaking; 
14. sell, lease (as lessor), licence (as licensor), transfer or otherwise dispose of any of 

its material assets otherwise than in the ordinary course of the Business; 
15. the removal and replacement of any Interim Directors, but for the avoidance of doubt 

not including any subsequent or replacement appointments of any director which 
shall be made under Part B below; 

16. commence, settle or defend any claim, proceedings or other litigation brought by or 
against Border to Coast, except (i) in relation to debt collection (not exceeding 
£500,000) in the ordinary course of the Business and (ii) in relation to any investment 
related claims or proceedings relevant to the ACS or other collective investment 
vehicles; 

17. take out any third party loan(s) in respect of Border to Coast which (in aggregate) 
exceed the sum of £5,000,000; 

18. form any subsidiary of Border to Coast, or acquire any shares in any other company, 
whether through subscription or transfer, such that the company concerned 
becomes a subsidiary of Border to Coast; 

19. determine the composition, governance arrangements and limits of authority of any 
and all subsidiaries of Border to Coast; 

20. approving and adopting a Subsequent Strategic Plan (including the Annual Budget) 
and/or amending any such Plan; and 

21. make any capitalisation, repayment or other distribution of any amount standing to 
the credit of any reserve of the Company or pay or declare any dividend or other 
distribution to the Shareholders save that no consent will be required to pay the B 
Share Dividend. 

 

PART B – Matters for approval by a Shareholder Majority only 
 

1. enter into or materially vary any licence or other similar agreement relating to 
intellectual property to be licenced to or by the Company which is otherwise than in 
the ordinary course of the Business; 

2. appoint or remove the auditors of the Company; 
3. alter the Company's accounting reference date; 
4. make any significant change to any of the Company's accounting or reporting 

practices other than conforming with any changes made to the accounting standards 
adopted by the Company; 

Page 340



  
 

197 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

5. approve the annual accounts of the Company; 
6. determine the amount of, or any increase in, remuneration payable to any directors 

from time to time; 
7. establish or amend any pension scheme (i.e. for employees of the Company); 
8. subject to FCA rules, enter into any agency, distribution or similar agreement which 

confers or is expressed to confer any element of exclusivity as regards any goods 
or services the subject of such agreement or as to the area of the agreement or vary 
such an agreement to include any such exclusivity; 

9. incur in any financial year any item or series of items of capital expenditure including 
finance leases (but excluding operating leases) of more than £5,000,000 (unless 
provided for in the Initial Strategic Plan or any Subsequent Strategic Plan); 

10. enter into or vary any operating lease either as lessor or lessee, of any plant, 
property or equipment of a duration exceeding 5 years or involving aggregate 
premium and annual rental payments in excess of £100,000 (unless provided for in 
the Initial Strategic Plan or  any Subsequent Strategic Plan); 

11. adoption of (and any amendment of) any written conflicts policy; 
12. approval of any conflict or potential conflict of interest any director may have which 

would preclude him or her from being included in the quorum of any meeting of the 
directors; 

13. appointment of any subsequent director, any alternate director (who is not at the 
time a director of the Company) and including, for the avoidance of doubt any 
subsequent Chair in accordance with the Companies Act 2006 or otherwise; and 

14. removal of any director and, for the avoidance of doubt, the Chair in accordance with 
the Companies Act 2006 or otherwise. 

 

Chairman (or Vice Chairman in their absence) of the Teesside Pension Fund 
Committee 
 

The nominated representative of the Council on behalf of Teesside Pension Fund on the 
Border to Coast Pensions Partnership Joint Committee, noting that the Joint Committee 
shall not making binding decisions on the matters in the Terms of Reference of the Joint 
Committee but may make recommendations to each Authority to individually determine. 
 

Chief Finance Officer (who is the Section 151 Officer) 
 

a) The nominated officer to meet and resolve any Deadlock Situation as per Clause 10 
of the Shareholder Agreement 

b) The nominated officer to consider and resolve any Dispute as per Clause 13 of the 
Inter Authority Agreement 

 

  

Page 341



  
 

198 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

24 CODES AND PROTOCOLS 

 

This section contains the following Council Codes and Protocols: 

 

(a) Member’s Code of Conduct  

 

(b) Officers’ Code of Conduct  

 

(c) Protocol for Member / Officer Relations 

 

(d) Protocol for Members and Officers on Gifts and Hospitality 

 

(e) Filming of Council Meetings  

 

 

  

Page 342



  
 

199 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

MEMBER CODE OF CONDUCT 
  

Page 343



  
 

200 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

MEMBER CODE OF CONDUCT 

 

1.1 Introduction 

 

1.1.1 The role of councillor across all tiers of local government is a vital part of our country’s 

system of democracy. It is important that as councillors we can be held accountable 

and all adopt the behaviours and responsibilities associated with the role. Our conduct 

as an individual councillor affects the reputation of all councillors. We want the role of 

councillor to be one that people aspire to. We also want individuals from a range of 

backgrounds and circumstances to be putting themselves forward to become 

councillors. 

 

1.1.2 As councillors, we represent local residents, work to develop better services and 

deliver local change. The public have high expectations of us and entrust us to 

represent our local area, taking decisions fairly, openly, and transparently. We have 

both an individual and collective responsibility to meet these expectations by 

maintaining high standards and demonstrating good conduct, and by challenging 

behaviour which falls below expectations. 

 

1.1.3 Importantly, we should be able to undertake our role as a councillor without being 

intimidated, abused, bullied, or threatened by anyone, including the general public. 

 

1.1.4 This Code has been designed to protect our democratic role, encourage good conduct 

and safeguard the public’s trust in local government. 

 

1.1.5 All councils are required to have a local Councillor Code of Conduct. 

 

1.2 Definitions 

 

1.2.1 For the purposes of this Code of Conduct, a “councillor” means a member or co-opted 

member of a local authority or a directly elected mayor. A “co-opted member” is 

defined in the Localism Act 2011 Section 27(4) as “a person who is not a member of 

the authority but who: 

 

(a) is a member of any committee or sub-committee of the authority, or; 

 

(b) is a member of, and represents the authority on, any joint committee or joint 

sub- committee of the authority, 

 

and who is entitled to vote on any question that falls to be decided at any meeting of 

that committee or sub-committee”. 

 

1.2.2 For the purposes of this Code of Conduct, “local authority” includes county councils, 

district councils, London borough councils, parish councils, town councils, fire and 

rescue authorities, police authorities, joint authorities, economic prosperity boards, 

combined authorities and National Park authorities. 

 

1.3 Purpose of the Code of Conduct 

 

The purpose of this Code of Conduct is to assist you, as a councillor, in modelling the 

behaviour that is expected of you, to provide a personal check and balance, and to 

Page 344



  
 

201 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

set out the type of conduct that could lead to action being taken against you.  It is also 

to protect you, the public, fellow councillors, local authority officers and the reputation 

of local government. It sets out general principles of conduct expected of all 

councillors and your specific obligations in relation to standards of conduct. The 

fundamental aim of the Code is to create and maintain public confidence in the role of 

councillor and local government. 

 

1.4 General principles of councillor conduct 

 

1.4.1 Everyone in public office at all levels; all who serve the public or deliver public 

services, including ministers, civil servants, councillors and local authority officers; 

should uphold the Seven Principles of Public Life, also known as the Nolan Principles, 

as set out at Appendix A. 

 

1.4.2 Building on these principles, the following general principles have been developed 

specifically for the role of councillor. 

 

1.4.3 In accordance with the public trust placed in me, on all occasions: 

 

(a) I act with integrity and honesty; 

 

(b) I act lawfully; 

 

(c) I treat all persons fairly and with respect; and 

 

(d) I lead by example and act in a way that secures public confidence in the role of 

councillor. 

 

1.4.4 In undertaking my role: 

 

(a) I impartially exercise my responsibilities in the interests of the local community; 

 

(b) I do not improperly seek to confer an advantage, or disadvantage, on any 

person; 

 

(c) I avoid conflicts of interest; 

 

(d) I exercise reasonable care and diligence; and 

 

(e) I ensure that public resources are used prudently in accordance with my local 

authority’s requirements and in the public interest. 

 

1.5 Application of the Code of Conduct 

 

1.5.1 This Code of Conduct applies to you as soon as you sign your declaration of 

acceptance of the office of councillor or attend your first meeting as a co-opted 

member and continues to apply to you until you cease to be a councillor. 

 

1.5.2 This Code of Conduct applies to you when you are acting in your capacity as a 

councillor which may include when: 

 

Page 345



  
 

202 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(a) you misuse your position as a councillor; or 

 

(b) your actions would give the impression to a reasonable member of the public 

with knowledge of all the facts that you are acting as a councillor. 

 

 

1.5.3 The Code applies to all forms of communication and interaction, including: 

 

(a) at face-to-face meetings; 

 

(b) at online or telephone meetings; 

 

(c) in written communication; 

 

(d) in verbal communication; 

 

(e) in non-verbal communication; and 

 

(f) in electronic and social media communication, posts, statements and 

comments. 

 

1.5.4 You are also expected to uphold high standards of conduct and show leadership at 

all times when acting as a councillor. 

 

1.5.5 Your Monitoring Officer has statutory responsibility for the implementation of the Code 

of Conduct, and you are encouraged to seek advice from your Monitoring Officer on 

any matters that may relate to the Code of Conduct.  

 

1.5.6 Town and parish councillors are encouraged to seek advice from their Clerk, who may 

refer matters to the Monitoring Officer. 

 

1.6 Standards of councillor conduct 

 

This section sets out your obligations, which are the minimum standards of conduct 

required of you as a councillor. Should your conduct fall short of these standards, a 

complaint may be made against you, which may result in action being taken. Guidance 

is included to help explain the reasons for the obligations and how they should be 

followed. 

 

1.7 Respect 

 

1.7.1 As a councillor: 

 

(a) I treat other councillors and members of the public with respect. 

 

(b) I treat local authority employees, employees and representatives of 

partner organisations and those volunteering for the local authority with 

respect and respect the role they play. 

 

1.7.2 Respect means politeness and courtesy in behaviour, speech, and in the written word. 

Debate and having different views are all part of a healthy democracy. As a councillor, 

Page 346



  
 

203 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

you can express, challenge, criticise and disagree with views, ideas, opinions and 

policies in a robust but civil manner. You should not, however, subject individuals, 

groups of people or organisations to personal attack. In your contact with the public, 

you should treat them politely and courteously. Rude and offensive behaviour lowers 

the public’s expectations and confidence in councillors. 

 

1.7.3 In return, you have a right to expect respectful behaviour from the public. If members 

of the public are being abusive, intimidatory or threatening you are entitled to stop any 

conversation or interaction in person or online and report them to the local authority, 

the relevant social media provider or the police. This also applies to fellow councillors, 

where action could then be taken under the Councillor Code of Conduct, and local 

authority employees, where concerns should be raised in line with the local authority’s 

councillor- officer protocol. 

 

1.8 Bullying, harassment and discrimination 

 

1.8.1 As a councillor: 

 

(a) I do not bully any person. 

 

(b) I do not harass any person. 

 

(c) I promote equalities and do not discriminate unlawfully against any 

person. 

 

1.8.2 The Advisory, Conciliation and Arbitration Service (ACAS) characterises bullying as 

offensive, intimidating, malicious or insulting behaviour, an abuse or misuse of power 

through means that undermine, humiliate, denigrate or injure the recipient. Bullying 

might be a regular pattern of behaviour or a one-off incident, happen face-to-face, on 

social media, in emails or phone calls, happen in the workplace or at work social 

events and may not always be obvious or noticed by others. 

 

1.8.3 The Protection from Harassment Act 1997 defines harassment as conduct that 

causes alarm or distress or puts people in fear of violence and must involve such 

conduct on at least two occasions. It can include repeated attempts to impose 

unwanted communications and contact upon a person in a manner that could be 

expected to cause distress or fear in any reasonable person. 

 

1.8.4 Unlawful discrimination is where someone is treated unfairly because of a protected 

characteristic. Protected characteristics are specific aspects of a person's identity 

defined by the Equality Act 2010. They are age, disability, gender reassignment, 

marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex 

and sexual orientation. 

 

1.8.5 The Equality Act 2010 places specific duties on local authorities. Councillors have a 

central role to play in ensuring that equality issues are integral to the local authority's 

performance and strategic aims, and that there is a strong vision and public 

commitment to equality across public services. 

 

1.9 Impartiality of officers of the council 

Page 347



  
 

204 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

1.9.1 As a councillor, I do not compromise, or attempt to compromise, the impartiality 

of anyone who works for, or on behalf of, the local authority. 

 

1.9.2 Officers work for the local authority as a whole and must be politically neutral (unless 

they are political assistants). They should not be coerced or persuaded to act in a way 

that would undermine their neutrality. You can question officers in order to understand, 

for example, their reasons for proposing to act in a particular way, or the content of a 

report that they have written. However, you must not try and force them to act 

differently, change their advice, or alter the content of that report, if doing so would 

prejudice their professional integrity. 

 

1.10 Confidentiality and access to information 

 

1.10.1 As a councillor, I do not disclose information: 

 

(a) given to me in confidence by anyone; 

 

(b) acquired by me which I believe, or ought reasonably to be aware, is of a 

confidential nature, unless: 

 

(i) I have received the consent of a person authorised to give it; 

 

(ii) I am required by law to do so; 

 

(iii) the disclosure is made to a third party for the purpose of obtaining 

professional legal advice provided that the third party agrees not 

to disclose the information to any other person; or 

 

(iv) the disclosure is: 

 

 reasonable and in the public interest; and 
 

 made in good faith and in compliance with the 
reasonable requirements of the local authority; and 
 

 I have consulted the Monitoring Officer prior to its 
release. 

 

(c) I do not improperly use knowledge gained solely as a result of my role as 

a councillor for the advancement of myself, my friends, my family 

members, my employer or my business interests. 

 

(d) I do not prevent anyone from getting information that they are entitled to 

by law. 

 

1.10.2 Local authorities must work openly and transparently, and their proceedings and 

printed materials are open to the public, except in certain legally defined 

circumstances. You should work on this basis, but there will be times when it is 

required by law that discussions, documents and other information relating to or held 

by the local authority must be treated in a confidential manner. Examples include 

personal data relating to individuals or information relating to ongoing negotiations. 

Page 348



  
 

205 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

1.11  Disrepute 

 

1.11.1 As a councillor, I do not bring my role or local authority into disrepute. 

 

1.11.2 As a Councillor, you are trusted to make decisions on behalf of your community and 

your actions and behaviour are subject to greater scrutiny than that of ordinary 

members of the public. You should be aware that your actions might have an adverse 

impact on you, other councillors and/or your local authority and may lower the public’s 

confidence in your or your local authority’s ability to discharge your/its functions. For 

example, behaviour that is considered dishonest and/or deceitful can bring your local 

authority into disrepute. 

 

1.11.3 You are able to hold the local authority and fellow councillors to account and are able 

to constructively challenge and express concern about decisions and processes 

undertaken by the council whilst continuing to adhere to other aspects of this Code of 

Conduct. 

 

1.12 Use of position 

 

1.12.1 As a councillor, I do not use, or attempt to use, my position improperly to the 

advantage or disadvantage of myself or anyone else. 

 

1.12.2 Your position as a member of the local authority provides you with certain 

opportunities, responsibilities, and privileges, and you make choices all the time that 

will impact others. However, you should not take advantage of these opportunities to 

further your own or others’ private interests or to disadvantage anyone unfairly. 

 

1.13 Use of local authority resources and facilities 

 

1.13.1 As a councillor: 

 

(a) I do not misuse council resources. 

 

(b) I will, when using the resources of the local authority or authorising their 

use by others: 

 

(i) act in accordance with the local authority's requirements; and 

 

(ii) ensure that such resources are not used for political purposes 

unless that use could reasonably be regarded as likely to 

facilitate, or be conducive to, the discharge of the functions of the 

local authority or of the office to which I have been elected or 

appointed. 

 

1.13.2 You may be provided with resources and facilities by the local authority to assist you 

in carrying out your duties as a councillor. Examples include: 

 

(a) office support;  

 

(b) stationery; 

 

Page 349



  
 

206 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(c) equipment such as phones, and computers; 

 

(d) transport; and  

 

(e) access and use of local authority buildings and rooms. 

 

1.13.3 These are given to you to help you carry out your role as a councillor more effectively 

and are not to be used for business or personal gain. They should be used in 

accordance with the purpose for which they have been provided and the local 

authority’s own policies regarding their use. 

 

1.14 Complying with the Code of Conduct 

 

1.14.1 As a Councillor: 

 

(a) I undertake Code of Conduct training provided by my local authority. 

 

(b) I cooperate with any Code of Conduct investigation and/or determination. 

 

(c) I do not intimidate or attempt to intimidate any person who is likely to be 

involved with the administration of any investigation or proceedings. 

(d)  

(e) I comply with any sanction imposed on me following a finding that I have 

breached the Code of Conduct. 

 

1.14.2 It is extremely important for you as a councillor to demonstrate high standards, for you 

to have your actions open to scrutiny and for you not to undermine public trust in the 

local authority or its governance. If you do not understand or are concerned about the 

local authority’s processes in handling a complaint you should raise this with your 

Monitoring Officer. 

PROTECTING YOUR REPUTATION AND THE REPUTATION OF THE LOCAL 

AUTHORITY 

1.15 Interests 

 

1.15.1 As a councillor, I register and disclose my interests. 

 

1.15.2 Section 29 of the Localism Act 2011 requires the Monitoring Officer to establish and 

maintain a register of interests of members of the authority . 

 

1.15.3 You need to register your interests so that the public, local authority employees and 

fellow councillors know which of your interests might give rise to a conflict of interest. 

The register is a public document that can be consulted when (or before) an issue 

arises. The register also protects you by allowing you to demonstrate openness and 

a willingness to be held accountable. You are personally responsible for deciding 

whether or not you should disclose an interest in a meeting, but it can be helpful for 

you to know early on if others think that a potential conflict might arise. It is also 

important that the public know about any interest that might have to be disclosed by 

you or other councillors when making or taking part in decisions, so that decision 

making is seen by the public as open and honest. This helps to ensure that public 

confidence in the integrity of local governance is maintained. 

Page 350



  
 

207 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

1.15.4 You should note that failure to register or disclose a disclosable pecuniary interest as 

set out in Table 1, is a criminal offence under the Localism Act 2011. 

 

1.15.5 Appendix B sets out the detailed provisions on registering and disclosing interests. If 

in doubt, you should always seek advice from your Monitoring Officer. 

 

1.16 Gifts and hospitality 

 

1.16.1 As a councillor: 

 

(a) I do not accept gifts or hospitality, irrespective of estimated value, which 

could give rise to real or substantive personal gain or a reasonable 

suspicion of influence on my part to show favour from persons seeking 

to acquire, develop or do business with the local authority or from 

persons who may apply to the local authority for any permission, licence 

or other significant advantage. 

 

(b) I register with the Monitoring Officer any gift or hospitality with an 

estimated value of at least £25 within 28 days of its receipt. 

 

(c) I register with the Monitoring Officer any significant gift or hospitality that 

I have been offered but have refused to accept. 

 

1.16.2 In order to protect your position and the reputation of the local authority, you should 

exercise caution in accepting any gifts or hospitality which are (or which you 

reasonably believe to be) offered to you because you are a councillor. The 

presumption should always be not to accept significant gifts or hospitality. However, 

there may be times when such a refusal may be difficult if it is seen as rudeness in 

which case you could accept it but must ensure it is publicly registered. However, you 

do not need to register gifts and hospitality which are not related to your role as a 

councillor, such as Christmas gifts from your friends and family. It is also important to 

note that it is appropriate to accept normal expenses and hospitality associated with 

your duties as a councillor. If you are unsure, do contact your Monitoring Officer for 

guidance. 

  

Page 351



  
 

208 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

APPENDIX A – THE SEVEN PRINCIPLES OF PUBLIC LIFE 

The principles are: 

1. Selflessness 

Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public interest. 

2. Integrity 

Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any obligation to people or 
organisations that might try inappropriately to influence them in their work. They should not 
act or take decisions in order to gain financial or other material benefits for themselves, their 
family, or their friends. They must disclose and resolve any interests and relationships. 

3. Objectivity 

Holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, fairly and on merit, using the 
best evidence and without discrimination or bias. 

4. Accountability 

Holders of public office are accountable to the public for their decisions and actions and must 
submit themselves to the scrutiny necessary to ensure this. 

5. Openness 

Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open and transparent manner. 
Information should not be withheld from the public unless there are clear and lawful reasons 
for so doing. 

6. Honesty 

Holders of public office should be truthful. 

7. Leadership 

Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their own behaviour. They should 
actively promote and robustly support the principles and be willing to challenge poor behaviour 
wherever it occurs. 

  

Page 352



  
 

209 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

APPENDIX B – REGISTERING INTERESTS  

Within 28 days of becoming a member or your re-election or re-appointment to office you must 
register with the Monitoring Officer the interests which fall within the categories set out in Table 
1 (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) which are as described in The Relevant Authorities 
(Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 201273.  

You should also register details of your other personal interests which fall within the categories 
set out in Table 2 (Other Registerable Interests). 

“Disclosable Pecuniary Interest” means an interest of yourself, or of your partner if you are 
aware of your partner's interest, within the descriptions set out in Table 1 below. 

"Partner" means a spouse or civil partner, or a person with whom you are living as husband 
or wife, or a person with whom you are living as if you are civil partners. 

1. You must ensure that your register of interests is kept up-to-date and within 28 days of 
becoming aware of any new interest, or of any change to a registered interest, notify the 
Monitoring Officer. 

2. A ‘sensitive interest’ is as an interest which, if disclosed, could lead to the councillor, or a 
person connected with the councillor, being subject to violence or intimidation. 

3. Where you have a ‘sensitive interest’ you must notify the Monitoring Officer with the reasons 
why you believe it is a sensitive interest. If the Monitoring Officer 
agrees they will withhold the interest from the public register. 

Non participation in case of disclosable pecuniary interest 

4. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interests as set out in Table 1, you must disclose the interest, not 
participate in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not remain in the room unless 
you have been granted a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose 
the nature of the interest, just that you have an interest. Dispensation may be granted in limited 
circumstances, to enable you to participate 
and vote on a matter in which you have a disclosable pecuniary interest. 

5. [Where you have a disclosable pecuniary interest on a matter to be considered or is 
being considered by you as a Cabinet member in exercise of your executive function, you 
must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest and must not take any steps or 
further steps in the matter apart from arranging for someone else to deal with it ] 

Disclosure of Other Registerable Interests 

6. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to the financial interest or 
wellbeing of one of your Other Registerable Interests (as set out in Table 2), you must disclose 
the interest. You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed to 
speak at the meeting but otherwise must not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter 
and must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it is a 
‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest. 

                                                
73 Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012 

Page 353

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1464/made


  
 

210 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Disclosure of Non-Registerable Interests 

7. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to your financial interest or well-
being (and is not a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest set out in Table 1) or a 
financial interest or well-being of a relative or close associate, you must disclose the interest. 
You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed to speak at the 
meeting. Otherwise you must not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter and must 
not remain in the room unless you have been granted a 
dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest. 

8. Where a matter arises at a meeting which affects – 

a. your own financial interest or well-being; 

b. a financial interest or well-being of a relative or close associate; or 

c. a financial interest or wellbeing of a body included under Other Registrable Interests as 
set out in Table 2, 

you must disclose the interest. In order to determine whether you can remain in the meeting 
after disclosing your interest the following test should be applied 

9. Where a matter (referred to in paragraph 8 above) affects the financial interest or well-
being: 

a. to a greater extent than it affects the financial interests of the majority of inhabitants of 
the ward affected by the decision and; 

b. a reasonable member of the public knowing all the facts would believe that it would 
affect your view of the wider public interest, 

you may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed to speak at the 
meeting. Otherwise you must not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter and must 
not remain in the room unless you have been granted a dispensation. 

If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest. 

10. Where you have an Other Registerable Interest or Non-Registerable Interest on a matter 
to be considered or is being considered by you as a Cabinet member in exercise of your 
executive function, you must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest and must not take any 
steps or further steps in the matter apart from arranging for someone else to deal with it 

  

Page 354



  
 

211 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

TABLE 1: DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS 

This table sets out the explanation of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests as set out in the 
Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012.  

Subject Description 

Employment, office, trade, 
profession or vocation 

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation 
carried on for profit or gain. 

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit 
(other than from the council) made to the councillor during 
the previous 12-month period for expenses incurred by 
him/her in carrying out his/her duties as a councillor, or 
towards his/her election expenses.  

This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade 
union within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour 
Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992. 

Contracts Any contract made between the councillor or his/her 
spouse or civil partner or the person with whom the 
councillor is living as if they were spouses/civil partners (or 
a firm in which such person is a partner, or an incorporated 
body of which such person is a director* or a body that such 
person has a beneficial interest in the securities of*) and 
the council —  

(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or 
works are to be executed; and  

which has not been fully discharged 

Land and Property Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the 
council. 

‘Land’ excludes an easement, servitude, interest or right in 
or over land which does not give the councillor or his/her 
spouse or civil partner or the person with whom the 
councillor is living as if they were spouses/ civil partners 
(alone or jointly with another) a right to occupy or to receive 
income 

Licences Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in 
the area of the council for a month or longer 

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to the councillor’s knowledge)—  

(a) the landlord is the council; and  

(b) the tenant is a body that the councillor, or his/her spouse 
or civil partner or the person with whom the councillor is 

Page 355



  
 

212 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

living as if they were spouses/ civil partners is a partner of 
or a director* of or has a beneficial interest in the securities* 
of. 

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities* of a body where— 

(a) that body (to the councillor’s knowledge) has a place of 
business or land in the area of the council; and  

(b) either:  

(i) the total nominal value of the securities* exceeds 
£25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued share capital 
of that body; or 

(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, 
the total nominal value of the shares of any one class in 
which the councillor, or his/ her spouse or civil partner or 
the person with whom the councillor is living as if they were 
spouses/civil partners has a beneficial interest exceeds 
one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that class 

 

* ‘director’ includes a member of the committee of management of an industrial and provident 
society.  

* ‘securities’ means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a 
collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets Act 
2000 and other securities of any description, other than money deposited with a building 
society 

Other Registerable Interests 

You must register as an Other Registerable Interest: 

a) any unpaid directorships  

b) any body of which you are a member or are in a position of general control or management 
and to which you are nominated or appointed by your authority 

c) any body:  

i. exercising functions of a public nature  

ii. directed to charitable purposes or  

iii. one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or policy 
(including any political party or trade union) of which you are a member orin a position 
of general control or management.  

Page 356



  
 

213 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

OFFICER CODE OF CONDUCT 
 

 

  

Page 357



  
 

214 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

OFFICER CODE OF CONDUCT 

This Code of Conduct applies to Council employees  and any other person working on behalf 

of the Council (for example, agency staff) and sets out the standards of conduct that are 

expected of them. For the avoidance of doubt, every Officer is an employee of the Council and 

is subject to this Code of Conduct.  

 

The attention of all Council employees, whether permanent or temporary is drawn to the 

following provisions relating to private work undertaken by employees and other matters of 

conduct.  

 

STANDARDS AND CONDUCT 

 

1.17 What standards apply to Council employees?  

 

1.17.1 Local government employees are expected to provide the highest possible standard 

of service to the public, and where it is part of their duties, to provide appropriate 

advice to Councillors and fellow employees with impartiality. Employees will be 

expected, through agreed procedures, and without fear of recrimination, to bring to 

the attention of the appropriate level of management any deficiency in the provision 

of service, and any impropriety or breach of procedure.  

 

1.17.2 Employees should always remember their responsibilities to the community they 

serve and ensure courteous, efficient and impartial service delivery to all groups and 

individuals within that community as defined by the policies of the Council. 

 

1.17.3 The Council expects good standards of behaviour from all of its employees towards 

fellow employees, Councillors, service users and members of the public. The Council 

recognises the importance of treating everyone with equal dignity and respect and will 

not tolerate harassment, discrimination or bullying.  

 

1.17.4 This policy has been reviewed against the Bribery Act 201074.  

 

1.18 What are the general standards of conduct for employees?  

 

1.18.1 Subject to its rights under the conditions of appointment of employees not being 

prejudiced, the Council does not wish to limit unduly the activities of employees in 

their leisure time.  

 

1.18.2 The Council does, however, require that efficiency and due performance of official 

duties shall not be impaired by private work in leisure time, and it requires at all times 

to be satisfied that its interests are not being detrimentally affected in this respect.  

 

1.18.3 The Council must be in a position to rebut with confidence any allegation that the 

integrity of its administration is being impaired because of the leisure time activities of 

any of its employees. Implicit in this is the requirement that there must be no question 

of employees undertaking activities in circumstances which might lead to suspicion of 

undue or improper favour being granted to anyone, including Members or undue or 

improper influence being exercised, in relation to contracts of any kind, or in relation 

                                                
74 Bribery Act 2010 

Page 358

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/23/contents


  
 

215 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

to any consent, permission, licence, etc., which members of the public seek from the 

Council. Conduct outside of working hours which gives rise to criminal prosecution 

will be considered in accordance with the Council’s disciplinary policy and may in 

exceptional cases lead to dismissal. 

 

1.19 What are the Nolan Principles and how do they apply to employees?   

 

1.19.1 The Seven Principles of Public Life (also known as the Nolan Principles75) apply to 

anyone who works as a public office-holder, including those who are appointed to 

work in local government.   

 

1.19.2 The Nolan Principles are as follows:  

 

1. Selflessness – Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public 

interest.  

 

2. Integrity – Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any 

obligation to people or organisations that might try inappropriately to influence 

them in their work. They should not act or take decisions in order to gain 

financial or other material benefits for themselves, their family, or their friends. 

They must declare and resolve any interests and relationships. 

 

3. Objectivity – Holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, 

fairly and on merit, using the best evidence and without discrimination or bias. 

 

4. Accountability – Holders of public office are accountable to the public for their 

decisions and actions and must submit themselves to the scrutiny necessary 

to ensure this. 

 

5. Openness – Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open 

and transparent manner. Information should not be withheld from the public 

unless there are clear and lawful reasons for so doing. 

 

6. Honesty – Holders of public office should be truthful. 

 

7. Leadership – Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their 

own behaviour and treat others with respect. They should actively promote 

and robustly support the principles and challenge poor behaviour wherever it 

occurs. 

 

1.19.3 Council employees should take the Nolan Principles into account when performing all 

of their duties for the Council.  

 

1.20 What are the rules for employees in relation to disclosure of Information? 

 

1.20.1 Employees should not use any information obtained in the course of their employment 

for personal gain or benefit, nor should they pass it on to others who might use it in 

such a way.  

 

                                                
75 The Nolan Principles 

Page 359

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-7-principles-of-public-life/the-7-principles-of-public-life--2


  
 

216 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

1.20.2 Any particular information received by an employee from a Councillor which is 

personal to that Councillor and does not belong to the Council should not be divulged 

by the employee without the prior approval of that Councillor, except where such 

disclosure is required or sanctioned by law.  

OTHER EMPLOYMENT AND DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 

1.21 In what circumstances may employees undertake private paid work? 

 

The following conditions must be strictly observed by any employee who proposes to 

undertake, or who undertakes, private work for any person, firm or company:  

 

(a) Employees graded above Band I (i.e., above spinal column point 30) shall 

devote their whole-time service to the work of the Council and shall not engage 

in any other business or take up any other additional appointment without the 

consent of the employee’s Strategic Directors / Directors, after consultation 

with the Monitoring Officer.  

 

(b) Private work must not be undertaken during working hours, and it must not be 

undertaken on official premises, even after working hours.  

 

(c) In addition to there being no impairment of the proper execution of the 

employee’s official duties, there must not be any interference with any 

requirement to work overtime on such duties.  

 

(d) Private work that may be subject to the Council’s statutory supervision or 

consent must not be undertaken.  

 

(e) Private work must not be undertaken for any person, firm or company who is 

known by the employee to be currently or periodically, an applicant to the 

Council for a statutory consent or permission, for a discretionary licence 

(excluding licences which are issued automatically subject to the application 

being in order), or for any other purpose, where the application is or would be 

dealt with by the department in which the employee is serving. Employees 

proposing to undertake private work for any person, firm or company are 

responsible for ascertaining from them whether they are an applicant to the 

Council for such a statutory consent or permission.  

 

(f) Private work must not be undertaken for any person, firm or company in a 

contractual relationship with, or commissioned by, the Council, or concerned in 

any property transaction with the Council, or for any person known or believed 

by the employee to be connected with such a firm or company, where the 

employee undertaking the private work is serving in a department materially 

concerned with such a contractual relationship, commission or property 

transaction. Employees proposing to undertake private work for any person, 

firm or company are responsible for ascertaining from them whether any 

contractual or commission relationship with the Council exists, or whether they 

are concerned in any property transaction with the Council.  

 

(g) Private work must not be undertaken by an employee for another employee 

responsible for supervising that employee or whom the employee supervises.  

Page 360



  
 

217 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

(h) Private work must not be undertaken for any person, firm or company with 

whom an employee deals in the course of their official duty.  

 

(i) Council equipment, vehicles or goods must not be used to undertake private 

work.  

 

(j) An employee may undertake secondary employment in their own time where it 

does not create any conflict of interest. Employees proposing to undertake any 

such secondary employment are responsible for ensuring that the 

commitments of the job stayed below the level at which efficiency in their work 

for the Council could be impaired.  

 

(k) Teaching and lecturing may be acceptable but special safeguards need to be 

put in place. Where such activity would involve the use of special knowledge 

gained in the Council’s employment, permission must be sought from the 

employee’s Strategic / Assistant Directors; where any fee is received for such 

work it must be paid over to the Council unless prior arrangements have been 

agreed otherwise. Similarly, where the activity could have a significant public 

impact in relation to the Council or its functions, prior approval must be obtained 

from the employee’s Strategic / Assistant Directors.  

 

1.22 In what circumstances may employees undertake unpaid private work?  

 

If an employee wishes to undertake private work for which no payment or other reward 

is made, but which would otherwise be prohibited under section 1.21 above, the 

employee must inform their Strategic Director / Director who may relax some of the 

conditions in section 1.21 above, as may be considered appropriate.  

 

1.23 When must an employee declare an interest in a contract76?  

 

1.23.1 The Contract Procedure Rules place the following requirements on employees in 

relation to a declaration of an interest in a contract:  

 

“The proper employee of the Council shall record in a book to be kept for the 

purpose, brief particulars of any notice given by an employee of the Council 

under Section 177 of the Local Government Act 1972, of a pecuniary interest in 

a contract and the book and such notices shall be open during office hours for 

the inspection of any member of the Council”. 

 

Section 117 of the Local Government Act 1972 refers to the need for employees 

to declare their interest and the interest of spouses in contracts negotiated 

between the Council and third parties. This particular Section specifies as 

follows:  

 

“If it comes to the knowledge of an employee employed, whether under this 

Act or any other enactment by a local authority that a contract in which he has 

any pecuniary interest, whether direct or indirect (not being a contract to which 

                                                
76 Local Government Act 1972, section 117 

Page 361

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1972/70/section/117


  
 

218 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

he himself is a party), has been, or is proposed to be, entered into by the 

Authority or any Committee of the Authority, he shall as soon as practicable 

give notice in writing to the Authority of the fact that he is interested therein”. 

 

1.23.2 An employee shall be treated as having indirectly a pecuniary interest in a contract or 

proposed contract, if:  

 

(a) They, or any nominee of theirs, is a member of a company or other body with 

which the contract was made or is proposed to be made or which has a direct 

pecuniary interest in the other matter under consideration; or  

 

(b) they are a partner, or are in the employment, of a person with whom the 

contract was made or is proposed to be made or who has a direct pecuniary 

interest in the other matter under consideration.  

 

In the case of married persons living together the interest of one spouse shall, if known 

to the other, also be deemed an interest of the other.  

NOTE: Where the Act refers to “he” you should read “he” or “she”. Any employee 

affected by this Act should inform the Monitoring Officer through their Strategic / 

Assistant Directors.  

1.24 In what circumstances may employees write and publish books and articles?  

 

The writing of books or articles for payment on subjects relating to an employee’s work 

for the Council requires the permission of the Council.  

 

(a) No person employed by the Council in any capacity shall publish, or authorise 

the publication of, any book or article written by that person either wholly or in 

collaboration with any other person or persons, in which the title page, preface, 

or any other part thereof appears to be any indication that the writer is an 

employee of or is otherwise connected with the Council, unless a statement 

appears in a prominent position in such book or article to the effect that the 

opinions are those of the author and do not necessarily represent the opinions 

of the Council and that the Council accepts no responsibility for the author’s 

opinions or conclusions.  

 

(b) No such persons shall, without permission from their Strategic / Assistant 

Directors make available to a newspaper, solely or jointly with any other person 

or persons, any communication in which there is an indication that the person 

is an employee of, or otherwise connected with, the Council.  

 

(c) Sections (a) and (b) above shall not apply to books and articles on purely 

technical or scientific subjects, and persons employed by the Council shall be 

at liberty to write and publish books and articles on these subjects and, if they 

so wish, to indicate therein that they are Officers of, or otherwise connected 

with the Council, provided that it is clearly stated that the opinions are those of 

the author and do not necessarily represent the opinions of the Council.  

 
1.25 In what circumstances may employees broadcast on a subject connected with 

the Council? 

Page 362



  
 

219 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

Any employee broadcasting on a subject connected with the work of the Council shall 

be required to obtain beforehand the permission of the appropriate Strategic / 

Assistant Directors.  

RELATIONSHIPS AND NEUTRALITY 

 

1.26 Are there any restrictions on relationships which may exist between 

employees? 

 

The relationship of landlord and tenant shall neither directly nor indirectly be created 

or allowed between employees of the Council who are in any way responsible for each 

other’s appointment, pay, promotion, discharge or dismissal.  

 

1.27 What are the rules for employees in relation to appointments and other 

employment matters?  

 

1.27.1 Employees involved in appointments should ensure that these are made based on 

merit. It would be unlawful for an employee to make an appointment based on 

anything other than the ability of the candidate to undertake the work. In order to avoid 

any possible accusation of bias, employees should not be involved in an appointment 

where they are related to an applicant or have a personal relationship outside work 

with them.  

 

1.27.2 Similarly, employees should not be involved in decisions relating to discipline, 

promotion or pay adjustments for any other employee who is a relative, partner or 

close friend.  

 

1.27.3 Employees who are subject to disciplinary proceedings, or who are the subject of 

review proposals or consultations, shall not canvass or otherwise seek the support of 

any Member. Contravention of this section 1.27.3 shall be subject to the Council’s 

disciplinary policy and may lead to the employee’s dismissal.  

 

1.28 What is the policy for employees in relation to prevention of corruption?  

 

1.28.1 The Council’s Gifts and Hospitality Policy provides guidance to employees on 

receiving gifts, invitations and hospitality as well as the provision of gifts and hospitality 

to those outside the Council.  

 

1.28.2 The Gifts and Hospitality Policy applies to all Council employees and failure to adhere 

to the Gifts and Hospitality Policy may be dealt with under the Council’s disciplinary 

procedure.  

 

1.29 What are the rules for employees in relation to sponsorship? 

 

1.29.1 Where an outside organisation wishes to sponsor, or is sought to sponsor, a Council  

activity, whether by invitation, tender, negotiation or voluntarily, the basic conventions 

concerning acceptance of gifts or hospitality apply. Particular care must be taken 

when dealing with contractors or potential contractors.  

 

Page 363



  
 

220 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(i) Where the Council wishes to sponsor an event or Service, neither an 

employee nor any partner, spouse or relative of an employee may 

benefit from such sponsorship in a direct way without there being full 

disclosure to an appropriate manager of any such interest. Similarly, 

where the Council, through sponsorship, grant aid, financial or other 

means gives support in the community, employees should ensure that 

they give impartial advice and that they have no conflict of interest.  

 

1.30 Should employees be politically neutral?  

 

1.30.1 Employees serve the Council as a whole. It follows that they must serve all Councillors 

and not just those of the Majority Group and must ensure that the individual rights of 

all Councillors are respected.  

 

1.30.2 Subject to the Council’s conventions, employees may also be required to advise 

political groups. They must do so in ways that do not compromise their political 

neutrality.  

 

1.30.3 Employees, whether or not politically restricted, must follow every lawful expressed 

policy of the Council and must not allow their own personal or political opinions to 

interfere with their work.  

 

1.30.4 Political Assistants appointed on fixed term contracts77 are exempt from the 

standards set in paragraph 13 above.  

 

1.30.5 Employees must at all times have regard to and act in accordance with the provisions 

of the Protocol on Member / Officer Relations in section 24 of this Constitution.  

 

1.31 How should employees separate their client and contractor roles in the 

tendering process?  

 

1.31.1 Employees involved in the tendering process and dealing with contractors should be 

clear on the separation of client and contractor roles within the Council. Senior 

employees who have both a client and contractor responsibility must be aware of the 

need for accountability and openness.  

 

1.31.2 Employees in contractor or client units must exercise fairness and impartiality when 

dealing with all customers, suppliers, other contractors, and sub-contractors.  

 

1.31.3 Employees who are privy to confidential information on tenders or costs for either 

internal or external contractors should not disclose that information to any 

unauthorised party or organisation.  

 

1.31.4 Employees contemplating a management buy-out should, as soon as they have 

formed a definite intent, inform the appropriate manager and withdraw from the 

contract awarding processes.  

 

1.31.5 Employees should ensure that no special favour is shown to current or recent former 

employees or their partners, close relatives, or associates in awarding contracts to 

                                                
77 Local Government and Housing Act 1989, section 9 

Page 364

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/42/section/9


  
 

221 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

businesses run by them or employing them in a senior or relevant managerial 

capacity.  

GENERAL  

 

1.32 What are the rules for employees’ use of technology platforms, websites and 

online tools?  

 

1.32.1 The Council’s Social Media Policy covers the use of social networking applications, 

by Council employees, Members and partners or other third parties (including 

contractors) on behalf of the Council.  

 

1.32.2 The requirements of the Social Media Policy apply to all uses of social networking 

applications for Council related purposes, regardless of whether the applications are 

hosted corporately or not. Consideration is also given in the Social Media Policy to 

Council representatives who are contributing in an official capacity to social 

networking applications provided by external organisations.  

 

1.33 Who owns the inventions of employees devised in the course of their 

employment? 

 

Any employee who, in the course of their employment with the Council, produces an 

invention or design shall, at the request of the Council, assign the patent to the Council 

or, if the invention or design has not been patented, assist the Council in obtaining a 

patent in the name of the Council. It is not appropriate that patents should be taken 

out for the personal benefit of employees of the Council whose duty it is to devise 

improvements or to examine and report on the suggestions or inventions of others.  

 

1.34 What should employees do with lost property? 

 

Any employee who either finds or has handed to them property which appears to be 

lost or abandoned on Council premises, must give that property to their manager. 

Thereafter the property should be dealt with in accordance with the procedures 

specified by audit. An Officer shall not, under colour of his office or employment, 

accept any fee or reward whatsoever other than their proper remuneration, which 

would include handing in any lost property78.  

 

1.35 What is the Council’s position of equality? 

 

This Code of Conduct applies fairly and equally to all employees irrespective of age, 

disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex, 

sexual orientation, marriage and civil partnership.  

 

1.36 How should employees treat exempt information? 

 

For a document that contains exempt information, any breach of confidentiality of its 

contents, or of any Committee discussions thereof, or unauthorised disclosure to a 

third party, by any means, may be a disciplinary offence for any employee involved.  

 

                                                
78 Local Government Act 1972, section 117 

Page 365

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1972/70/section/117


  
 

222 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

1.37 How should an employee who is subject to a review behave?  

 

Employees who are within the scope of any review must not canvass or otherwise 

seek the support of any Councillor in relation to that review, or their personal 

circumstances, or those of their colleagues. Employees who canvass Councillors may 

be subject to disciplinary proceedings under the Council’s Disciplinary Policy. 

PROTOCOL ON MEMBER / OFFICER RELATIONS  

 

1.38 What is the role of Officers? 

 

1.38.1 Officers are employed by and serve the whole Council. They advise the Council, the 

Executive, Council Committees and other Council bodies. They are responsible for 

ensuring that decisions are taken within the law and in accordance with the 

Constitution, and that decisions are properly recorded and effectively implemented.  

 

1.38.2 The Head of Paid Service is responsible for ensuring that Officers fully and effectively 

support Members. Officers are responsible to the Head of Paid Service and not to 

individual Members of the Council; no matter what office they hold.  

 

1.38.3 All Officers are required by law to be politically neutral, and for Senior Officers this is 

enforced by law79.  

 

1.38.4 There are statutory requirements in relation to the Head of Paid Service, the 

Monitoring Officer and the Chief Finance Officer. These responsibilities are detailed 

in section 11 of this Constitution and in the Statutory Officer Role Profiels appended 

to the Constitution.  

 

1.38.5 The Head of Legal and Governance Services will provide legal advice to the Council 

and to the Executive.  

 

1.38.6 The Head of Democratic Services will ensure that meetings of the Executive are 

properly planned, serviced, and reported in accordance with legislative requirements 

and the Executive Procedure Rules.  

 

1.38.7 The Head of Democratic Services will ensure that all other meetings of the Council, 

its Committees and all other Council bodies are properly planned, serviced, and 

reported in accordance with legislative requirements and the Council Procedure 

Rules.  

 

1.39 How should Officers conduct themselves?  

 

1.39.1 Officers should always treat Members with respect and courtesy. Whenever conflict 

or disagreements arise between Officers and Members, the Officer’s line manager 

must deal with these professionally.  

 

1.39.2 It is not enough for Officers to avoid actual impropriety. They must at all times avoid 

any occasion for suspicion, and any appearance, of improper conduct. Officers must 

declare to the Head of Paid Service or the Monitoring Officer any relationship with a 

                                                
79 Local Government and Housing Act 1989 

Page 366

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/42/contents


  
 

223 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Member. This includes any relationship, which might be seen as influencing their work 

as an Officer or influencing the work of the Member. In this context, ‘relationship’ 

includes any family business or close personal relationships. It is not possible to define 

the exact range of relationships that would be considered as close or personal. 

Examples include a family or sexual relationship and regular social mixing, such as 

holidays or evenings out together.  

 

1.39.3 Close personal relationships between Officers and Members can damage the 

principles of mutual respect and professionalism. They can also, intentionally or 

accidentally, lead to the passing of confidential information. Such relationships can 

cause embarrassment to other Members and Officers and can give rise to suspicion 

of favouritism. For these reasons, personal relationships must be avoided, especially 

between Members and Officers who regularly, as part of their normal working role, 

offer advice or support to Members.  

 

1.39.4 In their working relationships with Members, Officers will:  

 

(a) behave at all times in a professional manner;  

 

(b) strive to develop mutual levels of trust with all Members;  

 

(c) perform their duties efficiently and effectively with impartiality; and 

 

(d) maintain the highest standards of confidentiality.   

  

Page 367



  
 

224 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

PROTOCOL ON MEMBER / 

OFFICER RELATIONS 
 

 

  

Page 368



  
 

225 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

PROTOCOL ON MEMBER / OFFICER RELATIONS 

 

1.1 What is the Protocol on Member / Officer Relations?  

 

1.1.1 The purpose of this protocol is to guide Members and Officers of the Council in their 

relationships with one another. It is not intended to be prescriptive or comprehensive 

and seeks simply to offer guidance on the issues which most commonly arise. 

 

1.1.2 Together, Members and Officers make up ‘the Council’. They are indispensable to 

one another and mutual respect and communication between both is essential for 

good local government. By working together, they bring the critical skills, experience 

and knowledge required to manage an effective council. Members provide a 

democratic mandate to the Council, whereas Officers contribute the professional and 

managerial expertise needed to deliver the Policy Framework. The roles are very 

different but need to work in a complementary way.  

 

1.1.3 This Protocol seeks to reflect the shared corporate values of the organisation and the 

principles underlying the respective Codes of Conduct, which apply to Members and 

Officers (the “Codes of Conduct”) and should be read in association with those Codes 

of Conduct. The shared objective of the Values and the Codes of Conduct is to 

enhance and maintain the integrity of local government. 

 

1.1.4 This Protocol will be relevant in judging compliance with the Codes of Conduct. A 

breach of the provisions of this Protocol may also constitute a breach of the relevant 

Code of Conduct. 

 

1.1.5 Members and Officers shared the following corporate values: 

 

Joint leadership and 
Collaboration 

 

 Members and Officers have vital roles to play in providing 
joint leadership which is based on shared knowledge skills 
and experience.  

 They should demonstrate visible leadership and act as 
ambassadors for Middlesbrough Council, with both being 
committed to public service and making decisions in the 
public interest. 

 They should work together to face challenges and constraints 
i.e., with limited time and budget, difficult targets and 
deadlines etc., and with everyone working in a spirit of 
partnership, to turn the Council’s core values and priorities 
into practical policies for implementation. 
 
 

Integrity and respect  

 

Members and Officers should; 

 champion mutual dignity, respect and inclusion; 

 promote open, honest communications allowing for two-way 
feedback and for issues to be addressed appropriately;  

 maintain Informal and collaborative two-way contact between 
with each other; and 

 ensure that their conduct is such as to instill mutual support, 
confidence, and trust. This should be reflected in the 
behaviour and attitude of each to the other, both publicly and 

Page 369



  
 

226 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

privately, and respecting the roles and duties of each other in 
all their dealings by observing reasonable standards of 
courtesy.  
 
 

Focus on what 
matters  

 

 Members and Officers should work towards the vision and 
priorities of the Council in delivering quality services to local 
people, and actively collaborate to deliver shared goals.  

 Officers should provide clear professional advice and should 
be in touch, well informed and focused on outcomes.  

 Members and Officers should work to eliminate poor 
behaviour and conduct that undermines focus, achievements, 
and efficiency.  
 

Creativity 

 

 Members and Officers are encouraged to support new 
thinking by creating a safe environment for people to share 
opinions and ideas, using information and data effectively to 
make balanced decisions. 
 

 

1.2 What are the principles of Member / Officer relationships?  

 

1.2.1 Both Members and Officers are servants of the public and are indispensable to one 

another, but their responsibilities are distinct. Members are responsible to the 

electorate and serve only as long as their term of office lasts. Officers are responsible 

to the Council as a whole; their job is to give advice and to carry out the Council’s 

work under the direction and control of the Council and its Committees. 

 

1.2.2 The importance of mutual respect, trust and confidence between Members and 

Officers of the Council is fundamental to this Protocol. This is essential to good local 

government and will generate an efficient and unified working organisation. 

 

1.2.3 Dealings between Members and Officers should observe reasonable standards of 

courtesy. Neither party should seek to take unfair advantage of their position or exert 

undue influence on the other. 

 

1.2.4 Whilst the duties and responsibilities of Members and Officers are different, both are 

bound by the same framework of statutory powers and duties. It is fundamental to the 

efficient and effective operation of the Council that both understand the boundaries of 

their respective roles and that neither asks the other to step beyond those limits. 

 

1.2.5 It is not the role of Members to control the day-to-day management of the Council and 

they should not seek to give instructions to Officers other than in accordance with the 

terms of reference of their Committee. 

 

1.2.6 Members are not authorised to initiate or certify financial transactions or to enter into 

a contract on behalf of the Council. 

 

1.2.7 Members and Officers must avoid taking actions which are unlawful, financially 

improper or likely to amount to maladministration. Members have an obligation under 

their Code of Conduct, when reaching decisions, to have regard to advice given by 

Page 370



  
 

227 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

the Chief Finance Officer or Monitoring Officer when they are discharging their 

statutory duties. 

 

1.2.8 Members must respect the impartiality of Officers and do nothing to compromise it, 

e.g., by insisting that an Officer change their professional advice. 

 

1.2.9 Members are not prevented from discussing issues with Officers or promoting a 

particular point of view. Whilst Officers will consider the views / advice of members 

they are not, in any way, compelled to provide advice which coincides with the 

Member’s view or preferred position. Any unreasonable requests by a Member to an 

Officer to change their professional recommendation will constitute unacceptable 

undue pressure which is not permissible. 

 

1.2.10 All Members and Officers have certain basic responsibilities and obligations. There 

are, however, some Members and Officers who, either because of statute, tradition or 

decisions of the Council, have extended roles and additional responsibilities. Some 

Members hold positions of responsibility such as the Mayor and Group Leaders, the 

Chair and Vice Chair of the Council, chairs and vice chairs of Committees/ working 

groups. The Statutory Officers are the Head of Paid Service, the Chief Finance Officer 

and the Monitoring Officer. Their roles are defined by statute and within the Council’s 

Constitution. 

 

1.2.11 As a matter of general principle, Members and Officers will: 

 

(a) deal with one another without discrimination; 

 

(b) observe normal standards of courtesy in their dealings with one another; 

 

(c) not take unfair advantage of their position; 

 

(d) promote a culture of mutual respect; 

 

(e) communicate clearly and openly, avoiding ambiguity and opportunities for 

misunderstandings; 

 

(f) work together to convert the Councils core values and priorities into practical 

policies for implementation for the benefit of the Borough; 

 

(g) observe any advice relating to publicity during the pre-election period; and  

 

(h) refer any observed instances of inappropriate behaviour as necessary.  

 

1.2.12 Members must not be personally abusive to, or derogatory of Officers in any   

correspondence, on social media or during any meeting or discussion, in particular 

when this takes place in public, whether or not that individual is in attendance. Officers 

will likewise treat members with respect at all times. 

 

1.2.13 Members should not criticise or raise matters relating to the alleged conduct or 

capability of an Officer at meetings of the Council, any Committee or any other public 

forum (including on Social Media). This is a long-standing tradition in public service 

as an Officer has no means of responding to criticism in public. 

Page 371



  
 

228 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

1.2.14 Officers should not raise with a Member matters relating to the conduct or capability 

of another Officer or to the internal management of a department in a manner which 

is incompatible with the overall objectives of this Protocol. 

 

1.2.15 Nothing in this Protocol shall prevent an Officer from making a protected disclosure 

under the Whistleblowing Policy which is published on the Council’s website. 

 

1.2.16 If an Officer feels that they have been treated improperly or disrespectfully by a 

Member they should raise the matter with the relevant Chief Officer or the Chief 

Executive as appropriate. In these circumstances, the Chief Executive or Chief Officer 

will take appropriate action, including approaching the Member concerned, and raise 

the issue with the Group Leader (if applicable) or refer the matter to the Monitoring 

Officer where there is a potential breach of a Code of Conduct. 

 

1.2.17 When a member feels that they have been treated improperly by an Officer, they 

should speak to the Officer’s line manager in the first instance. If the matter is not 

addressed, then it can be escalated upwards to the relevant Chief Officer and/or the 

Chief Executive 

 

1.3 How should Members and Officers conduct personal relationships with each 

other?  

 

1.3.1 Guidance on personal relationships is contained within the Codes of Conduct. 

 

1.3.2 Provided these guidelines are observed there is no reason why there should not be 

an informal atmosphere between Members and Officers outside formal meetings and 

events. 

 

1.3.3 It is clearly important that there should be a close working relationship between 

Executive Portfolio Holders, Group Leaders and representatives, Committee chairs 

and the Chief Officers. However, such relationships should never be allowed to 

become so close, or appear to be so close, as to bring into question the individual's 

ability to deal impartially with others. 

 

1.3.4 Both Members and Officers must be aware of the potential for conflicts of interest and 

take steps to either avoid or mitigate any conflict situation. The Monitoring Officer 

should be consulted in these circumstances. 

 

1.3.5 Group Leaders should promote a positive atmosphere of trust, respect and 

understanding between Members and Officers and must be prepared to deal with and 

resolve any reported incidents of breaches of this Protocol by their Group members. 

In the event of a complaint being made to them under this Protocol, a Group Leader 

will seek to actively consider the complaint and achieve a satisfactory outcome. The 

outcome must be reported to the Officer who notified them of the complaint. 

 

1.4 What is the role of Members in the Council?  

 

1.4.1 Collectively, Members are the ultimate policy makers, providing strategic direction, 

determining the core values of the Council and approving the Policy Framework, 

Page 372



  
 

229 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

strategic plans and Budget. Their role is complex, requiring them to act simultaneously 

in the following capacities: 

 

(a) As Council / Committee members – Members will provide leadership and take 

responsibility for the Council’s decisions and activities. Members have 

responsibility for the performance, development, continuity and overall 

wellbeing of the organisation as well as for overseeing governance. 

 

(b) As representatives – Members are community leaders who interpret and 

express the wishes of the electorate and are accountable to the electorate for 

service priorities, allocation of resources and ultimate performance. The 

Member represents the interests of their Ward and is an advocate for their 

constituents. 

 

(c) As politicians – Members may belong to a Group represented on the Council 

and, if so, may express political values and support the policies of the Group to 

which they belong. 

 

1.4.2 Officers can expect Members to: 

 

(a) provide political leadership and direction; 

 

(b) initiate and develop policy to be put before the Council or its Committees; 

 

(c) work in partnership, understanding and supporting their respective roles, 

workloads and pressures; 

 

(d) take corporate responsibility for policies and other decisions made by the 

Council; 

 

(e) prepare for formal meetings by considering all written material provided in 

advance of the meeting; 

 

(f) leave day-to-day managerial and operational issues to Officers; 

 

(g) adopt a reasonable approach to awaiting Officers’ timely responses to calls and 

/ or correspondence; 

 

(h) not send emails to multiple Officers regarding the same issue, instead utilising 

one point of contact where possible; 

 

(i) use their position with Officers appropriately and not seek to advance their 

personal interests or those of others to influence decisions improperly; 

 

(j) respect the dignity of Officers and not engage in behaviour which could be 

reasonably regarded as bullying or harassing in nature; and 

 

(k) have regard to the seniority and experience of Officers and, equally, have 

regard to the potential vulnerability of Officers at junior levels. 

 

Page 373



  
 

230 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

1.4.3 It is permissible and sensible for Members to seek straightforward factual information 

from Officers, and to seek the views of appropriately qualified Officers on technical or 

professional matters. However, if there is anything contentious or which relates to a 

matter requiring a complex opinion or value judgement, this should be directed to the 

relevant Chief Officer or the Chief Executive. 

 

1.4.4 When serving on the Council’s Planning and Development Committee or the 

Licensing Committee, Members must also observe the protocols applicable to those 

Committees. 

 

1.4.5 Whilst Members should always act in the public interest, there is nothing preventing 

them, as politicians, from expressing the values and aspirations of the Group to which 

they belong. 

 

1.4.6 As a matter of courtesy, it is expected that Members involved in an issue in another 

Member’s Ward will speak with the relevant Ward Member(s) to inform them of their 

involvement and have regard to the agreed Ward protocol.  

 

1.5 What is the role of Officers in the Council?  

 

1.5.1 In broad terms Officers have the following main roles: 

 

(a) Setting and implementing strategies to deliver Council policy and further the 

Council’s priorities. 

 

(b) Day-to-day operational management of the organisation. 

 

(c) Implementing decisions of the Council which are lawful and which have been 

properly approved. 

 

(d) Giving Members advice on issues and the business of the Council to enable 

them to fulfil their roles. In doing so, Officers will take into account all relevant 

factors and demonstrate political sensitivity. 

 

(e) Managing the Services for which they have been given responsibility within the 

framework of responsibilities given to them under the Scheme of Delegation. 

 

(f) Being accountable for the efficiency and effectiveness of the Services in which 

they work and demonstrating proper / professional practice in discharging their 

responsibilities. 

 

(g) Providing advice on changes in government policy for which the Council is 

responsible. 

 

(h) Providing professional advice on industry innovation and/or scientific 

development which may assist the Council in delivering Services. 

 

(i) Providing professional advice on innovations by other councils which may be 

adopted by the Council to improve service delivery. 

 

Page 374



  
 

231 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(j) Being professional advisers to the Council, its political structures and Members 

in respect of their Service. As such, their professionalism should be respected 

by Members and other Officers. 

 

(k) Initiating policy proposals in line with national government requirements or 

Council agreed priorities, as well as implementing the agreed policies of the 

Council. 

 

(l) Ensuring that the Council always acts in a lawful manner and does not engage 

in maladministration. 

 

(m) Supporting members in their role within the Council, save that Officers must 

not engage in actions incompatible with this Protocol. In particular, there is a 

statutory limitation on some Officers’ involvement in political activities. 

 

1.5.2 Members can expect Officers to: 

 

(a) undertake their role in line with their contractual and legal duty to be impartial; 

 

(b) exercise their professional judgement in giving advice and not be influenced by 

their own personal views; 

 

(c) have an appreciation of the political environment in which they work and 

demonstrate political sensitivity; 

 

(d) assist and advise all parts of the Council; Officers must always act to the best 

of their abilities in the best interests of the Council and the residents of the 

Borough; 

 

(e) be alert to issues which are, or are likely to be, contentious or politically 

sensitive and to be aware of the implications for Members, the media or other 

sections of the public; 

 

(f) maintain due confidentiality; 

 

(g) behave in a professional manner and comply with the Officers’ Code of 

Conduct; 

 

(h) be helpful and respectful to Members; and  

 

(i) respond in a timely manner to telephone calls, email correspondence etc. 

 

1.5.3 In their dealings with the public, Officers should be courteous and act with efficiency 

and timeliness. 

 

1.5.4 In advising Members, Officers should be able to give honest and impartial advice 

without fear or favour from Members. Officers must serve all Members, not just those 

of any majority Group, and must ensure that the individual rights of all Members are 

respected.  

 

Page 375



  
 

232 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

1.5.5 Subject to the Council’s Whistleblowing Policy and Procedure. Officers should respect 

a Member’s request for confidentiality when dealing with any legitimately delicate 

matter and Members should respect an Officer’s request that a matter be kept 

confidential. Where confidentiality is requested, any written reply to a Member should 

not be copied to any other Member without the original Member’s permission, except 

to comply with an unavoidable legal or professional obligation. 

 

1.6 What is the role of Members in appointing Officers?  

 

1.6.1 Officers are employed by the Council. Members’ role is limited to the appointment of 

specified senior posts in accordance with the Officer Employment Procedure Rules 

and they have no role in appointments outside these roles. 

 

1.6.2 If participating in the appointment of Officers, Members should: 

 

(a) remember that the sole criterion is merit; 

 

(b) never canvass support for a particular candidate; 

 

(c) not take part where the candidate is a close friend or relative; 

 

(d) not be influenced by personal knowledge of candidates; and  

 

(e) not favour a candidate by providing them with information not available to other 

candidates.  

 

1.7 How can an Officer seek assistance from a Member as a constituent?  

 

A Member may be asked for advice and support by an employee who is one of their 

constituents. Employees are entitled to seek such assistance in the same way as any 

other member of the public. However, Members should be careful not to prejudice the 

Council’s position in relation to disciplinary procedures or employment matters in 

respect of an employee. A Member approached for help in such circumstances should 

seek to direct employees to other sources of help, such as Human Resources, and 

not become directly involved. If a Member is unsure, the Democratic Services Team 

can offer advice on who to speak to. 

 

1.8 What support services are available to Members?  

 

1.8.1 Members are provided with ICT (information and communication technology) 

equipment and support services (e.g., printing, photocopying etc.) to enable them to 

better perform their policy and constituency role as Councillors. 

 

1.8.2 Members should not use – and Officers should not provide – such equipment and 

support services in connection with party political or campaigning activity or for 

purposes not related to Council business. 

 

1.8.3 Section 1.8.2 above does not apply to: 

 

(a) limited private photocopying, which may be undertaken by Members, provided 

it is at no cost to the Council; and 

Page 376

https://moderngov.middlesbrough.gov.uk/documents/s1602/Appendix%201.pdf


  
 

233 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

(b) the use by Members of ICT equipment for non-commercial / non-political 

purposes, provided it does not cause a conflict with, or risk to, Council systems, 

nor increase the support required from Officers. 

 

1.9 What considerations should Members and Officers have when making 

decisions?  

 

1.9.1 Before any formal decisions are taken, Members will have regard to professional 

advice from officers. They are not obliged to follow that advice, simply to consider it 

before reaching a decision. 

 

1.9.2 Officers taking decisions under delegated powers must consider whether the relevant 

Committee chair or Ward Member should be consulted based on the issue and taking 

into account political or corporate sensitivities where: 

 

(a) the matter falls under the responsibility of the relevant chair’s Committee; or 

 

(b) the matter relates to the relevant Ward.  

 

1.9.3 Officers must be prepared to justify how decisions taken under delegated powers 

contribute to the delivery of Council policy and priorities when reasonably required to 

do so. 

 

1.9.4 Where Officers have delegated authority to take certain actions by a Committee in 

consultation with a Member, it is the Officer who takes the action and is responsible 

for it. A Group Leader or Committee chair has no legal power to take decisions on 

behalf of the Council or a Committee neither should they apply inappropriate pressure 

on the Officer. 

 

1.10 What is an Officer’s obligation in respect of political neutrality? 

 

Officers are required at all times to serve the whole Council and provide support 

regardless of political affiliation and will need to exercise judgement in fulfilling this 

obligation, whilst maintaining the distinction between executive and scrutiny. Members 

must recognise this Officer obligation. 

 

1.11 How do Officers work with Executive Portfolio holders?  

 

1.11.1 Any decision by an individual Executive Portfolio holder (or collective decision by the 

Executive Committee) should, except in an emergency, be supported by written 

advice from the appropriate Officer(s). An Officer’s obligation to the whole Council 

requires that such advice is independent and Members must not seek to suppress or 

amend any aspect of such professional advice. 

 

1.11.2 Reports to Committees will normally be produced by Officers but there may be 

occasions when an Executive Portfolio holder or other Member prepares a report. In 

either situation, the appropriate Officer shall place on record their professional advice 

to the Committee and ensure that their advice is considered when a decision is taken. 

 

Page 377



  
 

234 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

1.11.3 Officers may be representing the decisions (internally and externally) of a single party 

Executive or an individual Executive Portfolio holder. Other Members will need to 

recognise that, in so doing, the Officer is representing an executive decision of the 

Council. 

 

1.12 How should Officers deal with Groups?  

 

1.12.1 There is statutory recognition for Groups and it is common practice for such groups to 

give preliminary consideration to matters of Council business in advance of 

consideration by the relevant Council body. 

 

1.12.2 On the invitation of a Group Leader, a Chief Officer or their nominee may attend a 

Group meeting to give factual information about an issue which is currently being or 

will shortly be debated by a Council body, provided that: 

 

(a) the meeting is held on Council premises; 

 

(b) notice of attendance is given to the appropriate Head of Service and made 

available on request to the other Group Leaders. 

 

1.12.3 Officer support in these circumstances must not extend beyond providing information 

in relation to matters of Council business. Officers must not be involved in advising on 

matters of party business. The observance of this distinction will be assisted if Officers 

are not expected to be present when matters of party business are discussed. 

 

1.12.4 Group meetings, while they form part of the preliminaries to Council decision making, 

are not empowered to make decisions on behalf of the Council. Conclusions reached 

at such meetings are not Council decisions and it is essential that they are not 

interpreted or acted upon as such. 

 

1.12.5 Similarly, where Officers provide information and advice to a Group in relation to a 

matter of Council business, this is not a substitute for the Officer providing all 

necessary information and advice to the relevant Council body when the matter is 

considered. 

 

1.12.6 Officers will not normally attend and provide information to any Group meeting which 

includes non-Council members. Exceptions to this may be approved by the Chief 

Executive who shall do so in writing and copy the correspondence to all the Group 

Leaders. 

 

1.12.7 In all dealings with Members, in particular when giving advice to Groups, Officers must 

demonstrate political impartiality and must not suppress their professional advice in 

the face of political views. 

 

1.12.8 Officers must respect the confidentiality of any Group meeting at which they are 

present. They must not relay the content of any such discussion to another Group. 

 

1.12.9 Any difficulties or areas of uncertainty relating to an Officer giving advice to a Group 

should be raised with the Chief Executive who will discuss them with the relevant 

Group Leader(s). 

 

Page 378



  
 

235 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

1.13 How should individual Members engage with Officers?  

 

1.13.1 Any Group Leader, Executive Portfolio holder, Group spokesperson or Committee 

chair may request a private and confidential briefing from a Director on matters of 

policy which have already been or may be discussed by the Council or within its 

decision-making or advisory process. All requests should be made to the appropriate 

Director / Head of Service who should invite the Monitoring Officer or their nominee(s) 

to attend if this is thought appropriate. Briefings shall remain strictly confidential and 

are not to be shared with other Members unless so permitted by the relevant Member. 

 

1.13.2 Except for the confidential policy advice referred to above, where possible, information 

will be shared among Group representatives. In particular, overview and scrutiny is a 

cross-party process involving all Groups represented on the Council. Information 

supplied to chairs of the Overview and Scrutiny Board and any Scrutiny Panel will, 

therefore, be shared as a matter of course with each Group. 

 

1.13.3 Individual Members may request factual information from the Chief Executive (or the 

relevant Head of Service). Such requests must be reasonable and must recognise the 

need for Officers to maintain the distinction between the Executive and scrutiny 

processes. Relevant Executive Members, Committee chairs and Group Leaders will, 

unless it is of a minor nature, be advised that the information has been given and, on 

request, will be supplied with a copy. 

 

1.13.4 If a Head of Service considers the cost of providing the information requested, or the 

nature of the request, to be unreasonable, they shall seek guidance from the 

Monitoring Officer as to whether the information should be provided. Where 

necessary, the Mayor in consultation with the Group Leaders, will determine whether 

the information should be provided. 

 

1.13.5 Confidential information relating to, for instance, casework should not normally be 

sought. If in exceptional circumstances Members wish to discuss confidential aspects 

of an individual case, then they shall first seek advice from the Head of Service and 

follow appropriate guidance. 

 

1.13.6 Finally, any Council information provided to a Member must only be used by the 

Member for the purpose for which it was provided (i.e., in connection with the proper 

performance of the Member's duties as a Member). This point is emphasised in the 

Members’ Code of Conduct. 

 

1.14 What are Officers’ obligations in relation to councillors and / or elected 

representatives from other council?  

 

1.14.1 Officers may be requested to meet with councillors or elected representatives from 

other councils or organisations to provide briefings and/or policy advice. 

 

1.14.2 Any Officer requested to attend a meeting of this nature which is not held on a cross–

political party basis must obtain the prior authorisation of the Chief Executive who 

shall inform all Group Leaders of the arrangements. 

 

1.15 What support and advice is available to Members in relation to media relations?  

 

Page 379



  
 

236 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

1.15.1 A primary intention of the Government in introducing executive arrangements was to 

raise the public and media profile of Executive Portfolio holders and to make the 

Executive directly accountable for decisions taken. It follows that media presentation 

and media support will reflect this. Advice to the Executive and Executive Portfolio 

holders in relation to the media will be provided on a confidential basis if requested. 

 

1.15.2 Chairs of the Overview and Scrutiny Board and Scrutiny Panels shall ensure that all 

media statements relating to the scrutiny function have the support of the relevant 

Committee / Panel. Any such statements must be consistent with the Council’s intent 

that the scrutiny function shall help to achieve a culture of continuous improvement 

throughout the Council. 

 

1.15.3 The Head of Marketing and Communications and other Officers will also assist 

Members who are not Executive Members with their media relations (on a confidential 

basis if requested).  

1.15.4 Any Officer assisting a Member with media relations must act at all times in the 

interests of the whole Council and in a politically impartial manner. Other than factual 

statements, Members should not seek assistance from an Officer with the preparation 

or issue of any media statement that will adversely affect the reputation of the Council. 

 

1.16 What are Officers’ obligations in relation to Ward matters?  

 

1.16.1 The Council via the relevant Officer(s), and / or Executive Member, will keep local 

Members fully informed about significant operational matters on which they may be 

required to make decisions or which affect their Wards. 

 

1.16.2 Senior Officers will ensure that all relevant staff are aware of the requirement to keep 

local Members informed and that, subject to section 1.16.3 below, the timing of such 

information allows local Members to respond appropriately and contribute to relevant 

decisions. 

 

1.16.3 Any notification under this section 1.16 should include sufficient detail to enable the 

local Member(s) to have a broad understanding of the issue including a summary of 

the advantages and disadvantages of any proposal and any financial implications. 

 

1.16.4 Local Members must be informed by the relevant Officers of the formative stages of 

policy development as it affects their Ward. 

 

1.16.5 Issues may affect a single Ward but others may have a wider impact in which case a 

wider number of Members will need to be kept informed. The Communications Team 

will, under the direction of the Chief Executive, share all significant Council news 

releases which affect the wider Council or a number of Wards with Members when 

they are published externally. 

 

1.16.6 Whenever a public meeting is organised by the Council to consider a local issue, all 

the Members representing the Wards affected should as a matter of course be invited 

to attend the meeting. 

 

1.16.7 Whenever the Council undertakes any form of consultative exercise the local 

Members must be included. 

 

Page 380



  
 

237 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

1.16.8 Where a news release specifically relates to a significant issue affecting a particular 

Ward or geographical area, the local Member(s) will be advised by email, or telephone 

as appropriate and sent a copy when it is published on the Council’s official news 

channels and/or shared with the local media. 

 

1.17 What training is available to Members?  

 

1.17.1 Members are expected to embrace the principles of personal development and skill 

training and ensure they allocate time to participate in all the necessary training and 

personal development activities. This includes the necessary skills to take advantage 

of the ICT facilities made available to them. 

 

1.17.2 Officers will work with individual Members to produce a personal development plan, 

seek to ensure resources are available to fulfil the actions agreed in the plan, and 

provide appropriate training to ensure that all Members have the skills needed to fulfil 

their duties. 

 

1.18 What are the key differences between Members and Officers?  

 

Members 

 

Officers 

Democratically elected and receive an 

allowance 

 

 

Employed by the Council and paid a 

salary 

Community Leaders with a focus on their 

Ward 

 

May have specialist role with a specific 

focus 

Make decisions on behalf of the Borough 

and the Council 

 

Work for the Borough and the Council 

Can bring a political dimension to the 

role 

 

Impartial – must give unbiased advice 

and information to all Members equally 

 

Abide by a Members’ Code of Conduct 

 

Bound by their employment contract and 

the Officers’ Code of Conduct 

 

Set policy and oversee service delivery Implement policies and ensure delivery 

of Services 

 

Only involved in senior officer 

appointments 

 

Day-to-day management of Officers and 

Services 

 

  

Page 381



  
 

238 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

PROTOCOL FOR MEMBERS AND 

OFFICERS ON GIFTS AND 

HOSPITALITY 
 

  

Page 382



  
 

239 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

PROTOCOL FOR MEMBER AND OFFICERS ON GIFTS AND HOSPITALITY  

Members and Officers should avoid putting themselves in a position where their integrity is 

called into question because of any financial or other impropriety. As well as avoiding actual 

impropriety it is also essential to avoid giving the impression or appearance of impropriety, 

and this Protocol provides guidance on how Members and Officers can avoid doing so.  

 

LEGAL POSITION  

 

1.1 What is the legal position in relation to gifts and hospitality?  

 

1.1.1 It is an offence for any employee or member of a public body to accept any gift, loan, 

fee, reward or advantage whatsoever as an inducement to or reward for doing, or not 

doing, something in respect of any matter or transaction involving the Council80. Such 

an offence can carry up to 7 years imprisonment.  

 

1.1.2 Where such a gift, loan etc. is received by an employee or member of a public body 

from a person seeking a contract with the Council, then the gift is deemed to have 

been received corruptly81. This has the effect of shifting the balance of proof onto the 

giver and receiver of the gift i.e., they would have to prove that they did not act 

dishonestly.  

 

1.1.3 The law also provides that an officer of a local authority shall not, under colour of their 

office, accept any reward or fee other than their proper remuneration82.  

 

GENERAL PRINCIPLES  

 

1.2 What are the general principles in relation to gifts and hospitality?  

 

1.2.1 The purpose of this Protocol is to:  

 

(a) outline the principles which a Member or an Officer should apply whenever they 

have to decide whether it would be proper to accept any gift or hospitality; 

 

(b) establish a procedure for obtaining consent to accept a gift or hospitality, when 

a Member or Officer considers that it would be proper to accept it; and   

 

(c) establish a procedure for Members and Officers to declare any gift or 

hospitality, which they receive, and for accounting for any gift.  

 

1.2.2 This Protocol does not apply to any offer of hospitality that may be provided by the 

Council.  

 

1.2.3 Members and Officers must never solicit or invite an offer of a gift or hospitality in 

connection with their position as a Member or an Officer. Members and Officers 

should also take care to avoid giving any indication that they might be open to such 

an improper offer.  

                                                
80 Public Bodies Corrupt Practices Act 1889 
81 Public Bodies Corrupt Practices Act 1889 
82 Local Government Act 1972, section 117 

Page 383

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/Vict/52-53/69/introduction/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/Vict/52-53/69/introduction/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1972/70/section/117


  
 

240 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

 
1.2.4 Members and Officers should never accept a gift or hospitality as an inducement or 

reward for anything they do as a Member or an Officer.   

 

(a) Members and Officers must always act in the public interest and must not be 

swayed in the discharge of their duties by the offer, prospect of an offer, or the 

non-offer of any inducement or reward for discharging those duties in a 

particular manner.  

 

(b) Further, the Members’ Code of Conduct provides that a Member must act in 

the public interest, serving the Council and the whole community, rather than 

acting in the interests of any particular individual or section of the community, 

and that it is a breach of the Code improperly to confer any advantage or 

disadvantage of any person, including themselves.  

 

(c) The Officers’ Code of Conduct deals specifically with the prevention of 

corruption at paragraph 1.28. 

 

1.2.5 Members and Officers should never accept a gift or hospitality if acceptance might be 

open to misinterpretation.  

 

(a) The appearance of impropriety can be just as damaging to the Council and to 

a Member or an Officer as actual impropriety. The Council’s ability to govern 

rests upon its reputation for acting fairly and in the public interest. Members 

and Officers must, therefore, consider whether the acceptance of the gift or 

hospitality is capable of being interpreted as a sign that they or the Council 

favours any particular person, company or section of the community or as 

placing the Member or Officer under any improper obligation to any person or 

organisation. If there is any possibility that it might be so interpreted, the 

Member or Officer must either refuse the gift or hospitality or take appropriate 

steps to ensure that such a misunderstanding cannot arise.  

 

(b) Certain occasions are particularly sensitive and require the avoidance of any 

opportunity for such misunderstanding. These include:  

 

(i) occasions when the Council is going through a competitive 

procurement process, in respect of any indication of favour for a 

particular tenderer; 

 

(ii) determination of licensing applications, planning applications or 

planning policy, in respect of any person or organisation which stands 

to gain or lose from the determination; and 

 

(iii) funding decisions, when the Council is determining a grant application 

by any person or organisation.  

 

1.2.6 Members and Officers should never accept a gift or hospitality, which puts them under 

an improper obligation.   

 

Page 384



  
 

241 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

1.2.7 Recognise that some commercial organisations and private individuals see the 

provision of gifts and hospitality as a means of buying influence. If you accept a gift or 

hospitality improperly, it is possible that they may seek to use this fact to persuade 

you to determine an issue in their favour. Equally, if others note that you have been 

prepared to accept a gift or hospitality improperly, they may feel that they will no longer 

be able to secure impartial consideration from the authority.  

 

1.3 When may Officers and Members accept gifts and hospitality? 

 

1.3.1 The Council has agreed that, provided the principles set out in section 1.2 are not 

breached, Members and Officers may accept gifts and hospitality in the following 

circumstances:  

 

(a) civic hospitality provided by another public authority; 

 

(b) modest refreshment in connection with any meeting in the ordinary course of a 

Member or Officer’s work, such as tea, coffee, soft drinks and biscuits;  

 

(c) tickets for sporting, cultural and entertainment events, which are sponsored by 

the Council; 

 

(d) small gifts of low intrinsic value below £25, branded with the name of the 

company or organisation making the gift, such as pens, pencils, mouse pads, 

calendars and diaries. Members and Officers should take care not to display 

any such branded items when this might be taken as an indication of favour to 

a particular supplier or contractor, for example in the course of a procurement 

exercise;   

 

(e) a modest working lunch in the course of a business meeting in the offices of a 

third party where this is required in order to facilitate the conduct of that 

business; 

 

(f) modest souvenir gifts with a value below £25 from another public authority 

given on the occasion of a visit by or to that authority;  

 

(g) hospitality received in the course of an external visit or meeting which has been 

duly authorised by the Council; and 

 

(h) other unsolicited gifts, where it is impracticable to return them to the person or 

organisation making the gift, provided that the Member or Officer deals with the 

gift strictly as follows:  

 

(i) The Member or Officer must, as soon as practicable after the receipt 

of the gift, pass it to the Monitoring Officer, together with a written 

statement identifying the information set out in section 1.3.2(a) below.  

 

(ii) The Monitoring Officer will then write to the person or organisation 

making the gift thanking them on the Member or Officer’s behalf for the 

gift and informing them that you have donated the gift to the Elected 

Mayor’s Charity Fund, where one exists, on whose behalf it will be 

Page 385



  
 

242 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

raffled or otherwise disposed of in due course, the proceeds being 

devoted to a charitable cause chosen by the Mayor.  

 

1.3.2 If a Member or Officer wishes to accept any gift or hospitality which does not fall within 

any of the general consents set out in section 1.3.1 above, they may only do so if they 

have previously obtained specific consent in accordance with the following procedure: 

 

(a) The Member or Officer must make an application in writing to the Monitoring 

Officer, setting out:  

 

(i) the nature of the gift or hospitality and their estimate of its market value; 

  

(ii) who the invitation or offer has been made by or on behalf of;  

 

(iii) the connection which they have with the person or organisation making 

the offer or invitation, such as any work that person or organisation has 

undertaken for the Council in which the Member or Officer has been 

involved;  

 

(iv) any work, permission, concession or facility, of which the Member or 

Officer is aware that the person or organisation making the offer or 

invitation may seek from the Council; and  

 

(v) any special circumstances, which lead the Member or Officer to believe 

that acceptance of the gift or hospitality will not be improper.  

 

(b) A Member or Officer must not accept the gift or hospitality until they have 

received the appropriate consent as outlined in this section 1.3.  

 

1.3.3 Whenever a Member accepts any gift or hospitality, which they estimate to have a 

market value or cost of provision of £25 or greater, they must, as soon as possible 

after receipt of the gift or hospitality, make a declaration in writing to the Monitoring 

Officer, setting out the information set out in section 1.3.2(a) above. A form for this 

purpose is attached to this Protocol. The Monitoring Officer will retain a copy of any 

such declaration in a register, which will be available for public inspection.  

 

1.3.4 Where a Member is concerned that, even though the value of the gift or hospitality is 

less than £25, its acceptance might be misinterpreted, and particularly where it comes 

from a contractor or tenderer, they may make a voluntary declaration in the same 

manner as set out in section 1.3.2(a) to ensure that there is nothing secret or 

underhand about the gift or hospitality.  

 

1.3.5 The Democratic Services Team keeps a register of gifts and hospitality and it is the 

responsibility of the Officer receiving the gift or hospitality to ensure that it is recorded 

in the register.  

 

1.3.6 Gifts made to the Council may take the form of the provision of land, goods or services, 

either to keep or to test with a view to future acquisition, an offer to carry out works or 

sponsorship of a function which is organised or supported by the Council.  

 

Page 386



  
 

243 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

1.3.7 Members and Officers should not solicit any such gift on behalf of the Council except 

where the Council has formally identified the opportunity for participation by an 

external party and how that participation is to be secured, for example, in relation to 

sponsorship of public musical and theatrical performances and developers’ 

contributions under Section 106 Agreements83.  

 

1.3.8 If a Member or an Officer receives such an offer on behalf of the Council, they must 

first consider whether it is appropriate for the Council to accept the offer (in terms of 

whether the acceptance or the gift might be seen as putting the Council under any 

improper obligation, whether there is a real benefit to the Council which would 

outweigh any disbenefits).  

 

1.3.9 If the Member or Officer does not have delegated authority to accept the gift, they 

should report the offer directly to the Monitoring Officer, together with your 

recommendation as to whether the gift or hospitality can be accepted. The Monitoring 

Officer will then write back to the person or organisation making the offer, to record 

the acceptance or non-acceptance of the gift, record the gift for audit purposes and 

ensure that the gift is properly applied for the benefit of the Council.  

 

1.3.10 If a Member or Officer has any concerns about the motives of the person or 

organisation making the offer, or whether it would be proper for the Council to accept 

the gift, they should consult the Monitoring Officer directly. 

 

1.4 What is a gift or hospitality?  

 

1.4.1 For the purposes of this Protocol “gifts” and “hospitality” shall include: 

 

(a) the free gift of any goods or services; 

 

(b) the opportunity to acquire any goods or services at a discount or on terms which 

are more advantageous than those that are available to the general public;  

 

(c) the opportunity to obtain any goods or services which are not available to the 

general public; and  

 

(d) the offer of food, drink, accommodation or entertainment, or the opportunity to 

attend any cultural, sporting or entertainment event. 

 

1.4.2 References to the “value” or “cost” of any gift or hospitality are references to the higher 

of:  

 

(a) the Member or Officer’s, or the Council’s (as appropriate), estimate of the cost 

to the person or organisation of providing the gift or consideration; and 

 

(b) the open market price which a member of the public would have to pay for the 

gift or hospitality if it were made available commercially to the public, less the 

cash sum of any contribution which the Member or Officer, of the Council (as 

                                                
83 Town and Country Planning Act 1990, section 106 

Page 387

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/section/106


  
 

244 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

appropriate) would be required to make toward that price to the person or 

organisation providing or offering the gift or hospitality.  

 

FILMING OF COUNCIL MEETINGS 
  

Page 388



  
 

245 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

FILMING OF COUNCIL MEETINGS 

This section sets out the Council’s Code of Conduct in relation to the filming, photographing 

and/or making of audio recordings of the proceedings of Council meetings, meetings of the 

Executive and Committee meetings. 

 

1.1 What rights do members of the public have to record Council meetings?  

 

1.1.1 The Council is committed to being open and transparent particularly in relation to the 

way it conducts business at those meetings which are open to the public.  

 

1.1.2 To assist with this, the Council will film the proceedings of Council meetings and, 

where it is feasible and practical to do so, other meetings which are open to the public. 

 

1.1.3 It is intended that the footage will be made available for public viewing via the Council 

website. 

 

1.1.4 The law requires that members of the public and the media are to be allowed to film, 

photograph and/or make audio recordings at public meetings held by the Council84. 

The Government has provided guidance for members of the public on how they may 

access Council meetings.  

 

1.2 How should members of the public conduct themselves when recording 

Council meetings?  

 

1.2.1 To assist members of the public with accessing its meetings, the Council has adopted 

the following guidelines, which are based on common courtesy and respect:  

 

(a) subject to (b) below, all members of the public remain seated during the 

proceedings of the meeting;  

 

(b) any members of the public who prefer not to be filmed should sit or stand to the 

rear of the public area; 

 

(c) those wishing to film a meeting must show appropriate respect for the wishes 

of the public who do not wish to be filmed;  

 

(d) that in seeking to film, photograph or make an audio recording of a meeting, 

the conduct of the meeting is not disturbed; 

 

(e) if it is agreed at the meeting to pass a motion to exclude the press and public 

because confidential and/or or exempt information85 is likely to be disclosed, 

members of the public will be asked to leave the meeting and no filming, 

photography and/or audio recordings can then take place;  

 

(f) that without the express consent of their parents / guardians, the filming of any 

children who might be in attendance is strictly prohibited;  

 

                                                
84 The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) 
Regulations 2012 
85 Local Government Act 1972, Schedule 12A 

Page 389

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/207528/Your_councils_cabinet_-_going_to_its_meetings_seeing_how_it_works.pdf
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2089/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2089/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1972/70/schedule/12A


  
 

246 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(g) whilst not a requirement, it would be helpful for anyone intending to film, or 

wishing to discuss any special requirements, to contact the Members’ Office in 

advance of a meeting to seek advice, guidance and help.  

 

1.2.2 There are some limited circumstances, related to items containing either confidential 

or exempt information, when the filming of public meetings is prohibited. Whilst it is 

considered that such items will be infrequent, when such matters do arise, the chair 

of the relevant meeting will be responsible for providing guidance and advice. If for 

whatever reason someone refuses to stop recording, taking photographs or making 

an audio recording when requested to do so, the chair will ask the person to leave the 

meeting. If they refuse to do so, then the chair may adjourn the meeting or make other 

appropriate arrangements for the meeting to continue without disruption. Any such 

arrangements will be in accordance with the disorderly conduct procedures set out in 

the Constitution.  

 

1.3 What else should members of the public bear in mind when recording Council 

meetings?  

 

1.3.1 There is a presumption that Members and Officers give their consent to be filmed and 

for their images to be webcast, unless a specific request is made to the Monitoring 

Officer for an exception to be made in advance of a meeting. The Monitoring Officer 

will take a view on a case-by-case basis on whether there is sufficient justification for 

making such an exemption.  

 

1.3.2 On each Council meeting agenda and on signs to be displayed inside and outside the 

meeting room there will be the following notice:  

 

Please note: this meeting may be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the 

Council’s internet site. You should be aware that the Council is a Data Controller under 

the Data Protection Act. Data collected during this webcast will be retained in 

accordance with the Council’s published policy.  

 

Therefore, by entering the meeting room, you are consenting to being filmed and to 

the possible use of those images and sound recordings for webcasting and/or training 

purposes. 

 

  

Page 390



  
 

247 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

APPENDIX 1 

 

CODE OF CORPORATE 

GOVERNANCE 
  

Page 391



  
 

248 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

CODE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE  

The Council is committed to achieving effective corporate governance, and has adopted this 

Code of Corporate Governance, which establishes how good governance will be achieved 

within the organisation. 

 

1.1 What is corporate governance?   

 

Corporate governance is about the systems, processes and values by which local 

authorities operate and by which they engage with, and are held accountable to, their 

communities and stakeholders. 

 

1.1 What does good governance look like?  

 

The Council’s code follows principles of good governance set out in guidance issued 

by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) and the Society 

of Local Authority Chief Executives (Solace)86. These are:  

 

(a) behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical  

values, and respecting the rule of law;  

 

(b) ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement;  

 

(c) defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social and environmental 

benefits;  

 

(d) determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of the 

intended outcomes;  

 

(e) developing the entity’s capacity, including the capability of its leadership and 

the individuals within it;  

 

(f) managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong 

public financial management; and  

 

(g) implementing good practices in transparency, reporting, and audit to deliver 

effective accountability. 

 

1.2 What are the benefits of good governance?  

 

1.2.1 Good governance leads to good management, good performance, good stewardship 

of public money, good public engagement and ultimately good outcomes for those 

who live, work in, or visit Middlesbrough.  

 

1.2.2 It enables the Council to effectively pursue delivery of the Mayor’s strategic priorities, 

as well as underpinning plans for delivery with mechanisms for the control and 

management of risk. 

 

 

                                                
86 Delivering Good Governance in Local Government Framework 2016 Edition (CIPFA / Solace) 

Page 392



  
 

249 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

1.3 How is good governance implemented?  

 

1.3.1 The Council has a robust governance framework in place. The table below sets out in 

high level terms the steps the Council takes to ensure its processes, policies, systems 

and practices align with the principles of good governance.  

 

1.3.2 The framework comprises of a wide range of policies and procedures, which embed 

the core principles of the CIPFA / Solace framework into all aspects of the Council’s 

conduct and operation. 

 

CIPFA / Solace principle / supporting 
principles 
 

To meet these requirements, the Council 
will:  

Behaving with integrity, demonstrating 
strong commitment to ethical values and 
respecting the rules of law  
 

 Behaving with integrity  

 Demonstrating strong commitment 
to ethical values  

 Respecting the rule of law 
 

 Work diligently and with integrity to 
achieve the strategic priorities of the 
Mayor.  

 Clearly document expected 
behaviours, and decision-making 
processes, for Members and 
Officers, and regularly review these.  

 Effectively communicate expected 
behaviours to Members and Officers 
and provide appropriate training on 
ethical behaviour.  

 Ensure Members, Statutory 
Officers, other key post-holders are 
able and supported to fulfil their 
duties and meet their 
responsibilities.  

 Ensure compliance by maintaining 
effective audit committee, internal 
audit and scrutiny functions, and 
standards and disciplinary 
processes.  

 

Ensuring openness and comprehensive  
stakeholder engagement  
 

 Openness  

 Engaging comprehensively with 
institutional stakeholders  

 Engaging with individual citizens 
and service users effectively 
 

 Document and operate a culture of 
openness and transparency within 
the organisation.  

 Maintain a culture of accountability, 
so that Members and Officers 
understand for what they are 
accountable and to whom.  

 Consult appropriately with 
stakeholders on the development of 
its Budget, key plans and Service 
development.  

 Maintain effective decision-making 
processes, ensuring that reports to 
decision-makers clearly set out 
stakeholder views where relevant.  

 Publish all Executive and 
Committee reports and decision 
papers, unless there is a legitimate 
need to preserve confidentialities on 
the basis of the statutory tests.  

 Publish on its website information on 
the Council’s strategies, plans and 

Page 393



  
 

250 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

CIPFA / Solace principle / supporting 
principles 
 

To meet these requirements, the Council 
will:  

finances as well as on outcomes, 
achievements and challenges. 
 

Defining outcomes in terms of 
sustainable economic, social and 
environmental  
benefits  
 

 Defining outcomes  

 Sustainable economic, social and 
environmental benefits 
 

 Clearly set out its contribution to 
delivery of the Mayor’s strategic 
priorities and use this as the basis 
for its overall strategy, planning and 
other decisions.  

 Define outcomes through robust 
consideration of appropriate 
evidence bases, such as the Joint 
Strategic Needs Assessment that 
sets out the evidence base for public 
health needs across the life cycle.  

 Ensure that it delivers defined 
outcomes on a sustainable basis 
within available resources.  

 Effectively identify and manage risks 
to the achievement of targeted 
outcomes.  

 Manage customer expectations 
effectively when determining 
priorities to make best use of 
resources and ensure fair access to 
Services. 
 

Determining the interventions necessary 
to optimise the achievement of the 
intended outcomes  
 

 Determining interventions  

 Planning interventions  

 Optimising achievement of intended 
outcomes 
 

 Ensure reports to decision-makers 
on Services are fair, balanced, and 
analyse options and the risks 
associated with those options, to 
ensure Best Value is achieved.  

 Ensure that external and internal 
stakeholders are engaged with 
when the Council is determining 
how Services should be planned 
and delivered, and the outcome of 
consultations is considered when 
decisions are made.  

 Ensure achievement of social value 
through Service planning and 
commissioning.  

 Ensure that it has clear and robust 
planning and control cycles for its 
strategic and operational plans, 
priorities and targets.  

 Determine appropriate KPIs to 
demonstrate Service and project 
performance and provide Members 
and Senior Officers with timely 
updates on these.  

 Ensure medium- and long-term 
resource planning is realistic, 
sustainable and inclusive.  

 Prepare budgets that are aligned to 
the organisation’s strategic 
objectives and its MTFP. 

Page 394



  
 

251 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

CIPFA / Solace principle / supporting 
principles 
 

To meet these requirements, the Council 
will:  

 

Developing the Council’s capacity, 
including the capability of its leadership 
and the individuals within it  
 

 Developing the Council’s capacity  

 Developing the capability of the 
Council’s leadership and other 
individuals 
 

 Regularly review operations to 
ensure that it is continuing to deliver 
Services that are effective, including 
the use of benchmarking and 
sectoral research.  

 Work collaboratively and in 
partnerships where added value can 
be achieved.  

 Maintain an effective approach to 
organisational development to 
ensure continued capacity and 
capability to deliver.  

 Clearly define roles, responsibilities 
and terms of engagement for 
Members and Officers.  

 Maintain and regularly review its 
schemes of delegations that outline 
the types of decisions that are 
delegated and those that are 
reserved for collective decision-
making.  

 Develop the capabilities of Members 
and Senior Officers to achieve 
effective shared leadership.  

 Ensure there are appropriate 
structures in place to encourage 
public participation.  

 Ensure that systems are in place to 
ensure that Members and Officers 
can be both held to account for 
performance and supported as 
appropriate. 

 

Managing risks and performance 
through robust internal control and 
strong public financial management 
 

 Managing risk  

 Managing performance  

 Robust internal control  

 Managing data  

 Strong public financial management 
 

 Embed effective risk management 
within all activities, ensure that 
progress is reviewed regularly, and 
that risk is considered as part of 
decision-making.  

 Ensure effective performance 
management of Service delivery 
and provide Members and Senior 
Officers with timely updates on 
Service performance and progress 
towards outcomes.  

 Ensure reports to decision-makers 
on services are fair, balanced, and 
analyse options and the risks 
associated with those options, to 
ensure Best Value is achieved.  

 Ensure effective, Member-led 
scrutiny is in place that provides 
constructive challenge and debate 
on objectives and policies before, 
during and after decisions are taken.  

Page 395



  
 

252 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

CIPFA / Solace principle / supporting 
principles 
 

To meet these requirements, the Council 
will:  

 Ensure an effective, risk-led internal 
audit service is in place to provide 
assurance on the overall adequacy 
and effectiveness of the Council’s 
governance arrangements.   

 Ensure effective counter-fraud and 
anti-corruption policies and 
arrangements are in place.  

 Ensure effective internal control 
arrangements exist for sound 
financial management.  

 Maintain an effective audit 
committee function.  

 Ensure effective arrangements are 
in place to collect, store, use and 
share data, including processes to 
safeguard personal data,  

 Put in place arrangements to ensure 
that data used to support decision-
making is accurate and clear.  

 Ensure financial management 
arrangements support both long 
term outcome delivery and day-to-
day operations. 
 

Implementing good practices in 
transparency, reporting, and audit to 
deliver effective accountability  
 

 Implementing good practice in 
transparency  

 Implementing good practices in 
reporting  

 Assurance and effective 
accountability 

 Provide reports in plain English 
wherever possible, ensuring that 
they are easy to access and 
interrogate and balance 
transparency requirements with 
clarity.  

 Report regularly on performance, 
delivery of value for money and 
stewardship of resources.  

 Report on compliance with good 
governance principles within its 
Annual Governance Statement, 
including an action plan for 
continued improvement.  

 Ensure compliance with good 
governance principles extends to its 
partnership arrangements.  

 Ensure that recommendations made 
by external audit are addressed.  

 Ensure that the internal audit service 
has direct access to Members to 
enable it to provide assurance with 
regard to governance 
arrangements.  

 Welcome and positively engage with 
peer challenges, reviews and 
inspections of its Services. 
 

 

1.4 How is governance monitored and reviewed?  

 

Page 396



  
 

253 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

1.4.1 The policies and procedures that underpin the Council’s governance framework are 

reviewed regularly, with revisions presented to the Audit Committee for agreement.  

 

1.4.2 The Council’s alignment with the CIPFA / Solace principles will be reviewed each year 

within the Annual Governance Statement (AGS) document, which is part of the 

Council’s Statement of Accounts. The AGS will assess the Council’s compliance with 

these principles and outline any improvement actions to be taken as a result of this 

assessment. 

 

  

Page 397



  
 

254 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

APPENDIX 2 

 

MEMBER ROLE PROFILES 
 

  

Page 398



  
 

255 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

THE ROLE OF COUNCILLORS 

 

Councillors have general responsibilities as policy-makers for the Council and as 

representatives of their Ward constituents. More detail of these responsibilities is set out in 

section 1.1 below.  

 

In addition to their general role, there are certain Councillor roles within the Council that have 

specific responsibilities. These are: 

 

(a) the Mayor;  

 

(b) the Deputy Mayor; 

 

(c) Executive Members; 

 

(d) the Chair of Council; 

 

(e) Group Leaders; 

 

(f) Overview and Scrutiny Board / Scrutiny Panel member / chair;  

 

(g) Committee member / chair (including Corporate Affairs Committee, Audit 

Committee, Standards Committee, Licensing Committee and Planning 

Committee); and  

 

Details of the responsibilities attached to these roles are set out in the role profiles that follow.  

 

 

 

  

Page 399



  
 

256 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

1.1 ROLE PROFILE: MEMBER  
 

This role profile applies to all Ward Members, whether they are an Executive Member or a 

non-Executive Member. Executive Members have additional responsibilities, which are set out 

in section 1.4 below.  

 

What are Members’ responsibilities?  

 

 Representing local people as a Member of Middlesbrough Council. 

 

What are Members’ key objectives? 

 

 To provide local leadership in developing and maintaining active involvement of 

constituents in local democracy. 

 

 To work for real and sustainable improvements in the economic, social and 

environmental well-being of the communities and local people they represent. 

 

 To represent and act as an advocate for the interests of the Ward for which they were 

elected, and to deal effectively with constituents’ enquiries and representations. 

 

 To campaign for measures that will secure stronger and safer communities and a high 

quality of life for local people, and effective and responsive delivery of services. 

 

 To contribute actively to the debates in the setting of the Council’s performance, 

policies, strategies, budget and service delivery. 

 

 To take up any opportunities for Member development to help improve their 

performance as an effective and influential Councillor. 

 

What are Members’ key tasks? 

 

 To attend and actively contribute to meetings of Full Council. 

 

 To fulfil the statutory and locally determined requirements of a Member of the Council, 

including compliance with all relevant codes of conduct. 

 

 To develop and maintain a working knowledge of the Council’s policies, and of the 

community’s needs and aspirations in respect of the Council’s roles and functions. 

 

 To participate effectively in and attend all meetings of any Council body, as required.  

 

 To participate in the activities of and attend all meetings of any outside body to which 

they are appointed, providing two-way communication between the body and the 

Council. 

 

 To develop and maintain a working knowledge of the Council’s Services, management 

arrangements, powers and duties, and constraints, in particular as they affect the area 

and communities they represent; and to develop good working relationships with 

relevant Members and Officers of the Council. 

Page 400



  
 

257 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

 To actively participate in casework and Members’ surgeries, in order to address 

constituents’ problems. 

 

 To act as a champion for, and represent the interests of, their local area and 

communities to the Council. 

 

 To promote open government and democratic renewal through encouraging their local 

community to participate in the governance of the area. 

 

 To act as champions for children looked after by the Council. 

 

 To ensure that all Committees (including Executive Committees) on which they serve 

fulfil their corporate parenting responsibilities. 

 

 To represent the Council’s corporate parenting responsibilities in their involvement with 

outside bodies, in particular in relation to duties as a school governor. 

 

In addition to the responsibilities, objectives and tasks set out above, Members should always 

seek to act within the spirit of the Nolan Principles and the Council’s Values, as described in 

the Members’ Code of Conduct.  

  

Page 401



  
 

258 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

1.2 ROLE PROFILE: THE MAYOR 
 

What are the Mayor’s responsibilities?  

 Providing strong and visible leadership in relation to the Council, citizens, stakeholders 
and partners of the Council.  
 

 Leading on partnerships and strategic matters of significance to Middlesbrough on a 
local, sub-regional, regional and national basis.  
 

 Promoting, wherever possible, public engagement in the work of the Council.  
 

 Leading in promoting the core values and objectives of the Council. 
 

 Leading on promoting proposals in relation to the Council’s Budget and Policy 
Framework.  
 

 Leading on the delivery of continuous improvement in Council services.  
 

 Promoting the highest standards of conduct and ethics within the Council.  
 

 Making appointments to the Executive, determining portfolios and chairing the 
Executive.  
 

 Determining the Executive Scheme of Delegation.  
 

 Responsibility for the Armed Forces Covenant. 
 

 Exercising the Councils rights as shareholder in BCCP Limited on behalf of the 
Teesside Pension Fund.  
 

What are the Mayor’s key objectives?  
 

 To appoint the Executive and the Deputy Mayor. 
 

 To determine the portfolios of Executive Members. 
 

 To ensure the development, maintenance and publication of the Forward Work 
Programme. 

 

 To chair meetings of the Executive. 
 

 To represent the Council and such external bodies as he or she decides. 
 

 To promote local strategic partnerships. 
 

 To propose the Budget and Policy Framework and any amendment thereof to Full 
Council. 

 

 To maintain and promote the highest standards of conduct and ethics within the 
Council. 

 
What are the Mayor’s key tasks? 
 

Page 402



  
 

259 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 To report to Full Council on their activities. 
 

 To provide strong, fair leadership and clear guidance to Members and Officers. 
 

 To develop a clear understanding of the roles of the Mayor and the Executive, and the 
scope and range of the areas for which they and the Council are responsible.  
 

 Leading on the delivery of continuous improvement in Council Services. 
 

 To ensure that appropriate consultation is undertaken for the areas of responsibility 
held by the Mayor, and to involve local people and communities as fully as possible in 
Council decision-making. 
 

 To respond within agreed timescales to the recommendations of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Board, setting out what action is proposed, if any, and giving full reasons for 
decisions taken. 
 

  

Page 403



  
 

260 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

1.3 ROLE PROFILE: THE DEPUTY MAYOR 
 
What are the Deputy Mayor’s responsibilities?  
 

 To chair the Executive in the absence of the Mayor. 
 

 To promote and co-ordinate liaison between the Mayor, the Executive and non-
Executive Members. 

 

 To undertake such duties as may be directed by the Mayor. 
 

 If for any reason the Mayor is unable to act, to act in their place until such time as the 
Mayor is able to act again. 

 

 As part of the Education element of their portfolio the Executive Member for Education 
and Culture has responsibility to ensure that all children are provided with the 
opportunity to realise their educational attainment potential.  
 

 The Executive Member will also oversee the provision of educational statutory services 
to address the needs of all children and young people and adults who need services 
(including youth justice).  
 

 To take a lead on corporate issues in connection with the Council’s performance, 
especially in relation to the Strategic Plan. 

 

 To promote and develop Member accountability, especially in relation to Members’ 
performance, both in terms of the general framework and the one specific to Executive 
Members. 

 

 In terms of the Executive, to take a lead on scrutiny especially where the scrutiny 
issues do not relate to individual Executive Portfolios. 

 

 To lead on corporate strategic issues. 
 

 To promote and develop Members’ early and meaningful involvement in developing 
Council policy. 

 

 To lead on town twinning activities. 
 

 
  

Page 404



  
 

261 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

1.4 ROLE PROFILE: EXECUTIVE MEMBERS 
 
For the avoidance of doubt, the responsibilities set out in this section apply to Executive 
Members in addition to those general responsibilities, objectives and tasks set out in section 
1.1 above.  
 
What are Executive Members’ responsibilities?  
 

 To provide strong, fair leadership and clear political guidance to Members, Officers 
and the community. 
 

 To develop a clear understanding of their Executive Portfolio, the scope and range of 
the areas for which they are responsible, and the Council’s policies in respect of those 
areas. 
 

 To ensure the delivery of continuous improvement in Services within their portfolio, 
and the implementation of best practice in the Council. 
 

 To ensure that there is collective responsibility for decisions taken by the Executive. 
 

 To ensure that decisions taken by individual Executive Members are taken in 
accordance with the law, and with procedures agreed by the Council and/or by the 
Mayor. 
 

 To ensure regular briefing meetings are held with those Chief Officers responsible for 
Services which fall within the remit of their Executive Portfolio. 
 

 To attend meetings of the Executive and inform in advance if they are unable to attend. 
 

 To commission the Overview and Scrutiny Board to undertake work on behalf of the 
Executive. 
 

 To respond within an agreed timescale to the recommendations of relevant Scrutiny 
Panels, setting out what action is proposed, if any, and giving full reasons for decisions 
taken. 
 

 To involve and consult non-Executive Members in the area of work for which they have 
responsibility, particularly Members of relevant Scrutiny Panel(s). 
 

 To be accountable to the Council in respect of matters relating to their Executive 
Portfolios. 
 

 
  

Page 405



  
 

262 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
1.5 ROLE PROFILE: THE CHAIR OF THE COUNCIL 
 
For the avoidance of doubt, the responsibilities set out in this section 1.5 apply to the Chair 
addition to those general responsibilities, objectives and tasks set out in section 1.1 above. 
 
What are the Chair’s key responsibilities? 
 

 To ensure the effective and efficient chairing of meetings of the Council. 
 

 To undertake the role of “Member Development Champion”. 
 
What are the Chair’s key tasks?  
 

 To preside over meetings of the Council so that its business can be carried out 
efficiently and with regard to the rights of Councillors and the interests of the 
community. 
 

 To uphold and promote the purposes of the Constitution and interpret it as and when 
necessary whilst chairing meetings of the Council (in consultation with the Monitoring 
Officer). 
 

 To ensure that Council meetings provide a forum for the debate of matters of concern 
to all Members and the local community and a space in which non-Executive Members 
are able to hold the Executive to account. 
 

 To also chair the Constitution and Members’ Development Committee. 
 

 To have responsibility for the development, monitoring and review of the Member 
Development Policy and the annual Member Development Programme. 
 

 To ensure that an appropriate level of Member development activities is in place. 
 

 To encourage Members to undertake appropriate levels of training and development 
activities in order that they have the necessary skills and knowledge to fulfil their roles 
as Members of the Council.  
 

  

Page 406



  
 

263 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

1.6 ROLE PROFILE: GROUP LEADER  
 

The Council has a Mayor and 46 Members.  

 

What is a group leader?  
 

Each political group represented on the Council has a group leader.  

 

The Council recognises the key leadership role played by the leaders of all political groups 

represented on the Council and the importance of their commitment to cross-party working.  

 
What are Group Leaders’ responsibilities? 

 To provide strong, fair leadership and clear political guidance to group members. 
 

 To act as the principal political spokesperson for the political group. 
 

 To act in a manner which is likely to promote rather than undermine the best interests 
of the Council and ensure that members of their political group act in a similar manner. 
 

 To encourage the highest standards of conduct by members of the group and promote 
compliance with the Members’ Code of Conduct. 
 

 To encourage a culture of learning and development among members of the group, 
including the active participation of group members in briefings, seminars and other 
learning and development processes. 
 

 TO establish and maintain effective working relationships with the Leadership 
Management Team and other Chief Officers, and to meet regularly in order to keep 
fully apprised of relevant Service issues. 
 

 To build effective relationships with other Councillors, stakeholders, Officers, 
communities and partners.  
 

 To enable the group to engage in constructive criticism and challenge, promoting 
alternatives or amendments offered by members of the group on proposed decisions 
of the Executive, where appropriate. 
 

 To ensure adequate liaison takes place with other political groups to further the 
interests of the Council. 
 

 To work with their group to formulate overall policy and priorities for the group.  
 

 To represent the Council on local, regional and national bodies, as appropriate 
 

 

  

Page 407



  
 

264 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

1.7 ROLE PROFILE: CHAIR OF THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY BOARD 
 
In addition to the responsibilities, objectives and tasks contained in section 1.1 above, the 
chair of the Overview & Scrutiny Board shall also have the responsibilities set out in this 
section. 
 
What are the Overview and Scrutiny Board chair’s responsibilities?  
 

 To provide strong, fair leadership and clear guidance to Members and Officers and in 
relation to scrutiny functions. 
 

 To have overall responsibility for the direction of scrutiny in the Council, and for 
ensuring that an appropriate annual scrutiny work programme is set. 
 

 To continuously monitor and evaluate the relevance of the annual Scrutiny Work 
Programme. 
 

 To meet with chairs of Scrutiny Panels on a regular basis, in order to give advice and 
guidance on the working of their Panels. 
 

 To meet regularly with Members and Democratic Services Officers in order to ensure 
that the annual Scrutiny Work Programme is continually updated and that objectives 
within the Scrutiny Work Programme are achieved. 
 

 To ensure that the work of the Overview and Scrutiny Board contributes to the delivery 
of continuous improvement in Services and implementation of best practice. 
 

 To monitor the Forward Work Programme. 
 

 To review, challenge and question the implementation of agreed policy and Service 
delivery, and make recommendations to the Executive and the Council to improve 
policy, performance and Service delivery. 
 

 To monitor the implementation and delivery of recommendations approved by the 
Executive. 
 

 To ensure that Scrutiny fulfils an audit and review function. 
 

 To ensure that Executive Members are briefed at the appropriate time on significant 
issues i.e., those that may:  
 

o result in a change to established policy; 
 

o have major resource implications; and/or 
 

o be contentious.  
 

 To seek to involve all Overview and Scrutiny Board members in the work of the Board. 
 

 To ensure the development of Overview and Scrutiny in relation to health. 
 

 To represent the views of Overview and Scrutiny at meetings of the Executive. 
  

Page 408



  
 

265 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

1.8 ROLE PROFILE: SCRUTINY PANEL CHAIRS  
 
In addition to the responsibilities, objectives and tasks contained in section 1.1 above, Scrutiny 
Panel chairs shall also have the responsibilities set out in this section. 
 
What are Scrutiny Panel Chairs’ responsibilities?  
 

 To provide strong, fair leadership and clear guidance to Members and Officers in 
relation to Scrutiny functions. 
 

 To review, challenge and question the implementation of agreed policy and Service 
delivery, and make recommendations to the Overview and Scrutiny Board and the 
Council to improve policy, performance and Service delivery. 
 

 To develop a clear understanding of the terms of reference of their Scrutiny Panel, the 
scope and range of the areas for which it is responsible, and the Council’s policies in 
respect of those areas. 
 

 To ensure the work of their Scrutiny Panel contributes to the delivery of continuous 
improvement in Services and implementation of best practice. 
 

 To agree all agendas for Scrutiny Panel meetings, to take a lead in developing a 
forward agenda, and ensuring it is adhered to. 
 

 To meet on a regular basis and consult with relevant Members to advise them of 
progress in the work of their Scrutiny Panel, discuss issues arising from the Scrutiny 
process, and note action being taken by the relevant Executive Members to address 
the concerns of their Scrutiny Panel. 
 

 To seek to involve all Scrutiny Panel members in the work of their Panel. 
 

 To prepare and present their Scrutiny Panel’s final report to the Overview and Scrutiny 
Board and the Executive. 

  

Page 409



  
 

266 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

APPENDIX 3 

 

MONITORING OFFICER PROTOCOL 
 

  

Page 410



  
 

267 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

MONITORING OFFICER PROTOCOL 

1.1 What is the statutory role of the Monitoring Officer and who holds the position? 

 

1.1.1 The Monitoring Officer is a statutory appointment87. This Protocol provides some 

general information on how those statutory requirements will be discharged by the 

Council.  

 

1.1.2 The responsibilities of the Monitoring Officer rest with the Council’s Head of Legal and 

Governance Services, who undertakes to discharge their statutory responsibilities 

with a positive determination and in a manner that enhances the overall reputation of 

the Council. In doing so, they will also safeguard, so far as is possible, Members and 

Officers, whilst acting in their official capacities, from legal difficulties and/or criminal 

sanctions.  

 

1.1.3 A summary list of the Monitoring Officer’s statutory responsibilities appears in the table 

annexed to this document. In general terms, the Monitoring Officer’s ability to 

discharge these duties and responsibilities will depend, to a large extent, on Members 

and Officers:  

 

(a) complying with the law (including any relevant Codes of Conduct);  

 

(b) complying with any general guidance issued, from time to time, by the 

Standards Committee, the government and the Monitoring Officer;  

 

(c) making lawful and proportionate decisions, and  

 

(d) generally, not taking action that would bring the Council, their offices or 

professions into disrepute.  

 

1.1.4 In the interests of good working relationships, prior to the issuing of a statutory 

report88, the Monitoring Officer will consult with the Head of Paid Service and the Chief 

Finance Officer; however, the decision as to whether or not to issue such a report is 

solely one for the Monitoring Officer.  

 

1.2 What are the working arrangements between the Monitoring Officer and 

Members and Officers?  

 

1.2.1 Having good working relations with Members and Officers will assist the Monitoring 

Officer in the discharge of their statutory responsibilities and ensure good governance. 

Equally, a speedy flow of relevant information and access to debate (particularly at 

the early stages of any decision-making by the Council) will assist in fulfilling those 

responsibilities. Members and Officers must, therefore, work with the Monitoring 

Officer (and their staff) to discharge the Council’s statutory and discretionary 

responsibilities.  

 

                                                
87 Local Government and Housing Act 1989, section 5 
88 Local Government and Housing Act 1989, section 5 

Page 411

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/42/section/5
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/42/section/5


  
 

268 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

1.2.2 The following arrangements and understandings between the Monitoring Officer, 

Members and Officers are designed to ensure the effective discharge of the Council’s 

business and functions. The Monitoring Officer will:  

 

(a) report to the Council and to the Executive in any case where the Monitoring 

Officer is of the opinion that any decision or proposal of the Council in respect 

of any reportable incident (being any matter which, in the Monitoring Officer’s 

opinion, has given rise to or is likely to or would give rise to any illegality, 

maladministration or breach of statutory code89;  

 

(b) have advance notice (including receiving agendas, minutes, reports and 

related papers) of all relevant meetings of the Council at which a binding 

decision of the Council may be made (including a failure to take a decision 

where one should have been taken) at or before the Council, Committee 

meetings, Executive and/or Leadership Management Team (or equivalent 

arrangements);  

 

(c) have the right to attend any meeting of the Council (including the right to be 

heard) before any binding decision is taken by the Council (including a failure 

to take a decision where one should have been taken) at or before the Council, 

Committee meetings, Executive and/or Leadership Management Team (or 

equivalent arrangements);  

 

(d) carry out any investigation(s) where the Monitoring Officer believes a matter 

may constitute a reportable incident, and have unqualified access to any 

information held by the Council and to any Officer who can assist in the 

discharge of their functions; 

 

(e) ensure that other Statutory Officers are kept up-to-date with relevant 

information regarding any legal, ethical standards, probity, propriety, 

procedural or other constitutional issues that are likely to (or do) arise;  

 

(f) meet regularly with the Head of Paid Service and the Chief Finance Officer to 

consider and recommend action in connection with corporate governance 

issues and other matters of concern regarding any legal, ethical standards, 

probity, propriety, procedural or other constitutional issues that are likely to (or 

do) arise;  

 

(g) report to the Council, from time to time, on the Constitution and any necessary 

or desirable changes following consultation, in particular, with the Head of Paid 

Service and the Chief Finance Officer;  

 

(h) as per the statutory requirements, make a report to the Council, as necessary 

on the staff, accommodation and resources the Monitoring Officer requires to 

discharge their statutory functions, and the Council shall ensure that the 

Monitoring Officer has sufficient resources to enable them to address any 

matters concerning their statutory functions;  

 

                                                
89 Local Government and Housing Act 1989, section 5 and section 5A 

Page 412

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/42/section/5
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/42/section/5A


  
 

269 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(i) have a special relationship of respect and trust with the Mayor, the Chair of the 

Council and the chair of the Licensing, Standards, Overview and Scrutiny and 

Planning Committees, with a view to ensuring the effective and efficient 

discharge of Council business;  

 

(j) develop effective working liaison and relationship with the District Auditor and 

the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman (including having the 

authority, on behalf of the Council, to complain to the same, refer any breaches 

to the same or give and receive any relevant information, whether confidential 

or otherwise, through appropriate protocols, if necessary) and settle any 

compensation payments up to £5,000 for alleged or actual maladministration 

found against the Council;  

 

(k) maintain and keep up-to-date relevant statutory registers for the declaration of 

Members’ interests, gifts and hospitality;  

 

(l) act as Principal Adviser to the Standards Committee; 

 

(m) give informal advice and undertake relevant enquiries into allegations of 

misconduct and, if appropriate, make a written report to the Standards 

Committee;  

 

(n) be responsible for the Council’s complaints, local commissioner and whistle-

blowing functions;   

 

(o) in consultation, as necessary, with the Chair of the Council and the chair of the 

Standards Committee, defer the making of a statutory report90 where another 

investigating body is involved;  

 

(p) investigate any application for a dispensation and report and recommend to the 

Standards Committee;  

 

(q) undertake all statutory Monitoring Officer functions in respect of Parish 

Councils within the Borough and provide support and advice to such Parish 

Councils in maintaining probity, including:  

 

(i) advice on the requirement for them to adopt a Local Code of conduct;  

 

(ii) advice on the requirement upon Parish Council Members to sign an 

undertaking to observe their authority’s Local Code within two months 

of the authority adopting its Local Code;  

 

(iii) advice on the requirement for Parish Council Members to notify the 

Monitoring Officer of any financial or other interests and of any changes 

in such interests, that such declarations will form part of a public 

register, means of gaining access to that register, and of any 

arrangements to ensure that Parish Council clerks are kept informed of 

any such declarations;  

 

                                                
90 Local Government and Housing Act 1989, section 5 

Page 413

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/42/section/5


  
 

270 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(iv) advice on the need to apply to the Standards Committee for any 

dispensations and of the arrangements agreed by the Standards 

Committee for receiving and determining any such applications, and for 

maintaining a register of such dispensations and advising the applicant 

and the Council of any dispensations which are granted;  

 

(v) advice on any provisions under which individual complaints of 

misconduct by Parish Council Members may be referred or delegated 

to the Monitoring Officer and the Standards Committee for investigation 

and determination, and any arrangements agreed by the Monitoring 

Officer and the Standards Committee for dealing with such complaints;  

 

(vi) advice to individual Parish Council Members on enquiries as to their 

obligations to declare or notify particular interests, on the need to apply 

for a dispensation, and on any consequent restrictions on the Parish 

Council Member’s participation in consideration of the matter and 

subject to the approval of the Standards Committee, be responsible 

with others for preparing any training programme for Parish Council 

Members on ethical standards and Code of Conduct issues.  

 

(vii) appoint a deputy or deputies and keep them briefed on any relevant 

issues that they may be required to deal with in the absence or sickness 

of the Monitoring Officer (such absence or sickness being more than 

transitory);  

 

(viii) after consultation with the Head of Paid Service and the Chief Finance 

Officer, notify the Police, the authority’s auditors and other regulatory 

agencies of the Monitoring Officer’s concerns in respect of any matter 

and to provide them with information and documents in order to assist 

them with their statutory functions;  

 

(ix) obtain at the authority’s expense, specialist legal advice, either 

internally or from an independent external solicitor or barrister, on any 

matter the Monitoring Officer believes may be a reportable incident.  

 

1.2.3 To ensure the effective and efficient discharge of the arrangements set out above, 

Members and Officers will report any breaches of statutory duty or Council policies or 

procedures and other vires or constitutional concerns to the Monitoring Officer, as 

soon as practicable. 

 

1.2.4 The Monitoring Officer and their deputies are also available for Members and Officers 

to consult on any issues of the Council’s legal powers, possible maladministration, 

impropriety and probity issues, or general advice on the constitutional arrangements 

(e.g. Standing Orders, Policy Framework, terms of reference, Scheme of Delegations 

etc.).  

 

1.3 How will the Monitoring Officer deal with reportable incidents?  

 

1.3.1 The Monitoring Officer will seek to resolve potential reportable incidents by avoiding 

illegality etc., or by identifying alternative and legitimate means of achieving the 

objective of the proposals. Accordingly, Officers and Members may consult the 

Page 414



  
 

271 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Monitoring Officer in confidence in respect of any proposal, and the Monitoring Officer 

will only need to make a public report on the matter if the proposal were to be a 

potential reportable incident and the Officer or Member subsequently took any action 

to progress that proposal despite being advised to the contrary by the Monitoring 

Officer;  

 

1.3.2 Where the Monitoring Officer receives a complaint of a potential reportable incident, 

they shall, in appropriate cases, seek to resolve the matter amicably, by securing that 

any illegality, failure of process or breach of code is rectified, and that the complainant 

is informed of the rectification, with or without a compensation payment and/or 

apology. However, it is recognised that the Monitoring Officer may determine that the 

matter is of such import that a statutory report is the only appropriate response;  

 

1.3.3 In appropriate cases, the Monitoring Officer may rely upon the Council’s existing 

processes (such as internal appeals procedures or insurance arrangements) to 

resolve any potential reportable incident, but may intervene in such processes to 

identify that the particular matter is a potential reportable incident and to ensure the 

satisfactory resolution of the issue;  

 

1.3.4 In appropriate cases, and to secure the rapid resolution of a potential reportable 

incident or to avoid a separate statutory report, the Monitoring Officer shall be entitled 

to add their written advice to the report of any other Officer;  

 

1.3.5 Notwithstanding the above, the Monitoring Officer retains the right to make a statutory 

report where, after consultation with the Head of Paid Service and the Chief Finance 

Officer, the Monitoring Officer is of the opinion that such is necessary in order to 

respond properly to a reportable incident.  

 

1.3.6 To ensure the effective and efficient discharge of this Protocol, the Chief Finance 

Officer will ensure that adequate insurance and indemnity arrangements are in place 

for the same to protect and safeguard the interests of the Council and the proper 

discharge of the Monitoring Officer role.  

 

1.4 How are breaches of this Protocol dealt with?  

 

Any complaint which indicates that there may have been a breach of the Members’ 

Code of Conduct must be referred to the Monitoring Officer. The Monitoring Officer 

will contact the Independent Person to discuss the content of the complaint, and to 

consider whether an investigation is warranted. Complaints of any breach of this 

Protocol by a Member may be referred to the Standards Committee (to be heard in 

accordance with the procedure set out in section 8) and to the relevant political party 

group leader. Complaints of any breach of this Protocol by an Officer may be referred 

to the Head of Paid Service or their designated representative.  

 

1.5 What happens if the Monitoring Officer has a conflict in relation to a complaint?  

 

Where the Monitoring Officer is in receipt of a complaint or is aware of a potential 

reportable event relating to a matter upon which they have previously advised the 

Council, they shall consult the Head of Paid Service who may then either refer the 

matter to a deputy Monitoring Officer for investigation and to report back to the Head 

of Paid Service, or request a neighbouring authority to make their Monitoring Officer 

Page 415



  
 

272 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

available to the Council to investigate the matter and report to the Head of Paid 

Service and/or the Council as appropriate. 

 

  

Page 416



  
 

273 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

ANNEX TO THE MONITORING OFFICER PROTOCOL 

 

This Annex sets out a summary of the Monitoring Officer’s functions in consultation with the 

Head of Paid Service.  

 

Description  Source  
 

Report on contraventions or likely 
contraventions of any enactment or rule of 
law. 
 

Local Government and Housing Act 1989, 
section 591 

Report on any maladministration or injustice 
where the Local Government and Social 
Care Ombudsman has carried out an 
investigation. 
 

Local Government and Housing Act 1989, 
section 592 
 

To review regularly the Council’s Standing 
Orders, regulations, codes and procedures 
to ensure they are up-to-date and comply 
with statutory and best practice 
requirements. 
 

 

To monitor Committee agenda, reports and 
general decision-making to ensure that no 
proposals or decisions breach the law or 
amount to maladministration. 
 

 

To advise Members and Officers on 
propriety issues when required. 
 

 

To receive (and consider) copies of 
certificates. 
 

Local Authorities (Contracts) Regulations 
199793 

To monitor and revise the Members’ Code of 
Conduct as necessary, via the chair of the 
Standards Committee, the Constitution and 
Members’ Development Committee, and the 
Council. 
 

Local Government Act 2000, sections 
51(4)94 54(2)95 as amended by the Localism 
Act 2011 

To establish and maintain a register of 
Members’ (including Co-Opted Members) 
financial and other interests and make it 
available for public inspection.  
 

Local Government Act 2000, section 81(1)96 

                                                
91 Local Government and Housing Act 1989 (legislation.gov.uk) 
92 Local Government and Housing Act 1989 (legislation.gov.uk) 
93 The Local Authorities (Contracts) Regulations 1997 (legislation.gov.uk) 
94 Local Government Act 2000 (legislation.gov.uk) 
95 Local Government Act 2000 (legislation.gov.uk) 
96 Local Government Act 2000 (legislation.gov.uk) 

Page 417

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/42/section/5
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/42/section/5
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1997/2862/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/22/section/51
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/22/section/54
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/22/section/81


  
 

274 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

To advise the Standards Committee on the 
granting of dispensations to Members. 
 

Local Government Act 2000, section 81(4), 
(5)97 as amended by the Localism Act 2011 

To assist the Standards Committee in the 
exercise of its functions relating to Parish 
Councils in its area, including promoting / 
maintaining Member conduct and advising 
on the Local Code. 
 

Local Government Act 2000, section 55(1), 
(2)98 as amended by the Localism Act 2011 
 

To receive decision notices from interim  
case tribunals and advise the Standards 
Committee on their effect / steps to be taken. 
 

Local Government Act 2000, section 78(7)99 
as amended by the Localism Act 2011 
 

To receive decision notices from case  
tribunals on behalf of the Standards 
Committee and advise the Committee on 
steps (if any) to be taken. 
 

Local Government Act 2000, section 79100 as 
amended by the Localism Act 2011 
 

To advise the Standards Committee on 
steps to be taken by the Council following 
receipt of a case tribunal’s recommendations 
relating to function / code / Standards 
Committee. 
 

Local Government Act 2000, section 80(3)101 
as amended by the Localism Act 2011 
 

As a matter of good practice, to report to the 
Council annually on operation of the internal 
and external complaints systems, and use of 
the ‘whistleblowing’ procedures. 
 

1998 White Paper para 6.42 LGMB  
guidance, Public Interest Disclosure Act  
1998 

To consider conducting an annual propriety 
audit within the Council as a preventative 
measure. 
 

 

Appointment of a deputy. 
 

Local Government & Housing Act 1989, 
section 5102 
 

Report on resources. 
 

Local Government & Housing Act 1989, 
section 5103 
 

Receive copies of whistleblowing allegations 
of misconduct. 
 

 

Advice to Members on interpretation of the 
Code. 
 

 

                                                
97 Local Government Act 2000 (legislation.gov.uk) 
98 Local Government Act 2000 (legislation.gov.uk) 
99 Local Government Act 2000 (legislation.gov.uk) 
100 Local Government Act 2000 (legislation.gov.uk) 
101 Local Government Act 2000 (legislation.gov.uk) 
102 Local Government and Housing Act 1989 (legislation.gov.uk) 
103 Local Government and Housing Act 1989 (legislation.gov.uk) 

Page 418

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/22/section/81
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/22/section/55
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/22/section/78
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/22/section/79
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/22/section/80
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/42/section/5
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/42/section/5


  
 

275 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Key role in promoting and maintaining high 
standards of conduct through support to the 
Standards Committee. 
 

Statutory Guidance, paragraph 8.20 

New Ethical framework functions in relation 
to Parish Councils. 
 

Local Government Act 2000, section 
83(12)104 

Compensation for maladministration. 
 

Local Government Act 2000, section 92105 

Advice on vires issues, maladministration, 
impropriety, probity and Policy Framework to 
all Members. 
 

DETR Guidance 

Acting as Lead Officer for the Standards 
Committee.  
 

 

To act as the Council’s Returning Officer and 
Electoral Registration Officer  

Representation of the People Act 1983, 
section 35 and section 8 respectively106 
 

  

  

                                                
104 Local Government Act 2000 (legislation.gov.uk) 
105 Local Government Act 2000 (legislation.gov.uk) 
106 Representation of the People Act 1983, section 35; section 8 

Page 419

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/22/section/83
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/22/section/92
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1983/2/section/35
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1983/2/section/8


  
 

276 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

APPENDIX 4 

 

STATUTORY OFFICER PROFILES 
 

  

Page 420



  
 

277 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

STATUTORY OFFICER PROFILES  

This section sets out the roles and responsibilities of the Council’s Statutory Officers.  

 

HEAD OF PAID SERVICE  

1.1 What are the Head of Paid Services individual statutory and constitutional 

responsibilities?  

 

It shall be the duty of the Head of Paid Service, where they consider it appropriate to 

do so, to prepare a report to the Council setting out their proposals on certain matters. 

Those matters are:  

 

(a) the manner in which the discharge by the Council of its different functions is 

co-ordinated;  

 

(b) the number and grades of staff required by the Council for the discharge of its 

functions;  

 

(c) the organisation of the Council’s staff; and 

 

(d) the appointment and proper management of the Council’s staff.  

 

A copy of the report should be sent to each Member of the Council.  

 

1.2 Who may be the Head of Paid Service?  

 

The Head of Paid Service may not be the Monitoring Officer but may hold the post of 

Chief Finance Officer if a qualified accountant.  

 

1.3 What is the Head of Paid Service’s role?  

 

The Head of Paid Service will:  

 

(a) have responsibility for the Council’s management functions;  

 

(b) be responsible for establishing a framework for management direction, style, 

and standards, and for monitoring the performance of the organisation;  

 

(c) determine and publicise a description of the overall structure of the Council 

showing the management structure and deployment of officers; 

 

(d) report to Full Council on the manner in which the discharge of the Council’s 

functions is co-ordinated, the number and grade of officers required for the 

discharge of functions and the organisation of officers;  

 

(e) be responsible for the Council’s corporate and overall strategic management; 

 

(f) be responsible for establishing a framework for management direction, style 

and standards, and for monitoring the performance of the organisation; 

 

Page 421



  
 

278 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(g) represent the Council on partnership and external bodies, in accordance with 

the Scheme of Delegations; and 

 

(h) publish once a year a notice in at least one local newspaper regarding the 

Forward Work Programme.  

 

  

Page 422



  
 

279 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER  

 

1.1 What are the Chief Finance Officer’s statutory and constitutional 

responsibilities in ensuring lawfulness and financial prudence of decision-

making?  

 

The Chief Financial Officer will: 

 

(a) be responsible for the administration of the financial affairs of the Council; 

 

(b) be responsible for all financial elements of the corporate governance of the 

Council;  

 

(c) after consulting with the Head of Paid Service and the Monitoring Officer, the 

Chief Finance Officer will report to Full Council or to the Executive in relation to 

an Executive Function, and to the Council’s external auditor, if they consider 

that any proposal, decision or course of action will involve incurring unlawful 

expenditure, or is unlawful and is likely to cause a loss or deficiency or if the 

Council is about to enter an item of account unlawfully;  

 

(d) be responsible for setting and monitoring standards and reserve the right to be 

involved in the appointment of all staff employed in posts designated as 

requiring a qualified accountant or auditor;  

 

(e) in compliance with section 114 of the Local Government Finance Act 1998, 

report to the full Council, Executive and external auditor if the Authority or one 

of its officers has made or is about to make a decision which involves or would 

involve the Council in incurring expenditure which is unlawful; has taken or is 

about to take a course of action which, if pursued to its conclusion would be 

unlawful and likely to cause a loss or deficiency is on the part of the Council; is 

about to enter an item of account, the entry of which is unlawful;  

 

(f) produce a report if it appears that the expenditure proposed by the Council in 

a financial year is likely to exceed the resources available to meet that 

expenditure;  

 

(g) report to the Executive each year on the general financial situation of the 

Council and upon future financial scenarios in relation to the coming year’s 

budget prospects and long term trends;  

 

(h) be responsible for ensuring that a revenue budget is prepared on an annual 

basis for consideration by the Executive, before full submission to the Council. 

Each Strategic / Assistant Director shall prepare annually a forward revenue 

budget in accordance with the criteria specified by the Chief Finance Officer; 

 

(i) report to the Executive not less than twice in each financial year on the activities 

of the treasury management operation and on the exercise of his delegated 

treasury management powers;  

 

1.2 What are the Chief Finance Officer’s statutory and constitutional 

responsibilities in relation to the administration of financial affairs?  

Page 423



  
 

280 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

1.2.1 The Chief Finance Officer will:  

 

(a) have statutory responsibility for the financial administration and stewardship of 

the Council107;  

 

(b) be responsible for: the proper administration of the Council’s financial affairs; 

setting and monitoring compliance with financial monitoring standards; advising 

on the corporate financial position and on the key financial controls necessary 

to secure sound financial management; providing financial information; 

preparing the revenue budget and the capital programme; treasury 

management, pension and trust funds; and advice on the safeguarding of 

assets including risk management and insurance;  

 

(c) be responsible for maintaining a continuous review of the financial regulations 

and submitting any additions or changes necessary to the Executive and for 

approval to Full Council. Also responsible for reporting, where appropriate, 

breaches of the financial regulations to the Council and/or the Executive; 

 

(d) nominate a properly qualified member of staff to deputise should they be unable 

to perform their duties to make statutory reports108;  

 

(e) approve all financial procedures, records, systems and accounts operated 

through the Council including any changes which are subsequently proposed;  

 

(f) be responsible for keeping the principal accounting records for all Services of 

the Council; that the accounts and accompanying reconciliations are properly 

prepared and presented for audit in accordance with relevant guidelines and 

statutes; undertake the day-to-day management of the financial work of the 

Council; provide advice on the retention and safe custody of all accounting 

records; produce and circulate to relevant officers a set of guidance notes for 

the production of final accounts; present the Statement of Accounts for the year 

in question to the Council’s external auditors; and retain copies of the 

Statement of Accounts;  

 

(g) be informed of the existence of all ‘unofficial funds’ and issue and update 

accounting instructions for them where necessary. An ‘unofficial fund’ is any 

fund where the income and expenditure does not form part of the Council’s 

accounts but which is controlled wholly or in part by an Officer by reason of 

their employment by the Council or other employment, e.g. the Governors of a 

school or other semi-autonomous body;  

 

(h) be authorised to pay all amounts to which the Council is legally committed;  

 

(i) make imprest advances to Officers for the purpose of defraying petty cash 

expenses and issue instructions on the control and operation on the imprest 

account;  

                                                
107 Local Government Act 1972, section 151; Local Government Finance Act 1988; Local Government 
and Housing Act 1989; Accounts and Audit Regulations 1996 
108 Local Government Finance Act 1998, section 114 

Page 424

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1972/70/section/151
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1988/41/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/42/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/42/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1996/590/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1988/41/section/114


  
 

281 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

(j) have the final approval to authorise arrangements for payments to be 

automatically debited from the Council’s bank account;  

 

(k) set out the arrangements necessary to ensure that all monies due are received 

and banked promptly;  

 

(l) along with the Monitoring Officer, take all reasonable steps to obtain recovery 

of debts;  

 

(m) be responsible for all Executive decisions on borrowing, investment or 

financing delegated to the Chief Finance Officer, acting in accordance with 

CIPFA’s Code of Practice for Treasury Management in Local Authorities;  

 

(n) be responsible for the administration and day-to-day operation of the Council’s 

borrowings for all purposes and raise, repay or vary the terms of loans as 

necessary;  

 

(o) be the registrar for all stocks, bonds and mortgages of the Council and maintain 

records of all transactions relating thereto, and of all borrowings of money by 

the Council;  

 

(p) be responsible for ensuring that secure arrangements are made for the 

preparation and holding of pre-signed cheques, stock certificates, bonds and 

other financial documents;  

 

(q) ensure that adequate insurance protection is maintained for the Council’s 

assets and operations where it is considered to be cost effective and 

appropriate;  

 

(r) be responsible for the negotiation of all the Council’s insurance contracts and 

have delegated responsibility for the maintenance of an adequate and effective 

internal audit;  

 

(s) ensure that the accounting arrangements to be adopted relating to partnerships 

and joint ventures are satisfactory and that the risks have been fully appraised 

before agreements are entered into with external bodies;  

 

(t) ensure that exemptions to Financial Procedure Rules and/or the Contract 

Procedure Rules must be recorded, signed by the relevant Strategic / Assistant 

Director and countersigned by the Chief Finance Officer. All exemptions must 

be monitored;  

 

(u) consult, and take advice from, the Monitoring Officer and Strategic 

Commissioning and Procurement where contracts to work for organisations 

other than the Council are contemplated; and 

 

 

(v) ensure that Best Value and Partnership Arrangements comply with all 

applicable procurement legislation and follow the principles set out in the 

Page 425



  
 

282 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Contract Procedure Rules. The advice of the Monitoring Officer, and Strategic 

Commissioning & Procurement must be taken.  

 

1.2.2 The Chief Finance Officer shall have the power to make technical amendments to the 

Financial Procedure Rules and the Contract Procedure Rules to make them 

consistent with legal requirements.  

 

1.3 What are the Chief Finance Officer’s statutory and constitutional 

responsibilities in contributing to corporate management?  

 

The Chief Finance Officer will contribute to the corporate management of the Council, 

in particular through the provision of professional financial advice.   

 

1.4 What are the Chief Finance Officer’s statutory and constitutional 

responsibilities in providing advice / information?  

 

The Chief Finance Officer will: 

 

(a) provide advice on the scope of powers and authority to take decisions, 

maladminstration, financial impropriety, probity and Budget and Policy 

Framework issues to all Members and the Mayor and support and advise the 

Mayor, Members and Officers in their respective roles;  

 

(b) be responsible for issuing advice and guidance to underpin the financial 

regulations that the Mayor, Members and Officers and others acting on behalf 

of the Council are required to follow;  

 

(c) be responsible for advising on effective systems of internal control. Those 

arrangements need to ensure compliance with all applicable statutes and 

regulations, and other relevant statements of best practice;  

 

(d) provide advice on risk with every Chief Officer and Budget Holder having a 

responsibility to support these initiatives; and 

 

(e) provide financial information to the media, members of the public and the 

community.  

 

  

Page 426



  
 

283 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

MONITORING OFFICER  

 

1.1 What are Monitoring Officer’s statutory and constitutional responsibilities?  

 

1.1.1 Unless the Council determines otherwise, the Monitoring Officer shall be the Council’s 

Chief Legal Officer.  

 

1.1.2 The Monitoring Officer shall be responsible for all non-financial elements of the 

corporate governance of the Council.   

 

1.1.3 It is the duty of the Monitoring Officer to prepare a report to the Council with respect 

to any proposal, decision or omission by the Council, committee, or Officer that could 

give rise to unlawfulness, maladministration or injustice.  

 

1.1.4 In preparing the report there is a duty to consult with the Head of Paid Services and 

the Chief Finance Officer and then arrange for a copy of it to be sent to each Member.  

 

1.1.5 The Monitoring officer cannot be the Chief Finance Officer or the Head of Paid 

Service.  

 

1.2 What are the Monitoring Officers responsibilities in relation to the Constitution? 

 

The Monitoring Officer will: 

 

(a) provide access to an electronic copy of the Constitution for all Members, 

Officers and the public via the Council’s website, and ensure that any updated 

version of the Constitution is made available within a reasonable period;  

 

(b) maintain an up-to-date version of the Constitution;  

 

(c) monitor and review the operation of the Constitution to ensure that the aims 

and principles of the Constitution are given full effect;  

 

(d) be aware of the strengths and weaknesses of the Constitution and make 

recommendations for ways in which it could be amended including observing 

meetings; undertaking audit trails of a sample of decisions; recording and 

analysing issues raised by Members, Officers, members of the public and 

stakeholders; compare practices with other comparable authorities or national 

examples of best practice;  

 

(e) give notice to the public of the time and place of any meeting in accordance 

with the Access to Information Procedure Rules; and 

 

(f) be responsible for the system of record keeping in relation to all decisions made 

by Full Council.  

 

1.3 What are the Monitoring Officer’s responsibilities in relation to Standards and 

governance?  

 

The Monitoring Officer will:  

 

Page 427



  
 

284 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(a) after consulting with the Head of Paid Service and the Chief Finance Officer, 

the Monitoring Officer will report to Full Council or to the Executive in relation 

to an Executive Function if they consider that any proposal, decision or 

omission would give rise to unlawfulness or if any decision or omission has 

given rise to maladministration. Such a report will have the effect of stopping 

the proposal or decision being implemented until the report has been 

considered;  

 

(b) contribute to the promotion and maintenance of high standards of conduct 

through the provision of support to the Standards Committee;  

 

(c) conduct investigations into complaints against Members and Co-Opted 

Members, which after consultation with an Independent Person appointed for 

such purposes, are felt to have breached the Members’ Code of conduct and 

make reports or recommendations in respect of them to the Standards 

Committee;  

 

(d) conduct such other investigations as it appears to the Monitoring Officer are 

necessary to ensure appropriate corporate governance;  

 

(e) ensure that Executive decisions, together with the reasons for those decisions 

and relevant Officer reports and background papers are made publicly 

available as soon as possible;  

 

(f) advise on whether decisions of the Executive are in accordance with the 

Budget and Policy Framework;  

 

(g) provide advice on the scope of powers and authority to take decisions, 

maladministration, financial impropriety, probity and Budget and Policy 

Framework issues to all Members and the Mayor;  

 

(h) be responsible for corporate complaints, Ombudsman cases, reviewing the 

Constitution and whistleblowing; 

 

(i) be responsible for reporting any actual or potential breaches of the law or 

maladministration to Full Council and/or to the Executive, and for ensuring that 

procedures for recording and reporting Key Decisions are operating effectively;  

 

(j) ensure that Executive decisions, and the reasons for them, are made public;  

 

(k) be responsible for advising the Mayor, all Members and Officers about who has 

authority to take a particular decision;  

 

(l) be responsible for referring to Full Council any proposed variations to approved 

budgets, plans and strategies and which form part of the Policy Framework;  

 

(m) be responsible for promoting and maintaining the same high standards of 

conduct with regard to financial administration in partnerships that apply 

throughout the Council; and 

 

Page 428



  
 

285 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(n) receive written notice from the Mayor on amendments to the Scheme of 

Delegations of Executive Functions.  

 

  

Page 429



  
 

286 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

JOINT STATUTORY AND CONSTITUTIONAL RESPONSIBILITIES 

 

1.1 What are the Statutory Officers’ joint statutory and constitutional 

responsibilities? 

 

1.1.1 The Head of Paid Service, in consultation with the Chief Finance Officer, shall produce 

and circulate to all relevant Officers a set of guidance notes for the production of the 

Capital Programme  

 

1.1.2 The Monitoring Officer and the Chief Finance Officer will: 

 

(a) give advice to the Executive, Committees of the Executive, individual executive 

Members and any Officers or Joint Arrangements discharging Executive 

Functions on making decisions outside the Budget or the Policy Framework;  

  

(b) provide advice to the Overview and Scrutiny Board or a Scrutiny Panel on the 

process of Call-in of decisions, which if made, would be contrary to the Policy 

Framework or not in accordance with the Budget; and 

 

(c) be responsible for advising the Executive or Full Council whether a decision is 

likely to be considered contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the Budget. 

 

1.1.3 The Head of Paid Service and the Monitoring Officer will be responsible for the system 

of record keeping in relation to all Full Council decisions.  

 

  

Page 430



  
 

287 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

OTHER STATUTORY ROLE PROFILES  

 

COMPLAINTS MANAGER  

 

1.1 What are the statutory and constitutional responsibilities of the Complaints 

Manager?  

 

1.1.1 It shall be the duty of the Complaints Manager to: 

  

(a) ensure that the Council fulfils its requirements in relation to: representations 

made under the Children Act 1989109; complaints made under the Health & 

Social Care (Community Health and Standards) Act 2003110, and the 

requirements of Part III of the Local Government Act 1974111;  

 

(b) ensure best practice in relations to complaints and representations made to the 

Council  

 

(c) promote the Council’s complaints scheme (as described in section 3.4 of the 

Constitution); 

 

(d) provide support and guidance to Members, including Executive Members and 

Officers, in relation to the duties, practices and procedures in dealing with 

complaints.  

  

1.1.2 The above shall also apply to Independent Panels constituted under the requirements 

of the Children Act 1989 Representations Procedures (England) Regulations 2006112.  

 

1.1.3 The Complaints Manager will:  

 

(a) have responsibility for the overall management and overview of the Council’s 

complaints functions as set out above; 

 

(b) be responsible for the corporate and overall strategic development of the 

Council’s complaints functions; 

 

(c) be responsible for establishing, updating, maintaining and publishing the 

framework for standards and practice in relation to complaints (the “Corporate 

Complaints Procedures”); 

 

(d) be responsible for the monitoring of the performance of the Corporate 

Complaints Procedures; 

 

(e) report to full Council on the manner in which the Corporate Complaints 

Procedures have been discharged; 

 

                                                
109 Children Act 1989 (legislation.gov.uk) 
110 Health and Social Care (Community Health and Standards) Act 2003 (legislation.gov.uk) 
111 Local Government Act 1974 (legislation.gov.uk) 
112 The Children Act 1989 Representations Procedure (England) Regulations 2006 (legislation.gov.uk) 

Page 431

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/43/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1974/7/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2006/1738/contents/made


  
 

288 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(f) publicise the Complaints Procedures within and outside the Council; and 

 

(g) ensure that the Directorates with responsibility for discharging those functions 

provided for within the Children Act 1989 Representations Procedures 

(England) Regulations 2006113 and the Local Authority Social Services and 

National Health Service Complaints (England) Regulations 2009114 meet the 

requirements of those regulations. 

 

  

                                                
113 The Children Act 1989 Representations Procedure (England) Regulations 2006 (legislation.gov.uk) 
114 The Local Authority Social Services and National Health Service Complaints (England) 
Regulations 2009 (legislation.gov.uk) 

Page 432

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2006/1738/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2009/309/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2009/309/contents/made


  
 

289 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

NOMINATED LOCAL AUTHORITY CHANNEL CHAIR  

 

1.1 What are the statutory responsibilities of the Nominated Local Authority 

CHANNEL Chair?  

 

1.1.1 It shall be the duty of the Head of Stronger Communities nominated as chair of 

Middlesbrough Council`s CHANNEL Panel under S26 Counter Terrorism Security Act 

2015115, to prepare a summary report to governance bodies including Local Authority 

Scrutiny, Home Office, Ofsted and Counter Terrorism Policing as required on the 

administration of CHANNEL Safeguarding locally.   

 

1.1.2 The CHANNEL Chair must ensure that:  

 

(a) the Council operates a multi-agency safeguarding panel;  

 

(b) the Council provides the chair (if the chair is not available);  

 

(c) the Panel develops a support plan for individuals accepted as CHANNEL 

cases;  

 

(d) the Panel considers alternative forms of support, including health and social 

services, where CHANNEL is not appropriate;  

 

(e) all partners of a Panel (as specified in Schedule 7 of the CHANNEL Terms of 

Reference 2020), so far as appropriate and reasonably practicable, cooperate 

with the police and the Panel in the carrying out of their functions; and   

 

(f) the administration of the CHANNEL responsibilities are adhered to as per the 

CHANNEL Duty Guidance116.  

 

1.1.3 The CHANNEL Chair will:   

 

(a) ensure the administration and operation of active and reviewed CHANNEL 

cases in a multi-agency safeguarding approach in partnership with Cleveland 

Police; 

 

(b) ensure that both they, and their deputy, comply with all training requirements 

of the role as directed by the Home Office;  

 

(c) support the Council’s PREVENT lead in the administration of the Council’s 

overarching PREVENT duty;  

 

(d) manage accountability of individual members’ actions within CHANNEL cases  

 

(e) provide written reports to governance panels/inspectorate bodies as required; 

and  

 

(f) ensure the data protection of client information for the welfare of the client.  

                                                
115 Counter Terrorism Security Act 2015, section 26 
116 CHANNEL Duty Guidance 2020 

Page 433

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2015/6/section/26
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/964567/6.6271_HO_HMG_Channel_Duty_Guidance_v14_Web.pdf


  
 

290 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

NOMINATED LOCAL AUTHORITY PREVENT LEAD  

 

1.1 What are the statutory responsibilities of the Nominated Local Authority 

PREVENT Lead?  

  

1.1.4 The Council has a statutory responsibility117 to have due regard to, and safeguard 

those at risk of, radicalisation. The nominated PREVENT Lead will provide the 

overarching responses to the governance on the administration of the Council’s duty 

to inspectorate and governance panels including but not limited to the Community 

Safety Partnership, regional PREVENT panels, Home Office, Counter Terrorism 

Policing and Ofsted.  

 

1.1.5 The PREVENT Lead must ensure that:   

 

(a) Officers receive suitable training on recognising the risk of radicalisation;  

 

(b) the Council contributes to reducing the risk of radicalisation;   

 

(c) the Council promotes the safeguarding ethos of PREVENT and the referral 

mechanism for CHANNEL; and   

 

(d) partners in education are supported in respect of the statutory responsibilities 

under Department of Education PREVENT Duty Guidance118 and Keeping 

Children Safe in Education119.  

 

1.1.6 The PREVENT lead will  

 

(a) chair the Middlesbrough Bronze Operational group and lead a multi-agency 

partnership approach to promote PREVENT and its safeguarding nature;  

 

(b) conduct an annual risk assessment against the Counter Terrorism Local Profile 

and develop plans for the Middlesbrough Bronze Operational group to lead;  

 

(c) develop and deliver Home Office and bespoke training to professionals aimed 

at recognising the risk of those vulnerable to, and how to support those at risk 

of, radicalisation;  

 

(d) promote online digital resilience from a safeguarding perspective; 

 

(e) promote national products on behalf of Counter Terrorism Policing;   

 

(f) assist schools and colleges with training, awareness raising and initiatives to 

promote the safeguarding ethos of PREVENT;  

 

(g) support the CHANNEL Panels as directed by the Council, the CHANNEL Chair, 

and Counter Terrorism Case Officers;  

 

                                                
117 Counter Terrorism Security Act 2015, section 26 
118 PREVENT Duty Guidance for England and Wales  
119 Keeping Children Safe in Education 2022 

Page 434

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2015/6/section/26
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/prevent-duty-guidance/revised-prevent-duty-guidance-for-england-and-wales
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1101454/Keeping_children_safe_in_education_2022.pdf


  
 

291 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(h) assist Children`s and Adults Safeguarding Officers at referral stage;   

 

(i) chair the regional Cleveland PREVENT Leads group;  

 

(j) attend the Silver PREVENT group; and   

 

(k) provide quarterly written reports to the Community Safety Partnership. 

  

Page 435



  
 

292 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

APPENDIX 5 

 

PROPER OFFICER FUNCTIONS 
 

  

Page 436



  
 

293 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

PROPER OFFICER FUNCTIONS  

1.1 What is a Proper Officer? 

 

A Proper Officer is an Officer appointed by the Council to carry out certain 

administrative functions as required by statute including, for example, receiving or 

giving notices, certifying or authenticating documents, keeping registers, and issuing 

summonses for meetings. 

 

1.2 Who are the Council’s Proper Officers and what are their responsibilities?  

 

The Council has appointed the following Proper Officers:  

 

1.2.1 Head of Paid Service:  

 

(a) Head of Paid Service120.  

 

1.2.2 Monitoring Officer: 

 

(a) Monitoring Officer121. 

 

(b) In relation to any reference in any enactments passed before or during the 

1971–1972 session of Parliament (other than the Local Government Act 1972) 

or in any instrument made before 26th October 1972, to the “Clerk” of a Council 

or the “Town Clerk” of a Borough, which by virtue of any provision in the said 

Act, is to be construed as a reference to the Proper Officer of the Council.  

 

(c) Preparation, publication, distribution, and retention of papers and records of 

decisions taken by Council, Committees, Sub-Committees, Executive, 

Individual Executive Members, and Executive Sub-Committees122.  

 

(d) Clerk of the peace of the Borough123.  

 

(e) Returning Officer and Electoral Registration Officer124.  

 

(f) Acceptance of declaration of office of Members125.  

 

(g) For the purposes of the Common Registration Act 1965126 and the Commons 

Act 2006127.  

 

(h) Receipt of declarations as to election expenses128.  

 

                                                
120 Local Government and Housing Act 1989, section 4 
121 Local Government and Housing Act 1989, section 5 
122 Local Government Act 1972 
123 Sheriffs Act 1887, section 6(3) 
124 Representation of the People Act 1983, section 35 and section 8 respectively 
125 Local Government Act 1972, section 83 
126 Commons Registration Act 1965 (legislation.gov.uk) 
127 Commons Act 2006 (legislation.gov.uk) 
128 Representation of the People Act, section 82 

Page 437

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/42/section/4#:~:text=4%20Designation%20and%20reports%20of%20head%20of%20paid,as%20the%20head%20of%20their%20paid%20service%3B%20and
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/42/section/5A
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1972/70/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/Vict/50-51/55/section/6
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1983/2/section/35
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1983/2/section/8
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1972/70/section/83
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1965/64
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/26/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1983/2/section/82


  
 

294 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(i) Receipt of Members’ declarations of interests129. 

 

 

 

(j) Record of Executive Members prejudicial interests130. 

 

(k) Determination of confidential and exempt reports and decisions of Executive131.  

 

(l) Parish trustee132.  

 

(m) Receipt of declaration of resignation of office133.  

 

(n) Convening Council meeting to fill casual vacancy of Chair134.  

 

(o) Receipt of Notice of casual vacancy from two local government electors in the 

event of a casual vacancy in the office of Councillor135. 

 

(p) Receipt and keeping of record notice of pecuniary interests136 (Section 29 

Localism Act 2011).  

 

(q) For the purposes of public access to information137.  

 

(r) Freedom of Information requests138.  

 

(s) Charity functions of offices with existing authorities transferred to holders of 

equivalent office with new authority139.  

 

(t) Deposit of documents140. 

 

(u) Certification of photographic copies of documents141.  

 

(v) Authorisation of documents142.  

 

(w) Sharing of copies of byelaws143.  

 

                                                
129 Local Authorities (Members' Interests) Regulations 1992 
130 Local Authorities (Executive and Alternative Arrangements) (Modification of Enactments) Order 
2001 
131 (Local Authorities) (Executive Arrangements) (Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2000 
132 Local Government Act 1972, section 13(3) 
133 Local Government Act 1972, section 84 
134 Local Government Act 1972, section 88(2) 
135 Local Government Act 1972, section 89(1)(b) 
136 Localism Act 2011, section 29 
137 Local Government Act 1972, sections 100B-100F 
138 Freedom of Information Act 2000 
139 Local Government Act 1972, section 210(6) and (7) 
140 Local Government Act 1972, section 225 
141 Local Government Act 1972, section 229(5) 
142 Local Government Act 1972, section 234(1) and (2) 
143 Local Government Act 1972, section 236(9) and (10) 

Page 438

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1996/1215/made#:~:text=The%20Local%20Authorities%20%28Members%27%20Interests%29%20Regulations%201992%20require,these%20Regulations%20extend%20with%20modifications%20this%20requirement%20to%E2%80%94
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2001/2237/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2001/2237/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2000/3272/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1972/70/section/13
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1972/70/section/84
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1972/70/section/88
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1972/70/section/89
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/section/29/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1972/70/section/100B
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/36/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1972/70/section/210
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1972/70/section/225
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1972/70/section/229
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1972/70/section/234
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1972/70/section/236


  
 

295 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(x) Certification of byelaws144.  

 

(y) Keeping of the roll of freemen145.  

 

(z) Signature of summonses to Council meetings146.  

 

(aa) Receipt of notices of addresses to send summonses147.  

 

(bb) Making certified copies of resolutions148.   

 

(cc) Rent Office Service149.  

 

(dd) Receipt of notification from Mayor of the appointment and terms and conditions 

of appointment of Mayor’s assistant (see section 11.13 of the Constitution)150.  

 

(ee) Receipt of notification from the Mayor of any objections to the proposed 

appointments made by the Chief Officer Appointments Committee151.  

 

(ff) Proper Officer for the purposes of the Registration Services Act 1953152.  

 

1.2.3 Chief Finance Officer: 

 

(a) Proper administration of financial affairs153 (Section 151 Local Government Act 

1972).  

 

(b) In relation to any reference in any enactment or instrument to a “Borough 

Treasurer” or “Treasurer” which, by any such provision is to be construed as a 

reference to the Proper Officer of the Council.  

 

(c) Receipt of money due from Officers154.  

 

(d) Declarations and certificates with regard to securities155. 

 

1.2.4 Director of Environment and Commercial Services:  

 

(a) To receive applications for assistance with Ordnance Survey mapping156.  

 

                                                
144 Local Government Act 1972, section 238 
145 Local Government Act 1972, section 248 
146 Local Government Act 1972, Schedule 12, paragraph 4(2)(b) 
147 Local Government Act 1972, Schedule 12, paragraph 4(2)(b) 
148 Local Government Act 1972, Schedule 14, paragraph 25(7) 
149 Rent Act 1977, section 63 
150 The Local Authority Elected Mayor’s and Mayor’s Assistants Regulations 2002 
151 The Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) Regulations 2001 
152 Registration Service Act 1953 (legislation.gov.uk) 
153 Local Government Act 1972, section 151 
154 Local Government Act 1972, section 115 
155 Local Government Act 1972, section 146(1)(a) and (b) 
156 Ordnance Survey Act 1841, section 1 

Page 439

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1972/70/section/238
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1972/70/section/248
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1972/70/schedule/12
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1972/70/schedule/12
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1972/70/schedule/14
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1977/42/section/63
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2002/975/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2001/3384/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/Eliz2/1-2/37/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1972/70/section/151
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1972/70/section/115
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1972/70/section/146
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/Vict/4-5/30/section/1.


  
 

296 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(b) In relation to any reference in any enactment or instrument to a “Borough 

Engineer”, “Borough Surveyor”, “Surveyor” or “Head of Engineering”, which by 

any provision of the Local Government Act 1972157, is to be construed as a 

Proper Officer of the Council.  

 

(c) Traffic Manager158.  

 

1.2.5 Director of Adult Social Care and Health Integration: 

  

(a) In relation to any reference in any enactment or instrument to a “Sanitary 

Inspector” or “Public Health Officer”, which by any such provision is to be 

construed as a reference to the Proper Officer of the Council.  

 

(b) Procedure for assessing housing conditions159. 

 

(c) Receipt of application for a justices’ licence160.  

 

1.2.6 Director of Social Care and Health Integration: 

  

(a) The “director of social services” for the purposes of the Local Authority Social 

Services Act 1970, section 6161.  

 

1.2.7 Executive Director of Children’s Services: 

  

(a) The “director of children’s services” for the purposes of the Children Act 2004, 

section 18162. 

 

 

  

                                                
157 Local Government Act 1972 (legislation.gov.uk) 
158 Traffic Management Act 2004 
159 Housing Act 2004, section 3 
160 Licensing Act 1964, Schedule 2 
161 Local Authority Social Services Act 1970 (legislation.gov.uk) 
162 Children Act 2004 (legislation.gov.uk) 

Page 440

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1972/70/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/18/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/34/section/3
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1964/26/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1970/42/section/6
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/section/18


  
 

297 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

APPENDIX 6 

 

COUNCILLOR CALLS FOR ACTION 

PROCEDURE AND GUIDANCE 

  

Page 441



  
 

298 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

COUNCILLOR CALL FOR ACTION PROCEDURE AND GUIDANCE  

 

1.1 What is a Councillor Call for Action (CCfA)?  

 

1.1.1 Councillors have a legal obligation to consider requests from members of the public 

in relation to certain issues163.  

 

1.1.2 The CCfA gives Councillors a central role in holding Council services and other 

agencies to account at a local level. It allows Councillors to escalate issues where 

they cannot be resolved through discussions with service providers and/or agencies, 

or otherwise at a local level. The CCfA process involves asking the Overview and 

Scrutiny to consider an issue in order to assist a Councillor in finding a resolution.  

 

1.1.3 A CCfA may relate to any local government matter relating to any Council function 

affecting a Councillor’s Ward and/or constituents. This includes matters relating to 

crime and disorder.  

 

1.1.4 A CCfA should only be requested as a last resort. It should not be used to address 

vexatious, persistent, unreasonable or discriminatory matters, or to achieve actions 

for political reasons164.  

 

1.2 How is a CCfA different from a normal Overview and Scrutiny request?  

 

1.2.1 CCfA requests are different from the Council’s normal Overview and Scrutiny function 

in that: 

 

(a) they are initiated by a Councillor in relation issues of local concern in their 

Ward; 

 

(b) they focus on neigbourhood and locality issues, specifically the quality of 

service provision at a local level;  

 

(c) they should relate to a genuine local community concern (as judged by the 

Councillor); and  

 

(d) they should only be referred to the Overview and Scrutiny Board as a last resort 

when the Councillor has been unable to resolve the issue by other means.  

 

1.2.2 Detailed guidance on whether an issue is appropriate to be a CCfA is set out in the 

Annex to this Procedure.  

 

1.3 What is the process for submitting a CCfA 

 

1.3.1 Democratic Services can advise on the CCfA process. It is preferable for Councillors 

to seek out this advice before starting the process.  

 

1.3.2 The CCfA process is set out on the following page. The CCfA Request Form can be 

found in Annex 2 to this Procedure. 

                                                
163 Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 and Police and Justice Act 2006 
164 Overview and Scrutiny (Reference by Councillors) (Excluded Matters) (England) Order 2008 

Page 442

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2007/28/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/48/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1022/made


  
 

299 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

P
age 443



  
 

300 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

1.4 What is the role of Overview and Scrutiny in relation to a CCfA?  

 

1.4.1 Legislation requires that matters requested under the CCfA process, and in respect 

of which all required steps have been taken, are added to the Overview and Scrutiny 

Board agenda and discussed. Once a CCfA Request Form is submitted, and 

Democratic Services are satisfied that they can complete the checklist appended to 

the CCfA Request Form, the CCfA will be placed on the agenda of the next available 

Overview and Scrutiny Board meeting. 

 

1.4.2 There is no requirement for issues raised under a CCfA to be scrutinised or for any 

action to be taken in relation to them165. 

 

1.4.3 While Councillors may request that matters are considered by Overview and Scrutiny 

under a CCfA, Overview and Scrutiny will ultimately decide if an issue will be 

addressed.  

 

1.4.4 If a Scrutiny Panel decides not to exercise its powers in relation to a CCfA, it must 

notify the Councillor who proposed the CCfA of its decision and provide reasons for 

it. There is no right of appeal in respect of a Scrutiny Panel’s decision not to exercise 

its powers, and constituents may not appeal to the Executive.  

 

1.4.5 The Scrutiny Panel considering a CCfA will provide the requesting Councillor with a 

copy of any report and/or recommendations made to the Council or the Executive.   

 

1.5 What actions may the Overview and Scrutiny Board take in respect of a CCfA?  

 

1.5.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Board may accept a CCfA as valid, in which case it may: 

 

(a) decide to take no action (giving reasons for doing so);  

 

(b) refer the CCfA to the Ad Hoc Scrutiny Panel for consideration;  

 

(c) in the case of an issue relating to crime and disorder166, refer the CCfA to the 

Scrutiny Panel that deals with such matters; or 

 

(d) in exceptional circumstances, refer the issue to another Scrutiny Panel (for 

example, where a Scrutiny Panel is already considering a similar issue).   

 

1.5.2 The Overview and Scrutiny Board will reject a CCfA if: 

 

(a) the issue is currently being considered under the Council’s complaints 

procedure;   

 

                                                
165 Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 
166 An issue will fall into this category where it relates to (i) crime and disorder (including forms of 
crime and disorder that involve anti-social behaviour or other behaviour adversely affecting the local 
environment; or (ii) the misuse of drugs, alcohol and other substances that affects the electoral area 
represented by the Councillor, or the people who live and work in that area.  

Page 444

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2007/28/contents


  
 

301 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(b) Ward Councillor(s) have not explored the issue fully and exhausted all avenues 

for resolution;  

 

(c) the Overview and Scrutiny process will not add any value to the work 

undertaken by Ward Councillor(s);  

 

(d) the matter has already been subject to Call-in; or 

 

(e) the matter has been considered by the Overview and Scrutiny Board (or a 

Scrutiny Panel), or the Executive within the previous six months and there has 

been no change in circumstances that warrants fresh consideration.  

 

1.5.3 If a CCfA is referred for scrutiny, the relevant Scrutiny Panel will, on the advice of the 

Overview and Scrutiny Board, determine the duration of any scrutiny investigation into 

a CCfA.  

 

1.5.4 The Overview and Scrutiny Board and/or a Scrutiny Panel’s only power in relation to 

a CCfA is to refer the matter, if appropriate, to the Council or the Executive, to consider 

its recommendations.  

 

 

1.5.5 If the Council or the Executive, as appropriate, decides not to take any action, the 

CCfA will be closed. The Overview and Scrutiny Board cannot take any further action.   

 

 

 

 

  

Page 445



  
 

302 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

ANNEX 1 

 

Exhaustion of other avenues 

 

Have all other possible avenues for resolving the issue been exhausted?  

 

Councillors should look to resolve issues by other means where possible and remember that 

the CCfA process is only to be used as a last resort. Councillors should consider appropriate 

means of resolution including: 

 submitting a formal enquiry; 

 advising residents to use the Council’s complaints procedure (and assisting them to 

do so, where required); 

 advising on the petition process; and  

 Call-in of Executive decisions (where appropriate).  

 

The initial issue Checklist  

 

Are the concerns to do with the quality of public service provision at a local level?  

 

CCfAs are intended to address issues of broad concern in the community relating to Council 

services. They can also address broader issues relating to other public services. These might 

include matters such as anti-social behaviour, community safety, health services and issues 

relating to local schools.  

 

Are the concerns individual complaints?  

 

CCfAs are not appropriate for dealing with individual complaints. If the matter relates to a 

complaint, advice can be given about how this may be best brought to the Council’s attention 

and dealt with.  

 

Do the concerns relate to individual ‘quasi-judicial’ decisions (e.g. Planning or 

Licensing) or to Council Tax or Non-Domestic Rates?  

 

CCfAs are not appropriate for dealing with these matters as they are subject to other appeals 

processes. However, patterns of issues may be appropriate to consider as a concern under a 

CCfA; for example, community concerns about the proliferation of licensed premises in a local 

neighbourhood.  

 

The Local Community Concern Checklist  

 

Is the focus of concern on a neighbourhood or locality issue?  

 

CCfAs focus on neighbourhood or locality issues. They provide a mechanism for Ward 

Councillors to help resolve issues of concern in their Wards. If the concern is of a more general 

nature, for example, about policy or town-wide issues, a request for Overview and Scrutiny 

can still be made in the usual way.  

 

Is the issue a genuine local concern?  

 

Page 446



  
 

303 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Councillors should ensure that concerns raised in their Ward are genuine and widely held, and 

not just an individual constituent’s point of view or ‘hobby horse’. Establishing the views of 

other members of the community will be essential in clarifying this.  

 

The ‘Championing a Request’ Checklist  

 

Is a CCfA the most appropriate way of resolving the issue?  

 

The core purpose of a CCfA is to assist in the resolution of local problems and concerns. 

Before Councillors agree to championing a CCfA, they should consider other appropriate 

courses of action such as complaints procedures, Members’ enquiries or petitions.  

 

Would an apology, explanation or an assurance about a particular problem be enough 

to satisfy a community concern? 

 

Where a Councillor raises an issue, an apology, an explanation, or an assurance that an action 

will not be repeated might be given. If that addresses the concerns identified, and further 

actions such as changes to service provision are not required, then referral to Overview and 

Scrutiny would not be appropriate.  

 

What happens if the above are not appropriate or have not succeeded?  

 

If other actions such as complaints, member enquiries or petitions are not appropriate, have 

been tried without success, then Councillors might wish to consider a CCfA. Pursuing a CCfA 

requires Councillors to:  

 

 raise the issue with any local interest groups;  

 

 facilitate an informal discussion meeting to consider residents’ views – ensuring that 

ALL points of view are recorded and reported;  

 

 raise the issue at Community Council, cluster group etc.;  

 

 discuss the issue with the appropriate Executive Member; and 

 

 contact the Head of Service for the appropriate Service area.   

 

Before you start down the CCfA route, Councillors should first register with the Scrutiny 

Support Team their intent to action a CCfA.  

 

The ‘Reality’ Checklist  

 

Is the use of the CCfA process being applied selectively?  

 

Councillors should only agree to take on issues that have wide support. It should be borne in 

mind that for every group of residents that supports a particular scheme, there will probably 

be another group that opposes it. Councillors should avoid setting themselves impossible 

objectives.  

 

Page 447



  
 

304 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

CCfAs are not a pathway to additional funding. If the Council has already decided not to take 

a particular course of action it might well be that the funding is not available. Councillors should 

seek relevant information BEFORE committing themselves to a particular course of action. 

 

  

Page 448



  
 

305 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

ANNEX 2 

COUNCILLOR CALL FOR ACTION (CCfA) 

 

CCfA REQUEST FORM 

If you need help completing this form, please contact Democratic Services  

Name of Councillor submitting 
this request 
 

 

Date of submission 
 

 

Name(s) of any other Councillor(s) 
supporting this request 
 

 

 

 

Please provide details of the matter for which you are requesting Scrutiny and the 

reasons why you are seeking Scrutiny  
Please be a specific as possible 

Please provide details of any actions taken by you (and/or other Councillors 

supporting this CCfA request) to resolve the issue 

Page 449



  
 

306 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

 

Councillor name: …………………………………………………… 

 

Signature:  …………………………………………………… 

 

Date:   …………………………………………………... 

 

 

 

 

 

Please provide details of any Officers, Services and/or partner agencies involved 

in the matter  

Please explain the resolution you are seeking 

Page 450



  
 

307 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

For Democratic Services’ use 

 YES/NO EVIDENCE – please provide 

Has there been consideration of 
other appropriate actions?  
 

 List actions 
 
 
 
 
 

Has the issue been defined 
clearly?  
 
 

 Insert details of issue 
 
 
 
 
 

Have community views been 
obtained? 
 
Are they supportive of CCfA? 
 

 List community groups consulted and 
include supporting documents e.g. 
minutes  
 
 
 

Have relevant groups been 
contacted for support?  

 List relevant groups contacted and 
include supporting documents e.g. 
minutes 
 
 
 

Is the Community Council 
supportive of the CCfA?  
 
If not, why not? 
 
 
 

 Include supporting documents e.g. 
minutes  

Has the Executive Member been 
contacted?  
 

 Include copies of relevant 
emails/letters etc.  
 
 
 
 

Has the Head of Service been 
contacted? 
 
 
 
 

 Include copies of relevant 
emails/letters etc. 

Has a report been prepared for the 
Overview and Scrutiny Board? 
 
 
 

 Attach report – check format and 
content and advise accordingly  

 

Page 451



This page is intentionally left blank



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Council Scheme of Delegation  
 
Group 1 Functions – Council (non-Executive)  
 
The table below details functions expressly reserved by legislation to be the 
responsibility of the Council (“non- Executive”). In some instances the Council has 
delegated functions to one of its committees or a Senior Officer(s) who, in turn, may 
have sub-delegated the function to officers in their service.   
 
The table below identifies the relevant Council function, who the delegation is 
exercised by and who the responsible Director is. The functions identified in Group 1 
are found in Schedule 1 of the The Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) 
(England) Regulations 2000 (as amended).  
 

A  Functions relating to town and country planning and development control 
 

 Function Delegation Exercised By Responsible 
Director 

1. Powers and duties 
relating to local 
development 
documents which are 
development plan 
documents. 

Not applicable – retained by Council  

2. Power to agree to 
establish a joint 
committee to be, for 
the purposes of Part 
2 of the Planning and 
Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004, a 
local planning 
authority. 

Not applicable – retained by Council  

3. Power to agree to 
confer additional 
functions on a joint 
committee. 

Not applicable – retained by Council  

4. Power to request a 
dissolution of a joint 
committee. 
 

Not applicable – retained by Council  

5. Power to determine 
applications for 
planning permission. 
 

Planning and Development Cttee.  
(where there are more than three 
objections)  
Head of Planning. 
(where there are fewer than three 
objections) 
 

Director of 
Regeneration 

6. Power to determine 
applications to 

Planning and Development Cttee.  Director of 
Regeneration 

Page 453



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

A  Functions relating to town and country planning and development control 
 

 Function Delegation Exercised By Responsible 
Director 

develop land without 
compliance with 
conditions previously 
attached. 
 

(where there are more than three 
objections)  
Head of Planning. 
(where there are fewer than three 
objections) 
 

7. Power to grant 
planning permission 
for development 
already carried out. 
 

Planning and Development Cttee.  
(where there are more than three 
objections)  
Head of Planning. 
(where there are fewer than three 
objections) 
 

 

8. Power to decline to 
determine 
applications for 
planning permission. 
 

Head of Planning Director of 
Regeneration  

9. Duties relating to the 
making of 
determinations of 
planning applications. 
 

Head of Planning Director of 
Regeneration 

10. Power to determine 
application for 
planning permission 
made by a local 
authority, alone or 
jointly with another 
person. 
 

Planning and Development 
Committee  

 

11. Power to make 
determinations, give 
approvals and agree 
certain other matters 
relating to the 
exercise of permitted 
development rights. 
 

Head of Planning Director of 
Regeneration 

12. Power to enter into 
agreement regulating 
development or use 
of land.  (S.106 TCP 
Act 1990) 
 

Head of Planning Director of 
Regeneration 

Page 454



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

A  Functions relating to town and country planning and development control 
 

 Function Delegation Exercised By Responsible 
Director 

13. Power to issue a 
certificate of existing 
or proposed lawful 
use or development. 
 

Head of Planning Director of 
Regeneration 

14. Power to serve a 
completion notice.  
(S.94 TCP Act 1990) 
 

Head of Planning 
 

Director of 
Regeneration 

15. Power to grant 
consent for the 
display of 
advertisements. 
 

Planning and Development Cttee.  
(where there are more than three 
objections)  
Head of Planning. 
(where there are fewer than three 
objections) 
 

Director of 
Regeneration 

16. Power to authorise 
entry onto land.   
(S196A TCP Act 
1990) 
 

Head of Planning Director of 
Regeneration 

17. Power to require the 
discontinuance of a 
use of land. 
 

Head of Planning Director of 
Regeneration 

18. Power to serve a 
planning 
contravention notice, 
breach of condition 
notice or stop notice. 
 

Head of Planning Director of 
Regeneration 

19. Power to issue an 
enforcement notice. 
 

Head of Planning Director of 
Regeneration 

20. Power to apply for an 
injunction restraining 
a breach of planning 
control. 
 

Head of Planning Director of 
Regeneration 

21. Power to determine 
applications for 
hazardous 
substances consent, 
and related powers. 
 

Planning and Development 
Committee 

 

Page 455



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

A  Functions relating to town and country planning and development control 
 

 Function Delegation Exercised By Responsible 
Director 

22. Duty to determine 
conditions to which 
old mining 
permissions, relevant 
planning permissions 
relating to dormant 
sites or active Phase I 
or II sites, or mineral 
permissions relating 
to mining sites, as the 
case may be, are to 
be subject. 
 

Head of Planning Director of 
Regeneration 

23. Power to require 
proper maintenance 
of land.  (S.215 TCP 
Act 1990) 
 

Head of Planning Director of 
Regeneration 

24. Power to determine 
application for listed 
building consent, and 
related powers. 
 

Planning and Development Cttee.  
(where there are more than three 
objections)  
Head of Planning. 
(where there are fewer than three 
objections) 
 

 

25. Power to determine 
applications for 
conservation area 
consent. 
 

Planning and Development Cttee.  
(where there are more than three 
objections)  
Head of Planning. 
(where there are fewer than three 
objections) 
 

 

26. Duties relating to 
applications for listed 
building consent and 
conservation area 
consent. 
 

Head of Planning Director of 
Regeneration 

27. Power to serve a 
building preservation 
notice, and related 
powers. 
 

Head of Planning 
 

Director of 
Regeneration 

28. Power to issue 
enforcement notice in 
relation to demolition 

Head of Planning Director of 
Regeneration 

Page 456



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

A  Functions relating to town and country planning and development control 
 

 Function Delegation Exercised By Responsible 
Director 

of unlisted building in 
conservation area. 
 

29. Powers to acquire a 
listed building in need 
of repair and to serve 
a repairs notice. 
 

Head of Planning Director of 
Regeneration 

30. Power to apply for an 
injunction in relation 
to an unlisted listed 
building. 
 

Head of Planning Director of 
Regeneration 

30A. Power to authorise 
stopping up or 
diversion of highway 
(s.247 TCPA 1990) 
 

Head of Highways Infrastructure 
and Fleet Services 

Director of 
Environment 
and 
Community 
Services 

31. Power to execute 
urgent works. 
(S.54 Planning 
(Listed Buildings and 
Buildings in 
Conservation Areas) 
Act 1990. 
 

Head of Planning 
 

Director of 
Regeneration 

 
 

B  Licensing and registration functions (in so far as not covered by any paragraph 
of this Schedule) 

 Function Delegation Exercised By Responsible 
Director 

1. Power to issue 
licences authorising 
the use of land as a 
caravan site (“site 
licences”). 
 

Licensing Team Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Health Integration 

2. Power to license the 
use of moveable 
dwellings and 
camping sites. 
 

Licensing Team Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Health Integration 

3. Power to license 
hackney carriages 

Director of Adult Social Care and 
Health Integration and the Licensing 
Committee  

Director of 
Adult Social 

Page 457



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

and private hire 
vehicles. 
 

Care and 
Health 
Integration 
(including the 
power to 
suspend or 
revoke licences 
with immediate 
effect), or 
Licensing 
Committee if 
there are 
grounds for 
concern which 
the Director of 
Adult Social 
Care and 
Health 
Integration 
considers 
appropriate to 
be referred to 
the Licensing 
Committee. 

 
Section 53 (3) of 
the Local 
Government 
Miscellaneous 
Provisions Act 
1976. Director of 
Social Care and 
Health Integration 
to set demand 
and recover fees.  

4. Power to license 
drivers of hackney 
carriages and private 
hire vehicles. 
 

Director of Adult Social Care and 
Health Integration and the Licensing 
Committee 

Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Health Integration 
or Licensing 
Committee or 
Licensing 
Committee if 
there are grounds 
for concern which 
the Director of 
Adult Social Care 
and Health 
Integration 
considers 
appropriate to be 

Page 458



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

referred to the 
Licensing 
Committee. 

5. Power to license 
operators of hackney 
carriages and private 
hire vehicles. 
 

Director of Adult Social Care and 
Health Integration and the Licensing 
Committee 

Director of 
Adult Social 
Care and 
Health 
Integration or 
Licensing 
Committee if 
there are 
grounds for 
concern which 
the Director of 
Adult Social 
Care and 
Health 
Integration 
considers 
appropriate to 
be referred to 
the Licensing 
Committee.  
Section 70 of the 
Government 
Miscellaneous 
Provisions Act 
1976. Director of 
Social Care and 
Health 
Integration to set 
demand and 
recover fees in 
respect of 
operator and 
vehicle licences 

6. Power to register pool 
promoters. 
 

Licensing Team  Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Health Integration 

7. Power to grant track 
betting licences. 

Licensing Team Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Health Integration 

8. Power to license inter 
track betting 
schemes. 
 

Licensing Team Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Health Integration 

9. Power to grant 
permits in respect of 
premises with 

Licensing Team Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Health Integration 

Page 459



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

amusement 
machines. 
 

10. Power to register 
societies wishing to 
promote lotteries. 
 

Licensing Team Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Health Integration 

11. Power to grant 
permits in respect of 
premises where 
amusements with 
prizes are provided. 
 

Licensing Team Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Health Integration 

12. Power to issue 
cinema and cinema 
club licences. 
 

Licensing Team Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Health Integration 

13. Power to issue 
entertainments 
licences. 
 

Licensing Team Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Health Integration 

14  
Functions relating to 
licensing (Sections 5-
8 Licensing Act 2003) 
 

 
Licensing Committee 

Full Council, 
Licensing 
Committee, 
Licensing Sub 
Committees A, B 
and C and 
Officers in 
accordance with 
delegations 

15 Powers and functions 
relating to late   
 night levy 
requirements 
 [Full Council]  

Not Applicable - exercised by Full 
Council 

n/a 

16 Duty to comply with 
requirement to 
provide information to 
Gambling 
Commission 
 

Licensing Team Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Health Integration 

17 Functions relating to 
exchange of 
information 
 

Licensing Team Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Health Integration 

18  
Functions relating to 
occasional use of 
notices 

 
Licensing Team 

Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Health Integration 

Page 460



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
19 

 
Power to resolve not 
to issue a casino 
premises licence 
(Section 166 of the 
Gambling Act 2005) 
 

Not applicable exercised by Full 
Council 

 

20 Power to designate 
officer of a licensing 
authority as an 
authorised person for 
a purpose relating to 
premises 
 

Licensing Team Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Health Integration 

21 Power to make order 
dis-applying section 
279 or 282(1) of the 
2005 Act in relation to 
specified premises 
 

Licensing Team Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Health Integration 

22 Power to institute 
criminal proceedings  
 

Monitoring Officer Monitoring Officer 

23 Power to exchange 
information 
 

Licensing Team Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Health Integration 

24  
Functions relating to 
the determination of 
fees for premises 
licences 

 
Licensing Team 

Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Health Integration 

25  
Functions relating to 
the registration and 
regulation of small 
society lotteries 
 

 
Licensing Team 

Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Health Integration 

26. Power to license sex 
shops, sex cinemas 
and sexual 
entertainment 
venues. 
 

Licensing Committee  

27. Power to license 
performances of 
hypnotism. 
 

Licensing Team Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Health 
Integration 

Page 461



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

28 Power to license 
premises for 
acupuncture, 
tattooing, ear-piercing 
and electrolysis. 

Licensing Team Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Health Integration 

29 Power to license 
pleasure boats and 
pleasure vessels. 
 

Licensing Team Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Health Integration 

30 Power to register 
door staff. 
 

Licensing Team Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Health Integration 

31  
Power to license 
market and street 
trading. 
 

 
Licensing Team and Licensing 
Committee 

Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Health 
Integration to 
set fees, 
determine 
applications, 
consents, 
licences, 
reviews, policy, 
terms and 
associated 
functions. 

Licensing 
Committee to 
determine 
proposed 
designations of 
prohibited, 
consent or 
licence streets.  

 

32  
Power to license night 
cafes and take-away 
food shops. 

 
Licensing Team  
 

Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Health 
Integration 

 

33 Duty to keep list of 
persons entitled to 
sell non-medicinal 
poisons.  
 

Licensing Team Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Health 
Integration 

 

34 Power to license 
dealers in game and 
the killing and selling 
of game. 

Licensing Team Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Health 
Integration 

Page 462



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

35 Power of register and 
license premises for 
the preparation of 
food. 
 

Licensing Team Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Health 
Integration 

 

36 Power to license 
scrap yards, site 
licences or collectors 
licences. 
 

Licensing Team or Licensing 
Committee and / or Licensing Sub 
Committee General . 

Director Adult 
Social Care and 
Health Integration 
where there are 
no grounds for 
concern and to 
set and 
determine fees, 
terms and 
associated 
functions. Or 
Licensing 
Committee and / 
or Licensing Sub 
Committee 
General if there 
are grounds of 
concern 
considered 
appropriate for 
officers to refer to 
Licensing 
Committee or its 
sub committee 
 
 

37 Power to issue, 
amend or replace 
safety certificates 
(whether general or 
special) for sports 
grounds. 
 

Licensing Team Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Health 
Integration 

 

38 Power to issue, 
cancel, amend or 
replace safety 
certificates for 
regulated stands at 
sports grounds. 
 

Licensing Team Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Health 
Integration 

 

39 Power to issue fire 
certificates. 

Licensing Team Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Health 
Integration 

Page 463



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
40 

Power to grant or 
renew a licence for a 
licensable activity 
under the Animal 
Welfare (Licensing of 
Activities Involving 
Animals) (England) 
Regulations 2018 
(selling animals as 
pets, providing or 
arranging for the 
provision of boarding 
for cats or dogs, 
hiring out horses, 
breeding dogs or 
keeping or training 
animals for exhibition) 

 
Licensing Team 

Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Health 
Integration 

 

41 Power to license 
zoos. 
 

Licensing Team  Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Health 
Integration 

 

42 Power to license 
dangerous wild 
animals. 
 

Licensing Team Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Health 
Integration 

 

43  
Power to license 
knackers’ yards. 
 

 
Licensing Team 

Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Health 
Integration 

 

44  
Power to license the 
employment of 
children. 
 

 
Licensing Team 

Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Health 
Integration 

 

45 Power to approve 
premises for the 
solemnisation of 
marriages. 
 

Licensing Team Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Health 
Integration 

 

46 Power to register 
common land or town 
or village greens, 
except where the 
power is exercisable 

Licensing Committee  

Page 464



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

solely for the purpose 
of giving effect to: 
 
(a) an exchange of 
lands effected by an 
order under section 
19(3) of, or  
paragraph 6(4) of 
Schedule 3 to, the 
Acquisition of Land 
act 1981 (c.67) or 
 
(b) an order under 
section 147 of the 
Inclosure Act 1845 
(c.8 & 9 Vict. c.118) 
 

47 Power to register 
variation of rights of 
common 
 
 

Licensing Committee  

48 Power to license 
persons to collect for 
charitable and other 
causes. 
 

Licensing Team Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Health 
Integration 

 

49 Power to grant 
consent for the 
operation of a 
loudspeaker. 
 

Licensing Team Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Health 
Integration 

 

50 Power to grant a 
street works licence. 

Licensing Team Head of 
Highways, 
Highways 
Infrastructure and 
Fleet Services 

51  
Power to license 
agencies for the 
supply of nurses. 
 

 
Licensing Team 

Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Health 
Integration 

 

52 Power to issue 
licences for the 
movement of pigs. 
 

Licensing Team Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Health 
Integration 

 

Page 465



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

53 Power to license the 
sale of pigs. 
 

Licensing Team Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Health 
Integration 

 

54  
Power to license 
collecting centres for 
the movement of 
pigs. 
 

 
Licensing Team 

Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Health 
Integration 

 

55 Power to issue a 
licence to move cattle 
from a market. 

Licensing Team Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Health 
Integration 

 

56 Power to grant 
permission for 
provisions, etc of 
services, amenities, 
recreation and 
refreshment facilities 
on highway, and 
related powers (S.115 
E, 115 F and 115 K 
Highways Act 1980) 
 

Head of Highways, Highways 
Infrastructure and Fleet Services  

Director of 
Environment and 
Community 
Services 

57 Power to permit 
deposit of builder’s 
skip on highway. 
 

Head of Highways, Highways 
Infrastructure and Fleet Services  

Director of 
Environment and 
Community 
Services 

58 Duty to publish notice 
in respect of proposal 
to grant permission 
under Section 115 E 
of Highways Act 1980 
 

Head of Highways, Highways 
Infrastructure and Fleet Services  

Director of 
Environment and 
Community 
Services 

59 Power to license 
planting, retention 
and maintenance of 
trees etc. in part of 
highway. 
 

Head of Highways, Highways 
Infrastructure and Fleet Services  

Director of 
Environment and 
Community 
Services 

60 Power to authorise 
erection of stiles etc. 
on footpaths and 
bridleways 
 

Head of Highways, Highways 
Infrastructure and Fleet Services  

Director of 
Environment and 
Community 
Services 

Page 466



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

61 Power to license 
works in relation to 
buildings etc. which 
obstruct the highway. 
 

Head of Highways, Highways 
Infrastructure and Fleet Services  

Director of 
Environment and 
Community 
Services 

62 Power to consent to 
temporary deposits or 
excavations in 
streets. 
 

Head of Highways, Highways 
Infrastructure and Fleet Services  

Director of 
Environment and 
Community 
Services 

63 Power to dispense 
with obligation to 
erect hoarding or 
fence. 
 

Head of Highways, Highways 
Infrastructure and Fleet Services  

Director of 
Environment and 
Community 
Services 

64 Power to restrict the 
placing of rails, 
beams etc. over 
highways. 
 

Head of Highways, Highways 
Infrastructure and Fleet Services  

Director of 
Environment and 
Community 
Services 

65 Power to consent to 
construction of cellars 
etc under street. 
 

Head of Highways, Highways 
Infrastructure and Fleet Services  

Director of 
Environment and 
Community 
Services 

66 Power to consent to 
the making of 
openings into cellars 
etc. under streets and 
pavement lights and 
ventilators. 
 

Head of Highways, Highways 
Infrastructure and Fleet Services  

Director of 
Environment and 
Community 
Services 

67 Power to sanction 
use of parts of 
buildings for storage 
of celluloid. 
 

Head of Highways, Highways 
Infrastructure and Fleet Services 

Director of 
Environment and 
Community 
Services 

68 Power to approve 
meat product 
premises. 
 

Licensing Team Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Health 
Integration 

 

69 Power to approve 
premises for the 
production of minced 
meat or meat 
preparations. 
 

Licensing Team Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Health 
Integration 

 

70 Power to approve 
dairy establishments. 

Licensing Team Director of Adult 
Social Care and 

Page 467



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 Health 
Integration 

 

71 Power to approve egg 
product 
establishments. 
 

Licensing Team Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Health 
Integration 

 

72 Power to issue 
licences to retail 
butchers’ shops 
carrying out 
commercial 
operations in relation 
to unwrapped raw 
meat and selling or 
supplying both raw 
meat and ready-to-
eat foods. 
 

Licensing Team Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Health 
Integration 

 

73 Power to approve fish 
products premises. 
 

Licensing Team Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Health 
Integration 

 

74 Power to approve 
dispatch or 
purification centres. 
 

Licensing Team Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Health 
Integration 

 

75 Power to register 
fishing vessels on 
board which shrimps 
or molluscs are 
cooked. 
 

Licensing Team Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Health 
Integration 

 

76 Power to approve 
factory vessels and 
fishery product 
establishments. 
 

Licensing Team Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Health Integration 

77 Power to register 
auction and 
wholesale markets. 
 

Licensing Team Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Health Integration 

78 Duty to keep register 
of food business 
premises. 
 

Licensing Team Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Health Integration 

Page 468



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

79 Power to register food 
business premises. 
 

Licensing Team Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Health Integration 

80 Power to register 
motor salvage 
operators 

Part 1 of the Vehicles (Crime) Act 
2001 (c.3) 
Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013 
 
Licensing Team  
 

Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Health Integration 

81 Functions relating of 
the registration of 
common land and 
town or village greens 
 
 
 
 

Part 1 of the Commons Act 2006 
(c.26) and the Commons 
Registrations (England) Regulations 
2008 (S.I. 2008/1961) 
Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013 
 
Licensing Committee  
(where there are grounds for 
refusal)  
Director of Adult Social Care and 
Health Integration  
(where no there are no grounds 
for refusal) 
 
Director of Environment and 
Community Services 

Licensing 
committee, 
Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Health Integration 
(70. And 71) and 
Director of 
Environment and 
Community 
Services 

82 Power to license  
Scrap Metal Dealers 

Director of Adult Social Care and 
Health Integration (where no there 
are no grounds for refusal) 

 

83 Functions relating to 
pavement licensing 
under Part I of the 
Business and 
Planning Act 2020 

 
 
 
 
 
 

C  Functions relating to health and safety at work 

 Function Delegation Exercised By Responsible 
Director 

1. Functions under any 
of the “relevant 
statutory provisions” 
within the meaning of 
Part I (health, safety 
and welfare in 
connection with work, 
and control of 
dangerous 
substances) of the 
Health and Safety at 
Work etc. Act 1974, 
to the extent that 
those functions are 
discharged otherwise 
than in the authority’s 

Licensing Committee subject to the 
Council’s Scheme of Delegation 

 

Page 469



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

capacity as an 
employer. 
 

 
 
 

D  Functions relating to elections 

 Function Delegation Exercised By Responsible 
Director 

1. Duty to appoint an 
electoral registration 
officer. 
 

Corporate Affairs Committee  

2. Power to assign 
officers in relation to 
requisitions of the 
registration officer. 
 

Corporate Affairs Committee  

3. Functions in relation 
to parishes and 
parish councils. 
 

Corporate Affairs Committee  

4. Power to dissolve 
small parish councils. 
 

Corporate Affairs Committee  

5. Power to make orders 
for grouping parishes, 
dissolving groups and 
separating parishes 
from groups. 

Corporate Affairs Committee  

6. Duty to appoint 
returning officer for 
local government 
elections. 
 

Corporate Affairs Committee  

7. Duty to provide 
assistance at 
European 
Parliamentary 
elections. 
 

Returning Officer  

8. Duty to divide 
constituency into 
polling districts. 
 

Corporate Affairs Committee  

9. Power to divide 
electoral divisions into 
polling districts at 
local government 
elections. 

Corporate Affairs Committee  

Page 470



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

10. Powers in respect of 
holding of elections. 
 

Returning Officer Director of 
Legal and 
Governance 
Services 

11. Power to pay 
expenses properly 
incurred by electoral 
registration officers. 
 

Returning Officer Director of 
Legal and 
Governance 
Services 

12. Power to fill 
vacancies in the 
event of insufficient 
nominations. 
 

Returning Officer Director of 
Legal and 
Governance 
Services 

13. Duty to declare 
vacancy in office in 
certain cases.  (S.85 
Local Government 
Act 1972) 
 

Returning Officer Director of 
Legal and 
Governance 
Services 

14. Duty to give public 
notice of a casual 
vacancy. 
 

Returning Officer Director of 
Legal and 
Governance 
Services 

15. Power to make 
temporary 
appointments to 
parish councils. 
 

Returning Officer Director of 
Legal and 
Governance 
Services 

16. Power to determine 
fees and conditions 
for supply of copies 
of, or extracts from, 
elections documents. 
 

Returning Officer Director of 
Legal and 
Governance 
Services 

17. Power to submit 
proposals to the 
Secretary of State for 
an order under 
section 10 (pilot 
schemes for local 
elections in England 
and Wales) of the 
Representation of the 
People Act 2000. 
 

Corporate Affairs Committee  

18. 
 

Duty to consult on 
change of scheme for 
elections 

Corporate Affairs Committee  

Page 471



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

19. Duties relating to 
publicity 
 

Returning Officer Director of 
Legal and 
Governance 
Services 

20. Duties relating to 
notice to Electoral 
Commission 
 

Returning Officer Director of 
Legal and 
Governance 
Services 

21. Power to alter year of 
ordinary election of 
parish councillors 
 

Corporate Affairs Committee  

22. Functions relating to 
change of name of 
electoral area 

Corporate Affairs Committee  

 
 

E.  Functions relating to name and status of areas and individuals 
 

 Function Exercised By Responsible 
Director 

1. Power to change the 
name of a district. 
 

The Council  

2. Power to change the 
name of a parish. 
 

The Council  

3. Power to confer title 
of honorary alderman 
or to admit to be an 
honorary freeman 

The Council  

4. Power to petition for a 
charter to confer 
borough status. 
 

The Council  

 
 

EA.  Functions relating to changing governance arrangements 
 

 Function  Exercised By Responsible 
Director 

1 Duty to draw up 
proposals 

The Council  

2 Duty to consult prior 
to drawing up 
proposals 

 

Page 472



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

3 Duty to implement 
new governance 
arrangements 

 

4 Duty to comply with 
direction given by the 
Secretary of State 

 

5 Duty  
to hold a referendum 

 

6 Duty to publish notice 
if proposals not 
approved in 
referendum 

 

7 Duty to obtain written 
consent of elected 
mayor 

 

 
 
 

EB. Functions relating to community governance 
 

 Function  Exercised By Responsible 
Director 

1 Duties relating to 
community 
governance reviews 
 

The Council  

2 Functions relating to 
community 
governance petitions 
 

 

3 Functions relating to 
terms of reference of 
review 
 

 

4 Power to undertake a 
community 
governance review 

 

5 Functions relating to 
making of 
recommendations 

 

6 Duties when 
undertaking review 

 

7 Duty to publicise 
outcome of review 

 

8 Duty to send two 
copies of order to 
Secretary of State 

 

Page 473



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

9 Power to make 
agreements about 
incidental matters 

 

 

F.  Power to make, amend, revoke, re-enact or enforce byelaws. 
 

 

 Function Exercised By Responsible 
Director 

 
 
 

FA Functions 
relating to smoke-
free premises, etc. 

The Council  

1 Duty to enforce 
Chapter 1 and 
regulations made 
under it 

 

2 Power to authorise 
officers 

 

3 Functions relating to 
fixed penalty notices 

 

4 Power to transfer 
enforcement 
functions to another 
enforcement authority 

 

 

G. Power to promote or oppose local or personal Bills. 
 

 Function Exercised By Responsible 
Director 

  The Council  

 
 

H.  Functions relating to pensions etc. 
 

 Function Delegation Exercised By Responsible 
Director 

1. Functions relating to 
local government 
pensions, etc. 
 

The Teesside Pension Fund 
Committee 

 

2. Functions under the 
Fireman’s Pension 
Scheme relating to 
pensions, etc. as 
respects persons 
employed as 
members of fire 
brigades maintained 
pursuant to section 4 

The Teesside Pension Fund 
Committee 

 

Page 474



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

of the Fire Services 
Act 1947. 
 

3. Exercise the 
Council’s functions as 
the administering 
authority to manage 
the Pension Fund.   

Local Government Pension Scheme 
Regulations (2013) 
 
Section 151 officer 

Director of 
Finance 

 

Miscellaneous functions  
Part I:  functions relating to public rights of way 

 Function Delegation Exercised By Responsible 
Director 

1. Power to create 
footpath or bridleways 
by agreement. 
 

Head of Highways, Highways 
Infrastructure and Fleet Services 

Director of 
Environment 
and 
Community 
Services 

2. Power to create 
footpaths and 
bridleways. 
 

Head of Highways, Highways 
Infrastructure and Fleet Services 

Director of 
Environment 
and 
Community 
Services 

3. Duty to keep register 
of information with 
respect to maps, 
statements and 
declarations. 

Head of Highways, Highways 
Infrastructure and Fleet Services 

Director of 
Environment 
and 
Community 
Services 

4. Power to stop up 
footpaths and 
bridleways. (S.118 
Highways Act 1980) 
 

Head of Highways, Highways 
Infrastructure and Fleet Services 

Director of 
Environment 
and 
Community 
Services 

5. Power to determine 
application for public 
path extinguishment 
order. 
 

Head of Highways, Highways 
Infrastructure and Fleet Services 

Director of 
Environment 
and 
Community 
Services 

6. Power to make a rail 
crossing 
extinguishment order. 
 

Head of Highways, Highways 
Infrastructure and Fleet Services 

Director of 
Environment 
and 
Community 
Services 

7. Power to make a 
special 
extinguishment order.  
(S.118B Highways 
Act 1980) 
 

Head of Highways, Highways 
Infrastructure and Fleet Services 

Director of 
Environment 
and 
Community 
Services 

Page 475



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

8. Power to divert 
footpaths and 
bridleways. (S. 119 
Highways Act 1980) 
 

Head of Highways, Highways 
Infrastructure and Fleet Services 

Director of 
Environment 
and 
Community 
Services 

9. Power to make a 
public path diversion 
order. 
 

Head of Highways, Highways 
Infrastructure and Fleet Services 

Director of 
Environment 
and 
Community 
Services 

10. Power to make a rail 
crossing diversion 
order. 
 

Head of Highways, Highways 
Infrastructure and Fleet Services 

Director of 
Environment 
and 
Community 
Services 

11. Power to make a 
special diversion 
order.  (S.119B 
Highways Act 1980) 
 

Head of Highways, Highways 
Infrastructure and Fleet Services 

Director of 
Environment 
and 
Community 
Services 

12. Power to require 
applicant for order to 
enter into agreement. 
(S. 119C Highways 
Act 1980) 
 

Head of Highways, Highways 
Infrastructure and Fleet Services 

Director of 
Environment 
and 
Community 
Services 

13. Power to make an 
SSSI diversion order. 
 

Head of Highways, Highways 
Infrastructure and Fleet Services 

Director of 
Environment 
and 
Community 
Services 

14. Duty to keep register 
with respect to 
applications under 
section 118ZA, 118C, 
119ZA and 119C of 
the Highways Act 
1980. 
 

Head of Highways, Highways 
Infrastructure and Fleet Services 

Director of 
Environment 
and 
Community 
Services 

15. Power to decline to 
determine certain 
applications.  (S.121C 
Highways Act 1980) 
 

Head of Highways, Highways 
Infrastructure and Fleet Services 

Director of 
Environment 
and 
Community 
Services 

16. Duty to assert and 
protect the rights of 
the public to use and 
enjoyment of 
highways. 
 

Head of Highways, Highways 
Infrastructure and Fleet Services 

Director of 
Environment 
and 
Community 
Services 

Page 476



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

17. Duty to serve notice 
of proposed action in 
relation to 
obstruction. 
 

Head of Highways, Highways 
Infrastructure and Fleet Services 

Director of 
Environment 
and 
Community 
Services 

18. Power to apply for 
variation of order 
under section 130B of 
the Highways Act 
1980. 
 

Head of Highways, Highways 
Infrastructure and Fleet Services 

Director of 
Environment 
and 
Community 
Services 

19. Power to authorise 
temporary 
disturbance of 
surface or footpath or 
bridleway. 
 

Head of Highways, Highways 
Infrastructure and Fleet Services 

Director of 
Environment 
and 
Community 
Services 

20. Power temporarily to 
divert footpath or 
bridleway. 
 

Head of Highways, Highways 
Infrastructure and Fleet Services 

Director of 
Environment 
and 
Community 
Services 

21. Functions relating to 
the making good of 
damage and the 
removal of 
obstructions  (S.32 
Acquisition of Land 
Act 1981) 
 

Head of Highways, Highways 
Infrastructure and Fleet Services 

Director of 
Environment 
and 
Community 
Services 

22. Powers relating to the 
removal of things so 
deposited on 
highways as to be a 
nuisance. 

Head of Highways, Highways 
Infrastructure and Fleet Services 

Director of 
Environment 
and 
Community 
Services 

23. Power to extinguish 
certain public rights of 
way.( S.32 
Acquisition of Land 
Act 1981) 
 

Head of Highways, Highways 
Infrastructure and Fleet Services 

Director of 
Environment 
and 
Community 
Services 

24. Duty to keep 
definitive map and 
statement under 
review. 
 

Head of Highways, Highways 
Infrastructure and Fleet Services 

Director of 
Environment 
and 
Community 
Services 

25. Power to include 
modifications in other 
orders. 

Head of Highways, Highways 
Infrastructure and Fleet Services 

Director of 
Environment 
and 

Page 477



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(S53A Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 
1981) 
 

Community 
Services 

26. Duty to keep register 
of prescribed 
information with 
respect to 
applications under 
section 53(5) of the 
Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 
1981. 
 

Head of Highways, Highways 
Infrastructure and Fleet Services 

Director of 
Environment 
and 
Community 
Services 

27. Duty to reclassify 
roads used as public 
paths. 
 

Head of Highways, Highways 
Infrastructure and Fleet Services 

Director of 
Environment 
and 
Community 
Services 

28. Power to prepare 
map and statement 
by way of 
consolidation of 
definitive map and 
statement. 
 

Head of Highways, Highways 
Infrastructure and Fleet Services 

Director of 
Environment 
and 
Community 
Services 

29. Power to designate 
footpath as cycle 
track. 
 

Head of Highways, Highways 
Infrastructure and Fleet Services 

Director of 
Environment 
and 
Community 
Services 

30. Power to extinguish 
public right of way 
over land acquired for 
clearance. 
(S.294 Housing Act 
1981) 
 

Head of Highways, Highways 
Infrastructure and Fleet Services 

Director of 
Environment 
and 
Community 
Services 

31. Power to authorise 
stopping-up or 
diversion of footpath 
or bridleway. 
(S.258 Town and 
Country Planning Act 
1990) 
 

Head of Highways, Highways 
Infrastructure and Fleet Services 

Director of 
Environment 
and 
Community 
Services 

32. Power to extinguish 
public rights of way 
over land held for 
planning purposes. 

Head of Highways, Highways 
Infrastructure and Fleet Services 

Director of 
Environment 
and 

Page 478



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(S.258 Town and 
Country Planning Act 
1990) 
 

Community 
Services 

33. Power to enter into 
agreements with 
respect to means of 
access. 
 

Head of Highways, Highways 
Infrastructure and Fleet Services 

Director of 
Environment 
and 
Community 
Services 

34. Power to provide 
access in absence of 
agreement. 
(S.37 Countryside 
and Rights of Way 
Act 2000) 
 

Head of Highways, Highways 
Infrastructure and Fleet Services 

Director of 
Environment 
and 
Community 
Services 

 

Miscellaneous functions  
Part II:  Other miscellaneous functions 

 Function Delegation Exercised By Responsible 
Director 

35. Functions relating to 
sea fisheries. 
 

Corporate Affairs Committee 
Subject to the Council’s Scheme of 
Delegation 
 

 

36. Power to make 
standing orders. 
 

Not applicable – retained by he Council  

37. Power to appoint 
staff, and to 
determine the terms 
and conditions on 
which they hold office 
(including procedures 
for their dismissal). 
 

In accordance with Officer Employment  
Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of 
this Constitution 

Head of Paid 
Service 

38. Power to make 
standing orders as to 
contracts. 
 

Not applicable – retained by the  
Council 

 

35. Functions relating to 
sea fisheries. 
 

Corporate Affairs Committee 
Subject to the Council’s Scheme of 
Delegation 
 

 

36. Power to make 
standing orders. 
 

Not applicable – retained by the 
Council 

 

37. Power to appoint 
staff, and to 
determine the terms 

In accordance with Officer Employment  
Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of 
this Constitution 

Head of Paid 
Service 

Page 479



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

and conditions on 
which they hold office 
(including procedures 
for their dismissal). 
 

38. Power to make 
standing orders as to 
contracts. 
 

Not applicable – retained by the 
Council 

 

39. Duty to make 
arrangements for 
proper administration 
of financial affairs etc. 
 

Not applicable – retained by the 
Council 

 

40. Power to appoint 
officers for particular 
purposes 
(appointment of 
“proper officers”). 
 

Not applicable – retained by the 
Council 

 

41. Power to make 
limestone pavement 
order. 
 

Head of Highways, Highways 
Infrastructure and Fleet Services  
 

 

42. Power to make 
closing order with 
respect to take-away 
food shops. 
 

Director of Adult Social Care and 
Health Integration  

 

43. Duty to designate 
officer as the head of 
the authority’s paid 
service, and to 
provide staff, etc. 
 

Not applicable – retained by the 
Council 

 

44A. Duty to designate 
officer as the 
monitoring officer, 
and to provide staff, 
etc. 

Not applicable – retained by the 
Council 

 

44B Powers relating to 
overview and scrutiny 
committees (voting 
rights of co-opted 
members) 
 

Not applicable – retained by the 
Council 

 

45. Duty to approve 
authority’s statement 
of accounts, income 
and expenditure and 

Audit Committee  

Page 480



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

balance sheet, or 
record of payments 
and receipts (as the 
case may be). 
 

46. Powers relating to the 
protection of 
important hedgerows. 
 

Head of Planning Director of 
Regeneration  

47. Powers relating to the 
preservation of trees. 
 

Head of Planning  Director of 
Regeneration 

47A Powers relating to 
complaints about high 
hedges 
 

Head of Planning Director of 
Regeneration 

48. Power to make 
payments or provide 
other benefits in 
cases of 
maladministration etc. 
 

The Head of Paid Service Chief 
Executive 

49. Powers to make an 
Order identifying a 
place for purposes of 
police powers in 
relation to alcohol 
consumption 
 

Director of Adult Social Care and 
Health Integration  

 

50. Power to apply for an 
enforcement order 
against unlawful 
works on common 
land 
 

Section 41 of the Commons Act 2006 
 
Head of Highways, Highways 
Infrastructure and Fleet Services 

 

51. Power to protect 
unclaimed registered 
common land and 
unclaimed town or 
village greens against 
unlawful interference 
 

Section 45(2)(a) of the Commons Act 
2006 
 
Head of Highways, Highways 
Infrastructure and Fleet Services 

 

52. Power to institute 
proceedings for 
offences in respect of 
unclaimed registered 
common land and 
unclaimed town or 
village greens 

Section 45(2)(b) of the Commons Act 
2006 
 
Head of Highways, Highways 
Infrastructure and Fleet Services 

 

Page 481



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

53. All matters arising out 
of the grant, refusal, 
variation or 
revocation of a 
Consent Street under 
Schedule 4 of the 
Local Government 
(Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1982, 
including but is not 
limited to determining: 
 

i. the application 
process for 
applying for a 
Consent; 

ii. the fee for the 
Grant of a 
Consent; 

iii. the total 
number of 
Consents to be 
allocated at any 
one time; 

iv. the conditions 
to be attached 
to each 
Consent 
granted, 
including but 
not limited to 
the length of 
the Consent 
and times of 
trading, the 
location of 
pitch, type of 
pitch, type of 
goods to be 
sold at the pitch 
and any other 
matters that the 
Authority may 
consider 
appropriate; 
and 

v. whether a 
Consent should 
be granted, 

Director of Adult Social Care and 
Health Integration 

 

Page 482



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

refused, varied 
or revoked. 

54 The nominated 
person to exercise 
the Council’s rights 
as a shareholder in 
Border to Coast and 
be its representative 
at shareholder 
meetings, on behalf 
of the Teesside 
Pension Fund. The 
responsibilities are 
as set out in the 
Shareholders 
Agreement, Articles, 
Inter Authority 

Agreement and any 
other agreements 
entered into and 
include, but are not 
limited to the 

following : 
 
a) to serve a 

written notice 
on the Board of 
the Company 
to cease to be 
a Shareholder 
in the 
Company 

b) to vote on 
matters, 
including 
the reserved 
matters in 
Schedule 1 
of the 
Shareholder 
Agreement 

 

Mayor, further delegated to the Chair of the 
Teesside Pension Fund Committee by the 
Mayor. 

 

 
 

Page 483



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

1 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
 
 
 
 

MIDDLESBROUGH 
BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
 FULL OFFICER SCHEME OF 

DELEGATION 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 485



 
 

i 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Title  Middlesbrough Council Scheme of Delegation 

 
 
 
Creator  
  

Author(s) Bryn Roberts – Former Monitoring Officer, Charlotte Benjamin 
– Monitoring Officer  

Consulted  Constitution and Members Development Committee & Full 
Council 

Department Legal and Governance Services 

Service area Legal and Governance Services 

Heads of Service Sylvia Reynolds, A Perriman, A M Wilson 

Director Charlotte Benjamin 

 
Date  

Created November 2016 

Submitted   

Approved   

Updating Frequency When necessary 

Status  Version:  

Contributor(s)  Monitoring Officer, Deputy Monitoring Officers , LG& S Director, Audit, Constitution & 
Members Development Committee 

   

Subject  Corporate Governance 

Type  Mandatory 

 
Vital Record YES EIR No 

 

Version  Date  Revised  Reviser  

0.1 November 2016 Review of Scheme of Delegation Monitoring Officer 

0.2 March 2021 Review of Scheme of Delegation Monitoring Officer 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 486



 
 

ii 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

CONTENTS 

  
Officer Delegation – Head of Paid Service .............................................................. 7 

Officer Delegation – Director Legal & Governance.................................................. 9 

Officer Delegation – Monitoring Officer ................................................................. 10 

Officer Delegation – Returning Officer ................................................................... 14 

Officer Delegation – Human Resources ................................................................ 17 

Officer Delegation – Finance ................................................................................. 22 

Officer Delegation – Regeneration ........................................................................ 33 

Officer Delegation – Environment and Community Services ................................. 45 

Officer Delegation – Adult Social Care and Health Integration ............................ 104 

Officer Delegation – Director of Public Health ..................................................... 128 

Officer Delegation – Children’s Services ............................................................. 129 

  

Page 487



 
 

iii 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
 

Page 488



 
 

4 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

OFFICER SCHEME OF DELEGATION – FULL DETAILS 

The Elected Mayor and Council agree that all decisions set out in this Scheme are 
delegated to officers, unless one of the following exceptions apply: 
 

Where the power is otherwise excluded from delegation by the Middlesbrough 
Council Scheme of Delegation or the Constitution; 

Where key decisions are expressly delegated by the Elected Mayor or Executive to 
an Officer in an Executive decision (such delegations will be recorded in the 
Minutes of the meeting (and maintained by Democratic Services)); 

The Elected Mayor (or Executive) decides to make a decision delegated to officers 
under this Scheme (S.9E(7) of the 2000 Act); 

The Elected Mayor (only) may agree individual delegations outside of this Scheme 
for reasons of urgency or otherwise protecting the Council’s interests. Such 
delegations will recorded in writing and sent to the Monitoring Officer (or his / her 
delegate). 

Where the Council decides to make a non-executive decision delegated to officers 
under this Scheme and / or decides to delegate the decision to a committee. 
 
The Elected Mayor and Council authorises all Officers with delegated powers under 
this Scheme of Delegation power to delegate any or all of their powers to other 
Officers within their Service Area (or in the case of the Chief Executive, any Officer), 
save where prohibited by law. The Elected Mayor and Council have the right to 
withdraw or amend delegated where the Elected Mayor and / or Councils powers 
permanently or for a fixed period to one or more Service Area considers it 
appropriate to do so. 
 
Definitions 
 
There are some functions that the authority may treat as the responsibility of the 
Executive (in part or whole) or as Council (non-executive functions), at its 
discretion.  
 
The following roles appear in this scheme: 
 

 The Chief Executive shall be the Head of Paid Service and the Council’s 
“Proper Officer” and shall, where permissible by law, discharge any functions 
delegated to another officer including all civic and ceremonial functions, and is 
referred to in this Constitution as “the Head of Paid Service”; 

 

 The Director of Finance shall be the Council’s Section 151 Officer and Chief 
Finance Officer, and is referred to in the Constitution as “the Chief Finance 
Officer”; 

 

 The Director of Legal and Governance Services shall be the Monitoring 
Officer, and is authorised to sign or authorise other officers to sign all 
documents and agreements on behalf of the Council, is authorised to amend 

Page 489



 
 

5 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

the Senior Management Structure and associated job titles, and is referred to 
in this Constitution as “the Monitoring Officer”; and 
 

 Collectively, the Head of Paid Service and Directors are referred to as the 
Leadership Management Team. 

Page 490



 
 

6 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

  

P
age 491



 
 

7 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Officer Delegation – Head of Paid Service 

 Function Officer Level Source of Delegation 

1 2 3 4 

 Responsibility to the authority for all 
aspects of operational 
management 

Chief 
Executive 

   • Article 12 – Constitution  
• Statutory provisions 
• Scheme of delegations 
• CE Job Description 
 
Constitution 

 That authority be delegated to the 
Chief Executive and/or the Mayor 
of the Council to finalise, conclude 
and agree matters, including minor 
changes to the agreement(s) in 
respect of Tees Valley ERF Project 
- Inter Authority Agreement and 
Commencement of Procurement 
Process. 
 

Chief 
Executive 

   Executive – 14 July 2020 

 Strategic Plan 2021-24 - That the 
delegation of approval for minor 
amendments to in-quarter 
timescales to the Chief Executive 
be agreed. Any significant variation 
to approach or deliverables would 
be reported to, and seek approval 
via, the quarterly Strategic Plan 
progress reports to Executive. 

Chief 
Executive 

   Executive – 27 May 2021 

P
age 492



 
 

8 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 Ability to authorise Special 
Severance Payments of amounts 
between £20,000 and £100,000 

Chief 
Executive 

   Sections 3 and 26 of the Local 
Government Act 1999.   

  

P
age 493



 
 

9 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Officer Delegation – Director Legal & Governance 

 Function Officer Level Source of Delegation 

1 2 3 4 

 Delegated authority to authorise 
any variation from the agreed price 
of less than £150,000 if required in 
respect of the Disposal of the 
Council’s freehold interest in land at 
Beechwood 
 

Director of 
Legal and 
Governance 

   Council’s Asset Disposal 
Policy 
 
Executive  – 17 March 2020 

 Ability to authorise Special 
Severance Payments of up to 
£20,000.  

Director of 
Legal and 
Governance 

   Sections 3 and 26 of the Local 
Government Act 1999.   

 

  

P
age 494



 
 

10 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Officer Delegation – Monitoring Officer 

 Function Officer Level Source of Delegation 

1 2 3 4 

 The Monitoring Officer will maintain 
an up-to-date version of the 
Constitution and will ensure that it 
is widely available for inspection by 
members, staff and the public. 
 

 The Head 

of 

Democratic 

Services 

   

 Minor amendments may be made 
by the Monitoring Officer to ensure 
that the Constitution complies with 
all relevant legislation, together with 
such other amendments as the 
Monitoring Officer may be 
authorised to make by Council. 
 

The 
Monitoring 
Officer 

    

 After consulting with the Head of 
Paid Service and Chief Finance 
Officer, the Monitoring Officer will 
report to the full Council (in relation 
to a Council function) or to the 
Executive (in relation to an 
Executive function) if they consider 
that any proposal, decision or 
omission would give rise to 
unlawfulness or if any decision or 
omission has given rise to 
maladministration.  Such a report 
will have the effect of stopping the 

The 
Monitoring 
Officer 

    

P
age 495



 
 

11 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

proposal or decision being 
implemented until the report has 
been considered. 
 

 The Monitoring Officer will 
contribute to the promotion and 
maintenance of high standards of 
conduct through provision of 
support to the Standards 
Committee. 
 

The 
Monitoring 
Officer/Deputy 
Monitoring 
Officers 

    

 In accordance with the standards 
procedure, the Monitoring Officer 
will conduct or secure 
investigations into complaints under 
the Councillors’ Code of Conduct 
and make reports or 
recommendations in respect of 
them to the Standards Committee. 
 

The 
Monitoring 
Officer/Deputy 
Monitoring 
Officers 

    

 The Monitoring Officer will ensure 
that Executive decisions, together 
with the reasons for those 
decisions and relevant officer 
reports and background papers are 
made publicly available as soon as 
possible. 
 

The 
Monitoring 
Officer 

    

 The Monitoring Officer will advise 
whether decisions of the Executive 
are in accordance with the budget 
and policy framework.  
 

The 
Monitoring 
Officer 

    

P
age 496



 
 

12 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 The Monitoring Officer will provide 
advice on the scope of powers and 
authority to take decisions, 
maladministration, financial 
impropriety, probity and budget and 
policy framework issues to all 
councillors and the Elected Mayor. 
 

The 
Monitoring 
Officer 

    

 The Monitoring Officer, or some 
other person authorised by them, is 
also responsible for Corporate 
Complaints and Ombudsman cases  

 Corporate 

Complaints 

Manager 

   

 The Monitoring Officer, or some 
other person authorised by them, is 
also responsible for Whistleblowing 

 

The 
Monitoring 
Officer 

    

 The Council’s Monitoring Officer is 
authorised to institute, defend or 
participate in any legal proceedings 
in any case where such action is 
necessary to give effect to 
decisions of the Council or in any 
case where the Monitoring Officer 
considers that such action is 
necessary to protect the Council’s 
interests. 
 
 

The 
Monitoring 
Officer 

    

 Where any document is necessary 
to any legal procedure or 
proceedings on behalf of the 
Council, it will be signed by the 

The 
Monitoring 
Officer/ 

Specified 

Officers in 

   

P
age 497



 
 

13 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Monitoring Officer or other person 
authorised by them, unless any 
enactment otherwise authorises or 
requires, or the Council has given 
requisite authority to some other 
person. 
 
 

Legal 

Services 

 Power to instigate criminal 
proceedings 

The 
Monitoring 
Officer 

Specified 

Officers in 

Legal 

Services 

   

  

P
age 498



 
 

14 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Officer Delegation – Returning Officer 

 Function Officer Level Source of Delegation 

1 2 3 4 

 Duty to divide constituency into 
polling districts. 
 
 

The 
Returning 
Officer 

   Section 18 of the 
Representation of the People 
Act 1983. 
 
Constitution 

 Power to divide electoral divisions 
into polling districts at local 
government elections 
 
 

The 
Returning 
Officer 

   Section 31 of the 
Representation of the People 
Act 1983. 
 
Constitution 

 Powers in respect of holding of 
elections 
 
 

The 
Returning 
Officer 

   Section 39(4) of the 
Representation of the People 
Act 1983. 
 
Constitution 

 Power to pay expenses properly 
incurred by electoral registration 
officers. 
 
 

The 
Returning 
Officer 

   Section 54 of the 
Representation of the People 
Act 1983. 
 
Constitution 

 Power to fill vacancies in the event 
of insufficient nominations. 
 
 

The 
Returning 
Officer 

   Section 21 of the 
Representation of the People 
Act 1985. 
 
Constitution 

P
age 499



 
 

15 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 Duty to declare vacancy in office in 
certain cases 
 

The 
Returning 
Officer 

   Section 86 of the Local 
Government Act 1972. 
 
Constitution 

  Duty to give public notice of a casual 
vacancy 
 

The 
Returning 
Officer 

   Section 87 of the Local 
Government Act 1972. 
 
Constitution 

 Power to make temporary 
appointments to parish councils. 
 
 

The 
Returning 
Officer 

   Section 91 of the Local 
Government Act 1972.  
 
Constitution 

 Power to determine fees and 
conditions for supply of copies of, or 
extracts from, elections documents. 
 
 

The 
Returning 
Officer 

   Rule 48(3) of the Local 
Elections (Principal Areas) 
Rules 1986 (S.I. 1986/2214) 
and rule 48(3) of the Local 
Elections (Parishes and 
Communities) Rules 1986 (S.I. 
1986/2215). 
 
Constitution 

 Power to submit proposals to the 
Secretary of State for an order under 
section 10 (pilot schemes for local 
elections in England and Wales) of 
the Representation of the People Act 
2000. 
 

The 
Returning 
Officer 

   Section 10 of the 
Representation of the People 
Act 2000 (c.2). 

 

Constitution 

 Duty to consult on change of 
scheme for elections 
 
 

The 
Returning 
Officer 

    

P
age 500

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/1986/2214
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/1986/2215
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/2000/2


 
 

16 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 Duties relating to publicity 
 
 

The 
Returning 
Officer 

    

 Duties relating to notice to Electoral 
Commission 
 

The 
Returning 
Officer 

    

 Power to alter year of ordinary 
election of parish councillors 
 

The 
Returning 
Officer 

    

 Functions relating to change of 
name of electoral area 
 

The 
Returning 
Officer 

    

  

P
age 501



 
 

17 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Officer Delegation – Human Resources 

 Function Officer Level Source of Delegation 

1 2 3 4 

 To review management structures 
and make changes within budget 
thereto short of major re-structuring 
and to appoint all staff below 
Director grade. 
  

     

 The discipline (including dismissal) 
of employees subject to and in 
accordance with the approved 
disciplinary and capability policies 
and procedures of the Council.  
 

     

 To determine numbers, grades and 
designation of posts and to appoint 
or promote within their respective 
departments all staff up to the 
prescribed salary grade within the 
establishment.  
 

     

 Determination of personal 
applications for regrading.  
 

     

 Clearance of vacant posts.  
 

     

 Agreement to offer a starting salary 
within the grade but which is above 

     

P
age 502



 
 

18 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

the minimum 
 

 Authorisation of accelerated 
increments and progression within 
banded, career or trainee grades 
provided the appropriate maximum 
is not exceeded.  
 

     

 Authorisation of temporary additional 
duties payments and honoraria in 
accordance with the National 
Agreement for Local Government 
Employees and related Local 
Agreements.  
 

     

 Designation of posts as car users. 
 

     

 Approval of paid special leave 
not exceeding twenty one 
working days. 
 

     

 Approval of paid special leave of 
between one and four weeks. 
 

     

 Approval of unpaid special leave 
of up to four weeks except where 
the absence is for maternity 
reasons in which case the Chief 
Officer may approve a longer 
period subject to personnel advice. 
 

     

P
age 503



 
 

19 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 To grant leave of absence with or 
without pay to employees for 
purposes authorised by the 
appropriate conditions of service 
e.g. Magisterial duties, trade 
union activities. 

 

     

 Ex-gratia payments for loss of or 
damage to clothing and 
personal effects of up to £160. 
 

     

 Calculations and payment of 
retirement gratuities in 
accordance with the local 
scheme. 
 

     

 Approval of extensions of 
service beyond the normal 
retirement age. 

     

 Approval of expenses related to 
relocation of new employees where 
discretion is needed within the 
overall scheme. 
 

     

 Authorisation of planned 
overtime payments to 
employees on senior 
officer grade and above. 
 

     

 Approval of early 
retirement/voluntary redundancy 
of officers on terms in 

     

P
age 504



 
 

20 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

accordance with Council policy 
 

 To exercise the powers in the 
various conditions of service so far 
as discipline is concerned and to 
decide in cases where an employee 
leaves without giving appropriate 
notice whether or not the salary or 
wage or accrued annual holiday 
pay should be withheld. 
 

     

 Develop and implement 
Authority’s payroll system and 
monitor operation where 
devolved. 
 

     

 Co-ordinate and manage financial 
transactions with - Pension Funds, 
Inland Revenue, Charities 
 

     

 To monitor the 
effectiveness of corporate 
and departmental training 
policies and programmes. 

     

 Negotiation, Agreement and 
Signing of Contracts in 
respect of funded training 
initiatives. 
 

     

 Issue of appropriate notices to the 
relevant government department 
in respect of potential and actual 
redundancy situations within the 

     

P
age 505



 
 

21 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Council. 

 To halt operational activity by any 
Council employees or its 
contractors/sub-contractors in 
instances of significant risk to the 
health, safety and welfare of 
employees or the public. 

     

 To appear on behalf of the 
Council in any Tribunal, Hearing 
or Inquiry on any matter relating 
to the business of the Council. 

     

 Determine whether a member is 
entitled to an ill health retirement 
pension, and what tier of benefit 
to be awarded 

Head of HR 
in 
consultation 
with the 
Director of 
Finance 

   Executive – 11  July 2019  

  

P
age 506



 
 

22 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Officer Delegation – Finance 

 Function Officer Level Source of Delegation 

1 2 3 4 

 That the completion of acquisitions 
on the identified properties listed 
under the Town Centre Acquisition 
report be delegated to the 
Executive Director of Growth and 
Place and the Strategic Director of 
Finance, Governance and Support, 
in consultation with the Executive 
Member for Regeneration and the 
Executive Member for Finance and 
Governance within the parameters 
of the report. 

The Director 
of Finance 

   Future High Streets Fund 

(FHSF)  

(Executive Decision – 20 

December 2019)  

 That any changes to the delivery 
programme and the annual 
profiling of funding in respect of 
Rail Station and Historic Quarter 
- High Street Heritage Action 
Zone, where necessary to 
maximise the match funding 
secured by Historic England (as 
requested/approved by Historic 
England) be delegated to the 
Executive Director of Growth 
and Place, and Director of 

The Director 
of Finance 

   Funding from Historic 

England (as part of the 

Future High Streets Fund) to 

make the Historic Quarter a 

High Street Heritage Action 

Zone (HSHAZ) 

(Executive – 17 March 2020) 

P
age 507



 
 

23 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Finance, Governance and 
Support in consultation with the 
Executive Member for 
Regeneration and the Executive 
Member for Finance and 
Governance. 

 Delegated authority to approve 
any future similar schemes or 
modifications to schemes such 
as the Discretionary Hardship 
Policy to be given to the Director 
of Finance, Governance and 
Support as Section 151 Officer. 

The Director 
of Finance 

   Section 31 of the Local 

Government Finance Act 

2003 

(Individual Executive Member 

Decision – The Mayor – 18 

May 2020) 

 

 After consulting with the Head of 
Paid Service and the Monitoring 
Officer, the Chief Finance Officer 
will report to the Council (in 
relation to a Council function) or 
to the Executive (in relation to an 
Executive function) if they 
consider that any proposal, 
decision or course of action will 
involve incurring unlawful 
expenditure, or is unlawful and is 
likely to cause a loss or 
deficiency or if the Council is 
about to enter an item of 
account unlawfully. 

The Director 
of Finance 

    

P
age 508



 
 

24 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 The Chief Finance Officer will have 
responsibility for the administration 
of the financial affairs of the 
Council.  

The Director 
of Finance 

    

 The Chief Finance Officer will 
contribute to the corporate 
management of the Council, in 
particular through the provision of 
professional financial advice. 

The Director 
of Finance 

    

 The Chief Finance Officer will 
provide advice on the scope of 
powers and authority to take 
decisions, maladministration, 
financial impropriety, probity and 
budget and policy framework 
issues to all councillors and the 
Elected Mayor and will support and 
advise councillors and officers in 
their respective roles. 

The 
Director of 
Finance 

    

 The Chief Finance Officer will 
provide appropriate financial 
information to the media, members 
of the public and the community. 

The 
Director of 
Finance 

    

 That the surrender of an existing 
option, and subsequent disposal of 
land at Middlehaven on mirror 
terms to MDC be actioned in order 
to facilitate the delivery of the Boho 
Village development and that the 
Director of Finance be granted 
delegated authority to authorise 

The 
Director of 
Finance 

   (Executive – 1 September 

2020) 

P
age 509



 
 

25 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

any variation from the existing 
option terms, if required. 

 That the Additional Restrictions 
Grant (ARG) Discretionary 
Scheme in response to the 
business support announcement 
by Central Government on 22 
October be approved. The scheme 
provides essential financial support 
to businesses who have not been 
able to access support from the 
Local Restrictions Support Grant.  
That the Section 151 Officer be 
given delegated authority to 
approve any future modifications to 
the scheme/policy.  

The 
Director of 
Finance 

   (Executive Member for 

Finance and Governance – 

10 December 2020) 

 The day to day management and 
administration of Teesside Pension 
Fund matters including ensuring 
arrangements for investments of 
assets and administration of 
contributions and benefits, 
excluding matters delegated to the 
Teesside Pension Fund 

Committee 

The 
Director of 
Finance 

Head of 

Pensions, 

Governance 

and 

Investments 

  Teesside Pension Fund 

Committee  

 Border to Coast function: 
a) The nominated officer to 

meet and resolve any 
Deadlock Situation as per 
Clause 10 of the 
Shareholder Agreement 

Director of 
Finance 

    

P
age 510



 
 

26 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

The nominated officer to consider 
and resolve any Dispute as per 
Clause 13 of the Inter Authority 
Agreement 

 Council Future Accommodation – 
Fountains Court. A delegated 
decision to the Director of 
Regeneration and Culture, Richard  
Horniman, and the Director of 
Finance, Ian Wright, with regard to 
expending the  
£200,000 contingency set aside in 
the investment strategy, should it 
be required. 

Director of 
Regeneration 
and Culture 
and the 
Director of 
Finance 

   (Executive – 16 March 2021) 

 Land at St David's Way - Proposed 
Freehold Disposal [PART B] - That 
the Director of Finance should 
have Delegated Authority to 
authorise any variation from the 
agreed price of less than £150,000 
if required. 
 
 

The Director 
of Finance 

   (Executive – 13 July 2021) 

 Delegated authority be provided to 
the Section 151 Officer to approve 
any future modifications to the 
Corporate Crisis Policy.  
 

Section 151 
Officer 

   (Executive – 11 Jan 2022) 

 Delegated authority to approve any 
future similar schemes or 
modifications to the Corporate Debt 
Write Off Policy. 

Section 151 
Officer 

   (Council – 26 January 2022) 

P
age 511



 
 

27 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

  
Fountain Court Refurbishment – 
Phase Two Works 
 
That approval for the award of the 
phase two refurbishment works 
contract be delegated to the 
Director of Regeneration and 
Culture, Richard Horniman and 
Director of Finance, Ian Wright. 

Director of 
Regeneration 
and Culture, 
and Director 
of Finance,  

   (Executive - 8 March 2022) 

 Delegated authority to revise the 
Council’s Section 13A (1) (a) 
Exceptional Hardship Fund policy 
or any future similar schemes or 
modifications to schemes. 

Director of 
Finance as 
Section 151 
Officer 

   Section 13 A (1) (a) of the 
Local Government  
Finance Act 1992 

(Executive Member for 

Environment, Finance and 

Governance Individual 

Member meeting – 26 April 

2022) 

 Ability to authorise Special 
Severance Payments of up to 
£20,000.  

Director of 
Finance 

   Sections 3 and 26 of the 
Local Government Act 1999.   

 Effective 1 August 2022 to 31 
January 2023 - EXPIRED 
Delegated authority to make any 
modifications or changes currently 
delegated to the S151 Officer 
where it relates to work undertaken 
in Resident and Business 
Support/Policy Originator (grants, 
discretionary schemes etc.) 

 Head of 

Resident and 

Business 

Support 

  Delegation afforded to 
Director of Finance and the 
Constitution. 

P
age 512



 
 

28 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 Effective 1 August 2022 to 31 
January 2023 - EXPIRED 
Sign off of any Memorandums of 
Understanding that relate to 
Resident and Business Support. 

 Head of 

Resident and 

Business 

Support 

  Delegation afforded to 
Director of Finance and the 
Constitution. 

 Effective 1 August 2022 to 31 
January 2023 - EXPIRED 
Approval to sign any financial 
returns for grants relating to 
Resident and Business Support 
where S151 approval is not 
mandatory 

 Head of 

Resident and 

Business 

Support 

  Delegation afforded to 
Director of Finance and the 
Constitution. 

 Effective 1 August 2022 to 31 
January 2023 - EXPIRED 
Approval to sign any government 
returns relating to Resident and 
Business Support where S151 
approval is not mandatory 

 Head of 

Resident and 

Business 

Support 

  Delegation afforded to 
Director of Finance and the 
Constitution. 

 Effective 1 August 2022 to 31 
January 2023 - EXPIRED 
Approval of variations Business 
world transaction approval 
threshold relating to Resident and 
Business support. 

 Head of 

Resident and 

Business 

Support 

  Delegation afforded to 
Director of Finance and the 
Constitution. 

 Effective 1 August 2022 to 31 
January 2023 - EXPIRED 
Sign off of Assurance, Security – 
anything DWP related where this 
relates to Resident and Business 
Support. 

 Head of 

Resident and 

Business 

Support 

  Delegation afforded to 
Director of Finance and the 
Constitution. 

P
age 513



 
 

29 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 Effective 1 August 2022 to 31 
January 2023 - EXPIRED 
Act as Project Sponsor for the 
Digital Inclusion Strategy and chair 
the Digital Inclusion Board 

 Head of 

Resident and 

Business 

Support 

  Delegation afforded to 
Director of Finance and the 
Constitution. 

 Effective 1 August 2022 to 31 
January 2023 - EXPIRED 
Act as Sponsor for the 
Investigation Strategy. 

 Head of 

Resident and 

Business 

Support 

  Delegation afforded to 
Director of Finance and the 
Constitution. 

 Effective 1 August 2022 to 31 
January 2023 - EXPIRED 
Approval for BPSS security checks 
for data sharing standards.    

 Head of 

Resident and 

Business 

Support 

  Delegation afforded to 
Director of Finance and the 
Constitution. 

 Effective 1 August 2022 to 31 
January 2023 - EXPIRED 
Sign off of Asset Disposal 
Business Cases 
 
 

 Head of 

Service for 

Commissioning 

and 

Procurement 

  Delegation afforded to 
Director of Finance and the 
Constitution. 

 Effective 1 August 2022 to 31 
January 2023 - EXPIRED 
Monthly review and sign off of 
Asset Disposal Control Sheet and 
Asset Acquisition Control Sheet 
 
 

 Head of 

Service for 

Commissioning 

and 

Procurement 

  Delegation afforded to 
Director of Finance and the 
Constitution. 

 Effective 1 August 2022 to 31 
January 2023 - EXPIRED 

 Head of 

Service for 

  Delegation afforded to 
Director of Finance and the 
Constitution. 

P
age 514



 
 

30 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Approval to sign any financial 
returns for grants relating to 
Commissioning and Procurement 
where S151 approval is not 
mandatory 
 

Commissioning 

and 

Procurement 

 Effective 1 August 2022 to 31 
January 2023 - EXPIRED 
Approval to sign any government 
returns relating to Commissioning 
and Procurement where S151 
approval is not mandatory 
 

 Head of 

Service for 

Commissioning 

and 

Procurement 

  Delegation afforded to 
Director of Finance and the 
Constitution. 

 Effective 1 August 2022 to 31 
January 2023 - EXPIRED 
Approval of extensions to 
Procurement Exemptions 
 

 Head of 

Service for 

Commissioning 

and 

Procurement 

  Delegation afforded to 
Director of Finance and the 
Constitution. 

 Effective 1 August 2022 to 31 
January 2023 - EXPIRED 
Approval of Delegated Authority 
forms for asset transactions valued 
between £50k - £150k 

 Head of 

Service for 

Commissioning 

and 

Procurement 

  Delegation afforded to 
Director of Finance and the 
Constitution. 

 Effective 1 August 2022 to 31 
January 2023 - EXPIRED 
Approval of Decisions on 3% local 
earmarked expenditure from 
eligible capital receipts in 

 Head of 

Service for 

Commissioning 

and 

Procurement 

  Delegation afforded to 
Director of Finance and the 
Constitution. 

P
age 515



 
 

31 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

consultation with the executive 
member and ward Councillors 

 Effective 1 August 2022 to 31 
January 2023 - EXPIRED 
Approval of variations to Business 
world transaction approval 
thresholds relating to 
Commissioning and Procurement 

 Head of 

Service for 

Commissioning 

and 

Procurement 

  Delegation afforded to 
Director of Finance and the 
Constitution. 

 That delegated authority be 
provided to the Director of 
Finance, as Section 151 Officer, to 
approve any future revisions to the 
Welfare Strategy. 

Director of 
Finance 

   Executive Decision 12th July 
2022 

  That delegated authority to 
approve any future 
revisions/modifications to the 
strategy be provided to the Head 
of Resident and Businesses 
Support and the Director of 
Regeneration. 

Director of 
Regeneration 

Head of 

Resident & 

Business 

Support 

  Executive Decision 8th 
November 2022 

 

  

P
age 516



 
 

32 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

Procurement and Commissioning 

 Function Officer Level Source of Delegation 

1 2 3 4 

 That any variance to the terms of 
the option and sale in respect of 
TAMP be delegated to the Head 
of Strategic Commissioning and 
Procurement, aside from the terms 
and 
conditions set out at iii. a. to e. 
inclusive. 
 

 Head of 

Commissioni

ng and 

Procurement 

  Executive - 14 July 2020 

  

P
age 517



 
 

33 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Officer Delegation – Regeneration 

 Function Officer Level Source of Delegation 

1 2 3 4 

 Power to determine applications 
for planning permission. 
 

 Head of 
Planning 

  Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 
Sections 70(1)(a) and (b) and 
72  

 

Constitution Functions relating 
to town and country planning 
and development control 
 

 Power to determine applications to 
develop land without compliance 
with conditions previously 
attached. 

 Head of 
Planning 

  Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 
Section 73 
 
Constitution Functions relating 
to town and country planning 
and development control 
 

 Power to grant planning 
permission for development 
already carried out. 
 

 Head of 
Planning 

  Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 
Section 73A(1) 
 
Constitution Functions relating 
to town and country planning 
and development control 
 

P
age 518

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2000/2853/schedule/1/made#f00013


 
 

34 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 Power to decline to determine 
applications for planning 
permission. 
 

 Head of 
Planning 

  Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 
Section 70A 

 Duties relating to the making of 
determinations of planning 
applications. 
 
 
 

 Head of 
Planning 

  Sections 69, 76 and 92 of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990 and 
Articles 8, 10 to 13, 15 to 22 and 25 
and 26 of the Town and Country 
Planning (General Development 
Procedure) Order 1995 (S.I. 
1995/419) and directions made 
thereunder. 
 

Constitution Functions relating 
to town and country planning 
and development control 
 

 Power to determine application for 
planning permission made by a 
local authority, alone or jointly with 
another person. 
 

 Head of 
Planning 

  Section 316 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 
and the Town and Country 
Planning General Regulations 
1992 
 
Constitution Functions relating 
to town and country planning 
and development control 
 

 Power to make determinations, 
give approvals and agree certain 
other matters relating to the 
exercise of permitted development 
rights. 
 

 Head of 
Planning 

  Parts 6, 7, 11, 17, 19, 20, 21 
to 24, 26, 30 and 31 of 
Schedule 2 to the Town and 
Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 
1995 (S.I. 1995/418). 
 

P
age 519

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/1995/419
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/1995/418


 
 

35 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Constitution Functions relating 
to town and country planning 
and development control 
 

 Power to enter into agreement 
regulating development or use of 
land.   
 
 

 Head of 
Planning 

  (S.106 TCP Act 1990) 
 
Constitution Functions relating 
to town and country planning 
and development control 
 

 Power to issue a certificate of 
existing or proposed lawful use or 
development. 
 
 

 Head of 
Planning 

  Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 
Sections 191(4) and 192(2) 
 
Constitution Functions relating 
to town and country planning 
and development control 
 

 Power to serve a completion 
notice.   
 
 
 

 Head of 
Planning 

  (S.94(2) TCP Act 1990) 
 
Constitution Functions relating 
to town and country planning 
and development control 
 

 Power to grant consent for the 
display of advertisements. 
 
 

 Head of 
Planning 

  Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 
Section 220 Town and 
Country Planning (Control of 
Advertisements) Regulations 
1992(5). 
 

P
age 520

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2000/2853/schedule/1/made#f00017


 
 

36 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Constitution Functions relating 
to town and country planning 
and development control 
 

 Power to authorise entry onto land.   
 
 

 Head of 
Planning 

  (S196A TCP Act 1990) 
 
Constitution Functions relating 
to town and country planning 
and development control 
 
 

 Power to require the 
discontinuance of a use of land. 
 
 
 

 Head of 
Planning 

  Section 102 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 
 
Constitution Functions relating 
to town and country planning 
and development control 
 

 Power to serve a planning 
contravention notice, breach of 
condition notice or stop notice. 
 
 

 Head of 
Planning 

  Sections 171C, 187A and 
183(1) of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 
 
Constitution Functions relating 
to town and country planning 
and development control 
 

 Power to issue an enforcement 
notice. 
 
 

 Head of 
Planning 

  Section 172 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 
 
Constitution Functions relating 
to town and country planning 
and development control 

P
age 521



 
 

37 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

 Power to apply for an injunction 
restraining a breach of planning 
control. 
 
 
 

 Head of 
Planning 

  Section 187B of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 
 
Constitution Functions relating 
to town and country planning 
and development control 
 

 Power to determine applications 
for hazardous substances consent, 
and related powers. 
 
 
 

 Head of 
Planning 

  Sections 9(1) and 10 of the 
Planning (Hazardous 
Substances) Act 1990 
 
Constitution Functions relating 
to town and country planning 
and development control 
 

 Duty to determine conditions to 
which old mining permissions, 
relevant planning permissions 
relating to dormant sites or active 
Phase I or II sites, or mineral 
permissions relating to mining 
sites, as the case may be, are to 
be subject. 
 

 Head of 
Planning 

  Paragraph 2(6)(a) of Schedule 
2 to the Planning and 
Compensation Act 1991, 
paragraph 9(6) of Schedule 13 
to the Environment Act 1995 
(c. 25) and paragraph 6(5) of 
Schedule 14 to that Act. 
 
Constitution Functions relating 
to town and country planning 
and development control 
 
 

 Power to require proper 
maintenance of land.   

 Head of 
Planning 

  (S.215(1) TCP Act 1990) 
 

P
age 522

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1995/25
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1995/25


 
 

38 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 Constitution Functions relating 
to town and country planning 
and development control 
 

 Power to determine application for 
listed building consent, and related 
powers. 
 
 
 

 Head of 
Planning 

  Sections 16(1) and (2), 17, 
27(2) and 33(1) of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Buildings in Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990 (c. 9). 
 
Constitution Functions relating 
to town and country planning 
and development control 
 
 

 Power to determine applications 
for conservation area consent 

 Head of 
Planning 

  Section 16(1) of the Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Buildings 
in Conservation Areas Act 
1990, as applied by section 
74(3) of that Act (10). 
 
Constitution Functions relating 
to town and country planning 
and development control 
 

 Duties relating to applications for 
listed building consent and 
conservation area consent. 
 
 

 Head of 
Planning 

  Sections 13(1) and 14(1) and 
(4) of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Buildings in 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
and regulations 3 to 6 and 13 
of the Town and Country 
Planning (Listed Buildings and 

P
age 523

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1990/9
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2000/2853/schedule/1/made#f00022


 
 

39 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Buildings in Conservation 
Areas) Regulations 1990 and 
paragraphs 8, 15 and 22 of 
Department of the 
Environment Circular 14/97. 
 
Constitution Functions relating 
to town and country planning 
and development control 
 

 Power to serve a building 
preservation notice, and related 
powers. 
 
 

 Head of 
Planning 

  Sections 3(1) and 4(1) of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Buildings in Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990. 
 
Constitution Functions relating 
to town and country planning 
and development control 
 

 Power to issue enforcement notice 
in relation to demolition of unlisted 
building in conservation area. 
 
 

 Head of 
Planning 

  Section 38 of the Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Buildings 
in Conservation Areas) Act 
1990. 
 
Constitution Functions relating 
to town and country planning 
and development control 
 
 

 Powers to acquire a listed building 
in need of repair and to serve a 
repairs notice. 

 Head of 
Planning 

  Sections 47 and 48 of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and 

P
age 524



 
 

40 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
 

Buildings in Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990. 
 
Constitution Functions relating 
to town and country planning 
and development control 
 

 Power to apply for an injunction in 
relation to an unlisted listed 
building. 
 
 

 Head of 
Planning 

  Section 44A of the Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Buildings 
in Conservation Areas) Act 
1990(11). 
 
Constitution Functions relating 
to town and country planning 
and development control 
 
 

 Power to authorise stopping up or 
diversion of highway 
 

 Head of 
Economic 
Growth and 
Infrastructure 

  (s.247 TCPA 1990) 
 
Constitution Functions relating 
to town and country planning 
and development control 
 

 Power to execute urgent works. 
 
 
  

 Head of 
Planning 

  (S.54 Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Buildings in 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 
 
Constitution Functions relating 
to town and country planning 
and development control 
 

P
age 525

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2000/2853/schedule/1/made#f00023


 
 

41 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 Powers relating to the protection of 
important hedgerows 

 
 
 
 

 Head of 
Planning 

  The Hedgerows Regulations 
1997 (S.I. 1997/1160). 
 
Constitution 
Part II Other Miscellaneous 
functions 
 

 Powers relating to the preservation 
of trees 
 

 Head of 
Planning 

  Sections 197 to 214D of the 
Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 and the Trees 
Regulations 1999 (S.I. 
1999/1892). 
 
Constitution 
Part II Other Miscellaneous 
functions 
 
 

 Powers relating to complaints about 
high hedges 
 
 

 Head of 
Planning 

  CHECK 
 
Constitution 
Part II Other Miscellaneous 
functions 
 

 Power to make limestone 
pavement order. 

 Head of 
Planning 

  Section 34(2) of the Wildlife 
and Countryside Act 1981 (c. 
69). 
 
Constitution 
Part II Other Miscellaneous 
functions 
 

P
age 526

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/1997/1160
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/1999/1892
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1981/69
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1981/69


 
 

42 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 The obtaining of information under 
Section 330 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 (a) as to 
interests in land 
 

 Head of 
Planning 

  Section 330 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 
 
Constitution 
Part II Other Miscellaneous 
functions 
 

 Power to create footpath or 
bridleways by agreement. 
 

 Head of 
Economic 
Growth and 
Infrastructure 

  Section 25 of the Highways 
Act 1980 
 
Constitution Miscellaneous 
Functions 

 Power to create footpaths and 
bridleways. 
 

 Head of 
Economic 
Growth and 
Infrastructure 
 
 

  Section 26 of the Highways 
Act 1980 
 

Constitution Misc. Functions 

 Duty to assert and protect the 
rights of the public to use and 
enjoyment of highways 
 

 Head of 
Economic 
Growth and 
Infrastructure 

  Section 130 of the Highways 
Act 1980 
 
Constitution Misc. Functions 

 Power to make a rail crossing 
extinguishment order. 
 

 Head of 
Economic 
Growth and 
Infrastructure 

  The Rail Crossing 
Extinguishment and Diversion 
Orders Regulations 1993 
 
Constitution Misc. Functions 

 Power to make a special 
extinguishment order.   
 
 

 Head of 
Economic 
Growth and 
Infrastructure 

  (S.118B Highways Act 1980) 
 
Constitution Misc. Functions 

P
age 527



 
 

43 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 Power to authorise temporary 
disturbance of surface or footpath or 
bridleway 
 

 Head of 
Economic 
Growth and 
Infrastructure 

  Section 135 of the Highways 
Act 1980 
 
Constitution Misc. Functions 

 Power to require applicant for order 
to enter into agreement. 
 
 

 Head of 
Economic 
Growth and 
Infrastructure 

  (S. 119C Highways Act 1980) 
 

Constitution Misc. Functions 

 Power to designate footpath as 
cycle track 
 

 Head of 
Economic 
Growth and 
Infrastructure 

  (S3 The Cycle Tracks Act 1984 

& Highways Act 1980) 
 
Constitution Misc. Functions 

 Towns Fund - Ward Initiatives 
 
That the Director of Regeneration 
and Culture and Director of 
Environment and Community 
Services, in consultation with the 
Mayor, be authorised to determine 
an alternative project for delivery 
and form the reserve list, should 
any project be unable to progress 
due to any legal or technical reason. 

Director of 
Regeneration 
and Culture 
and Director 
of 
Environment 
and 
Community 
Services 

   Executive – 8 March 2022 

  
Fountain Court Refurbishment – 
Phase Two Works 
 
That approval for the award of the 
phase two refurbishment works 
contract be delegated to the 
Director of Regeneration and 

Director of 
Regeneration 
and Culture, 
Richard 
Horniman 
and Director 
of Finance, 
Ian Wright 

   Executive - 8 March 2022 

P
age 528



 
 

44 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Culture, Richard Horniman and 
Director of Finance, Ian Wright 
 

 Development of Middlesbrough’s 
Cultural Capital Investment 
Prospectus:  That, provided the 
holistic budget limit was not 
exceeded, the Director of 
Regeneration and Culture and 
Director of Finance be delegated 
authority on all decisions pertaining 
to the delivery of the Cultural 
Development Fund, including: 
 

 entering into a funding 
agreement with Arts Council 
England; 

 procurement and 
contractual arrangements; 

 appointment of specialist 
advisors; 

 marketing and 
communications; and 

 asset management and 
operations. 

Dir. 
Regeneration 
& Culture 
and Director 
of Finance. 

   Executive – 10 May 2022 

 Ability to authorise Special 
Severance Payments of up to 
£20,000.  

Director of 
Regeneration 
& Culture 

   Sections 3 and 26 of the Local 
Government Act 1999.   

  

P
age 529



 
 

45 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Officer Delegation – Environment and Community Services  

DIRECTOR DELEGATIONS 

Function Officer Level 

Source of Delegation 
1 2 3 4 

Ability to authorise Special 
Severance Payments of up to 
£20,000.  

Director of 
Environment 
and 
Community 
Services 

   Sections 3 and 26 of the Local 
Government Act 1999.   

 

HIGHWAY AUTHORITY FUNCTIONS 

 Function Officer Level 

Source of Delegation 
1 2 3 4 

 Duty to maintain highways 
maintainable at public expense 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Senior 
Manager 
Permit 
Delivery 
(Andy 
Turner) 

  

s.41 Highways Act 1980 

P
age 530



 
 

46 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

 Special defence in action against a 
Highway Authority for damages for 
non-repair of highway 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Senior 
Manager 
Permit 
Delivery 
(Andy 
Turner) 
 

  

s.58 Highways Act 1980 
 
 

 Power to license planting, retention 
and maintenance of trees etc. in 
part of highway. 
 

 Head of 
Environment 
Services 
(Andrew 
Mace) 

  s.142 of the Highways Act 
1980 

 Power to make a traffic regulation 
order in respect of a road in or 
adjoining, or forming part of: 
 

- a National Park 
- an Area of Outstanding 

Natural Beauty 
- a Country Park 
- a Nature Reserve, or an area 

subject to an agreement 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 

  

s.22 Road Traffic Regulation 
Act 1984 

 
 

P
age 531



 
 

47 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

under Section 15 of the 
Countryside Act 

- a long distance route 
- National Trust land 
- a SSSI 

 

(Stewart 
Williams) 
 

 Power to erect prescribed traffic 
signs  
 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 

  

s.65 Road Traffic Regulation 
Act 1984 

 
 

 Power to place bollards or other 
obstructions on roads where 
passage has been prohibited under 
section 1 or 9 of the RTRA 1984 
 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
 
 

  

s.92 Road Traffic Regulation 
Act 1984 

 
 

 Power to introduce physical traffic 
calming measures – Road Humps 
etc 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
 

  

s.90A, s.90C and s.90G 
Highways Act 1980 

 

 Power to remove part or all of the 
footway  

 Head of 
Highways 

  
s.66(4) Highways Act 1980 

P
age 532



 
 

48 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
 

Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 
 
 

 Power to construct a cycle track  
 
 
 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 
 
 

  

s.65(1) Highways Act 1980 

 Power to provide barriers in a cycle 
track 

 Head of 
Service for 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
(Chris Bates)  

  

s.4 Cycle Tracks Act 1984 

P
age 533



 
 

49 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 
 
 

 Power to request the stopping up or 
diversion of a highway by the 
Secretary of State (s.247 TCPA 
1990) 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 
 

  s.247 TCPA 1990 

 

HIGHWAY AUTHORITY FUNCTIONS – Relating to Highway Licences 

 Function Officer Level Source of Delegation 

1 2 3 4 

 Power to permit deposit of builder’s 
skip on highway. 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 

  s.139 of the Highways Act 
1980 (c. 66). 

P
age 534

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1980/66


 
 

50 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Safety 
Advisory 
Officer 
(Zoe 
Manders) 

 Power to dispense with obligation to 
erect hoarding or fence. 
 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Safety 
Advisory 
Officer 
(Zoe 
Manders) 

  s.172 of the Highways Act 
1980 

 Control of scaffolding on Highway 
 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Safety 
Advisory 
Officer 
(Zoe 
Manders) 

  

s.169 Highways Act 1980 
 

P
age 535



 
 

51 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 Duty to publish notice in respect of 
proposal to grant permission under 
Section 115 E of Highways Act 
1980 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Safety 
Advisory 
Officer 
(Zoe 
Manders) 

  s.115 E of Highways Act 1980 
 

 Power to license works in relation to 
buildings etc. which obstruct the 
highway 
 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Safety 
Advisory 
Officer 
(Zoe 
Manders) 
 
 

  s.169 of the Highways Act 
1980 

 Power to consent to temporary 
deposits or excavations in streets. 
 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  

  s.171 of the Highways Act 
1980 

P
age 536



 
 

52 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
Safety 
Advisory 
Officer 
(Zoe 
Manders) 
 
 

 Power to restrict the placing of rails, 
beams etc. over highways.  
 
 
 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Safety 
Advisory 
Officer 
(Zoe 
Manders) 
 

  s.178 of the Highways Act 
1980 

 Power to grant a street works 
licence 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Safety 
Advisory 
Officer 

  

s. 50 NRSWA 1991 
 

P
age 537



 
 

53 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(Zoe 
Manders) 
 
 

 Consent to use Cranes or other 
equipment/machinery on the public 
highway 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Safety 
Advisory 
Officer 
(Zoe 
Manders) 
 
 

  

s.137 & 169 
Highways Act 1980 

 
 

 Power to consent to construction of 
cellars etc under street. 
 
 
 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Safety 
Advisory 
Officer 
(Zoe 
Manders) 

  s.179 of the Highways Act 
1980 

 Power to consent to the making of 
openings into cellars etc. under 

 Head of 
Highways 

  s.180 of the Highways Act 
1980 

P
age 538



 
 

54 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

streets and pavement lights and 
ventilators. 
 
 

Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Safety 
Advisory 
Officer 
(Zoe 
Manders) 

 

HIGHWAY AUTHORITY FUNCTIONS – Relating to Public Rights of Way 

 Function Officer Level Source of Delegation 

1 2 3 4 

 Power to designate footpath as cycle 
track 
 
 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 

  s.3 Cycle Tracks Act 1984  

 Power to make a Site of Special 
Scientific Interest (SSSI) diversion 
order. 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 

  s.119D and 119E of the 
Highways Act 1980, inserted by 

P
age 539



 
 

55 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
 

and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 

Schedule 6 to the Countryside 
and Rights of Way Act 2000 

 Duty to keep register with respect to 
applications under section 118ZA, 
118C, 119ZA and 119C of the 
Highways Act 1980. 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 

  s.118ZA, 118C, 119ZA and 
119C of the Highways Act 1980. 

 Power to decline to determine certain 
applications.   
 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 

  s.121C Highways Act 1980 

P
age 540



 
 

56 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(Stewart 
Williams) 
 

 Duty to assert and protect the rights 
of the public to use and enjoyment 
of highways 
 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 
 

  s.130 of the Highways Act 1980 

 Duty to serve notice of proposed 
action in relation to obstruction. 
 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 
 

  s.130A of the Highways Act 
1980 

 Power to apply for variation of order 
 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 

  s.130B (7) of the Highways Act 
1980. 

P
age 541



 
 

57 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 
 

 Power to authorise temporary 
disturbance of surface or footpath or 
bridleway 
 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 
 

  s.135 of the Highways Act 1980 
 

 Power to temporarily divert footpath 
or bridleway (Dangerous Works) 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 

  s.135A Highways Act 1980 

P
age 542



 
 

58 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 
 

 Functions relating to the making 
good of damage and the removal of 
obstructions 

 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 
 

  s.135B Highways Act 1980 
 

 Powers relating to the removal of 
things so deposited on highways as 
to be a nuisance  

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 
 

  s.149 of the Highways Act 
1980 
(by way of a notice) 

 Power to extinguish certain public 
rights of way 

 Head of 
Highways 

  s.32 Acquisition of Land Act 
1981) 

P
age 543



 
 

59 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 
 

 
 

 Duty to keep a definitive map and 
statement under review. 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 
 

  s.53 of the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 (c. 69). 
 

 Power to include modifications in 
other orders. 

 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 

  s.53A Wildlife and Countryside 
Act 1981 

P
age 544

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1981/69


 
 

60 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 
 

 Duty to keep register of prescribed 
information with respect to 
applications under section 53(5) of 
the Wildlife and Countryside Act 
1981. 

 
 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 
 

  s.53(5) of the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981. 
 

 Duty to reclassify roads used as 
public paths 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 
 

  s.54 of the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981. 
 

P
age 545



 
 

61 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 Power to prepare map and 
statement by way of consolidation 
of definitive map and statement 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 
 

  s.57 & s.57A Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 

 Power to extinguish public right of 
way over land acquired for 
clearance 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 
 

  s.294 Housing Act 1981 

 Power to authorise stopping-up or 
diversion of footpath or bridleway. 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  

  s.257 Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 

P
age 546



 
 

62 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 
 

 Power to extinguish public rights of 
way over land held for planning 
purposes 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 
 

  s.258 Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 

 Power to enter into agreements 
with respect to means of access. 
 
 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 

  Section 35 of the Countryside 
and Rights of Way Act 2000 (c 
37). 

P
age 547



 
 

63 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

 Power to provide access in the 
absence of an agreement. 
 
 
 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 
 

  (S.37 Countryside and Rights of 
Way Act 2000) 
 

 Power to make a side roads order 
for rights of way affected by the 
construction or improvement of a 
classified road 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 
 

  s.14 Highways Act 1980 
 

 Duty to survey new paths agreed by 
a planning authority 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 

  
s.27 Highways Act 1980 

 

P
age 548



 
 

64 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 
 
 

 Responsible for the deposit of 
statutory declarations and 
statements on behalf of the council 
as landowner, with the council. 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 
 

  

s.31(6) Highways Act 1980 
 

 Duty to keep register of all s.31(6) 
statutory declarations and 
statements made by landowners and 
to manage the records 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 

  s.31A of the Highways Act 
1980 
 
 

P
age 549



 
 

65 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 
 

 Power to charge for the deposit, of 
statutory declarations and 
statements 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 

  

s.31(6) Highways Act 1980 
(Amended by the Growth and 
infrastructure Act 2013 s.13) 

 Duty to keep a register of all s.15A 
statutory declarations and 
statements 
(s.15A Commons Act 2006) 

  
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 
 

  

s.15A Commons Act 2006 

 Duty to keep an up-to-date list of 
publicly-maintainable highways 
available for public inspection in 
each district 
 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 

  

s.36 (6) Highways Act 1980 
 

1st November 2012 

P
age 550



 
 

66 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 

 Power to agree to undertake 
maintenance of a right of way 
 
 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 
 

  

s.38 Highways Act 1980 
 
 

 Duty to maintain publicly-
maintainable highways or to 
reimburse the district council for its 
maintenance of publicly-
maintainable footpaths, bridleways 
and restricted byways.  

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 
 

  

s.41 and s.42 Highways Act 
1980 

 
 

 Power of magistrates’ court to 
declare unnecessary highway to be 
not maintainable at public expense 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 

  
s.47 Highways Act 1980 

 

P
age 551



 
 

67 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 

 Power of magistrates’ court to order 
a highway to be again maintainable 
at public expense 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 

  

s.48 Highways Act 1980 
 

 Power to improve, widen or level 
rights of way 
 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 

  

s.62, s.72 and s.76 Highways 
Act 1980 

 

P
age 552



 
 

68 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(Stewart 
Williams) 

 Power to provide barriers, posts, 
rails or fences on a publicly-
maintainable footpath or bridleway 
to safeguard persons using the 
highway 
 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 
 

  

s.66(3) Highways Act 1980 
 

 Power to construct a bridge to carry 
a right of way 
 
 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 
 

  

s.91 Highways Act 1980 
 

 Power to reconstruct a bridge 
forming part of a public path 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 

  
s.92 Highways Act 1980 

 

P
age 553



 
 

69 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 
 

 Power to undertake works to drain a 
right of way 
 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 
 

  

s.100 Highways Act 1980 
 

 Power to apply to the magistrates' 
court for the closure or diversion of 
a right of way 
 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 

  

s.116 Highways Act 1980 
 

P
age 554



 
 

70 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(Stewart 
Williams) 
 

 Power to extinguish footpaths and 
bridleways on school property. 
 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 

  

s.118C Highways Act 1980 
 

 Power to determine application for 
diversion of footpaths and 
bridleways in owner’s interest (Land 
used for agriculture, forestry or 
breeding and keeping of horses) 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 

  

s.119ZA Highways Act 1980 
 

 Power to make a special Diversion 
order following an application by the 
proprietor of a school.    
 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 

  
s.119C Highways Act 1980 

 

P
age 555



 
 

71 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 

 Power to make a temporary 
diversion where a highway is about 
to be repaired or widened.   

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 

  

s.122 Highways Act 1980 
 

 Duty to take action if the ploughing 
or disturbance of a highway was 
unlawful 
 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 

  

s.131A Highways Act 1980 
 

P
age 556



 
 

72 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 Power to remove unauthorised 
signs from rights of way 
 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 

  

s.132 Highways Act 1980 
 

 Duty to enforce the restoration of 
footpaths and bridleways lawfully 
ploughed or disturbed 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 
 

  

s.134 Highways Act 1980 
 

 Power to make an order temporarily 
diverting a footpath, bridleway or 
restricted byway to enable 
agricultural excavation or 
engineering works to be carried out 
(a duty if certain conditions are met) 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 

  

s.135 Highways Act 1980 
 

P
age 557



 
 

73 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 

 Duty to enforce the duty of an 
occupier to ensure that crops do not 
inconvenience users of footpaths, 
bridleways and unmetalled 
carriageways 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 
 

  

s.137A  
Highways Act 1980 

 

 Powers to order person convicted of 
obstruction under s137 Highways 
Act 1980 to remove obstruction 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 

  

s.137ZA  
Highways Act 1980 

 

P
age 558



 
 

74 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 Power to require the removal of a 
structure or other obstruction from a 
right of way 
 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 

  

s.143 Highways Act 1980 
 

 Power to require the enlargement of 
gates across bridleways or 
carriageways 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 

  

s.145 Highways Act 1980 
 

 Power to require maintenance work 
to be undertaken on stiles or gates 
 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 

  

S.146 Highways Act 1980 
 

P
age 559



 
 

75 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 
 

 Power to require the removal of 
things deposited on a right of way 
causing a nuisance 
 
 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 
 

  

s.149 Highways Act 1980 
 

 Power to require the cutting back of 
vegetation overhanging a right of 
way 
 
 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 
 

  

s.154 Highways Act 1980 
 

P
age 560



 
 

76 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 Power to require the abatement of a 
nuisance caused by barbed wire 
adjoining a right of way 
 
 
 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 

  

s.164 Highways Act 1980 
 

 Power to require the fencing of 
dangerous land adjoining a right of 
way 
 
 
 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 

  

s.165 Highways Act 1980 
 

 Powers of entry for purposes 
connected with certain orders 
relating to footpaths and bridleways 
 
 
 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 

  

s.293 Highways Act 1980 
 

P
age 561



 
 

77 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 

 Power to require information as to 
ownership of land in connection to 
rights of way. 
 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 

  

s.297 Highways Act 1980 
 

 Right of local authorities to use 
vehicles and appliances on 
footways, bridleways and restricted 
byways 
 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 
 

  

s.300 Highways Act 1980 
 

 Issuing notices under the provisions 
of Schedule 12A HWA 1980 

 Head of 
Highways 

  Sch 12A Highways Act 1980 
 

P
age 562



 
 

78 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
 

Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 
 

 Power to make good the surface of 
a right of way under certain 
circumstances 
 
 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 

  

Sch 12A Highways Act 1980 
 

 Power to carry out works where a 
duty to keep a path clear of 
overhanging crops has not been 
complied with 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 

  

Sch 12A Highways Act 1980 
 

P
age 563



 
 

79 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 

 Duty to signpost and waymark 
footpaths, bridleways, restricted 
byways and byways where they 
leave metalled roads and elsewhere 
to help people follow the route 
unless agreed with the Parish 
Council that it is not necessary 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 

  

s.27 Countryside Act 1968 
 

 Duty to erect such signposts if in the 
opinion of the Highway Authority 
this is required to assist persons 
unfamiliar with the locality to follow 
a footpath, bridleway, restricted 
byway and byway. 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 

  

s.27 Countryside Act 1968 
 

 Power to erect and maintain 
signposts and waymarks along any 
footpath, bridleway, restricted 
byway or byway 
 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 

  

s.27 Countryside Act 1968 
 

P
age 564



 
 

80 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 

 Power to make definitive map 
modification orders 
 
 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 

  

s.53 Wildlife and Countryside 
Act 1981 

 

 Duty to make modification orders to 
take account of events requiring the 
map to be modified 
 
 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 

  

s.53 Wildlife and Countryside 
Act 1981 

 

P
age 565



 
 

81 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 Power to include modifications in 
other orders 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 

  S.53A Wildlife and Countryside 
Act 1981 

 Duty to prepare definitive maps for 
any areas not previously surveyed 
 
 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 

  

s.55 Wildlife and Countryside 
Act 1981 

 

 Certifying extracts from the 
Definitive Map under the provisions 
of Section 56 of the WLCA 1981 
 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 

  

s.56 Wildlife and Countryside 
Act 1981 

 

P
age 566



 
 

82 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 
 

 Duty to keep copies of the definitive 
map and statement, together with 
copies of any subsequent 
modification and reclassification 
orders, available for public 
inspection in every district 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 

  

s.57 Wildlife and Countryside 
Act 1981 

 

 Duty to draw the attention of the 
public to the availability of definitive 
maps for inspection and to the right 
to apply for modification orders to 
be made 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 
 

  

s.57 Wildlife and Countryside 
Act 1981 

 

P
age 567



 
 

83 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 Power to make permanent traffic 
regulation orders in relation to 
footpaths and bridleways etc 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 

  

s.1 Road Traffic Regulation Act 
1984 

 

 Power to make temporary traffic 
regulation orders in relation to 
footpaths and bridleways etc 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 

  

s.14 Road Traffic Regulation 
Act 1984 

 

 Power to make orders prohibiting or 
restricting the use of rights of way in 
connection with certain events 
 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 

  

s.16A Road Traffic Regulation 
Act 1984 

 

P
age 568



 
 

84 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 
 

 Authorising the use of footpaths and 
bridleways for motor vehicles and 
cycle trials 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 
 

  

s.33 Road Traffic Act 1988 

 Duty to prepare a rights of way 
improvement plan 
 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 

  

s.60 Countryside and Rights of 
Way Act 2000 

 

P
age 569



 
 

85 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 Duty to review and amend the rights 
of way improvement plan not more 
than ten years after first publishing 
the plan, and subsequently at 
intervals of not more than ten years 
 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 

  

s.60(3) Countryside and Rights 
of Way Act 2000 

 

 Duty to establish and manage a 
Local Access Forum In Accordance 
with the Local Access Forums 
(England) Regulations 2002 
 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 

  

s.94 and s.95 Countryside and 
Rights of Way Act 2000 

 

 Duty to prosecute anyone 
responsible for a misleading notice 
on or near a footpath, bridleway or 
restricted byway shown on a 
definitive map 
 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 

  

S.57 National Parks and 
Access to the Countryside Act 

1949 
 

P
age 570



 
 

86 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 
 

 Power to authorise stopping-up or 
diversion of footpaths or bridleways.  

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 
 

  

s.257 Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990  

 Default powers in respect of non-
repair of a privately repairable 
highway 

 Environment 
Services 
Manager 
(Fleet and 
Highways) 
 

  

s.57 Highways Act 1980 
 

 

 STREETWORKS AUTHORITY FUNCTIONS 

 Function Officer Level 

Source of Delegation 
1 2 3 4 

P
age 571



 
 

87 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 Power to give directions as to timing 
of Street Works and road works to 
avoid disruption 
 
 
 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Senior 
Manager 
Permit 
Delivery 
(Andy 
Turner) 
 

  

s.56a & s.56b 
New Roads and Street Works 

Act 1991 
 

 Power to Control the Avoidance of 
any unnecessary delay or 
obstruction 
 
 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Senior 
Manager 
Permit 
Delivery 
(Andy 
Turner) 
 

  

s.66 New Roads and Street 
Works Act 1991 

 

 Power to Charge for the occupation 
of highway where works are 
unreasonably prolonged 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 

  
s.74 New Roads and Street 

Works Act 1991 
 

P
age 572



 
 

88 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Senior 
Manager 
Permit 
Delivery 
(Andy 
Turner) 

 Duty to inspect Street Works and 
roadworks taking place for safety 
measures, having regard, in 
particular to the need of people with 
a disability 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Senior 
Manager 
Permit 
Delivery 
(Andy 
Turner) 

  

s.65 New Roads and Street 
Works Act 1991 

 

 Power to direct undertakers to 
maintain their own apparatus in the 
Highway 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Senior 
Manager 
Permit 

  

s.81 New Roads and Street 
Works Act 1991 

 

P
age 573



 
 

89 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Delivery 
(Andy 
Turner) 

 Power to carry out investigatory 
works in relation to the 
reinstatement of their own works 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Senior 
Manager 
Permit 
Delivery 
(Andy 
Turner) 

  

s.72 New Roads and Street 
Works Act 1991 

 

 A duty to keep a register showing 
such information as in a 
descriptions of works as may be 
prescribed, executed or proposed to 
be executed in the street (an 
example of other works are local 
authority road maintenance works). 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Senior 
Manager 
Permit 
Delivery 
(Andy 
Turner) 

  

s.53 
New Roads and Street Works 

Act 1991 
 

 

LEAD LOCAL FLOOD AUTHORITY Functions 

P
age 574



 
 

90 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 Function Officer Level Source of Delegation 

1 2 3 4 

 Duty to issue flood defence consents 
on ordinary watercourses 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 

  s.23 Land Drainage Act 1991 

 Power to require works to maintain 
a proper flow of water in ordinary 
watercourses  

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 

  

s.25 Land Drainage Act 1991 
 

 

 Power to request information from 
any person 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 

  
s.14 Floods and Water 
Management Act 2010 

 

P
age 575



 
 

91 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 

 Power to sanction persons who do 
not provide information 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 

  

s.15 Floods and Water 
Management Act 2010 

 
 

 Duty to publish flood investigation 
reports 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 

  

s.19 Floods and Water 
Management Act 2010 

 
 

P
age 576



 
 

92 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

 Duty to maintain an Asset Register  Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 
 

  

s.21 Floods and Water 
Management Act 2010 

 
 

 Power to designate structures or 
environmental features that affect a 
flood or coastal erosion risk 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 
 

  

s.30 Floods and Water 
Management Act 2010 

 

 Duty to issue SuDS Approval  Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 

  Schedule 3  
Floods and Water Management 

Act 2010 
 

P
age 577



 
 

93 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 
Public Rights 
of Way 
Officer 
(Stewart 
Williams) 

 

Street Naming & Numbering Authority Functions 

 Function Officer Level 

Source of Delegation 
1 2 3 4 

 Power to approve or reject property 
and street addresses.   

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  
 

  

S.64 and 65 of Towns and 
Improvement Clauses Act 1847 

and Sections 17 - 19 of the 
Public Health Act 1925 

 Power to make alterations to names 
of streets 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 
Services 
(Chris Bates)  

  

S.21 of the Public Health Act 
Amendment Act 1907 

 Duty to have a Local street 
Gazetteer and National Street 
Gazetteer 

 Head of 
Highways 
Infrastructure 
and Fleet 

  
New Roads and Street Works 

Act 1991 

P
age 578



 
 

94 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Services 
(Chris Bates)  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 General Functions 

Functions Officer Level Source of Delegation 

1 2 3 4 

 Towns Fund - Ward Initiatives 
 
That the Director of Regeneration 
and Culture and Director of 
Environment and Community 
Services, in consultation with the 
Mayor, be authorised to determine 
an alternative project for delivery 
and form the reserve list, should 
any project be unable to progress 
due to any legal or technical 
reason. 

Director of 
Regeneration 
and Culture 
and Director 
of 
Environment 
and 
Community 
Services 

   Executive 8 March 2022 

  

P
age 579



 
 

95 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Community Protection Service 

 Function  Officer Level Source of Delegation 

1 2 3 4 

1. To act on behalf of the Council to 
enter premises, seize goods and 
documents and make enquiries in 
respect of the legislation as set 
out in the attached Schedule. 
 

 • Operational 
Community 
Safety 
Manager 

• Strategic 
Community 
Safety 
Manager 

• Neighbourhood 
Safety 
Manager 

• Neighbourhood 
Safety Officer 

• Senior 
Neighbourhood 
Safety Warden 

• Neighbourhood 
Safety Warden  

• Any other 
approved post 
which may 
exist, at any 
time, within 
Stronger 
Communities 
Department 

  See attached Schedule 

P
age 580



 
 

96 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

with 
enforcement or 
investigative 
responsibilities. 

 

 

2 To authorise activities under the    
Regulation of Investigatory 
Powers Act 2000 

 • Head of 
Stronger 
Communities  

• Operational 
Community 
Safety 
Manager  

• Strategic 
Community 
Safety 
Manager 

  Regulation of Investigatory 
Powers Act 2000 

3  

To act as Disclosure Officer under 
the Criminal Procedures & 
Investigation Act 1996 

 • Head of 
Stronger 
Communities 

• Operational 
Community 
Safety 
Manager  

• Strategic 
Community 
Safety 
Manager 

• Neighbourhood 
Safety 
Manager 

  Criminal Procedures & 
Investigation Act 1996 

P
age 581



 
 

97 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

4  

Authority to issue fixed penalty 
notices is given to the posts 
identified in para 1 above 

 • Operational 
Community 
Safety 
Manager 

• Strategic 
Community 
Safety 
Manager 

• Neighbourhood 
Safety 
Manager 

• Neighbourhood 
Safety Officer 

• Senior 
Neighbourhood 
Safety Warden 

• Neighbourhood 
Safety Warden  

• Any other 
approved post 
which may 
exist, at any 
time, within 
Stronger 
Communities 
Department 
with 
enforcement or 
investigative 
responsibilities. 

 

   

P
age 582



 
 

98 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

5 Specific authority is given to the 
following post holders to act as 
competent Officers to enter and 
search premises and search 
vehicles under Schedule III of the 
Environmental Protection Act 
1990, Building Act 1984 Section 
95, Housing Act 1985, Housing 
Act 2004, and Public Health Act 
1936, the Control of Pollution 
(Amendment) Act 1989 and the 
Environment Act 1995, Section 
108 as amended by the Clean 
Neighbourhoods and Environment 
Act 2005. 

 

 • Operational 
Community 
Safety 
Manager 

• Strategic 
Community 
Safety 
Manager 

• Neighbourhood 
Safety 
Manager 

• Neighbourhood 
Safety Officer 

• Senior 
Neighbourhood 
Safety Warden 

• Neighbourhood 
Safety Warden  

• Any other 
approved post 
which may 
exist, at any 
time, within 
Stronger 
Communities 
Department 
with 
enforcement or 
investigative 
responsibilities. 

 
 

  Schedule III of the 
Environmental Protection Act 
1990, Building Act 1984 
Section 95, Housing Act 
1985, Housing Act 2004, and 
Public Health Act 1936, the 
Control of Pollution 
(Amendment) Act 1989 and 
the Environment Act 1995, 
Section 108 as amended by 
the Clean Neighbourhoods 
and Environment Act 2005. 
 

P
age 583



 
 

99 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

6 Authority to appoint and authorise 
staff from other local authorities in 
the event of a major incident 

 • Head of 
Stronger 
Communities 

• Operational 
Community 
Safety 
Manager 

• Strategic 
Community 
Safety 
Manager 

 

   

7 Subject to paragraphs 9, 10, 11 
and 15 Authority to sign statutory 
notices under legislation specified 
in the attached Schedule  

 • Head of 
Stronger 
Communities 

• Operational 
Community 
Safety 
Manager 

• Strategic 
Community 
Safety 
Manager 

 

  See attached Schedule 

8 The Authority to issue permits, 
licences, authorisations and to set 
fees 

 • Head of 
Stronger 
Communities  

• Operational 
Community 
Safety 
Manager 

   

P
age 584



 
 

100 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

• Strategic 
Community 
Safety 
Manager 

 

9 The Authority to authorise works 
in default of legal notices 

 • Operational 
Community 
Safety 
Manager 

• Strategic 
Community 
Safety 
Manager 

• Neighbourhood 
Safety 
Manager 

  See attached Schedule 

10 To initiate and institute legal 
proceedings 

 • Head of 
Stronger 
Communities 

• Operational 
Community 
Safety 
Manager 

• Strategic 
Community 
Safety 
Manager 

  See attached Schedule 

11 Authority to make arrangements 
with statutory undertakers in 
regard to the restoration or 
continuation of water, gas, or 

 • Head of 
Stronger 
Communities 

• Operational 
Community 

  Local Government Act 1982 

P
age 585



 
 

101 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

electric under the provisions of the 
Local Government Act 1982 

Safety 
Manager  

• Strategic 
Community 
Safety 
Manager  

• Neighbourhood 
Safety 
Manager 

 

 

12 Authority to carry out 
consultations on behalf of Local 
Authority under Section 1E of the 
Crime and Disorder Act 1998 (as 
amended by section 66 of the 
Police Reform Act 2002) 

 • Head of 
Stronger 
Communities 

• Operational 
Community 
Safety 
Manager  

• Strategic 
Community 
Safety 
Manager  

• Neighbourhood 
Safety 
Manager 

• Community 
Safety 
Partnership 
Officer 

 

  Section 1E of the Crime and 
Disorder Act 1998 (as 
amended by section 66 of the 
Police Reform Act 2002) 

P
age 586



 
 

102 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

13 Authority to designate Public 
Spaces Protection Orders under 
the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime 
and Policing Act 2014 

 • Head of 
Stronger 
Communities 

• Operational 
Community 
Safety 
Manager  

• Strategic 
Community 
Safety 
Manager  

 

  Anti-social Behaviour, Crime 
and Policing Act 2014 

14 Authority to implement the 
alleygate programme 

 • Head of 
Stronger 
Communities 

• Operational 
Community 
Safety 
Manager  

• Strategic 
Community 
Safety 
Manager  

• Neighbourhood 
Safety 
Manager 

 

   

15 Authority to authorise competent 
officers under Health and Safety 
at Work etc. Act 1974, Section 19  
 

 • Head of 
Stronger 
Communities 

• Operational 
Community 

  Health and Safety at Work 
etc. Act 1974, Section 19 

P
age 587



 
 

103 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Safety 
Manager  

• Strategic 
Community 
Safety 
Manager  

  

P
age 588



 
 

104 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Officer Delegation – Adult Social Care and Health Integration 

 Function Officer Level Source of Delegation 

1 2 3 4 

 Power to issue licences 
authorising the use of land as a 
caravan site (“site licences”). 

 
 

 Licensing 
team 

  Section 3(3) of the 
Caravan Sites and Control 
of Development Act 1960 
(c. 62). 
 
Constitution 
Licensing and registration 
functions 

 Power to license the use of 
moveable dwellings and camping 
sites. 
 
 

 Licensing 
team 

  Section 3(3) of the 
Caravan Sites and Control 
of Development Act 1960 
(c. 62). 

 

Constitution 
Licensing and registration 
functions 

 Power to license hackney 
carriages and private hire 
vehicles. 
 

 Licensing 
team 

  a)as to hackney carriages, the 
Town Police Clauses Act 1847 
(10 & 11 Vict. c. 89), as 
extended by section 171 of the 
Public Health Act 1875 (38 & 39 
Vict. c. 55), and section 15 of 
the Transport Act 1985 (c. 67); 
and sections 47, 57, 58, 60 and 
79 of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 
1976 (c. 57); 

(b)as to private hire vehicles, 
sections 48, 57, 58, 60 and 79 

P
age 589

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1960/62
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1960/62
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1960/62
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1960/62
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1847/89
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1847/89
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1875/55
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1875/55
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1985/67
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1976/57


 
 

105 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 
1976. 
 

Constitution 
Licensing and registration 
functions 

 

 Power to license drivers of 
hackney carriages and private 
hire vehicles. 
 
 
 

 Licensing 
team 

  Sections 51, 53, 54, 59, 
61 and 79 of the Local 
Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) 
Act 1976. 
 
Constitution 
Licensing and registration 
functions 

 Power to license operators of 
hackney carriages and private 
hire vehicles  

 Licensing 
team 

  Sections 55 to 58, 62 and 
79 of the Local 
Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) 
Act 1976. 

 

Constitution 
Licensing and registration 
functions 

 Power to suspend or revoke a 
private hire or hackney carriage 
driver’s licence with immediate 
effect. 
 

 Licensing 
Team 

  Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) 
Act 1976. 

 

Licensing Committee 
8 August 2011 

P
age 590



 
 

106 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 Power to set fees and charges 
only insofar as they relate to the 
work of the service unit and not 
any other service area or officer. 
 
Power to serve statutory notices 
under the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 
1976 
 
Power to institute legal 
proceedings under the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976 
 
Power to institute legal 
proceedings under the Town 
Police Clauses Act 1847 
 

Power to institute legal 
proceedings under the Road 
Traffic Act 1988 
 
Power to institute legal 
proceedings under the Criminal 
Justice and Public Order Act 
1994 
 
Power to seize goods and 
documents under the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976 

 Licensing 
team 

  Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) 
Act 1976. 

 
Licensing Committee 
8 August 2011 

P
age 591



 
 

107 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
Power to direct the use of 
surveillance activities and the 
use of covert human intelligence 
services requiring authorisation 
under the Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers Act 2000 
 
Power to represent the Licensing 
Authority in the Magistrates 
Courts, Crown Courts, High 
Courts and Tribunals and 
Inquiries 
 
Power to act as Disclosure 
Officer under the Criminal 
Procedure and Investigation Act 
1996 
 

 
 
 

 Power to grant or refuse an 
application for a Hackney 
Carriage Vehicle Proprietor 
Licence under Section 37 of the 
Town Police Clauses Act 1847 or 
a Private Hire Vehicle Proprietor 
Licence under Section 48 of the 
Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 
1976. 
 

 Licensing 
team 

  Section 37 of the Town 
Police Clauses Act 1847 or 
a Private Hire Vehicle 
Proprietor Licence under 
Section 48 of the Local 
Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) 
Act 1976. 
 
Licensing Committee 15 
May 2017 

P
age 592



 
 

108 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

 Power to attach specific 
conditions to individual 
applications for a Private Hire or 
Hackney Carriage Vehicle 
Proprietorship Licence under 
Sections 47 or 48 of the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976, which 
depart from the Council policies 
and conditions. 
 
 
 

 Licensing 
team 

  Sections 47 or 48 of the 
Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) 
Act 1976 
 
Licensing Committee 15 
May 2017 

 That the Licensing Committee be 
not prevented from exercising the 
functions delegated and the 
Director of Culture and 
Communities, or any successor 
role, may refer any application he 
considered suitable to the 
Licensing Committee for a 
decision. 
 

 Licensing 
team 

  Licensing Committee 15 
May 2017 

 Power to register pool promoters. 
 
 

 Licensing 
team 

  Schedule 2 to the Betting, 
Gaming and Lotteries Act 
1963 (c. 2)(12). 
 
Constitution 
Licensing and registration 
functions 

P
age 593

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1963/2
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2000/2853/schedule/1/made#f00024


 
 

109 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 Power to grant track betting 
licences. 
 

 Licensing 
team 

  Schedule 3 to the Betting, 
Gaming and Lotteries Act 
1963(13). 

 Power to license inter-track 
betting schemes. 
 

 Licensing 
team 

  Schedule 5ZA to the 
Betting, Gaming and 
Lotteries Act 1963(13). 
 
Constitution 
Licensing and registration 
functions 

 Power to grant permits in respect 
of premises with amusement 
machines. 
 
 

 Licensing 
team 

  Schedule 9 to the Gaming 
Act 1968 (c. 65) (15). 
 
Constitution 
Licensing and registration 
functions 

 Power to register societies 
wishing to promote lotteries 
 

 Licensing 
team 

  Schedule 1 to the 
Lotteries and Amusements 
Act 1976 (c. 32)(16). 
 
Constitution 
Licensing and registration 
functions 

 Power to grant permits in respect 
of premises where amusements 
with prizes are provided. 
 
 
 

 Licensing 
team 

  Schedule 3 to the 
Lotteries and Amusements 
Act 1976(17). 
 
Constitution 
Licensing and registration 
functions 

 Power to issue cinema and 
cinema club licences. 

 Licensing 
team 

  Section 1 of the Cinema 
Act 1985 (c. 13). 

P
age 594

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2000/2853/schedule/1/made#f00025
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2000/2853/schedule/1/made#f00025
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1968/65
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2000/2853/schedule/1/made#f00027
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1976/32
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2000/2853/schedule/1/made#f00028
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2000/2853/schedule/1/made#f00029
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1985/13


 
 

110 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
 

 

Constitution 
Licensing and registration 
functions 

 Power to issue theatre licences. 
 
 

 Licensing 
team 

  Sections 12 to 14 of the 
Theatres Act 1968 (c. 
54)(18). 
 
Constitution 
Licensing and registration 
functions 

 Power to issue entertainments 
licences 
 

 Licensing 
team 

  Section 12 of the Children and 
Young Persons Act 1933 (c. 
12), section 52 of, and 
Schedule 12 to, the London 
Government Act 1963 (c. 33), 
section 79 of the Licensing Act 
1964 (c. 26), sections 1 to 5 
and 7 of, and Parts I and II of 
the Schedule to, the Private 
Places of Entertainment 
(Licensing) Act 1967 (c. 19) and 
Part I of, and Schedules 1 and 
2 to, the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 
1982 (c. 30). 

 

Constitution 
Licensing and registration 
functions 

 

 Functions relating to licensing  
 
 

 Licensing 
team 

  (Sections 5-8 Licensing 
Act 2003) 
 
Constitution 

P
age 595

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1968/54
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1968/54
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2000/2853/schedule/1/made#f00030
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1933/12
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1933/12
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1963/33
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1964/26
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1967/19
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1982/30


 
 

111 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Licensing and registration 
functions 
 

 Duty to comply with requirement 
to provide information to 
Gambling Commission 
 

 Licensing 
team 

  Section 29 and 30? 
Gambling Act 2005 
 
Constitution 
Licensing and registration 
functions 

 Functions relating to exchange of 
information 
 

 Licensing 
team 

  Section 30 of the 
Gambling Act 2005 
 
Constitution 
Licensing and registration 
functions 

 Functions relating to occasional 
use of notices 
 

 Licensing 
team 

  Section 39 Gambling Act 
2005 
 
Constitution 
Licensing and registration 
functions 
 

 Power to resolve not to issue a 
casino premises licence 
 

 Licensing 
team 

  (Section 166 of the 
Gambling Act 2005) 
 
Constitution 
Licensing and registration 
functions 

 Power to designate officer of a 
licensing authority as an 
authorised person for a purpose 
relating to premises 

 Licensing 
team 

  Section 304 of the 
Gambling Act 2005  
 
Constitution 

P
age 596



 
 

112 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Licensing and registration 
functions 

 Power to make order dis-
applying section 279 or 282(1) of 
the 2005 Act in relation to 
specified premises 
 

 Licensing 
team 

  Gambling Act 2005 
section 279 or section 
282(1) 
 
Constitution 
Licensing and registration 
functions 

 Power to exchange information 
 
 
 

 Licensing 
team 

  Section 350 Gambling Act 
2005 
 
Constitution 
Licensing and registration 
functions 

 Functions relating to the 
registration and regulation of 
small society lotteries 
 

 Licensing 
team 

  Schedule 1 to the 
Lotteries and Amusements 
Act 1976 (c. 32)(28 

 

Constitution 
Licensing and registration 
functions 

 Power to license sex shops and 
sex cinemas. 
 
 

 Licensing 
team 

  The Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) 
Act 1982, section 2 and 
Schedule 3. 
 
Constitution 
Licensing and registration 
functions 

 Power to license performances 
of hypnotism. 

 Licensing 
team 

  The Hypnotism Act 1952 
(c. 46). 

 

P
age 597

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1976/32
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2000/2853/made#f00028
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1952/46
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1952/46


 
 

113 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
 

Constitution 
Licensing and registration 
functions 

 Power to license premises for 
acupuncture, tattooing, ear-
piercing and electrolysis. 
 
 

 Licensing 
team 

  Sections 13 to 17 of the 
Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) 
Act 1982. 
 
Constitution 
Licensing and registration 
functions 

 Power to license pleasure boats 
and pleasure vessels. 
 
 

 Licensing 
team 

  Section 94 of the Public 
Health Acts Amendment 
Act 1907 (c. 53)(19). 
 
Constitution 
Licensing and registration 
functions 

 Power to register door staff. 
 
 

 

 Licensing 
team 

  Paragraphs 1(2) and 9 of 
Schedule 12 to the 
London Government Act 
1963 (c. 33) and Part V of 
the London Local 
Authorities Act 1995 (c. x). 

 

Constitution 
Licensing and registration 
functions 

 Power to license market and 
street trading. 
 
 
 

 Licensing 
team 

  Part III of, and Schedule 4 
to, the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) 
Act 1982, Part III of the London Local 

P
age 598

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1907/53
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2000/2853/schedule/1/made#f00031
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1963/33
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukla/1995/10
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukla/1995/10
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukla/1990/7


 
 

114 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Authorities Act 1990 (c. vii) and section 6 of 
the London Local Authorities Act 1994 (c. xii). 
 

Constitution 
Licensing and registration 
functions 

 Power to license night cafes and 
take-away food shops 
 
 

 Licensing 
team 

  Section 2 of the Late Night 
Refreshment Houses Act 
1969 (c. 53)(20), Part II of the 

London Local Authorities Act 1990 and 
section 5 of the London Local Authorities Act 
1994. 
 

Constitution 
Licensing and registration 
functions 

 Duty to keep list of persons 
entitled to sell non-medicinal 
poisons.  

 
 

 Licensing 
team 

  Sections 3(1)(b)(ii), 5, 6 
and 11 of the Poisons Act 
1972 (c. 66)(21). 
 
Constitution 
Licensing and registration 
functions 

 Power to license dealers in game 
and the killing and selling of 
game. 
 

 

 Licensing 
team 

  Sections 5, 6, 17, 18 and 21 to 
23 of the Game Act 1831 (c. 
32); sections 2 to 16 of the 
Game Licensing Act 1860 (c. 
90), section 4 of the Customs 
and Inland Revenue Act 1883 
(c. 10), sections 12(3) and 27 of 
the Local Government Act 1874 
(c. 73), and section 213 of the 
Local Government Act 1972 (c. 
70). 
 

Constitution 

P
age 599

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukla/1990/7
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukla/1994/12
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1969/53
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2000/2853/schedule/1/made#f00032
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1972/66
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2000/2853/schedule/1/made#f00033
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1831/32
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1831/32
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1860/90
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1860/90
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1883/10
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1883/10
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1874/73
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1874/73
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1972/70
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1972/70


 
 

115 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Licensing and registration 
functions 

 Power of register and license 
premises for the preparation of 
food. 
 
 

 Licensing 
team 

  Section 19 of the Food 
Safety Act 1990 (c.16). 

 

Constitution 
Licensing and registration 
functions 

 Power to license scrap yards. 
 
 

 Licensing 
Sub 
Committee 

  Section 1 of the Scrap 
Metal Dealers Act 1964 (c. 
69).  
 
Constitution 
Licensing and registration 
functions 

 Power to issue, amend or 
replace safety certificates 
(whether general or special) for 
sports grounds. 
 

 Licensing 
team 

  The Safety of Sports 
Grounds Act 1975 (c. 
52)(22). 
 
Constitution 
Licensing and registration 
functions 

 Power to issue, cancel, amend or 
replace safety certificates for 
regulated stands at sports 
grounds. 
 

 Licensing 
team 

  Part III of the Fire Safety 
and Safety of Places of 
Sport Act 1987 (c. 27). 
 
Constitution 
Licensing and registration 
functions 
 

P
age 600

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1990/16
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1964/69
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1964/69
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1975/52
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1975/52
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2000/2853/schedule/1/made#f00034
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1987/27


 
 

116 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 Power to issue fire certificates. 
 
 

 Licensing 
team 

  Section 5 of the Fire 
Precautions Act 1971 (c. 
40). 

 

Constitution 
Licensing and registration 
functions 

 

 Power to license premises for the 
breeding of dogs. 
 

 Licensing 
team 

  Section 1 of the Breeding 
of Dogs Act 1973 (c. 60) 
and section 1 of the 
Breeding and Sale of 
Dogs (Welfare) Act 1999 
(c. 11). 

 

Constitution 
Licensing and registration 
functions 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 Power to license pet shops and 
other establishments where 
animals are bred or kept for the 
purposes of carrying on a 
business. 
 

 Licensing 
team 

  Section 1 of the Pet 
Animals Act 1951 (c. 
35)(23); section 1 of the 
Animal Boarding 
Establishments Act 
1963(c. 43)(24); the Riding 
Establishments Acts 1964 
and 1970 (1964 c. 70 and 
1970 c. 70)(25); section 1 
of the Breeding of Dogs 
Act 1973 (c. 60)(26), and 

P
age 601

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1971/40
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1971/40
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1973/60
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1999/11
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1999/11
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1951/35
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1951/35
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2000/2853/schedule/1/made#f00035
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1963/43
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2000/2853/schedule/1/made#f00036
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1964/70
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1970/70
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2000/2853/schedule/1/made#f00037
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1973/60
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2000/2853/schedule/1/made#f00038


 
 

117 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

sections 1 and 8 of the 
Breeding and Sale of 
Dogs (Welfare) Act 1999. 
 
Constitution 
Licensing and registration 
functions 
 

 Power to register animal trainers 
and exhibitors. 
 

 Licensing 
team 

  Section 1 of the 
Performing Animals 
(Regulation) Act 1925 (c. 
38)(27). 
 
Constitution 
Licensing and registration 
functions 
 

 Power to license zoos. 
 
 

 

 Licensing 
team 

  Section 1 of the Zoo 
Licensing Act 1981 (c. 
37)(28). 
 
Constitution 
Licensing and registration 
functions 

 Power to license dangerous wild 
animals. 
 

 

 Licensing 
team 

  Section 1 of the 
Dangerous Wild Animals 
Act 1976 (c. 38). 

 

Constitution 
Licensing and registration 
functions 

P
age 602

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1925/38
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1925/38
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2000/2853/schedule/1/made#f00039
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1981/37
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1981/37
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2000/2853/schedule/1/made#f00040
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1976/38


 
 

118 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 Power to license knackers’ 
yards. 
 

 

 Licensing 
team 

  Section 4 of the 
Slaughterhouses Act 
1974. See also the Animal 
By-Products Order 1999 
(S.I. 1999/646). 
 
Constitution 
Licensing and registration 
functions 

 Power to license the employment 
of children. 
 
 
 

 Licensing 
team 

  Part II of the Children and 
Young Persons Act 1933 
(c. 33), byelaws made 
under that Part, and Part II 
of the Children and Young 
Persons Act 1963 (c. 37). 
 
Constitution 
Licensing and registration 
functions 
 

 Power to approve premises for 
the solemnisation of marriages. 
 
 
 
 

 Licensing 
team 

  Section 46A of the 
Marriage Act 1949 (c. 76) 
and the Marriages 
(Approved Premises) 
Regulations 1995 (S. I. 
1995/510)(29). 
 
Constitution 
Licensing and registration 
functions 
 

P
age 603

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/1999/646
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1933/33
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1933/33
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1963/37
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1949/76
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/1995/510
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/1995/510
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/1995/510
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/1995/510
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2000/2853/schedule/1/made#f00041


 
 

119 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 Power to register common land 
or town or village greens, except 
where the power is exercisable 
solely for the purpose of giving 
effect to: 
 
(a) an exchange of lands 
effected by an order under 
section 19(3) of, or  
paragraph 6(4) of Schedule 3 to, 
the Acquisition of Land act 1981 
(c.67) or 
 
(b) an order under section 147 of 
the Inclosure Act 1845 (c.8 & 9 
Vict. c.118) 
 

 Licensing 
Committee 

  Regulation 6 of the 
Commons Registration 
(New Land) Regulations 
1969 (S.I. 1969/1843). 

 

Constitution 
Licensing and registration 
functions 

 Power to register variation of 
rights of common 
 
 

 Licensing 
Committee 

  Regulation 29 of the 
Commons Registration 
(General) Regulations 
1966 (S.I. 1966/1471)(30). 
 
Constitution 
Licensing and registration 
functions 

 Power to license persons to 
collect for charitable and other 
causes. 
 
 

 Licensing 
team 

  Section 5 of the Police, 
Factories etc. 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) 
Act 1916 (c. 31) and 
section 2 of the House to 
House Collections Act 
1939 (c. 44)(31). 

P
age 604

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/1969/1843
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/1966/1471
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2000/2853/schedule/1/made#f00042
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1916/31
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1939/44
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2000/2853/schedule/1/made#f00044


 
 

120 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
Constitution 
Licensing and registration 
functions 

 Power to grant consent for the 
operation of a loudspeaker. 
 

 Licensing 
team 

  Schedule 2 to the Noise 
and Statutory Nuisance 
Act 1993 (c. 40). 
 
Constitution 
Licensing and registration 
functions 

 Power to grant a street works 
licence. 
 
 

 Licensing 
team 

  Section 50 of the New 
Roads and Street Works 
Act 1991 (c. 22). 

 

Constitution 
Licensing and registration 
functions 

 Power to license agencies for the 
supply of nurses. 
 

 Licensing 
team 

  Section 2 of the Nurses 
Agencies Act 1957 (c. 16). 
 
Constitution 
Licensing and registration 
functions 

 Power to issue licences for the 
movement of pigs. 
 

 Licensing 
team 

  Article 12 of the Pigs 
(Records, Identification 
and Movement) Order 
1995 (S.I. 1995/11). 
 
Constitution 
Licensing and registration 
functions 

P
age 605

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1993/40
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1991/22
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1957/16
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/1995/11


 
 

121 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 Power to license the sale of pigs. 
 
 

 Licensing 
team 

  Article 13 of the Pigs 
(Records, Identification 
and Movement) Order 
1995. 

 

Constitution 
Licensing and registration 
functions 

 Power to license collecting 
centres for the movement of 
pigs. 
 
 

 Licensing 
team 

  Article 14 of the Pigs 
(Records, Identification 
and Movement) Order 
1995 
 
Constitution 
Licensing and registration 
functions 

 Power to issue a licence to move 
cattle from a market. 
 

 

 Licensing 
team 

  Article 5(2) of the Cattle 
Identification Regulations 
1998 (S.I. 1998/871). 
 
Constitution 
Licensing and registration 
functions 

 Power to license Scrap Metal 
Dealers 

 Licensing 
team where 
there are no 
grounds for 
refusal 

  Constitution 
 

 Ability to authorise Special 
Severance Payments of up to 
£20,000.  

Director of 
Adult 
Social 
Care and 

   Sections 3 and 26 of the 
Local Government Act 
1999.   

P
age 606

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/1998/871


 
 

122 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Health 
Integration 

 
 

 Function - The exercise of the Council’s powers and duties in relation to the provision of social services so far as 
those functions relate to:-  
 
• Adults; or  
• Carers,  
 
Functions exercisable on behalf of an NHS body so far as it relates to adults.  
 

 Function Officer Level Source of Delegation 

1 2 3 4 

 Implementing or determining, 
subject to any right of review or 
appeal which may apply, all 
matters concerning the provision 
of mental health services 
including applications to displace 
nearest relatives and 
appointment as nearest relative 
and the acceptance and exercise 
of guardianships under the 
Mental Health Act 1983.  
 

    Mental Health Act 1983. 

  
To formally approve and 
authorise Mental Health 
Professionals who are eligible 
and qualified to be considered as 

     

P
age 607



 
 

123 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Approved Mental Health 
Practitioners.  

 Implementing or determining, 
subject to any right of review or 
appeal which may apply, all 
matters concerning the provision of 
services provided under the Mental 
Capacity Act 2005 including 
appointment as Deputy and 
applications to the Court of 
Protection and undertaking 
Deprivation of Liberty Safeguard 
authorisations (DoLS).  
 

    Mental Capacity Act 2005 

 Implementing or determining, 
subject to any right of review or 
appeal which may apply, all 
matters concerning the statutory 
and corporate complaints 
procedure.  
 

     

 Setting and varying rates for 
providers of all forms of social 
care and housing support in 
consultation with the Director of 
Finance 
 

     

 Setting and varying fees and 
charges for delivery of services 
Undertaking joint collaborative 
action as appropriate with the 
National Health Service and other 
partner organisations for the 

     

P
age 608



 
 

124 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

planning and provision of jointly 
operated services within the 
County, including the 
development of Cooperation 
Agreements and Partnerships 
Agreements for joint working 
arrangements. 
 

 Protection and promotion of the 
welfare of vulnerable adults 
including vulnerable young 
people moving into adulthood. 
 

     

 To meet the requirements as set 
down by regulatory bodies in 
relation to the operation of 
services within Adult and Health 
Services 
 

     

 The provision, operation, 
commissioning and variation of 
payments to external providers in 
respect of services arranged by 
the Director of Adult Social Care 
and Health Integration. 
 

     

 Under the Care Act 2014 to 
discharge any functions in 
relation to the social care duties 
of the Council including: 

    Care Act 2014  

  To provide information and 
advice about care and 

    Care Act 2014  

P
age 609



 
 

125 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

support services for adults 
and carers. 

  To provide or arrange 
access to preventative 
services promoting 
wellbeing and 
independence 

    Care Act 2014  

  Ensuring that the needs of 
people continue to be met 
if their care provider 
becomes unable to carry 
on providing care because 
of business failure. 

    Care Act 2014  

  Carrying out an 
assessment and applying 
national eligibility criteria 
for anyone who appears to 
require care and support, 
including carers who may 
need support. 

    Care Act 2014  

  To provide a personal 
budget to anyone with 
‘eligible needs’. 

    Care Act 2014  

  To make enquiries into 
concerns of abuse and 
neglect requiring the 
cooperation of partner 
agencies and led multi 
agency safeguarding 
investigations. 

    Care Act 2014  

P
age 610



 
 

126 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

  Ensuring that the local 
authority has a panel of 
persons in place for its 
area, as required under 
the Counter Terrorism and 
Security Act 2015. The 
function of this panel is to 
assess the extent to which 
identified individuals are 
vulnerable to being drawn 
into terrorism and to 
develop a support plan for 
that individual. 

    Care Act 2014 Counter 
Terrorism and Security Act 
2015 

 To coordinate the Council’s 
response to Section 17 of the 
Crime and Disorder Act 1998 and 
ensure the crime and disorder 
implications of the Council’s 
decisions are properly 
considered. 
 

    Section 17 of the Crime 
and Disorder Act 1998 

 To meet the requirements as set 
down by regulatory bodies in 
relation to the employment, 
registration and training of all 
registrable staff.  
 

     

 To advise and contribute to the 
preparation of the Integrated 
Needs Assessment and Joint 
Health & Wellbeing Strategy in 
conjunction with the Director of 

     

P
age 611



 
 

127 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Public Health and local Clinical 
Commissioning Groups.  
 

 To be the lead Director on the 
local Safeguarding Adults Board 
in accordance with legislation and 
guidance 
 

     

 Domestic Abuse New Burden 
Funding - Provision of Support 
within Domestic Abuse Safe 
Accommodation Services for 
2021-2022. That the Director of 
Adult Social Care and Health 
Integration, in consultation with 
the Executive Member for Adult 
Social Care, receives delegated 
authority to sign off the needs 
assessment, the strategy and 
allocate funding for the project up 
to £394,865 per 
intervention/decision. 

    Executive – 15 June 2021 

  

P
age 612



 
 

128 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Officer Delegation – Director of Public Health  

 Function Officer Level Source of Delegation 

1 2 3 4 

 Delegated authority in relation to 
the Changing Futures Scheme 

a) If successful, that delegated 
authority be given to the 
Director of Public Health 
(DPH), as the named lead 
for the South Tees 
partnership, in consultation 
with the relevant Executive 
Member, to allocate future 
funding for Changing 
Futures, up to £150k per 
intervention/decision and to 
approve costed delivery 
plans relating to the 
programme via the 
Governance and Steering 
Board. 

b) That delegated authority be 
given the Director of Public 
Health (DPH), as the named 
lead for the South Tees 
partnership, to sign the bid 
on behalf of Middlesbrough 
Council as lead authority for 
the partnership. 

Director of 
Public 
Health 

   Executive – 13 April 2021 

P
age 613



 
 

129 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 Ability to authorise Special 
Severance Payments of up to 
£20,000.  

Director of 
Public 
Health 

   Sections 3 and 26 of the 
Local Government Act 1999.   

Officer Delegation – Children’s Services 

 Function Officer Level Source of Delegation  

1 2 3 4 

 The Executive Director of 
Children’s Services is authorised to 
discharge any function of the 
Executive in relation to:  
 
The exercise of the Council’s 
powers and duties in relation to the 
provision of social services so far 
as those functions relate to:- • 
Children, or young people leaving 
care  
 

The Executive 
Director of 
Children’s 
Services 

   

 

 Functions exercisable on behalf of 
an NHS body so far as it relates to 
children and young people.  
 

The 
Executive 
Director of 
Children’s 
Services 

   

 

 The Council’s powers and duties in 
relation to the provision and 
commissioning of education and 
training opportunities for young 
people as determined by the 
Education Act 1996 and Education 

The 
Executive 
Director of 
Children’s 
Services 

    

P
age 614



 
 

130 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

and Skills Act 2008 and all other 
legislation and guidance relating to 
education and training for young 
people.  
 

 Implementing or determining, 
subject to any right of review or 
appeal which may apply, all 
matters concerning the statutory 
and corporate complaints 
procedure.  
 

    

 

 Setting and varying rates for 
providers of all forms of social care 
and housing support in consultation 
with the Director of Finance.  
 

    

 

 Setting and varying fees and 
charges for delivery of services  
 

    
 

 Undertaking joint collaborative 
action as appropriate with the 
National Health Service and other 
partner organisations for the 
planning and provision of jointly 
operated services within the town, 
including the development of 
Cooperation Agreements and 
Partnerships and Agreements for 
joint working arrangements. 
 

    

 

P
age 615



 
 

131 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 To meet the requirements as set 
down by regulatory bodies in 
relation to the operation of services 
within Children and Young 
People’s Services. 
 

    

 

 The provision, operation and 
commissioning of vocational 
training and allied services for 
persons over compulsory school 
age, including the provision of 
secure boarding accommodation 
for young people aged over 16 but 
under 25 who are subject to a 
learning difficultly assessment and 
promotion of arrangements to 
assist persons to obtain 
employment and employers to 
obtain employees.  
 

    

 

 The provision, operation and 
commissioning of services in 
relation to Adult Learning.  
 

Director of 
Education 
and 
Partnerships  

   

 

 To coordinate the transition of 
service provision for children who 
will require services into adulthood.  
 

     

 Under the Children and Families 
Act 2014, to discharge any 
functions in relation to the social 

Director of 
Education 

    

P
age 616



 
 

132 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

care duties of the Council 
including:  
 
• The publication of a ‘Local Offer’ 
which clearly sets out services 
available for children and young 
people with special educational 
needs between the ages of 0-25.  
In carrying out these delegated 
functions, the Director will agree 
arrangements for consultation with 
the relevant Executive Portfolio 
Member(s) and will refer to the 
Executive for consideration and 
decision those matters directed by 
the said Member(s). 

and 
Partnerships 

 The Executive Director of 
Children’s Services will meet the 
requirements as set down by 
regulatory bodies in relation to the 
employment, registration and 
training of all registrable staff.  
 
 

     

 The Executive Director of 
Children’s Services will license the 
employment of children in 
accordance with the Children and 
Young Persons Act 1933. 
  

Director of 
Education 
and 
Partnerships 

   

 

 The Executive Director of 
Children’s Services will be the lead 

     

P
age 617



 
 

133 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Director on the Local Safeguarding 
Children’s Partnership in 
accordance with legislation and 
guidance.  
 

 The Executive Director of 
Children’s Services will be 
authorised to make an exempt 
decision regarding care packages, 
service responses and expenditure 
for care and accommodation which 
relate to individual service users 
and this will not constitute a key 
decision if it exceeds the key 
decision financial threshold.  
 

     

 Ability to authorise Special 
Severance Payments of up to 
£20,000.  

Executive 
Director of 
Children’s 
Services; 
Director of 
Children’s 
Care and 
Director of 
Education and 
Partnerships 

   Sections 3 and 26 of the 
Local Government Act 1999.   

 

Children’s Safeguarding 

 Function Level Source of Delegation 

P
age 618



 
 

134 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

1 2 3 4 

 Making any representations on 
behalf of the Authority as children’s 
services authority or otherwise to 
the Committee exercising the 
Authority’s functions under the 
Licensing Act 2003 or the Gambling 
Act 2005 for the purpose of 
protecting children from harm. 

The Executive 
Director of 
Children’s 
Services 

    

 
 
 

Children in Need 

 Function Officer Level 

Source of Delegation 
1 2 3 4 

 To make arrangements for the 
provision of services and 
assistance whether in kind or in 
cash to children in need, their 
families and others, pursuant to 
Section 17 of the Act, or direct 
payment to qualifying persons 
under Section 17A. (Children Act 
1989) 
 

The Executive 
Director of 
Children’s 
Services 

   

Section 17A. (Children Act 
1989) 

 
 
 
 

P
age 619



 
 

135 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Child Protection 

 Function Officer Level Source of Delegation 

1 2 3 4 

 Exercising all the duties and 
functions of the Authority under 
Parts IV and 
V of the Children Act 1989, 
sections 31-52 (including section 
47 – local 
authority’s duty to investigate) and 
all other enabling powers with 
regard 
to the care, supervision and 
protection of children and young 
people, 
including determining applications 
for Residence Orders under 
Section 8 Children Act 1989. 
Including the following: 
 

Director of 
Children’s 
Care 

   Parts IV and 
V of the Children Act 1989, 
sections 31-52 (including 
section 47 and Section 8 

  Decision to initiate S.47 
Enquiry 

Director of 
Children’s 
Care 

    

  Recommendation not to 
proceed to conference 
following S.47 Enquiry 
where child protection 
concerns have been 
substantiated 

Director of 
Children’s 
Care 

    

P
age 620



 
 

136 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

  Decision for Children to 
become the subject of  or be 
removed be removed from a 
Child Protection Plans  

 

Director of 
Children’s 
Care 

    

 Decision to support a Child 
Safeguarding Practice Review 

     

 Under Section 31 :- 
 

     

  Authorisation of passports Director of 
Children’s 
Care 

   Section 31 Children Act 1989 

  Authorisation of travel 
abroad 

Director of 
Children’s 
Care 

   Section 31 Children Act 1989 

  Authority to apply for Secure 
Orders up to 72 hours 
(pending an application to 
court) 

    Section 31 Children Act 1989 

  Authority to apply for Secure 
Orders (via a court 
application) 

    Section 31 Children Act 1989 

  Authority to extend Secure 
Orders (via a court 
application) 

Director of 
Children’s 
Care 

   Section 31 Children Act 1989 

  Consent to termination of 
pregnancy 

Director of 
Children’s 
Care 

   Section 31 Children Act 1989 

  Consent to HIV Testing Director of 
Children’s 
Care 

   Section 31 Children Act 1989 

P
age 621



 
 

137 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

  Consent to surgical 
operation 

Director of 
Children’s 
Care 

   Section 31 Children Act 1989 

  Acceptance of criminal injury 
compensation awards 

    Section 31 Children Act 1989 

  Initiating legal proceedings Director of 
Children’s 
Care and 
relevant 
HOS 

   Section 31 Children Act 1989 

  Approval of final agreed 
care plan in care 
proceedings 

Director of 
Children’s 
Care and 
relevant HOS 

   Section 31 Children Act 1989 

  Authority to discharge Care 
Orders 

Director of 
Children’s 
Care and 
relevant HOS 

   Section 31 Children Act 1989 

  Authorisation for Criminal 
Records Bureau (DBS) 
check (relatives 

Director of 
Children’s 
Care and 
relevant HOS 

   Section 31 Children Act 1989 

  Planned admission to S.20 
accommodation 

Director of 
Children’s 
Care and 
relevant HOS 

   Section 31 Children Act 1989 

  Emergency admission to 
S.20 accommodation 

Director of 
Children’s 
Care and 
relevant HOS 

   Section 31 Children Act 1989 

P
age 622



 
 

138 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

  Agreement to transfer case 

responsibility for a 

child/young person from one 

local authority to another 

Director of 
Children’s 
Care and 
relevant HOS 

   Section 31 Children Act 1989 

  Placement with parents 

agreement (planned and 

emergency) 

Director of 
Children’s 
Care and 
relevant HOS 

   Section 31 Children Act 1989 

  Removal from care 
placement 

Director of 
Children’s 
Care and 
relevant 
HOS 

   Section 31 Children Act 1989 

  Permanent exclusion from 
internal children’s residential 
setting 

Director of 
Children’s 
Care 

   Section 31 Children Act 1989 

  Decisions to give consent to 
the marriage of a young 
person in care 

Director of 
Children’s 
Care 

   Section 31 Children Act 1989 

  Agreement to a young 
person remanded to local 
authority care being 
placed at home or with 
friends 

Director of 
Children’s 
Care 

   Section 31 Children Act 1989 

 Under Children Act 1989 
 
To institute the following 
applications for: 

     

  Child Assessment Orders 
under Section 43 of the Act. 

Director of 
Children’s 

   Section 43 Children Act 1989 

P
age 623



 
 

139 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Care and 
relevant HOS 

  Emergency Protection 
Orders under Section 44 of 
the Act 

Director of 
Children’s 
Care and 
relevant HOS 

   Section 44 Children Act 1989 

  Care and Supervision 
Orders under Section 31 of 
the Act 

Director of 
Children’s 
Care and 
relevant HOS 

   Section 31 Children Act 1989 

  Exclusion Requirements in 
Emergency Protection Order 
applications 
under Section 44A and 
applications for Exclusion 

Director of 
Children’s 
Care and 
relevant HOS 

   Emergency Protection Order 
applications 
under Section 44A 

  Requirements in Care 
applications under Section 
38A 

Director of 
Children’s 
Care and 
relevant HOS 

   Section  38 Children Act 1989 

  Varying or discharging Care 
or Supervision Orders under 
Section 39 of the Act 

Director of 
Children’s 
Care and 
relevant HOS 

   Section 39 Children Act 1989 

  Prohibited Steps or Specific 
Issue Orders under Section 
8 of the Act 

Director of 
Children’s 
Care and 
relevant HOS 

   Section 8 Children Act 1989 

  Orders defining restricting or 
terminating contact with a 
child in care under 
Section 34 of the Act. 

Director of 
Children’s 
Care and 
relevant HOS 

   Section 34 Children Act 1989 

P
age 624



 
 

140 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

  Recovery Orders under 
Section 50 of the Act. 

Director of 
Children’s 
Care and 
relevant HOS 

   Section 50 of the Children Act 
1989 

  Leave to invoke the inherent 
jurisdiction of the High 
Court. 

Director of 
Children’s 
Care 

    

  Leave to place a child in 
accommodation restricting 
liberty under Section 25 of 
the Act. 

Director of 
Children’s 
Care 

   Section 25 Children Act 1989 

  Leave for a child in the care 
of the local authority to live 
abroad. (section 19) 

Director of 
Children’s 
Care 

   (section 19 Children Act 
1989) 

  Leave for a child in the care 
of the local authority to be 
known by a new 
Surname 

Director of 
Children’s 
Care 

    

 To institute the following 
prosecutions of persons for: 

 Obstructing the discovery or 
recovery of an abducted 
child under Sections 48 and 
50 of the Act. 

 Abducting a child from care 
under Section 49 of the Act. 
(Children Act 1989) 
 

Director of 
Children’s 
Care 

   Sections 48 and 50 of the 
Children Act 1989. 
Section 49 of the Act. 
(Children Act 1989) 

 Ensure make contributions towards 
the maintenance of children placed 

Director of 
Children’s 
Care and 
relevant HOS 

    

P
age 625



 
 

141 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

with a person as a result of a 
Residence Order or Special 
Guardianship Order 

 Decisions to approve payment of 
the legal expenses of applicants for 
a Residence Order or other Section 
8 Orders in respect of children in 
care to the extent that they are not 
met by Legal Aid 

Director of 
Children’s 
Care and 
relevant HOS 

    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Children in Care 

 Function Officer Level 

Source of Delegation 
1 2 3 4 

 Exercising all the duties and 
functions of the Authority with 
regard to children and young 
people under Sections 22 to 24D of 
the Children Act 1989 and all other 
enabling powers (maintenance, 
advice etc) including making any 
decisions reasonably necessary for 
their health and wellbeing. 

Director of 
Children’s 
Care 

   Sections 22 to 24D of the 
Children Act 1989 and all 
other enabling powers 
(maintenance, advice etc) 
including making any 
decisions reasonably 
necessary for their health and 
wellbeing 

 
 

 Adoption 

P
age 626



 
 

142 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 Function Officer Level 

Source Delegation 
1 2 3 4 

 The Agency Decision Maker who 
makes decisions on all adoption 
matters (some of which will be 
made on the basis of a 
recommendation of the Adoption 
Panel). 

 

  N/A - Can 

not be 

delegated. 

 

 

Designated Manager (Placement 
Orders) 

The manager who can authorise 
an application for a Placement 
Order. 

 
 

  N/A Can 

not be 

delegated 

 
 

 Exercising all the powers and 
functions of the Authority under the 
Adoption and Children Act 2002 
and all other enabling powers: 
a) in relation to the Adoption 
Service; 
b) as an adoption agency; and 
c) generally. 
 
This includes the following: 

Director of 
Children’s 
Care  

   Adoption and Children Act 
2002 and all other enabling 
powers: 
 

  Authorisation for Criminal 
Records Bureau (DBS) 
check (family placements) 

Director of 
Children’s 
Care and 
relevant 
HOS 

    

P
age 627



 
 

143 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

  Seeking dispensation of 
parents’ consent in adoption 
proceedings 

Director of 
Children’s 
Care 

    

  Decision to present 
child/young person to 
Agency Decision Maker 

 
 

Director of 
Children’s 
Care 

    

 Issuing and conducting 
proceedings, including care 
proceedings and applications for 
placement orders in accordance 
with the Children Act 1989 and the 
Adoption and Children Act 2002 
and all other relevant legislation 
and guidance.  

Director of 
Children’s 
Care 

   Children Act 1989 and the 
Adoption and Children Act 
2002 and all other relevant 
legislation and guidance 

 

 Fostering 

 Function Officer Level 

Source of Delegation 
1 2 3 4 

 The Agency Decision Maker who 
makes decisions on fostering 
matters (on the basis of 
recommendations of the Fostering 
Panel) 

Director of 
Children’s 
Care 

    

P
age 628



 
 

144 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

Designated Manager (Care Plans) 

The manager who can authorise 
the final Care Plan to be taken 
before the Court within Care 
Proceedings. 
 

Director of 
Children’s 
Care.  
 
All Heads of 
Service 

    

 

Designated Manager (Care 
Proceedings) 

The manager who can authorise 
the initiating of Care Proceedings. 

 

Chair of Legal 
Gateway, 
Head Service, 
Safeguarding 
and Care 
Planning for 
planned 
applications. 
Urgent 
applications all 
Heads of 
Service with 
retrospective 
discussion at 
Legal 
Gateway 
Panel. 
Contact: Ben 

Short 
Urgent matters: 
All Heads of 
Service 

    

P
age 629



 
 

145 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

Designated Manager (Decision to 
Look After) 

The manager who can authorise a 
child becoming Looked After. 

Heads of 
Service for 
any in-house 
or family 
placement. 
Rachel 
Farnham for 
IFA 
placements. 
Contact: Paula 
Jemson, Ben 
Short, Paul 
Rudd, 
Amanda 
Richardson. 
Rachel 
Farnham – 
any IFA 
placement 
Out of hours: 

Head of 
service 

    

 

Designated Manager (Private 
Fostering) 

The manager who can approve 
assessments of private foster 
carers, impose requirements on 
private foster carers or decide to 
prohibit someone from acting as a 
private foster carer. 

All Heads of 
Service 

    

P
age 630



 
 

146 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

Designated Manager (Notifications) 

Where a Looked After Child from 
another local authority has been 
placed in the area, the manager to 
whom the notification should be 
sent. 

Head of MACH 
and 
Assessment 
 
Team Manager 
MACH 

    

 

Nominated Officer (Immediate 
Placement of a Looked After Child 
with Connected Person under 
Regulation 24) 

The manager who can authorise 
the placement of a Looked After 
child with a family or friend 
('Connected Person') who is not 
already approved as a foster carer. 

Head of 
Service 
(Residential & 
Edge of Care) 

    

 

Designated Manager (External 
Placements) 

The manager who can authorise 
placements of Looked After 
children with external providers of 
residential care or foster carers 
from an independent fostering 
agency. 

Executive 
Director of 
Children’s 
Services for 
search and 
approval of 
external 
residential 
placements.   
 
 
Director of 
Children's 

    

P
age 631



 
 

147 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Care for 
search and 
approval of 
external 
fostering.  
 
 

 

Designated Manager (Emigration) 

The manager who can authorise 
the placement of a Looked after 
child outside England and Wales. 
 

     

 

Designated Manager (Exemptions 
and Extensions from Fostering 
Limit) 

The manager who can authorise 
any exemptions from the usual 
fostering limit for foster carers 
living in the local authority area. 
 

Head of 
Service 
(Residential & 
Edge of Care) 

    

 

Designated Manager (Medical 
Consent) 

Medical consent who can provide 
medical consent for health 
appointments outside of routine 
planned health appointments. 

All Heads of 
Service 

    

P
age 632



 
 

148 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Delegated as part of placement 
plan). 

 

Designated Manager (Fostering 
Panel Appointments) 

The manager who can authorise 
appointments to the Central List of 
Fostering Panel members. 

Head of 
Service 
(Residential & 
Edge of Care) 

    

 

Armed Forces 

Consent to support the 
appointment of a looked after child 
to join the Armed Forces. 
 

     

 

Nominated Officer (Disruption of 
Education) 

The manager who can authorise 
the change of placement affecting 
a Looked After child in Key Stage 
4. 
 

Head of 
Service Looked 
After Children 
 
Virtual School 
Head 

    

P
age 633



 
 

149 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

Designated Manager (Death or 
Serious Injury to a Child) 

The senior manager who should be 
notified in the event of death or 
serious injury to a child. 

 

Director of 
Children's Care 
 

All Heads of 
Service 
 
Out of Hours: 
If outside of 
working hours 
the on-call 
Head of 
Service to be 
notified. 
 

    

 Exercising all the powers and 
functions of the Authority in relation 
to the fostering of children under 
Part IX of the Children Act 1989, 
Section 48 of the Care Standards 
Act 2000, Part 5 of the Children Act 
2004 and all other enabling 
powers. 
 
Approving loans or other financial 
assistance under Section 23 of the 
Children Act 1989 and all other 
enabling powers for the provision 
of 
accommodation of children under 
foster care and to vary the terms of 
such loans or assistance. 
 

Director of 
Children’s 
Care 

 

   Part IX of the Children Act 
1989, Section 48 of the Care 
Standards Act 2000, Part 5 of 
the Children Act 2004 and all 
other enabling powers. 
Section 23 of the Children Act 
1989 and all other enabling 
powers for the provision of 
accommodation of children 
under foster care and to vary 
the terms of such loans or 
assistance. 

P
age 634



 
 

150 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

This includes the following:- 

 Approval of foster carers Director of 
Children’s 
Care 

    

  Supporting foster carers’ 
application for a Residence 
Order 

Director of 
Children’s 
Care 

    

  Decision to present foster 
carer application to 
Fostering Panel 

Director of 
Children’s 
Care 

    

  Decision to present child/ 
young person to Fostering 
Pane 

Director of 
Children’s 
Care 

    

  Decision to authorise 
placements under Reg 24 of 
the Foster Service 
Regulations 

Director of 
Children’s 
Care 

    

  Clearance of foster carer 
applications where offences 
are identified on 
Disclosure & Barring checks 

Director of 
Children’s 
Care 
 

    

 

 Early Years 

 Function Officer Level 

Source of Delegation 
1 2 3 4 

 Significant decisions regarding the 
provision of council-funded day 

Director of 
Education and 
Partnerships 

   
 

P
age 635



 
 

151 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

care for pre-school and other 
children. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 Youth Offending 

 Function Officer Level 

Source of Delegation 
1 2 3 4 

 Informing court that electronic 
monitoring is suitable when 
imposing bail on a person aged 
between 12 and 17 

Director of 
Education 
and 
Partnerships  

   

 

 Assessing a young person and 
arranging for him/her to participate 
in a rehabilitation programme if 
appropriate 
 

Director of 
Education 
and 
Partnerships  

   

 

 

 Commissioning 

 Function Officer Level 

Source of Delegation 
1 2 3 4 

 Exercising any function of the 
Authority under 75 of the National 

    Section 75 of the National 
Health Service Act 2006 

P
age 636



 
 

152 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Health Service Act 2006 (pooled 
budgets and commissioning) so far 
as those functions relate to 
children and young persons. 

(pooled budgets and 
commissioning) so far as 
those functions relate to 
children and young persons 

 The provision, operation, 
commissioning and variation of 
payments to external providers in 
respect of services arranged by 
The Executive Director of 
Children’s Services  
 
 
 

    

 

 

 Curriculum and Standards 

 Function Officer Level 

Source of Delegation 
1 2 3 4 

 Preparation of a written statement 
of any action the Council proposes 
to take as a result of any report of 
the Chief Inspector of Schools 
stating that special measures are 
required or that a school requires 
significant improvement, and taking 
any action reasonably necessary 
following an inspection report to 
implement any of its 
recommendations 

     

P
age 637



 
 

153 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 Decisions to inspect any 
maintained school and to exercise 
the right of entry to any maintained 
school premises to conduct that 
inspection, and decisions to issue 
a warning notice to any maintained 
school. 
 

Director of 
Education 
and 
Partnerships  

    

 Ensure that every school 
maintained by the Authority 
(including nursery schools and 
nursery education funded through 
the LA) meets the general 
requirements for the curriculum in 
particular the National Curriculum 
(including where relevant the 
Foundation Stage) and religious 
worship, and to have regard to any 
guidance issued by the Secretary 
of State under section 403(1A) of 
this Act with regard to sex 
education.  
to investigate complaints 
concerning alleged failures of 
schools to comply 
with the National Curriculum, and, 
after consultation with governing 
bodies, make arrangements 
related to curriculum to VA and 
foundation 
schools. 

Director of 
Education 
and 
Partnerships  

   Guidance issued by the 
Secretary of State under 
section 403(1A) of this Act 
with regard to sex education.  
to investigate complaints 
concerning alleged failures of 
schools to comply 

P
age 638



 
 

154 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 Provide on behalf of the Authority 
any information, which the 
Secretary of State may by 
regulation require, including 
through the Education (School 
Performance Information) 
(England) Regulations 2001 and 
the Education 
(Pupil Information) (England) 
Regulations 2000, and comply with 
requirements on setting of annual 
targets in respect of educational 
performance. 
 

Director of 
Education 
and 
Partnerships 

   Education (School 
Performance Information) 
(England) Regulations 2001 
and the Education 
(Pupil Information) (England) 
Regulations 2000 

 Supplying Chief Inspector with 
information requested for the 
purpose of investigating a 
complaint about a school, and 
facilitate a meeting of parents. 
 

Director of 
Education 
and 
Partnerships 

    

 Maintain an oversight of school 
standards. 

Director of 
Education 
and 
Partnerships 

    

 

 School Governance and Staffing 

 Function Officer Level 

Source of Delegation 
1 2 3 4 

P
age 639



 
 

155 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 Exercising any human resources, 
personnel or staffing functions in 
relation to schools maintained by 
the Local Authority that are not 
exercised by school governing 
bodies in line with the Education 
Act 1996 and s.142 of the 
Education Act 2002.  

Director of 
Education 
and 
Partnerships 

   Education Act 1996 and s.142 
of the Education Act 2002 

 Decisions on arrangements for 
staffing schools of schools without 
delegated budgets. 
 

Director of 
Education 
and 
Partnerships 

    

 Applying staffing regulations to 
federated schools with reference to 
the Federation of Schools 
(Community, Schools, Community 
Special Schools, Voluntary 
Controlled Schools and Maintained 
Nursery Schools) 
(England) Regulations 2003. 
 

Director of 
Education 
and 
Partnerships 

   Federation of Schools 
(Community, Schools, 
Community Special Schools, 
Voluntary Controlled Schools 
and Maintained Nursery 
Schools) 
(England) Regulations 2003. 

 Agree non Councillor appointments 
to SACRE 
 

Director of 
Education 
and 
Partnerships 

    

 Decisions to make written 
representation within 14 days to a 
voluntary aided or foundation 
school Governing Body if an 
applicant is deemed not suitable 
for appointment by the LA 

Director of 
Education 
and 
Partnerships 

    

P
age 640



 
 

156 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

 Decisions to appoint persons 
selected by governing bodies as 
their clerks 
 

Director of 
Education 
and 
Partnerships 

    

 Decisions to exercise powers and 
duties under the School Teacher 
(Appraisal) Regulations 1991 in 
respect of head teachers 
 

Director of 
Education and 
Partnerships  

   School Teacher (Appraisal) 
Regulations 1991 

 To agree minor changes to the 
names of existing schools. 

Director of 
Education and 
Partnerships  

    

 Fixing the academic calendar for 
schools including school terms and 
holidays. 
 

Director of 
Education and 
Partnerships  

    

 Ensure schools carry out pre-
employment checks on all teaching 
and non-teaching staff to ensure 
that the Authority does not employ 
anyone barred from teaching by 
the Secretary of State, in case of 
teachers that they are registered 
with GTC, have qualified teacher 
status, and have completed their 
induction, plus check for criminal 
backgrounds of staff 
whose posts involve substantial 
unsupervised access to children. 

Director of 
Education and 
Partnerships  

   DBS Guidance 

 

P
age 641



 
 

157 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

School Attendance and Discipline 

 Function Officer Level 

Source of Delegation 
1 2 3 4 

 Exercising the Authority’s reserve 
powers under the School 
Standards and Framework Act 
1998 to prevent a breakdown of 
discipline in schools. 
 

Director of 
Education and 
Partnerships  

   School Standards and 
Framework Act 1998 

 Exercising the Authority’s functions 
under the Crime and Disorder Act 
1998 Sections, 1 (anti-social 
behaviour), 16 (removal of truants 
to 
designated premises) and 115 
(disclosure of information). 
 

Director of 
Education and 
Partnerships  

   Crime and Disorder Act 1998 
Sections, 1 (anti-social 
behaviour), 16 (removal of 
truants to designated 
premises) and 115 
(disclosure of information). 

 To serve school attendance orders 
on the parents of any children 
failing 
to perform their duty to secure the 
education of their children and to 

Director of 
Education 
and 
Partnerships 

   Education Act 1996, Sections 
437, 438 and 443 and Anti-
Social Behaviour Act 2003 

P
age 642



 
 

158 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

institute proceedings against any 
parent who fails to comply with the 
requirements of such an order. 
(Education Act 1996, Sections 437, 
438 and 443 and Anti-Social 
Behaviour Act 2003. 
 

 To apply to the Family Proceedings 
Court for an Education Supervision 
Order and to exercise the powers 
of the LEA in respect of Education 
Supervision Orders and to institute 
proceedings in the Magistrates' 
Court if the parent fails to comply 
with the directions of the Order. 
(Children Act 1989, Section 36 & 
Schedule 3 (Part III)) 

Director of 
Education 
and 
Partnerships 

   Children Act 1989, Section 36 
& Schedule 3 (Part III) 

 To institute proceedings on behalf 
of the Authority against the parent 
of a child of compulsory school age 
in respect of the failure of such 
child to attend regularly at the 
school at which he/she is a 
registered pupil, where 
prescribed conditions have been 
met. (Education Act 1996) 
 

Director of 
Education 
and 
Partnerships 

   Education Act 1996) 

 To make provision after six days 
for children excluded from school. 

Director of 
Education 
and 
Partnerships 

    

P
age 643



 
 

159 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 Decisions to recoup all or part of 
the costs incurred in providing 
education to a permanently 
excluded pupil. 
 

Director of 
Education 
and 
Partnerships 

    

 Provided the health of the child will 
not suffer, to grant licences to 
children resident in the Borough 
who are taking part in public 
entertainment. (Sections 437, 438 
and 444 of the Education Act 1996) 
 

Director of 
Education 
and 
Partnerships 

   Sections 437, 438 and 444 of 
the Education Act 1996 

 To issue licences in respect of the 
employment of children and to 
institute proceedings under any 
employment of children bye-laws. 
(Children & Young Persons Act 
1933 (part II) and 1963 (part II), 
and all other enabling 
powers relating to the employment 
of children and young people.) 

Director of 
Education 
and 
Partnerships 

   Children & Young Persons 
Act 1933 (part II) and 1963 
(part II), and all other enabling 
powers relating to the 
employment of children and 
young people.) 
 
 

 

Admissions 

 Function Officer Level 

Source of Delegation 
1 2 3 4 

 Agreeing changes to the 
admissions criteria for schools, 
including temporary changes to 
planned admission numbers. 

Director of 
Education and 
Partnerships  

   Section 2002 Education Act, 
Education (co-ordination of 
Admissions Arrangements) 
(Primary Schools) (England) 

P
age 644



 
 

160 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 Regulations 2002 as 
amended by the 
Education (Co-ordination of 
Admissions Arrangements) 
(Primary Schools) (England) 
(Amendment) Regulations 
2003, and the Education 
(coordination of Admissions 
Arrangements) (Secondary 
Schools) (England) 
Regulations 2002.Section 98 
of the 1998 Education Act 

 Implementing the admissions 
process in accordance with section 
2002 Education Act, Education 
(co-ordination of Admissions 
Arrangements) (Primary Schools) 
(England) Regulations 2002 as 
amended by the 
Education (Co-ordination of 
Admissions Arrangements) 
(Primary Schools) (England) 
(Amendment) Regulations 2003, 
and the Education (coordination of 
Admissions Arrangements) 
(Secondary Schools) (England) 
Regulations 2002. Consulting and 
otherwise following the procedures 
in respect of annual admission 
limits for schools for which the 
Authority is the admissions 

Director of 
Education and 
Partnerships  

    

P
age 645



 
 

161 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

authority and allocating pupils to 
schools, including 
directing a governing body to admit 
to the named school within the 
Authority’s area under section 98 
of the 1998 Education Act. 
 

 Agreeing changes to the policies 
on home to school transport. 
Making arrangements for the 
transport of pupils and students to 
school or college. Making 
determinations on eligibility of 
pupils or students to use home to 
school transport, including hearing 
and deciding, or making 
arrangements for the hearing and 
deciding of appeals, against such 
determinations. 

Director of 
Education 
and 
Partnerships 

Making 
arrangements 
is the 
responsibility 
of the 
Director of 
Environment.  

 

    

 

Special Education Needs 

 Function Officer Level 

Source of Delegation 
1 2 3 4 

 To respond to appeals made by 
parents to the Special Educational 
Needs Tribunal. (Education Act 

    Special Educational Needs 
Tribunal. (Education Act 1996 
and Regulations made there 
under) 

P
age 646



 
 

162 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

1996 and Regulations made there 
under) 
 

 

 To authorise assessments and 
statements determining the 
appropriate provision for children 
with special educational needs in 
accordance with the requirements 
of the Education Act 1996 and the 
SEN and Disability 
Act 2001. 
 

Director of 
Education 
and 
Partnerships 

   Education Act 1996 and the 
SEN and Disability Act 2001. 

 To authorise funding for 
placements of children in non-
maintained Schools 
 

Director of 
Education and 
Partnerships  

    

 Authorising students to receive 
education at an institution of 
further or higher education 
maintained by another local 
education authority. 
 

Director of 
Education and 
Partnerships  

    

 Authorising payment of claims for 
recoupment by another local 
education authority in respect of 
the provision of education to a 
Middlesbrough pupil of compulsory 
school age with special 
educational needs or “looked after” 
by that authority, and decisions on 
recoupment of costs incurred in 

Director of 
Education 
and 
Partnerships 

    

P
age 647



 
 

163 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

providing education to persons 
from another local authority area 
 

 Authorising in exceptional cases 
variations from approved scales of 
fees, charges or allowances. 
 

Director of 
Education 
and 
Partnerships 

    

 
 
 

School Funding 

 Functions Officer Level Source of Delegation 

1 2 3 4 

 Decisions to establish and 
maintain a Schools Forum to 
advise and/or make decisions, as 
prescribed in regulations, on the 
distribution of money between 
schools and how much should be 
spent on certain LA-wide functions 
 

Schools 
Forum 

Think it 
needs a post 
here 

 

    

 In consultation with schools and 
Schools Forum, to determine each 
school’s budget share through the 
development and implementation 
of a local Fair Funding Formula, 
subject to any statutory 
requirements, 

Schools 
Forum 

 

Think it 
needs a 
name here 

   Financing of Maintained 
Schools (England) 
Regulation 2003 
 

P
age 648



 
 

164 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

including reference to the 
Financing of Maintained Schools 
(England) 
Regulation 2003 
 

 Approving changes to the local 
scheme for financial management 
of schools. 
 

    Financing of Maintained 
Schools (England) 
Regulation 2003 
 

 In schools without delegated 
budgets, to decide on the 
suspension of a 
schoolteacher and whether the 
circumstances warranted 
suspension with or without pay, 
and decisions to support any 
governing body proposal of 
payments in respect of the 
dismissal/discontinuation of 
employment of 
any member of staff. 
 

Director of 
Education 
and 
Partnerships 

    

 Withdrawing all or part of a 
school’s delegated budget in 
accordance with LA statutory 
scheme of delegation. 
 

Director of 
Education 
and 
Partnerships 

    

 To authorise the implementation of 
the pay discretions for 
schoolteachers in accordance with 
the local authority’s schoolteachers 
Pay Policy 

Director of 
Education 
and 
Partnerships 

    

P
age 649



 
 

165 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Capital Strategy and School Premises 

 Function Officer Level Source of Delegation 

1 2 3 4 

 Arrangements and decisions to 
prioritise capital spend on the 
school estate. 
 

Director of 
Education 
and 
Partnerships 

    

 Taking any action reasonably 
necessary for the day-to-day 
maintenance of school and 
educational buildings or grounds in 
operational use. 
 

Director of 
Education and 
Partnerships 

    

 Authorising the exercise of the 
Authority’s statutory duty to 
transfer sites to the trustees of 
voluntary schools, and facilitating 
the transfer of land to Academies 
as agreed by Executive 
 

Director of 
Education and 
Partnerships 

    

P
age 650



 
 

166 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 Authorising the removal of a 
person from premises and to 
institute legal proceedings against 
an individual who is unlawfully 
present of educational premises 
and who is causing or permitting a 
nuisance or disturbance on 
said property. (Education Act 
1996, section 547 and Local 
Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1982, section 40) 

Director of 
Education and 
Partnerships 

   Education Act 1996, section 
547 and Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) 
Act 1982, section 40) 

 

School Organisation 

 Function Officer Level Source of Delegation 

1 2 3 4 

 Giving statutory notice of any 
proposal for the change of 
character, closure, opening or 
expansion of a school or 
educational institution. (Education 
and Inspection Act 2006) 
 

Director of 
Education and 
Partnerships 

   Education and Inspection Act 
2006 

 To approve proposals that should 
be determined by the Authority and 
referring those raising significant 
issues, including statutory 
objections, to 

     

P
age 651



 
 

167 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Executive for determination, in 

consultation with the Portfolio 

Holder. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

General 

 Function Officer Level Source of Delegation 

1 2 3 4 

 To act as the Council’s statutory 
officer under s.18 of the Children 
Act 2004. 
Representing, or arranging for the 
representing of, the Authority as 
Local Education Authority in 
relation to matters concerned with 
the provision of education and 
skills. 

Director of 
Education and 
Partnerships 

   s.18 of the Children Act 2004. 

 

P
age 652



 
 

168 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

P
age 653



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

FINANCIAL PROCEDURE RULES 

 

A – INTRODUCTION  

 
1.1 What are the Financial Procedure Rules?  

 

1.1.1 This section sets out the Council’s Financial Procedure Rules (or ‘Financial 

Regulations’), which are the financial policies and procedures of the Council.  

 

1.1.2 These policies and procedures are designed to enable the Council to deliver good 

financial governance so that its strategic aims and objectives can be achieved in a 

manner that complies with applicable legislation and guidance.  

 

1.1.3 This section of the Constitution sets out the rules with which anyone who makes 

financial decisions on behalf of the Council (including Members, Officers and others, 

where relevant) should comply. It also sets out the consequences of any failure to 

comply with the Financial Regulations.  

 

1.2 To whom do the Financial Regulations apply?  

 

1.2.1 The Financial Regulations apply to the Mayor, every Member and Officer and any 

other person who acts on the Council’s behalf. They have a duty to uphold the highest 

standards of financial governance and transparency for the Council.  

 

1.2.2 Compliance with these Financial Regulations is mandatory. Those who are 

required to comply with these Financial Regulations are required to maintain ongoing 

knowledge and awareness of their content to ensure compliance. 

 

1.2.3 All Council staff have a general responsibility to take reasonable action to ensure the 

security of the Council assets under their control, and for ensuring that the use of 

Council resources is legal, properly authorised, provides Value for Money and 

achieves Best Value.  

 

1.2.4 It will be the responsibility of Officers (including those with line management 

responsibility) to address non-compliance swiftly and in the most appropriate way in 

the circumstances. Concerns can also be reported anonymously under the Council’s 

Whistleblowing Policy and Procedure.  

 
1.2.5 Failure to comply with these Financial Regulations may constitute a disciplinary matter 

that would be pursued under the Council’s disciplinary policy.  

 

1.2.6 It is the responsibility of Chief Officers to ensure that their staff are appropriately 

trained on the proper application of these Financial Regulations to their role. Any such 

training must be approved by the Chief Finance Officer.  

 

1.3 How are the Financial Regulations organised?  

The Financial Regulations are organised into the following sections: 
 

A – Introduction 
 

B – Defined Terms 

Page 655

https://moderngov.middlesbrough.gov.uk/documents/s1602/Appendix%201.pdf


 
 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
C – Roles and Responsibilities  

 
D – Financial Planning and Budgetary Controls 

 
E – Financial Management 

 
F – Financial Systems, Processes and Procedures  

 
G – Employee and Personnel Matters 

 
H – External Arrangements 

 
1.4 How and when are these Financial Regulations reviewed?  

 

1.4.1 The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for keeping these Financial Regulations 

under review and for submitting updates to them, as necessary, for approval by Full 

Council.  

 

1.4.2 The Chief Finance Officer may make technical amendments to these Financial 

Regulations from time to time (with the approval of the Leadership Management 

Team) to ensure that they are consistent with legal requirements, changes in Council 

structure and personnel, and best practice. 

 

1.5 How does schools funding relate to these Financial Regulations?  

 

These Financial Regulations apply to all Council Services. However, local authorities 

are required to publish schemes for financing schools, setting out the financial 

relationship between them and the schools they maintain1. The Financial Regulations 

of a school should not be contrary to these Financial Regulations and any exceptions 

should be reported to the Chief Finance Officer.  

 

1.6 Where can I find more information about the Council’s financial processes and 

procedures?  

 

1.6.1 The Council has a range of policy and procedural documentation that supports its 

financial governance arrangements.  

 

1.6.2 These Financial Regulations should be read in conjunction with the Constitution as a 

whole, including in particular the Contract Procedure Rules and the Scheme of 

Delegation. They should also be read in the context of supporting process and 

procedure documents held outside the Constitution.   

 
 
  

                                                      
1 School Standards and Framework Act 1998 

Page 656

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/31/contents


 
 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

B – DEFINED TERMS 

Where captialised terms are used in this section 18, they will have the meanings set out below. 

For the avoidance of doubt, terms defined in section 2 of this Constitution also apply to this 

section 18.  

 

“Budget Holder” 

 

an Officer who has delegated responsibility for an allocated 

budget, at either directorate, sub-division of service, or cost 

centre level in line with the Council’s chart of accounts; 

 

“Capital Programme” 

 

Identifies agreed capital projects and their cost over time; linked 

to the Capital Strategy;  

 

“Capital Strategy” strategy required by CIPFA’s Prudential Code to demonstrate 

how the Council’s capital expenditure, capital financing and 

treasury management activity contribute to the provision of 

desired outcomes and take account of stewardship, value for 

money, prudence, sustainability and affordability; 

 

“CIPFA” the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accounting;  

 

“Corporate Landlord”  

 

the Officer designated to act as the Council’s landlord and fulfil 

its property management functions in relation to Council-owned 

land and buildings as set out in section 18.42; 

 

“External Audit” 

 

Independent evaluation of the Council’s financial statements and 

Value for Money arrangements by a third party “External Auditor”;  

 

“Financial Limits Annex” 

 

the Annex setting out certain limits that apply to financial 

decision-making by the Council and which applies to these 

Financial Regulations; 

 

“Fixed Asset Register” 

 

the register of fixed assets maintained by the Council in 

accordance with section 18.42.2 and which forms the basis of the 

Council’s accounting for capital purposes; 

 

“Internal Audit” 

 

independent assurance in relation to the Council’s risk 

management, governance and internal controls; provided by the 

“Internal Audit Service”; 

 

“Key Decision 

Threshold”  

 

as defined in the Financial Limits Annex; 

“Medium Term Financial 

Plan” or “MTFP” 

 

a rolling 3 to 5-year plan, which considers the financial climate at 

both the local and national level together with available resources 

and budgetary pressures to set a medium-term financial strategy; 

the MTFP focuses on both revenue expenditure and capital 

expenditure, as well as setting out the Council’s overall financial 

strategy;  

 

Page 657



 
 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

“Minimum Revenue 

Position” or “MRP” 

The minimum annual revenue charge the Council must set aside 

to repay the principal of the debt; 

 

“Prudential Indicators” 

 

mandatory indicators that local authorities are required to take 

into account when making capital expenditure plans, including for 

example, capital financing requirement and total external debt; 

 

“Revenue Budget” 

 

the Council’s budget for revenue spending in any financial year;  

“Directorate Budget” 

 

the budget of a particular Directorate (i.e., the area of 

responsibility of a Chief Officer), which forms part of the Revenue 

Budget and Capital Programme, and may comprise one or more 

sub divisions of service and cost centres;  

 

“Statement of Accounts” 

 

an annual statement of the Council’s accounts setting out its 

financial position for the financial year; 

 

“Treasury Management 

Strategy” 

 

sets out how the Council manages its money and any financial 

risks to ensure that the Council has sufficient money available to 

manage its day-to-day business; it also supports the 

development of the Council’s longer-term financial strategies.  

 
 
Unless the context provides otherwise, where reference is made in these Financial 
Regulations to a Statutory Officer or a Chief Officer, that will include their deputies, 
representatives and/or other nominees.  
 
  

Page 658



 
 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

C – ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES  
 
This section sets out the roles and responsibilities of Council bodies, Members and individual 
Officers. This section should be read in conjunction with the Constitution as a whole for full 
details of these roles and responsibilities. 
 
Statutory Officers, in particular the Chief Finance Officer, and Chief Officers may nominate 
deputies to act on their behalf and/or delegate some of their responsibilities (in accordance 
with the Constitution). However, notwithstanding any such nomination or delegation, the 
relevant Officer remains ultimate responsible for the matters set out in these Financial 
Regulations.   
 
COUNCIL BODIES 
 
The table below sets out the roles and responsibilities of Council bodies, including Full Council, 
the Executive and Committees.  
 

Full Council 
(section 4 of the 
Constitution)  

 Adopting the Council Constitution and Member Code 
of Conduct 

 Adopting the Budget and Policy Framework 

 Approving and monitoring the Council’s compliance 
with the overall framework of accountability and control 
as set out in the Constitution  

 Monitoring compliance with agreed Council policy and 
related decisions 

 Approving procedures for recording and reporting 
decisions taken by or on behalf of the Council 
(including Key Decisions that have been delegated, 
and decisions made by Full Council and its 
Committees) 

 

Executive 
(section 6 of the 
Constitution) 

 Proposing the Budget and Policy Framework to Full 
Council  

 Discharging Executive Functions in accordance with 
the Budget and Policy Framework 

 Approving delegations of Executive decision-making 
to individual Executive Members, Officers and/or Joint 
Arrangements  

 Recommending protocols to ensure that individual 
Executive Members consult with relevant Officers 
(including in relation to legal and financial liabilities and 
risk management issues that may arise in relation to 
the decision) before making a decision within their 
delegated authority  

 

Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee / Scrutiny 
Panels (as applicable) 
(section 7 of the 
Constitution) 
 

 Scrutiny of Executive decisions before or after 
implementation (including via the Call-in procedure) 

 Holding the Executive to account 

 Recommending future policy options 

 Reviewing the Council’s general policy and service 
delivery 

 Reporting to Full Council on its findings 
 

Page 659



 
 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Standards Committee 
(section 8 of the 
Constitution) 

 Promoting and maintaining high standards of conduct 
among Members 

 Advising the Council on the adoption and revision of 
the Member Code of Conduct and monitoring its 
operation  

 Conducting investigations into complaints against 
Members 

 

Audit Committee  
(section 9 of the 
Constitution) 
 

 Fulfilling the Council’s statutory audit function 

 Delegated responsibility for monitoring and 
overseeing: 

o External Audit;  
o Internal Audit;  
o risk management and business continuity; and 
o corporate governance 

 Consideration of the Statement of Accounts, including 
the Annual Governance Statement 

 Reporting to Full Council on the above  
 

Other Regulatory 
Committees  
(section 9 of the 
Constitution) 
 
 

 Responsibility for planning, conservation and licensing 
matters under powers delegated by Full Council 

 

   
 
 
  

Page 660



 
 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

STATUTORY OFFICERS 
 
The table below sets out the roles and responsibilities of Statutory Officers in relation to 
financial matters. A full role profile for each Statutory Officer can be found in Appendix 3 to the 
Constitution.  
 

Head of Paid Service 
 

 Responsibility for corporate and overall strategic 
management of the Council as a whole 

 Reporting to and providing information to the 
Executive, Full Council, the Overview and Scrutiny 
Board / Scrutiny Panels and other Committees 

 Establishing a framework for management direction, 
style and standards 

 Monitoring the performance of the Council 

 Responsibility, with the Monitoring Officer, for record 
keeping in relation to decisions made by Full Council 

 

Monitoring Officer  Promoting and maintaining high standards of conduct 
among Officers and Members 

 Providing support to the Standards Committee 

 Reporting any actual or potential breaches of the law 
or maladministration to Full Council and/or the 
Executive  

 Ensuring that procedures for recording and reporting 
Key Decisions are operating effectively 

 Ensuring that decisions and the reasons for them are 
published, as appropriate 

 Ensuring that Members are aware of decisions made 
by the Executive, individual Executive Members and 
Officers under delegated authority  

 Advising Members and Officers about who has 
authority to make a particular decision 

 Advising the Executive or Full Council whether a 
decision is likely to be considered to be contrary to or 
not wholly in accordance with the Budget and Policy 
Framework  

 

Chief Finance Officer  Acting as the Council’s Officer appointed under section 
151 of the Local Government Act 1972 and making 
such decisions as are necessary for the proper 
administration of the Council’s financial affairs2 

 Responsibility for: 
o the proper administration of the Council’s 

financial affairs; 
o setting and monitoring compliance with 

financial monitoring standards; 
o advising on the corporate financial position and 

on the key financial controls necessary to 
secure sound financial management of the 
Council; 

o providing financial information to Members, 
Officers and third parties; 

                                                      
2 Local Government Act 1972, section 151 

Page 661

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1972/70/section/151


 
 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

o preparing the Revenue Budget and Capital 
Programme; 

o preparing the Council’s annual Statement of 
Accounts; 

o treasury management, pension and trust 
funds; and 

o providing advice on the safeguarding of assets 
including risk management and insurance 

 providing financial advice and information relating to 
the financial implications of decisions being taken as 
part of the Council’s governance and formal decision-
making arrangements 

 Setting and monitoring standards (which involves links 
with professional staff throughout the Council but does 
not interfere with normal line management 
arrangements) 

 Involvement (at their discretion) in the appointment of 
all staff employed in posts designated as requiring a 
qualified accountant or auditor, wherever located 
within the Council 

 Maintaining and reviewing these Financial Regulations 
and submitting any necessary additions or changes to 
the Executive and for approval by Full Council  

 Reporting, where appropriate, breaches of these 
Financial Regulations to the Council and/or the 
Executive 

 Issuing advice and guidance to underpin these 
Financial Regulations and to be followed by Members, 
Officers and others acting on behalf of the Council, 
including determining what constitutes a material 
effect on the Council’s finances 

 Approving all financial procedures, records, systems 
and accounts operated throughout the Council, 
including approving any changes that are proposed  

 Advising on effective systems of internal control, which 
should ensure compliance with all applicable statutes 
and regulations, and other relevant statements of best 
practice, and that public funds are properly 
safeguarded and used economically, efficiently and in 
accordance with the statutory and other authorities that 
govern their use 

 Making technical amendments to these Financial 
Regulations from time to time (with the approval of the 
Leadership Management Team) to ensure that they 
are consistent with legal requirements, changes in 
Council structure and personnel, and best practice  

 In compliance with section 114 of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1998, reporting to Full 
Council, Executive and the External Auditor if the 
Council or one of its Officers: 

o has made, or is about to make, a decision 
which involves, or would involve, the Council in 
incurring expenditure which is unlawful;  

Page 662



 
 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

o has taken, or is about to take, a course of 
action which, if pursued to its conclusion would 
be unlawful and likely to cause a loss or 
deficiency on the part of the Council; or 

o is about to enter an item of account, the entry 
of which is unlawful3  

o Making a report if it appears that the Council’s 
proposed expenditure in a financial year is 
likely to exceed the resources available to meet 
that expenditure4 

 Nominating a properly qualified member of staff to 
deputise should they be unable to perform their duties 
personally5 

 Ensuring that Internal Audit is appropriately resourced 
to enable it to review the adequacy and compliance of 
internal controls  

 
The Council is required to provide the Chief Finance Officer 
with sufficient staff, accommodation, and other resources 
(including legal advice, where necessary), to carry out their 
duties under section 114 of the Local Government Act 1972. 
 
In order to comply with all statutory duties and with the 
requirements and instructions of the Council, the Chief 
Finance Officer shall be given access to any information that 
is necessary.  
 

Chief Officers  Ensuring all members of staff within their Directorate 
are aware of the existence and content of these 
Financial Regulations and any other internal regulatory 
document, and that they comply with them 

 Consulting the Chief Finance Officer before 
introducing, amending or discontinuing any 
arrangements, guidelines and procedures for the 
proper administration of the financial affairs of their 
DIrectorate 

 Ensuring that the Chief Finance Officer and/or their 
representative is engaged in the consideration and 
reporting of the financial implications of all formal 
decisions taken within the Council’s governance 
arrangements and that  any such financial implications 
are agreed with the Chief Finance Officer before a 
report is submitted to the Executive and/or Full Council  

 Consulting the Chief Finance Officer on any matter 
within their responsibility which is liable materially to 
affect the finances of the Council before any 
commitment is made and before submitting policy 
options or recommendations 

 Consulting with and obtaining the agreement of the 
Chief Finance Officer or their representative before 
submitting an application for a grant which would 

                                                      
3 Local Government and Finance Act 1988, section 114 
4 Local Government and Finance Act 1988, section 114 
5 Local Government and Finance Act 1988, section 114 

Page 663

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1988/41/section/114
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1988/41/section/114
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1988/41/section/114


 
 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

require the Council to commit its own  resources in the 
current or subsequent years 

 With regard to any report or information for members 
of the public which relates to budget planning and / or 
monitoring or upon which policy decisions or 
consultation are to be based, consulting the Chief 
Finance Officer about any information to be included 
concerning the finances of the Council, its Services 
and activities, giving adequate time for the Chief 
Finance Officer to comment in advance of the agenda 
/ deadline date.  

 Bringing to the attention of the Chief Finance Officer 
and the Monitoring Officer any uncertainty as to the 
legality of proposed, or already incurred, expenditure 
as soon as reasonably practicable after such 
uncertainty becomes apparent. 

 
If a Chief Officer, having regard to the Chief Finance Officer’s 
views, does not wish to amend their report, the Chief Finance 
Officer may require inclusion of their comments within the 
report before it is finalised. 
 
Reports shall only be submitted jointly by a Chief Officer and 
the Chief Finance Officer if the Chief Officer has validated and 
agreed the financial aspects of the report with the Chief 
Finance Officer. The onus is on the Chief Officer to obtain the 
agreement of the Chief Finance Officer. 
 
 

  
The Head of Paid Service and all Chief Officers should maintain a written record of all decision-
making powers that have been delegated to other members of staff (including seconded staff). 
All such delegations will be recorded as part of the Council’s Budget monitoring and closure 
processes.  
 
Where a decision has been delegated by the Head of Paid Service, a Statutory Officer, or 
another Chief Officer, references in these Financial Regulations to such Officer will be read 
as referring to the Officer to whom the delegation has been made.  
 
 
 
  

Page 664



 
 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

OTHER COUNCIL FUNCTIONS 
 

Internal Audit 
 

 Reviewing, appraising and reporting on the Council’s 
control framework, including risk management, 
internal controls and governance arrangements 

 Reviewing and reporting on: 
o the extent of compliance with, and 

effectiveness of, relevant financial policies, 
plans and procedures; 

o the adequacy and application of financial and 
other related management controls; 

o the suitability of financial and other related 
management data; and 

o the extent to which Council assets and 
interests are accounted for and safeguarded 
against loss of any kind from: 

 fraud and other offences; 
 waste, extravagance and inefficient 

administration; 
 inefficient Value for Money or other 

causes  
 

External Audit  
 

 Reviewing and reporting on the financial aspects of 
the Council’s corporate governance arrangements 

 Reviewing and reporting on the Council’s financial 
statements 

 Issuing an opinion on the Council’s Statement of 
Accounts to confirm that the External Auditor is 
satisfied that it gives a “true and fair view” of the 
Council’s financial position and its income and 
expenditure for the relevant year and complies with 
the legal requirements. 

 Issuing an opinion in relation to whether the Council 
has achieved Value for Money from its use of 
resources 

 

  

Page 665



 
 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

C – FINANCIAL PLANNING AND BUDGETARY CONTROLS 
 
The Council is required to set a balanced Revenue Budget each year, which sets out how its 
financial resources are to be allocated and utilised. The Revenue Budget sets out the Council’s 
financial plan for the coming year in relation to the delivery of statutory services, and its local 
aims and objectives.  
 
The Council sets an overall Revenue Budget (which covers the costs of day-to-day running of 
the Council) and Capital Programme (which covers the Council’s long-term investment in 
infrastructure and assets that enable service delivery) each year. Individual Directorate 
Budgets, set by Chief Officers with the support of the Chief Finance Officer, form part of the 
Council’s annual Revenue Budget and Capital Programme.  
 
1.7 What are the key elements of financial planning for local authorities?  

The key elements of financial planning are: 
 

(a) Medium Term Financial Plan; 

 

(b) Annual Revenue Budget; 

 

(c) Capital Strategy and Capital Programme;  

 

(d) Treasury Management Strategy and Prudential Indicators;  

 

(e) Flexible Use of Capital Receipts Strategy (as applicable);  

 

(f) Minimum Revenue Provision policy;  

 

(g) Reserves Policy; and 

 

(h) Charging Policy and associated fees and charges.  

 
BUDGET SETTING PROCESS 
 
1.8 How is the Budget and Policy Framework developed?  

The detailed procedure for how the Council develops its Budget and Policy 
Framework is set out in section 17 of the Constitution.  

 
RESPONSIBILITIES IN RELATION TO BUDGETS  
 
1.9 What are Full Council’s responsibilities in relation to financial planning?  

Full Council is responsible for: 
 

(a) agreeing the Council’s Budget and Policy Framework, which will be proposed 

by the Executive; 

 

(b) setting the procedures for agreeing in-year variations to approved budgets, 

plans and strategies;  

 

Page 666



 
 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(c) determining when a decision will be deemed to be contrary to the Budget or 

Policy Framework in accordance with sections 17.3.2 and 17.4.1 of the 

Constitution; any such decision should be referred to Full Council by the 

Monitoring Officer; 

 

(d) setting the level at which the Executive may reallocate Budget funds from one 

Directorate to another.  

 
1.10 What are the Executive’s responsibilities in relation to financial planning?  

 

1.10.1 The Executive will propose a Budget and Policy Framework for approval by Full 

Council in accordance with section 17 of the Constitution.  

 

1.10.2 The Executive is responsible for taking in-year decisions on resources and priorities 

in order to deliver the Budget and Policy Framework within the financial limits set by 

the Council. 

 

1.10.3 Each year, the Chief Finance Officer shall report to the Executive on the general 

financial situation of the Council and on future financial scenarios in relation to the 

coming year’s Budget prospects and long-term trends to inform the Budget process. 

Having regard to the Chief Finance Officer’s reports and advice, the Executive shall 

recommend the general Budget strategy to be adopted with regard to preparation by 

Directorates of their annual Directorate Budget submissions. 

 

1.11 What are the Chief Finance Officer’s responsibilities in relation to financial 

planning?  

 

1.11.1 The Chief Finance Officer must report to Full Council6 that the spending plans 

identified in the Budget and the Council Tax calculation for the Budget year and 

comment on the robustness of estimates that: 

 

(a) direct resources towards Council priorities in an achievable way;  

 

(b) reflect the best estimates of pay and price increases available at the time; 

 

(c) consider and recognise the major financial risks facing the Council; and  

 

(d) contain proposals for increased income or reduced expenditure that are 

achievable.  

 
1.11.2 The Chief Finance Officer must also comment on the adequacy of the level of Council 

reserves and their sufficiency to meet the known financial risks facing the Council over 

the medium term.  

 

1.11.3 The Chief Finance Officer will ensure that Chief Officers are provided with guidance 

to support them in preparing their draft Directorate Budgets. This guidance will cover: 

 

(a) legal requirements; 

 

                                                      
6 Local Government Act 2003 

Page 667

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/26/contents


 
 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(b) medium-term planning prospects;  

 

(c) available resources; 

 

(d) spending pressures;  

 

(e) Best Value and other relevant government guidelines;  

 

(f) other internal policy documents; and  

 

(g) cross-cutting issues (where relevant).  

 
1.12 What are Chief Officers’ responsibilities in relation to financial planning? 

Chief Officers must prepare detailed draft revenue and capital budgets for their 
Directorate, in consultation with the Chief Finance Officer, and in accordance with the 
guidance and timetable set by the Chief Finance Officer, for consideration by the 
Executive. This shall include budget proposals for investment, demand growth and 
savings, and income growth to achieve improved economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness of services.  

 
REVENUE BUDGET PREPARATION 
 
1.13 How is the Revenue Budget prepared?  

 

1.13.1 The Council operates within an annual cash limit, approved when the Budget is set 

each year. The Chief Finance Officers is responsible for ensuring that a Revenue 

Budget is prepare on an annual basis for consideration by the Executive, before 

submission to Full Council. The draft Revenue Budget should include allocations to 

different services and projects, proposed taxation levels and contingency funds. 

 

1.13.2 Full Council may amend the Budget, or ask the Executive to reconsider it, before 

approving it. The process for this is set out in section 17 of the Constitution.   

 

1.14 How is the Medium Term Financial Plan prepared?  

 

1.14.1 The Medium Term Financial Plan brings together the key assumptions about financing 

resources (including Council Tax, non-domestic rates and general government 

grants) and spending pressures over the medium to longer term. The Medium Term 

Financial Plan covers a period of three (3) to five (5) years.  

 

1.14.2 This enables the Council to plan for financial risks and monitor and control the way 

resources are allocated and spent to meet the Council's objectives and to secure 

value for money and informs the setting of Directorate financial targets for the annual 

revenue budget and capital payments guidelines that gives authority to Budget 

Holders to incur expenditure to meet service standards and targets. 

 

1.14.3 It is the responsibility of the Chief Finance Officer to ensure that reports are presented 

to Council, as part of the annual budget setting process, on the medium-term budget 

prospects and the resource constraints set by the Government. 

 

Page 668



 
 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

1.14.4 Detailed processes for the preparation of the Medium Term Financial Plan (including 

Directorate Medium Term Financial plans), Revenue Budgets and the Capital 

Programme shall be issued by the Chief Finance Officer. These will take into account: 

 

(a) the need for Directorates to demonstrate value for money, efficiency and 

effectiveness in current services and proposals for change; 

 

(b) the service impact on national and local policy priorities, including statutory 

requirements; 

 

(c) policy choices available to the Council, including the implementation of 

statutory requirements; 

 

(d) the risks and opportunities in implementing changes; 

 

(e) the impact of proposals in the medium term; and 

 

(f) exit strategies related to one-off or time limited funding. 

 
CAPITAL BUDGET PREPARATION  
 
1.15 When will the Council prepare the Capital Programme?  

 
1.15.1 A Capital Programme is prepared by the Council each year, setting out the capital 

projects the Council has agreed. Save as set out in section 18.19, capital projects will 

only be added to the Capital Programme as part of the annual Budget setting process.  

 

1.15.2 The Capital Programme covers a period of three (3) to five (5) years in line with the 

Medium Term Financial Plan period. Approval of the Capital Programme includes 

approval of the financing of the capital spend associated with each of the projects 

within the Capital Programme.  

 

1.16 What is the process for preparing the Capital Programme?  

 

1.16.1 The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for ensuring that the Capital Programme is 

prepared each year for consideration by the Executive before submission to Full 

Council. They will also ensure that the financial implications of the Capital Programme 

are reflected in the Revenue Budget.  

 

1.16.2 The Executive will recommend the policy guidelines within which a forward Capital 

Programme should be prepared each year through the Council’s Capital Strategy 

report. This will define affordability, sustainability and prudence in the context of the 

Council’s MTFP. 

 

1.16.3 The Chief Finance Officer will report to the Executive on the current and planned 

Capital Programme each quarter. New capital projects recommended for Executive 

approval will be subject to a capital project appraisal, the format of which is to be 

agreed by the Executive. 

 

Page 669



 
 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

1.17 How is capital expenditure authorised? 

 

1.17.1 Capital expenditure involves the creation, acquisition or enhancement of assets (for 

example, buildings and highways) to provide a long-term benefit to the Council in the 

delivery of services. Capital assets are integral to how services are delivered and 

create long-term financial revenue commitments in the form of life cycle costs and 

financing costs (if funded by borrowing).  

 

1.17.2 The definition of capital expenditure will be determined by the Council in accordance 

with relevant statutory provisions, the local authority accounting code of practice 

issued annually by CIPFA and the advice of the Chief Finance Officer. 

 

1.17.3 The Chief Finance Officer and Directors have a responsibility to provide a framework 

to ensure that Council resources are applied effectively to meet the priorities and 

objectives of the Council and that the delivery of new capital projects, and significant 

changes to existing capital projects are reported appropriately.  

 

1.17.4 A business case should be prepared for each capital project and this should be 

submitted to the Chief Finance Officer for review before approval by the Executive. 

Business cases should comply with the principles of HM Treasury’s Green Book and 

Business Case Guidance and the guidance provided by the Chief Finance Officer. 

Where a capital project is expected to change significantly (as defined above), either 

in cost or outcome, a revised business case must be submitted to the relevant Chief 

Officer before any such change is agreed. Where the change is likely to be material 

(as determined by guidance set out by the Chief Finance Officer), the Chief Officer 

should seek approval from the Executive.  

 

1.17.5 Every capital project should have a designated project manager and project owner 

who is responsible for overseeing progress of that project, ensuring that project 

milestones are met, and that the project complies with the Council’s project 

governance procedures.  

 

1.17.6 Capital projects may only be approved if they are included in the Capital Programme.  

 

1.17.7 Finance functions delegated to Officers, including spending limits in respect of capital 

expenditure, are set out in the Scheme of Delegation.  

 

1.18 What happens if a capital project is being funded by external funding?  

 

Where capital expenditure is to be met in part or whole by a grant, contribution from 

another party (e.g., a government department) or from Council-wide resources 

(external borrowing or capital receipts), no expenditure shall be incurred until all 

necessary approvals have been obtained, including from the Executive. 

 

1.19 When may a capital project be added to the Capital Programme in-year?  

 

Capital projects may be added to the Capital Programme in-year where they are 

wholly funded from external sources, and they are in accordance with the Budget and 

Policy Framework. The approval of the Executive is required for any such addition, 

and the Executive will consider such additions on a quarterly basis.  

Page 670



 
 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
RESERVES 
 
1.20 What are the requirements on the Council to maintain reserves?  

 

1.20.1 The Council is required to maintain a reserve balance so that it can cope with 

unpredictable financial pressures and plan its future spending commitments.  

 

1.20.2 A general strategic reserve is maintained to cover unforeseen strategic, operational 

and financial risks, and earmarked reserves are held for identified spending 

commitments. The Chief Finance Officer will ensure that there are clear protocols for 

the establishment and use of reserves. 

 

1.21 When may reserves be used?  

 

1.21.1 The creation of, or addition to, any reserve will be subject to the approval of the 

Executive on the recommendation of the Chief Finance Officer and shall be in 

accordance with the purpose for which the reserve was established. For each reserve 

established, the purpose, usage (including the timeframe for usage) and basis of 

transactions will be clearly articulated.  

 

1.21.2 The withdrawal of funds from a reserve will require the approval of the Chief Finance 

Officer and shall be applied for the purpose that the reserve was established. In the 

case of balances held by schools, the relevant Board of Governors is responsible for 

giving authorisation.  

 

1.22 How are reserve requirements set?  

 

The level of reserves will be reviewed twice annually by the Chief Finance Officer at 

budget setting and in closing the accounts. The Chief Finance officer will advise on 

prudent levels of reserves and balances for the Council. In developing a reserve 

strategy, the Chief Finance Officer will ensure that the level of reserves: 

 

(a) is sufficient to ensure that the Council can comply with its statutory financial 

duties of setting a balanced Revenue Budget;  

 

(b) takes into account the known risks over the life of the Medium-Term Financial 

Plan; and  

 

(c) is capable of covering the estimated financial risk of the Council, including 

contingent liabilities and insurance exposure risks.  

 

1.23 When must the Chief Finance Officer report on the level of reserves?  

 

1.23.1 The Chief Finance Officer must report to the Council if there is, or is likely to be, 

unlawful expenditure or an unbalanced Budget. This would include situations where 

reserves have become seriously depleted and it is forecast that the Council will not 

have the resources to meet its expenditure in a particular financial year7. 

 

                                                      
7 Local Government Finance Act 1988, section 114 

Page 671

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1988/41/section/114


 
 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

1.23.2 The Chief Finance Officer must also assess and report on of the robustness of the 

Budget and adequacy of reserves under Section 25 of the Local Governance Finance 

Act 20038. 

FEES AND CHARGES 
 
1.24 How are fees and charges increased each year?  

 

1.24.1 Fees and charges will normally be reviewed and revised as part of the annual Budget 

setting process and will normally apply with effect from 1 April each year.  

 

1.24.2 The Chief Finance Officer will include in the Medium-Term Financial Plan the relevant 

assumptions and requirements applicable to setting fees and charges.  

 

1.24.3 The Chief Finance Officer will keep fees and charges under periodic review and will 

refer any in-year revisions to the Executive for approval, as required.  

EXTERNAL FUNDING  
 

The Council may receive external funding in the form of grants or other financial support from 

the government or other funding bodies. Funding conditions should be considered carefully to 

ensure that they are compatible with the Council’s strategic aims and objectives and available 

resources.  

 
1.25 When may the Council seek external funding?  

 

The Chief Officers may only seek external funding to meet the priorities approved in 

the Policy Framework. Chief Officers must ensure that: 

 

(a) the key conditions of any external funding are understood and can be complied 

with, including the ability to provide match funding, as required;  

 

(b) any statutory requirements relating to external funding are complied with; 

 

(c) the Council’s responsibilities are fully understood and deliverable; 

 

(d) there is a feasible exit strategy aligned to the expiry of the period of grant 

funding with respect to ongoing resource requirements and any long-term 

financial obligations on the Council to maintain service levels and/or assets; 

 

(e) the impact on the Revenue Budget and the Capital Programme is fully 

considered and reflected; and  

 

(f) the Chief Finance Officer is consulted and has agreed to a bid before it is 

submitted.  

 

1.26 What are the Chief Finance Officer’s responsibilities in relation to external 

funding?  

 

The Chief Finance Officer will ensure that: 

                                                      
8 Local Government Finance Act 2003, section 25 

Page 672

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/26/section/25


 
 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

(a) all funding notified to external bodies is received and properly recorded in the 

Council’s accounts; 

 

(b) appropriate arrangements are made to ensure that the Council complies with 

external funding conditions in order to avoid the grant paying body having 

cause to clawback all or part of the original funding amount received;  

 

(c) the match-funding requirements are considered before entering into any 

external funding agreements and that future Revenue Budgets and the Capital 

Programme reflect these requirements;  

 

(d) details of new funding streams are routinely reported to the Executive as part 

of quarterly budget monitoring reports; 

 
(e) any funding application for an amount above the limit set out in the Financial 

Limits Annex is approved by the Executive; and 

 

(f) audit requirements are met in relation to external funding.  

 
For the avoidance of doubt, applications for external funding up to the limit set out in 

the Financial Limits Annex will be subject to the approval of the Chief Finance Officer. 

1.27 What are Chief Officer’s responsibilities in relation to external funding?  

 

Chief Officers will ensure that:  

 

(a) the Chief Finance Officer is informed of, and has agreed to, all external funding 

arrangements;  

 

(b) all claims for funding are approved by the Chief Finance Officer or an Officer 

nominated by them;  

 

(c) all claims for funds are made by the due date;  

 

(d) the match-funding requirements are considered before entering into the 

funding agreements and are approved by the Chief Finance Officer;  

 

(e) the project for which external funding has been sought progresses in 

accordance with the agreed project plan and funding conditions and that all 

expenditure is properly incurred and completely and accurately recorded;  

 

(f) if the funding is to support capital investment, the appropriate approval process 

is followed as set out in section 18.17; 

 

(g) notification of a successful application for external funding is obtained in writing 

stating the amount and conditions relating to its receipt; and  

 

(h) subject to 18.26(e) above, the Executive is made aware of any application, and 

any successful bid, for funding from an external body;  

 

Page 673



 
 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

1.28 What information should be included in a bid for external funding?  

 

1.28.1 All bids for external funding should include a full financial appraisal with the 

appropriate level of support from Finance staff. Directors shall submit to the 

Directorate Finance Business Partner bids for external funding and claims for 

validation and certification prior to submission. All grant claims should be completed 

in conjunction with the relevant Finance Business Partner.  

 

1.28.2 Directors should ensure that any bid for external funding meets the requirements set 

out in the application form. Where a bid is made for discretionary external funding, 

particular attention should be paid to the criteria on which a funding award will be 

based and the bid should be appropriately focused.  

 

1.29 Who may approve a bid for external funding?  

 

1.29.1 A bid for external funding should be approved in accordance with the financial 

thresholds set out in the Scheme of Delegation.  

 

1.29.2 All grant bids with a value up to the Key Decision Threshold should be submitted to 

the Chief Finance Officer’s nominated deputy for approval and should be signed by 

that deputy and the relevant Director.  

 

1.29.3 Grant bids above the Key Decision Threshold should be submitted to the Leadership 

Management Team for consideration and should be approved and signed by the Chief 

Finance Officer.  

 

1.30 What happens if a bid for external funding needs to be submitted urgently?  

 

Where the timeframe to submit a bid for external funding is urgent or does not allow 

for the process set out above to be followed in full, Directors may submit the bid 

without following the process in full, provided that they: 

 

(a) gain approval from the Chief Finance Officer or an Officer nominated by them 

before submitting the bid;  

 

(b) if submission of the bid is a Key Decision, ensure that this is brought to the 

Executive (or the person with relevant delegated authority) at the earliest 

opportunity for noting;  

 

(c) take all reasonable steps to consider the matters set out in section 18.25 above 

before submission;  

 

(d) complete any necessary documentation as soon as reasonably practicable 

after the submission is made.  

  

Page 674



 
 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

D – FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT  
 
BUDGET MONITORING  
 
Budget monitoring ensures that, once Full Council has approved the Budget, the resources 
allocated under that Budget are used for their intended purpose and are properly accounted 
for. Budget monitoring allows the Council to oversee its Budgets throughout the financial year, 
ensure that all relevant controls are being used effectively, and make adjustments to respond 
to in-year changes. It also enables the Council to hold Budget Holders and Directorates to 
account for their management of the budgets allocated to them.  
 
1.31 What are Officers authorised to spend?  

 

Approval by Full Council of the Budget constitutes authority for the Council to incur 

the agreed expenditure, save to the extent that a reservation has been placed on the 

Revenue Budget or Capital Programme.  

 

1.32 What are the Executive’s responsibilities in relation to Budget monitoring?  

 

The Executive is responsible for keeping under review the financial performance of 

each Directorate and the Council as a whole during the financial year.  

 

1.33 What are the Chief Finance Officer’s responsibilities in relation to Budget 

monitoring?  

 

1.33.1 The Chief Finance Officer will establish an appropriate framework of budgetary 

monitoring and control which ensures that: 

 

(a) budgetary management is exercised within the limits set in the Budget unless 

agreed otherwise by Full Council; 

 

(b) each Chief Officer and Budget Holder has access to timely, relevant and 

accurate information on receipts and payments on each budget, which is 

sufficiently detailed to enable Budget Holders to fulfil their budgetary 

responsibilities;  

 

(c) expenditure is only committed against an approved budget head in line with the 

chart of accounts;  

 

(d) all Officers responsible for committing expenditure comply with relevant 

guidance and these Financial Regulations;  

 

(e) each cost centre has a single named Budget Holder, determined by the 

relevant Chief Officer; as a general principle, budget responsibility should be 

aligned as closely as possible to the decision-making process that commits 

expenditure; and 

 

(f) variances from approved budgets are investigated and reported by Budget 

Holders in accordance with guidance set annually by the Chief Finance Officer. 

 

Page 675



 
 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

1.33.2 The Chief Finance Officer will make arrangements to ensure that effective monitoring 

and control of expenditure against Budget allocations takes place and will report to 

the Executive on the overall position of the Council’s finances as a minimum on a 

quarterly basis.   

 

1.34 What are Chief Officers’ responsibilities in relation to Budget monitoring?  

 

1.34.1 It is the responsibility of Chief Officers to control income and expenditure within their 

Directorate and to monitor performance, taking account of financial information 

provided by the Chief Finance Officer and/or their own systems.  

 

1.34.2 It is the responsibility of each Chief Officer to identify Budget Holders under their direct 

control and to ensure that Directorate Budgets are not overspent. They should also 

take any action necessary to avoid exceeding their Directorate Budget allocation and 

alert the Chief Finance Officer to any problems at the earliest opportunity.  

 

1.34.3 Each Chief Officer shall work with the Chief Finance Officer to report to the Leadership 

Management Team on a monthly basis. They will be required to present: 

 

(a) actual performance and variances against Directorate Budgets;  

 

(b) all significant variances (as defined in the Financial Limits Annex) substantiated 

with justifiable explanations and management actions being taken to address 

them; 

 

(c) progress of delivery of savings against any applicable savings plan; 

 

(d) a forecast of projected outturn performance and variance, including details of 

budget pressures, risks and issues.; and 

 

(e) a financial recovery plan to address adverse variances to bring the net 

expenditure within the approved budget.  

 

1.35 What are Budget Holders’ responsibilities in relation to Budget monitoring?  

 

1.35.1 Chief Officers should ensure that there is a designated Budget Holder for each cost 

centre heading who is responsible for income and expenditure within their influence 

and control. They should ensure that all financial transactions are properly recorded 

and accounted for.  

 

1.35.2 Budget Holders should be held accountable for their budgets and the level of service 

to be delivered and should understand their financial responsibilities. They will report 

on a monthly basis to their Directorate Management Team to enable the relevant Chief 

Officer to report to the Leadership Management Team as set out in section 18.34.3 

above.  Budget Holders must monitor the performance levels and take necessary 

action to align service outputs with their approved budget.  

 

1.35.3 Budget Holders are responsible for: 

 

(a) reporting actual performance and variance against to their profiled budget on a 

monthly basis;  

Page 676



 
 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

(b) providing a justifiable explanation for any significant variance to their budget 

and management actions being taken to bring expenditure within the approved 

budget  and  

 

(c) complying with guidance set out annually by the Chief Finance Officer on 

tolerance of variances.  

 

1.35.4 All Officers will take any action necessary to avoid exceeding their budget 

allocation and alert the Chief Finance Officer as soon as practicable if this 

cannot be achieved.  

REVENUE BUDGET OVER / UNDER SPENDING  
 
1.36 Who is responsible for ensuring that spending does not exceed the Budget?  

 

Chief Officers shall ensure that capital and revenue spending are each contained 

within their approved Budget. 

 

1.37 What happens if a Directorate Budget is overspent?  

 

1.37.1 If any line at the level of a Directorate Budget agreed by the Council becomes, or is 

expected to become, overspent the appropriate Director must take action to correct 

the position. 

 

1.37.2 In some circumstances, it will be permissible to transfer a budget either between 

directorates or between Directorates, or between budget headings within a 

directorate, subject to approved service plans and Council priorities. Any such transfer 

is known as a ‘virement’. The rules contained in section 18.37.3 below (and section 

17.5 of the Constitution) will apply to any virement. 

 
1.37.3 Virement between one line in the Revenue Budget and another is allowed in 

accordance with the rules and limits currently prescribed by the Council, as follows: 

 

(a) all proposed virements must be reported to the Chief Finance Officer or an 

Officer nominated by them;  

 

(b) any virement involving a change in policy that, in the opinion of the Monitoring 

Officer and the Chief Finance Officer is contrary to or not wholly in accordance 

with the Budget and Policy Framework, will be subject to Executive approval; 

 

(c) any virement proposing a permanent change in staffing establishments 

requires the approval of the Leadership Management Team; 

 

(d) no proposed virement shall be used to justify additional resource allocation in 

following years; 

 

(e) once a proposed virement has been agreed / approved, the Chief Finance 

Officer shall ensure that the appropriate changes are made to the Council’s 

computerised accountancy system at the earliest opportunity; 

 

Page 677



 
 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(f) Executive approval is required for any virement where it is proposed to vire 

between service level budgets agreed by Council in setting the annual Revenue 

Budget;  

 

(g) Chief Officers may vire within the overall Directorate Budget allocated to them 

by the Council in the annual Budget setting report, within the virement rules 

below; 

 

(h) each Chief Officer will keep a record of any virement made within their allocated 

budget and the Chief Finance Officer will keep a central record of all virements 

made across the Council; and 

 
(i) virements will be reported in accordance with guidance provided by the Chief 

Finance Officer.  

 
1.37.4 The financial limits applicable to virements are as set out in the Financial Limits Annex. 

 

1.37.5 For the avoidance of doubt, where section 18.37.3(b) of the Financial Regulations 

applies, Executive approval will be required, regardless of the value of the virement. 

 

1.38 When may a Chief Officer carry forward an underspend to their Directorate 

Budget?  

 

1.38.1 Directorates shall not be permitted to carry forward underspends against revenue 

budgets unless there are exceptional circumstances specifically agreed by the Chief 

Finance Officer who shall provide guidance as part of the annual accounts closure 

process.  

 

1.38.2 Unless otherwise approved by the Chief Finance Officer or their nominated deputy, 

carry forward of underspend against revenue budgets shall only be permitted where: 

 

(a) that expenditure is directly linked and dependent on a specific grant which can 

also be carried forward to meet the expenditure incurred; or 

 

(b) there is a contractual commitment for goods, works and/or services that exists 

before the year end and, due to exceptional circumstances, the Council has 

been unable to obtain receipt or delivery before 31 March.  

MANAGING CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 
 
1.39 How is capital expenditure managed?  

 

1.39.1 The Capital Programme is a multi-year programme to which resources are allocated 

to fund agreed capital projects. Not all capital projects will progress in line with their 

planned project timeline and delays of and acceleration to capital projects against their 

original plan are likely to occur across the period of the Capital Programme. This 

provides the Council with flexibility to manage capital projects over the medium term 

and ensure that desired outcomes are achieved in the most efficient and cost-effective 

way.  

 

Page 678



 
 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

1.39.2 The Executive is able to agree in-year changes to the profile of capital spending and 

to either delay a capital project to a future year or bring a capital project forward to the 

current year, in order to meet this objective.  

 

1.40 What happens if a capital project exceeds its budgetary provision?  

 

1.40.1 Where the actual or estimated cost of a capital scheme is forecast to exceed its 

original budgetary provision, the relevant Chief Officers shall, where required by 

guidance provided by the Chief Finance Officer, prepare a report for the Executive 

outlining the proposed management actions to address the overspend. The Executive 

will consider and approve management actions this may include the use of virement 

powers contained in section 18.40.2 below or the reduction of overall expenditure 

within the Capital Programme. 

 

1.40.2 Virement between one capital project and another is allowed in accordance with the 

rules and limits prescribed by the Council, as follows: 

 
(a) virements between capital projects are subject to approval by the Executive; 

 

(b) all necessary approvals must be obtained from external funding bodies, where 

necessary;  

 

(c) the virement must not increase the need for Council financial resources above 

the level approved in the Capital Programme; and  

 

(d) the diversion of expenditure should not increase the Council’s eventual 

revenue costs. 

 
1.40.3 The relevant Chief Officer will keep a record of any virement made within a project for 

which they are responsible, and the Chief Finance Officer will keep a central record 

of all virements made across the Council.  

 

1.40.4 The Chief Finance Officer will maintain a contingency within the Capital Programme 

to be applied to virements between capital projects. Any such application of this 

contingency for virements up to the Key Decision Threshold will be subject to the 

approval of the Chief Finance Officer and the virement will be reported to the next 

meeting of the Executive. Any application of the contingency for a virement above the 

Key Decision Threshold will be subject to Executive approval.  

 

1.41 What happens if there are changes to a capital project?  

 

1.41.1 Any proposal to add, delete, substitute or substantially amend any capital project shall 

be subject to approval by the Executive. 

 

1.41.2 Any in-year underspend on a capital project, whether resulting from slippage or cost 

savings, shall be reported to the Executive and shall not be used by services to fund 

additional capital expenditure unless agreed by the Executive. 

 
 

 
 

Page 679



 
 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

ASSETS, SECURITY AND RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
The Council’s assets represent a significant resource, which must be protected against loss 
or misuse. The need for effective measures to reduce losses has led the Council to adopt a 
positive strategy towards the management of risk. 
 
1.42 What is the role of the corporate landlord?  

 

1.42.1 The Head of Paid Service will nominate an Officer to act as Corporate Landlord on its 

behalf. The Corporate Landlord will: 

 
(a) hold the title deeds for all Council properties; 

 

(b) oversee and co-ordinate central records of Council assets and will liaise with 

the Chief Financial Officer to ensure an up to date Fixed Asset Register for 

accounting and valuation purposes; 

 

(c) ensure the proper security and maintenance of all premises occupied and/or 

owned by the Council;  

 

(d) develop an asset management strategy to include plans for the acquisition, 

disposal and maintenance of Council assets to secure Best Value over the 

course of the Medium Term Financial Plan; 

 

(e) arrange for the valuation of land and building assets for accounting purposes 

in accordance with the Local Government Act 1989 and associated 

professional codes of practice; and 

 
(f) maintain the Council’s property asset management systems.  

 

1.42.2 The Chief Finance Officer will maintain a Fixed Asset Register of all of the Council’s 

assets, which will identify each Director’s responsibilities in relation to assets that sit 

within their Directorate.  

 

1.42.3 To support the Corporate Landlord in executing their duties, Chief Officers will: 

 

(a) advise the Corporate Landlord of any situation where the security of Council 

premises is thought to be defective or where it is considered that special 

security arrangements may be needed; 

 

(b) ensure that no Council asset is subject to personal use by an employee without 

proper authority; 

 

(c) ensure the safe custody of vehicles, equipment, furniture, inventory, stores and 

other property belonging to the Council; 

 

(d) ensure that cash holdings on Council premises are kept to a minimum; and  

 

(e) ensure that keys to safes and similar receptacles are carried on the person of 

those responsible at all times; . 

 

Page 680



 
 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

1.43 What are Chief Officers’ responsibilities in relation to inventory of Council 

assets?  

 

1.43.1 All Chief Officers shall maintain an inventory for each establishment within their 

control, recording an adequate description of readily portable items of furniture, 

fittings, equipment, tools, plant and machinery in a form approved by the Chief 

Finance Officer.  

 

1.43.2 All Chief Officers shall arrange for regular physical checks (at least annually) to be 

carried out of equipment, stores etc. against the relevant records. Any surplus, 

deficiency or deterioration revealed as a result of such checks shall be identified, 

investigated, pursued to a satisfactory conclusion and the inventory updated 

accordingly. All changes shall be reported to the Chief Finance Officer in accordance 

with the annual accounts closure process, for which guidance is issued annually.  

 

1.43.3 The Council’s property shall not be removed other than in accordance with the 

ordinary course of business, or used other than for the Council’s purposes, except 

where the relevant Director has given specific written directions.  

 

1.43.4 Assets owned by the Council shall, as far as possible, be effectively marked as 

Council property. 

 

1.44 When may surplus / obsolete stock be disposed of?  

 

1.44.1 Before Chief Officers take any action on the disposal of surplus or obsolete stock, 

they should consult other Chief Officers to determine if there is a continuing need for 

the item(s) within the Council. Where there is no internal need for the item(s), Directors 

shall arrange for the items to be offered for sale by competitive tender or public 

auction, except as agreed otherwise by the Chief Finance Officer and in accordance 

with the Contract Procedure Rules. 

 

1.44.2 The Chief Finance Officer shall be notified of the intention to dispose of any item which 

might be regarded as a capital asset, or which was originally obtained via a leasing 

agreement.  

 

1.45 What are the competition requirements for disposals made by the Council?  

 

1.45.1 Assets for disposal must be sent to public auction except where better value for money 

is likely to be obtained by inviting Quotations and Tenders.  

 

1.45.2 Where Quotations or Tenders are used, the method of disposal of surplus or obsolete 

stocks / stores or assets other than land must be determined as follows:  

 

1.45.3 The financial thresholds applicable to disposals made by the Council and the disposal 

methods to be adopted are set out in the Financial Limits Annex.  

 

1.45.4 The Council’s Asset Acquisition and Disposal Policy applies to disposals of land 

assets.  

 

 

 

Page 681



 
 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

1.46 Who must approve leasehold interests?  

Any acquisition, extension or variation by the Council of a leasehold interest in land 
or buildings must be approved by the Chief Finance Officer. Such arrangements must 
represent Value for Money and be accounted for appropriately. 

 
1.47 How are leased assets managed? 

 

1.47.1 All leased assets shall be identified and recorded separately in any inventory (section 

18.43). 

 

1.47.2 No leased asset shall be disposed of without the written agreement of the Chief 

Finance Officer. 

 
1.47.3 Assets leased by the Council must be maintained in full working order in accordance 

with the terms of the lease and shall not be adapted for any alternative use without 

the prior written agreement of the Chief Finance Officer. 

 

1.48 What are the Council’s arrangements for asset security?  

 

1.48.1 All Directors shall be responsible for introducing and maintaining adequate 

arrangements for all aspects of security of assets under their control, including 

personnel, stores, equipment, cash, data, and confidential information. The Chief 

Finance Officer shall be consulted in any case where security is thought to be 

defective or where it is considered that special security arrangements may be needed. 

 

1.48.2 The Chief Finance Officer shall be responsible for ensuring that secure arrangements 

are made for the preparation and holding of pre-signed cheques, stock certificates, 

bonds and other financial documents. 

 

1.48.3 All Directors should ensure that contingency plans are in place for the security of 

assets and continuity of service in the event of disaster or system failure. 

 

1.49 What are the Council’s arrangements for information governance?  

 

1.49.1 All employees of the Council have a personal responsibility to protect and maintain 

the confidentiality of information, whether held in paper-based or computerised 

records. Information may be classified as sensitive, or may possess some intrinsic 

value, and its disclosure or loss could result in a cost to the Council in some way. 

Officers should ensure that operational activity complies with the policies that 

comprise the Information Governance Framework.   

Page 682



 
 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
1.49.2 All Chief Officers shall ensure their staff have an awareness of safety and security 

issues in relation to information, and an appreciation of the individual responsibilities 

of staff under the Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 and otherwise to ensure the 

safety of individuals and the security of the Council’s assets. 

 

1.49.3 The Council has adopted a Computer Security Code of Practice. All Chief Officers 

should ensure that their staff are familiar with this document, and that effective 

controls and security routines are operated to protect data against the hazards listed 

(e.g., computer viruses; unauthorised access; loss of data etc.). 

 

1.49.4 It is the responsibility of Chief Officers to ensure that all computerised systems within 

their responsibility are properly registered and operated in accordance with 

requirements of applicable data protection legislation.  

 

1.50 What are the Council’s arrangements in respect of insurance?  

 

1.50.1 The Chief Finance Officer shall ensure that adequate insurance protection is 

maintained for the Council’s assets and operations where it is considered to be cost-

effective and appropriate. Such protection may, on advice, be arranged by way of 

external insurance cover, or by way of an internal ‘Insurance Fund’ established for 

that purpose, or a combination of such measures. 

 

1.50.2 The Chief Finance Officer shall be responsible for the negotiation of all the Council’s 

insurance contracts, and Chief Officers shall provide all such information and 

assistance as is required to facilitate such negotiations. No insurance contracts may 

be entered into by Chief Officers other than through the Chief Finance Officer. 

 

1.50.3 Each Chief Officer shall give prompt notification to the Chief Finance Officer of all new 

insurable risks and all changes in operations, responsibilities, contractual 

arrangements, indemnities, or ownership or occupation of properties in which the 

Council has an interest whenever such changes may have a bearing on any of the 

Council’s insurance arrangements. 

 

1.50.4 Each Chief Officer shall be responsible for providing prompt notification to the Chief 

Finance Officer of all incidents likely to give rise to an insurance claim by or against 

Page 683



 
 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

the Council. In the case of accidents involving death or serious injury to any party, 

such notification shall in the first instance be by way of an immediate oral report. 

 

1.50.5 Each Chief Officer shall ensure full and prompt co-operation of their Service and 

individual staff in the investigation, defence and negotiation of claims. 

 

1.50.6 Chief Officers may arrange with the Chief Finance Officer for the provision of 

insurance cover additional to those arranged generally for the Council when they 

judge such additional cover to be appropriate based on the risk involved. 

 

1.50.7 Fortuitous accidents and losses, which arise in a wide variety of ways, may have a 

very significant impact both in humanitarian terms, and in terms of financial cost to the 

Council. It is the responsibility of every Chief Officer to manage the operations of their 

Directorate in such a way as to reduce, as much as reasonably practicable, both the 

humanitarian and financial costs of risks. To this end, all Chief Officers must consider 

the risk and insurance implications of all existing and new operations undertaken, and 

contracts and indemnities entered into; where appropriate consulting with specialist 

Health and Safety, Risk Management, Insurance, Legal or other technical staff within 

the Council in order to minimise the attendant risks. 

 

1.51 What are the Council’s arrangements for risk management?  

 

1.51.1 The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for risk management.  

 

1.51.2 The Council has a Risk and Opportunity Management Policy, agreed by the 

Executive, which articulates the Council’s risk appetite and how it manages risks and 

opportunities.  

 

1.51.3 The Head of Policy, Governance and Information shall, in consultation with the Chief 

Finance Officer, provide advice on risk management and the risks facing the Council 

in relation to the development and operation of the Council’s Risk and Opportunity 

Management Policy.  Each Chief Officer has a responsibility to support these 

initiatives with the aim of improving risk management throughout the organisation.  

INTERNAL AUDIT  
 
1.52 What is Internal Audit?  

 
1.52.1 Internal Audit systematically monitors the Council’s objectives and, through an 

examination of system and management controls, attempts to ensure that those 

objectives are being met in the most efficient, economic and effective manner. 

 

1.52.2 Every local authority is required to maintain adequate and effective Internal Audit9. 

The Council has delegated this statutory responsibility to the Chief Finance Officer.  

 

1.53 What is the scope of the Internal Audit Service’s role?  

 

                                                      
9 Accounts and Audit Regulations 1996 

Page 684

https://middlesbrough-council-middlesbrough.opendata.arcgis.com/documents/Middlesbrough::risk-and-opportunity-management-policy-2020/explore
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1996/590/made


 
 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

1.53.1 As a service to management, the Internal Audit Service shall provide an independent 

appraisal of all the Council’s activities, reporting on the adequacy and effectiveness 

of the systems of internal control, including management controls and arrangements.  

 

1.53.2 The Internal Audit Section’s appraisal has the following objectives: 

 

(a) to review the soundness, adequacy and application of accounting, financial and 

other internal controls; 

 

(b) to ascertain the extent to which systems of control ensure compliance with 

established policies and procedures; 

 

(c) to ascertain the extent to which assets and interests entrusted to or funded by 

the Council are properly controlled and safeguarded from losses of all kinds; 

 

(d) to ascertain that accounting and other information is reliable as a basis for the 

production of accounts and other returns; 

 

(e) to ascertain the integrity and reliability of financial and other information 

provided to management, including that used in decision making; and 

 

(f) to ascertain that systems of control are laid down and operate to promote the 

most economic, efficient and effective use of resources. 

 

1.53.3 The Chief Finance Officer shall ensure that Internal Audit is adequately resourced to 

perform its role effectively.  

 

1.54 What is the Chief Finance Officer authorised to do in connection with Internal 

Audit?  

 

1.54.1 For the purposes of Internal Audit, the Chief Finance Officer or their authorised 

representative(s) shall have authority on production of identification to: 

 

(a) enter any Council property or land at all reasonable times; 

 

(b) have access to all assets, staff, records, computer files, documents and 

correspondence relating to any financial and other transactions; 

 

(c) require and receive such explanations as are necessary concerning any matter 

under examination; 

 

(d) require any employee holding or controlling cash, stores or any other Council 

property to produce such items; 

 

(e) access records belonging to third parties, such as contractors and partners, 

when required; and 

 

(f) have direct access to the Head of Paid Service and the Executive. 

 

Page 685



 
 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

1.54.2 In relation to these rights of access, the Internal Audit Service is regarded as having 

a personal responsibility to observe the highest standards of confidentiality and 

personal integrity. 

 

1.55 What happens if there is irregularity or suspected irregularity?  

 

1.55.1 Whenever any matter arises which involves, or is thought to involve, irregularities 

concerning cash, stores or other property of the Council or any suspected irregularity 

in the exercise of the functions of the Council, the Chief Officer concerned shall 

immediately notify the Chief Finance Officer or Internal Audit (as appropriate), who 

shall investigate and report as necessary. Pending any investigation and reporting, 

the appropriate Chief Officer should take all necessary steps to prevent further loss 

and secure records and documentation against removal or alteration. 

 

1.55.2 Individuals may also report any matter of concern under the Whistleblowing Policy 

and Procedure.  

 

1.55.3 Chief Officers shall ensure that any agreed actions arising from audit 

recommendations are carried out in a timely and efficient fashion. 

 

1.56 What is the role of the Audit Committee in relation to Internal Audit?  

 

The role of the Audit Committee in relation to Internal Audit is set out in section 9.6.3 

of the Constitution.  

TAXATION  
 

1.56.1 The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for ensuring compliance with all relevant 

taxation regulations and guidance that affects the Council either directly, as a 

consequence of its own activities, or indirectly, as a result of service delivery through 

external partners. 

 

1.56.2 To enable the Chief Finance Officer to fulfil the requirements of this role, Chief Officers 

will: 

 
(a) Ensure that the Chief Finance Officer is consulted on all proposals that may 

alter or affect the Council’s tax liability. 

 

(b) Ensure that the VAT guidance issued by the Chief Finance Officer is complied 

with (i.e., to ensure that the correct liability is attached to all income due and 

that all amounts recoverable on purchases can be claimed). 

 

(c) Ensure that, where construction and maintenance works are undertaken, the 

sub-contractor fulfils the necessary construction industry tax scheme 

requirements (as advised by the Chief Finance Officer). 

 

(d) Ensure that the Head of Strategic Commissioning & Procurement’s guidance 

on fee payments to consultants, individuals or partners is complied with. 

 

1.56.3 The Chief Finance Officer will maintain the Council’s tax records, make all tax 

payments, receive tax credits and submit tax returns by their due date, as appropriate. 

Page 686

https://moderngov.middlesbrough.gov.uk/documents/s1602/Appendix%201.pdf
https://moderngov.middlesbrough.gov.uk/documents/s1602/Appendix%201.pdf


 
 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

PREVENTING FRAUD AND CORRUPTION 
 
1.57 What are the Council’s Anti-Money Laundering Policy and Procedures?  

 

1.57.1 The Council has an effective Anti-Money Laundering Policy and Procedures and 

maintains a culture that will not tolerate fraud or corruption. It is the responsibility of 

the Chief Finance Officer to maintain the Council’s Anti-Money Laundering Policy and 

Procedures. 

 

1.57.2 Chief Officers must ensure that this policy and associated procedures that sit behind 

it are adhered to and that all appropriate action is taken to prevent money laundering. 

This includes reporting all suspected irregularities to the Chief Internal Auditor (see 

section 18.55). 

 

1.58 When must Officers declare an interest?  

 

To avoid giving rise to suspicion about the honesty and integrity of the Council or its 

employees, or giving the impression of corruption or improper behaviour, all interests 

of a personal and/or financial nature with external bodies or persons who have 

dealings with the Council, or any other interests which could conflict with an officer’s 

duties, must be declared in accordance with the Officer Code of Conduct.  

 

1.59 When may gifts and hospitality be accepted?  

 

1.59.1 Officers must be cautious regarding offers of gifts and hospitality as acceptance can 

easily give the impression of improper behaviour or favour. 

 

1.59.2 The Council’s Gifts and Hospitality Policy explains how offers of gifts and hospitality 

are to be dealt with, including what can be accepted, what cannot be accepted, and 

what must be declared.  

 

1.60 How does the Council deal with its anti-money laundering obligations?  

 

1.60.1 Money laundering is defined as: 

 

(a) Concealing, disguising, converting, transferring or removing criminal property 

from the Country. 

 

(b) Being concerned in an arrangement which a person knows of, suspects or 

facilitates the acquisition, retention, use or control of criminal property. 

 

1.60.2 In accordance with the Council’s Anti Money Laundering Policy, all suspected 

attempts to use the Council to launder money must be reported to the Chief Internal 

Auditor who is the Council’s Money Laundering Reporting Officer.  

 

1.60.3 Chief Officers must ensure that their staff understand what money laundering is and 

their obligations under the anti-money laundering legislation, so that they can 

recognise situations that might lead to suspicions of money laundering. 

 

1.60.4 When a person knows or suspects that money laundering activity is taking place (or 

has taken place) or becomes concerned that their involvement in a matter may 

Page 687



 
 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

amount to a prohibited act under the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 and the Money 

Laundering Regulations 2011, they must disclose this as soon as practicable or risk 

prosecution. 

 

1.60.5 To mitigate the risks of the Council being used to launder money: 

 

(a) cash receipts exceeding £1,000 will not be accepted other than with the prior 

approval of the Section 151 Officer; and  

 

(b) receipts and payments unrelated to the Council’s own activities will not be paid 

into or from a Council bank account without the prior approval of the Section 

151 Officer. 

 

1.61 How does the Council deal with its anti-bribery obligations?  

 

1.61.1 Bribery is an inducement or reward offered, promised or provided to gain personal, 

commercial, regulatory or contractual advantage. The Bribery Act has been enacted 

to enable robust action against such activity. 

 

1.61.2 In accordance with the Council’s Anti-bribery Policy, the detection, prevention and 

reporting of bribery and other forms of corruption are the responsibility of all those 

working for the Council or under its control.  

  

Page 688



 
 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

E – FINANCIAL PROCESSES 
 
Sound financial systems and procedures are essential to providing an effective framework of 
accountability and control for the Council’s financial governance.  
 
The main accounting system should provide data that is accurate and adequate for the 
published final accounts and management in the conduct of their business. Secure and 
reliable systems are essential to ensure that individual transactions are processed and 
recorded accurately. 
 
FINANCIAL SYSTEMS 
 
1.62 What are the Chief Finance Officer’s responsibilities in relation to financial 

systems? 

 

1.62.1 The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for the provision of a corporate system for 

the preparation of the Council’s accounts and for recording managing and reporting 

expenditure and income. This is currently provided by means of the Council’s financial 

system.  

 

1.62.2 The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for the operation of the Council’s accounting 

systems, the form of accounts and the supporting financial records. Any changes 

made by Chief Officers to existing financial systems, or the establishment of new 

systems, must be approved by the Chief Finance Officer. Any changes to agreed 

financial procedures by Chief Officers to meet their own specific Directorate needs 

should be approve by the Chief Finance Officer.  

 

1.63 What are Chief Officers’ responsibilities in relation to financial systems?  

 

1.63.1 Chief Officers are responsible for the proper operation of financial processes in their 

own directorates.   

 

1.63.2 Chief Officers are responsible for ensuring that the financial system accurately records 

the financial transactions of their functions, and for complying with guidance issued 

by the Chief Finance Officer on the uses of such systems and the information to be 

recorded.  

 

1.63.3 Chief Officers shall ensure that all income and expenditure, regardless of its source, 

is processed through the financial system and that all transactions are recorded in a 

manner that complies with proper accounting practices, enables returns to be made 

to taxation authorities, and complies with other legal requirements. The Chief Finance 

Officer shall give guidance and training as necessary to enable Chief Officers to fulfil 

this obligation.  

 

1.63.4 Chief Officers shall use the financial system as the main method of monitoring 

expenditure and income in their Directorates and for comparing spending against 

Directorate Budget. Chief Officers shall keep such subsidiary information and records 

as are necessary to monitor effectively expenditure, income and commitments, and 

to support any required returns.  

 

Page 689



 
 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

1.63.5 Chief Officers shall provide all relevant information deemed necessary to compile the 

Council’s annual accounts in accordance with guidance issued by the Chief Finance 

Officer.  

 

1.64 When should Chief Officers discuss changes to systems and procedures with 

Internal Audit?  

 

Chief Officers shall ensure that new systems and procedures for maintaining financial 

and non-financial records or records of assets, or changes to such arrangements, are 

discussed with the Head of Internal Audit prior to implementation.  

FINANCIAL PROCEDURES 
 
1.65 What are Chief Officers’ responsibilities in relation to financial procedures?  

 

Chief Officers are responsible for promoting the financial management standards set 

by the Chief Finance Officer in their service areas and monitoring adherence to the 

standards and practices, liaising as necessary with the Chief Finance Officer.  All 

Chief Officers shall promote sound financial practices in relation to the standards, 

performance and development of staff in their Directorates. 

 

1.66 What are the Chief Finance Officer’s responsibilities in relation to financial 

administration?  

 

1.66.1 The Chief Finance Officer shall be responsible for keeping the principal accounting 

records for all Directorates of the Council. 

 

1.66.2 The Chief Finance Officer shall ensure that the accounts and accompanying 

reconciliations are properly prepared and presented for audit in accordance with 

relevant guidelines and statutes. 

 

1.66.3 All accounts, financial records, including computerised records and financial 

administration procedures shall be kept in a form approved by the Chief Finance 

Officer. 

 

1.66.4 After conferring with relevant Chief Officers, the Chief Finance Officer shall issue 

instructions as are deemed necessary to carry out the day-to-day financial work of the 

Council. 

 

1.66.5 Prior to introducing, amending or discontinuing any record or procedure relating to 

financial transactions or accounting in their Directorate, Chief Officers shall consult 

the Chief Finance Officer. 

 

1.67 What are Officers’ responsibilities in relation to financial administration?  

 

Chief Officers and Budget Holders shall comply with accounting guidance provided 

by the Chief Finance Officer and will supply them with information when required to 

support proper financial administration. 

UNOFFICIAL (TRUST) FUNDS 
 
1.68 What is an ‘unofficial fund’?  

Page 690



 
 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

An ‘unofficial fund’ is any fund where the income and expenditure does not form part 

of the Council’s accounts, but which is controlled wholly or in part by an Officer due to 

their employment by the Council or by, for instance, the Governors of a school or other 

semi-autonomous body. 

 

1.69 How are unofficial funds managed?  

 

1.69.1 Relevant Chief Officers shall be responsible for the immediate control of unofficial 

funds within or relating to their Directorate. 

 

1.69.2 The Chief Finance Officer shall be informed of the existence of all unofficial funds and 

shall issue and update accounting instructions for them where necessary. 

BANKING, INCOME AND TREASURY MANAGEMENT 
 
Proper administration of bank accounts is fundamental for financial control. All income 
collection systems must provide for prompt recording of both cash and credit and the prompt 
banking of all receipts. Income is vulnerable if not adequately and effectively controlled. 
 
BANKING 
 
1.70 What are the Council’s banking arrangements?  

 

1.70.1 All arrangements concerning the opening, closing and operation of the Council’s bank 

accounts shall be notified to the Chief Finance Officer. All bank Mandates shall be 

signed by the Chief Finance Officer or their nominated representative. 

 

1.70.2 All banking arrangements, including automatic debiting or payments, and additional 

banking services (for example, credit/debit cards) will be under the control of the Chief 

Finance Officer and their Directorate.  

 

1.70.3 Each bank account operated by the Council shall bear an official title and in no 

circumstances shall an account be opened in the name of an individual except in 

respect of an account in the name of the Returning Officer for the Middlesbrough 

Constituency. 

TREASURY MANAGEMENT 
 
Treasury management involves the management of the Council’s cash flows, borrowings and 
treasury investments, and the effective control of the risks associated with those activities.  
 
1.71 What are the treasury management requirements for the Council?  

 

1.71.1 The Council is required to have regard to CIPFA’s Treasury Management Code (‘TM 

Code’). Accordingly:  

 

(a) The Council will create and maintain, as the cornerstones for effective treasury 

and investment management: 

 

Page 691



 
 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(i) a treasury management policy statement stating the policies, 

objectives and approach to risk management of its treasury 

management activities; 

 

(ii) suitable treasury management practices (TMPs) setting out the 

manner in which the Council will seek to achieve those policies and 

objectives, and prescribing how it will manage and control those 

activities; 

 
(iii) investment management practices (IMPs) for investments that are not 

for treasury management purposes. 

 
The content of the policy statement, TMPs and IMPs will follow the 

recommendations contained in sections 6, 7 and 8 of the TM Code, subject 

only to amendment where necessary to reflect the Council’s particular 

circumstances. Such amendments will not result in the Council materially 

deviating from the TM Code’s key principles. 

 
(b) The Executive and the Audit Committee will receive reports on the Council’s 

treasury and investment management policies, practices and activities, 

including an annual strategy and plan in advance of the year, a mid-year review 

and an annual report after its close in the form prescribed in the TMPs and 

IMPs. 

 

(c) The Council delegates responsibility for the implementation and regular 

monitoring of its treasury management policies and practices to the Executive, 

and for the execution and administration of treasury management decisions to 

the Chief Finance Officer, who will act in accordance with the organisation’s 

policy statement, TMPs and IMPs, and if they are a CIPFA member, CIPFA’s 

Standard of Professional Practice on treasury management. 

 

(d) The Council nominates the Audit Committee to be responsible for ensuring 

effective scrutiny of the treasury management strategy and policies. Audit 

Committee will review and comment on the Council’s Treasury Management 

Strategy before it is submitted to Full Council for approval.  

 

1.71.2 All money received by the Council shall be aggregated for the purpose of treasury 

management and shall be under the control of the Chief Finance Officer.  

 

1.72 In what name are the Council’s borrowings to be effected?  

 

All borrowings and investments shall be effected in the name of Middlesbrough 

Borough Council. 

 

1.73 Who is the registrar for stocks, bonds and mortgages?  

 

The Chief Finance Officer shall be the registrar for all stocks, bonds and mortgages 

of the Council and shall maintain records of all transactions relating thereto, and of all 

borrowings of money by the Council. 

Page 692



 
 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

INCOME 
 
1.74 What are the Council’s arrangements for income collection?  

 

1.74.1 Notwithstanding that income may be collected by another Officer, all arrangements 

for the collection of income due to the Council shall be agreed with the Chief Finance 

Officer. Chief Officers shall maintain records of all income transactions in a form 

agreed by the Chief Finance Officer. 

 

1.74.2 The Chief Finance Officer shall set out the arrangements necessary to ensure that all 

monies due to, and received by, the Council are banked promptly. 

 

1.74.3 The Chief Finance Officer will set the requirement for all receipt forms, books, tickets 

and other such items, with which Officers must comply. Every issue of any such 

document shall be acknowledged by the signature of the Officer to whom the issue is 

made. No Officer shall give a receipt for any money received on behalf of the Council 

on any form other than an official receipt form or ticket. 

 

1.74.4 All sums received by Officers shall be paid over promptly to the Chief Finance Officer, 

or by arrangement, to the Council’s bankers. No deduction should be made from such 

money, unless specifically authorised by the Chief Finance Officer. Personal cheques 

must not be cashed out of collections. 

 

1.74.5 The Chief Finance Officer shall be notified as early as possible of all money due to 

the Council under contracts, or any other arrangements which would involve the 

receipt of money by the Council and shall have access to the original documents or 

relevant particulars. 

DEBT MANAGEMENT 
 
1.75 What is the Council’s process for managing debts?  

 

1.75.1 Where the Council is delivering works, goods or services, Chief Officers should, in the 

first instance, seek payment in advance or at the point of delivery. Only where this is 

not possible should an invoice be raised. 

 

1.75.2 Where income is due to the Council in respect of work done, goods supplied, or 

services rendered but not paid for in advance or at the point of service provision, Chief 

Officers must ensure that invoices are issued promptly and accurately in respect of 

any amount due. Chief Officers should ensure that full details of the debtor and the 

work, goods or services are recorded accurately.  

 

1.75.3 The Chief Finance Officer will establish performance management systems to monitor 

the recovery of income and flag instances of delayed or non-recovery.  

 

1.75.4 Evidence of any debt shall be retained by Chief Officers for an appropriate period in 

accordance with the Council’s document retention policies.   

 

1.75.5 All Chief Officers have a responsibility to collect debts which they have originated by 

providing any further information requested by the debtor, and pursuing the debt on 

the Council's behalf. 

Page 693



 
 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

1.75.6 Where Chief Officers are unable to collect debts as set out above, the Chief Finance 

Officer and the Monitoring Officer shall take all reasonable steps to obtain recovery of 

debts (involving debt collection agencies and / or Court proceedings as appropriate). 

 

1.76 When will bad debts be written off? 

 

If, in the course of collecting debt, it becomes apparent that: 

 

(a) full payment or repayment is unlikely to be made;  

 

(b) continued recovery action is ineffective or not economic; and/or 

 

(c) any possible arrangement will not lead to the debt being settled within a realistic 

and reasonable timeframe, 

 
the Council will write off the debt to reflect income prudently within its accounts. This 

does not necessarily mean that the Council will stop pursuing the debt. In the event 

that a written off debt is subsequently recovered, it will be written back as income into 

the Council’s accounts upon receipt.    

 

1.77 Who has authority to write off a debt?  

 

1.77.1 The Chief Finance Officer (or their nominated deputy) has the authority to approve 

write offs of unpaid debts up to the limit set out in the Financial Limits Annex per 

individual debt subject to agreement from the relevant Budget Manager, Legal 

Services and the relevant Finance Business Partner that: 

 

(a) there is no realistic chance of recovering the debt; or  

 

(b) it is considered uneconomical to attempt debt recovery.  

 
The Chief Finance Officer has the overriding authority to approve or reject write offs if 

agreement cannot be reached between the various parties. 

1.77.2 Any individual debts over the limit set out in the Financial Limits Annex must be 

approved by the Executive, subject to the recommendation of the Chief Finance 

Officer.  

 

1.78 Where are bad debts allocated?  

 

Write off of irrecoverable debts will be charged to the relevant budget code where the 

debt was first raised, unless otherwise agreed by the Chief Finance Officer or their 

delegated representatives.  

 

1.79 What happens if a debt is not recovered within three (3) years?  

 

Credit balances, which are over three (3) years old, and which cannot be 

substantiated or justified, will be released to the relevant fund after the closure of 

accounts of each year, subject to formal approval by the Chief Finance Officer. 

 

Page 694



 
 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

1.80 How are bad debts accounted for?  

 

1.80.1 The Chief Finance Officer will determine the criteria for calculating how much to 

provide for outstanding debts in relation to their age and type in consultation with the 

relevant Budget Holders and Legal Services, and in line with relevant accounting 

standards.  

 

1.80.2 Bad debt provisions will be recalculated based on the latest debt levels and types on 

at least a quarterly basis. The impact of increases or decreases required to the 

general bad debt provision will be charged to the General Fund. 

 

1.80.3 Each year, consideration will be given as to whether any budget provision should be 

made to account for the potential impact of bad debt on the Council’s Revenue Budget 

in the coming year. This will be approved as part of the annual Budget setting process. 

Any savings realised against this budget provision will be transferred to reserves. 

 

1.81 How are bad debts reported? 

 

The year-end financial outturn report will provide a summary of all irrecoverable debt 

written off during the year. 

CLOSING OF ACCOUNTS 
 
1.82 What is the process for closing the Council’s accounts?  

 

1.82.1 The Chief Finance Officer shall be responsible for the production and publication of 

the Council’s year-end accounts and financial statements in the form, and according 

to the timetable, required by applicable legislation and guidance.  

 

1.82.2 The Chief Finance Officer shall provide all relevant Officers with guidance on the 

production of year-end accounts and financial statements. This guidance shall detail 

the timetable for production of the final accounts, the information and action required 

from each Directorate and any other details necessary to ensure that Officers are able 

to discharge their responsibilities under this section 18.82. 

 

1.82.3 The Chief Finance Officer shall present the Statement of Accounts for the year in 

question to the Audit Committee and the Council’s External Auditors as early as 

possible. 

 

1.82.4 Chief Officers and Budget Holders must comply with accounting guidance provided 

by the Chief Finance Officer and supply information when required in relation to the 

closing of accounts. 

 

1.82.5 The Chief Finance Officer shall retain, in safe custody, copies of the audited 

Statement of Accounts including the External Auditor’s signed certificate and opinion. 

The Statement of Accounts will be published as soon as possible on the Council’s 

website, following certification by the Chief Finance Officer, and then made available 

for public inspection in line with applicable legislation.  

 
 
  

Page 695



 
 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

CONTRACTS AND PURCHASING 
 
Officers authorised to commit the Council to current or future expenditure are expected to act 
responsibly and demonstrate that the arrangements and procedures followed comply with the 
Council’s instructions. 
 
1.83 What are the rules that apply to contracts and purchasing?  

 

1.83.1 All contracts, agreements and purchases are subject to the requirements of the 

Contract Procedure Rules in section 19 of the Constitution, and the procedures and 

financial limits which they prescribe. 

 

1.83.2 Before entering into purchasing commitments, Chief Officers and Budget Holders 

shall ensure that the estimated cost is covered by financial provision in the budget to 

which it relates. 

 

1.83.3 Official orders and official purchasing/procurement cards must not be raised for any 

personal or private purchases, nor must personal or private use be made of Council 

contracts. 

ORDERS FOR WORK, GOODS AND SERVICES 
 
1.84 What form should orders for work, goods and services take?  

 

Official orders shall be in a form approved by the Chief Finance Officer and released 

only by Officers authorised by the appropriate Chief Officer. All official orders issued 

by a Directorate shall be the responsibility of that Chief Officer. An up to date list of 

authorised Officers shall be maintained by Chief Officers and a copy sent to the Chief 

Finance Officer. Any changes to the list of authorised officers shall be notified to the 

Chief Finance Officer immediately. 

 

1.85 When are official orders required?  

 

1.85.1 Official orders shall be issued for all goods, work and services except where the 

Council enters into a formal contract with a supplier made for supplies of utility 

services, periodic payments such as rents or rates, for petty cash purchases or such 

other exceptions as the Chief Finance Officer may approve.  

 

1.85.2 All goods, equipment etc. ordered on official order forms should be for the Council’s 

own use. 

 

1.86 How may official orders be amended?  

 

Any subsequent variations or amendments to official orders shall be approved by an 

authorised Officer, linked to the original record. 

CONTRACTS 
 
These regulations with regard to contracts shall be read in conjunction with the Contract 
Procedure Rules in section 19 of the Constitution. 
 
All Chief Officers should ensure that adequate and effective systems and procedures are 
operated for arranging and managing contracts and agreements having regard to advice and 

Page 696



 
 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

guidance from the Chief Finance Officer on financial aspects. This includes the financial 
vetting of contracts where appropriate. 
 
1.87 What specific issues relate to contracts for the provision of social care by 

independent providers?  

 

Contractual agreements for the provision of social care between the Council and 

independent sector providers shall take into account the following specific issues: 

 

(a) the need to reflect a high degree of client, carer and client’s family’s 

involvement in contracting arrangements; 

 

(b) The need for a long term service relationship avoiding regular changes in 

service provider, particularly in the case of long term residential care; and 

 

(c) the involvement of potential providers, such as small charities or voluntary 

organisations, who may have limited experience and resources to cope with 

complex contracting and tendering arrangements. 

 

1.88 What are the requirements for contracts in relation to borrowing, leasing and 

property etc.? 

 

1.88.1 Any contract or agreement involving a charge upon assets or property must be 

forwarded to the Monitoring Officer for signature on behalf of the Council. 

 

1.88.2 Except on the instruction of the Chief Finance Officer, no other Officer shall enter into 

any agreement or contract involving the borrowing of funds, leasing of equipment, 

credit arrangement, hire purchase agreement, insurance contract, or the investment 

of Council monies; nor the authorising of any direct debit to be charged against the 

Council’s bank accounts (except as agreed and authorised by the Chief Finance 

Officer). 

 

1.88.3 Except as agreed by the Executive, no officer may raise money by securing any legal 

charge or claim upon the buildings, property or any other asset or interest of the 

Council. 

 
1.89 What form should contracts take?  

 

The content and form of contracts and agreements are to be agreed by the Monitoring 

Officer before finalising by any Director on behalf of the Council. 

 
1.90 What are the insurance and risk management requirements for contracts?  

 

Prior to entering into any contract, Directors will fully consider all Insurance and risk 

management implications, and where necessary seek appropriate advice from the 

Chief Finance Officer. 

PAYMENT OF ACCOUNTS 
 
1.91 Who is authorised to make payments on account?  

Page 697



 
 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

1.91.1 The Chief Finance Officer has authority to pay all amounts to which the Council is 

legally committed out of the Council’s bank account, after authorisation of invoices for 

payment by the appropriate Budget Holder in accordance with these Financial 

Regulations. 

 

1.91.2 Payments on account to contractors shall be made only on a certificate issued by the 

appropriate Chief Officer (or private architect, engineer or consultant where they are 

engaged by the Council) or other Officer nominated in writing for the purpose. 

 

1.91.3 Before the appropriate Chief Officer or duly authorised person issues a final certificate 

of payment under a contract, the Chief Finance Officer shall be notified and have the 

right to examine the contractor’s final account, together with other such documents as 

the Chief Finance Officer may consider necessary. The appropriate Chief Officer shall 

notify the Chief Finance Officer in writing on the satisfactory completion of the 

maintenance period under a contract so that any performance bonds may be 

released. 

 

1.92 Who should authorise invoices?  

 

Unless alternative arrangements have been agreed and approved by the Chief 

Finance Officer, the appropriate Chief Officer responsible for issuing an order, or an 

Officer nominated by them, shall authorise all invoices. 

 

1.93 When may the Council make payments in advance?  

 

1.93.1 As a general rule, the Council will not make payment in advance of works, goods or 

services being delivered and/or received. The only circumstances where payment in 

advance may be appropriate are as follows: 

 

(a) for software licenses or IT arrangements; 

 
(b) for bonds or rent payable in advance; 

 

(c) where specifically advised by Legal Services or Strategic Commissioning & 

Procurement as part of the contractual arrangements. 

 

1.93.2 If there is any uncertainty as to whether a payment may be made in advance, the 

advice of the Chief Finance Officer must be sought.  If payments in advance cover 

multiple financial years, then a financial appraisal of the relevant supplier should be 

undertaken and kept under periodic review as part of contract management 

arrangements. 

PURCHASE CARDS 

 

1.94 How and when are purchase cards used by the Council?  

 

1.94.1 Purchase cards allow goods and services to be purchased and charges made to the 

Council electronically. These must be minor in nature. Any purchase of over £100 

should be made via the normal purchasing route in accordance with the Contract 

Page 698



 
 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Procedure Rules, unless there is a pre-determined reason otherwise which has been 

agreed with the Chief Finance Officer or their nominated representatives.   

 

1.94.2 Purchase cards are for business use only and must not be used by staff for personal 

purchases. Officers and Members must arrange the use of a purchase card with 

Strategic Commissioning & Procurement and must comply with the Purchase Cards 

Scheme, as determined by Chief Finance Officer, in relation to its use. 

 

1.94.3 All purchases made with a Council purchase card must demonstrate Value for Money 

and should be supported by a VAT receipt, where relevant. If there is any doubt about 

whether a VAT receipt is required, clarification should be sought from the Council’s 

VAT Officer. 

 

1.94.4 Any purchases made using a purchase card will be reviewed by relevant Finance 

Business Partners and any items purchased with a purchase card that do not comply 

with the Purchase Cards Scheme, will be raised with the appropriate Budget Holder.  

Page 699



 
 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

EMPLOYEE AND PERSONNEL ASPECTS 
 
The largest element of Council expenditure is the cost of staff. Reliable and timely information 
is required to ensure that only genuine employees are paid in accordance with their proper 
entitlement. Failure to apply taxation and national insurance regulations correctly to all 
payments could incur significant financial penalties. 
 
1.95 Who is responsible for making arrangements for paying employees?  

 

1.95.1 The payment of salaries, wages, pensions, compensation and other emoluments to 

all employees or former employees of the Council and allowances to Members shall 

be made by the Chief Finance Officer or under arrangements approved and controlled 

by the Chief Finance Officer. 

 

1.95.2 For the avoidance of doubt, the Chief Officer with responsibility for HR is responsible 

for operational matters in relation to employees, and is responsible for the Council’s 

payroll function.  

 

1.96 What are Chief Officers’ responsibilities in relation to employees? 

 

1.96.1 All Chief Officers shall ensure appointments are made in accordance with the 

regulations of the Council and approved establishments, grades and scale of pay and 

that adequate budget provision is available. 

 

1.96.2 All Chief Officers shall ensure that salaries, wages, pensions etc. are processed only 

through the payroll system. Careful consideration should be given to the employment 

status of individuals employed on a self-employed, consultant or sub-contract basis. 

The Inland Revenue applies a tight definition for employee status, and in cases of 

doubt, advice should be sought from the Chief Officer with responsibility for HR and 

the Chief Finance Officer. 

 

1.96.3 All timesheets and other pay documents shall be submitted through the Council’s e 

HR team and will be approved by the relevant Chief Officer, or their representative 

Budget Holder. 

 

1.96.4 All Chief Officers shall determine which Officers from within their Directorate are 

authorised to certify salaries and wages documents. These will be in line with the 

Council’s budget management arrangements and will be verified by the HR team..  

 

1.96.5 All relevant records and other pay documents shall be submitted to HR in accordance 

with timetables and deadlines determined by the Council. 

 

1.97 What is the process for approving expenses and allowances?  

 

1.97.1 The Chief Finance Officer shall be responsible for making arrangements for the 

administration and regulation of claims for expenses and allowances to employees 

and members of the Council and its committees and other approved bodies. The 

Monitoring Officer shall be responsible for monitoring the budget for Member’s 

expenses. 

 

Page 700



 
 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

1.97.2 Certification of Officers’ travel and subsistence claims, by or on behalf of a Directorate, 

shall be taken to mean that the certifying officer is satisfied that the journeys were 

authorised, expenses properly incurred and that the allowances are payable by the 

Council. 

 
  

Page 701



 
 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

EXTERNAL ARRANGEMENTS 
 
PARTNERSHIPS AND EXTERNAL BODIES 
 
Partnerships and other external bodies are likely to play a key role in delivering community 
strategies and in helping to promote and improve the well-being of the area. The Council works 
in partnership with others: public agencies, private companies, community groups and 
voluntary organisations. It still deliver some services, but its distinctive leadership role is to 
bring together the contributions of the various stakeholders. 

 

1.98 How are Council functions delegated to external bodies?  

 

1.98.1 The Executive is responsible for approving delegations of Executive Functions, 

including frameworks for partnerships. The Executive is the focus for forming 

partnerships with other local public, private, voluntary and community sector 

organisations to address local needs. 

 

1.98.2 The Executive can delegate functions, including those relating to partnerships, to 

Officers. These delegations are set out in the Scheme of Delegation. Where functions 

are delegated, the Executive remains accountable for them to Full Council. 

 

1.99 Who represents the Council on external bodies? 

 

Save as otherwise set out in this Constitution, the Head of Paid Service represents 

the Council on partnership and external bodies, in accordance with the Scheme of 

Delegation. 

 

1.100 What are the financial governance arrangements for external bodies?  

 

1.100.1 The Monitoring Officer is responsible for promoting and maintaining the same high 

standards of conduct with regard to financial administration in partnerships that apply 

throughout the Council. 

 

1.100.2 The Chief Finance Officer must ensure that the accounting arrangements to be 

adopted for partnerships and joint ventures are satisfactory. They must also consider 

the overall corporate governance arrangements and legal issues when arranging 

contracts with external bodies. The Chief Finance Officer must ensure that the risks 

have been fully appraised before agreements are entered into with external bodies. 

 

1.100.3 Chief Officers are responsible for ensuring that appropriate approvals are obtained 

before any negotiations are concluded in relation to work with external bodies. 

COUNCIL-OWNED COMPANIES 
 
The Council recognises that a mix of different service delivery and business models are 
necessary to improve services and maximise value for money. Different service delivery 
models are available to the Council including the establishment of trading companies. 
 
Further information in relation to Council-owned companies is contained in section 20 of the 
Constitution.  
 
1.101 When may the Council establish a Council-owned company?  

Page 702



 
 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

1.101.1 The Council will not establish a Council-owned company without the approval of the 

Executive. Any proposal to the Executive in support of establishing a Council-owned 

company must set out: 

 

(a) the short- and long-term financial implications of setting up the company; 

 
(b) a comprehensive risk assessment;  

 

(c) an explanation of how setting up the company contributes to the Council’s 

strategic aims and objectives;  

 

(d) the legal basis for establishing the company;  

 

(e) the proposed governance arrangements for the company, including how the 

Council will manage the client-side arrangements; 

 

(f) a business plan for the company; and  

 

(g) the exit strategy for the arrangement. 

 
1.101.2 Regard must always be had in relation to such proposals to any State Aid implications 

that might arise as a result of the provision of such benefits.  

 

1.102 What are the financial arrangements for Council-owned companies? 

 

1.102.1 The Chief Finance Officer is ultimately responsible for the financial management of all 

Council-owned companies, and will set the financial governance and accounting 

procedures for Council-owned companies.  

 

1.102.2 Where the Council owns shares, or in some cases the share, in an external entity a 

shareholder representative will ordinarily be appointed. Currently the power to appoint 

the shareholder representative rests with the Mayor. 

 

1.102.3 Council Officers, with the exception of the Chief Finance Officer, the Monitoring 

Officer, and their deputies, may serve as directors on the board, or as company 

secretary of a Council-owned company. 

 

1.102.4 The principal responsibility for the financial management of Council owned and 

controlled entities is of the finance director, board of directors and other staff and 

officers of the entities. However, given the requirement for the Council to prepare and 

publish consolidated accounts referencing such entities and the responsibilities of the 

Chief Finance Officer as to proper accounting practices and protection of the Council’s 

financial position, the Chief Finance Officer is authorised to exercise such control as 

is appropriate and lawful in relation to the proper financial management of such 

entities. This includes recommending to such entities the embedding of and 

compliance with appropriate accounting arrangements and the adoption  

1.102.5 of appropriate Financial Regulations.  

 

Page 703



 
 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

1.102.6 No grant, loan, credit or other form of assistance, financial or otherwise, shall be 

provided to any owned or controlled entities outside the approved business plan other 

than with the prior agreement of the Chief Finance Officer and, where the transaction 

represents a key decision, Executive approval.  

 

1.102.7 The Council will comply with all applicable legislation and guidance in relation to any 

Council-owned company, including the CIPFA local authority owned companies good 

practice guide. 

PENSION FUND 
 
What is the Pension Fund?  
 
The Local Government Pension Fund is the pension scheme for local government employees. 
It is administered locally by 86 local pension funds in England and Wales. The Council is an 
‘Administering Authority’ for the Pension Fund.  
 
As an Administering Authority, the Council is responsible for managing and administering the 
Pension Fund in relation to those people for whom it is the Administering Authority.  
 
What are the Chief Finance Officer’s delegated powers in relation to the Pension Fund?  
 
The Chief Finance Officer is authorised to manage the Pension Fund on a day-to-day basis, 
including the exercise of the Council’s functions as Administering Authority, the power to seek 
advice from professional advisers, and to devolve the handing of the Pension Fund’s 
investment to appropriate fund managers.  
 
What is the role of the Teesside Pension Fund Committee?  
 
The role of the Teesside Pension Func Committee is set out in section 23 of the Constitution.  
 
  

Page 704



 
 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

FINANCIAL LIMITS ANNEX  
 
This Financial Limits Annex sets out the limits that apply to certain financial decisions made by the 
Council. The financial limits set out in this Annex apply to the Financial Regulations as if they were 
written out into those Regulations.  
 
If there is any doubt as to the application of the financial limits in this Annex, advice should be sought 
from the Chief Finance Officer or their nominated representatives. Note that the financial limits set out 
in this Financial Limits Annex may change over time and advice should be sought from Finance on the 
current applicable financial limits.  
 
KEY DECISION THRESHOLD 
 
The financial threshold for Key Decisions is £250,000.  
 
For the avoidance of doubt, any decision that will have a financial impact in terms of expenditure or 
savings in excess of £250,000 will be a Key Decision.  
 
Provisions relating to Key Decisions are set out in section 13 of the Constitution.  
 
SIGNIFICANT FINANCIAL IMPACT 
 
Where the Financial Regulations refer to a decision or other action having a “significant” impact on a 
capital project or otherwise, this means that the financial impact is: 
 

 in excess of £250,000; or  

 

 10% or more of the total project budget / relevant financial amount; and/or 

 

 would represent a change in the anticipated outcomes.  

 
EXTERNAL FUNDING 
 
The following financial limits apply to approval of external funding applications:  
 

Value of external funding  
 

Approval 

Up to £250,000 
 

Chief Finance Officer  

Above £250,000  
 

Executive  

 
 
VIREMENTS 
 
The following financial limits apply to virements under section 18.37.4 of the Financial Regulations.  
 

Virement category Below £250,000 
 

£250,000 or more  

Virement or reallocation of 
budgets between 
Directorates 
 

Relevant Chief Officer 
 
OR 
 
If the virement crosses 
Portfolios, the Chief Finance 
Officer in consultation with 
relevant Portfolio Holders  
 

Executive  

Page 705



 
 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Virements or reallocation of 
budgets within Directorates 
 

Relevant Chief Officer in 
consultation with the Chief 
Finance Officer’s nominated 
deputy 
 

Executive 

Virements or reallocation of 
budgets within a Division of 
service 

Head of Service in 
consultation with the Chief 
Finance Officer’s nominated 
deputy 
 

Executive  

Virement or reallocation of 
capital budgets from one 
capital project to another 
(including underpsends) 
 

Relevant Chief Officers in 
consultation with the Chief 
Finance Officer 
 

Executive  

 
 
DEBT WRITE OFF 
 
For the purposes of section 18.77 of the Financial Regulations, the following thresholds apply to the 
writing off of bad debts: 
 

Value of debt to be written off Approval 
 

Up to £10,000 
 

Chief Finance Officer, with the agreement of 
Legal Services, the relevant Budget Holder 
and the relevant Finance Business Partner 
 
Chief Finance Officer has ultimate say if 
agreement cannot be reached 
 

Above £10,000 
 

Executive, on the recommendation of the 
Chief Finance Officer 

 
DISPOSAL OF ASSETS 
 
The following thresholds apply to the disposal of assets by the Council for the purposes of section 
18.45.3 of the Financial Regulations:  
 

Total value or stocks / stores or assets 
 

Disposal procedure 

Up to £1,000 
 

Two (2) written Quotations or public auction 
 

Above £1,000 and up to £100,000 
 

At least three (3) written Quotations or public 
auction 
 

Above £100,000 
 

Invitation to Tender to at least four (4) 
Bidders or public auction with a reserve price  
 

 
BONDS 
 
For the purposes of section 19.81(a) of the Contract Procedure Rules, a bond will be required where 
the Total Value of a contract exceeds £250,000. For the avoidance of doubt, the Total Value is inclusive 
of VAT.  
 

Page 706



 
 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

PARENT COMPANY GUARANTEE  
 
For the purposes of section 19.82(a) of the Contract Procedure Rules, a bond will be required where 
the Total Value of a contract exceeds £250,000. For the avoidance of doubt, the Total Value is inclusive 
of VAT.  
 

 
 
 

Page 707



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 523 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

1 CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES 

This section 19 sets out the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules, which govern how the 

Council purchases goods and services. 

Capitalised terms used in this section 19 are as defined in section 2.2 of the Constitution and, 

where applicable, in the Financial Procedure Rules in section 18. 

1.1 What are the Contract Procedure Rules? 

 
1.1.1 The Contract Procedure Rules outline the process to be followed to promote good 

purchasing practices within the Council, ensure public accountability, secure value for 

money, and deter corruption. Following the Contract Procedure Rules is the best 

defence against allegations that a purchase has been made incorrectly or fraudulently 

and the best way to demonstrate cost-effectiveness. 

 
1.1.2 A Responsible Officer must comply with these Contract Procedure Rules when making 

any purchase. These Contract Procedure Rules lay down the minimum requirements 

applicable to a purchase and Responsible Officers should note that a more thorough 

procurement procedure may be appropriate for a particular purchase. Strategic 

Commissioning & Procurement will provide advice on when this is the case. 

 
These Contract Procedure Rules form an essential part of the Council’s Constitution, 

and where these Contract Procedure Rules apply, compliance is mandatory. All 

Responsible Officers should ensure that they are familiar with these Contract 

Procedure Rules. Non-compliance with these Contract Procedure Rules is a 

disciplinary matter. 

 
1.1.3 Where reference is made in these Contract Procedure Rules to the Procurement 

Regulations10, those regulations should be referenced and complied with. The 

Procurement Regulations are not explicitly written into the Constitution. Responsible 

Officers should seek further guidance from Strategic Commissioning & Procurement 

and/or Legal Services if they are unsure about the application of the Procurement 

Regulations. 

 
1.1.4 These Contract Procedure Rules apply to all purchases (i.e., all spend) made by 

the Council, whether a formal contract is entered into or not. 

 
1.2 How are the Contract Procedure Rules organised? 

 
The Contract Procedure Rules are organised into the following sections: 

 
A – Introduction 

 
Purpose of Contract Procedure Rules 

Breach of Contract Procedure Rules 

Emergency Situations 

 
 

10 The Public Contracts Regulations 2015 

Page 709



Page 524 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Amendment and Further Information 
 

B – Defined Terms 
 

C – Roles and Responsibilities 
 

Officer Responsibilities 
 

Responsibilities of Specific Members and 
Officers 

 

D – Application of Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Relevant Contracts 

Exemptions 

E – Procurement Thresholds 

F – Preparing for Procurement 

Procurement Pipeline 

Pe-procurement Process 

Make or Buy 

Market Research and Consultation 

Equality Impact Assessments 

Choice of Procurement Route 

G – Procurement Process 
 

Approved Lists 

Selective Tendering 

Open Tendering 

Frameworks 

Direct Award 

Route to Market 

Light Touch Regime 

Standards and Award Criteria 

H – Mechanisms for Formal Tendering 
 

Open Procedure 

Page 710



Page 525 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Restrictive Procedure 
 

Competitive Procedure with Negotiation 

Competitive Dialogue 

Innovation Partnership 
 

I – Tenders and Quotations 

Invitations to Tender 

Invitations to Quote 

Submission of Tenders and Quotations 
(Electronic Tendering) 

 

Clarification of Tenders and Quotations 

Evaluation of Tenders 

Contract Award 

Contract Records 

Withdrawal of Tender 

Nominated Sub-contractors 
 

J – Contract and Other Formalities 
 

Contract Documents 

Execution of Contracts 

Liquidated Damages 

Bonds 

Parent Company Guarantees 

Prevention of Corruption 

Declaration of Interests 

K – The Life of the Contract 
 

Contract Management 
 

Contract Extensions and Variations 

Termination of Contracts 

L – Other Types of Contracts 

Page 711



Page 526 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Commissioning a Consultant 

Procurement of Agency Staff 

Concession Contracts 

ANNEX 1 – Roles and Responsibilities of Officers and Members 

ANNEX 2 – Letting of School Based Contracts 

 

 

Page 712



Page 527 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

A – INTRODUCTION 

PURPOSE OF CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES 

1.3 What is the purpose of these Contract Procedure Rules? 

 
1.3.1 The Council is required to set out Contract Procedure Rules that govern how they 

procure contracts for the supply of goods and services and for the execution of works, 

which provide for a mechanism by which the Council will ensure that contracts are 

tendered competitively, and that the Procurement Regulations, and other applicable 

legislation, is complied with . 

 
1.3.2 The intention of these Contract Procedure Rules is to ensure that the Council: 

a obtains Value for Money and Best Value; 

b avoids and prevents corruption or the suspicion of it; 

c is fair and equitable in the treatment of all suppliers; 

d is transparent in how it conducts its procurement activities in accordance with the 

Procurement Regulations; 

 
e seeks to reduce disadvantage, advance equality and promote community cohesion as 

defined in the Equality Act 2010; 

 
f makes every effort to promote local businesses, including small and medium-sized 

enterprises (SME); 

 
g promotes Social Value11; and 

 
h supports the Council’s corporate and service aims and policies (to the extent 

compatible with the above). 

 
 
1.3.3 Where a person who is not an Officer is required to make purchasing decisions or 

manage contracts on behalf of the Council (for example, agency staff), the contract 

engaging that person should include a condition that these Contract Procedure Rules 

apply to that person as if they were an Officer. 

 
1.3.4 Unless specific grant terms require otherwise, these Contract Procedure Rules apply 

to any procurement made using funds received from external sources. Where grant 

conditions prescribe a particular procurement route, that route will be followed 

(provided that it is compliant with the Procurement Regulations and other applicable 

legislation). 

 
1.3.5 Any breach or non-compliance with these Contract Procedure Rules should be dealt 

with in accordance with section 19.4. 

BREACH OF CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES 

 

11 Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 

Page 713



Page 528 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

1.4 What are the consequences of breaching these Contract Procedure Rules? 

 
1.4.1 Breach of these Contract Procedure Rules is very serious and will constitute a 

disciplinary matter. Save where a valid waiver or exemption has been applied, any 

failure to comply with these Contract Procedure Rules will be treated as a breach. 

 
1.4.2 It will be the responsibility of all Officers to address non-compliance swiftly and in the 

most appropriate way according to the circumstances. 

 
1.4.3 Any breach of, or non-compliance with, these Contract Procedure Rules must, on 

discovery, be reported immediately to the Internal Audit Manager acting on behalf of 

the Chief Finance Officer. The Internal Audit Manager shall, after taking legal advice 

and consulting Strategic Commissioning & Procurement, decide whether each 

reported breach or noncompliance presents a significant risk of harm to the Council’s 

interests and, if satisfied that such risk exists, shall undertake any necessary 

investigation and report the findings to the Chief Finance Officer. 

 
1.4.4 Officers may also raise concerns relating to breach or suspected breach of, and non- 

compliance with, these Contract Procedure Rules anonymously in line with the 

Council’s Whistleblowing Policy and Procedure. 
 

1.4.5 Officers should remain alert to fraud throughout the procurement life cycle and any 

concerns of fraud or corruption must be reported at the earliest opportunity to the Head 

of Strategic Commissioning & Procurement by emailing 

 procurement@middlesbrough.gov.uk. They will decide whether the matter should be 

escalated to the Internal Audit Manager, acting on behalf of the Chief Finance Officer. 

 
1.4.6 Officers must follow the Officer Code of Conduct in respect of any procurement activity. 

Failure to comply with the Officer Code of Conduct or these Contract Procedure Rules 

may constitute a disciplinary matter that may be pursued, as appropriate, in 

accordance with the Council’s disciplinary policy. 

 
1.5 What is the role of Councillors in procurement activities? 

 
1.5.1 Councillors are not permitted to take part in the procurement process, and they must 

ensure that their actions do not compromise or impact on due process in relation to 

any Council procurement. 

 
1.5.2 Concerns related to Councillor intervention in procurement activities may be subject to 

Standards Committee investigation. 

 
 
1.6 How are breaches of these Contract Procedure Rules reported? 

 
Reports on the number of confirmed breaches of these Contract Procedure Rules are 

to be sent by the Heard of Strategic Commissioning & Procurement to the Chief 

Finance Officer on a quarterly basis. 

EMERGENCY SITUATIONS 

1.7 How do these Contract Procedure Rules apply in emergency situations? 

Page 714

mailto:procurement@middlesbrough.gov.uk


Page 529 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

1.7.1 Where the Chief Executive exercises their power under section 6.40.1 of the 

Constitution in an emergency, and a contract cannot be awarded under a competitive 

process pursuant to these Contract Procedure Rules, and the emergency has not 

arisen due to an act or omission of the Council, the emergency process set out in 

this section 19.7 may be applied. 

 
1.7.2 This section 19.7 also applies where, in the opinion of the Chief Executive, there is an 

immediate and extreme risk which could not have reasonably been foreseen, including 

(but not limited to): 

 
a a major disaster involving immediate risks to persons or property; and/or 

 
b an event or occurrence which is creating serious disruption to Council services; and/or 

c an event or occurrence resulting in significant financial loss to the Council. 

1.7.3 In an emergency, the Contract Procedure Rules will be temporarily disapplied for a 

proportionate period of time (to be determined by the Chief Executive in consultation 

with the Mayor) so that the Council may respond to the immediate risk. Once the 

immediate risk has been mitigated, these Contract Procedure Rules will apply to any 

follow-up actions. 

 
1.7.4 A report must be prepared for the Chief Finance Officer setting out the justification for 

the action taken. If they consider it necessary, the Chief Finance Officer may require 

that report to be submitted to the next meeting of the Executive for approval. 

AMENDMENT AND MORE INFORMATION 

1.8 How are these Contract Procedure Rules amended to reflect changes in legislation? 

 
The Chief Finance Officer shall have the power to make technical amendments from time 

to time to make these Contract Procedure Rules consistent with legal requirements, 

changes in Council structures and personnel, and best practice, after consultation with the 

Head of Paid Service, the Monitoring Officer, and the Chair of the Council. 

 
1.9 Where can I find more information and guidance about the Council’s procurement 

procedures? 

 
In addition to these Contract Procedure Rules, the Council has in place further information 

and guidance about its procurement procedures. 

Page 715



Page 530 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

B - DEFINED TERMS 

Where captialised terms are used in this section 19, they will have the meanings set out below. 

For the avoidance of doubt, terms defined in section 2 of this Constitution also apply to this 

section 19. 

“Above Threshold 
Procurement” 

a procurement that is above the relevant Procurement Threshold; 

 

“Award Criteria” the criteria by which the successful Quotation or Tender is to be 
selected (see section 19.48); 

 

“Award Procedure” the procedure for awarding a contract; 
 

“Best Value”  the duty placed on the Council to obtain a competitive price for 
goods, services and works of appropriate quality, in line with 
statutory duties12; 

 

“Bidder” any person who asks or is invited to submit a Quotation or Tender; 
 

“Bond” an insurance policy. If the Contractor does not do what is has 
promised under contract with the Council, the Council can claim 
from the insurer the sum of money specified in the Bond (often 
10% of the contract value). A Bond is intended to protect the 
Council against a level of cost arising from the Contractor’s 
failure; 

 
“Competitive Dialogue” a procurement process that allows the Council to enter into a 

dialogue with Bidders until a solution is found to the Council’s 
requirement13; 

 

“Competitive Procedure 
With Negotiation” 

a procurement process that allows the Council to negotiate with 
Bidders after an Invitation to Tender is issued, which also allows 
the Council to reserve the right not to negotiate where a Bidder 
meets its requirement14; 

 

“Concession Contract” as defined in section 19.92; 

“Contracting Decision” any of the following decisions: 

 composition of Approved Lists; 
 

 withdrawal of Invitation to Tender; 
 

 whom to invite to submit a Quotation or Tender; 
 

 Shortlisting; 
 

 Contract Award; or 
 

 

12 Local Government Act 1999 
13 The Public Contracts Regulations 2015, Regulation 30 
14 The Public Contracts Regulations 2015, Regulation 29 

Page 716



Page 531 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 any decision to terminate a contract; 
 

“Contractor” a successful Bidder with whom the Council has or intends to enter 
into a contract; 

 

“E-tendering Portal” the Council’s electronic tendering system used for publishing Invitations 
to Tender and Invitations to Quote and for submission of bids by 
suppliers; 

 
“Exemptions Annex” the Annex  held  by  Strategic  Commissioning  &  Procurement which 

sets out the application of exemptions to these Contract 
Procedure Rules; 

 

“Framework” an agreement under which a long-term relationship is established 
between local authorities (or other public sector bodies) and 
approved suppliers; 

 

“Government 
Procurement 
Agreement” 

the successor agreement to the General Agreement on Trade 
and Tariffs. The main signatories other than those in the 
European Economic Area are: USA, Canada, Japan, Israel, 
South Korea, Switzerland, Norway, Aruba, Hong Kong, China, 
Liechtenstein and Singapore; 

 

“In-house Preferred 
Test” 

the Council’s internal measure for determining if the Council’s 
requirement would be best delivered by an internal mechanism, 
e.g., internal Service area or Council owned company, rather 
than through a competitive process; 

 

“Innovation 
Partnership” 

a procurement process that allows the Council to procure 
research and development and a product or service in a single 
procurement15; 

 

“Invitation to Quote” invitation to submit a Quotation in the form required by these 
Contract Procedure Rules; 

 

“Invitation to Tender” invitation to submit a Tender in the form required by these 
Contract Procedure Rules; 

 

“Low Value Contracts 
Threshold” 

the threshold specified in Regulation 109(2)(c)(ii) of the 
Procurement Regulations16 

 

“M.E.A.T.” award criteria that considers more than just price; which could 
include price, service, quality of goods, running costs, technical 
merit, previous experience, delivery date, cost effectiveness, 
quality, relevant environmental considerations, aesthetic and 
functional characteristics (including security and control 
features), safety, after-sales service, technical assistance and 
any other relevant matters; 

 

“Sub-contractor” a person engaged by a Contractor to discharge any part of a 
contract with the Council; 

 
 

15 The Public Contracts Regulations 2015, Regulation 31 
16 The Public Contracts Regulations 2015, Regulation 109 

Page 717



Page 532 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

“NEPRO Solution” a managed service solution that provides a cost-effective and 
compliant route for the procurement of professional services by 
the public sector; 

 

“Non-Commercial 
Considerations” 

1. The terms and conditions of employment of a Bidder’s 
workers or the composition of, arrangements for the 
promotion, transfer or training of, or other opportunities 
afforded to, their workforce; 

 

2. Whether the terms on which Bidders contract with their 
Sub-contractors constitute, in the case of contracts with 
individuals, contracts for the provision by them as self 
employed persons of their services only; 

 
3. Any involvement of the business activities or interests of 

Bidders with irrelevant fields of Government policy; 
 

4. The conduct of Bidders or their workers in industrial 
disputes between them or any involvement of the 
business activities of Bidders in industrial disputes 
between other persons; 

 
5. The country or territory of origin of supplies to, or the 

location in any country or territory of the business 
activities or interests of, Bidders; 

 
6. Any political, industrial or sectarian affiliations or interests 

of Bidders or their directors, partners or employees 
 

7. Financial support or lack of financial support by Bidders 
for any institution to or from which the Council gives or 
withholds support; 

 

8. Use or non-use by Bidders of technical or professional 
services provided by the authority under the Building Act 
1984 or the Building (Scotland) Act 1959; 

 

“Responsible Officer” the Officer designated by the relevant Head of Service to deal 
with a particular contract and/or spend; 

 

“Open Procedure” a procurement process where any Bidder may submit a Tender 
and there is no pre-qualification process17; 

 

“Parent Company 
Guarantee” 

a contract which binds the parent company of a subsidiary 
company as follows: If the subsidiary company fails to do what it 
has promised under a contract with the Council, it can require the 
parent company to do so instead; 

 

“Procurement 
Regulations” 

The Public Contracts Regulations 201518 as supplemented and 
amended from time to time; 

 
 

 
 

17 The Public Contracts Regulations 2015, Regulation 27 
18 The Public Contracts Regulations 2015, Regulation 5 

Page 718



Page 533 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

“Procurement 
Threshold” 

the thresholds set out in the Procurement Thresholds Annex; 

 

“Prospective Bidder” any persons who asks or is invited to submit a Quotation or 
Tender; 

 
“Quotation” an indication by any person of a price for the execution of work 

or the supply of goods, materials or services (without the formal 
issue of an Invitation to Tender); 

 
“Quotation System” the E-tendering Portal quotation system; 

 
“Relevant Contract” contracts to which these Contract Procedure Rules apply (see 

section 19.12); 
 

“Restricted Procedure” a procurement process where any Bidder that meets the pre- 
qualification criteria may submit a Tender19; 

 

“Shortlisting” where Bidders are selected: 
 

 to submit a Quotation or Tender; or 
 

 to proceed to final evaluation; 
 

“Social Value” the duty on the Council to consider economic, social and 
environmental well-being when commissioning a public service20; 

 

“Standing List” a list of approved suppliers able to perform contracts to supply 
goods or services of particular types; 

 
“Tender” a written offer made by any person (following an invitation from 

the Council) which can be accepted by the Council to form a 
binding contract; 

 

“Total Value” The whole of the value or estimated value (in money or equivalent 
value) for a single purchase or disposal, whether or not it 
comprises several lots or stages, to be paid or received by the 
Council or a Service within the Council. The Total Value shall be 
calculated as follows: 

 

 where the contract is for a fixed period, by taking the total 
price to be paid or which might be paid during the whole 
of the period; 

 

 where the purchase involves recurrent transactions for 
the same type of item, by aggregating the value of those 
transactions in the coming 12 months; 

 

 for feasibility studies: the value of the scheme or contracts 
which may be awarded as a result; 

 
 
 

1919 The Public Contracts Regulations 2015, Regulation 28 

Page 719



Page 534 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

20 Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 

Page 720



Page 533 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 for Sub-contractors: the Total Value shall be the value of 
that part of the main contract to be fulfilled by the Sub- 
contractor; 

 
“Value for Money” the optimal use of resources to achieve the intended outcomes 

based on economy, efficiency and effectiveness. 
 

. 

Page 721



Page 722



Page 535 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 C – ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES 

This section sets out the specific roles and responsibilities of Officers and Members in relation 

to procurement. 

OFFICER RESPONSIBILITIES 

1.10 What are the responsibilities of Officers in relation to purchasing? 

 
1.10.1 Officers must ensure that: 

a they comply with: 

i these Contract Procedure Rules; 

ii the Financial  Procedure Rules; 

iii the Officer Code of Conduct; and 

iv all applicable legal requirements in force from time to time. 

 
b any purchasing activity they undertake supports the Council’s strategic aims and 

objectives; 

 
c appropriate records of procurement activities are kept as required by section 19.69. 

d advice is sought from Strategic Commissioning & Procurement; 

e appropriate supplier due diligence is completed; 

 
f proper Tender processes are followed in accordance with procedures set out in 

Invitations to Tender; 

 
g they have declared any relevant conflict of interest in relation to a purchase; 

 
h the correct authorisation and approvals are obtained in accordance with the Scheme 

of Delegations and the Council’s formal decision-making processes; and 

 
i where appropriate, any agent, consultant or contractual partner acting on behalf of the 

Council complies with the above. 

 
1.10.2 Chief Officers must ensure that their staff comply with section 19.10. 

 
1.10.3 Chief Officers must ensure that their staff complete the Council’s Corporate Contract 

Register for all contracts entered into by their Service Area. Heads of Service must 

ensure that their staff notify Strategic Commissioning & Procurement of all contracts 

progressed by their Service to enable Strategic Commissioning & Procurement to enter 

the relevant information on the Council’s contracts register. 

 
RESPONSIBLITIES OF SPECIFIC MEMBERS AND OFFICERS 

 
1.11 What are the specific responsibilities of Officers and Members? 

Page 723



Page 536 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

The specific responsibilities of Officers and Members in relation to these Contract 

Procedure Rules are set out in Annex 1 to this section 19. 

Page 724



Page 537 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

D – APPLICATION OF CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES 

RELEVANT CONTRACTS 

1.12 To which Council contracts do these Contract Procedure Rules apply? 

 
1.12.1 These Contract Procedure Rules apply to every Relevant Contract entered into 

by or on behalf of the Council (e.g., by agency staff, agents or consultants), which 

includes contracts for: 

 
a the purchase of all goods or materials; 

 
b the purchase of services, including professional services, interim and agency staff; 

c the purchase/order of works; and 

d contract management of third party spend. 

 
1.12.2 Where a contract or sub-contract covers works and the supply of goods, services 

and/or material, it will be treated as a works contract if more than 50% of its total value 

relates to works. 

 
1.13 When do these Contract Procedure Rules not apply? 

 
1.13.1 These Contract Procedure Rules do not apply to the following: 

 
a procurement activity carried out by Council maintained school under their own 

delegated budget and/or a school’s own formal procurement and contractual rules; 

 
b legal charges, awards and disbursements (including all associated costs and fees) in 

connection with any and all legal proceedings government by Civil Procedure rules; 

 
c contract offers of employment which make an individual an employee of the Council; 

d settlement of insurance claim compensation; 

e treasury transactions as outlined in the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy; 

 
f non-contractual funding arrangements (including grant agreements under which the 

Council makes a grant to a third party, provided that the terms of the funding 

arrangements do not constitute a contract, and a direct award can be made following 

approved Council grant processes). For the avoidance of doubt, where the Council is 

using grant monies itself or passing them onto a third party, these Contract Procedure 

Rules will apply (along with any applicable grant conditions); 

 
g specific licensing requirements (for example, a television licence or public 

entertainment licence) or subscriptions to national organisations (for example, the 

Local Government Association); 

 
h contracts for the execution of either works (or provision of goods, services or material) 

where the Council has no discretion whether the works are required or who must 

deliver them (for example, works to be provide by a statutory undertaker); 

Page 725



Page 538 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

i services with a national remit where there are requirements to comply with purchasing 

arrangements set out by a funding body; 

 
j appointment of external auditors outside the Council’s control; 

 
k appointment of barristers or legal firms where, in the opinion of the Monitoring Officer, 

urgent advice is required to protect the interests of the Council; 

 
l disposal goods and/or materials deemed surplus to the Council’s needs. 

 
1.13.2 The above list is not exhaustive. If an Officer is unsure whether these Contract 

Procedure Rules apply in any specific circumstances, they should seek advice from 

Strategic Commissioning & Procurement. 

 
1.13.3 Officers should seek advice from Strategic Commissioning & Procurement on the 

application of these Contract Procedure Rules to any proposed direct award of a 

contract to a Council-owned Company. 

EXEMPTIONS 

1.14 When may the provisions of these Contract Procedure Rules be waived? 

 
1.14.1 Chief Officers may request authorisation from the Chief Finance Officer to waive, 

suspend of change any provision of these Contract Procedure Rules in accordance 

with this section 19.14. Where an exemption applies, section 1.43 will not apply, and 

the Council will be permitted to negotiate directly with one or more suppliers. 

 
1.14.2 Full details of how exemptions apply are contained in the Exemptions Annex. 

 
1.15 What is the process for requesting an exemption? 

 
1.15.1 The relevant Chief Officer must complete a Request for Exemption from Procurement 

Procedures Form, which must be signed by the relevant Head of Service, the Chief 

Finance Officer and the Monitoring Officer, and then submitted to the Head of Strategic 

Commissioning and Procurement. 

 
1.15.2 Before completing a Request for Exemption from Procurement Procedures Form, 

Chief Officers / Heads of Service should agree with Strategic Commissioning & 

Procurement the basis on which they are applying for an exemption. 

 
1.15.3 The Chief Finance Officer and the Head of Strategic Commissioning & Procurement 

reserve the right to refuse any application for an exemption. Where an exemption relies 

on an exception in the Procurement Regulations, it will be rejected unless evidence is 

provided to demonstrate that the exception applies. 

 
1.16 How are exemptions recorded? 

 
The Head of Strategic Commissioning & Procurement will maintain a register of all 

approved exemptions and will monitor and report the use of exemptions for 

management control purposes. 

Page 726



Page 539 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

1.17 When may an exemption not be used? 

 
1.17.1 An exemption may not be used for Above Threshold Procurements. 

 
1.17.2 Any attempt to seek retrospective approval of an exemption will be rejected and 

will be treated as a potential breach of these Contract Procedure Rules. 

 
1.17.3 Exemptions should not be used to circumvent these Contract Procedure Rules. 

 
1.18 What action must be taken in respect of an approved exemption? 

 
If an exemption is approved, Chief Officers must: 

a ensure that a formal contract is entered into; 

b undertake appropriate due diligence on the relevant supplier and proportionate 

contract management during the life of the contract; 

 
c ensure that appropriate approval to award the contract has been given in accordance 

with the Scheme of Delegations; 

 
d ensure that the value of the contract does not exceed the financial threhsold for an 

Above Threshold Procurement and that no contract extension is sought. 

Page 727



Page 540 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

E – PROCUREMENT THRESHOLDS 

This section sets out how Procurement Thresholds apply in relation to the Council’s 

procurement activities. 

1.19 What are Procurement Thresholds? 

 
1.19.1 The Procurement Regulations set out certain legislative financial thresholds, above 

which specific procurement rules apply. 

 
1.19.2 Procurement Thresholds are calculated based on the estimated Total Value of a 

contract over the contract term. 

 
1.19.3 The Procurement Thresholds in force from time to time are set out in the Procurement 

Thresholds Annex. 

 
1.20 How are estimated contract values calculated? 

 
1.20.1 Estimated contract values, (inclusive of VAT) should be calculated on the basis of the 

whole life value (or estimated whole life value) for any purchase, including any 

anticipated contract extension. This value should be calculated as follows: 

 
a Fixed term contract – the total price to be paid, or which could be paid, during the fixed 

term period. 

 
b Contract for recurring transactions of the same type – aggregated total value of those 

transactions over the expected life of the contract. 

 
c Contracts for an uncertain duration – monthly payment multiplied by 48. 

 
1.20.2 Any estimated contract value must be a genuine pre-estimate that factors in all 

associated costs (for example, any repair and maintenance required). 

 
1.20.3 Similar contracts with the same supplier should be aggregated across the Council. 

There must be no artificial disaggregation to avoid meeting a Procurement Threshold. 

 
1.20.4 Where a contract is being awarded as lots under a Framework, the Total Value of the 

contract is the Framework value and not the value of the individual lot. Contracts must 

not be sub-divided into smaller lots so as to avoid the requirements of these 

Contract Procedure Rules. 

Page 728



Page 541 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

F – PREPARING FOR PROCUREMENT 

PROCUREMENT PIPELINE 

1.21 What is the procurement pipeline? 

 
1.21.1 The Council requires all upcoming procurements that meet Key Decision thresholds to 

be recorded in a procurement pipeline, which forms part of the Forward Plan. At the 

start of each financial year, the procurement pipeline is presented to the Executive for 

approval. 

 
1.21.2 Chief Officers and Responsible Officers should be mindful of the need to plan their 

procurements in advance and take reasonable steps to ensure that their required 

procurement activities are included in the Forward Plan. 

 
1.22 When can a procurement not in the Forward Plan be added? 

 
1.22.1 If a procurement has not been approved by the Executive for inclusion in the Forward 

Plan, it will require separate in-year approval from the Executive to proceed. 

 
1.22.2 Responsible Officers should factor the timeframe for gaining such approval into their 

procurement planning. 

PRE-PROCUREMENT STAGE 

1.23 What steps must be taken before the Council makes a purchase? 

Before beginning a purchase, the Responsible Officer must: 

a in a manner commensurate with the complexity and value of the purchase a 

Procurement Request Form should be completed, which includes the following 

considerations: 

 
v ensure there is a service specification that clearly articulates the outcomes to 

be achieved; 

 
vi take into account the requirements from any review; 

vii appraise the need for the expenditure and its priority; 

viii ensure there are no existing contract arrangements already in place that cover 

the requirement; 

 
ix define the objectives of the purchase; 

 
x assess the risks associated with the purchase and how to manage them; 

 
xi consider what procurement method is most likely to achieve the purchasing 

objectives, including external or internal sourcing or accessing an existing 

contract, collaboration with other purchasers, partnering and long term 

relationships; 

 
xii consider any data protection implications to the proposed purchase; 

Page 729



Page 542 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

xiii adhere to the provisions of the Social Values Act 2012 for eligible contracts 

and/or any associated charters; and 

 
xiv consult users as appropriate about the proposed procurement method, contract 

standards, and performance and user satisfaction monitoring; and 

 
b confirm that: 

 
i there is Member or delegated approval for the expenditure (and the 

Responsible Officer must ensure that a copy of that approval is retained on 

file); 

 
ii there is Executive approval for significant new proposals as required by the 

Financial Procedure Rules; and 

 
iii prior information notices, if required, have been sent21. 

MAKE OR BUY 

1.24 What is “make or buy”? 

 
1.24.1 A “make or buy” decision relates to a choice of whether to manufacture or produce 

something in-house, or to procure it from an external third party. 

 
1.24.2 Before undertaking a new procurement, the following should be explored, and used as 

first choice where fit for purpose, available for use and able to demonstrate Best Value, 

in relation to the procurement: 

 
a Use of internal Council Service(s) or establishment of such Service(s) where they don’t 

currently exist. 

 
b Use of an existing compliant Council Framework. 

 
c Award of a contract to a Council-owned Company with Teckal status, establishing or 

implementing a public contract with another public sector entity or using another public 

sector body’s Framework or contract. 

 
1.24.3 Responsible Officers should only instigate a procurement process (Invitation to Tender 

or Invitation to Quote) if the following conditions are met: 

 
a The “make or buy” process outlined above should have been followed to ensure that 

the In-house Preferred Test does not apply. 

 
b It can be demonstrated that Best Value can be achieved through a competitive 

procurement process. 

 
c Sufficient time has been allowed to ensure required outcomes are achieved via a 

competitive procurement. 
 
 

21 The Public Contracts Regulations 2015, Regulation 48 

Page 730



Page 543 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

For the avoidance of doubt, where sufficient time has not been allowed due to the actions or 

omissions of Officers, this will not be a valid reason for disapplication of these Contract 

Procedure Rules. 

MARKET RESEARCH AND CONSULTATION 

1.25 When should the Council carry out pre-market research? 

 
1.25.1 Preliminary market research is permitted where relevant and proportionate. Market 

research is encouraged in order to inform the procurement process and potential 

suppliers. Where market research or consultation takes place, this should be in 

accordance with the Procurement Regulations. 

 
1.25.2 Responsible Officers should seek advice from Strategic Commissioning & 

Procurement if they are unsure about whether to carry out market research and/or how 

this should be done. 

 
1.26 What pre-Tender market research and consultation is permitted? 

 
Responsible Officers: 

 
a may consult potential suppliers prior to the issue of an Invitation to Tender in general 

terms about the nature, level and standard of the supply, contract packaging and other 

relevant matters, provided that this does not prejudice any potential Bidder; and 

 
b must not seek or accept technical advice on the preparation of an Invitation to Tender or 

Invitation to Quote from anyone who may have a commercial interest in it, if this may 

prejudice the equal treatment of all potential Bidders or distort competition; and 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

1.27 What is an Equality Impact Assessment? 

An “Equality Impact Assessment” is a tool that helps the Council to consider equality, 

diversity, cohesion and integration in its strategies, policies, services and functions. An 

Equality Impact Assessment involves assessing the likely (or actual) effects of policies 

on people in respect of protected equality characteristics including age, disability, race 

and sexual orientation. 

1.28 When must an Equality Impact Assessment be carried out? 

 
1.28.1 An Equality Impact Assessment should be carried out before commencing any 

procurement activity, where appropriate. 

 
1.28.2 Responsible Officers must complete an Equality Impact Assessment form setting out 

the impact of the procurement on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration. Further 

guidance on Equality Impact Assessments can be obtained from Strategic 

Commissioning & Procurement. 

CHOICE OF PROCUREMENT ROUTE 

1.29 What procurement routes are available to the Council? 

Page 731



Page 544 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Depending on the nature and value of a contract, the Council has the following options for 

procuring works, goods, services and materials: 

 
a Approved List – suppliers on a list previously compiled by the Council are invited to bid 

for contracts within a specific category, value or amount. 

 
b Quotations – only suppliers invited by the Council may bid for the contract. 

 
c Open tendering (Above Threshold Procurements) – a contract opportunity is 

published, and all interested suppliers are invited to bid. 

 
d Framework – a contract is awarded to a supplier who has pre-qualified to provide 

services under a framework agreement. 

 
e Direct award – a contract is awarded directly to a supplier who is on a framework, 

without a competition stage. 

Page 732



Page 545 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

G – PROCUREMENT PROCESS 

This section sets out the procurement routes open to the Council and how they are used. The 

Procurement Thresholds Annex sets out the applicable thresholds at which each procedure 

may be used. 

DIRECT AWARD 

1.30 What is a direct award? 

 
Direct award allows the Council to award a contract to a contractor without a 

competition, or to make a material change to an existing contract without carrying out 

a new procurement. 

 
1.31 How is direct award used? 

 
1.31.1 Direct award can be used for all types of contracts and is particularly relevant for minor 

projects and the procurement of professional services. 

 
1.31.2 The following criteria apply to direct awards: 

 
a all the terms governing the provision of the works, services and supplies concerned 

must be set out in the Framework; and 

 
b the objective conditions for determining which of the suppliers on the Framework shall 

perform them must be set out in the procurement documents. 

APPROVED LISTS 

1.32 What is an Approved List? 

 
An Approved List is a list of approved suppliers that has been compiled by the Council 

for specified categories of work, or for the supply of specified categories of goods, 

materials or services within specific contract values or amounts. 

 
1.33 When can an Approved List be used? 

 
1.33.1 Approved Lists should be used where recurrent transactions of a similar type are likely 

but where such transactions need to be priced individually and cannot easily be 

aggregated and priced in a single tendering exercise. 

 
1.33.2 An Approve List may not be used where the value of the contract exceeds the relevant 

Procurement Threshold. 

 
1.34 How are Approved Lists compiled? 

 
1.34.1 When compiling Approved Lists, the Council shall: 

a follow the procedure stipulated in this section 1.32; 

b include in the Approved List the names and addresses of all suppliers whose requests 

to be included have been approved by the relevant Head of Service in consultation 

with the Strategic Commissioning & Procurement Team; 

Page 733



Page 546 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

c not enter suppliers on an Approved List until there has been an adequate investigation 

into both their financial and technical ability to perform the contract, unless such 

matters will be investigated each time Tenders are invited from that Approved List; 

d not preclude suppliers from inclusion on an Approved List other than for good reasons; 

e indicate whether a supplier whose name is included in an Approved List is approved 

for contracts of all, or only some of, the specified categories, values or amounts; 

 
f ensure that the relevant Head of Service is responsible for their Approved List(s) and will 

co-ordinate all enquires in respect of those Approved List(s). 

 
1.34.2 Opportunities to join an Approved List must be advertised, and suppliers should be 

invited to apply for inclusion on the relevant Approved List. The advertisement must be 

placed to secure widest publicity amongst relevant suppliers and not less than four (4) 

weeks before the Approved List is first compiled. 

 
1.35 What are the review requirements for Approved Lists? 

 
1.35.1 Approved Lists and their Shortlisting criteria must be reviewed at least annually and 

readvertised at least every three (3) years. Review means: 

 
a the reassessment of the financial, technical ability and performance of those suppliers 

on the Approved List unless such matters will be investigated each time Bidders are 

invited from that list; and 

 
b the deletion of those suppliers no longer qualified, with a written record kept justifying 

the deletion. 

 
1.35.2 Suppliers may be entered on an Approved List between the initial advertisement and 

any readvertisement provided that the requirements of section 19.34.1 are met. 

 
1.35.3 When an Approved List is re-advertised, a copy of the advertisement must be sent to 

each supplier on the Approved List, inviting them to confirm that they wish to remain 

on the Approved List at least four (4) weeks before the advertisement is published. If 

they wish to remain on the Approved List, they will be reviewed as described in section 

19.35.1 above. 

 
1.35.4 All Approved Lists must be open to public inspection. 

 
1.36 How are Approved Lists used? 

 
Where an Invitation to Tender for a contract is limited to suppliers whose names appear 

on an Approved List maintained, the Invitation to Tender for that contract shall be sent 

to at least four (4) suppliers on the Approved List. Each supplier invited to Tender must 

be approved for a contract for the category, value or amount selected. If there are 

insufficient suitably qualified suppliers to meet the competition requirement, all suitably 

qualified suppliers must be invited. 

QUOTATIONS 

Page 734



Page 547 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

1.37 What is the Quotation process? 

 
The Council will issue Invitations to Quote for procurements within the relevant 

Procurement Thresholds set out in the Procurement Thresholds Annex. 

 
1.38 How are Quotations used? 

 
The process for issuing and evaluating a Quotation is set out in sections 19.56 to 

19.62. 

OPEN TENDERING 

1.39 What is open tendering? 

 
Open tendering applies in accordance with the requirements of the Procurement 

Regulations. 

 
1.40 How is open tendering used? 

 
All open Tender opportunities will be advertised via Contracts Finder and the advert 

shall: 

 
a Set out the nature and purpose of the contract; 

 
b indicate how tender documents may be obtained; 

c invite tenders; 

d state the closing date and time by which valid tenders must be returned via the E- 

tendering Portal; and 

 
e evaluate the Tender and award the contract in compliance with the Procurement 

Regulations. 

FRAMEWORKS 

1.41 How are Frameworks established? 

 
1.41.1 The Council may establish its own Frameworks, which may be single-supplier or multi- 

supplier. 

 
1.41.2 Any Framework must be established in accordance with the Procurement Regulations. 

 
1.41.3 When setting up a framework, consideration should be given to whether the contract 

can be sub-divided into lots. The reasoning should be recorded by Strategic 

Commissioning & Procurement where a contract is not sub-divided in this way. 

 
1.42 How are frameworks used? 

 
1.42.1 The Council may call off from its own Frameworks, or from those established by other 

public bodies and Crown Commercial Service. 

Page 735



Page 548 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

1.42.2 The Council may call off from a Framework directly or hold a call off competition among 

suppliers on the Framework. 

 
1.42.3 Where a Framework has been validly approved and established by the Council. Chief 

Officer’s may (in accordance with the Scheme of Delegations and the Procurement 

Thresholds Annex) issue orders under that Framework, provided that they comply with 

the scope of the Framework and any conditions applicable to the Framework. 

 
1.42.4 The Framework will set out the terms of any call off competition, and the terms on 

which a successful supplier will be engaged. 

 
1.42.5 Frameworks should be monitored by Strategic Commissioning & Procurement to 

ensure that the total spend under any Framework does not exceed the total permitted. 

 
1.42.6 Contracts to be concluded by a call off from a Framework established by another public 

body shall be carried out in accordance with the rules for the operation of that 

Framework. Responsible Officers should ensure that the Council is eligible to 

participate in the Framework, taking advice from Strategic Commissioning & 

Procurement as necessary. 

ROUTE TO MARKET 

1.42.7 What are the pre-requisites for a procurement process to start? 

 
1.42.8 A procurement process should not be commenced unless: 

 
a a genuine and timely pre-estimate of the Contract value has been completed in 

accordance with section 19.20; 

 
b in the case of a contract for the execution of any works, a business case has been 

prepared, or Executive approval has been given; 

 
c there is an approved budget, or relevant approval by the relevant Chief Officer; 

d a strategy report (where applicable) has been approved; 

e a contract manager has been identified for the contract; and 

f a Procurement Request Form has been completed. 

1.42.9 Consideration of the appropriate route to market shall include options for the Council 

to undertake its own procurement process or consider awarding contracts in line with 

the conditions of a compliant Framework available to the Council to use. Before 

considering the route to market, Responsible Officers should ensure that “make or buy” 

has been considered, as appropriate, in accordance with section 19.24. 

 
1.42.10Responsible Officers shall, in conjunction with Strategic Commissioning & 

Procurement, consider the procurement procedures available to the Council with due 

regard to the Procurement Regulations. For an Above Threshold Procurement, the 

requirements set out in the Procurement Regulations must be followed strictly when 

selecting a route to market. 

Page 736



Page 549 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

1.42.11For audit and transparency purposes, proportional details and records on justification 

of the chosen route to market should be kept by Strategic Commissioning & 

Procurement. 

 
1.43 What are the competition requirements for purchases made by the Council? 

 
1.43.1 The competition requirements for any contract are determined by the Procurement 

Thresholds set out in the Procurement Thresholds Annex. The procurement route for 

any contract will be as described in the Procurement Thresholds Annex. 

 
1.43.2 All Relevant Contracts must be subject to competition, unless an exemption applies in 

accordance with the Exemptions Annex or in an emergency situation, as described in 

section 19.7. 

 
1.43.3 An Officer must not enter into separate contracts, nor select a method of 

calculating the Total Value of a contract in order to minimise the application of 

these Contract Procedure Rules. 

 
1.43.4 Where services are currently purchased internally, i.e., from within the Council, for 

internal provision, the requirement to obtain other Quotations or Tenders does not 

apply. However, Services may choose to seek alternative Quotations / Tenders for the 

purpose of market testing. 

 
1.43.5 The sale of goods and materials to staff must be approached with caution and the 

tendering procedures set out in these Contract Procedure Rules must be used. Advice 

should be sought from Strategic Commissioning & Procurement to ensure that any 

such sale is compliant with these Contract Procedure Rules and relevant legislation. 

 
1.44 What are the requirements for services provided by the Council to external 

purchasers? 

 
Any provision of services by the Council to external purchasers must comply with the 

Local Authority (Goods and Services) Act 197022. Advice should be sought from 

Strategic Commissioning & Procurement on any such provision of services. 

 
1.45 What are the requirements for Partnership Arrangements entered into by the 

Council? 

 
1.45.1 Partnership Arrangements must comply with these Contract Procedure Rules and 

applicable legislation. If in doubt, Officers must seek the formal written advice of the 

Chief Finance Officer and Strategic Commissioning & Procurement before entering 

into any Partnership Arrangement. 

LIGHT TOUCH REGIME 

1.46 What is the Light Touch Regime? 
 
 
 
 
 
 

22 Local Authority (Goods and Services) Act 1970 

Page 737



Page 550 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

The Procurement Regulations allow the Council to apply the Light Touch Regime, 

which gives greater flexibility in the procedure the Council must use, to procure certain 

services23. 

 
1.47 When does the Light Touch Regime apply? 

 
1.47.1 The Light Touch Regime only applies to Above Threshold Procurements. 

 
1.47.2 Although the use of the flexibility permitted by the Light Touch Regime is encouraged, 

the principles in relation to public procurement, as outlined in these Contract Procedure 

Rules, still apply. Application of the Light Touch Regime does not negate requirements 

to comply with these Contract Procedure Rules and follow the Council’s formal 

decision-making process. 

STANDARDS AND AWARD CRITERIA 

1.48 What standards and award criteria apply to the award of contracts by the 

Council? 

 
1.48.1 A Responsible Officer must ascertain which standards (UK and/or international) apply 

to the subject matter of the contract they are seeking to procure. The Responsible 

Officer must include in the award criteria for a purchase those standards that are 

necessary to properly describe the required quality of the subject matter of the contract, 

and with which the supplier will be expected to comply. 

 
1.48.2 The Responsible Officer must define the Award Criteria for a purchase so as to ensure 

that M.E.A.T. is secured. 

 
1.48.3 Award Criteria must not include: 

 
a Non-Commercial Considerations24; 

 
b matters which are contrary to the terms of the UK-EU Trade and Co-operation 

Agreement or the Government Procurement Agreement; or 

 
c matters which are anti-competitive within the meaning of the Local Government Act 

1988. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

23 Public Contracts Regulations, Schedule 3 
24 Local Government Act 1988, section 17 

Page 738



Page 551 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

H – MECHANISMS FOR FORMAL TENDERS 

The Procurement Regulations set out five options for the procurement of Above Threshold 

Procurements. This section sets out, in brief, the requirements of each route. When choosing 

a procurement route, Responsible Officers should always discuss this with Strategic 

Commissioning & Procurement and Legal Services to ensure that an appropriate and 

compliant option is used. 

OPEN PROCEDURE 

1.49 What is the Open Procedure and when is it used? 

 
1.49.1 The Open Procedure25 allows any interested Bidder to submit a response to a contract 

notice issued by the Council. 

 
1.49.2 This procedure is suitable for simple procurements where the requirement is 

straightforward, for example, the purchase of goods where the requirement can be 

clearly defined, and the Council is seeking the lowest price for those goods. 

 
1.49.3 There is no pre-qualification stage for Bidders, and Responsible Officers should be 

aware that this could lead to a large number of responses being received. 

RESTRICTED PROCEDURE 

1.50 What is the Restricted Procedure and when is it used? 

 
1.50.1 The Restricted Procedure26 allows the Council to set pre-qualification criteria which 

must be met by Bidders before they can submit a response. 

 
1.50.2 The Council may wish to use the Restricted Procedure to ensure that only Bidders of 

a particular financial standing and/or with specific technical or professional capability 

are able to respond. 

 
1.50.3 The Restricted Procedure requires that the Council has a fully defined requirement so 

that Bidders can submit a fully priced Tender without the need for subsequent 

negotiation. 

 
COMPETITIVE PROCEDURE WITH NEGOTIATION 

 
1.51 What is the Competitive Procedure with Negotiation and when is it used? 

 
1.51.1 The Competitive Procedure with Negotiation27 allows the Council to negotiate with 

Bidders after they have submitted a Tender. This procedure includes a pre-qualification 

stage to ensure that appropriate Bidders respond. 

 
1.51.2 This procedure may be used where it is not possible for the Council to fully define its 

requirement. The following conditions apply to the use of the Competitive Procedure 

with Negotiation28: 
 
 

25 Public Contracts Regulations 2015, Regulation 27 
26 Public Contracts Regulations 2015, Regulation 28 
27 Public Contracts Regulations 2015, Regulation 29 
28 Public Contracts Regulations 2015, Regulation 26(4) 

Page 739



Page 552 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

a the Council’s needs cannot be met without adaptation of readily available solutions; or b 

the Council’s requirement includes design or innovative solutions; or 

c the contract cannot be awarded without prior negotiation because of specific 

circumstances related to the nature, the complexity, or the legal and financial make-up 

of the requirement, or because of risks attaching to them; or 

 
d the technical specifications cannot be established with sufficient precision by the 

Council with reference to a standard, common technical specification or technical 

reference; or 

 
e an Open or Restrictive Procedure procurement has been run but only irregular or 

unacceptable Tenders have been submitted. 

 
1.51.3 The Invitation to Tender should out the requirement in sufficient detail so that Bidders 

are clear about the subject matter of the contract, the minimum requirements, and the 

Award Criteria. 

 
1.51.4 The use of this procedure should be justified, and the Responsible Officer should 

ensure that the reasons for its use are recorded. 

 
1.51.5 Under the Competitive Procedure with Negotiation, the Council does not have to 

negotiate with Bidders. If an appropriate Tender is received, the Council may award the 

contract on the basis of that Tender. 

 
COMPETITIVE DIALOGUE 

 
1.52 What is a Competitive Dialogue and when is it used? 

 
1.52.1 A Competitive Dialogue29 is similar to the Competitive Procedure with Negotiation. It 

includes a pre-qualification stage and allows the Council to negotiate with Bidders. The 

requirements set out in section 1.51.2 to 1.51.4 above will also apply to a Competitive 

Dialogue. 

 
1.52.2 A Competitive Dialogue allows more flexibility around negotiation with Bidders and 

negotiation can take place without submission of initial Tenders. The Council can use 

dialogue with suppliers to define the best way of meeting its requirement. 

 
INNOVATION PARTNERSHIP 

 
1.53 What is an Innovation Partnership and when is it used? 

 
1.53.1 An Innovation Partnership30 allows the Council to procure the research and 

development and product / service aspects of a contract in a single procurement. This 

procedure can be used where there is no appropriate solution already available on the 

market. 

 
29 Public Contracts Regulations 2015, Regulation 30 
30 Public Contracts Regulations 2015, Regulation 31 

Page 740



Page 553 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

1.53.2 An Innovation Partnership has a pre-qualification stage to ensure that appropriate 

Bidders respond. It requires the Council to set out the need for innovation and the 

Award Criteria for the contract in the Invitation to Tender. 

Page 741



Page 554 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

I – TENDERS AND QUOTATIONS 

INVITATIONS TO TENDER 

The Council is required, in certain circumstances, to issue an Invitation to Tender to potential 

Bidders for a contract. The Council may also wish to issue an Invitations to Tender in other 

circumstances. This section sets out the requirements for an Invitation to Tender and the 

process the Council must follow when inviting Tenders. 

1.54 When will the Council use an Invitation to Tender? 

 
Invitations to Tender are used when the Council wishes, or is required, to invite Tenders 

from suppliers. The Procurement Thresholds Annex sets out when Tenders must be 

invited for contracts at specified values. 

 
1.55 What information should an Invitation to Tender contain? 

 
1.55.1 An Invitation to Tender should state that a Tender will not be considered unless it is 

received by the date and time stipulated. Tenders delivered after the deadline will not 

be considered. 

 
1.55.2 All Invitations to Tender must include the following: 

 
a a specification that describes the Council’s requirements in sufficient detail to enable 

the submission of competitive offers; 

 
b a requirement for Bidders to declare that the Tender content, price or any other figure 

or particulars concerning the Tender have not been disclosed by the Bidder to any other 

party (except where such disclosure is made in confidence for a necessary purpose); 

 
c a requirement for Bidders to complete fully and sign all Tender documents including a 

form of Tender and certificates relating to canvassing and non-collusion; 

 
d a notification that Tenders are to be prepared at the Bidders expense; 

 
e a description of the Award Procedure and, unless defined in a prior advertisement, a 

definition of the Award Criteria; 

 
f details of how Bidders should submit their Tender; 

 
g a stipulation that any Tenders submitted by fax or e-mail are not allowed; and 

 
h the method by which arithmetical errors discovered in the submitted Tenders are to be 

dealt with. In particular, whether the overall price prevails over the rates in the Tender 

or vice versa. 

 
1.55.3 All Invitations to Tender must specify the goods, services or works that are required, 

together with the terms and conditions of contract that will apply (see section J) 

 
1.55.4 The Invitation to Tender must state that the Council is not bound to accept any Tender 

and can stop the Tender process at any time. 

Page 742



Page 555 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

1.55.5 All Bidders invited to Tender must be issued with the same information at the same 

time and subject to the same conditions. Any supplementary information must be given 

on the same basis. 

INVITATIONS TO QUOTE 

For lower value contracts where an Invitation to Tender is not required, the Council will issue 

an Invitation to Quote to potential Bidders for a contract. An Invitation to Quote is a simpler 

process than an Invitation to Tender. This section sets out the requirements for an Invitation 

to Quote and the process the Council must follow when inviting Quotations. 

1.56 When will the Council use an Invitation to Quote? 

 
Invitations to Quote are used when the Council wishes, or is required, to invite Quotes 

from suppliers. The Procurement Thresholds Annex sets out when Quotes must be 

invited for contracts at specified values. 

 
1.57 What information should an invitation to Quote contain? 

 
1.57.1 An Invitation to Quote should state that a Quote will be considered unless it is received 

by the date and time stipulated. Quotes delivered after the deadline will not be 

considered. A minimum of two (2) weeks must be given for the return of Quotations 

except in exceptional circumstances to be agreed with Corporate Procurement 

 
1.57.2 All Invitations to Quote must include the following: 

 
a a specification that describes the Council’s requirements in sufficient detail to enable 

the submission of competitive offers; 

 
b a requirement for Bidders to declare that the Quotation content, price or any other 

figure or particulars concerning the Quotation have not been disclosed by the Bidder 

to any other party (except where such disclosure is made in confidence for a necessary 

purpose); 

 
c a requirement for Bidders to complete fully and sign all Quotation documents including 

a form of Quotation and certificates relating to canvassing and non-collusion; 

 
d a notification that Quotations are to be prepared at the Bidders expense; 

 
e a description of the Award Procedure and, unless defined in a prior advertisement, a 

definition of the Award Criteria; and 

 
f details of how Bidders should submit their Quotation; 

 
g a stipulation that any Quotation submitted by fax or e-mail will be rejected unless it has 

been specifically requested by the Council (see section 19.60.2 below). 

 
1.57.3 All Invitations to Quote must specify the goods, services or works that are required, 

together with the terms and conditions of contract that will apply (see section J). 

Page 743



Page 556 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

1.57.4 The Invitation to Quote must state that the Council is not bound to accept any Quotation 

and can stop the Quotation process at any time. 

SUBMISSION OF TENDERS AND QUOTATIONS (ELECTRONIC TENDERING) 

1.58 How should Tenders be submitted? 

 
1.58.1 All Tenders must be submitted using the Council’s electronic tendering system, i.e., the 

E-tendering Portal. 

 
1.58.2 Tenders submitted by electronic means shall ensure that: 

 
a evidence that the transmission was successfully completed is obtained and recorded 

through the system; and 

 
b Tenders are not opened until the deadline for submission has passed. 

 
1.58.3 Tenders received by fax or e-mail will be rejected. 

 
1.59 What are the time periods allowed for submission of a Tender? 

The time periods applicable to submission of Tenders will be as set out in the 

Procurement Regulations. 

1.60 How should Quotations be submitted? 

 
1.60.1 Where Invitations to Quote are published on the E-tendering Portal, the provisions of 

section 19.58.2 shall apply. 

 
1.60.2 Where the E-tendering Portal is not used for an Invitation to Quote: 

 
a Bidders are permitted to submit their Quotation via email to the email address provided 

in the Invitation to Quote; 

 
b an audit trail shall be put in place in order to uphold the principles set out in these 

Contract Procedure Rules; and 

 
c a record shall be made of the Quotations received, including names and addresses of 

Bidders and the date and time of opening. 

CLARIFICATION OF TENDERS AND QUOTATIONS 

1.61 When may Bidders and the Council seek clarification in relation to a Tender? 

 
1.61.1 The Council is permitted to provide clarification to an Invitation to Tender to potential 

and actual Bidders. Clarification questions should be submitted through the E- 

tendering Portal. 

 
1.61.2 The Council may seek clarification from a Bidder in relation to a Tender in writing or in 

a meeting. 

 
1.62 When may the Council seek clarification in relation to a Quotation? 

Page 744



Page 557 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

The Council may seek clarification from a Bidder in relation to a Quotation in writing. 

EVALUATION OF TENDERS 

1.63 How are Tenders evaluated and awarded? 

 
Tenders must be evaluated and awarded in accordance with the Award Criteria. 

 
1.64 What happens if there are arithmetical errors in a Tender? 

 
1.64.1 The arithmetic in compliant Tenders must be checked. If arithmetical errors are found 

they should be notified to the Bidder, who should be requested to confirm the correct 

arithmetic, or withdraw their Tender. 

 
1.64.2 Alternatively, if the Bidder has provided contract rates in their Tender and these are 

stated to prevail over the overall contract price, the Council may request that the Bidder 

submits an amended Tender with a contract price based on the rates in the Tender. 

 
1.65 How are Tenders based solely on price evaluated? 

 
1.65.1 If the Award Criteria for a Tender are solely based on contract price, the Council may 

only select the lowest price (if payment is to be made by the Council) or the highest 

price (if payment is to be made to the Council), unless otherwise approved by: 

 
a the Executive, after considering a report from the appropriate Head of Service; or 

 
b a duly authorised Officer, following consultation with the appropriate Executive 

Member. 

 
A record of the reason for accepting a different Tender must be made, as appropriate. 

 
1.66 With whom may information be shared in relation to Tenders? 

 
1.66.1 Save as otherwise set out in this section 19.66: 

 
a confidentiality of Tenders and the identity of Bidders must be preserved at all times; 

and 

 
b information about one Bidder’s response must not be given to another Bidder. 

 
1.66.2 The Responsible Officer should debrief in writing all those Bidders who submitted a 

Tender about the reasons why they were unsuccessful and the characteristics and 

relative advantages of the successful Bidder. This debrief should normally include: 

 
a how the Award Criteria were applied; and 

 
b the prices or range of prices submitted, in either case not correlated to Bidders’ names. 

 
1.66.3 The same information may be given to those who responded in any pre-Tender 

selection process. No other information should be given without taking the advice of 

the Chief Finance Officer and the Head of Strategic Commissioning & Procurement. 

Page 745



Page 558 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

CONTRACT AWARD 

1.67 What are the formalities for publishing information about a Contract Award? 

 
1.67.1 Where a contract with a value above the Low Value Contracts Threshold (as defined 

in the Procurement Thresholds Annex) is awarded, the following information shall be 

published on Contracts Finder: 

 
a name of contractor; 

 
b date on which the contract is entered into; 

c value of the contract; and 

d whether the Contractor is a SME or voluntary and community vector enterprise 

(VCSE). 

 
1.67.2 For all contracts subject to the Procurement Regulations, Contract Award Notices shall 

take into account any requirements and conditions around standstill period31, and an 

individual contract report is to be completed32. 

 
1.68 When and how should Bidders be notified of a Contracting Decision? 

 
Prospective Bidders must be notified in writing at the same time, and as soon as 

possible, of any Contracting Decision. If a Bidder requests, in writing, the reasons for 

a Contracting Decision, the Responsible Officer must give the reasons in writing as 

soon as possible. 

CONTRACT RECORDS 

1.69 What records must be kept in relation to contracts? 

 
1.69.1 Where the Total Value of a contract is below the Procurement Threshold (as set out in 

the Procurement Threshold Annex) for supplies of goods, materials, consultants or 

services the Responsible Officer must ensure that the following documents are kept: 

 
1.69.2 Invitations to Quote and any Quotations received; 

a a written record of: 

 
b any exemption and reasons for it; and 

 
c if the lowest price is not accepted, the reasons for this; and 

 
d written records of any communication with the successful Contractor. 

 

 
1.69.3 Where the Total Value of a contract is above the Procurement Threshold (as set out in 

the Procurement Threshold Annex) the Responsible Officer must record and retain 

records of: 

 

31 Public Contracts Regulations 2015, Regulation 87 
32 Public Contracts Regulations 2015, Regulation 84 

Page 746



Page 559 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

a any pre-Tender market research undertaken; 

b the method for obtaining bids; 

c any Contracting Decision and the reason for it; 

 
d any exemption that has been applied, together with the reasons for it; 

e the Award Criteria; 

1.69.4 Tender documents sent to and received from Bidders; 

a the contract documents; 

b clarification questions submitted and answers provided to Bidders 

c any post-Tender negotiation (to include minutes of meetings); 

d written records of any communication with Bidders during the Tender process; 

 
e written records of any communication with the successful Contractor throughout the 

life of the contract; and 

 
f post-contract evaluation and monitoring. 

 
1.69.5 Written records required by this section 19.69 must be kept for six (6) years (twelve 

years if the contract is under seal) after the final settlement of the contract. However, 

documents which relate to unsuccessful Bidders may be electronically scanned or 

stored by some other suitable method after twelve months from award of contract, 

provided there is no dispute about the award. 

 
1.70 What are the Freedom of Information requirements in relation to contracts? 

The Freedom of Information Act 2000 gives a general right of public access to all types 

of ‘recorded’ information held by public authorities, sets out exemptions from that 

general right, and places a number of obligations on public authorities with regard to 

the disclosures of information. The Council will, as a general rule, allow public access 

to recorded information where possible and the Contractor shall agree to the Council 

making any disclosures in accordance with the Act. 

WITHDRAWAL OF TENDER 

1.71 What happens if a successful Bidder withdraws their Tender? 

 
If a Bidder withdraws their Tender after being awarded the contract, the Council will not 

(unless the Executive resolves otherwise) accept future Tenders from that Bidder for a 

period of two (2) years from the date of withdrawal. 

NOMINATED SUB-CONTRACTORS 

1.72 What is the process for the Council to nominate a Sub-contractor? 

Page 747



Page 560 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

1.72.1 The following provisions shall have effect where the Council proposes to enter into a 

contract for the execution of work with a person (the “Main Contractor”) and also 

proposes to nominate to the Main Contractor one or more Sub-contractors for the 

execution of work or the supply of goods, materials or services within the contract with 

the Main Contractor. 

 
1.72.2 The Council will issue an Invitation to Tender to potential Sub-contractors in 

accordance with the relevant provisions of section I, and: 

 
a the terms of the Invitation to Tender shall include a requirement that the successful 

Bidder will enter into a contract with the Main Contractor, under which the Main 

Contractor will be indemnified by the Sub-contractor in respect of its obligations to the 

Council which relate to the delivery / discharge of the work or goods, materials or 

services to be provided by the Sub-contractor; and 

 
b the relevant Head of Service (or their authorised representative) shall nominate to the 

Main Contractor the most appropriate Bidder as Sub-contractor. Provided that, where 

the successful Tender is other than the lowest price received by the Council, the 

circumstances shall be reported appropriately. 

 
1.72.3 Tenders received under this section 19.72 must comply with the relevant provisions of 

section I. 

Page 748



Page 561 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

J – CONTRACT AND OTHER FORMALITIES 

This section sets out the contract requirements for purchases made by the Council, including 

provisions that must be included in certain contracts, signing formalities, and the role of Legal 

Services. 

CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 

1.73 What is the role of Legal Services in relation to contracts? 

 
All contracts should be sent to Legal Services for preparation and registration. Legal 

Services will be responsible for ensuring that contracts are appropriately executed by 

the Council. 

 
1.74 When must a contract be entered into? 

 
1.74.1 With the exception of minor cash transactions made in accordance with the Financial 

Procedure Rules, every contract for the execution of work or the supply of goods, 

materials or services shall be created only by: 

 
a the issue of an official order raised via the Council’s financial system; or 

 
b where an Invitation to Tender has been issued, the completion of a formal written 

contract. 

 
1.74.2 Section 19.74.1(b) above does not apply if the relevant Head of Service or their 

authorised representative) certifies that, owing to the nature of the proposed contract, 

the interests of the Council will be adequately protected by the issue of an official order 

form as in section 19.74.1(a) above. 

 
1.74.3 All contracts must be concluded formally in writing before the supply, service or 

construction work begins, except in exceptional circumstances (as agreed in writing by 

the Chief Finance Officer)the Chief Finance Officer. 

 
1.75 What are the requirements for contracts entered into by or on behalf of the 

Council? 

 
1.75.1 Every Relevant Contract over the Low Value Procurement Threshold purchases, for 

works, supplies of goods, materials, consultants or services must also as a minimum 

state clearly: 

 
a that the Contractor may not assign or sub-contract without the prior written consent of 

the Council; 

 
b any insurance(s) the Contractor is required to have; 

 
c any health and safety requirements the Contractor is required to follow; 

d any relevant ombudsman requirements; 

e the requirements for ensuring compliance with data protection legislation; 

Page 749



Page 562 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

f that charter standards are to be met, if relevant; 

g the Council’s requirements in respect of Freedom of Information and Human Rights; 

h if relevant, that agents used to let contracts must comply with these Contract 

Procedure Rules; 

 
i a right of access for the Council to relevant documentation and records of the 

Contractor for monitoring and audit purposes; and 

 
j whistleblowing arrangements. 

 
1.75.2 All contracts must include the following paragraph: 

 
“The Contractor recognises that the Council is under a duty to act in a manner 

which is compatible with the Convention rights as defined by Section 1(1) of the 

Human Rights Act 1998 (‘Convention Rights’). This duty includes a positive 

obligation on the Council to ensure that contractors providing services on the 

Council’s behalf act in a way which is compatible with the Convention Rights. 

The Contractor therefore agrees to provide the Services and comply with its 

other obligations under this contract in a manner which is compatible with the 

Convention Rights.” 

 
1.75.3 Where payment in advance is required under a contract, the formal written approval of 

the Head of Strategic Commissioning & Procurement, following due diligence of the 

organisation, is required. In the event of industry standards leading to a common 

accepted practice of advance payments (e.g., software licences) this would only need 

to be sought once. 

 
1.76 When must the advice of Legal Services be sought in relation to a contract? 

 
1.76.1 Notwithstanding that all contracts should be sent to Legal Services for review, the 

formal advice of Legal Services must be sought for a Contract that includes one or 

more of the following features: 

 
a  the Total Value of the procurement is above the Key Decision threshold; b 

it involves financial lease arrangements; 

c it is proposed to use a contractor’s own terms; or 

 
d it is particularly complex or high risk. 

EXECUTION OF CONTRACTS 

1.77 What are the execution formalities for Council contracts? 

 
1.77.1 All Contracts shall be executed by an Officer with authority to do so under the Council’s 

Scheme of Delegations. 

 
1.77.2 The use of electronic signatures is permitted provided a process has been established 

and approved by Legal Services. 

Page 750



Page 563 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

1.77.3 The Officer responsible for securing the signature of the Contractor must ensure that 

the person signing for the Contractor has authority to bind it. If the Officer is uncertain, 

this must be referred to Legal Services. 

 
1.77.4 Where contracts are completed by each side adding their formal seal, the fixing of the 

Council’s seal must be witnessed by an Officer on behalf of the Monitoring Officer. 

Every Council sealing will be consecutively numbered, recorded and signed by the 

person witnessing the seal. 

 
1.77.5 The Council’s seal must not be affixed without the authority of the Council, the 

Executive or a Chief Officer / Head of Service acting under delegated powers. 

 
1.78 When must a contract be sealed? 

 
1.78.1 A contract must be sealed where; 

 
a the Council wishes to enforce the contract for more than six years after it ends; 

 
b the price paid or received under the contract is a nominal price and does not reflect the 

value of the goods or services; 

 
c there is any doubt about the authority of the person signing for the Contractor; or 

 
d the Total Value of the contract is expected to exceed the Procurement Threshold for 

works, goods, services or materials, consultancy, or a Concession Contract as set out 

in the Procurement Thresholds Annex. 

 
1.78.2 Notwithstanding the above, there is no requirement for a contract to be sealed if the 

Monitoring Officer has determined that this is not required. 

LIQUIDATED DAMAGES 

1.79 When should a liquidated damages provision be included in a contract? 

 
Every formal written contract, which exceeds the Low Value Contract Threshold set 

out in the Procurement Thresholds Annex and is for the execution of works shall 

provide for liquidated damages to be paid by the Contractor in case the terms of the 

contract are not duly performed. 

BONDS 

1.80 When is a Bond required? 

 
1.80.1 The Responsible Officer must consult the Chief Finance Officer about whether a Bond 

is needed where: 

 
a the Total Value of a contract exceeds £200,000; or 

 
b it is proposed to make stage payments or other payments in advance of receiving the 

whole of the subject matter of the contract. 

PARENT COMPANY GUARANTEES 

Page 751



Page 564 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

1.81 When is a parent company guarantee required? 

 
1.81.1 The Responsible Officer must consult the Chief Finance Officer about whether a parent 

company guarantee is required where a Bidder is a subsidiary of a parent company 

and: 

 
a the Total Value of the contract exceeds £200,000; 

b the Contract Award is based on evaluation of the parent company; or 

c there is concern about the financial stability of the Bidder. 

PREVENTION OF CORRUPTION 

1.82 What measures must be taken to prevent corruption? 

 
1.82.1 High standards of conduct are obligatory for all Officers. A Responsible Officer must 

comply with the Officer Code of Conduct and must not invite or accept any gift or 

reward in respect of the award or performance of any contract. It will be for the 

Responsible Officer to prove that anything received from a Bidder or Contractor was 

not received corruptly. Corrupt behaviour will lead to dismissal and is a crime under 

statutes referred to in section 19.82.2. 

 
1.82.2 The following clause must be included in every written contract entered into by the 

Council: 

 
“The Council may terminate this contract and recover all its loss if the 

Contractor, its employees or anyone acting on the Contractor’s behalf do any of 

the following things: 

 
a offer, give or agree to give anyone any inducement or reward in respect of this 

or any other Council contract (even if the Contractor does not know what has 

been done); or 

 
b commit an offence under the Prevention of Corruption Acts 1889 to 1916 or 

Section 117(2) of the Local Government Act 1972; or 

 
c commit any fraud in connection with this or any other Council Contract whether 

alone or in conjunction with Members, Contractors or employees.” 

 
Any clause limiting the Contractor’s liability shall not apply to this clause. 

 
1.83 How is suspected corruption investigated? 

 
Any suspected irregularity shall be referred to the Internal Audit Manager who shall 

notify the Chief Finance Officer and Monitoring Officer where necessary. Any 

examination of Contractors’ or Bidders’ books and records undertaken because of any 

such suspected irregularity shall be conducted by the Internal Audit Manager. If, in the 

investigation of any irregularity, the Chief Finance Officer considers that disciplinary 

procedures may need to be invoked, the appropriate Head of Service, Head of Legal 

& Democratic Services and Head of HR Client Services shall also be notified. 

Page 752



Page 565 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

1.84 When must Members and Officers declare in interest in relation to a contract? 

 
1.84.1 If it comes to the knowledge of a Member or an Officer that a contract in which he or 

she has a pecuniary interest has been, or is proposed to be, entered into by the 

Council, they shall immediately give written notice to the Monitoring Officer. 

 
1.84.2 Such written notice is required irrespective of whether the pecuniary interest is direct 

or indirect. An indirect pecuniary interest arises in respect of a contract to which the 

member or employee is not directly a party. 

 
1.84.3 A shareholding in a body not exceeding a total nominal value of £1,000 or 1% of the 

nominal value of issued share capital (whichever is the less) is not a pecuniary interest 

for the purposes of this section 19.84. 

 
1.84.4 The Monitoring Officer shall maintain a record of all declarations of interests notified 

by Members and Officers. 

 
1.84.5 The Monitoring Officer shall ensure that the attention of all Members is drawn to the 

national code of local government conduct. 

 
1.84.6 For the avoidance of doubt, the Member Code of Conduct, the Officer Code of Conduct 

and relevant provisions in the Constitution relating to declarations of interests shall 

apply to Members and Officers, as applicable. 

Page 753



Page 566 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

K – THE LIFE OF THE CONTRACT 

 

 
CONTRACT MANAGEMENT 

1.85 What are the Council’s contract management requirements? 

 
1.85.1 Proportionate contract management, taking into account the risks to the Council in 

relation to a contract, must be an integral part of considerations when planning a 

procurement. Responsible Officers should ensure that there is a dedicated contract 

manager who is suitably qualified and experienced, and who will have detailed 

knowledge of the contract, and that appropriate contract management systems that 

are aligned to contract and corporate objectives, Value for Money / Best Value and 

performance improvement are in place. 

 
1.85.2 Payments should be made in accordance with relevant contract terms and the 

Procurement Regulations and in a timely manner to avoid the payment of any interest 

charges. 

 
1.85.3 The Council has a Contract Monitoring Framework, which sets out how contracts 

should be monitored during their life. Responsible Officers must comply with the 

Contract Monitoring Framework in respect of contracts for which they are responsible. 

 
1.85.4 Strategic Commissioning & Procurement will ensure that: 

 
a there is compliance with the specification, pricing and contract terms for any 

procurement; 

 
b contract performance and key performance indicators (where applied) are monitored 

and enforced on a regular basis with any reduction in performance addressed; 

 
c regular budget monitoring and cost reconciliation of payments takes place to ensure 

that the contract sum is not exceeded; and 

 
d contract risk assessments are conducted at regular intervals. 

 
1.86 What happens if a Contractor fails to comply with the contract? 

 
1.86.1 If a Contractor fails to comply with any of the provisions of a contract, the contract 

manager must try to secure compliance in accordance with the terms of the contract. 

Proper records must be kept regarding contract failings and any corrective measures 

put forward. 

 
1.86.2 If this is not successful, the matter should be referred promptly to Strategic 

Commissioning & Procurement and their advice should be sought as to what action 

should be taken to protect the Council’s interests. 

 
1.87 How are disputes with Contractors managed? 

 
Where practicable, all Contracts should contain a dispute resolution procedure. If there 

is a contract dispute, the contract manager must follow the dispute resolution 

Page 754



Page 567 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

provisions contained in the contract and seek legal advice from Legal Services where 

necessary. Advice should also be sought from the Chief Finance Officer regarding the 

financial implications of any dispute. 

CONTRACT EXTENSIONS AND VARIATIONS 

1.88 When and how may contracts be extended and/or varied? 

 
1.88.1 Contracts may only be extended or varied where: 

a the contract permits the extension or variation; 

b the extension or variation complies with the Procurement Regulations and any other 

applicable legislation; 

 
c the extension or variation is approved by Chief Finance Officer and the Monitoring 

Officer. 

 
1.88.2 Guidance should be sought from Strategic Commissioning & Procurement, with 

confirmation sought from Legal Services (where required) in relation to any proposed 

extension or variation of a contract to ensure that it is compliant. Crown Commercial 

Service also provides guidance on this33. 

 
1.88.3 Any extension or variation of an Above Threshold Procurement must be made in 

accordance with the Procurement Regulations. 

 
1.88.4 Any approval of an extension or variation to a contract must be notified to Strategic 

Commissioning & Procurement to be recorded in the Contracts Register . 

 
1.88.5 Any contract extension entered into that is not envisaged by the original contract for 

the relevant procurement will be considered a breach of these Contract Procedure 

Rules and section 19.4 will apply. Where such an extension is deemed to be required, 

advice should be sought from Strategic Commissioning & Procurement on how to 

procure the required services in a compliant way. 

TERMINATION OF CONTRACTS 

1.89 What termination provisions should contracts include? 

 
1.89.1 Every contract entered into should include appropriate provisions for its termination. 

Responsible Officers should seek advice from Legal Services on the termination 

clause(s) that should be included in a particular contract. 

 
1.89.2 Termination provisions should include: 

 
a the circumstances in which the Council and the Contractor may terminate the contract; 

b any notice requirements for termination; and 

c the consequences of termination, including (where appropriate), the exit provisions 

that will apply. 
 

33 Guidance on Amendments to Contracts During their Term 

Page 755



Page 568 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

1.89.3 In any event, every contract in respect of an Above Threshold Procurement should 

include a provision that allows the Council to terminate the contract if: 

 
a the contract is subject to a modification that would have required a new procurement 

under the Procurement Regulations; or 

 
b at the time of the Contract Award, the Contractor should have been excluded from the 

procurement for one of the reasons set out in the Procurement Regulations34. 

 
1.89.4 Legal Services will provide advice to Responsible Officers on the appropriate wording 

to be included in relevant contracts. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

34 Public Contracts Regulations, Regulation 73 

Page 756



Page 569 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

L – OTHER TYPES OF PROCUREMENT 

COMMISSIONING A CONSULTANT 

1.90 What is the process for commissioning a Consultant? 

 
1.90.1 The engagement of consultant architects, engineers and surveyors or other 

professional consultants shall be subject to the process outlined in the Commissioning 

a Consultant Policy. 

 
1.90.2 In summary, the following process shall apply: 

a a business case must be produced evidencing: 

i the need for the consultant; 

ii the outcome to be achieved; 

iii how the work will be managed; and 

 
iv the mechanism for funding the work; and 

 
b the engagement will, in the first instance, be undertaken through the NEPRO Solution. 

PROCUREMENT OF AGENCY STAFF 

1.91 How are agency staff procured? 

 
1.91.1 Approval to appoint short-term agency staff must be obtained through a Vacancy 

Control Form. 

 
1.91.2 Once approval has been obtained, confirmation of the approval and a job description 

must be sent to agencyprocurement@middlesbrough.gov.uk. 
 

1.91.3 The vacancy will, in the first instance be posted to agencies through the Neutral Vendor 

Framework. Only in circumstances where recruitment is unsuccessful via the Neural 

Vendor Network will an alternative procurement solution be undertaken. 

 
1.91.4 Candidates will be identified and interviewed. The recruiting manager will appoint and 

manage the successful agency staff member and be the Responsible Officer for 

timesheet approval and recording. 

 
1.91.5 Senior or specialist roles will be sought from the Local Government Resourcing 

Partnership or other associated frameworks. In these circumstances, the Responsible 

Officer should seek the advice of Strategic Commissioning & Procurement on the 

procurement of such agency staff after a Vacancy Control Form has been approved. 

 
1.91.6 In all cases, agency positions will be considered to be inside IR35, unless specifically 

determined otherwise by HR and/or Legal Services. 

CONCESSION CONTRACTS 

1.92 What is a Concession Contract? 

Page 757

mailto:agencyprocurement@middlesbrough.gov.uk


Page 570 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

1.92.1 A “Concession Contract” is one under which the Council provides an opportunity to a 

supplier to exploit the delivery of works, goods or services and the supplier receives 

benefit or payment for those directly from a third party rather than the Council paying 

for them directly. 

 
1.92.2 A Concession Contract must involve the transfer of an operating risk to the supplier, 

the risk transferred must involve real exposure to the market, and the services must 

be for the benefit of the Council or its residents. 

 
1.92.3 The advice of Legal Services and Strategic Commissioning & Procurement should be 

sought to confirm whether a contract is a Concession Contract. 

 
1.93 How is the value of a Concession Contract determined? 

 
The value of a Concession Contract is the estimated total turnover that the supplier 

can generate in consideration for the works, goods or services over the duration of the 

contract, net of VAT, as estimated by the Council. 

 
1.94 What are the rules that apply to procurement of Concession Contracts? 

 
There are specific requirements for the procurement of Concession Contracts that are 

Above Threshold Procurements35. Advice should be sought from Strategic 

Commissioning & Procurement in relation to any such Concession Contract. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

35 Concession Contracts Regulations 2016, Regulation 9 

Page 758



Page 571 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

ANNEX 1 – ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF OFFICERS AND MEMBERS 
 

Role Responsibility 

Chief Officer  Ensuring own compliance with these Contract 
Procedure Rules and applicable legislation and 
guidance. 

 Ensuring compliance of staff for which responsible for 
compliance with these Contract Procedure Rules and 
applicable legislation and guidance. 

 Approval of commercial business case, route to market 
strategy and contract management arrangements in 
accordance with these Contract Procedure Rules. 

 Ensuring that Contract Award decisions are made in 
accordance with the Council’s Constitution and the 
Scheme of Delegations. 

 Engaging in a timely manner with Strategic 
Commissioning & Procurement to develop a 
procurement pipeline, maintain the contracts register 
and identify a named contract manager for each 
contract awarded. 

Head of Service 
(Strategic 
Commissioning  & 
Procurement) 

 Ownership of these Contract Procedure Rules. 

 Ensuring that the governance and assurance 
framework for commercial considerations is complied 
with robustly and effectively across the Council. 

Responsible Officers  Ensuring that projects involving procurement are 
managed effectively to ensure compliance with these 
Contract Procedure Rules. 

 Ensuring there is a genuine and legitimate business 
requirement for the spend and an approved budget. 

 Ensuring that appropriate governance is exercised 
over decisions to approve expenditure. 

 Drafting a fit for purpose specification that includes 
appropriate contract management arrangements. 

 Supporting the definition of an appropriate route to 
market for each contract and ensuring that it is followed 
and that any deviation from the approved approach is 
justified. 

 Making a genuine estimate of total contract value over 
the contract term before commencing any 
procurement activity. 

 Conducting procurement activities and contract 
modifications and extensions for contracts under the 
financial threshold set out in the Procurement 
Thresholds Annex. 

 Engaging with Strategic Commissioning & 
Procurement for any Above Threshold Procurement. 

 Seeking guidance from Strategic Commissioning & 
Procurement on the application of these Contract 
Procedure Rules and applicable legislation to 
contracts. 

Page 759



Page 572 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

  Where appropriate, applying exemptions to these 
Contract Procedure Rules. 

Executive Members  Making strategic decisions in line with the Constitution, 
including the Budget and Policy Framework within 
which procurement plans are developed and 
implemented. 

 Complying with these Contract Procedure Rules to the 
extent that they have specific procedural 
responsibilities. 

 Ensuring compliance with the Member Code of 
Conduct, including in relation any interest they may 
have. 

 Ensuring that they are not involved in the 
commissioning and/or procurement processes that 
operate in the Officer domain. 

Strategic 
Commissioning & 
Procurement 

 Overall strategic ownership of procurement and 
commercial activity on behalf of the Council. 

 Engaging proactively with Service Areas to determine 
the procurement pipeline and how this is facilitated in 
a proportional and timely manner. 

 Supporting Service Areas in assessing the commercial 
considerations of planned procurements at the design 
stage, including drafting of the route to market strategy 
and contract management arrangements. 

 Working with Service Areas to develop proportional 
and informed category strategies. 

 Exploring options for using pre-existing public sector 
compliant contractual arrangements where this 
represents Best Value, including available 
Frameworks 

 Exploring opportunities for collaboration with other 
public sector bodies where appropriate. 

 Ensuring compliance with all applicable procurement 
processes, including under the Procurement 
Regulations. 

 Seeking to develop strategic opportunities for synergy 
between contracts to enable the Council to meet its 
Best Value duty. 

 

Page 760



Page 573 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

ANNEX 2 – LETTING OF SCHOOL BASED CONTRACTS 

This section outlines the Department for Education & Skills (DfES) regulations ensuring 

compliance with the requirements of the Fair Funding Scheme when letting contracts. The Fair 

Funding Scheme has been drawn up in consultation with schools and is approved by the 

Secretary of State. The Scheme sets out the financial relationship of schools under delegation 

with the Council and the areas it covers are required by regulations made under the School 

Standards and Framework Act 1988. 

1. What are the considerations for letting school-based contracts? 

1.1 Section 2.9 of the Fair Funding Scheme requires that Governing Bodies maintain a register 

of business interests of governors and Head teachers. This does not preclude participation 

in discussions about the relative merits of Quotations and Tenders but does mean those 

with a declared interest cannot vote on the final decision on the award of a contract. Those 

with declared interests must not be given any information about the Quotations or Tenders 

of other Contractors until after the deadline for submission of all Quotations and Tenders 

has passed. 

 
1.2 Governing Bodies are acting as agents of Middlesbrough Council when they enter into 

contracts using funds delegated by the Authority. This means that Governing Bodies enter 

into contracts on behalf of Middlesbrough Council. Schools must adhere to the terms and 

conditions within the contract. Section 6.2.3 of the Fair Funding Scheme enables the 

Authority to charge any costs to a school’s delegated budget awarded against it by a court 

for breach of contract by a school where they have failed to heed LEA advice. 

 
1.3 The status of Governing Bodies of aided and foundation schools gives them additional 

responsibilities. Governing Bodies of these schools are not acting as agents of the LEA 

and are not bound by the Financial Scheme when exercising their additional powers or 

discharging additional responsibilities. 

 
1.4 The provision of services and facilities by the LEA are covered by Section 8 of the Fair 

Funding Scheme. Although not a legally binding contract the terms and conditions of the 

Service Level Agreement set out the respective responsibilities of schools and the LEA. 

The Executive Director of Children Families & Learning will act as arbiter should a dispute 

arise. 

 
1.5 Section 1.5 of the Fair Funding Scheme suggests the appropriate delegation to Head 

teachers. This includes delegation to enter into contracts. Governing Bodies are free to 

determine their own levels of delegation to Head teachers. In exercising delegated powers 

Head teachers must abide by the contracting processes referred to in this document. 

 
1.6 Section 2.10 of the Fair Funding Scheme does not restrict schools to selecting Contractors 

from Approved Lists. However, where schools choose Contractors who are not on 

Middlesbrough Council’s approved list they must satisfy themselves as to the health and 

safety competence and insurance cover of the Contractor. Schools should also have 

regard to Child Protection legislation and satisfy themselves that Contractors have made 

adequate arrangements to monitor the activities of employees where they will have access 

to children during the course of their work. It is essential that schools record their reasons 

for assessing and selecting a Contractor when they let a contract. This is not only 

considered good practice but also provides essential evidence to safeguard schools and 

the LEA from litigation claims. 

Page 761



Page 574 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

1.7 Schools are advised that selecting Contractors from Middlesbrough Council’s approved 

list is the preferred method of obtaining quotes and Tenders. Details of Contractors on the 

approved list are available, including the type and value of work for which each Contractor 

is approved and their status for tax deduction under the Construction Industry Taxation 

Scheme (CITS) (see section 7.2 of the Finance Scheme and Annex 5 of the Fair Funding 

Scheme). 

 
1.8 Schools are required to seek at least three written Quotations for any contract for goods, 

materials, services & consultants valued between £16,000 and £53,099. For works at least 

three written Quotations are required for any contract valued between £16,000 and 

£106,099. 

 
1.9 Schools are required to seek Tenders for any goods, materials, services or consultants 

valued over £53,100 and works valued over £106,100. 

 
1.10 In all cases where Quotations or Tenders are sought schools should accept the bid that 

is most economically advantageous Tender. The reasons for accepting a Quotation or 

Tender must always be recorded in the minutes of Governing Body meetings where Head 

teachers have used delegated powers referred to above. 

 
1.11 All Tenders should be accepted by the full Governing Body (subject to the withdrawal 

from the decision-making process by those with business interests (see above) and 

delegation to the Head teacher by the Governing Body (see above)). In exceptional 

circumstances where the lowest Tender is not accepted the Governing Body must record 

its decision in the minutes of the meeting. 

 

Governing Bodies (or Head teachers with delegated powers) must ensure that Bidders have 

adequate public liability insurance cover of at least £5m for the work or goods and services 

covered by the contract before Contractors are appointed. 

Page 762



Page 575 

 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

PROCUREMENT THRESHOLDS 

ANNEX 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 763



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 576 Page 764



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

PROCUREMENT THRESHOLDS ANNEX 

1. Introduction 

The Procurement Regulations set out statutory Procurement Thresholds (i.e., financial limits) for different types of procurement. Any Above 

Threshold Procurement must be conducted in accordance with the requirements set out in the Procurement Regulations. Procurements 

that are below a statutory threshold should be conducted as set out in the tables in this Procurement Thresholds Annex. 

2. Interpretation 

Capitalised terms used in this document shall have the meanings given to them in the Council’s Constitution. 

This Procurement Thresholds Annex should be read in conjunction with the Contract Procedure Rules set out in section 19 of the 

Constitution. 

3. Procurement Thresholds 

The current statutory Procurement Thresholds are as follows: 
 

Goods and Services Up to £213,477 

Works Up to £5,336, 937 

Light Touch Regime Up to £663,540 

 

When applying the thresholds in this Procurement Thresholds Annex, contract values should be calculated on the basis of the whole life 

of the contract and should include VAT. No deduction should be made for any available VAT recovery and the standard rate of VAT 

(currently 20%) should be used. 

When advertising a contract, and for contract award notices, the estimated contract value should be provided exclusive of VAT. 

Note that the Procurement Thresholds in the Procurement Regulations are subject to change and should be confirmed with Legal Services 

and Strategic Commissioning & Procurement. 

4. Key Decisions 

P
a
g
e

 5
7
7

 
P

age 765



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

Notwithstanding the rules set out in this Procurement Thresholds Annex, where any procurement requires a Key Decision to be made, 

that Key Decision must be given and recorded before an Invitation to Quote or an Invitation to Tender is issued. 

 
A Key Decision will be required in respect of any procurement that will: 

 
(a) incur expenditure of £200,000 or more; or 

 
(b) have a significant impact on two or more Wards, 

(“Key Decision Threshold”) 

5. Exemptions 

Any exemption to the Contract Procedure Rules and/or the requirements set out in this Procurement Thresholds Annex must be in 

accordance with sections 19.14 to 19.18 of the Contract Procedure Rules and the Exemptions Annex. An exemption may not be used for 

an Above Threshold Procurement. 

6. Frameworks 

There are a number of procurement organisations that provide a number of Frameworks that have been compliantly procurement under 

the Procurement Regulations that the Council can call off. The Framework will have its own call-off process which could be a mini- 

competition or direct award. Strategic Commissioning & Procurement will offer support on finding suitable frameworks and support you 

through the process to award via the Framework. 

Any procurement that uses a Framework must be compliant with the terms of the Framework and the Procurement Regulations. 

7. Local suppliers 

 
Up to certain contract values (as set out in this Procurement Thresholds Annex), local suppliers are to be used where possible. Local 

suppliers are suppliers who are located within the Borough or Teesside and/or whose office or premises has a TS postcode. 

P
a
g
e

 5
7
8

 
P

age 766



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

GOODS AND SERVICES 

The following table sets out the procurement procedures that apply to the purchase of goods and services by the Council. 

For the avoidance of doubt, goods and services includes the procurement of consultancy and other professional services, and the procurement 

of agency staff. 
 

Value Process Exemption from 
Rules by 

Decision to 
Award 

Formalities Authority to sign 
or seal contract 

Other 

Up to £10,000 Direct Award 
unless an 
appropriate 
contract already 
exists 

Not applicable Budget Manager, 
Head of Service or 
Chief Officer 
approval given. 

Order raised on 
the Council’s 
financial system 
(section 19.74.1 of 
the CPR) 

Legal signature if 
contract if not then 
Chief Officer 
approval 

Must demonstrate 
Best Value 

 

Local suppliers to 
be used where 
possible 

Above £10,000 
and up to 
£213,477 

At least 3 
Quotations 
(section 19.56 of 
the CPR) 

 

Option to issue 
Invitation to 
Tender      (section 
19.54 of the CPR) 

Exemption 
process approved 
in line with section 
1.14 to 1.18 of the 
CPR 

Quotation 
evaluation 
outcome 

Order raised on 
the Council’s 
financial system 
(section 19.74.1 of 
the CPR) 

 
Minimum contract 
requirements as 
set out in section 
19.75.1 of the 
CPR 

Legal memo 
submitted to legal 
with Chief Officer 
approval 

Local suppliers to 
be used where 
possible 

 
To be published 
on: 

 E- 
tendering 
Portal 

 Contracts 
Finder 

 Find  a 
Tender (if 
Invitation 
to Tender 
issued) 

Above £213,477 
(an Above 
Threshold 
Procurement) 

At least 5 Tenders Exemptions 
cannot be made 
for contracts with 

Tender evaluation 
outcome and 
Tender award 
briefing note 

Formal contract Legal memo 
submitted to legal 
with Chief Officer 
approval 

Procurement 
Regulations apply 

P
a
g
e

 5
7

9
 

P
age 767



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
Value Process Exemption from 

Rules by 
Decision to 
Award 

Formalities Authority to sign 
or seal contract 

Other 

  a value over this 
threshold. 

approved by 
appropriate DMT 

  To be published 
on: 

 E- 
tendering 
Portal 

 Contracts 
Finder 

 Find a 
Tender 

P
a
g
e

 5
8
0

 
P

age 768



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

LIGHT TOUCH REGIME 

The Light Touch Regime applies to the procurement of public service contracts for social care services and certain other specified contracts 

pursuant to Regulation 5 of the Procurement Regulations as follows: 
 
 
 

Value Process Exemption from 
Rules by 

Decision to 
Award 

Formalities Authority to sign 
or seal contract 

Other 

Up to £10,000 Direct Award 
unless an 
appropriate 
contract already 
exists 

Not applicable Budget Manager, 
Head of Service or 
Chief Officer 
approval given. 

Order raised on 
the Council’s 
financial system 
(section 19.74.1 of 
the CPR) 

Legal signature if 
contract if not then 
Chief Officer 
approval 

Must demonstrate 
Best Value 

 

Local suppliers to 
be used where 
possible 

Above £10,000 
and up to 
£663,540 

At least 3 
Quotations 
(section 19.56 of 
the CPR) 

 

Option to issue 
Invitation to 
Tender      (section 
19.54 of the CPR) 

Exemption 
process approved 
in line with section 
1.14 to 1.18 of the 
CPR 

Quotation 
evaluation 
outcome 

Order raised on 
the Council’s 
financial system 
(section 19.74.1 of 
the CPR) 

 
Minimum contract 
requirements as 
set out in section 
19.75.1 of the 
CPR 

Legal memo 
submitted to legal 
with Chief Officer 
approval 

Local suppliers to 
be used where 
possible 

 
To be published 
on: 

 E- 
tendering 
Portal 

 Contracts 
Finder 

 Find  a 
Tender (if 
Invitation 
to Tender 
issued) 

P
a
g
e

 5
8
1

 
P

age 769



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
Value Process Exemption from 

Rules by 
Decision to 
Award 

Formalities Authority to sign 
or seal contract 

Other 

Above £663,540 
(an  Above 
Threshold 
Procurement) 

At least 5 Tenders Exemptions 
cannot be made 
for contracts with 
a value over this 
threshold. 

Tender evaluation 
outcome and 
Tender award 
briefing note 
approved by 
appropriate DMT 

Formal contract Legal memo 
submitted to legal 
with Chief Officer 
approval 

Procurement 
Regulations apply 

 

To be published 
on: 

 E- 
tendering 
Portal 

 Contracts 
Finder 

 Find a 
Tender P

a
g
e

 5
8
2

 
P

age 770



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

WORKS 

The following table sets out the procurement procedures that apply to the purchase of goods and services by the Council. 

For the avoidance of doubt, these rules also apply to Concession Contracts (see section 19.92 of the CPR). 

Value Process Exemption from 
Rules by 

Decision to 
Award 

Formalities Authority to sign 
or seal contract 

Other 

Up to £10,000 Direct Award 
unless an 
appropriate 
contract already 
exists 

Not applicable Budget Manager, 
Head of Service or 
Chief Officer 
approval given. 

Order raised on 
the Council’s 
financial system 
(section 19.74.1 of 
the CPR) 

Legal signature if 
contract if not then 
Chief Officer 
approval 

Must demonstrate 
Best Value 

 

Local suppliers to 
be used where 
possible 

Above £10,000 
and up to 
£250,000 

At least 3 
Quotations 
(section 19.56 of 
the CPR) 

 

Option to issue 
Invitation to 
Tender      (section 
19.54 of the CPR) 

Exemption 
process approved 
in line with section 
1.14 to 1.18 of the 
CPR 

Quotation 
evaluation 
outcome 

Order raised on 
the Council’s 
financial system 
(section 19.74.1 of 
the CPR) 

 

Minimum contract 
requirements as 
set out in section 
19.75.1 of the 
CPR 

Legal memo 
submitted to legal 
with Chief Officer 
approval 

Local suppliers to 
be used where 
possible 

 

To be published 
on: 

 E- 
tendering 
Portal 

 Contracts 
Finder 

Find a Tender (if 
Invitation to 
Tender issued) 

P
a
g
e

 5
8
3

 
P

age 771



 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
Value Process Exemption from 

Rules by 
Decision to 
Award 

Formalities Authority to sign 
or seal contract 

Other 

Above £250,000 
and up to 
£5,336, 937 

At least 5 Tenders Exemption 
process approved 
in line with section 
1.14 to 1.18 of the 
CPR 

Tender evaluation 
outcome and 
Tender award 
briefing note 
approved by 
appropriate DMT 

Formal contract Legal memo 
submitted to legal 
with Chief Officer 
approval 

To be published 
on: 

 E- 
tendering 
Portal 

 Contracts 
Finder 

 Find a 
Tender 

Above £5,336,937 
(an Above 
Threshold 
Procurement) 

At least 5 Tenders Exemptions 
cannot be made 
for contracts with 
a value over this 
threshold. 

Tender evaluation 
outcome and 
Tender award 
briefing note 
approved by 
appropriate DMT 

Formal contract Legal memo 
submitted to legal 
with Chief Officer 
approval 

Procurement 
Regulations apply 

 

To be published 
on: 

 E- 
tendering 
Portal 

 Contracts 
Finder 

 Find a 
Tender 

 

P
a
g
e

 5
8
4

 
P

age 772



1 

MIDDLESBROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 
Report of: Director of Legal & Governance Services on behalf of the 

Independent Panel on Members’ Remuneration 

 

Submitted to: Council 

 

Date: 18 September 2023 

 

Title: Members’ Scheme of Allowances 

 

Report for: Decision 

 

Status: Public 

 

Strategic priority: All 

 

Key decision: No 

Why: Not applicable 

 

Urgent: No 

Why: Not applicable 

 

Executive summary  

Following its 2023 review of Members’ allowances, the Independent Panel on Members’ 
Remuneration recommend an increase to the Basic Allowance from £7,608 to the 
Teesside average (£8,773). The Panel recommend this increase should be made in 
increments over four years. The Panel also recommend freezing Special Responsibility 
Allowances at their current levels.  
 
The Council is asked to consider the Panel’s recommendations and either accept or 
reject them. If, after having due regard of the Panel’s recommendations, the Council 
reject the Panel’s proposals it will need to create its own Scheme of Allowances.  

Page 773

Agenda Item 17



2 

Purpose 
 

1. To provide Members with the opportunity to consider the proposals of the 

Independent Panel on Members’ Remuneration and adopt the Scheme of 

Allowances. 

Background and relevant information 
 

2. The Council are required under The Local Authorities (Members' Allowances) 
(England) Regulations 2003 to publish a Members Scheme of Allowances on an 
annual basis and to have due regard to the recommendations of the Independent 
Panel on Members Remuneration. 

 

3. Members Allowances are reviewed by the Independent Panel on Members’ 
Remuneration annually and undergo a full review every four years. The Panel 
carried out a full review in early 2018 and submitted their recommendations to 
Council for agreement.  

 
4. In 2018 the Panel made recommendations that the Basic Allowance be increased 

incrementally, for a four-year period in order to bring it in line with the average Basic 
Allowance of other Tees Valley authorities. It was also recommended that the Basic 
Allowance should continue to be increased in line with any inflationary staff pay 
awards. The Council approved those proposals in October 2019. 
 

5. The Panel were informed that the quadrennial review of the Members’ Scheme of 
Allowances was required for the municipal year 2023-2024. The review is a full and 
robust process that encompasses the amount of allowances paid and the 
mechanisms by which they are assigned.  
 

6. In determining the rate of Special Responsibility Allowances (SRA) the Council 
previously agreed to use a banding scheme index model, based on multiples of the 
Basic Allowance. However, the index-banding system had been temporarily 
suspended following the 2018 review for a period of four years. In conducting the 
2023 review, the Panel examined the levels of the Basic Allowance in line with the 
2018 review and Special Responsibility Allowances.   

 
7. The Council are still required to publish an Annual Scheme of Allowances and 

therefore the Independent Panel still conduct an annual review to address any 
issues that have arisen or significant changes to roles receiving a Special 
Responsibility Allowance.  

 
8. Following the resignation of a Panel member in 2021, a recruitment drive was 

undertaken which resulted in the appointment of a new Panel member on 18th 
March 2022.  

 
9. The Panel met on 13 June 2023 to carry out its quadrennial review of the Members’ 

Scheme of Allowances and proposed a Scheme of Allowances for 2023/2024. They 
considered comparative SRA information provided by Democratic Services and 
wider socioeconomic factors.  
 

Page 774



3 

10. The Panel’s 2022 recommendations were to freeze allowances at 2021 levels and 
not reflect staff inflationary pay awards. As part of the 2023 review, the Panel noted 
that, because of this, Middlesbrough Council’s Basic Allowance remains below the 
Teesside average and had drifted significantly from its Teesside neighbours. The 
Panel were aware this could result in negative impacts including discouraging a 
wider demographic for standing for Council. 
 

11. During the Panel’s 2023 review socioeconomic factors were considered as well as 
the difficult financial position facing the Council. Despite this the Panel felt the Basic 
Allowance was in danger of becoming too low compared to other Teesside 
Councils. As such the Panel feel the Basic Allowance should be increased to meet 
the Teesside average as it stands in 2023 (£8,773) to reflect the work undertaken 
by Councillors. This will be achieved over four years increasing by £291.25 per year 
from its current base of £7,608. 
 

12. With regard to the Mayor the Panel examined the responsibilities of the Mayor and 
considered comparators with other Mayoral authorities and found that the allowance 
to the Mayor of Middlesbrough to be below the average of other Mayoral authorities. 
It was also felt that regardless of the population or the size of an authority, the time, 
commitment, and responsibilities of an elected Mayor are comparable. Despite this, 
the Panel felt the Mayor’s SRA was adequate when supplemented with the Basic 
Allowance. 
 

13. The Panel felt those roles attracting an SRA were all still relevant, recognising the 
time commitment and responsibilities involved. It was also recognised that, 
generally, the rates afforded to special responsibility allowances in Middlesbrough 
were comparable to other Teesside Authorities. As the Council has not undergone 
any governance changes since the last quadrennial review the Panel were 
confident that the comparators used in their deliberations continued to be relevant.  
 

14. The Panel continue to recommend that during this period any future staff pay 

awards should not be applied to SRAs.  

 
What decision(s) are being recommended?  

 
15. That Council consider the recommendations proposed by the Independent Panel on 

Members’ Remuneration outlined in their report at Appendix 1. 
 

16. Council adopt the proposed Members Scheme of Allowances for 2023/24 
(Appendix 2). 

 
Rationale for the recommended decision(s) 
 

17. The Council are required under The Local Authorities (Members' Allowances) 
(England) Regulations 2003 to publish a Members Scheme of Allowances on an 
annual basis. 

 
18. The allowances should reflect the level of work, time and commitment of the role of 

Councillor and to provide a reasoned approach the impact the recommendations 
will have on the Council.     

 

Page 775



4 

Other potential decision(s) and why these have not been recommended 
 

19. The Council could reject the Panel’s recommendations and propose its own 
Scheme of Allowances having had due regard to the recommendations of the 
Independent Panel on Members Remuneration. 

 
Impact(s) of the recommended decision(s) 
 
Legal 
 

20. The Council are required under The Local Authorities (Members' Allowances) 
(England) Regulations 2003 to publish a Members Scheme of Allowances on an 
annual basis and to have due regard to the recommendations of the Independent 
Panel on Members Remuneration.  

 
Strategic priorities and risks 
 

21. Failure to adhere to Local Code of Corporate Governance and deliver governance 
improvements outlined in the Annual Governance Statement. A potential 
consequence of not having a comparable Scheme of Allowances with other Tees 
Valley authorities is that it may discourage a wider demographic for standing for 
Council. 

Human Rights, Equality and Data Protection 
 

22. The subject of this report is not a policy, strategy, function or service that is new or 
being revised. It is considered that an equality impact assessment is not required. 

 
Financial 
   

23. It is assumed that the basic allowance of £7,608 is increased to £7,899 as from May 
2023.  The basic allowance would then be increased by £291.25 as from April each 
year until 2026/27 when the rate is expected to reach the level of the Tees average.  
The figures below are based on 47 members claiming basic allowance.   

 

 2023/24 

£ 

2024/25 

£ 

2025/26    

£ 

2026/27    

£ 

Basic Allowance if 

increase approved 

7,899 8,190 8,482 8,773 

Total Expenditure 370,124 384,942 398,631 412,319 

Total Current Budget 

Excluding Annual 

Increase 

357,576 357,576 357,576 357,576 

Total  Additional 

Budget Required if 

Increase approved 

  12,548     27,366 41,055 54,743 

  

Page 776



5 

24.  The cost of £12,548 in 2023/24 will be met from the accelerated saving from the 
Senior Management Review of £86,000 which is currently held in Central Corporate 
Budgets. At Quarter One it was forecast that this saving would be fully utilised 
during 2023/24 and therefore the overall forecast Council overspend of £11.563m 
reported to Executive is not impacted. 
 

25. The increased cost for 2024/25 will need to be built in the 2024/25 budget as growth 
and if approved will add to the estimated budget gap of £14.204m for 2024/25 
reported to Executive on 23 August 2023 as part of the Medium Term Financial 
Plan (MTFP) Refresh 2024/25 to 2026/27 report, for which savings proposals ae 
currently under development. Additional costs for future years will need to be built 
into future updates of the MTFP. 

 
 
Actions to be taken to implement the recommended decision(s) 
 

Action Responsible Officer Deadline 

If Council agree the Panel’s 
recommendations, Payroll will be 
advised accordingly. 

Head of Legal Services (People) 30 September 2023 

If Council reject the Panel’s 
recommendations any 
subsequent Scheme of 

  

Allowances will be  
communicated to payroll. 

  

 
Appendices 
 

1 IRP Report to Council 

2 Members’ Scheme of Allowances 2023-2024 

 
Background papers 
 

Body Report title Date 

 The Local Authorities (Members' 

Allowances) (England) 

Regulations 2003 

 

 
Contact: Charlotte Benjamin 
Email: charlotte_benjamin@middlesbrough.gov.uk 

Page 777



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

MEMBERS’ REMUNERATION – APPENDIX 1 
 
REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT PANEL ON MEMBERS’ REMUNERATION 
 
Panel Membership 
 
1. The establishment of an Independent Panel on Members Remuneration, and its 

resultant recommendations is required under sections 20 and 21 of the Local Authorities 
(Members' Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003. The Panel consists of five 
members (with 1 vacancy), and meets on an annual basis to review Members 
Remuneration.  
 

2. Following the resignation of a panel member a recruitment exercise was undertaken 
and a new panel member was appointed. The new panel member attended this meeting 
and was given an overview of the role of the panel and the purpose of the meeting 

 
3. The Panel are keen to stress that in their deliberations they have carefully reviewed all 

the relevant information; are sensitive to wider economic factors and have acted 
independently of all other considerations.  

 
Quadrennial Review - 2023 

4. The Panel were informed that the quadrennial review of the Members’ Scheme of 
Allowances was required for the municipal year 2023-2024. The review is a full and 
robust process that encompasses the amount of allowances paid and the mechanisms 
by which they are assigned.  

 

Allowances 
 
5. The Panel were advised, and wish to convey to Members, that when considering 

allowances they have strong regard for the current economic conditions for local 
authorities; recent pay settlements for MBC employees; whether the level of 
remuneration reflect the responsibilities and commitment expected of Councillors and if 
they are set at levels which also recognise the well-established principle of voluntary 
unpaid public service. 

 

6. In determining the rate of Special Responsibility Allowances (SRA) the Council 
previously agreed to use a banding scheme index model, based on multiples of the 
Basic Allowance. However, the index-banding system has been temporarily suspended 
following the 2018 review for a period of four years. In conducting the 2023 review, the 
Panel examined the levels of the Basic Allowance in line with the 2018 review and 
Special Responsibility Allowances.   

 

7. The Panel were provided with background information which included executive 
portfolio’s, an overview of all roles currently receiving an SRA and comparator 
information for other local and Mayoral authorities in order to the assist the Panel with 
their deliberations. Providing comparator information against the other Tees Councils 
was not possible on an exact like for like basis, as each authority has a different political 
structure and committee make-up. However, data was examined on a best fit basis. 

 

8. All elected members were invited to put written representations to the Panel. Two 
representations were received i.e. Group Leaders allowances should be paid to all 

Page 779



2 

group leaders and whether the role of Chair of Corporate Parenting Board should 
receive a Special Responsibility Allowance.   
 

9. These were considered as part of the Panel’s deliberations and no changes are 
recommended at this time.  
 

Basic Allowance 
 
10. The Panel’s 2022 recommendations were to freeze allowances at 2021 levels and not 

reflect staff inflationary pay awards.  

11. The Panel noted that, because of this, Middlesbrough Council’s Basic Allowance 
remains below the Teesside average and had drifted significantly from its Teesside 
neighbours, as demonstrated in the table below. One potential consequence may be to 
discourage a wider demographic for standing for Council. 

12. During the Panel’s 2023 review socioeconomic factors were considered as well as the 
difficult financial position facing the Council. Despite this the Panel felt the Basic 
Allowance was in danger of becoming too low compared to other Teesside Councils. As 
such the Panel feel the Basic Allowance should be increased to meet the Teesside 
average as it stands in 2023 (£8,773) to reflect the work undertaken by Councillors.  

 

 

Special Responsibility Allowances (SRA)  
 

13. The Panel were advised that the ‘Guidance 
on Consolidated Regulations for Local Authority 
Allowances” states that SRAs should only be paid 
when Councillors have “significant additional 
responsibilities” over and above the generally 
accepted responsibilities of a Councillor. 
 

14. Until the 2018 review, the method of 
determining Special Responsibility Allowances 
was based on a ‘multiplier’, using the Basic 
Allowance as a base then multiplying it by a factor 
ranging from 0.5 to 10, depending on the role. 
This system has been suspended since 2018 
given the increase to the Basic Allowance and 
simultaneous decrease to SRAs.  
 

£7,608 

£8,668 

£9,985 
£9,300 

£8,330 

£0

£2,000

£4,000

£6,000

£8,000

£10,000

£12,000

M'Bro Darlington R&C Stockton Hartlepool

Teesside Authorities - Basic Allowances 2023

Basic Allowance

Average

Authority Mayoral Allowance 

Newham £91,553 

Hackney £86,869 

Tower Hamlets £80,579 

Lewisham £75,894 

Watford £73,607 

Salford £71,829 

Bristol £71,270 

Leicester £66,938 

North Tyneside £65,519 

Bedford £63,803 

Doncaster £55,962 

Middlesbrough £55,952 

Mansfield £49,377 

Page 780



3 

15. The Panel were keen to express that when considering SRAs that they look at a role in 
its entirety and that an allowance was not solely based on the number of meetings 
held/attended. For example; they would take into consideration the depth and range of 
the portfolio; the level of responsibility; policy development; work with senior officers; 
level of accountability and decision making and the time commitment required. For 
Overview and Scrutiny other commitments were also considered, e.g. researching 
topics, site visits, external meetings with contributors to Panels, effective challenge and 
the coordination and selection of topics for review and call ins etc. 

 

16. In their deliberation the Panel can only take into account the level of responsibility and 
commitment required for the role, they cannot take into account personal perceptions of 
a person appointed to a post and therefore these have not been taken into 
consideration.  

 
17. With regard to the Mayor the Panel examined the responsibilities of the Mayor and 

considered comparators with other Mayoral authorities and found that the allowance to 
the Mayor of Middlesbrough to be below the average of other Mayoral authorities. It was 
also felt that regardless of the population or the size of an authority, the time, 
commitment, and responsibilities of an elected Mayor are comparable. Despite this, the 
Panel felt the Mayor’s SRA was adequate when supplemented with the Basic 
Allowance. 
 

18. The Panel felt those roles attracting an SRA were all still relevant, recognising the time 
commitment and responsibilities involved. It was also recognised that, generally, the 
rates afforded to special responsibility allowances in Middlesbrough were comparable to 
other Teesside Authorities. As the Council has not undergone any governance changes 
since the last quadrennial review the Panel were confident that the comparators used in 
their deliberations continued to be relevant.  
 

19. The Panel continue to recommend that during this period any future staff pay awards 
should not be applied to SRAs.  

 
20. The Panel recognise the valued work and commitment provided by all members.  
 
Travel & Subsistence 
 
21. The Panel considered that the legislation allowed for travel and felt no changes were 

necessary.  
 
22. The Panel considered the rates for mileage that are currently based on His Majesties 

Revenues and Customs national rates i.e. 45p per mile; and subsistence in line with 
those paid to staff. The Panel recommended no change.  

  

23. The Panel agreed that Co-Opted Members should be allowed to make claims for 
allowances based on the fact that they are acting voluntarily and that the current £10 
per meeting rate remained reasonable and that no changes should be made.  

 

Dependent Carers Allowance 
 
24. Members can claim an allowance for dependents that they care for (adults or children). 

This is to allow their attendance at Council meetings. This rate of allowance is currently 
based on the national living wage and limited to seven hours per week. The Panel 
recommended no change. 

Page 781



4 

 

Pensions 

25. The ‘Scheme of Allowances’ sets out which Members of the authority are to be entitled 
to pensions in accordance with a scheme made under Section 7 of the Superannuation 
Act 1972. 

 
26. In making that provision an authority may only include someone who has first been 

recommended by the Independent Panel. The current position is that no members 
receive a pension. The Panel recommended no change. 

 
The Panel’s Recommendations  
 
27. For the reasons cited above, the Panel recommends that the Basic Allowance should 

be increased to meet the Teesside average (£8,773). This should be achieved via 
increments over a four-year period, the first increment being made in 2024. The Panel 
also recommends that Special Responsibility Allowances should remain frozen as 
agreed by Council in 2021.  

 
Why is this being recommended? 
 
28. Members’ allowances should reflect the level of work, time and commitment of the role 

of Councillor and to provide a reasoned approach the impact the recommendations will 
have on the Council. 
 

29. The recommendation was made following consideration of all socioeconomic factors.  
 

 

Page 782



1 
 

            APPENDIX 2  

 
           MEMBERS SCHEMES OF ALLOWANCE 2023/24 

 
Middlesbrough Borough Council, in exercise of the powers conferred by the Local 
Authorities (Members’ Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003 hereby makes the 
following Scheme: 

 
1. This Scheme may be cited as the Middlesbrough Borough Council Members’ 

Scheme of Allowances’, and shall have effect for the year commencing on 1st April 
2023 and subsequent years, unless amended by the Council. 

 
2. In this Scheme: 

 “Year” means the 12 months ending with 31st March. 
 

3. Basic Allowance 

3.1 All Elected members including the Mayor of Middlesbrough Council receive a basic 
allowance to recognise the time devoted to carry out their work as Members.  It is 
also intended to cover incidental costs such as use of members’ homes, attendance 
at meetings with officers, community meetings, and ward activities. 

 
3.2 The Local Authorities (Members' Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003 provide 

for the payment of a basic allowance in respect of each year to each member of an 
authority, and the amount of such an allowance shall be the same for each such 
member. Subject to paragraphs, 10 and 11 the allowance will be paid to each 

elected Councillor for the year 1st April 2023 to 31st March 2024. 
 

3.3  For 2023/24 the basic allowance of £7,899.25 will be paid in equal monthly 
instalments.  

 

3.4    The Basic Allowance will not be increased in line with staff pay rises.  
 

4. Special Responsibility Allowances 
 

4.1   Special Responsibility Allowances (SRAs) are paid in addition to the basic allowance to 
members who hold positions with significant responsibilities over and above the general 
duties of a councillor and are also paid in equal monthly instalments. 

 

4.2  For each year a special responsibility allowance shall also be paid to those Members 
who hold the special responsibilities in relation to the Authority that are specified in 
Schedule 1, PROVIDED THAT no Member shall be entitled to receive more than 
one Special Responsibility Allowance. SRA allowances will remain static and shall 
not be increased in line with any subsequent annual staff pay award. 

 
4.3   Special Responsibility Allowances were originally arrived at by an agreed multiple 
           of the basic allowance. This process has been suspended since 1 April 2019. 

Page 783



2 
 

 

 
4.4      Subject to paragraphs 10 & 11.1 the amount of each such allowances shall be the 
 amount specified against that special responsibility in Schedule1. 

 

4.5 A special responsibility allowance relating to the duties of a Political Group 
Leader shall be payable to the leader of the overall majority group and to the 
leaders of the two largest minority Groups, where each of the minority Groups 
comprise at least 10% of the total number of Members of the Council. 

 
4.6 Where there is no over-all majority group, the two largest political group leaders will 

receive a minority special responsibility allowance. Where only one of the two 
largest minority Groups comprise at least 10% of the total number of Members of 
the Council, a special responsibility allowance relating to the duties of Political 
Group Leader shall be payable to the leader of the next largest minority Group. 

 
5. Travelling and Subsistence Allowance – Councillors 

 

5.1 A Councillor shall be entitled to receive appropriate travel and subsistence 
allowances where he/she necessarily incurs expenditure on travel or subsistence in 
order to perform an approved duty. 

 
5.2 The amount of the allowance payable to a Member in respect of subsistence shall 

be the same as that approved by the Authority in respect of officers of the Council 
who are paid officer rates. 

 
5.3 The subsistence allowance payable shall be increased or decreased to the same 

extent as determined by the Authority in respect of officers. 
 

5.4 The allowance payable to a Member in respect of travel mileage shall be paid at the 
Inland Revenue rate (45p per mile). 

 
5.5 For the purposes of this paragraph, approved duties shall include all those duties, 

which are specified in Part I of Schedule 2 to this Scheme. 
 

6. Travelling and Subsistence – Co-opted Members 
 

6.1 A Co-opted Member shall be entitled to receive appropriate travel and subsistence 
allowances as specified in Part II of Schedule 2 to this Scheme. 

 

7. Dependent Carers Allowance 
 

7.1 A Councillor or Co-opted Member shall be entitled to receive a dependent carers 
allowance to provide for children or adult care, where he/she has necessarily 
incurred that expenditure in respect of a dependent who is looked after by a 
registered provider whilst the Councillor or Co-opted Member is carrying out an 
approved duty. 

 
7.2 The dependent carers allowance referred to in paragraph 7.2 above shall be paid 

per hour and be in line with the national living wage and limited to 7 hours per 

Page 784



3 
 

week. 
 
7.3 The allowance will not be payable to a member of the claimant’s own household. 

 
7.4 For the purposes of this paragraph, an approved duty is any duty listed in Part I of 

Schedule 2 to this Scheme. 
 

8. Telephone / Broadband Allowance 
 

8.1 A member is entitled to a communications allowance of a £15 contribution towards 
their telephone connections and a £10 contribution towards broadband 
connections. One claim per household, subject to annual proof of service. 

 
9. Pensions 

 

9.1 No councillor shall be entitled to pensions in accordance with this scheme 
 

10. Renunciation 

 
10.1 A Member may by giving notice in writing to the Director of Legal and Governance, or 

the Head of Legal Services (People) elect to forego all or part of their entitlement to an 
allowance under this Scheme. Where such a declaration is made, it remains in force 
until a further notice in writing is given to the Director of Legal and Governance or the 
Head of Legal Services (People) to withdraw it. 

 

11. Part-year Entitlements 

11.1 The provision of this paragraph shall have effect to regulate the entitlements of a 
Councillor to basic and special responsibility where, in the course of a year, this 
Scheme is amended or that Councillor becomes, or ceases to be, a Councillor, or 
accepts or relinquishes a special responsibility in respect of which a special 
responsibility allowance is payable. 

11.2 If an amendment to this Scheme changes the amount to which a Councillor is 
entitled by way of a basic allowances or a special responsibility allowance, then in 
relation to each of the periods: 

 
a) beginning with the year and ending with the day before that on which the first 

amendment in that year takes effect, or 
b) beginning with the day on which an amendment takes effect and ending with 

the day that on which the next amendment takes effect, or (if none) with the 
year, 

Page 785



4 
 

The entitlement to such an allowance shall be to the payment of such part of the 
amount of the allowance under this Scheme as it has effect during the relevant 
period as bears to the whole the same proportion as the number of the days in the 
period bears to the number of days in the year. 

 
11.3 Where the term of office of a Councillor begins or ends otherwise than at the 

beginning or end of a year, the entitlement of that Councillor to a basic allowance 
shall be to the payment to such part of the basic allowance as bears to the whole 
the same proportion as the number of days during which his/her term of office 
subsists bears to the number of days in that year. 

 
11.4 Where this Scheme is amended as mentioned in sub-paragraph 11.2, and the term 

of office of a Councillor does not subsist throughout the period mentioned in sub-
paragraph 11.2a, the entitlement of any such Councillor to a basic allowance shall 
be to the payment of such part of the basic allowance referable to each such period 
(ascertained in accordance with that sub-paragraph) as bears to the whole the same 
proportion as the number of days during which his term of office as a Councillor 
subsists bears to the number of days in that period. 

 
11.5 Where a Councillor has during part of, but not throughout, a year such special 

responsibilities as entitle him or her to a special responsibility allowance, that 
Councillor’s entitlement shall be to payment of such part of that allowance as bears 
to the whole the same proportion as the number of days during which he has such 
special responsibilities bears to the number of days in that year. 

 
11.6 Where a remunerated person has been absent due to exceptional circumstances, 

and another Member acts as chair for more than 50% of the meetings in any 
Municipal Year or chairperson is absent for more than two consecutive months, then 
the person who has acted as chair shall be remunerated in place of the appointed 
chairperson (on a pro rata basis). 

 
11.7 Where payment of any allowance has already been made to the initially appointed 

person, the authority may require that such part of the allowances paid to the 
appointed person for any such period to be repaid to the authority (determined by 
the Monitoring Officer). 

 
11.8 Where this Scheme is amended as mentioned in sub-paragraph 11.2 and a 

Councillor has during part, but does not have throughout the whole, of any period 
mentioned in sub-paragraph 11.2a of that paragraph any such responsibilities as 
entitle him or her to a special responsibility allowance, that Councillor’s entitlement 
shall be to payment of such part of the allowance referable to each such period 
(ascertained in accordance with that sub-paragraph) as bears to the whole the same 
proportion as the number of days in that period during which he or she has such 
special responsibilities bears to the number of days in that period. 

 
11.9 Where a scheme of allowances is amended, the Council can choose to apply any 

amendment retrospectively to the beginning of the financial year in which the 
amendment is made. 

 
12 Claims and Payments 

Page 786



5 
 

12.1 Payments of allowances shall be made as follows: 

 
a) Basic Allowances: Automatically Paid Monthly 
b) Special Responsibility Allowances: Automatically Paid Monthly 
c) Travel and Subsistence Allowance: Monthly (Claim) 
d) Dependent Carers Allowance: Monthly (Claim) 
e) Co-optees Allowance: Monthly (Claim) 

 
12.2 All payments shall be made direct to a Bank or Building Society. 

 
12.3 A claim for expenses/subsistence under this scheme shall be made within two 

months of the date of the meeting in respect of which the claim is made. 
 

12.4 Claims for travel and subsistence (other than mileage for approved duties) shall 
only be approved where receipts of expenditure have been provided and have 
been incurred in relation to an approved duty or with the approval of the Head of 
Democratic Services. 

 
12.5 For each claim, Members shall submit an electronic claim acknowledging that 

they are entitled to claim the expenses and where appropriate that they hold the 
appropriate valid driving documentation. 

 
12.6 Members should submit their claims by the 7th day of the month 

 
12.7 The Director of Legal & Governance Services shall have authority to agree a 

different frequency of payment with an individual Member on request. 

Page 787



6 
 

SCHEDULE 1 
 

BASIC 2023/24 - £7,899.25 x 47 Members (including Mayor)  
These allowances are not subject to the inflationary increase in line with 
staff pay awards.  
 
SPECIAL RESPONSIBILTY ALLOWANCES (SRAs) 
The following roles are specified as those designated as receiving a special responsibility 
allowances, and the amounts of those allowances. These allowances are not subject to the 
inflationary increase in line with staff pay awards. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
Banding Scheme Index – The Council’s “Mulitplier” System of calculating Special 
Responsibility Allowances has been suspended since April 2019. 

OFFICE No of 
Positions 

ALLOWANCE Total 

Mayor 1 £55,952 £55,952 

Deputy Mayor  & Executive Member  1 £19,518 £19,518 

Executive Members 5 £11,190 £55,950 

Chair of Overview & Scrutiny Board 1 £11,190 £11,190 

Chair of Licensing Committee 1 £8,393 £8,393 

Chair of Planning & Development Committee 
1 £8,393 £8,393 

Chair of the Council 1 £5,595 £5,595 

Chair of Corporate Affairs and Audit Committee 1 £5,595 £5,595 

Chairs of Scrutiny Panels 5 £5,595 £27,975 

Chair of Standards Committee 1 £2,798 £2,798 

Chair of Staff Appeals Committee 1 £2,798 £2,798 

Chair of Teesside Pension Fund Committee 1 £2,798 £2,798 

Political Group Leaders:    

Majority Group (currently not claimed) 1 £8,393 £8,393 

Largest Minority Groups – maximum x 2 providing 

they have 10% of Council membership 
2 £2,798 

 

£5,596 

Total cost of SRA 25  £220,944 

 

Page 788



7 
 

SCHEDULE 2 
 
 
 

TRAVEL & SUBSISTENCE ALLOWANCES 
 

 

Part 1 Duties that may qualify for Travelling & Subsistence Allowances 
 

 

a) the attendance at a meeting of the Authority or of any Committee or Sub Committee 
of the Authority, or of any other body to which a member has been appointed to by 
the authority, or of any Committee or Sub Committee of such a body; 

 
b) the attendance at any other meeting, the holding of which is authorised by the 

Authority, or a Committee or Sub Committee of the Authority, or a Joint Committee 
of the Authority and one or more Local Authority within the meaning of Section 
270(1) of the Local Government Act 1972, or a Sub Committee of such a Joint 
Committee provided that: 
(i) where the Authority is divided into two or more political groups it is a 

meeting to which Members of at least two such groups have been invited, 
or 

(ii) if the Authority is not so divided, it is a meeting to which at least two 
Members of the Authority have been invited; 

 
c) the attendance at a meeting of any association of Authorities of which the Authority 

is a Member providing no other attendance / mileage allowance is paid; 
 

d) the attendance at a meeting of the Executive or a meeting of any of its Committees, 
where the Authority is operating executive arrangements; 

 
e) the performance of any duty in connection with the discharge of any function of the 

Authority conferred by or under any enactment and empowering or requiring the 
Authority to inspect or authorise the inspection of premises; 

 
f) the carrying out of any other duty approved by the Authority, or any duty of a class 

so approved, for the purposes of, or in connection with, the discharge of the 
functions of the Authority or of any of its Committees or Sub Committees. For the 
purpose of this Section approved duties shall include the following: 

 
i) travel in connection with Scrutiny site visits or investigations 
ii) authorised attendance at Seminars or Conferences 

 
g) In cases of urgency, the Monitoring Officer is authorised to approve duties. 

 
  

Travelling allowances may not be claimed for political group meetings; 
 
 
 

Page 789



8 
 

 
Part 2 - Subsistence  

1.  Subsistence allowances for meals and accommodation can be reimbursed to 
Middlesbrough Members’ for duties undertaken outside the unitary authority. This 
allowance reflects the scheme in place for officers of Middlesbrough Council. 

2.  Members  are entitled to claim subsistence if their duties mean that they are away 
from the authority for at least 5 hours, preventing them from following their normal 
meal arrangements AND they have to incur expenditure which is in addition to their 
normal outlay. 

3.   Any claims for subsistence costs must be for the actual amount paid (up to the 
maximum amount claimable) and supporting receipts of this cost must be kept by the 
Member. The reimbursement of costs associated with alcohol will not be paid under 
any circumstances. 

 
 

Part 3.  Telephone / Broadband Allowance 
 

1. A member is entitled to a communications allowance of a £15 contribution 
towards their telephone connections and a £10 contribution towards 
broadband connections. One claim per household, subject to annual proof of 
service. 

 
 

Part  4. Co-opted Members Travelling & Subsistence Allowances 
 

 

1. Co-opted Members of the following Council bodies shall be entitled to receive a 
combined travel & subsistence allowance as specified in paragraph (b) following 
production of a signed declaration that expenses had been incurred: 

 
• Scrutiny Committees (including Overview & Scrutiny Board, Scrutiny 
   Panels and Scrutiny Working Groups); 
• Standards Committee (including Sub Committees and Panels) 
• The Independent Panel on Members’ Remuneration,  
• Teesside Pension Fund Committee 
• School Appeal Panels 

 
2. The amount of the combined Travel & Subsistence Allowance shall be £10 per 
      meeting. 

 

Page 790



1 

MIDDLESBROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 
Report of: The Monitoring Officer 

 

Submitted to: Council 

 

Date: 18 September 2023 

 

Title: Localism Act 2011 – General Dispensation 

 

Report for: Decision 

 

Status: Public 

 

Strategic priority: All 

 

Key decision: Not applicable 

Why: Not applicable 

 

Urgent: Not applicable 

Why:  

 

Executive summary  

This report recommends that a general dispensation be granted to those members who have 

applied for a dispensation in respect of matters that may affect so many Councillors’ that the 

Council or Committee would be inquorate. 

 
Purpose 
 
1. This report recommends that a general dispensation be granted to those members 

who have applied for a dispensation in respect of matters that may affect so many 
Councillors that the Council or Committee would be inquorate. 

 
2. Any requests for dispensations may only be granted by the Standards Committee or 

full Council. 
 
Background and relevant information 
 

3. As part of the standards arrangements, the Localism Act 2011 and Regulations 
made thereunder, introduced the concept of disclosable pecuniary interests and 
also new rules in respect of dispensations. 

Page 791

Agenda Item 18



2 

4. It is a criminal offence for a member to fail to register a disclosable pecuniary 
interest or to speak and/or vote where they have disclosable pecuniary interest 
unless they have obtained a dispensation. Under the old standards regime, the 
Code of Conduct specifically stated that members would not have a prejudicial 
interest in circumstances that potentially affected the majority of Councillors, such 
as members’ allowances. There are no similar provisions under the new rules and 
members are therefore at risk of committing a criminal offence if they participate in 
matters in which they have a disclosable pecuniary interest and no dispensation 
has been granted. If the majority of members had an interest in these matters then 
it would impede the business of the Council. 

5. In order to protect members, the new regime does include provision for the granting 
of dispensations. However, the legislation specifically states that before a 
dispensation can be granted, a member must apply in writing to the Monitoring 
Officer seeking a dispensation. It is therefore recommended that a general 
dispensation is granted to all of those members who have applied in writing for a 
dispensation to allow them to speak and vote where they would otherwise have had 
a disclosable pecuniary interest. This would be on the grounds that it is in the public 
interest and appropriate to grant a dispensation to those members to participate 
fully in the following matters:-  

a) Housing; where the member (or spouse or partner) holds a tenancy or lease with 
the Council as long as the matter does not relate to the member’s particular 
tenancy or lease; 

b) Housing Benefit; where the member (or spouse or partner) receives 
Housing Benefit; 

c) Statutory sick pay; if a Councillor receives this or is entitled to receive it; 

d) An allowance, travelling expense, payment or indemnity for Councillors; 

e)    Any ceremonial honour given to members 

6. Dispensations can be granted in the following circumstances:-  

a) Where so many members of the decision making body have a 
disclosable pecuniary interest that the political balance would be 
affected; 

b) It is in the interests of the inhabitants that a dispensation be granted, or; 

c) It is appropriate to grant a dispensation. 

7.  It is also recommended that the general dispensation applies for the 
maximum permitted period of 4 years from the date of this decision. 

What decision(s) are being recommended?  
 
8.    That the Council: 
 
       Grant a general dispensation to all councillors in respect of matters that may affect so      
       many Councillors that the Council or Committee would be inquorate. 

Page 792



3 

 
Rationale for the recommended decision(s) 
 
9. If the majority of members of the decision making body have a disclosable pecuniary 

interest that the political balance would be affected, it could impact on the outcome of 
a decision. 

 
Other potential decision(s) and why these have not been recommended 
 
10. No other decisions have been recommended. 
 
Impact(s) of the recommended decision(s) 
 
Legal 
 
11. It is a criminal offence for a member to fail to register a disclosable pecuniary interest 

or to speak and/or vote where they have disclosable pecuniary interest unless they 

have obtained a dispensation. 

Strategic priorities and risks 
 
12. If the majority of members had an interest in certain matters such as those outlined at 

paragraph 5, then it would impede the business of the Council if they were not allowed 
to take part in the decision-making process. 

 
Human Rights, Equality and Data Protection 
 
13. No protected groups are affected by the decision. 
 
Financial 
 
14. There are no financial implications because of this decision. 
 
Actions to be taken to implement the recommended decision(s) 
 

Action Responsible Officer Deadline 

Grant the Dispensations Charlotte Benjamin – Monitoring 
Officer 

On approval 

 
Appendices 
 
List of Members that have applied for Dispensation. 
 
Background papers 
 

 
Contact:  Charlotte Benjamin – Monitoring Officer 
Email:  charlotte_benjamin@middlesbrough.gov.uk 

Page 793

mailto:charlotte_benjamin@middlesbrough.gov.uk


4 

 

REQUESTS FOR DISPENSATION 
 

NAME  NAME 

THE MAYOR – C COOKE COUNCILLOR MCCABE 

COUNCILLOR BANKS COUNCILLOR MCCLINTOCK 

COUNCILLOR BLADES COUNCILLOR MCCONNELL 

COUNCILLOR BRANSON  COUNCILLOR McTIGUE 

COUNCILLOR CLYNCH COUNCILLOR MORRISH 

COUNCILLOR J COOKE COUNCILLOR NICHOLSON 

COUNCILLOR COOPER COUNCILLOR NUGENT 

COUNCILLOR COUPE COUNCILLOR J PLATT 

COUNCILLOR DAVISON COUNCILLOR S PLATT 

COUNCILLOR DEAN COUNCILLOR ROMAINE 

COUNCILLOR EWAN COUNCILLOR ROSTRON 

COUNCILLOR FURNESS COUNCILLOR RYLES 

COUNCILLOR GAVIGAN COUNCILLOR SAUNDERS 

COUNCILLOR GRAINGE COUNCILLOR SMILES 

COUNCILLOR HILL COUNCILLOR M STOREY 

COUNCILLOR HURST COUNCILLOR P STOREY 

COUNCILLOR HUBBARD COUNCILLOR J THOMPSON 

COUNCILLOR HUSSAIN  COUNCILLOR TRANTER 

COUNCILLOR JACKSON COUNCILLOR UDDIN 

COUNCILLOR JONES COUNCILLOR J A WALKER 

COUNCILLOR KABUYE COUNCILLOR N WALKER 

COUNCILLOR LEWIS COUNCILLOR WILSON 

COUNCILLOR LIVINGSTONE COUNCILLOR YOUNG 

COUNCILLOR MASON  

Page 794



 

1 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

MIDDLESBROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 
Report of: Mayor and Chief Executive  

 

Submitted to: Council 

 

Date: 18 September 2023 

 

Title: Corporate Governance Improvement Plan and Delivery 
Arrangements (Phase 3) 

 

Report for: Information 

 

Status: Public 

 

Strategic priority: All 

 

Key decision: Not applicable 

Why: Not applicable 

 

Urgent: Not applicable 

Why: Not applicable 

 

Executive summary  

 
The purpose of this report is to set out the detailed delivery plan for Phase Three of the 
Council’s Corporate Governance Improvement Plan and to set out the governance that 
will be put in place to oversee delivery of this plan. 
 

Page 795

Agenda Item 19



 

2 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
Purpose 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to set out the detailed delivery plan for Phase Three 

of the Council’s Corporate Governance Improvement Plan and to set out the 
governance that will be put in place to oversee delivery of this plan. 

 
Background and relevant information 
 
2. During 2022/23 a series of reports were presented to full Council setting out the 

Phase 1 and 2 approaches to the Council’s Corporate Governance Improvement 
plan. Further reports also provided updates on progress made on delivery of 
those plans to the previous administration of Councillors. Those plans were put 
in place, to address the corporate governance concerns identified by Ernst and 
Young (EY), the Council’s External Auditor Audit Results Report, considered by 
Corporate Affairs and Audit Committee on 22 July 2022.  
 

3. In July 2023, full Council considered a report that set out the background to this 
journey in more detail and how work would be taken forward into a third phase 
improvement, with headline principles set out. Since July 2023, work has been 
underway to develop the detailed delivery plan, which is attached to this report at 
Appendix 1 and to agree the governance that will be put in place to oversee 
delivery of the plan, to ensure successful delivery and to provide Department for 
Levelling Up Homes and Communities (DLUHC)and the Council’s External 
Auditors with assurance of the Council’s progress. 
 
Refinement and Development of the Detailed delivery plan 
 

4. Officers have engaged with EY and DLUHC, Council members and the Local 
Government Association to refine and develop Phase Three of the Corporate 
Governance Improvement Plan. 

. 
5. As a result of this engagement, the focus of the plan has been refined to remove 

Social Care and Regeneration as themes for governance improvement. 
 

6. Whilst Children’s Safeguarding functions are on an improvement journey, there 
is a separate and well-established governance oversight function in existence, 
Middlesbrough Council’s Independent Improvement Advisory Board, with 
involvement from the Department of Education (DfE). It should also be noted that 
there is provision within the Corporate Governance Independent Improvement 
Advisory Board terms of reference, for the DfE representative to attend meetings 
of the Corporate Governance Improvement Board on issues of mutual interest. 
 

7. Regeneration has been removed as a theme of governance improvement to 
ensure that the plan is fully focussed upon, and reflects, concerns of EY 
regarding the cultural and governance issues of the organisation and the need to 
ensure addressing them is appropriately prioritised. 
 

 

Page 796



 

3 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

8. Refining the focus of the governance improvement in this way, will support work 
underway to address the first of the formal recommendations made by the EY, 
considered as part of the statutory recommendations made under section 24 of 
the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014, also presented to Council on the 18 
September 2023 that states: 
 

‘We recommend that the Council ensures the recent progress with 
development of the next phase of the Corporate Governance 
improvement Plan is progressed without further delay, and that 
appropriate prioritisation is given to actions which address the cultural 
and governance issues of the Council within the expanded scope of the 
revised Corporate Governance Improvement Plan’. 

 
9. The detailed Corporate Governance Improvement Plan (Phase 3), attached at 

Appendix 1, sets out: 
 

 The workstreams under each theme that will be put in place 
 The activities required within each workstream and why they are needed 
 Key deliverables for each workstream 
 The objectives of each theme and how success will be measured 
 Risks and how they will be managed 
 The governance of the improvement plan 
 How the plan will be resourced. 
 

10. It is clear from the development work undertaken to date, that the Council will 
also need to re-establish a Transformation Programme that will deliver 
transformative activity, within a robust governance structure, to revise service 
delivery models to ensure that needs of the town’s residents can continue to be 
met in an affordable and financially sustainable way. Work is underway 
separately to develop this programme and set out how it will support delivery of 
both the ambitions within the Council’s Corporate Governance Improvement 
Plan as well as within the forthcoming refreshed Council Plan. Development of 
this work will be reported to Members in due course. 
 
Governance of the Corporate Improvement Plan  
 
Board composition and terms of reference 
 

11. Engagement with potential members of the Independent Improvement Advisory 
Board (IIAB) to agree its terms of reference has taken place.  
 

12. Membership of the Corporate Governance IIAB is as follows: 
 

Name Experience / speciality 

Wallace Sampson OBE Local authority CEO (Chair) 

Ros Jones CBE Unitary local authority Mayor / Leader 

Suki Binjal Unitary local authority Monitoring Officer 

Chris Buss London Borough and Unitary local authority Chief Finance Officer 

Mark Edgell LGA Regional Lead 

 
13. It has been agreed that the Board will provide oversight, support and challenge 

to the Council’s improvement and transformation journey, with particular focus 

Page 797



 

4 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

on ensuring compliance with the Council’s Best Value Duty under the Local 
Government Act 1999, notably: 
 
 Cultural and governance issues, including those identified through previous 

CIPFA and previous, and any future, external auditor reports. 
 Financial sustainability, including a balanced medium-term financial strategy 

aligned to the Council’s Corporate Plan. 

14. The Board will also oversee progress by the Council towards implementing the 
actions arising from the Section 24 Statutory Recommendations of the External 
Auditor, dated 21 August 2023 also presented to Council on the 18 September 
2023 
 

15. To ensure alignment between the work of the Corporate Governance and 
Children’s Improvement Advisory Boards, Stuart Smith; Chair of the Children’s 
Improvement Advisory Board, will have a standing invitation to the Corporate 
Governance IIAB on matters of mutual significance. 
 

16. A full copy of the terms of reference for the Corporate Governance IIAB is 
attached to this report at Appendix 2.   

 
Reporting arrangements 

 
17. The diagram below sets out how the next phase of the Council’s Corporate 

Governance Improvement Plan will operate: 

 
 

 
 

Page 798



 

5 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Next steps 
 

18. Following Council noting of this report, the Chief Executive will formally confirm 
the appointment of the IIAB membership and associated costs through a 
delegated officer decision.   
 

19. It is anticipated that the first meeting of the IIAB will take place in early October 
2023, and that the duration of their work will take approximately twelve months, 
following which Middlesbrough Council will invite the LGA to undertake a 
Corporate Peer Challenge, 3-6 months after dissolution of the IIAB.  A corporate 
peer challenge is free to Local Government Association (LGA) members, is 
delivered by a team of officer and Member peers from other local authorities, and 
will enable the Council to assess the progress it has made against the following 
themes: 

 Local priorities and outcomes 
 Organisational and place leadership 
 Governance and culture  
 Financial planning and management  
 Capacity for improvement. 

What decision(s) are being recommended?  
 
20. That Council notes the progress made to date and endorses the refined focus of 

Phase Three plan. 
 
Rationale for the recommended decision(s) 
 
21. The Corporate Governance Improvement Plan ensures an inclusive approach to 

addressing the issues identified in the CIPFA diagnostic work and EY’s Value for 
Money judgement as well as the wider issues set out in this report. 

 
Other potential decision(s) and why these have not been recommended 
 
22. Not applicable.  

 
Impact(s) of the recommended decision(s) 
 
Legal 
 
23. There are no direct legal implications as a result of this report, however delivery 

of this report provides evidence of compliance with a recommendation that has 
been made by the Council’s External Auditors under Section 24 of the Local 
Audit and Accountability Act 2014.  

 
Strategic priorities and risks 
 
24. This report and next steps demonstrate a continued positive impact on the 

strategic risk of ‘failure to achieve good governance’. 
 

Human Rights, Equality and Data Protection 

Page 799



 

6 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
25. Not applicable. 

 
Financial 
 

26. The cost of engaging the external Chair and three peers to the Board will be split 
between the Council and the Local Government Association (LGA).  Following 
noting of this report, the Chief Executive will take an officer delegated decision to 
authorise the appointment of the Board. That decision will include information on 
the financial cost to the Council, excluding the costs that will be borne by the LGA, 
are estimated to be a maximum of £45,000, based on 1 to 2 days work by the 
board per month, over a period of up to 12 months. 
 

27. Proactive addressing of these issues will support the Council to avoid further, 
statutory intervention, including appointment of commissioners by government, 
which would be of significantly higher cost. 

 
Actions to be taken to implement the recommended decision(s) 
 
The report is for information only however, the following actions are planned: 
 

Action 
Responsible 

Officer 
Deadline 

Officer delegated decision to appoint Board members Chief Executive 
20 September 
2023 

First Board meeting to be held Chief Executive 6 October 2023 

Report on progress of Phase 3 work programme and 
Board views on quarterly basis to Executive 

Chief Executive  February 2024 

Report on progress of Phase 3 work programme and 
Board views to Council meetings on a quarterly basis 

Chief Executive March 2024 

LGA peer challenge arranged Chief Executive December 2024 

 
Appendices 
 

1 Middlesbrough Council Corporate Governance Improvement Plan (Phase 3) 

2 Middlesbrough Council Independent Improvement Advisory Board Terms of Reference 

 
Background papers 
 

Body Report title Date 

Corporate Affairs and Audit 
Committee 

Lessons Learnt: Best Value Inspection 
of Liverpool City Council 

5 Aug 2021 

Corporate Affairs and Audit 
Committee 

Boho X: Draft findings from internal audit 
and proposed management response 

6 Apr 2022 

Corporate Affairs and Audit 
Committee 

Audit Results Report 2020/21 22 Jul 2022 

Page 800



 

7 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Corporate Affairs and Audit 
Committee 

Statement of Accounts 2020/21 22 Jul 2022 

Corporate Affairs and Audit 
Committee 

Lessons learned: Best Value and 
external assurance within other councils. 

22 Jul 2022 

Corporate Affairs and Audit 
Committee 

Commencing a corporate governance 
improvement journey 

22 Jul 2022 

Council 
Corporate Governance Improvement 
Journey: CIPFA findings and next steps 

19 Oct 2022 

Council 
Corporate Governance Improvement 
Plan and progress update 

30 Nov 2022 

Corporate Affairs and Audit 
Committee 

External Audit:  Value for Money 
Governance Update 

5 Dec 2022 

Council 
Corporate Governance Improvement 
Plan and progress update 

18 Jan 2023 

Corporate Affairs and Audit 
Committee 

Statement of Accounts 2020/2021 28 April 2023 

Corporate Affairs and Audit 
Committee 

Auditor’s Annual Report – Year Ended 
31 March 2021 

29 June 2023 

Council 
Corporate Governance Improvement 
next steps 

5 July 2023 

 
Contact: Mayor, Chris Cooke and Chief Executive, Clive Heaphy 
 
 

Page 801



This page is intentionally left blank



 

T 

Page 803



 

T 

Content 

 

 

 

Foreword from the Mayor and Chief Executive 

 

1 

Introduction  

 

2 

Summary of the key deliverables against the plan for 2023/24 and 2024/25 

 

5 

Theme 1: Cultural transformation  

 

11 

Theme 2: Financial recovery and resilience 

 

17 

Improvement Plan governance 

 

22 

Delivery resourcing  

 

 

25 

 
 
 
  

Page 804



 

1 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Foreword 
 
 
Since coming into our positions in March and May this year, our joint priority has been to 
address the culture and governance weaknesses that have been previously identified and 
accepted by the Council.  In addition, the plan also reflects the importance of tackling the 
financial challenges that have risen in significance since the 2023/24 budget was set in 
February 2023.  The Council is dealing with persistently high inflation and increased demand 
for services, particularly in Childrens and Adults Social Care.  These costs are presenting 
significant challenges to the Council, while the cost-of-living crisis continues to adversely 
affect many of our residents and local businesses. 
 
We recognise the seriousness of the culture, governance and financial challenges facing the 
Council that have been raised by our External Auditors and the Department of Levelling Up, 
Housing and Communities.  We are fully committed to ensuring that the organisation’s 
collective effort is fully focussed on addressing these weaknesses at pace, to ensure that we 
embed a more positive culture, alongside effective governance and financial management 
arrangements. 
 
This will require the Council to be fully focussed on the issues within this plan and committed 
to its delivery.  This is reflected in the profile of activity. 
 
As leaders in this organisation, we are committed to continuing to model the changes we 
want to see embedded across the Council. 
 
The size and scale of the challenge is significant, but by working together, with additional 
support from Government and our partners, we are confident that successful delivery of this 
plan will result in a fundamental change for the better.  This will ensure we are a well 
governed Council, with all Members and officers focussed on what is best for the residents 
of our town and delivering the right services for them in a cost effective, efficient and 
financially sustainable manner. 
 
 
 

  
Chris Cooke 
Mayor of Middlesbrough 

Clive Heaphy 
Interim Chief Executive 
Middlesbrough Council 

 
 
 
 
  

Page 805



 

2 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Introduction  
 
In July 2022 the Council commenced on a corporate governance improvement journey, 
setting out a series of steps that would be taken in response to a range of concerns 
identified by the Council’s External Auditors, Ernst and Young (EY). Work commenced 
immediately to seek external expertise and advice to support the Council through this 
process, resulting in the production of an independent review of the Council’s culture and 
governance by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA).  This 
review was accepted by Council in October 2022 and used to develop Phase Two of the 
Corporate Governance Improvement Plan, overseen by a Board of officers and Members, 
with an independent Chair from the Local Government Association. 
 
In January 2023, the of Department Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) 
issued a Best Value Notice to the Council, setting out clear expectations that the Council 
must deliver improvements at pace, with clear milestones and measures of success.  It also 
set out a requirement to focus on improving relationships between officers and Members, as 
well as increasing engagement at a working level with DLUHC. 
 
Whilst progress was made during this Phases One and Two of the Corporate Governance 
Improvement journey, disruption to progress against initial ambitions was experienced as a 
result of significant turnover within the senior leadership team, a change in political control in 
the Council’s administration and a newly elected Mayor.  
 
Early review and challenge of the Council’s budgetary position within the first quarter of 
2023/24 has identified significant financial pressures facing the organisation, which risk 
exhausting the Council’s available revenue reserves within the current financial year, 
requiring prompt and corrective management action in order for the Council to contain 
expenditure within its available financial resources and further, to set a legally balanced 
budget for 2024/25. Failure to do so may result in the Council’s Section 151 Officer issuing a 
Section 114 Notice to the Council.  
 
The requirement to achieve financial recovery and resilience over the medium-term is critical 
to the Council’s business continuity and its governance improvement journey. In order to 
achieve improved service outcomes for residents within an affordable and financially 
sustainable budget, the Council must redesign and transform its service delivery models to 
operate from a significantly lower cost base and have a firmer grip upon its financial 
management and control environment. This requirement is reflected within the statutory 
recommendations issued by the External Auditor on 21 August 2023. 
 
As a result of the above, the Council has structured Phase Three of its Corporate 
Governance Improvement Plan around the two themes of: 
 

 Cultural transformation  

 Financial recovery and resilience.  
 
Theme 1: Cultural transformation  
 
Delivery of this plan will be dependent upon several factors, however changing the Council’s 
culture is arguably the most significant challenge it faces. As such there will be significant 
focus on this theme within phase three of this improvement journey.  Successful delivery of 
cultural transformation will have a significant impact on all the other elements within this plan 
and the Council Plan, currently in development, will also include a focus on delivery of a 
positive culture.  Activities within this theme will include: 
 

Page 806

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1175714/Middlesbrough_Best_Value_Notice.pdf


 

3 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 Development and commencing delivery of a People and Cultural Transformation 
Strategy which will set out how the Council will harness and develop the skills and 
talents of its officers and Members within a positive, supportive culture that is 
focussed on: 

o Performance 
o effective engagement 
o adherence to expected standards and ways of working set out in the 

policies and procedures that comprise the Council’s Corporate 
Governance Framework 

o inclusion and wellbeing.   
This will set out clear expectations around behaviours, to ensure the Nolan Principles 
and the Council’s Values are lived and reflected in day-to-day practice. 

 Development and delivery of an enhanced Member Development Strategy that will 
build on the successes of the refreshed Member induction programme to ensure 
Members have the skills and knowledge to be able to fulfil their roles.  

 Delivery of an improved Corporate Governance training programme for Members and 
Officers that supports collective learning and increased understanding of 
perspectives, as well as improving skills and knowledge around key corporate 
governance disciplines. 

 Putting in place a plan to ensure stable and sustainable leadership within the officer 
structure of the organisation. 

 Re-introduction of an appraisal process as part of the delivery of the People and 
Cultural Transformation Strategy to ensure improved focus on performance and 
accountability as part of steps to embed the expected behaviours required to ensure 
the Council operates effectively and in line with corporate governance good practice. 

 Review the Council’s approach to Member enquiries and engagement to ensure it 
reflects the learning from the corporate governance improvement journey to date. 

 Underpin all the good work to be done above, with a supporting Communications and 
Engagement Plan. 

 
Theme 2: Financial recovery and resilience  
 
Achieving financial recovery and resilience relies upon the Council: 
 

 Controlling 2023/24 expenditure within approved budget to protect its critically low 
reserves 

 setting a balanced budget for 2024/25 and over the 3 year period of the MTFP to 
2026/27 including a plan to replenish revenue reserves 

 Improving financial governance, spending controls and monitoring by ensuring more 
effective financial management across the organisation 

 
This will mean taking bold decisions including potentially stopping or reducing services, 
redesigning, and transforming service delivery models to improve the economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness of the Council’s operations to deliver improved value for money and 
achieve financial sustainability in the medium to long term. 
 
It is clear that the Council needs to establish a Transformation Programme in order to 
redesign its services to operate form a significantly lower cost base and to embed a 
continuous improvement approach over the longer term. Work is underway to develop the 
Transformation Programme as part of the 2024/25 Council Plan and Medium Term Financial 
Plan (MTFP) development process. Robust programme governance arrangements will be 
established and the capacity required to deliver will be secured in order to support the 
delivery of the Council Plan within a framework of more robust governance and cultural 
improvement. 
 

Page 807



 

4 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

The primary source of funding to deliver transformation in the context of the Council’s 
depleted revenue reserves, will be through the Flexible Use of Capital Receipts in 
accordance with Government statutory guidance. This requires the Council to generate a 
pipeline of capital receipts from the sale of surplus assets in order to fund the investment in 
transformation.   
  

Page 808



 

5 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

KEY DELIVERABLES SUMMARY AGAINST THIS PLAN IN 2023/24 AND 2024/25 
 
Theme 1 – Cultural Transformation  
 

Workstream Deliverables 23/24 
Timescales 

24/25 
Timescales 

Owner 

People and 
Cultural 
Transformation 
Strategy 

Strategy agreed by Leadership 
Management Team  

October 
2023 

 Head of HR 

Present the Strategy to Constitution and 
Member Development Committee, 
alongside the Member Development 
Strategy  

October 
2023 
(Special 
meeting) 

 Head of HR 

Commence delivery of the Strategy 
against the underpinning delivery plan 

October 
2023 
onwards 

 Head of HR 

Provision of progress against delivery of 
the plan on a quarterly basis to 
Leadership Management Team  

February 
2024 and 
quarterly 
thereafter 

 Head of HR 

Completion of the first annual review to 
assess delivery and impact on measures 
of success and report to Leadership 
Management Team and Audit Committee 

 November 
2024 

Head of HR 

Member 
Development 
Strategy 

Develop the draft Strategy that transforms 
development  

September 
2023 

 Head of Legal 
(People) 

Consult Members and key stakeholders 
on the proposed approach  

October 
2023 

 Head of Legal 
(People) 

Formally present the Strategy  October 
2023 

 Head of Legal 
(People) 

Launch delivery of the strategy  November 
2023 
onwards 

 Head of Legal 
(People) 

Review the strategy, seeking member 
views throughout delivery as well as 
during the review to assess impact 

Feedback 
from each 
delivered 
session will 
be gathered 
to shape 
delivery, as 
well as 
completion a 
full review 
after 12 
months 

 Head of Legal 
(People) 

Corporate 
Governance 
Training 
Programme 

Development of the training programme 
with input from specialist leads 

October 
2023 

 Organisational 
Development 
Manager 

Launch of the training programme  November 
2023 

 Organisational 
Development 
Manager 

Launch of mandatory e-learning on the 
constitution, values and codes of conduct 
for all staff (these messages will continue 
to be delivered throughout the wider 
programme which will be a mix of face to 
face and remote learning.  Key messages 
about values and behaviours will also be 
an underpinning aim of the People and 
Cultural Transformation Strategy). 

November 
2023 

 Director of Legal 
and Governance 
Services 

Page 809



 

6 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Workstream Deliverables 23/24 
Timescales 

24/25 
Timescales 

Owner 

Completion of initial round of delivery for 
all senior officers and all Members. 

March 2024  Organisational 
Development 
Manager 

Completion of mandatory e-learning by 
95% of all staff, alongside complementary 
briefings for those who do not use Council 
computers on a day-to-day basis. 

March 2024  Organisational 
Development 
Manager 

Build in Corporate Governance training 
into the refreshed induction programme 
for officers which will be launched as part 
of the People and Cultural Transformation 
Strategy for new staff and staff moving to 
new leadership roles.  The programme 
will be merged into the Member 
Development Strategy as business as 
usual activity as well to ensure that it 
continues to be delivered on a regular 
basis for both officers and Members. 

 April 2024 Organisational 
Development 
Manager 

Stable and 
sustainable 
leadership 

Complete recruitment process for all 
interim appointments in a Leadership 
Management Team position 

March 2024  Head of HR 

Completion of a senior Management 
Review including review of spans and 
layers within the organisation 

 September 
2024 

Chief Executive 

Development of a Workforce Plan to 
address interim appointments at Head of 
Service and other key leadership 
positions within the Council 

 September 
2024 

Organisational 
Development 
Manager 

Develop a protocol that articulates the 
formal arrangements that will be put in 
place to ensure improved continuity 
across key statutory posts and protection 
of key governance processes 

November 
2023 

 Director of Legal 
and Governance 
Services 

Improved focus 
on performance 
and 
accountability 
 

Refresh the appraisal process forms and 
supporting guidance  

October 
2023 

 Organisational 
Development 
Manager 

Delivery of support sessions to managers 
to set out how to use the appraisal 
documentation 

November 
2023 

 Organisational 
Development 
Manager 

Launch of supporting e-learning modules 
for staff and Managers to explain the 
appraisal process and how to engage with 
it 

November 
2023 

 Organisational 
Development 
Manager 

Window for the appraisal process to 
commence opens 

December 
2023 

 All Managers 

95% of staff in work to have had an 
appraisal 

March 2024  All Managers 

Review the 
Council’s 
approach to 
Member 
enquiries and 
engagement 

Review output from session to 
develop template for service staff 

September 
2023 

 Head of 
Strategy, 
Business and 
Customer 

Implement short-term improvements 
with service areas 

October 
2023 

 Head of 
Strategy, 
Business and 
Customer 

Page 810



 

7 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Workstream Deliverables 23/24 
Timescales 

24/25 
Timescales 

Owner 

Implement template examples within 
Environment around replies to 
Members 

October 
2023 

 Head of 
Strategy, 
Business and 
Customer 

Review effectiveness of 
improvements with Members 

January 
2024 

 Head of 
Strategy, 
Business and 
Customer 

Design of new system / processes Mar 2024  Head of 
Strategy, 
Business and 
Customer 

 Hold Member briefings  April 2024 Head of 
Strategy, 
Business and 
Customer 

Deliver staff and member training on 
the new system / processes 

 May 2024 Head of 
Strategy, 
Business and 
Customer 

Implement the new solution  July 2024 Head of 
Strategy, 
Business and 
Customer 

Develop a 
supporting 
Communications 
and 
Engagement 
Plan 
 

Provide an update for staff following the 
Council meeting of 18 September 2023 
that introduces the Independent 
Improvement Advisory Board to staff and 
members 

 

September 
2023 

 Head of 
Marketing and 
Communications 

Produce Communications and 
Engagement Plan that focuses on 
updating residents, staff and members 

October 
2023 

 Head of 
Marketing and 
Communications 

Produce quarterly update on Corporate 
Governance Improvement Journey for 
staff and members 

December 
2023 

 Head of 
Marketing and 
Communications 

Amend this list to include further key 
deliverables from the Communications 
and Engagement Plan, once it has been 
developed 

October 
2023 

 Head of 
Marketing and 
Communications 

 
Theme 2 – Financial Recovery and Resilience 
 

Workstream Deliverables 23/24 
Timescales 

24/25 
Timescales 

Owner 

Controlling 
2023/24 
expenditure 
within approved 
budget  

Chief Officers issued with Budget 
Accountability letters  

Complete but 
ongoing for 
any incoming 
Chief Officer 

 Director of 
Finance  

Monthly budget challenge sessions held 
with Directors, focussed on overspending 
areas 

Commenced 
from May 
2023 and 
ongoing 

 Director of 
Finance 

Chief Officers to produce directorate 
Financial Recovery Plans to deliver within 
approved budget 

Commenced 
July 2023 
and  
ongoing  

 Chief 
Executive 
 

Page 811



 

8 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Workstream Deliverables 23/24 
Timescales 

24/25 
Timescales 

Owner 

Leadership 
Management 
Team (LMT) 

Section 151 Officer issued indefinite 
spending restrictions. 

Commenced 
July 2023 
and ongoing 

 Director of 
Finance 
 
LMT 

Vacancy Control Panels held weekly Commenced 
July 2023 
and held 
weekly 

 Director of 
Finance 
 
LMT 

Balance sheet review  September 
2023 

 Director of 
Finance 

Setting a 
balanced budget 
for 2024/25 to 
2026/27 
 
 

Council strategic planning and budget 
development process will develop 
opportunities for: 
- managing service demand 
- service redesign 
- service reduction 
- stopping services 

November 
2023 

 Chief 
Executive  
 
Director of 
Finance 
 
LMT 

Consultation from November to January 
2024 on budget proposals to ensure a 
balanced budget is proposed, prior to 
finalisation of the budget to Council 

January 
2024 

  

Transformational themes for service 
redesign and cost reduction. Cross cutting 
and service focused themes 

August 2023 
to February 
2024 

 Chief 
Executive  
 
Director of 
Finance 
 
LMT 

‘Quick Wins’ savings initiatives deliverable 
in 24/25 

August 2023 
to February 
2024 

 Chief 
Executive 
 
Director of 
Finance 
 
LMT 

Fees and Charges Review and Policy January 
2024 

 Director of 
Finance 

Debt Management Review  January 
2024 

 Director of 
Finance 

Review of Capital Programme Priorities November 
2023 

 Director of 
Finance 
 
Director of 
Regeneration 

Asset Review and Rationalisation to 
generate pipeline of capital receipts for 
investment in transformation, debt reduction 
and capital programme 

October 
2023  
and ongoing 

 Director of 
Regeneration  

Savings Programme Board tracking and 
RAG rating savings delivery and actions. 
Reporting to LMT monthly  

April 2023 
onwards and 
then  
monthly 

 Head of 
Strategy, 
Business & 
Customer  
 
LMT 

Page 812



 

9 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Workstream Deliverables 23/24 
Timescales 

24/25 
Timescales 

Owner 

 

Alternative plans developed for at risk 
savings within Financial Recovery plan and 
subject to change control through the 
Executive 

In place and 
Ongoing as 
and when 
required 

 Head of 
Strategy 
Business & 
Customer 
 
LMT 

Improving 
financial 
governance, 
spending 
controls and 
monitoring by 
ensuring more 
effective 
financial 
management 
across the 
organisation 
 

Review and relaunch Purchase Card 
arrangements.  Mandatory training for all 
Purchase Card users and authorisers. 
 
Establish directorate management overview 
arrangements to ensure compliance rules 
on Purchase Cards 

September 
2023 
 
 
October 
2023 and 
ongoing 

 Director of 
Finance 
 
Director of 
Finance 
 
Chief Officers 

Revision and approval of Financial 
Procedure Rules (FPR) and Contract 
Procedure Rules (CPRs) by Council 

18 
September 
2023 

 Director of 
Finance 

Deliver training in Financial Procedure 
Rules (FPR)  

December 
2023 

 Director of 
Finance 

Deliver training in Contract Procedure 
Rules (CPRs)  

December 
2023 

 Director of 
Finance 

Establish compliance and enforcement 
protocols to embed governance 
arrangements into operational practice  

January 
2024 

April 2024 
and 
ongoing 

Director of 
Finance  
 
Monitoring 
Officer 

Develop and implement robust demand and 
cost modelling/ forecasting for high spend 
areas e.g. adults and children’s social care, 
homelessness, home to school transport 
and waste disposal 

March 2024  Director of 
Finance 
 
LMT 

Adopt sensitivity analysis and scenario 
planning during budget development to 
inform required contingency and reserves 

September 
2023 

 Head of 
Financial 
Planning and 
Support   

Monthly budget monitoring and forecasting 
to analyse cost and volume variances, drive 
proactive management intervention to 
address overspending and income 
shortfalls. 

 
 
 

April 2024 
and 
ongoing 

Head of 
Financial 
Planning and 
Support   
 
Heads of 
Service 

Development of budget management tools 
for use by Chief Officers, Heads of Service 
and Budget Managers  
 

November 
2023 to 
March 2024 
 

 Director of 
Finance 

Delivery of training in budget management 
for Chief Officers, Heads of Service and 
Budget Managers as part of the Corporate 
Governance Training Programme  

November 
2023 
onwards 
 

 Director of 
Finance 

Further development of the Finance 
Business Partnering model 

 September 
2024 

Head of 
Financial 
Planning and 
Support 

Development of more efficient accounting, 
financial recording to reporting within 
Business World 

November 
2023 
onwards 

April 2024 Head of 
Finance and 
Investment  

Page 813



 

10 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Workstream Deliverables 23/24 
Timescales 

24/25 
Timescales 

Owner 

 
2024/25 budget management hierarchies, 
profiles and coding structures established 

 
Head of 
Financial 
Planning and 
Support 

  

Page 814



 

11 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

THEME 1: CULTURAL TRANSFORMATION 
 
Development and delivery of a People and Cultural Transformation Strategy 
 
It is the mission of the Mayor and Chief Executive to ensure that staff and Councillors, are 
proud to work for and represent Middlesbrough Council in delivering the best services for our 
residents, in an environment which is supportive, respectful and inclusive. 
 
The People and Cultural Transformation Strategy will set out how the Council will: 
 

 harness the skills and talent of its staff and Members 
 support staff and Members to further develop their skills and knowledge to support 

achievement of the Council’s priorities and fully understand their contribution to 
those priorities 

 ensure the expected good behaviours within the Nolan Principles and the Council’s 
Values will be embedded within the organisation to ensure they are owned and lived 
by all staff and Members 

 emphasise personal ownership of performance, accountability and responsibility 
 ensure that staff and Member engagement will be undertaken to support 

development of a positive culture within the organisation. 
 
Successful delivery of this strategy will increase the Council’s ability to deliver against its 
priorities, by ensuring it’s a key resource, its staff and Members, deliver their roles to their full 
capacity, in a way that aligns with the values and principles that underpin the organisation. 
 
A key element of the strategy will be focussed on ensuring that staff and Members have 
clarity on those good behaviours that are expected, as well as poor behaviours which will not 
be supported by the organisation.  This element will include adherence to expected 
standards and ways of working set out in the policies and procedures that comprise the 
Council’s Corporate Governance Framework.  Improved understanding and compliance with 
the policies and procedures that comprise the Corporate Governance Framework is critical 
to the successful delivery of cultural transformation of the Council.  As such the detail around 
corporate governance training has been expanded on within this plan to provide additional 
detail on its delivery. 
 
Development and delivery of an enhanced Member Development Strategy  
 
While the Council has had in place training and support for Members, it was identified that 
this needed to be reshaped to ensure Members were better supported to develop the skills 
and experience they need to be as successful as possible in their roles. The refreshed 
Strategy will build training and development around the needs of Members, moving away 
from a one size, role-based approach to one that is built around the needs of members, is 
delivered in an interactive way and that tests whether learning has been successful to inform 
future approaches. 
 
The Strategy will mirror much of the messaging within the People and Cultural 
Transformation Strategy and will include use of shared learning experiences alongside 
officers to build shared understanding of roles and responsibilities and increased 
understanding of needs, perspectives and required shared behaviours necessary for the 
Council to be positive and successful. 
 
The strategy will include: 
 
 Ensuring compliance with mandatory training on areas such as data protection and 

information security. 

Page 815



 

12 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 Providing all key policy, procedural and legal information before Members are required 
to participate in decision making. 

 Ensuring Members can perform any ‘special responsibilities’ relating to additional duties 
and roles they may undertake. 

 Offering the opportunity to participate in continuous development through a variety of 
learning methods 

 Creation of opportunities for Members to visit and experience Council services to 
support increased understanding of services and service delivery.  
 

 
Delivery of an improved corporate governance training programme for Members and 
Officers 
 
A Corporate Governance training programme for Member and officers is being developed 
which will bring officers and Members together to provide shared learning opportunities 
around corporate governance. The programme will be structured to deliver mandatory 
training to all on the Nolan principles, the Council’s values, the codes of conduct in the new 
constitution and the key wider principles of the new Constitution. 
 
It will then move into focused modules, with a mix of remote, digital and face to face delivery, 
that provide both members and senior officers with roles and responsibilities and expected 
behaviour around the following Corporate Governance themes: 
 
 The role of scrutiny, decision making and report development 
 Consultation, engagement, equality, diversity and inclusion  
 Information Governance and GDPR 
 Risk  
 Programme and Project Management 
 Finance and budget management 
 Procurement and contract management 
 HR and performance management. 

 
This programme will complement the work of the People and Cultural Transformation 
Strategy and the Member Development Strategies to ensure that there is a consistent, 
coherent approach, based on effective training and development methods, that will ensure 
that both officers and Members have an improved understanding of their roles and 
responsibilities in relation to corporate governance and expected behaviours.   
 
 
Stable and sustainable leadership is in place within the officer structure of the 
organisation. 
 
Work to ensure the Council has a workforce with the skills and capabilities to be able to 
deliver its ambitions while operating in line with expected behaviours, standards, policies and 
procedures will be undermined if the Council cannot improve the stability of its senior 
leadership team.   
 
Therefore, work will be undertaken alongside the above to reduce the number of posts in 
leadership positions that are occupied by interim staff.   Once this initial work is complete, a 
longer-term piece of work will be undertaken, shaped by the outcome of the senior 
Management Review, to develop a longer-term workforce plan to address future use of 
interim appointments in leadership positions, to ensure there is a Council wide plan in place 
to maintain a stable structure comprised of permanent staff, except where there is a clear 
business case for an interim appointment for a limited time.  Alongside this a protocol will be 

Page 816



 

13 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

developed to govern management of transitions in key statutory posts as well as 
arrangements for long term absences to protect the continuity of the Council’s functions. 
 
 
Improved focus on Performance and Accountability 
 
While maintaining the supportive and welcoming culture which is in place, the Council will 
build on this to reintroduce an increased focus on performance delivery and accountability to 
ensure that all officers are focussed on delivery of activity against Council priorities, that 
good performance and behaviours in line with the values are rewarded, and areas of poorer 
performance and behaviours are identified and supported to improve.  This will be critical to 
delivery of the culture change required to ensure the organisation is transformed. 
 
The Council will re-introduce appraisals and supporting training and guidance.  The Council 
Organisational Development function will support departments to identify and address 
training and development needs arising out of appraisals to ensure that agreed areas of 
need are addressed to ensure staff are supported to be successful in their roles. 
 
Review the Council’s approach to member enquiries and engagement 
 
The CIPFA Middlesbrough Council Culture and Governance report, dated September 2022 
references issues around communication across the Council, contributing towards mistrust 
and suspicion between members and Officers and references specifically the Member 
Enquiries process. 
 
An under-developed front-end system, multiple and disconnected back-office systems and 
processes, have led to inconsistencies in Member Enquiries, dissatisfaction from users and 
frustration from both officers and members.  
 
Several briefings have been held with Members in 2023, to understand how short-term 
improvements can be made, as well as seeking views on wants / needs of a new system 
and process, when reporting service and information requests following the move from our 
existing casework management system. 
 
Feedback from Members was in the main, focused on the timeliness of responses, 
appropriateness / effectiveness of responses and premature closure of logged Member 
Enquiries. 
 
As a result, a session with service staff with Members in attendance, was held in September 
2023 to revisit expectations around processing and responding to Member Enquiries and to 
understand from elected Members how we can best support them in their work with our 
residents, and as a result how we can improve Member / officer relations. 
 
Feedback from this session has enabled development and provision of basic tools and 
guidelines to support the Member Enquiry process for service staff as well as articulating 
wants / needs for a future approach to Member Enquiries. 
 
The effectiveness of these short-term improvements will be reviewed in early 2024, 
alongside the design of the new Member Enquiry process and system, which will see 
targeted member and officer engagement as well as in-depth training, in advance of the new 
system implementation in summer 2024. 
 
Effectiveness of the new systems will be measured in a member and staff satisfaction survey 
in early 2025.  
 

Page 817



 

14 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
Develop a supporting Communications and Engagement Plan  
 
Staff and members will need to be fully aware of both the corporate governance 
improvement journey and the key changes that are required across the Council. This will 
support work to ensure that correct behaviours and compliance with Council policies and 
procedures are effectively embedded. 
 
Effective and ongoing communications and engagement will be a key factor in this 
journey.  Not only pushing out key messages, but also building engagement to assess the 
impact of actions and determine whether they are effective. 
 
This will include internal and external engagement, covering all key stakeholders including 
Councillors, officers, members of the public and key partners to ensure they are engaged on 
the changes that are being made. 
 
Effective and successful communications will result in improved views of the Council, both 
internally and externally. 
  
 
Measures of Success for the theme 
 

Objective Measure(s) of 
Success 

Source Current performance 

Improved understanding of 
corporate governance policies 
and process and improved 
adherence to them  
 

Reduce the number 
of audits that have 
limited or no 
assurance 

Internal audit 
reports 

3 limited assurance 
reports issued in 2022/23 

Improve the 
percentage of priority 
One and Priority Two 
actions from Internal 
Audits that are 
delivered within 
original timescales 

Monthly Corporate 
Performance 
reports to LMT 

To be confirmed 

Reduce / Upheld 
whistleblowing reports 
on non-compliance 
with corporate 
governance 
processes. 

Whistleblowing 
register  

0 (2022/23) 

Improved relationships between 
officers and members 

Staff and Member 
surveys to assess 
health of relationships 
and direction of travel  

Staff and Member 
Improvement 
Journey surveys  

58.6% of Members and 
26.6% of staff who 
answered the survey 
thought relationships 
between members and 
officers were positive 
(Aug 2023 survey) 
 
55% Members felt 
relationships had 
improved in the last three 
months compared to 
27% of staff.  60% of 
staff felt they had 
remained the same. 

Page 818



 

15 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Objective Measure(s) of 
Success 

Source Current performance 

Improved retention of staff 
 

Staff turnover rates – 
number of leavers 

Annual Equality 
and Inclusion 
report 

562 (2022/23) 

Improved staff satisfaction 
 

1-10 Score of how 
valued staff feel as an 
employee of the 
Council 

Staff and Member 
Improvement 
Journey surveys 

5.9 (August 2023) 

Reduced need to use agency 
staff 
 

Number of agency 
staff working for 
Middlesbrough 
Council – total  

Internal list of 
agency staff 

84 (5 September 2023) 

improved ability to recruit to key 
roles.  

Number of roles at 
Head of Service and 
above that are vacant 
/ occupied by Agency 
or interim staff  

Workforce data 
reports 

8 (Sept 2023) 

improved outcomes for our 
community by ensuring that staff 
have the skills needed to deliver 
excellent services and that the 
behaviours increase trust in the 
Council 
 

Number of complaints 
– total  

Annual Complaints 
report 

1275 (2022/23) 

Percentage of 
complaints upheld  

Annual Complaints 
report 

50.5% (2022/23) 

Members have a Member 
development programme that 
meets their needs and is well 
used 

Percentage of 
members completing 
all mandatory training 

First annual review 
of the new Member 
Development 
Strategy  

To be baselined once the 
new strategy is launched. 
Target is 100% 

Percentage of 
Members attending 
wider skills  

First annual review 
of the new Member 
Development 
Strategy  

To be baselined once the 
new strategy is launched. 
Target is 60% 

Member satisfaction 
with the Member 
development 
programme 

First annual review 
of the new Member 
Development 
Strategy  

To be baselined once the 
new strategy is launched. 
Target is 70% 

Performance is effectively 
managed within the organisation 

Completion of 
appraisal process  

HR data  To be baselined, target is 
95% by March 2024 

Improved Member behaviour  Number of member on 
member complaints 
received 

Standards 
committee data 

3 in 2022 
6 from April to August 
2023 

Residents are increasingly 
satisfied with the way the 
Council is ran and with the 
Council overall 

Questions within the 
2023 Resident survey 
currently underway 

Resident Survey  To be baselined by the 
2023 Resident Survey  

Residents increasingly agree 
that the Council acts on their 
concerns 

Questions within the 
2023 Resident survey 
currently underway 

Resident Survey  To be baselined by the 
2023 Resident Survey  

 

 
Key Risks for the theme 
 
The Key Risks for the theme are: 
 
 If the Council fails to ensure that its governance processes are both fit for purpose and 

adhered to consistently, then there is a risk that unlawful decisions could be taken 
and/or that its External Auditor will deem that formal intervention in the governance of 
the Council is required in order to ensure Value for Money is achieved. 

Page 819



 

16 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 If the Council does not improve staff satisfaction and Member officer relationships there 
is a risk that there will continue to be a level of staff turnover that undermines the 
Council’s ability to maintain consistent, stable leadership, increases difficulties in 
recruitment to key posts and ultimately leads to poorer outcomes for its town’s residents 

 If the Council does not effectively upskill its staff to be able to deliver services that meet 
needs within reduced cost envelopes then poorer services will be delivered to the town’s 
residents at an unsustainable cost level 

 If the Council does not communicate effectively with the town’s residents, then 
satisfaction with services will lower and resident complaints will increase as the Council 
is not meeting the needs of residents. 

 If members and officers fail to engage with activity within this worksteam, the Council 
will fail to deliver the change it has identified as being required.  This will result in 
continued adverse relationships, use of behaviours that are not in line with the Council’s 
values, and ultimately, poorer outcomes for the town’s residents. 

 
They will be mitigated by: 
 
 Identification and deployment of additional resources required to successfully deliver 

activity within this theme. 
 Visible leadership from the Mayor, senior Councillors and senior Officers, that 

demonstrates commitment to delivering cultural transformation. 
 Effective, ongoing and consistent communications that support delivery of activity within 

both themes. 
 

 
  

Page 820



 

17 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

THEME 2: FINANCIAL RESILIENCE AND RECOVERY 
  
As set out in the Section 151 Officer’s Section 25 report to Council in setting the budget on 
27 February 2023, the Council’s financial position is fragile due to its critically low level of 
revenue reserves, and it is essential that strict financial control is exercised during 2023/24 
in order to protect the level of reserves. It is a legal requirement to set a balanced budget for 
2024/25 and to return the Council to a financially sustainable position by achieving financial 
balance over the period of the Medium-Term Financial Plan (MTFP) to 2026/27. It is 
essential that reserves are rebuilt over this period in order to strengthen the financial 
resilience of the Council and secure its financial future.  
 
Controlling 2023/24 expenditure within approved budget 
 
Robust budget management, monitoring and forecasting arrangements were introduced 
early in Quarter One in order to establish a firmer grip upon budgetary control and 
forecasting, including development of insight into cost and income drivers that can be better 
controlled and influenced through managing operations.  
 

 Chief Officers have committed to Budget Accountability letters which demonstrate 
their leadership and commitment to deliver services in a financially sustainable way. 

 Monthly budget challenge sessions chaired by the s151 Officer for each Directorate 
in order to focus upon areas of overspending and identify opportunities for delivering 
savings, income and efficiency opportunities. 

 The Chief Executive holds Chief Officers to account for their financial performance 
through monthly LMT budget review meetings. 

 Quarterly budget challenge sessions are chaired by the Executive Member for 
Finance & Governance for each Directorate attended by relevant Chief Officers and 
Executive Members enabling a collaborative approach and ownership of financial 
management issues by the Mayor and the Executive.   

 Indefinite spending restrictions issued by the s151 Officer with effect from 1 July 
2023 including: 

o vacancy control measures applicable to all permanent recruitment, 
engagement of agency and interim staff  

o increased monitoring of expenditure on travel and other expenses to ensure 
essential spend 

o establish monitoring and action to drive compliance with contract procedure 
rules including focus upon off-contract expenditure and compliant use of 
purchasing cards 

 Development of improved budget monitoring tools and tracking of expenditure rates 
for review and challenge by Chief Officers. 

 Chief Officers to develop Directorate Financial Recovery Plans to reduce the forecast 
overspend and deliver services within the approved 2023/24 budget.  Actions to 
include review of service levels and revise operations, reduce, stop activities and 
some service provision, deliver efficiency, increase income generation.   

 
 
Setting a balanced budget for 2024/25 to 2026/27 
 
The development of the draft Council Plan, MTFP and 2024/25 budget will take place over 
the period from now through to formal consideration and approval by the Executive in 
November 2023 to commence the formal budget consultation period. This will run through to 

Page 821



 

18 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

9 January 2024, during which time consultation will be undertaken with the public, local 
business, staff and Scrutiny panels.  
 
The provisional Local Government Finance Settlement will be announced by Government 
during mid-late December when it will be possible to update and confirm the funding 
assumptions made in the MTFP refresh produced in August.  
 
The Mayor and Executive will consider the feedback from the consultation exercise and 
updated funding position before finalising the proposed budget at its meeting on 14 February 
2024 and presenting to Council for consideration and approval on 28 February 2024. 
 
The budget development process aims to identify a range of budget proposals including 
options for: 

 
 Service transformation (doing different things, delivering different outcomes at lower 

cost) 
 Service redesign (doing things differently, more efficiently) 
 Service reduction (doing less) 
 Service cessation (stopping things) 
 Income generation.  

 
The approach will seek to stop annual ‘salami slicing’ approach to balancing the budget that 
has been adopted in recent years. We will develop a robust plan that will achieve financial 
balance in 2024/25 and over the medium term to 2026/27 through review and challenge of 
current service delivery models and pursue modernisation and transformation of services. 
We will achieve this through a combination of: 
 
 adopting a thematic approach to achieve cross organisational consistency and 

integration of operations, a customer focused approach to redesign, enabled by 
technology and automation to modernise operations and improve service outcomes 
from a lower cost base. 

 Prioritising proposals that will deliver the required savings within 12 months through 
service redesign, service reduction, stopping some services and activities and income 
generation initiatives to set a legally balanced budget for 2024/25 

 establishing programmes for service redesign and transformation which may require 
substantial investment in capacity, capability, system and process redesign and 
technology in order to deliver the required change. These may require longer lead in 
times for implementation in order to deliver the change and required cost reduction over 
the medium to long term.  

 
Improving financial governance, spending controls and monitoring by ensuring more 
effective financial management across the organisation 
 
It is necessary to embed responsibility and accountability for financial governance, financial 
management and control into the business-as-usual operations of the organisation. Strong 
and effective financial management underpins the success of any organisation.  
 
The finance service offer is traditional and dedicates substantial resource to financial 
reporting and technical accounting with manually intensive working practices. Chief Officers 
and budget holders are highly dependent upon finance to provide and interpret financial 
information.   
 
Measures will be put in place to improve arrangements over the period to the end of 
2024/25. We will aim to deliver accurate, complete and timely financial information to the 

Page 822



 

19 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

organisation to more effectively support robust strategic and operational decision making 
and secure improved value for money.  
 
 
 Revision of Contract Procedure Rules, Financial Procedure Rules and delivery of 

mandatory training to Chief Officers, Heads of Service and budget holders 
 Provision of training in budget management and launch of budget management tools 
 streamline and simplify the chart of accounts and reflect management structures to 

align budget and management responsibilities to assist in more streamlined and 
automated financial reporting. 

 develop budget management tools and training to enable budget holders to become 
more self sufficient in managing their budgets 

 review and improve underlying financial processes and procedures for purchase to 
pay, service to cash and record to reporting to establish Business World finance 
system as one version of the financial truth and eliminate the need for manual 
intervention and rework by accountancy to produce internal and external financial 
reports 

 develop the finance business partnering offer to add value through interpretation of 
data, professional advice and constructive challenge in supporting strategic and 
operational decision making.  

 
 
Measures of Success for the theme 
 

Objective Measure(s) of 
Success 

Source Current performance 

Expenditure for 2023/24 is 
completed within the approved 
2023/24 budget 

Actual expenditure 
and Forecast revenue 
outturn within the 
approved budget 

Quarterly Budget 
monitoring report 

£11.5m overspend at Q1 

Set a balanced budget for 
2024/25 and adhered to during 
2024/25 

2024/25 revenue 
budget is balanced 
and maintained 
during 2024/25 

February 2024 
Budget Setting & 
MTFP Report to 
Council and 
monthly and 
quarterly budget 
monitoring 
processes 

Estimated budget gap at 
2024/25 £14.2m 

Set a sustainable Medium Term 
Financial Plan in place for the 
period 2024/5 to 2026/27 
 

Balanced MTFP to 
2026/27 

February 2024 
Budget Setting & 
MTFP report to 
Council 

Estimated budget gap at 
2026/27 £24.522m 

Maintain General Fund balance 
and usable revenue reserves at 
31/3/23 levels 

Maintain GF balance 
at £12m at 31/3/24. 
 
Maintain usable 
revenue reserves at a 
minimum of £4m at 
31/3/24. 

February 2024 
Budget Setting & 
MTFP report to 
Council 

Forecast £3.266m at Q1 
 
 
 
Forecast £1.171m at Q1  

Establish Medium Term Plan to 
rebuild GF Balance and revenue 
reserves 

Section 151 Officer 
assessment of 
adequacy of reserves 

S25 Report to 
Council February 
2024 

Reserves assessed as 
critically low 

Financial Procedure Rules and 
Contract Procedure Rules 
training delivered 

LMT, WLMT, all 
Budget Holders and 
all staff involved in 
Purchase to Pay 

Training log Not applicable 

Page 823



 

20 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Objective Measure(s) of 
Success 

Source Current performance 

(P2P) trained by 31 
December 2023 

Ongoing corporate finance 
training programme established  

Quarterly programme 
of finance training 
established  

Training logs Ad hoc on demand 
training 

Budget management and 
purchase to pay dashboards 
developed to improve 
management information and 
compliance 

Budget management 
dashboard available 
to all budget holders 
from Business World 
through Power BI 
reporting tools by 30 
November 2023 
 
P2P Dashboards 
available by 31 March 
2024 

Monthly budget 
management cycle 

Reliance upon 
spreadsheet reporting 

Budget management training 
rolled out to budget holders 

All Chief Officers, 
Heads of Service and 
Budget Holders 
Training delivered 
December 23 to 
March 24 

Training logs Ad hoc on demand 
training 

Establish Business World as 
one version of the financial truth 
for internal and external 
reporting 

Reduce/eliminate 
need for manual 
intervention and re-
work to produce 
internal budget 
management and 
external statutory 
reporting 

Management 
service review  

n/a not measured  

Develop value added finance 
business partnering approach 

Realignment of 
accountancy resource 
from preparation of 
reports and more 
towards business 
partnering analysis, 
advice, challenge. By 
June 2024 

Time analysis n/a Not measured 

 
 
Key Risks for the theme 
 
The key risks for this theme are: 
 

 If 2023/24 expenditure is not controlled to deliver within the approved budget, there is 
a risk that revenue reserves will be exhausted which require the Director of Finance 
as s151 Officer to issue a s114 Notice to the Council.  

 If it is not possible to set a balanced budget for 2024/25 as required by law, it will be 
necessary for the Director of Finance as s151 Officer to issue a s114 Notice to the 
Council 

 The consequences of issuing a s114 notice are significant and will result in the 
cessation of all but the minimum level of service to deliver statutory responsibilities 
and the requirement to establish a Council wide financial recovery plan. This would 
be likely to result in an escalation of intervention into the operation of the Council’s 
management and administration.   

Page 824



 

21 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 The s151 Officer is unable to assure Council of the robustness of budget estimates 
and/or the adequacy of reserves for 2024/25 and over the period of the MTFP 

 
These risks will be mitigated by: 
 

 Financial management and control becoming embedded as a priority for the LMT and 
Executive working collaboratively to address the financial challenges faced by the 
Council 

 Delivering improved management information and training to secure compliance and 
ownership and accountability for financial management arrangements 

 Additional temporary professional accountancy support to enable delivery of the 
improvement in financial management arrangements.  

  

Page 825



 

22 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

IMPROVEMENT PLAN GOVERNANCE 
 
All parts of the Council’s system of governance will and must play a role in the governance 
around delivery of this plan if the ambitions within it are to be achieved, enabling the Council 
to demonstrate that its provision is based on a sound financial footing, its governance 
explicitly demonstrates how Value for Money will be ensured, and its service delivery aligns 
with the needs of residents. 
 
This will require a shared commitment by all Members in Full Council, strong and 
decisive leadership by Executive, constructive and well-informed Scrutiny, and 
inquisitive and challenging Audit. All the right parts of the machinery of governance 
exist - they need to work together better to help the Council get through this very 
tough period. 
 
This section sets out the key roles and responsibilities of the different Member, officer and 
external bodies that will be required to support the Council’s improvement journey.  
 
Executive 
 
This body is responsible for receiving reports on progress every quarter from the 
Independent Improvement Advisory Board and taken decisions to ensure the objectives set 
out in this plan are achieved.  
 
Full Council   
 
This body will receive a report on progress every quarter from the Independent Improvement 
Advisory Board and there will be a standing item on progress for Council meetings. 
 
It may also receive ad hoc reports from the Independent Improvement Advisory Board, if that 
Board deems it necessary to raise an issue during the period. 
 
Audit Committee 
 
The Committee will effectively scrutinise the Council’s management of its governance and 
financial challenges, seek assurance that appropriate governance is in place to adhere to 
the Council’s Local Code of Corporate Governance.   
 
Overview and Scrutiny Board and supporting Panels 
 
The Council has an Overview and Scrutiny Board in place, supported by five panels that 
cover Adult Social Care and Services, Children and Young People, Environment, Health and 
Regeneration. 
 
Scrutiny will play an important role, providing checks and balances to ensure Council plans 
for transformative change are robust and challenge where they should be strengthened.  
Relevant bodies may receive reports and / or requests for scrutiny from the Independent 
Improvement Advisory Board on an ad hoc basis. 
 
Scrutiny will also be fully engaged as part of the development of budget and transformation 
proposals. 
 
  

Page 826



 

23 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Independent Improvement Advisory Board 
 
This non-statutory advisory board is established jointly by Middlesbrough Council and the 
Local Government Association.  
 
The aims and objectives of the Board are to provide oversight, support and challenge to 
Middlesbrough’s improvement and transformation journey working with established and 
proven sector leaders.  
 
It will particularly focus on the need for the Council to ensure it complies with its Best Value 
Duty under the Local Government Act 1999, notably: 
 

 Cultural and governance issues, including those identified through previous CIPFA and 
previous, and any future, external auditor reports. 

 Financial sustainability – including a balanced medium term financial strategy aligned to 
the Council’s Corporate Plan. 

 
The Board will be comprised of individuals with the following expertise, names will be 
publicised following the completion of the appointment process: 
 

Experience / speciality 

Local authority CEO (Chair) 

Unitary local authority Mayor / Leader 

Unitary local authority Monitoring Officer 

London authority and Unitary local authority Chief Finance Officer 

LGA Regional Lead 

 
Senior Officers 
 
The Chief Executive, Monitoring Officer and Section 151 Officer will attend the Board as 
requested and provide the Board with updates on delivery of this Corporate Governance 
Improvement Plan.  They will also continue to engage with government, through regular 
meetings with officials from the Department of Levelling Up, Housing and Communities.  
Regular engagement will also continue with the Council’s External Auditors, who are 
currently Ernst and Young (EY).  
 
  

Page 827



 

24 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

The diagram below sets out how these bodies will work together to deliver the shared vision 
for the Council. 
 

 
 
  

Page 828



 

25 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

RESOURCING DELIVERY OF THIS PLAN  
 
Skills and capacity  
 
The skills requirement falls into two groups, firstly the skills that are needed immediately to 
ensure the plan can be met, most significantly within the first six to twelve months, ensuring 
that financial stability is achieved. Secondly the skills for the slightly longer term to ensure 
the future is sustainable.  
 
In July 2023, Executive approved proposals to draw down funding from the Corporate 
Contingencies Budget in order to fund additional resources to deliver some of the activity 
described in this plan that is already in train.  
 
The scale and breadth of the work now needed to deliver the Improvement Plan is significant 
and will require a review of capacity, skills and delivery options, some of which will be 
addressed in the review of the organisation’s structure planned within the cultural 
transformation theme.  Going forward work will be led by the Chief Executive to develop a 
plan for a Transformation Programme, with appropriate resourcing to deliver service and 
corporate transformation, alongside delivery of this Corporate Governance Improvement 
Plan. 
 
This will also be supported by the work to prioritise outcomes and activity within the 
forthcoming Council Plan. 
 
Where workstreams have identified that strategies will be developed to deliver activity, 
consideration of resources needed to support delivery of those strategies will also be 
developed and articulated in supporting reports to ensure the organisation not only adopts 
the relevant strategy, but also agrees the provision of the necessary resources to deliver that 
strategy successfully.  The Council will be seeking funding from the Local Government 
Association and other stakeholders to minimise the financial burden on the Council where it 
is possible to do so. 
 
 
Oversight of plan delivery  
  
The Council’s Head of Strategy, Business and Support will track delivery of activity within 
this plan, to provide regular reports to Leadership Management Team on progress against 
planned activity, actions off target and updated insight on impact, using the measures of 
success identified within this plan.  This information will be presented to all Members at each 
ordinary meeting of full Council to ensure visibility and transparency around delivery is 
maintained. 
 
The Independent Improvement Advisory Board will meet formally once a month and will also 
gather informally once a month. The intention is that the Board’s first meeting will be to 
consider its terms of reference and its preferred working arrangements.  The outcome of this 
will determine the reporting requirements of the Board on delivery of the Plan. 
 
 

Page 829



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Middlesbrough Council: Independent Improvement Advisory Board (IIAB) 

Terms of Reference 

This non-statutory advisory board is established jointly by Middlesbrough Council 
and the Local Government Association.  

The aims and objectives of the Board are to provide oversight, support and 
challenge to Middlesbrough’s improvement and transformation journey working with 
established and proven sector leaders.  

It will particularly focus on the need for the Council to ensure it complies with its Best 
Value Duty under the Local Government Act 1999, notably: 

- Cultural and governance issues, including those identified through previous 
CIPFA and previous, and any future, external auditor reports. 

- Financial sustainability – including a balanced medium term financial strategy 
aligned to the Council’s Corporate Plan. 

The Board will also oversee progress by the Council towards implementing the 
actions arising from the Section 24 Statutory Recommendations of the outgoing 
auditors, EY, dated 21st August 2023. 

The work of this Board will align with the work of the Middlesbrough Children’s 
Executive Improvement Board (CEIB) established under Department for Education 
oversight to deliver good outcomes for children in Middlesbrough. 

To achieve its objectives, the Council will need to: 

- consider the clarity and possibility of its ambitions for Middlesborough 

- ensure the way the Council operates and is governed through its systems, 
Constitution, Codes of Conduct, management structure, performance 
management arrangements (etc) ensure effectiveness and efficiency  

- ensure the values by which the Council seeks to operate are lived within the 
organisation 

- develop a clear corporate strategic plan supported by a medium term financial 
plan to demonstrate improved outcomes and financial sustainability 

- address the issues raised in Children’s Services and ensure that these 
improvements are supported by the wider Council 

The Council is responsible for its own improvement and will lead on all actions 
necessary (with partners, as appropriate). The role of the IIAB will be to:  

1) Review how the council is progressing against the above actions as outcomes 
in its improvement journey. 

2) Review how the council is progressing against the requirements of the Best 
Value Notice issued on the 24th January 2023 and the Auditor’s Statutory 
Recommendations issued on 21st August 2023. 

Page 831



 
 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

3) Provide challenge and act as a critical friend to ensure focus, grip, pace and 
effective change. 

4) Provide support and guidance.  

5) Identify and signpost appropriate good practice.  

6) Make recommendations as appropriate with regard to progress being made in 
relation to the Best Value Notice and the Auditor’s Statutory 
Recommendations, and to further the improvement journey 

 

Membership and Way of Working 

It is proposed that the membership of the Independent Improvement Advisory Board 
is made up of: 

a. A recently retired, experienced, local authority CEO as Chair  

b. An experienced unitary local authority (peer) Mayor/Leader  

c. An experienced unitary local authority (peer) Monitoring Officer  

d. An experienced unitary local authority (peer) Chief Finance Officer  

e. The LGA Regional Lead. 

To ensure alignment between the work of the IIAB and the CEIB as described 
above, the chair of the CEIB, Stuart Smith OBE, will have a standing invitation to the 
IIAB on matters of mutual significance. 

The Chief Executive, Mayor, Section 151 officer and Monitoring Officer will attend at 
the invitation of the IIAB and other officers and members will attend as required.  

Should the Board consider it necessary to add further sector specialists to assist the 
improvement journey, it will have the power to do so. 

Board members will have reasonable access to relevant members, officers and data 
to be able to make informed judgements. The Monitoring Officer will be the final 
decision maker in terms of the release of information where it is considered 
sensitive. 

The Board is planned to be in place for approximately 12 months with the first 
meeting being in October 2023, with an interim review after 6 months of the 
composition of the Board and the terms of reference to ensure that it remains fit for 
purpose. It will meet monthly, on site or remotely as agreed. 

Administrative support to the Board will be provided by the Council. 

As part of an agreed exit strategy, the Council will have an LGA-managed Corporate 
Peer Challenge around 3-6 months after the IIAB’s departure. 

 

Reporting 

The IIAB will report quarterly to the Council’s Executive and Council. These reports 
will be discussed in public. The IIAB report will be considered, as appropriate by the 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee and/or Corporate Affairs and Audit. 

The Chair of the IIAB will liaise regularly with DLUHC officials to enable DLUHC to 
whether progress in addressing the best value notice is satisfactory.  

Page 832



 
 

 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

The aim of this reporting cycle is to assure the Council and its stakeholder that the 
right actions are being undertaken, the right changes are being made, and the 
fundamental issues are being resolved.  

 

 

Page 833



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

MIDDLESBROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 
Report of: Executive Member for Finance and Governance and Director of 

Legal and Governance Services 

 

Submitted to: Council 

 

Date: 18 September 2023 

 

Title: Vacancies on Committees and Outside Bodies 

 

Report for: Decision 

 

Status: Public 

 

Strategic priority: All 

 

Key decision: No 

Why: Not applicable 

 

Urgent: No 

Why: Not applicable 

 

Executive summary  

 

To seek Members’ approval for nominations of appointment to vacant positions on 

committees and scrutiny panels because of vacancies that were not filled at the Annual 

Council meeting and resignations from Committees. 

 
Purpose 
 
1. To seek Members’ approval for nominations of appointment to vacant positions on 

committees/scrutiny panels/outside bodies, following resignations and vacancies that 
remained, following the Annual Council meeting.  

 
Background and relevant information 
 
2. Following resignations from Committees and places on Committees and Outside 

Bodies that were not taken up at the Annual Council meeting, several vacancies 
exist. Council is required to consider and approve nominations for appointment to 
the vacancies. 
 

Page 835

Agenda Item 20



2 

What decision(s) are being recommended?  
 
3. That the Council: 
 

Subject to receipt of nominations to the following vacancies, approves the places 
allocated in accordance with the wishes of the political groups and other councillors and 
fills the following vacancies: 
 
Committee Vacancies 
 
Adult Social Care and Services Scrutiny Panel 
1 vacancy (Labour) 
 
Adult Social Care and Services Scrutiny Panel 
Vice - Chair appointment (open to all members of the Panel) 
 
Corporate Health and Safety Steering Group 
1 vacancy (open to all councillors) 
 
Corporate Parenting Board 
1 vacancy – open to all Councillors 
 
Environment Scrutiny Panel 
Vice - Chair appointment (open to all members of the Panel) 
1 nomination: Councillor D Branson 
 
Health Scrutiny Panel 
1 vacancy (Labour) 
 
Licensing Committee 
1 vacancy (Labour) 
 
Licensing Committee  
Vice Chair appointment (open to all members of the Committee) 
 
Live Well Board 
1 vacancy (open to all councillors) 
 
South Tees Health Scrutiny Joint Committee 
1 vacancy (Labour) 
1 nomination: Councillor M Storey 
 
Works Council 
2 vacancies (open to all councillors) 
 
2 nominations: Councillor D Branson and Councillor S Dean 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 
 
Outside Bodies Vacancies 
 
Durham, Darlington, Teesside, Hambledon, Richmondshire and Whitby STP 
Joint Committee 

Page 836



3 

2 vacancies (Labour) 
 
Hartlepool Power Station Local Liaison Committee 
1 vacancy (open to all councillors) 
 
River Tees Port Health Authority 
1 vacancy (open to MICA councillors initially) 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 

Rationale for the recommended decision(s) 
 
4. Council is required to appoint to any vacant places on Committees or Outside Bodies 

to ensure that all meetings will be quorate. 

Other potential decision(s) and why these have not been recommended 
 
5. Do Nothing: This option could result in meetings becoming inquorate and could result 

in the decision-making process being delayed.  
 
Impact(s) of the recommended decision(s) 
 
Legal 
 
6. The Local Government and Housing Act 1989 requires that the Council periodically 

reviews the political composition of the Council, and how this is applied to appointments 

to committees and sub-committees of the Council.  

 

7. The rules for securing political balance on committees and sub-committees appointed 

by local authorities are contained in sections 15 and 16 of the Act and the Local 

Government (Committees and Political Groups) Regulations 1990.  

 

8. The Council is under a duty to:  

(a) Ensure that the membership of those committees and sub-committees covered 

by the rules reflect the political composition of the Council, as far as practicable.  

 

(b) Review the allocation of seats to political groups at or as soon as practical after 

the Annual Council meeting and at certain other specified times for example, as a 

result of changes in political balance or an increase in the number of committees 

established.  

 

Strategic priorities and risks 
 
9. Failure to adhere to Local Code of Corporate Governance and deliver governance 

improvements outlined in the Annual Governance Statement. By ensuring that 

meetings are quorate then the Council is ensuring that good governance is in place 

and in line with the requirements of the Council’s constitution so this would have a 

positive impact on this risk. 

Page 837



4 

If the Council doesn't respond effectively and efficiently to legislative changes it could 

be in breach of statutory duties in relation to service delivery and fail to make the most 

of opportunities. The Council has a duty to ensure that the membership of the 

committees and sub committees are covered and is required to appoint to any vacant 

places to ensure that all meetings remain quorate.  This will have a positive impact on 

this risk as the Council is fulfilling its duties. 

Human Rights, Equality and Data Protection 
 
10. No protected groups are affected by the decision. 

 
Financial 
 
11. There are no financial implications arising from the content of this report.  
 
Actions to be taken to implement the recommended decision(s) 
 

Action Responsible Officer Deadline 

Add Members to 
Committees/Outside Bodies 

Democratic Services Officers 30 September 2023 

 
Appendices 
 

1  

2  

3  

 
Background papers 
 

Body Report title Date 

   

 
Contact: Charlotte Benjamin 
Email: charlotte_benjamin@middlesbrough.gov.uk  
 

 

Page 838


	Agenda
	3 Minutes - Council - 5 July 2023
	5 Section 24 Report - Statutory recommendations from the Council's External Auditors, EY
	20230918 COUNCIL S24  Value for Money Update and Issuance of Recommendations Appendix 1
	Middlesbrough Council�
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Value for Money
	Value for Money
	Slide Number 8
	Value for Money
	Value for Money
	Value for Money
	Value for Money
	Slide Number 13
	Value for Money
	Value for Money
	Value for Money
	Value for Money
	Value for Money
	Value for Money
	Slide Number 20
	Value for Money
	Value for Money
	Slide Number 23

	20230918 COUNCIL S24 Statutory EY Recommendations_ Action Plan Appendix 2

	6 Reserves Policy 2023/24
	Appendix 1 -  Reserves Policy  2023-24

	7 Questions from Members of the Public (if any).
	10 Executive Member reports
	Introduction
	Contents
	Executive Member Report to Council - Mayor
	Middlesbrough Public Health Ward Profile Revised
	Health Inequalities

	Deputy Mayor and Executive Member for Education and Culture Report
	Executive Member for Children's Services Report
	Executive Member for Environment Report
	Executive Member for Finance and Governance Report
	Executive Member for Regeneration Report
	Section 2
	Section 3
	Section 4

	11 Report of the Overview and Scrutiny Board
	13 Members' Question Time
	14 Notice of Motions
	16 Review of Council Constitution
	20230918 Appendix 1 Constitution
	20230816 Appendix 2 Council Scheme of Delegation
	20230816 Appendix 3 Officer Scheme of Delegation
	230918 Appendix 4 Middlesbrough Financial Procedure Rules
	20230918 Appendix 5 - Contract Procedure Rules

	17 Members' Scheme of Allowances
	APPENDIX 1 2023-07-05 IRP COUNCIL REPORT
	Appendix 2 Members Scheme of allowances  2023-24

	18 Localism Act 2011 - General Dispensations
	19 Corporate Governance Improvement Plan Update
	Corp Gov Imp Plan 3 and Delivery Appendix 1
	Improvement Board FINAL ToR Appendix 2

	20 Vacancies on Committees and Outside Bodies

